Books on Namibia
published by

James Currey

& Ohio University Press

Colin Leys & John S. Saul
Namibia’s Liberanon Struggle
The Two-Edged Sword

Edited by Patricia Hayes, Jeremy Silvester
Marion Wallace & Wolfram Hartmann
Namibia under South African Rule
Mobility & Containment 1915-46

Jan-Bart Gewald

Herero Heroes

A Socio-Political History of the
Herero of Namibia 1890-1923

Gretchen Bauer
Labor & Democracy in Namiba
1971-96

e i it SR A

Herero Heroes

A Socio-Political History
of the Herero of Namibia
1890-1923

JAN-BART GEWALD

Research Fellow at Institute for African Studies,
University of Cologne

JAMES CURREY
OXFORD

DAVID PHILIP
CAPE TOWN

OHIO UNIVERSITY PRESS
ATHENS

A




James Currey Ltd
73 Botley Road
Oxford OX2 0BS

David Philip Publishers (Pry) Ltd
208 Werdmuller Centre

Newry Street

Claremont 7700

South Africa

Ohio University Press
Scott Quadrangle
Athens, Ohio 45701

© James Currey Ltd 1999
First published 1999

1234503020100099

British Library Cataloguing in Publication Data
Gewald, Jan-Bart

Herero heroes : a socio-political history of the Herero of
Namibia, 1890-1923

1.Herero (African people) - Namibia - History 2. Namibia -
History - 1884-1915 3. Namibia - History - Herero Revolt,
1904-1907 4.Namibia - History - 1915-1946

1. Title

968.8'1

ISBN 0-85255-754-X (James Currey Cloth)
ISBN 0-85255-749-3 (James Currey Paper)
ISBN 0-86486-387-X (David Philip Paper)

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data A

ISBN 0-8214-1256-6 (Ohio University Press Cloth)
ISBN 0-8214-1257-4 (Ohio University Press Paper)

Typeset in 10/1 1pt Plantin
by Nicholas Hardyman, Oxford

Contents

List of Maps, Photographs & Figures vii
Preface viil

Introduction 1

Studies that relate to the nature of German imperialism and the
development of totalitarian societies — Popular war histories -
Ethnographic studies

1 For the Want of a Nation 10

Herero Polities on the Eve of Colonization

Introduction — Ovatjimba and missionary chiefs — Trade wars —
Building up the herds - The chieftains — Summing up

2 The Herero Succession Dispute 29
1890-94

Introduction — German protection treaties — The coming of the
camel — Death by camel — In my father’s house — The inheritance
-~ Murdered in peace — Windhoek, Windhoek is my death

3 Samuel Maharero as Paramount Chief 61
1894-6

Introduction — Manasse Tjisiseta and the Omaruru polity —The pillars
of independence — The SWACO affair - The ending of Omaruru’s
independence - The ripping of Okombahe - Treaties — Treaty
enforcement - The centre cannot hold — Let loose the dogs of war -
Conclusion

4 The Curse of Kahimemua 110
1897-1903

Introduction — The introduction of rinderpest to Namibia -
Preventative measures — Kohlstock and Koch - The Etaneno affair
- Food, capital and patronage — Recouping their losses - The
balance — Conclusion




vi Herero Heroes

5 Ovita Ovia Ziirn 141
Ziirn’s War

1904-8

Introduction — The causes of war —~ The letters - The inevitability
of war: Otjimbingwe — Failed negotiations — The war - Herero
movements in the aftermath of the Waterberg — Seeking to end
the war — Zacharias — The camps - Conclusion

6 The Histories of the Old Testament Teach Us 192
1905-14

Introduction — Camps - Army — Beyond the colonial ambit —
Herero in Ngamiland and South Africa — Reestablishing a nation
— Labour demand - Movement — The recoalescence of Herero
society through the mediation of Christianity — Initiates versus
the uninitiated - Conclusion

7 This Land is not Yours 231
It is the Property of America & the Herero
1915-23

Introduction - Herero new age — Conflict with settlers — Settlers
and liberals - New reserves — Otjohorongo Herero Reserve —
Orumbo — New ideas and changed attitudes — Truppenspieler —
UNIA - Church - Bondelswarts — Death of Samuel - Postscript -

Conclusion
Conclusion 286
Sources & Bibliography 290
Index 305

e R

vii

Maps, Photographs & Figures

MAPS
1.1 Central Namibia showing heights above 1500 metres
1.2 Central Namibia under the control of the four principal Herero

chiefs, 1884

Central Namibia showing area cleared of effective Herero occupation due
to Witbooi raiding, 1890-93

Central Namibia 18946, indicating the increased confinement of Herero
lands

The spread of rinderpest in central Namibia, 1897

Schematic map of central Namibia in the first stages of the Herero—-German

W n
A

-

war

Map showing Herero flight after the battle at the Waterberg

The missionary collection camps for Herero war refugees at Omburo and
Ogihaenena, 1905

G A
-

PHOTOGRAPHS

Charles John Andersson

Chief Zeraua and his bodyguard, Okahandja 1876

Maharero Tjamuaha, Riarua, and Wilhelm Maharero, Okahandja 1876
Samuel Maharero

Hendrik Witbooi

Riarua, commander in chief to Maharero Tjamuaha

Leutwein, Johannes Maharero or Michael Tjisiseta, Kleinschmidt, Manasse
Tjisiseta, Samuel Maharero, Omaruru 1895

Chief Nicodemus Kavikunua shortly before his execution

Chief Tjetjo Kandji and his son Traugott Tjetjo

The German military fort in Okahandja

The destroyed trading store of Wecke & Voigts in Okahandja

The buildings of the Halbich family compound

Herero men who had been stripped of their clothes and lynched
German troops watering their horses at Hamakari, 1904

Christian Herero women prisoners of war, Swakopmund 1904

Herero children, captured after the fighting at Omaruru, constructing a
kraal near Omburo in 1904

Herero prisoner of war camp in Windhoek

Captured Herero women; in the background the fort in Windhoek
Herero women washing German soldiers’ uniforms

Herero honour guard drawn up to meet the train bearing Samuel
Maharero’s coffin in Okahandja in 1923

Herero evangelist Andreas Kukuri conducting a church service

Part of the funeral cortége of Samuel Maharero in Okahandja in 1923

- b e o =

SUUMUUUNIBE WNRN =

—pmwn—wl

3 ovEneh
— b

S
L

FIGURES

2.1 Kinship diagrams indicating descendants of Mutjise, and those entitled
to Maharero’s Eanda and Oruzue inheritance

7.1 Graphs showing the relationship berween stock and stock owners over time
in Okatumba and Orumbo reserves

11
27

30
62

115
146

175
193

189
194

194
201
206
264

272
275

42
252




viii Herero Heroes

Preface

This book developed out of my doctoral thesis, “Towards Redemprion: A socio-
political history of the Herero of Namibia between 1890 and 1923, which was
defended in Leiden in 1996. As such it is in itself the product of a long history,
and owes much to many people. To all those who have assisted me, some of
whom are listed below, [ am truly grateful.

In February 1986 I arrived in Leiden, a bewildered and stunned student
who had refused to serve in the South West African Territorial Force, South
Africa’s proxy force in Namibia. In Leiden I soon discovered that my South
African BA did not count for much, and that the powers that be were of the
opinion that I should have to wait another eight months before I could even
register, let alone study, as a first year history student. Thankfully Robert Ross,
who was teaching in Leiden at the time, took me under his wing. With charming
indifference to the formalines Robert allowed me to do course work,

The work that I completed under Robert’s tutelage, in that first rather
haphazard year in Leiden, brought stability and ensured that there was
continuity with what [ had been doing in South Africa; there, at Rhodes
University in the eastern Cape, [ had been a student of Julian Cobbing, and a
member of the self-styled ‘Mfecane Myth Marauders’. In effect, as a historian,
I am a product of these two mentors. They taught me my craft, and I sincerely
hope that in reading this, they will find echoes of their own skill and style.
Without their awe-inspiring disregard for convention, this book, and my love
for history, would never have come about.

After completing the compulsory undergraduate courses, some with such
unintentionally ironic titles as Vaderlandse Geschiedenis (History of the
fatherland), and after five months as an exchange student at the University of
Ghana, Legon, I completed my MA in 1990 and began preparing my doctoral
research.

In 1990 and early 1991 I was an exchange student at the Department of
African Studies at the University of Cologne. This was made possible by the
Erasmus exchange programme facilitated by Ridder Samsom. In Cologne, Mrs
Kapuuo and Professor Méhlig taught me the rudiments of Herero language,
grammar and structure. Without their input, my work would have been so much
the poorer, and [ am grateful to them for their assistance.

Berween March 1991 and March 1995 I was lucky enough to find
employment as an Onderzoeker in Opleiding (Researcher in Training) with the
MNetherlands Organization for the Advancement of Tropical Research
(WOTRO). Under programme W 24-521, WOTRO funded most of the research
that went to make up this book, and I am grateful to them for their assistance.

On and off between February 1991 and June 1996 the Leiden CNWS
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Research School of Asian, African and Amerindian Studies provided me with

i the best office facilities imaginable. Added to this, the staff and fellow

researchers at the CNWS ensured that going to work was fun. It is true to say
that, without the CN'WS, this book would never have been possible, let alone
written, and I am therefore truly grateful to everybody associated with the
school.

Research for this book was conducted in a number of archives. The first that
I visited for the purposes of this book was that of the United Evangelical Mission
in Wuppertal, Germany, which is very capably run by Barbara Faulenbach.
Apart from introducing me to the handwritten scrawls of missionaries long
gone, Barbara also taught me how to decipher the gothic Schrift in which most
of the nineteenth- and early twentieth-century German documents are written.
For this I am thankful.

In May 1991 and September 1996 I conducted research in the Federal State
Archives in Potsdam, Germany. Apart from running a very tight show, and
being in the midst of a complete removal to new quarters in 1996, the staff
went out of their way to help me. For this I am grateful.

In Namibia I made use of the services of many institutions and people. I
wish to thank the staff of the Namibian National Archives, the Estorff Reference
Library, the National Museum library, the Namibian Scientific Society, the
Evangelical Lutheran Church in Namibia, and the University of Namibia. In
particular I wish to thank the late Brigitte Lau, whose caustic comments did
much to ensure that this book was written, and who unfortunately never got
to see more than the draft chapters of the thesis that preceded this book.

I wish to thank the president of the Republic of Botswana, for granting me
permission to conduct research in Botswana. The staff of the University of
Botswana, the National Institute for Research, the Botswana National Archives,
the Botswana Scientific society, and the Botswana National Museum assisted
me in every way possible. I am thankful to all of them for thart.

I conducted a number of interviews in Namibia and Botswana. Many people
went out of their way to take the time and trouble to listen to me, speak to me,
and attempt to understand what it was that I was looking for. Not only did I
truly enjoy my time with them, I also learnt an incredible amount about the
manner in which people viewed their history. Their selfless assistance provided
me with insights that I had never anticipated. I am indebted to all of them,
and grateful for their assistance.

In South Africa I worked in the Cape Archives Depot in Cape Town and the
Barlow Rand Archives in Johannesburg. In Zimbabwe I was permitted to spend
some time going through the Zimbabwe National Archives. I wish to thank
the staff of these institutions for their assistance.

A substantial part of the thesis that preceded this book was written berween
March 1995 and May 1996 in Téra, a small town in western Niger. I wish to
thank the inhabitants of Téra, for introducing me to a new field of study, and
for living up to the Prophet’s adage that every stranger is to be approached as
a believer.

Upon my return from Niger, | came to be employed as a historian within
the Special Research Project 389, Arid Climate Adaptation and Cultural
Innovation in Africa, of the German research foundation, attached to the
University of Cologne. ACACIA has greatly facilitated my further research into
Herero views of the past, and has kindly provided support during the revision
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of my thesis. I wish to thank my closest colleagues within the SFB 389, Heike
Behrend and Inge Brinkman, for their company and inspiring insights, as well
as their accommodating approach to my working style, In particular, in Cologne
1 wish to thank my office mate, Monika Feinen, for her excellent company,
internet skills, and the maps that grace this book.

In Cologne Michael Bollig has not only been an exceptional colleague and
exemplary house mate, he has also proved to be the most considerate birth
attendant that anyone could wish for. It is a pleasure working with Michael and
I treasure his friendship.

Within two months of my arrival in Holland in 1986, I was fortunate enough
to meet Gertie Janssen. Gertie’s insights and knowledge of the world have always
been disturbingly incisive and stimulating. For the past twelve years, we have
travelled and lived together. Without her presence this book would never have
been written, and our daughter, Sieme, would never have been born. It is to
Sieme and Gertie that I dedicate this book: nobody could wish for better
company.

Asmara, Eritrea

e

Introduction

In Seprember 1995 in Windhoek, the capital city of the Republic of Namibia,
Herero soldiers carrying German ranks and singing translated German hymns
marched along Independence Avenue, previously known as Kaiserstrasse.
The soldiers presented the visiting German Chancellor Helmut Kohl with a
petition demanding the payment of war reparations to the ‘Herero people’.!
In essence, media coverage surrounding Kohl’s visit encapsulated the image
of Namibia as a former German colony where German is spoken, men and
women get dressed in copies of German missionary and military clothing,
and a terrible colonial war was fought. Though it is true that this concentration
on Germany’s role in Namibia, which extends into the academic fraternity,
conveniently side-steps the horrors of the only recently ended South African
occupation, it also overlooks the role of the Herero in determining their
own history, and downgrades their position in the past to one of a group of
people who were and are capable only of reacting to and in copy of external
influences.

This book discusses the manner in which the Herero transformed and
moulded their society between 1890, when Maharero Tjamuaha, the chieftain
of Okahandja, died, and 1923, when his son Samuel Maharero died. During
this period of time the Herero were devastated in a genocidal colonial war.
Prior to, and after, the war Herero society appropriated, transformed and
applied ideas, concepts and instruments, some of which were external in origin,
to its own ends. The politics and society of the Herero prior to the Herero—
German war, as well as the manner in which Herero society was able to
overcome its destruction and reestablish itself in the aftermath of the war, form
the subject-matter of this book. The central focus of this work is thus not the
Herero-German war, but the manner in which Herero society operated in
Namibia in the years of Samuel Maharero’s reign, initially as chief of Okahandja
and later as paramount chief of all of the Herero.?

! Republikein 28/8/95, pp. 1-2; 15/9/95, pp. 1-2; 2049/95, pp. 1-2 & Onze Wereld, Dec. 95, p. 57.
# Earlier draft versions of this book contained an extra chapter on the history of the Herero in
Botswana between 1890 and 1923 In the interests of contnuity this chapter was later dropped.
Parts of the dropped chapter were presented as a paper at the annual conference of the African
Studies Associanion in Toronto 1994 as Seekg to return? Herero exiles 19041923,




2 Herero Heroes

It is hardly surprising that the deliberate policy of genocide which was
practised by the Imperial German army against the Herero has had its impact
upon those engaged in researching issues associated with Herero society and
history. Between 1904 and 1908 there was a conscious attempt to eradicate all
forms of opposition to the German colonial state in Namibia. Herero men,
women and children were deliberately shot, raped, hanged, placed into camps
and put to work as forced labourers. The South African invasion and subsequent
occupation of Namibia in 1915 entailed an improvement in the living conditions
of the country’s black inhabitants. In the twentieth century research on Herero
society and history has tended to concentrate on the Herero—German war and
its impact on Herero society, and to shy away from dealing with the history of
Herero society prior to the war, or in its immediate aftermath in the years prior
to the death of Samuel Maharero in 1923,

Studies that have involved themselves with Herero society and the
colonization of Namibia have tended to fall, broadly speaking, into three
categories: (i) studies that relate to the nature of German imperialism and the
development of totalitarian societies; (ii) popular war histories; and (iii)
ethnographic studies. There are of course exceptions to this tendency, and these
will be discussed at a later stage.

Studies that relate to the nature of German imperialism
and the development of totalitarian societies

An example of the debate relating to the nature of German imperialism and
the development of totalitarian society was that which was conducted by Horst
Drechsler and Helmut Bley.? Though both provided insights into the nature
of Imperial Germany and Herero society, both failed to expand upon the history
of the Herero prior to, during and after the bloody conflict. In fact discussion
as to the history of the Herero, their resistance and their reaction to colonization
was subsumed in a discussion relating to the society and colonial policy of
Imperial Germany. In recent years this debate has been reduced to the rather
unfortunate business of debating numbers killed, and has continued to rage
in ever more meaningless ways.* These works have all unsausfactorily dealt with
the history of those who were affected by German colonization, be it the pre-
cursor of Nazism or not, namely the Herero.

* Helmut Bley's South-West Africa under German Rule 1894-1914 (London 1971) and Horst
Drechsler’s “Let Us Die Fighting’ (Berlin 1966), were both history PhDs completed in Hamburg
in 1968 and Berlin in 1966 respectively. Through the years these two works have provided
inspiration not only for this work but for a number of other theses as well: Gilbert Isaac Schrank,
German South West Africa: Social and Economic Aspects of its History, 1884-1915 (New York
University PhD 1974) & J.M. Bridgman, The Revolt of the Hereros (Berkeley 1981).
*The debate was given new impetus by the publication, shortly before the independence of
Namibia, of Brigitte Lau’s *Uncertain Certainties: The Herero-German war of 1004°, in Mibagus,
No. 2 April 1989, pp. 4-8; a slightly reworked copy of this article was published in B. Lau, History
and Hisioriography, edited by A. Heywood (Windhoek 1995) pp. 39-52. Lau’s article elicited
responses from Randolph Vigne and Henning Melber in The South African Review of Books, Feb./
Mmh 1990, _'I'und]nly 1990 Aus 10ct. !990, Txlman Dcdcnn.g. ‘The German-Herero-War of
hy?' in The Journal o,"SourhxmAjmnn
Slndlﬁa Vol. 19, 'N'o 1, 1993, pp 80—8 and 1.B. Gewald, “The Great General of the Kaiser’ in
Borswana Notes and Remrds Vol. 26 1994, pp. 67-76. Lau's article was followed by a series of
articles and books which hav: sought to dcny the genocide, or, at the very least, called for a revision
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Popular war histories

Through the years a number of popular war histories of the Herero-German
war have been written. Kriger has succinctly noted that the theme of the war
between the Germans and the Herero appears to be ‘continually rediscovered’.’
As such, though the books and articles written by Pool, Nuhn and others
provide us with a blow by blow account of the war, they give us little or no
insight into the workings of Herero society at the time.® The archives of the
Schutztruppe that operated in Namibia have disappeared; with the exception
of Conrad Rust, who was given insight into the military files at the time, all of
the other authors were therefore forced into being heavily dependent on
secondary sources and the German military’s own official war history.” Added
to this these works have failed to explore or examine the position of the Herero
in the war itself. Although these works are war histories, one will search in
vain as to Herero command structures, strategies, tactics, aims or motivation
for fighting in the war. Thus, unfortunately, they provide little insight into
Herero society prior to, during or, for that matter, after 1904.

Ethnographic studies

The bulk of the material dealing with the Herero specifically has been of an
ethnographic nature. Primarily anthropologists and ethnologists have been
interested in Herero society for one of two reasons, the impact of the war on
society, or the system of double descent that is practised in Herero society.
The ethnographic study of the Herero has a long history which started long
before the Herero—German war. The travelogues of Frances Galton and Charles
John Andersson, of the early 1850s, contained some material of ethnographic
importance.? In the late 1860s the Windhoek-born theology student Josaphat
Hahn, one of the sons of the Rhenish missionary, Carl Hugo Hahn, with whom
Galton and Andersson had associated during their sojourn in Namibia,

of histories dealing with the war. See in this regard: Horst Kithne, ‘Dic Ausrottungsfeldziige der
“Kaiserlichen Schutztruppen in Afrika” und die sozialdemokratische Reichstagsfraktion’, in
Militargeschichre, Band 18, 1979 Wultcr Nuhn, Sturm ubchud‘wu Der Hereroaufstande von 1904
— Ein diisteres Kapitel der de 1 ibias (Koblenz 1989); Karla Poewe,
The Namibian Herero: A History of their Psychawuai stmtegramﬂ and Survival (Lewiston &
Queenston 1983); Gunrer Spraul ‘Der “Volkermord" an den Herero: Untersuchungen zu einer
neuen Kon-tinuvitdtsthese’ in stchrc}mml%mm:bqﬁ uwd' Unterricht, 1988/12, pp. 713-39; Gert
Sudholt, Die deutsche Eing in frika. Von den Anfa bis 1904, Georg
(Hildesheim, 1975),
* Gesine Kriger, Krii und Geschichtsb in. Zur Realitar, Deutung und Verarbeitung
des deutschen Koloma!krwgs J'QCM—JPG? PhD University of Hanover 1995, p. 2.
‘W-]r:r \uhn, S.umn uber Stidwest: Der Hereroaufstande von 1904 — Ein diisteres Kapitel der deutschen
Namibias (Koblenz 1989); Gerhardus Pool, Die Herero-Opstand 1904-1907
(Cape Tr.'rwn 19?9), Conrad Rust, Krieg und Frieden im Hererolande: Aufzeichnungen aus dem
Kriegsjahre 1904 (Berlin 1905).
T Kampfe der deutschen Truppen in Siids frika, bearbeiter nach Angaben der Kri hichtlich
Abteilung I des Groffen G, [stabes (Berlin 1906-8).
* C.J. Andersson, Lake Ngami: or, exploration and discoveries during four years’ wanderings in the
wilds af South Western Africa (London 1856) & F. Galton, The Narrative of an Explorer in Tropical
South Africa (London 1853).
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published two ethnographic articles on the Herero and Hereroland.?
Throughout the remainder of the nineteenth century, as the Rhenish Mission
sought to gain Herero converts, a series of articles appeared in the Berichte der
Rheinischen Missions-Gesellschaft, some of which were of an ethnographic nature.
The Rhenish missionaries regularly held conferences to discuss and administer
the progress of their activities in Namibia. During the course of these
conferences it was customary for some of the missionaries to present papers
on subjects related to their work. Some of these papers, particularly those of
Jakob Irle, were of a high quality and dealt specifically with Herero ethnology,
but it was not until after the war had broken out that Irle published his work.!?
From then onwards the impact of the war has come to dominate all ethno-
graphic research dealing with the Herero.

The double descent, or more correctly duolineal transmission, i.e. ‘the
utilization in one society of both patrilineal and matrilineal principles of
affiliation resulting in two lineage systems cross-cutting each other’, was and
is practised by the Herero, and has resulted in a great deal of anthropological
interest.'! Though Jakob Irle had referred to the dual descent system, it was
not until the completion of a doctoral thesis at the University of Leiden in
1933, that the full complexity of the system was worked out.}* This complexity
has provided inspiration for a series of dissertations and articles that have sought
to come to terms with Herero descent systems.'*

The majority of ethnographic findings dealing with the Herero has been
concerned with the impact of the war on Herero society. Studies have ranged
from those seeking to explain how Herero coped with living as refugees and
ethnic minorities amongst the Tswana, through to those which have sought to
discover the impact of the war on Herero social systems.!! Associated with the

* Josaphat Hahn, ‘Die Ovaherero’, in Zeitschrift der Gesellschaft fiir Erdkunde zu Berlin, Verlag von
Dietrich Reimer (Berlin 1869). Josaphat Hahn, ‘Das Land der Ovahererd’, in Zeitschrift der
Geselischaft fiar Erdkunde zu Berlin, 1868 pp. 194-243. At the same time Theophilus Hahn, who
was no direct relative of]'osaphat. puhllsh:d an article that also contained information on Namibia
and the Herero: ‘Ein R im lichen Theile der Cap-Region’, in Globus, 14, 1869
pp. 270-1.

1% Jakob Irle returned ro Germany in 1903 and published his seminal book Die Herero: Ein Beitrag
zur Landes-, Volks- und Missionskunde (Gitersloh 1906),

11 Gordon D Gibson, ‘Double Descent and Its Correlates among the Herero of Ngamiland’, in
American Anthropologist, Vol. 58, No. 1, February 1956, p. 109.

'2 Hendrik Gerhardus Luttig, The Rel, System and Social Organisation of the Herero (Utrecht
1933). Lurtig’s work on the Herero had important implications for the development of what
became known as the ‘Leiden School” in structural logy. The founder of this per

was Prof. Dr .P.B. De Jossclin De Jong who, in his maugu:ul lecture at the University of Leiden,
singled out Lutrig’s work for havmg :Fd:caud the possibility of the of similar

of d in the Ind 1.BB. De Josselin De Jong, De Maletsche Archipel als
Ethnologisch Studieveld (Leiden 1935) p. 2 fn. 3.
" Gordon D, Gibson, The Social O ion of the South n Baniu, Unpublished DPhil

Thesis, University of Chicago (Chicago 1952); Elhanan Hagolani, Das Kulturmodell der Bantu-
sprechenden Rindernomaden Sidwestafrikas, DPhil Thesis, Universitit zu Kéln (New York 1968);
1.5. Malan, Dubbele afkomsberckening by die Himba, 'n Hi kende volk in Suidwes-Afrika,
Unpublished DLitt et Phi dissertation, Rand Afril Uni y (Jok 1. 1971); ‘Double
Descent among the Himba of South West Africa’ in (‘:mbubmlm Ser. B. Vol. 2 No. 3, 1973 pp.
81-112; Carlos Laranjo Medeiros, Vakwandu: History, Kinship and Systems of Production nfarr Herero
Peopie nfSou:h West Angola (Lisbon 1981); 1. Schapera, Notes on some Herero Genealogies (Cape
Town 1945) & F.R. Vivelo, The Herero of Western Botswana (New York 1977).

* Uri Almagor, ‘Pastoral Identity and Reluctance to Change; the Mbanderu of Ngamiland’, in
The Journal of African Law, 24 (1980), 1, pp. 35-61; K. Alnaes, ‘Oral Tradition and Identity; the
Herero in Botswana’, in The Societies of Southern Africa in the 19th and 20th Centuries, Vo, 11
(1981}, pp. 15-23; ‘Living with the past: the songs of the Hercro in Botswana’, in Africa, 59.3
(1989}, pp. 267-99 & Vivelo, Herero Botswana.
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latter has been the development of a series of studies which Kriiger has correctly
described as falling within ‘einer Tradition der Pathologisierung’, a tradition of
pathologization,'® These have argued that on account of the war the Herero
were and are physically as well as psychologically unfit. In the aftermath of the
war, commentators dealing with the Herero asked whether the Herero were
‘committing race suicide’'® or argued thart:

The Herero no longer want to live. Even there where conditions are good for them,
their birth rate has shrunk in an unbelievable manner.'

This tradition has been carried on into the present. An example of this is the
work of the Canadian anthropologist Karla Poewe, who has sought to argue
that, on account of the war, the Herero as a whole had become mentally
unbalanced, and had remained so until the time of her research in the early
1980s. '8 Effectively these studies have done what the German colonial state so
anxiously hoped for but failed to do: rob the Herero completely of independent
action and thought.

On the whole the ethnographic works which deal with the Herero currently
living in Botswana and Namibia stress the central role of the war in the creation
of that which is alleged to characterize the present-day Herero. Though it is
true that these works give some suggestion as to Herero society as it existed
prior to the war, they fail to provide an adequate understanding of the causes
of the war or Herero development before then. The same holds true for the
recently completed doctoral thesis of Hendrickson, which, inspired by the
earlier work of the Comaroffs amongst the Tswana, does have a historical
component, in that it has sought to concentrate on the historical roots of Herero
identity in the present.!?

The only major work dealing with Herero society prior to 1890 is that written
by the Rhenish missionary Heinrich Vedder: South West Africa in early times,
being the story of South West Africa up to the date of Maharero’s death in 18902
Written more than sixty years ago, the book clearly reflected Vedder’s ideas
regarding the existence of superior and inferior races, unchanging ‘tribes and
nations’, and the conflict-ridden nature of pre-colonial Namibia. Though
Vedder had first-hand experience of the terrors of the Herero—German war,
his work is graced by claims that the Herero were exterminated and enslaved
prior to German colonization. His work was well critiqued by Brigitte Lau,
who saw Vedder’s ‘nationalistic German nazi” Weltanschauung as having led to

11 Kruger, Kriegshewaltigung, p. 7 Krug:r coins the word krankschreiben (ro write sick) to describe
what happ in this ett tradition, where illness is ascribed and auributed to people
through the writing of others.

1*W.P. Steenkamp, [s the 5'0th l%.u A}ruan Herera Committing Race Suicide? (Cape Town 1922).

1" Viktor Lebzelter, Ei in Sudwest- und Stidafrika (Leipzig 1934) p. 182, JBG's

translation,

'* Karla Poewe, The Namibtan Herero.

* Anne Alfhild Bell Hendrickson, Historical [dioms of Identity: Rep among the O
in Southern Africa, PhD Thesis (New York 1992); “The “Long” Dress and the Construction of
Herero Identities in Southern Africa’ in African Studres, Vol. 53, No, 2, 1994, pp. 25-54.; ‘Bodies
and Flags: the Representation of Herero identity in colonial Namibia® in Clothing and Difference:
Embodied Identites in Colonial m&é%s;-(.‘ofoniamjn'm (Durham 1996); Hendrickson, Women, Dolls
and Herero Identity in Urban Nanifha and Botswana, paper presented at ASA conference Toronto
1994,

20 Heinrich Vedder, South West Africa in early times, being the story of South West Africa up to the date
of Maharero’s death in 1890 (London 1938), translation from German original of 1934,
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the creation of a ‘piece of work which in its essence is apologetic of colonial
rule’.?! Dealing with Vedder’s work, Jill Kinahan came to the same conclusion
and noted:

Apart from his magpie interest in historical curiosities, Vedder’s ideological
preoccupations were to do with the racial history of the country. Thus, at the outset
of the book, he is concerned with laying the basis for his point of view.??

Thus, though his work is more than sixty years old and marred by prejudice,
Vedder did produce a considerable amount of information which, though it is
sorely in need of a major overhaul, is still used as a benchmark in studies relating
to Namibian and Herero society as a whole.?

The revision and restoration of written Namibian history commenced in
the 1980s, with the publication of numerous works written or edited by Brigitte
Lau. Along with Wolfgang Werner, Lau was a student at the University of Cape
Town in South Africa where, under the tutorship of Professor Christopher
Saunders, Namibian history and historiography became a hot subject for
academic debate in the late 1970s. Starting in the early 1990s, as Namibia
gained its independence, a number of historical theses dealing with Namibian
history appeared, and many are still in the process of being written.* Of direct
importance, within the context of this book, are the completed theses of Gesine
Kriger and Wolfgang Werner, and the forthcoming thesis of Dag Henrichsen,
all of which deal with aspects of Herero history.

In effect Dag Henrichsen’s forthcoming thesis is an extensive revision of
the material and subject-matter covered by Vedder. It covers the same time
frame and geographical area dealt with by Vedder in his South-West Africa in
early times. It, too, deals with the socio-political history of central Namibia in
the nineteenth century up until the death of Maharero. Henrichsen’s extremely
detailed work is based not only on Vedder’s own source material and archival
research, but also on extensive oral historical fieldwork in Namibia.
Henrichsen’s work will provide historians with a fine description of central
Namibia prior to the advent of an effective German colonial presence in the
territory. In terms of chronology, this book picks up where Henrichsen’s thesis
ends.2s

*! Brigitte Lau, *“Thank God the Germans came”: Vedder and Namibian historiography’ in Africa
Seminar Collected Papers, Centre for African Studies, University of Cape Town, Vol. 2, pp. 24-53,
edited by K. Gottschalk and C. Saunders (Cape Town 1981) p. 28
# Jill Kinahan, ‘Heinrich Vedder's sources for his account of the exploration of the Namib coast’
in Cimbebasia, 11, pp. 33-9, 1989,
1 The most obvious examples of th|s are for i instance the urilization of Vedder's work by
representatives of the Dama N 1 tJ:elr Iand claims to much of
central Namibia, and the reliance of thc K i on
Vedder's definition and description of Namibia’s peoples. See: ]nn—Ban Gewald, ‘On being Damara
between 1893 and 1993 in Quellen zur Khowsan-Forschung/ Research in Kkouan Studies (Cologne
1998),
4 Jeremy Gale Silvester, Black Pastoralists, White Farmers: The ds ics of land di ion and
labour recruitment in southern Namibia 1915-1955, PhD School of Oriental and African Studies
1993; Patricia Hayes, A History of the Ovambo of Namibia, ca. 1880-1930, PhD Cambridge
University 1992; Harri Siiskonen, Trade and Soci, i C}:angw in O boland, 1850-1906
(Helsinki 1990); Marti Eirola, The O b : The O boland Reservation in the Making
(Jyviskyla 1992) & Fricda-Nela Williams, Prmabmrzl' Communities in Southwestern Africa. A History
af Ovambo Kingdoms 1600-1920 (Windhoek 1961),
s Dag Henrichsen, Herrschaft und Identitar im vorkolonialen 2, Kb
19. Jahrhundert, PhD University of Hamburg 1998.
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Wolfgang Werner’s thesis, An economic and social history of the Herero of
Namibia, 1915-1946, focused on economic determinants in the reconstitution
of Herero society in the aftermath of Imperial Germany’s occupation of
Namibia. Werner argued that ‘by the outbreak of the First World War . . .
virtually the entire population in the Police Zone [essentially the area south of
Etosha] was proletarianized’.?® Terence Ranger, in seeking to define an aspect
of Zimbabwean history, coined the term ‘self-peasantization’, to refer to the
concept of Africans becoming peasants to resist having to become labourers
for the settler market.?” Drawing on Ranger, Werner took the concept of “self-
peasantization’ and sought to apply it to his study of Herero between 1915
and 1946. With its intense concentration on economic developments,
particularly in the sector of settler agriculture, the thesis failed to adequately
elaborate upon the development of social and political events in Herero society.
To some extent the reliance on economic developments at the cost of social
developments led, as Werner himself admitted, to a self-enforced limitation,
which was only partly alleviated by the publication of an article on the
Truppenspieler.?® The bulk of Werner’s thesis, as its title suggests, deals with a
period of time that follows on from where this book stops.

The Herero-German war, the way in which Herero came to terms with the
war, and how it influenced historical consciousness within Herero society,
formed the subject of Gesine Kriiger’s doctoral dissertation, completed at the
University of Hanover in 1995.2% Kriiger’s work is principally concerned with
the war, and the impact thereof on Herero thinking and society in the aftermath
of the war. The extensive coverage that is given of the views of German soldiers
at the time is complemented by Herero perspectives on the war as it has come
to the fore in orature and ritual. It is the first piece of academic work that
seriously attempts to come to terms with the position of Herero women in
Namibian history; children and the mission at various stages in the aftermath
of the war are also discussed. In seeking to describe and detail the manner in
which Herero society coped with the war, Kriiger abandoned the strict
chronology of ‘big man and event history’ in favour of pursuing historical
themes. Thus events that took place at various times between the war and 1945
are brought together, at the expense of an overview detailing the chronological
development of Herero society and politics. Building upon the work of Dag
Henrichsen, on watering places in pre-colonial Namibia as having formed the
basis of a network that defined Herero territory and society, Kriiger argues
that it was following the funeral of Samuel Maharero in 1923 that, on the basis
of Orte der Erinnerung, places of memory, Herero were able to reconstitute a
network of points on the map of Namibia that mirrored the watering points
that had bound and constituted the basis of Herero society prior to colonization,

2 Wolfgang Werner, An economic and socral history of the Herero of Namibia, 1915-1946, PhD
University of Cape Town 1989, p. 69, S

# Ranger developed this concept by enlarging upon the earlier work of Sharon Stichter, Capitalism
and African Responses cited in Terence Ranger, Peasant Consciousness and GuerillaWar in Zimbaboe
(Harare 1985) pp. 26-31.

# [bidem, p. 9. Wolfgang Werner, “‘P[a)'mg Soldiers™: The Truppenspicler Movement among the
Herero of Namibia, 1915 to ca. 1945', in Journal of Southern African Studies, Vol. 16, No. 3,
Seprember 1990, pp. 485 502.

# Gesine Kriger, Krieg alti; wnd Geschichsh Zur Realitat, Deutung und Verarbeitung
des deutschen Kolonialkriegs JM«I—M Ph.D. University of Hanover 1995,
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and allowed for the symbolic reoccupation of their Hereroland.* In contrast
to Kriiger’s work, this book, whilst also dealing with the reconstruction of
Herero society, has as its cut-off point the funeral of Samuel Maharero in 1923,

This book, in distinction to the studies discussed above, covers the socio-
political history of the Herero between 1890 and 1923: that is, it covers the
history of Herero society prior to the war, and describes the manner in which
this society was restructured and reestablished in the face of great adversity in
the aftermath of the war. Though the bulk of this book is divided into seven
chapters, it falls essentially into two halves. The first four chapters describe
socio-political developments in Hereroland prior to the Herero-German war,
and the remaining three chapters recount these developments in the aftermath
of the war.

From the late 1860s onwards Herero society was transformed from a strongly
decentralized transhumant pastoralist society into one which was strongly
centralized and centred upon a number of specific urban centres. In this process
Herero society appropriated, and transformed to its own needs, the political
concepts and structures which it had drawn from outside sources. At the advent
of German colonialism, Herero society was divided into five distinct
chieftaincies which, though closely related in terms of kin, tended to compete
with one another politically and economically. Following the death of the
chieftain of Okahandja, Maharero Tjamuaha, in 1890, Imperial Germany
became actively involved in central Namibian politics. Of the five Herero
chieftains, only Samuel Maharero, the son of the deceased chief, was able to
manipulate the Germans into supporting him in his struggle for political power
which, though initially limited to Okahandja, eventually extended to all of
Hereroland. In exchange for German military aid and political support Samuel
Maharero sold the land, labour and cattle of his subjects. By the time the
rinderpest epizootic struck central Namibia in 1897, Samuel Maharero had
become the most powerful Herero chief that had ever existed.

Rinderpest, and the natural disasters that followed in its wake, led to the
impoverishment and subsequent transformation of Herero society as a whole.
Anxious to maintain their positions, the established chiefs were forced to change
the manner in which they maintained power, and new elites, capable of making
use of the changed circumstances, came to the fore. Rinderpest facilitated
German colonization of central Namibia as Herero, who had been impoverished
by the disease, and were now desperate for food, vaccines and medicines, were
forced into positions of dependence upon the colonial state.

The Herero-German war, which broke out as a result of a series of
misunderstandings, led to the destruction of Herero society in all its facets as
it had existed prior to the war. The colonial legislation, passed in the aftermath
of the war, sought to maintain the eternity of this condition. However, contrary
to the hopes and expectations of those who had envisaged the final dissolution
of the Herero, Herero society re-emerged. Beginning in the remaining years
of German rule, the Herero re-organized their society on the basis of the

¥ See Kriger, ch. 11; Dag Henrichsen, *“Ehi rOvaherero”. Mindliche Uberlieferungen von
Herero zu ihrer Geschichte im vorkolonialen Namibia', in Werkstart Geschichte No. 9: Afrika -
Europa, Hamburg Dezember 1994; & Dag Henrichsen and Gesine Kriger, *“We have been
captives long enough, we want to be free”: Land, uniforms and politics in the history of Herero
during the interwar period’ in Namibia Under South African Rule: Mobility & Containment, 1915~
46, ed. P. Hayes, M. Wallace, J. Silvester and W, Hartmann (Oxford 1998)
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structures and beliefs existing in the German colonial army and Rhenish
missionary activity. The South African invasion of Namibia, and the subsequent
weakening of the colonial state, allowed the Herero to establish and maintain
themselves with cattle in areas of their own choosing. The effective re-
occupation of land by the Herero forced the colonial state, anxious to maintain
the peace and cut costs, to come to terms with the existence of Herero society.
The death and funeral of Samuel Maharero in 1923 was the catalyst that
brought the disparate groups of Herero together to establish a single unitary
Herero identity. It was only following the death of Samuel Maharero in 1923
that the colonial state, which had recently been granted Namibia as a mandated
territory, sought to once again transform Herero society and rob it of its land.

This book, thus, describes the manner in which, between 1890 and 1923,
the Herero of Namibia grappled to maintain and attain control over their
freedom, and how, when they lost this, they reorganized to continue their
struggle towards redemption.
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For the Want of a Nation
Herero Polities on the Eve of Colonization

Introduction

In 1850, when the young Swedish adventurer Charles John Andersson first
visited Hereroland, he was shocked to discover that, contrary to his
expectations, the Herero, or Damara as they were referred to at the time, were
far from being the subjects of a mighty African kingdom.! Instead, when first
confronted with Herero society, which was at that stage strongly decentralized,
Andersson believed that he was witnessing the demise of a once great and

mighty race, which, for want of leadership and national unity, was now doomed
to extinction.

The Damaras were once, undoubtedly, a grear nation; but, unlike others which
gradually became more powerful by the union of a number of smaller tribes under
the head of a single chief or king, they have dwindled into an endless number of
petty tribes, ruled by as many chiefs.?

Little troubled by ideas as to his own stature, Andersson set about attempting
to remould Herero society into something more in keeping with his own ideas
regarding nations and kings. However, although Andersson drafted documents
proclaiming his status as paramount chief of the Herero, Herero society changed

! Andersson accompanied the English tourist Francis Galton, who inspired by news of the newly
‘discovered’ Lake Ngami, had organized an expedition to south-western Africa. Galton and
Andersson were well-educated products of their time, men idtrigued and influenced by some of
the more fashionable ideas current in learned circles in Europe in the mid-nineteenth century:
the development of the human condition and nationalism. Francis Galton used his expedition
experiences to develop the theory of eugenics. Charles John Andersson, on the other hand,
developed delusions of grandeur. C.J. Andersson, Lake Ngami: or, exploration and discoveries during
Jour years"wanderings in the wilds of South Western Africa (London 1856) & F. Galton, The Narrative
of an Explorer i Tropical South Africa (London 1853).

? Charles John Andersson, Lake Ngami (London 1856) p. 217. To be sure, at the time of
Andersson’s and Galton's arrival in Namibia, a number of Herero had been attacked and
impoverished by the raiders of Jonker Afrikaner. However, this in no way reflected the demise of
what was an extremely decentalized pastoralist society. Andersson, as we will see further on, wanted
to change this decentralization to his own advantage as a cattle trader seeking to subvert the
controls imposed upon the export of cattle by Jonker Afrikaner.
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"' Map 1.1: Central Namibia showing heights above 1500 metres, and the 250 and 500
i millimetre isohytes between which rainfall agriculture is not possible but pastoralism is.
Source; United Evangelical Mission archives, Wuppertal

. in ways little anticipated by their self-styled commander in chief. ’ During the
" last third of the nineteenth century Herero society transformed z?s:]f from a
" strongly decentralized transhumant society into a strongly centralized society
. centred on specific urban centres independent of oumdle control. In doing d_l:]s,
~ the Herero appropriated terms, concepts and mater}ai goods from outside
sources and transformed and applied them to their own ends. Far from
remaining unaffected by the advance of‘ the world system’s frontier, Herero
i society transformed itself to be better equipped to reap its benefits, and thereby
{ % established societies hitherto unseen in central Namibia. .

" The Ovaherero, the people with whose history this ‘uyolk des_lls, lived
predominantly on the highlands of what is now ceptral Namibia. It is an area
.. characterized by aridity and bounded by deserts; in the east by the Kalahari
"~ desert, in the west by the Namib desert, and in the south by thcsc_ two deserts,
' where they meet to form the arid reaches of Namaqualand. With an erratic
* alternating cycle of droughts and rains, 3pd an average rainfall of less than
500 mm, rainfall agriculture was well-nigh impossible on the central Namibian

3 Charles John Andersson, Trade and Politics in Central Namibia, 18601864, edited by B. Lau
(Windhoek 1989) p. 280.
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Highlands." Instead the inhabitants of central Namibia were primarily engaged
in pastoral:sm, horticulture and hunter-gathering. Archaeological evidence
indicates that by AD 1100 pastoralists, who were probably the Bantu-speaking
ancestors of the Herero, had established themselves in the area.’These ancestors
created a society characterized, as many African pastoralist societies were, by
extreme social and political decentralization.® During the course of the
nineteenth century, as an adaptation to the intrusion of the Cape colonial
frontier into the area, a process of political centralization and social
transformation took place within Herero society.”

1_51 south-western Africa the people who speak dialects of the Bantu language
Otul}erero have been glossed as Ovaherero, Ovambanderu, Ovahimba,
Ovatjimba, Ovazemba and Vakwandu. Not only do these people speak dialects
of a common language, but they also share a number of cultural elements that
relat_e to social organization, preferred economy, cosmology, epistemology and
spatio-political organization. Historically there have been three broad divisions
within Otjiherero-speaking society: the Ovaherero, the Ovambanderu and the
Ovahimba. These divisions, which appear to be historically true and significant,
Cerglatgd roughly with environmental determinants and geographical
dlstlnbunon, Thus the Ovambanderu were a section of Otjiherero-speaking
society engaged in pastoralism on the Sandveld of the Kalahari; the Ovaherero
engaged in pastoralism on the Namibian highveld; and the Ovahimba engaged
in pastoralism in the Kaokoveld. This book uses the term Herero, as a collective

* For further information on the central Namibian environment see: Antti Erkkili and Harri
Siiskonen, Forestry in Namibia 1850-1990, University of Joensuu (Joensuu 1992) pp. 19-24; H.J.
Cooke, “The Physical Envir of B 'yin P g5 of the 5 urm on Se m
Boimv_ua; the historical develapment of a human landscape, edited by R. Renée Hitchcock and Mary
ﬁ, S'Eqmlt'h‘;ﬁ\:[:lsy:rg Soci;t: (£|(’.Einb:0rcne 1982) pp. 1-12; and John Kinahan, Pastoral Nomads of

e Central Namib Desert: The Peaple History Forgot, Namibi i N ibi
Books (Windhock 1950} pp. 2v-é°. v Forgot, Namibia Archaeological Trust, New Namibia
* For an overview of the movement of iron-age Bantu speakers in Africa see Jan Vansina, Paths in
the Ram‘!r'ar.ens.' Towards a History of Political Tradition in Equatorial Africa, The University of
Whisconsin Press_(Mldison 1990), For an overview and di ion on the i duction of cattle
to southern Africa see A.B. Smith, Pastoralism in Africa: Origins and Development Ecology.
Witwatersrand University Press (Johannesburg 1992) particularly p. 84; James Denbow, ‘A nn\i
Io_ok at the later prehistory of the Kalahari’, in Journal of African History, 27 (1986), pp. 3-28.;].
Kinahan, {’hstamf Nomads af the Central Namib Desert: The People that History Forgot, Namibia
mchcolpgl_cai Trust and New Namibia Books (Windhoek 1991) pp. 67 & 149; H. Pager, The
Rock Paintings of the Upper Brandberg. Part 1: Amis Gorge, Heinrich Barth Institute (Cologne 1989).
Plate six of the site named ‘Amis 6’ has an 11 inting of a fi iled sheep. It must be
hor_nc in mind that there is a debate raging as to the introduction of pastoralism in south-western
Africa which forms a backdrop to the *Great Kalahari debate’. Archacological findings are hotly
contested and nowhere is this more clearly indicated than in an article by J.E. Yellen and A.S.
Brooks, “The Late Stone Age Archacology in the /Xai [Xai Region: a response to Wilmsen', which
:?E;Eraﬂ 18 }I?mmar;a];\fom aBnd Records,Vol. 22, Botswana Society (Gaborone 19590

. Galaty and Picrre Bonte, Herders, Warri 3 5 1) f i

Prise (Oford, Houides 1961, 3 tors, and Traders: Pastoralism in Africa, Westview
? For a discussion on the expansion of the Cape colonial frontier see: M. Legassick, “The Northern
Frontier to 1820: The emergence of the Grigua people’, in The Shaping af South African Society,
‘!652-1820, edited by Richard Elphick and Hermann Gali Maskew Miller 1 (Capc‘
Town 1984) pp. 243-90; N.G. Penn, ‘The Frontier in the Western Cape, 1700-1740", in Papers
in the J"h_-\ehuwrjr qf the Western Cape, South Africa, edited by J. Parkington and M. Hall, BAR
International Series 332 (Cape Town 1987) pp. 464-5; N.G. Penn ‘Pastoralists and pastoralism
inthe norrhcm'Cspe frontier zone during the eighteenth century” in The South African Archeological
Saciety, Goodu " Series: Prehistoric P lism in Southern Africa, Vol. 5, June 1986, pp. 63-98.
‘For_ a general dls_cnssion on the expansion and impact of the frontier see: R. Brian Ferguson,
‘Tribal Warfare', in Scientific American, pp. 90-5, January 1992; War in the Tribal Zone: Expanding
States and Indigenous Warfare, edited by R. Brian Ferguson and Neil L. Whitchead (Santa Fe 1992).
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srm to refer to all Otjiherero-speaking people, and uses the specific terms,
Mbanderu, Himba and so forth, when the context demands it.®
A'characteristic of pre-colonial Herero societies was their strong decentral-
jon, a characteristic which was shared with the pastoralist societies of East
frica.’ As we have already seen, this strong decentralization surprised observers
n the nineteenth century.

‘A common paramount they do not have and they do not appear to have ever been
stbject to one. Instead they exist divided in a multitude of bigger and smaller tribes
of many hundred to thousands of souls. Every tribe is completely independent and
stands in equality to the others.'®

ior to the latter second half of the nineteenth century no centralized

ership, beyond that of a patri-clan head, the Omukuru, who was seen 1o
the living embodiment of the clan’s ancestor, existed amongst Herero groups.
gsociation with a specific patri-clan head was by virtue of his stock wealth,
sonality, and both his secular and religious ability. This association was
pered by environmental circumstances as well as by the activities of the
i-clan head. If the Omukuru failed to provide either secular or religious
ices, or if he was seen as having wronged a follower, there was nothing to
op followers from voting with their feet and leaving. Allied to this was the
anshumant pastoralism which was necessary for survival. Ozonganda,
tlements under the leadership of an Omukuru, were arranged around
ologically advantageous points, and tended to shift with the changing
sons.!! During the course of the nineteenth century this strong socio-political
decentralization changed.

i
1

or an introduction to Herero ethnology see Gordon D. Gibson, The Social Organization of the
h Banitu, Unpublished DPhil Thesis, University of Chicago (Chicago 1952); J. Irle,
¢ Herero (Nendeln, Kraus reprint, 1973); H.G. Lunig, The Religious System and Social
" Organisation of the Herero (Utrecht 1933); K. Poewe, The Namibian Herero (Lewiston and
&:ﬁns’mn 1983); 1. Schapera, Notes on some Herero Genealogies (Cape Town 1945);T. Sundermeser
Kuvare. Die Mbanderu; Studien zu ikrer Geschichte und Kultur (St Augustin, 1977) & FR.
1o, The Herero of Western Botswana (New York 1977).
A.B. Smith, Pastoralism in Africa: Origins and Development Ecology, Witwatersrand University
Press (Johannesburg 1992) p. 187,
Josaphat Hahn, ‘Die Ovaherero’, in Zeitschrift der Gesellschaft fur Erdkunde 2u Berlin, Verlag von
" Dietrich Reimer (Berlin 1869) p. 253. JBG's translation.

b ina’s discussion with regard 1o western Bantu political tradition correlates closely with the

! olonial Herero political tradition. Jan Vansina, Paths in the Rainforests: Towards a History of

Political Tradition in Equatorial Africa, The University of Wisconsin Press (Madison 1990) p. 35.
Three interlocking social groups formed the framework of the ancestral society: the district,
the village, and a large household establishment often called ‘the house’ or the ‘hearth’ ... .
Their interrelations were quite flexible so that the system remained extremely decentralized.
Each House frecly chose which village its members wanted to belong to, and each village freely
chose other villages as allies to make up a district. Over time the relative importance of the
groups often shifted as onc or another basic group gained in prominence at the expense of the
others. At the extreme one group could be absorbed by another, as when a single House
occopied an entire village or even a whole district. In a few cases the village or the district
could even vanish . . .

The loose nature of the system was enhanced by the fact that the House and the village
were led by recognized leaders who achieved rather than inherited their status, but the district
did not have a distinct leader, Leadership itself was a necessary institution, but who was to be
leader was probably not instit lized in the ancestral society. Men competed for leadership
within each unit, and leaders of different units competed with each other, so as to increase
their following at the expense of others, Competition was the counterpart of autonomy.

In some languages leaders are referred to as ‘great men', which recalls ‘big men’, the

. 1 term in hropology for such leaders.
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Owatjimba and missionary chiefs

The Herero were primarily pastoralists, though they did engage in horticulture
and hunter-gathering, and at times they were forced to rely totally on these
alternative forms of subsistence. In the 1830s large numbers of Herero relied
solely on hunter-gathering for their subsistence. This was due, not to
environmental determinants, but to the effects of prolonged forays on the part
of raiders seeking spoils to trade on the markets of the Cape colony.'? Supreme
amongst these raiders were the Oorlam Kapteins, chiefs, Jonker Afrikaner and
Amraal Lambert."* Qorlam communities had emerged along the north-western
Cape colonial frontier in the late eighteenth century around the institution of
the Commando, and consisted of an amalgam of Khor community remnants,
runaway slaves, Basters, Cape outlaws and others.'* A contemporary succinctly

sketched the development of an Oorlam community when he stated that Klaas
Afrikaner:

. . collected a band of hus people of his own race, runaway slaves and other
desperadoes, and having by some means pr d firearms, ¢ ed a I

3 of depredation upon the def less N quas and Korannas, plundering
them of great numbers of their cattle which he exchanged again with some
unprincipled colomsts for further supplies of arms and ammuniton.'®

The polities were centred on the mstitution known as the Commando, which
consisted of a group of mounted armed men who engaged in hunting, raiding
and trading.'®* Herero pastoralists who had been robbed of their cattle either
became clients of the Oorlam Kapiens, or became Ovatjimba, people with no
means of subsistence beyond that of the Tjimba, the aardvark. They became
people forced to live as hunter-gatherers beyond the reach of their clan and
kin support structures, By the 1840s much of central Namibia was under the
control of Jonker Afrikaner and his Herero lieges Kahirjene and Tjamuaha. It
was at this stage that the first Rhenish missionaries, Hahn, Kleinschmidr and
Bam, arrived and settled in Windhoek, Jonker Afrikaner’s settlement in central
Namibia.!” However, the Rhenish missionaries engaged in such anti-social

2 Spouls of the ramd included cattle, people, hides, wvory and ostrich feathers.

" For further informanon on the life and tmes of Jonker Afnkaner see B. Lau, Southern and Central
Namibia in Jonker Afrikaner’s Time, Archeia (Windhoek 1987)

' The onigins and meaming of the term Oorlam are quite contentious. Authors have suggested
Malayan and/or pidgin Dutch sources. H Bley, South-West Africa under German Rule, 1894-1914
(London 1971) p. xxu, suggested that the term was derived from a Malay word meaning ‘wide-
awake’, Galton, Explorer, p. 68, suggested that ‘Oerlam was a nickname given by Dutch colonsts
to the Hottentots that hung about their farms; it means a barren ewe - a creature good neither
for breeding nor fattening, 8 worthless concern, one that gives trouble and wields no profit’. My
mput refers to the usage of the term Qorlam in Dutch, where 1115 taken to refer to a tot of alcohol
commonly given to ship’s crews. The first reference to Oorlam, in the southern African context,
15 a5 the personal name of the free burgher Kees Oorlam, Dr E.C. Godee Molsbergen, Reizen in
Zurd Afrika in de Hollandsche Tyd, tweede deel, de Linschoten vereenigang (Den Haag 1916) p. 5
" G Thompson, Travels and Adventures m Southern Africa (London 1827) p. 291, quoted in Lau,
Jonker Afrikaner, p, 20. i

'* For a fine overview of the devel of the C. do polines in Namibia see B. Lau,
‘Conflict and power in mineteenth-century Namibia’, in Journal of African Hustory, 27 (1986),

'" Hahn and his compamons were not the first European 1es in central Namibia; they
had been preceded by John Tindall, a Wesleyan missionary. B.A Tindall (ed.), The Journal of Foseph
Tindall- Mussionary n South West Africa 1839-55 (Cape Town 1959) Prior to the arrival of European
missionaries there had been a string of Afrnican evangehists who had come up from the Cape,
foremost amongst which was Jonker Afrikaner humself. Sir James Alexander, who was in central
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practices that, in due course, they were drummed out of Windhoek.'®

The missionaries, though nomunally still subject to Jonker Afrikaner, trekked
north and established themselves at Otjikango (Grofi Barmen) and Otjimb-
ingwe. Here they gathered around themselves a band of followers, which
consisted primarily of Ovatjimba. The extent to which these followers came to
hear the word of the Lord is debatable, particularly given that the first Herero
conversion would only take place fifteen years after the missionaries had
established themselves at Otjikango.!® Contemporaries, missionaries and
laymen alike, commented on this and noted that, though the Ovatjimba were
indifferent to Christianity, ‘a great number of the poorer classes were now living
at the station’. The missionaries, conscious of the relationship that existed
between their own relative wealth and the number of their followers,
commented:

We are not short of people. Unfortunately they do not long for the word of God.
Out of the mass of heathens who surround us, no more than 80 come to the church
services. Of all the children who abound here only about 20 to 30 attend school.
Our audience in church and our school children are nearly all poor Herero, 2

Furthermore they were well aware of the fact that:

The wealthy Damaras [were] even more ndifferent to spiritual matters than their
poorer brethren; and if they happened to visit any of the stations, i1t was not for the
purpose of learming the gospel preached, but . . . the hope of protection against
their enemies, or with a view to business by bartering tobacco, ron ware, and so
forth.*

The Ovatjimba gathered to the missionaries, as they would have to any other
powerful chief or Omuhona, for the protection, support and possibilities which
they provided. In this context it is interestng to note the impact of the Oorlam
raids on the Herero language and polincal thinking. The Herero word Omuhona,
which is currently glossed as chief, 1s a loan word derived from the Nama word
/honkhoeb, meaning master.2? Far from merely seeking to minister to a perceived

Narmuibia in the early 1830s referred to a man from South Africa’s eastern cape named ‘Magasee’
(a name which betrayed his Malagasy slave origins), who travelled through southern Namibia as
a Chrisnan preacher. J. E. Alexander, Expedition of Discovery inio the Interior of Africa, 2 volumes
(London 1838) Vol 11, p. 33 For further detailed informauon on the imual European missionaries
in Namibia see Carl Hugo Hahn, Tagebucher 1837-1860; Diartes Parts I-V,. A Musnonary i Nama-
and Damaraland, edited and compiled by B. Lau (Windhock 1985).

" Anu-social practices engaged in by the 185 C d of, gst other things, the
destrucnon of dagga (marih ) which bel d to the foll of Jonker Afrikaner
(marthuana was and 15 one of the most important cash crops grown in southern Afnea); the
prohibinion and acuve prevenuon of ‘heathen’ dances and ceremonies; the washing of sacred milk
gourds (thereby ensuring that the cattle would become barren); and the refusal to extend beyond
a token participation in the arms trade Hahn, Draries Part I: Hahn describes destroying plantations
between February 1843 and February 1844 in A1 Gams uself pp. 112-113; Auchanas p 142,
Hunap p. 143, Khomas Hochland, Tsobis, Tinkas and beyond pp. 145-7; ‘heathen’ dances p.
131, arms wrade p 104 and washing of milk gourds p 109,

'* Heinrich Vedder, Das Alte Sudwestafrika: Sudwestafrikas Geschichte bis zum Tode Mahareros 1890
(Windhoek 1981) p. 482.

0 Yereinigten Evangelischen Missions Archuv (VEMA) 2 585, FW. Kolbe, 1in Schmelens
Erwartung, 3/6/1850, to mission directors. JBG's translanon and emphasis.

21 Andersson, Lake Ngam, pp. 102-3. See also VEMA, 1.581, . Rath, in Walvisbay, 23/3/1845,
to mussion directors In his letter Rath complained that the cattle herds of the Herero were
preventing them from becoming interested in Chrisuanty

2R, Ohly, The Destabuls of the Herera L (Windhoek 1987) p. 7.
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religious need, the missionaries also supplied material commeodities. These
ranged from alms and protection through to arms and ammunition, alternative
information sources and new forms of subsistence.?® It was primarily in
response to these ‘worldly wants’ that, within a short period of time, fairly
substantial numbers of people gathered around, and settled with, the
missionaries, who now effectively became Qvahona, in their own right.®

In due course, the mission stations, protected by the military, metaphysical
and economic prowess of the missionary Ovahona, became beacons attracting
those opposed to the established Ovahona of the the land. The advantages
provided by eventual association with the missionaries were not lost upon those
who had submitted and allied themselves to Jonker Afrikaner. In return for
their allegiance and assistance, in the form of manual labour, herding, road
building, the growing of tobacco and dagga, raiding, and tax and tribute
collection, these chiefs, and their followers, were to some extent exempted from
being raided. Furthermore they were rewarded for their allegiance with guns,
raiding spoils and other goods.?* In this way the Herero chiefs Kahitjene and
Tjamuaha had built up substantial followings and great wealth. Those who
failed to come to an arrangement with the Oorlam paramounts, but were still
in possession of their herds, were forced to withdraw ever further into the
Namibian interior. The surviving remnants of the communities raided became
Owatfimba, in so far as they were not captured, indentured or killed. Thus the
missionary sertlements continued to grow. In due course the missionary
Owvahona came to provide an alternative to the authority of Jonker Afrikaner.

In 1842, Kahitjene had submirtted to Jonker Afrikaner. In exchange for his
allegiance, Jonker Afrikaner had provided Kahitjene with cattle. By 1847
Kahitjene had become remarkably wealthy and had acquired a large following.
The images of independent and autonomous action, made possible through
association with his own resident missionary, must have played upon
Kahitjene’s mind when he became the first vassal Herero chief who sought to
withdraw from Jonker Afrikaner’s control.

From 1843 onwards, Kahitjene had been in regular contact with the Rhenish
missionaries. Immediately following his first meeting with the missionaries he
had demanded a resident missionary of his own. Significantly the missionaries
had rewarded Kahitjene's advances with presents of powder and lead. As
Rhenish missionary, F.W. Kolbe, noted when he settled in Schmelen’s
Erwartung, Okahandja, in 1850:

Shortly after we scttled here, a number of poor Damara families came to lls(hcr:
They were followed by others, so that at present there are already twenty of their
houses here. Later Kahitjene, one of the biggest Ovaherero chiefs, who is very rich
in cattle, also came and put up his huts here.?

# Lau, Jonker Afrikaner, pp. 76-83.

2 Law, Fonker Afrikaner, p. 108, uses the term ‘missionary “chief™, but fails 1o develop the concept.
C.H. Hahn, L. Fourie and H. Vedder, The Natrve Tribes of South West Africa (Cape Town 1928), p.
158, “Hahn . . . gathered all sorts of poor and afflicted people round him, was recognised by the
chiefs of the Hereros as being of equal rank with themselves . .

#* In a lewter from Jonker Afrikaner to C.H. Hahn, dated 21/3/1846, Afrikaner details how he
provided Kahitjene and Tjamuaha {otherwise known as Weerlig and Kopervoet) with cattle after
they had become destitute. Hahn, Tagebicher, p. 520,

» VEMA 2.585, FW. Kolbe in Schmelens Erwartung, 3/6/1850, to mission directors. JBG's
translation. See also VEMA 1.583 FW. Kolbe, ‘Kandambo was the first Ovatjimba who settled
here with his two sons, He was soon followed by more families, so that at present with twenty
houses we have the beginnings of a village’. JBG’s translation.
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Having broken free ol Jonker’s ambit, Kahitjene sought to capitalize on the
promises contained in the presents of powder and lead, which the missionaries
had presented him with prior to his switch in allegiance. However, in his
meetings with Kolbe, which pleased Kahitjene little, it became clear that these
had been mere inducements, and that the missionaries would be unable, and
indeed were unwilling, to protect him and his followers from the depredations
of Jonker Afrikaner. That the missionaries did not realize the danger Kahigene
was in is well illustrated by a conversation between missionary Kolbe and
Kabhitjene.

He (Kahitjene] said that it was his intention to move to this place. [ [Kolbe] replied
that that was good and thart the place was open to all Herero. Then he asked what 1
would think if he were to claim this place as his, would speak God's word and were
to keep and drive others away. [ replied that this could not be our intention. "We are
preachers,’ I continued, "and our endeavour is to tell all people God's word. We are
not allowed to prohibit this place to anybody who comes with peaceful intentions.
Added to this you have no right to prohibit this place to other chiefs, because this
land is held in common by all. Live here but allow others the freedom to come and
go as they like.” To which he replied that Jonker had set his sights on him and that
HUKUMUNA, another Herero chief, would probably also come to fight with him.*"

With rumours of an impending attack abounding, Kahitjene sought to find
favour, and thus protection, with the missionaries. This he did through giving
gifts, regularly attending Kolbe’s church services and admonishing followers
who dared to laugh during the sermons.?® Kahitjene’s perceptions, with regard
to the Bible and the ‘business’ of evangelizing, are finely illuminated in Kolbe’s
diary:

7 July Sunday. Kahitjene sent a message that an ox had been slaughtered and
therefore he couldn’t come to church . . . A little later Kahitjene came. When 1 opened
the Book, to read the text, he asked me to check in the Book whether or not Jonker
Afrikaner was preparing to go to war. Thus I had to explain that God’s word was
not a magical word and that we were not soothsayers.®

The missionaries emphasized the importance of their work and the meta-
physical nature of their mission through the use of symbols, such as the Bible,
lectern, demeanour, facial expression and flags. Sermons that emphasized the
all-encompassing nature of God, the unigue qualities ascribed to the Bible,
and the missionaries’ particular connection to God, served merely to emphasize
the spiritual nature of their activities, and their position as soothsayers.
Kahitjene took the missionaries at their word and believed thar they were
imbued with particular qualities — qualities which he tried to turn to his own

7 VEMA, 1.583, Kolbe in Schmelens Erwartung, 17/5/1850, to mission directors. JBG’s
translation,

BVEMA, 2.585, Kolbe Tagebuch, gehalien auf Schmelens Erwartung, 25/6/1850. Two years later
Katjamuaha, who was at that stage under threat from jnnkl:r, went to the extent of building an
Ondjuwo ya Mukuru, *house of God’, so as 1o attract mi ies to his O da. Hahn,
Tagebdicher, p. 589,

HVEMA, 2,585, 7/7/1850. The prophetic function ascribed to the Bible was certainly not limited
1o Kahitjene. The sermons extolling the virtues and all-encompasing truth of God's word were

not lost upon the Herero chief Kamb i, who asked missi y Beiderbecke to check whether
or not the rains would come. Dr 'l\ Mossu]ew, %&erberg Beitrag zur Geschichie der Missions-
station Oty 1ji des Kamb und des F landes, John Meinert (Windhock

19807) p. 9.
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From Hereroland cattle were exported overland, through the territories of
the various southern Namibian Nama chieftains, to the Cape. Andersson
attempred to gain sole control of the export of cartle from Hereroland to the
Cape. At the same time, he tried to ensure the maintenance of profitable export
routes to the Cape. That is, he sought to keep export costs, particularly passage,
water and grazing taxes, down to a minimum. Previously the export of cattle
overland to the Cape colony had been in the hands of traders allied to the
various Nama chieftains, who straddled the route leading to the Colony. The
Nama chieftains taxed these cattle drives and, through the quarantining of
stock, sought to protect their own herds from the various cattle diseases which
might be carried by the travelling herds. During the late 18505 lungsickness
had ravaged cattle herds elsewhere in southern Africa.*® By 1860 there were
reports of lungsickness amongst cattle in the Nanjbian interior. The Nama
chieftains, anxious to prevent the contamination of their own herds, sought to
prevent the passage of cattle through their territory. Though Andersson knew
of the disease, he, in turn, needed to recoup his trading costs. Andersson’s
diary indicates the predicament he was in:

Vero [another trader] and his friends are at Otjimbingwe. Hesitated sending his cartle
by land this season on account of the lungsickness. [ must and will risk that.*®

In 1860 Andersson was able to convince Jonker Afrikaner and his ‘Raad’ to let
his cattle through. In the following year Andersson, because his cattle were
infected, did not ask for permission and drove his cattle through Jonker's
territory. By way of warning, Andersson’s party was attacked by an ally of Jonker
Afrikaner, and in southern Namibia Andersson was forced to pay a fine of 100
sheep by another of Jonker’s allies. Determined not to allow this to happen
again, Andersson, upon arriving in the Cape, purchased two cannons and set
about recruiting mercenaries. Following his return to central Namibia,
Andersson, in alliance with the Rhenish missionaries and a number of like-
minded traders, set about arming and training contingents of Quatjimba at
Otjimbingwe. Henceforth the mercenaries, euphemistically known as the
‘Otjimbingwe British Volunteer Artillery’, which in true Victorian style had its
own motto, flag and song, were used to enforce the will of Andersson and his
allies.?”

Within this context it is important to note the development of the Zeraua
chieftaincy at Otjimbingwe. Following Jonker’s cattle raids, Zeraua and his
followers had become impoverished; they had become QOuwatfimba. Shortly
before he died of syphilis, that most frontier of diseases, Zeraua, or ‘OuWillem’
as he was known to the missionaries and traders alike, told a Cape colonial
official how, following Jonker’s raids, he had been able to reestablish himself,

When the Namaquas overcame us, I stuck to my missionary, Mr. Rath. We were
very much cast down in those days, and if I had an ox, it was a privilege accorded
me by the Namaquas, through the influence of the Missionary. Petrus Swaartbooy

¥ See C.J. Andersson, Trade and Politics in Central Namibia 1860- 1864, Charles John Andersson
Papers, Vol. 11, edited by B. Lau, Archeia (Windhoek 1989).

¥ See particularly, ].B. Peires, The Dead Will Arise: Nonggatouse and the Great Xhosa Cattle-killing
Movement 1856-7, Ravan Press (Johannesburg 1989),

* Andersson, 18601864, p. 16,

¥ Andersson, 1860-1864, p. 31. A number of these recruits were from the former Kat river
settlement. For references to the song, flag and motto see p. 281, On the invention of a specific
Herero flag by Andersson see p. 111,
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also assisted me. He brought me back 10 head of cattle. My people had to live on
‘Mietjes’ [uintes, small bulbs] and other herbs.

1 wished to move into the Kaoko veldt, bur I met Mr. Bassingthwaite, who
persuaded me, as my people were broken down, to go and work with my people in
the mines. I was asked to work in the mines by a second man, tall and thin, a third
man who died, by Mr. Andersson and then by Mr. Hilder.”®

Through his association with the Rhenish mission, the Swartboois, and the
"English copper-mining traders, Zeraua was able to recover from Jonker's raids.
Throughout the 1850s Zeraua led a group of Herero copper miners associated

¢ with the ‘Walvis Bay Mining Company’. From 1861 onwards, the group of

men led by Zeraua came to form the basis of the Herero armed forces which
fought along with the traders against the Afrikaners. In exchange for these

/ services, Zeraua and his subjects acquired firearms.?® The arming of the
" Owvatjimba by the traders, in return for their military loyalty, ensured a

significant shift in the relations of power that existed at the mission stations.
With fircarms the Owatjimba were no longer dependent on the missionaries
for support. The granting of guns to the followers of Zeraua, and other trader
associates, led directly to their later independence and move away from the
direct control of the mission stations.

In 1861 both Jonker Afrikaner and his Herero vassal, Tjamuaha, died in
Okahandja. They were succeeded by their sons Christian Afrikaner and
Maharero. Shortly after their deaths, the Ovatjimba, subject to the missionary
Chief Hahn, along with Herero and others employed by Andersson, became
involved in various intrigues against Christian Afrikaner and his allies.*®

It appears that intrigues commenced between the Damaras [Herero] at Onimbingwe,
and those in the service of the Afrikaners. Messengers were going backward and
forward, and the next movement was that some of those Damaras were off with their
masters’ flocks and herds, and drove them into Otjimbingwe. The owners of the
cattle came after them, on horscback, but the Damaras . . . protected by one Phillipus
[Katjimune] . . . showed a bold front, and the Afrikaners, not having expected
resistance 1n such form, returned.

The intrigues were part of the build-up to what has become known as Ovita
wvyongombongange, the war of the theft of the white brown-flecked cow. Christian
Afrikaner was conscious of these activities. In lengthy letters he harangued those
aiding and abetting the outbreak of war between ‘die zwart en roe [sic] volk’,
the black and the red people.* Writing to Andersson, Christian Afrikaner stated:

Furthermore, | must say that you wish to steal the land, even though you know that
it has always belonged to us. Because you did not know how to get the land, you
decided the following: ‘Let me instigate and support the Herero against the people’.

W The Commssions of W C. Palgrave: Special Emssary to South West Africa 1876-1885. Edited and
introduced by E.L.P. Stals (Cape Town 1991), Second Series No. 21 Van Riebeeck Society, p.
25, It is of interest to note here that the Kaokoveld is referred to as a possible safe haven.

* B, Lau (ed.), The Matchless Copper Mme in 1857: Correspondi Charles John And Papers,
Vol. I (Windhoek 1987) & Charles John Andersson: Trade and Politics in Central Namibia 1860
1864, Charles John Andersson Papers, Vol. II {Windhoek 1989).

4 A number of those involved in intrigues against the Afrikaners would later become hunters,
traders and big men of renown in their own right within Herero society.

41 Lau, Fonker, p. 129, quoting from CA GH 19/10, Chapman: ‘Memo®, 1865.

4 See copies of letters of Christian Afrikaner to Andersson and Chrisuan Afrikaner to
Kleinschmudr, 4 June 1863, in Andersson, 18601864, pp. 256-60.
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So that they shall kill me and all my people. In this way you would get all the land.
That is why you have strengthened these people with guns and powder,+

Finally, in 1863, following extensive lobbying by emissaries of ‘ou Willem’
Zeraua, Maharero, the man who had served in the commando that had
annihilated Kahitjene's bid for autonomy twelve years previously, successfully
did what Kahitjene had failed to do. Maharero, his followers and the cattle in
their care, abandoned Christian Afrikaner.* Henceforth Maharero, the
commando warrior who had raided and fought on behalf of the Afrikaners,
operated in alliance with Andersson. In 1864, Maharero, along with the trader
Green, one of Andersson’s accomplices, attacked and destroyed the Afrikaner
settlement in Windhoek. Thege attacks on the Afrikaners culminated in June
1864, when a combined Ovayimba, Herero, mercenary and trader commando,
of 3000 men, attacked and defeated the Afrikaners.*

For Andersson and the missionaries, it was to be a Pyrrhic victory, Andersson
was badly wounded in the attack and soon left central Namibia as it was, not
attempting further change. However, his armaments and intrigues had provided
opportunities for a number of Herero to gain access to hitherto unknown forms
of accumulation and power. The Herero who fought alongside the traders
acquired substantial herds, and, perhaps more importantly, obtained large
amounts of firearms, With the defeat of the Afrikaners, and the threat of raiding
from the south severely diminished, Herero chiefs abandoned the sanctuary
of the mission stations and started raiding north. Through his intrigues
Andersson had sought to ensure the most cost-efficient form of cattle export
to the Cape. On the other hand, for a number of Andersson’s Herero and
Owatfimba allies, his intrigues offered opportunities which had hitherto not
existed, opportunities which, when coupled to the radical weakening and
eventual collapse of the Afrikaner polity, led to the development of highly cen-
tralized Herero chieftaincies. These chieftaincies came to exist independently
of missionary and Afrikaner control. This was a new development. Henceforth
the newly established Herero chieftaincies determined access to the outside
world independently of missionary or Afrikaner involvement, even though they
were Iin themselves a product of this involvement.

Elsewhere in African pastoralist societies the creative innovation of prophets,
in ‘colonizing vacant political niches’ in response to political challenges and
change, has been well documented.* In contrast to the Maasai, Turkana or
Kalenjin prophets, Herero Ombuke (prophet) and, to a lesser extent, Omurangere

4 Andersson, 1860~ 1864, p. 5‘? IBG‘s ums[nuon
* On Zeraua's role in to
Commissions, p. 26,
 For further details regarding the battles, see Lau, fonker, pp. 119-41 & Andersson, 1860-1864,
Pp- 236-48.
“ In this context I am thinking particularly of the political transformations that took place in
Maasai, Turkana and Nandi societies, which allowed for the further aggressive expansion and
ion of these but also of the incorporative role of the Nuer prophet Ngundeng
Bong in the aftermath of aggressive expansion. See Richard D, Waller, ‘Kidongoi's Kin: Prophecy
& Power in Maasailand’; David M. Anderson, ‘Visions of the Vanquished: Prophets & Colonialism
in Kenya's Western Highlands® & Douglas H. Johnson, ‘The Prophet Ngundeng & the Battle of
Pading: Prophecy, Symbohsm & Historical Evidence’, in David M. Anderson & Douglas H.
Johnson (eds), Revealing Prophers (London 1995), For specific references to Turkana society, which
in its expansion mirrored Herero expansion following 1863, see John Lamphear, The Scattering
Time: Turkana Responses to Colomal Rule (Oxford 1992) & “The People of the Grey Bull: The origin
and expansion of the Turkana’, in J4H, 1988, Vol. 29, No. 1, pp. 27-39.

bandon Christian Afrikaner, see Palgrave,
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[onlc Fu,gaged in religious activity) were unable to transform and expand their
positions to respond to the challenge of Oorlam expansion in the first half of

 the nineteenth century. Instead, Herero society appropriated the terms and
; structures existing in Oorlam sociery to further the centralization of what had

hitherto been a stateless society. Prior to 1863 the people who spoke dialects

- of the Bantu language that would later become standardized as Otjiherero lived

in stateless societies, or were the subjects of missionary and Oorlam chiefs.

, The term Ombuke was used to denote a prophet and is derived from the Proto-

Bantu *-buiki, doctor, which is derived from *-bitk-, divine. Similarly the term
urangere, used o d somebody engaged in religious practice, was also
derived Ifrom the Proro-Bantu *-danmg-, teach. In contrast to other African
pastoralist societies, where prophets were able to transform their role into a
more centralizing political authority, and where terms referring to prophets
were recast to refer to and encompass the new forms of political leadership,
Herero society appropriated new terms to define new positions and structures
that had hitherto not existed. The Herero words referring to chief, Omuhona,
and law, Overta, are derived from Nama and Cape Dutch, the languages of the
Qorlam polities that controlled central Namibia in the first half of the
nineteenth century. Similarly words that were already current in Otjiherero
underwent shifts in meaning. Thus the meaning of the word Otjira, council,
derived from Proto-Bantu *-nda, village, clan, appears to have shifted slightly
fro;n gathering of wealthy men, to a meaning equivalent to the Dutch raad,
which was used by the Oorlams to refer to a chief’s council.*” The terms of
OcTIam political structures were appropriated and superimposed upon Herero
society by Herero political leaders, most of whom had served ‘internships’ as
Qorlam lieges prior to establishing their own political followings independent
of Qorlam control. An exception to the rule, as far as prophets are concerned,
was the Ovambanderu leader, Kahimemua, who was credited as being an
Ombuke. Kahimemua alone of all the Herero chiefs that emerged in the second
half of the nincteenth century was credited with mantic as well as political
power. Why this should be so needs to be researched, but could lie in the
apparent historical depth ascribed to Ovambanderu supernatural powers.

Building up the herds

Within a year of the defeat of the Afrikaners, the majority of the Herero living
at the mission stations in Otjimbingwe and Otjikango had withdrawn into the
Namibian hinterland. Here the Herero set about reestablishing themselves as
pastoralists. Apart from the herds taken from Afrikaner control in 1863 and
1864, the Herero also reacquired the cattle which they had pawned to the
Ovambo kingdoms or stashed in the Kaokoveld, the only area which had not
been ravaged by the Afrikaner raids. Furthermore, through a series of raids,
the Herero acquired substantial herds of cattle. Between 1863 and 1871 Herero
commandos, making use of the unstable nature of Namaland, raided far and
wide into Namaland. The expansion of the Herero herds, coupled with their
newly acquired firearms, led to and allowed Herero conquest of new territory,
particularly in the Otavi Grootfontein area. Here Damara cattle herders were

41 With thanks to $. Elders and Prof. T. Schadeberg for information regarding the derivation of
Proto-Bantu words.
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dispossessed of their cattle and land At the same ume Herero hunters used
theik hunting skills to acquire cattle from traders such as Enksson who in turn
procured cattle from the Ovambo * Ivory and other huntng spoils, acquired
by Herero hunters and dependants, were traded in return for Ovambo cattle
Throughout the 1860s and 1870s Herero were loath to trade their cattle
though they were willing to trade the spoils of the hunt As the Herero cattle
herds continued to expand, so too did the demand for herding labour In what
the missionaries described as a pagan reaction, the remaining Herero and
Owatytmba occupying the mission stanons withdrew into central Hereroland *°
In 1870 and 1871, as Afrikaner hegemony collapsed in southern Namibua, there
was a major movement of Herero and Banderu, who had been living 1n
Namaland, northwards into the Herero heartland These migrants, by being
members of the Herero cultural setting, were, on the basis of kinship - inferred
or otherwise — incorporated into the newly emerging Herero pastoralist society
Here they were employed in the herding of the ever-expanding Herero herds

The chieftains

It had been ‘Ou Willem’ Zeraua, in alliance with other mission Herero, who
had convinced Maharero to abandon his alhance with the Afnikaners in 1863
As Zeraua larer put it

1 went and brought Kamaherero out of the mountain [Osona] and down to my
place before the Namaqua commando came against us ¥

Following the war, in which the forces of Christian Afrikaner were defeated,
‘OuWillem' Zeraua deserted his missionary mentors and established himself,
in 1868, as an independent chieftain in Omaruru Previously Omaruru had
served as a horncultural settlement for the mission stauon i Otmbingwe
However, by 1870 it had developed into the main regional trading centre on
the route between Ovamboland and Walvisbay Following his death, Zeraua
was succeeded by his nephew, Tjaherami Descrnibed by the missionaries as a
‘hard drinking heathen’, Tjaheram died shortly afterwards and was succeeded
by his half-brother, Manasse Tpsiseta, who, as 2 school teacher and church
deacon, was the firm choice of the mission * During the first years of hus reign,
Manasse extended his polity’s control over the trade routes that led from
Omaruru to Ovamboland and southern Angola In doing this hus polity came
into an extended series of conflicts with the Swartboois and Boer trekkers, who
also sought to control these routes As a result of these conflicts Manasse
developed a standing army, modelled on Andersson’s ‘Otpmbingwe Briush

#W G Clarence Smuth and R Moorsom, ‘Underdevelopment and class formation in Ovamboland,
1845 1915", i Journal of African History, XVI, 3 (1975) pp 365-81 Descnibes how the impact
particularly of the ‘cape’ trade led to the underdevelopment of the Ovambo kingdoms They note
that by the 1860s Cape traders, who were more highly capitalized, began 1o suppl the
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Photo 1 3 Maharero Tjamuaha and Faarua (nunng),
and Wilhelm Maharero (standing), Okahanda 1876
Source Namibian National Archives, Windhoek

Volunteer Arullery’, and armed with a cannon At the advent of German
colomalism, Manasse Tiisiseta’s pohity, centred on Omaruru, was undoubtedly
the strongest and most cosmopolitan of all the Herero polities in the terntory 32

In 1851 the horucultural settlement at Oyjozondjupa was abandoned
following raids by Kahigene 5 Following Kahiyyene's dermise, Tjamuaha began
stocking his herds on the veld around Orjozondjupa * After 1863, Tjamuaha'’s
son, Maharero, used Onozondjupa as a cartle post and horticultural centre
Two men, Kruger and Kambazembi, oversaw the running of Maharero’s
operations 1n the Otjozondjupa region Kruger, a Baster who had previously
been armed as a hunter by Andersson, lived in Onozondjupa with a large
following of Nama and Damara horuculturalists and hunters % On the extensive
grasslands to the west of Orye djupa Kamb bi grazed herds

**In the 18705 Andersson's successors, Green and Enksson, had established themselves in
Omaruru When Palgrave visited the centre in 1876 he found an international gathering of
Angolans, Amenicans, Finns, Swedes, Germans, Enghshmen, Cape colomals and various

Portugucse traders The terms of rrade led to intenstfied internal taxation to meet the shortfall of
cattle export *And there are clear signs of this process at work among the Kwambi, a southern
Ovambo people, as early as the 1870s " p 375

** Lau, Jonker, page 140 BRMG 1869, 27511, BRMG 1868 243-7

* Palgrave, p 26

“ Archives of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Namibia (ELCIN), Windhoek, V Chroniken
23 1, Omaruru

P of other African polities in the region

*! See Andersson, Lake Ngan, pp 153 and 154 Hahn, Tagebucher, p 396, *19/12/1848 Jonker
reports having been to Otjozondjupa and that it 15 a settlement with gardens where large numbers
of rich Nama and Damara live’

™ Hahn, Tagebucher, p 590 Ibid p 1127, mennons that Tjamuaha’s cattle rarded from the
Ovambo were stored ar Onozondjupa

;‘ Tu;soiuw, Warerberg,pp 5 and 9, Kruger later went back to Griqualand leaving his son Wilhelm
CIT
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of cattle. At the advent of German colonialism Kambazembi was the richest of
all the Herero Ovahona.

Significantly, the Ovambanderu Omubk Kahi was Cir ised in
ojomandjembere, the year of the gun, 1850.

As a youth Kahimemua had on several occasions accompanied the Nama chief
[Amraal Lambert known as Mbarandu] on his journeys, indeed had been his constant
travelling companion. He therefore had no difficulties with the Nama. He was trusted
by the Nama chief, but equally by his own people since he was all the time secretly
doing everything in his power to supply the Mbanderu with weapons, that is guns
and ammunition, so that they might one day make war against the Nama.*

In the early 1860s, Amraal Lambert’s polity was shattered by the twin impact
of lungsickness, which devastated the Nama cattle herds, and smallpox, which
decimated the Nama settlement at Gobabis. Coupled to these natural reverses
was the collapse of the southern trade network following the disintegration of
Afrikaner hegemony in central Namibia, When this occurred, Kahimemua along
with other Banderu Owvahona took ‘their’ cattle herds and withdrew their
allegiance to the Nama.’” Following his withdrawal from Amraal Lambert's
political ambit, Kahimemua settled close to and associated with Maharero.
By the early 1880s Kahimemua’s close association with Maharero had paid
off, to the extent that Kahimemua and his followers were able to successfuly
challenge and trek into territory which at that stage ywas nominally under Nama
control.*® At the advent of German colonialism Kahimemua’s Ovambanderu
straddled the trade routes that led from Walvisbay to Lake Ngami in the interior.
In 1861, following the deaths of Tiamuaha and Jonker Afrikaner, Maharero
had withdrawn his allegiance to Christian Afrikaner. Following the battles of
1864, Maharero had settled in Okahandja. By 1876 Okahandja was a bustling
trade centre where Maharero had a brick house built *as a mark of a great man
and . . . only to store his European belongings’.’ Maharero’s sons Wilhelm
and Samuel were being trained for the wider world. The brothers, along with
other Herero ‘royals’, attended the mission school in Otjimbingwe, and, along
with Asser Riarua, the son of Maharero’s military commander, they visited Cape
Town. However, already during the 1870s, Okahandja, as a trading centre, was
being eclipsed in importance by Omaruru. Increasingly trade from the Cape
to Ovamboland passed via Walvisbay and Omaruru, and bypassed the overland
trade via Namaland and Okahandja. Trade via Okahandja came to a complete
standstill in 1880, when, following a grazing dispute, war broke out between
Maharero and a number of Nama and Oorlam chieftains, These chieftains
would soon come to be allied under the leadership of Hendrik Witbooi.

Summing up

Following 1864, Herero hunters and traders came to act as middlemen
operating between the Ovambo kingdoms and the Cape. The Herero were able

* Sundermeier, Mbanderu, Windhock 1986, p. 10,

# Chief Apona, who was the most important of these big men, remained allied to Lambert for at
least another three years. Sundermeier, Mbanderu, p. 13

* Ojorutjindo, the year of migration, 1883. See Sundermeier, Mbanderu, p. 20,

*# Gerhard Pool, Samuel Makarero (Windhoek 1991) p. 48,
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Map 1.2: Central Namibia showing areas under the control of the four pnm:apa.l‘ Herero
chiefs at the advent of German colontalism in 1884

to tax the trade routes which led to Ovamboland. It is in this context that new
regional trade centres, such as Omaruru and Okahandja, developed. These
replaced the old and eclipsed centres of Otjimbingwe and Windhoek, both of
which had been major trading entrepdts under the control of the missionaries
and the Afrikaners respectively. In essence the frontier had moved north, no
longer were the Nama polities the direct middlemen between the Cape and
the north.

By 1876 the Herero of central Namibia were living in what can only be
described as an age of plenty, an age which led a Cape colonial official to
comment:

Long intercourse with white people has developed singularly few wants amongst
them . . . More than three-fourths of the Damaras [Herero] are without a single
want that the trader can gratify that would compel them to part with a sheep or a
goat from a herd of thousands; and the wants of the other fourth are limited to a
little powder, and lead, and a lirtle clothing . . %0

However, it would be wrong to infer from this, as some have, that ‘the . . .

* Commissioner Palgrave quoted in Lau, Jonker, p. 146,
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social change observed in the whaole of Namaland subsequent to the Opriam
migrations/invasions was not paralleled in Hereroland’.* Though the influx
of European goods was closely controlled and the ‘structures of under-
development’ were not apparent, it must be borne in mind that the Herero
chieftaincies, after 1840, were a product of and an adapration to the impact of
the ‘Cape’ frontier. Indeed all the major Herero chiefs who ruligncd dgrmg the
Herero golden age of the 1870s were products of this frontier and its trade.
The new chieftaincies were all closely related, not only in kinship terms, but
in that they were products of the same shaping force. The skills and contacts
acquired through association with the frontier were applied to create ?nd
maintain a new form of centralized Herero polity. From being a society
characterized by an endless series of loosely linked kinship groups ;emred
around patri-clan heads, Herero society became a society charsfcr.erlzcd by
strongly centralized chieftaincies centred upon specific geographical areas.
Herero political structures at the advent of colonization were far from static.
Indeed, those which appeared static to observers were in themscl\l.rcs the
products of appropriated and inherited structures and systems, which the
Herero had transformed to their own ends. The seemingly static nature of
Herero socio-political institutions belied a never-ending transformation and
appropriation of outside influences. It was a system of flux which carried on
into the period in which Imperial Germany sought to colonize Hereroland.

* Tud,, p. 145.

e Herero Succession Dispute

Introduction

In 1890 Maharero Tjamuaha, the once mighty chief of Okahandija, died a
broken man. In the four years that followed his death, central Hereroland was
racked by the ensuing succession dispute, and ravaged by the artacks of Hendrik
Witbooi, the Nama chieftain who had risen to power in the south. Out of this
mélée Samuel Maharero, Maharero Tjamuaha’s son, who at the time of his
father’s death had no customary rights to the chieftaincy of Okahandja,
manipulated the incoming German colonial forces into supporting him in his
successful bid for the chieftaincy of Okahandja.

Though it is of central importance to the further development of Herero
history, comparatively few authors have seriously dealt with the Herero
succession dispute of 1890-94, Generally those dealing with the succession
have mentioned that Samuel Maharero succeeded his father but have failed to
delve into the machinations by which Samuel sought to attain his father’s
position, inheritance and wealth. The fact that Samuel Maharero’s rights to
his father’s Oruzuo inheritance were extremely tenuous, and that he was in no
way entitled to an aspect of Maharero’s Eanda inheritance is overlooked by
most authors. On the whole authors have tended to emphasize German
perceptions of the inheritance dispute and have failed to take into account
Herero beliefs and perceptions with regard to kinship structures and
inheritance. An exception is the recent work of G. Pool which seeks to deal
with the succession dispute with reference to the Eanda and Oruzuo rights of
the various contenders.! However Pool's work, too, fails to deal effectively with
Samuel’s creative use and manipulation of German beliefs with regard to
succession and inheritance. In his work Helmut Bley refers to Eanda and Oruzuo
in passing and notes that the Germans recognized Samuel Maharero as
paramount chief, but that:

It would be wong, however, to see in this more than a passive interest in confirming

' G. Pool, Samue! Maharero (Windhock 1991) pp. 77-84.
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an internal decision of the tribe, for the Germans did not have at their disposal the
power to intervene in so hotly disputed an issue.?

This chapter, as will be seen, argues that it was precisely because S_amuel
Maharero was able to mobilize German support and :l?e power at their disposal
that he was able to triumph in ‘so hotly disputed an issue’.

German protection treaties

Though German missionaries had begun opc_rar.ing in_ccmral Namxb:a in the
early 1840s, formal German government interest in the territory, wll1en
compared to the other colonial powers at the time, only came gt a ralhe‘r ate
stage.® In the late 1860s, following the failure of C.J. Andersson’s endeavours,

: Bley, South-West Africa, p. 18,
3 Cofnpalcd o Lhiuozhér colonial powers at the turn of the century, Germany only bccamlc

d in attaining col at o rather late stage. Why this should be so, and Germany's
Verdeel en Heers: De Deling van

conversion to the ‘Imperial mission’, 1s covered in_H.L,.W:ssciing,
Afrika, 1880-1914 (Amsterdam 1992) pp. 137-47.

}
~.

Rhenish mission had petitioned the Prussian government for protection.
aught in the struggle for German unification and the impending Franco-
'russian war, the missionary request was turned down. As a result, throughout
e 1870s central Namibia fell firmly within the Cape Colony's, if not the British
mpire’s, sphere of influence. Indeed, during the 1870s, William Coates
Palgrave was dispatched to administer the territory as the Cape Colony’s special
- commissioner, and in 1878 Britain took formal possession of Walvisbay and

its immediate environs.* If the Rhenish missionaries had hoped for further
" British involvement in the territory, their hopes were dashed by British defears
 elsewhere in southern Africa. Though the British eventually won the Anglo-

- Zulu war, and exacted revenge for their drubbing in the first Anglo-Boer war,
the débacle of defeat at the hands of African forces, in Isandhlwana in 1879
and Majuba in 1881, ensured that British Imperial interest in the colonial
venture in southern Africa was temporarily reduced to a minimum.

In early 1884 the Imperial German government granted protectorate status
to lands acquired in southern Namibia by a Bremen merchant by means which
it knew to be fraudulent.® In August of 1884, Imperial Germany expanded the
area under its protection, when it annexed the Namibian coast, with the
exception of Walvisbay, from the Orange river in the south to the Cunene river
in the north.* Germany’s claims to the coast were recognized at the Berlin
conference in late 1884.7 In order that claims to the hinterland be recognized,
treaties had to be concluded with the territory’s inhabitants. To this end, in
September 1885 three German officials, Imperial Commissioner Dr Heinrich
Ernst Géring, Chancellor Nels and police chief Goldammer, were landed at
Walvisbay.® Operating out of Otjimbingwe, and assisted by the Rhenish
missionaries, the German officials sought to conclude ‘protection’ treaties with
the territory’s inhabitants.

In 1885 the forces of the Nama Chief Hendrik Withooi regularly attacked
and raided Okahandja and its cattle posts. In the aftermath of one such raid,
Maharero, the Herero chief of Okahandja, and his councillors were persuaded
into signing a protection treaty with Imperial Germany. Unfortunately for the
Herero, Germany saw the treaty solely as a further substantiation of its claims
to German South West Africa. The three German officials, who constituted all
of Germany’s official presence in the territory, could not seriously have been
expected to protect Maharero and his subjects from the debilitating artacks of
Hendrik Witbooi and his commandos.® It took three years of unremitting

*For further information see The Commissions of WC. Palgrave Special Emissary to SouthWist Africa
1876-1885, edited and introduced by E.L P, Stals, Second Series No. 21, Van Riebeeck Society
(Cape Town 1991),

* Bundesarchiv Potsdam (BAP), Reichs Kolonial Amt (RKA) 2100,

*Wesseling, Verdeel en Heers, p. 355.

? Bley, South- Wt Africa, p. xxv.

* Drechsler, Fighting, p. 31. Heinrich Géring was the father of the Nazi Air Marshall Hermann
Giéring.

* According to international law the three Germans, Goring, Nels and von Goldammer represented
Imperial Germany in her newly established South West African Protectorate. Note here the true
background to the protection treaty. Negotiations started on 18 October closed on 21 October
1885; the missionaries played a central role in the negotiations. “The majority of the Chiefs had
already left Okahandja before the of i *The German negotistors told
Maharero that he didn’t need all his advisers to sign the treaty as he himsell “as paramount chief
had the right to sign a treaty, that affected the whole country, even without the presence of the
other chiefs". Dr Géring noted that missionary Dichl and Pastor Buttner convinced Maharero,
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warfare and vague promises of British protection before Maharero and his
councillors decided to annul their treaty with Germany. The three German
officials were summoned to Okahandja, charged with having failed to fulfil their
treaty obligations, and ordered to leave the country. To all intents and purposes
Imperial Germany’s colonial involvement in south-western Africa was at an
end.'®

The Rhenish missionaries had been extensively involved in Germany’s short-
lived colonial adventure. Through selling houses and properties to the German
officials and through mediating on their behalf, the missionaries had severely
compromised themselves in the eyes of the Herero. Consequently, a month
after the expulsion of the officials, Maharero and his council ordered the closure
of the mission church in Okahandja and summoned the missionaries resident
in Hereroland to Okahandja. Here they charged the missionaries with being
Ovazepe (people of murder), conspiring with the colonial officals, desecrating
and exhuming Herero graves, establishing trade routes that bypassed Oka-
handja, and, perhaps most importantly, assisting chiefs opposed to Maharero’s
authority.!! Following lengthy discussions, the missionaries were permitted to
remain in the territory, but the bonds of trust and friendship that had existed
beforehand had been destroyed. Henceforth missionaries were consciously
excluded from all Otjira, council meetings. Though the missionaries publicly
lamented their previous actions, privately they thought and acted differently.
Epitomizing this two-faced sham, Brincker, the then head of the Herero
mission, wrote the following letter to the German foreign office:

... Kamaherero is a negro chief who offers anyone who is prepared to pay him,
even a Turk, concessions and rights on paper. Which on the following day he will
cheekily nullify and provide the same on paper to another. To conclude treaties with
Kamaharero is as good as concluding treaties with a small child . ..

Morally Damaraland belongs to the German fatherland as our Rhenish mission,
and it alone, has spent thousands on this. Here lie the graves of her fallen missionaries

Damaraland cannot be held by treaties and chiefs, but by explicitly presented
European power [etablierte europdische Macht] in the form of a detachment of at least
400 men and at least 2 artillery batteries.'?

even though Goring had his doubts [meinen Bedenken] that Maharero had the right to sign on
behalf of all of Hereroland. BAP, RKA 2100, Abschrift A 3281 p. iV Marz 1886 Rehoboth den 21
November 1885, See BRMG 1886 p. 47, for report on mi ies bandaging Herero ded
and the activities of the German officials which included the firing of rockets and the placing of
German flags on Maharera's house.

it BAP, RKA 2100, Das Herero-land 1885-18%1.

11 Evangelical Lutheran Church in Namibia (ELCIN), 1 1.21 1888-1890 Besondere Angelegenheiten,
Briefwechsel zwischen Mah u. den Mi Diehl u. Esch sowie Schreiben der Konferenz
an die Gemeinden uber die Vorgénge in Okahandja 1888, ELCIN11.3 1873-1 905 Protokolbuch
der Konferenzen in Hereroland, Bericht Gber die Verhandlungen zwischen der Herero Konferenz
und Mah gehalten zu Okahandja am 17-18 Dec 1888.

12 BAP, RKA 2105, H. Brincker as superintendent of the Rhenish mission in Damaraland,
13/3/89, to Reichskanzler Bismarck. Brincker's remarks regarding Germany's moral obligation
towards Damaraland also referred to the extensi lati that existed the Rhenish
mussion and the Kaiser, going back to the King of Prussia. German missionary societies emerged
from a wave of pietism that had come about as a reaction to the secularizing modernism of the
French lution, and were therefore politically acceptable to the establish . Sce Elizabeth
Elbourne and Robert Ross, ‘Combatting Spiritual and Social Bondage: Early missions in the Cape
Colony’, in Richard Elphick and Rodney Davenport {eds), A History of Christiamy in Southern
Africa (Cape Town, Berkeley and Oxford 1998).
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Photo 2.1: Samuel Maharero
Source: United Evangelical Mission archives,
Wuppertal

The coming of the camel

f*\t the time of t_hg German expulsion, there were four major Herero chieftains
in central Namibia. These chiefs were Manasse Tjisiseta of Omaruru, Maharero
Tjamuaha of Okahandja, Kambazembi of Otjozondjupa, and the Ovambanderu
chief Ka_h:rncmua Nguvauva at Otjihaenena. These four men were the chiefs
of four h:ghl}f centralized polities which together made up a loosely structured
:ogfcdcr_acy in which Maharero was nominally the most important. The four
main chiefs cooperated on issues of mutual importance and srre‘ngthened
alliances through marriage and tribute. In much the same way that the rings
oflﬂu: s_ymbol of the Olympic games overlap one another, Herero spheres of
chiefly influence overlapped one another. Thus the sub-chief Zacharias Zeraua
of Otjimbingwe was under the authority of both Manasse Tjisiseta of Omaruru
gnd Maharero Tjamuaha of Okahandja.'* At the same time all three chiefs were
!nlerr_e_lau:_d through ties of marriage and descent. Thus, in the event of trouble
in Otjimbingwe, Zacharias Zeraua could and did call upon the strength and
support of both the Okahandja and the Omaruru chieftaincies.

Three m(_)mhs prior to the expulsion, Kaiser Wilhelm II had succeeded his
fallher as heir to the throne of Imperial Germany. Kaiser Wilhelm II was a man
with an ego easily bruised, and in later years he would sanction the sending of

" Zacharias Zerauan was one of four sons of *Ou Willem’ Z i

: 3 eraua, the Herero chief who had ri
n_).pow;lrhthr(_augh supplying labour and soldiers to the traders und,missinnarics. Zacharias i:::;
s:;tcr eriine was married to Manasse Tjisiseta of Omaruru. He was a firm Christian believer
who attempted to remain neutral during the Herero-German war. He was the sole pre-war chief

e he war in Namibi = "
Ot:umr;::;;; war in Namibia, where he was sertled in Windhoek. In March 1915 he died in
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massive contingents of German soldiers to GSWA to defend Germany’s
interests; however, in this instance an expeditionary force consisting of an
officer, twenty-one soldiers and a camel would have to suffice. Advised as to
what to wear by the Rhenish missionary director, dressed in the latest in
exploratory fashion and sporting “Bowie knives’, the force landed at Walvisbay
in June 188914
Captain Curt von Francois, the man who led the German expeditionary force
along with his brother Hugo, was a professional soldier but a lousy diplomat.'*
Within two months of his arrival, Francois had so irritated and exasperated
the inhabitants of the territory that he and his troops were forced to withdraw
to Tsaobis, 2 waterhole on the edge of the desert on the waggon trail that led
from Otjimbingwe to Walvisbay. In withdrawing to Tsaobis Francois
demonstrated his military skills:
saobis was ideally situated. Here the two main thoroughfares over
f the Swakop from Walvisbay to Otimbingwe,
which are intended for Otjimbingwe, have to
pass Tsaobis . . . The favourable waterhole, the good grazing, the accessibility attract
the traffic. Because of this it was easy to police the traffic to the coast. The huild'!ngs

For my purposes T
Salem and Tinkas, which pass south of
meet. All the heavily loaded waggons,
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Dkahandja, and {\-'lanasse Tj_isisela, of Omaruru, sent footmen and mounted
:ht:;'chlt:dalnas Zcralxlla in Otiimbingwe._ Samuel Maharero accompanied
et e s 50| llers to Otjimbingwe and was joined there by Manasse Tjisiseta,
Wi o had come down personally to oversee events in Otjimbingwe.!®
k. H.m"s}t step Samuel Maha:cml wrote to the commander of German forces
roland, Curt von Francois, and demanded that he and his t
thdraw from the territory: s

If you did not come with warlike intenti
€ tions, then I ask you . . . to ret o
lIJ::k y&u once again to pay heed to what I say, do not uccdlcsslyr:p:::i ycgrc:rr::nney.
rather go home. If you do not want to listen to my words then please declare sg

E openly and tell me directly that you are at war with us."?

. Francois’s answer was blunt and to the point. As his brother Hugo later noted:

We referred them to the prohibition on the import of and explai

that our actions were to be se prisals for the ho \.v. ; Vi
seen as reprisal itali i i
| b s for the hospitality which we had received

q

Seek_ing an explanation for the situation, Samuel Maharero wrote to the English

ing p

of the station, which I christened Wilhelmsfeste, occupied a d
and with 18 men I could confidently anticipate any attack from the Herero.'®

Prior to withdrawing to Tsaobis, Francois and his troops had visited
Ortjimbingwe and Omaruru. In both centres they had been rebuffed by the
Herero, ignored by the traders and shunned by the Rhenish missionaries. Now
ensconced in his fort, Wilhelmsfeste at Tsaobis, Francois exacted his revenge.
He decreed that henceforth arms could no longer be imported into the territory.
Waggon trains coming up from the coast were stopped and searched. All arms
and ammunition found were confiscated and, in the case of waggons belonging
to Robert Lewis, a man believed to be conspiring with the Herero against the
Germans, all goods were impounded and personal letters opened.'”

At the time of Francois’s arrival, the Herero were engaged in a war against
the forces of Hendrik Witbooi. As Hendrik Witbooi controlled the trade routes
leading southwards to the Cape, the Herero were forced to rely on the waggon
trails that led from the interior via Tsaobis to the coast for their supply of arms
and ammunition. Alarmed at Francois’s occupation of Tsaobis and his
subsequent ban on armament IMports, the Herero chiefs, Maharero, of

reros 3 Bander & RKA 2106-2110 Entsendung einer
Fiihrung des Hauptmanns von Francois. Bander; Marz
1889-5ept 1892, The Germans entered GSWA through subterfuge and a minor diplomatic row
ensued between Grear Britain and Imperial Germany, The German soldiers were disguised as a

ientifi dition. A ied by a camel, they set out from Liverpool, where they had lodged
travelled, on board an English Castle liner,
d fro and cngaging in assorted martial
ded troop greatly disturbed the Cape

14 BAP, RKA 2103-2105 Aufstand der He
betvaffneten Expedition gegen die Hereros unter

at the ‘Northwestern hotel”. The ‘scientific expedition’
to Walvishay where it disembarked. By marching to an
pursuits, on what was after all British rerritory, the newly lan
Colony’s resident magistrate in Walvishay.

As regards fashion see, C. von Francois, Deutsch Sudmwestafrika (Berlin 1899) p. 34.
1 He and his brothers, Albert and Hugo, were members of a Huguenot family that had served
the Prussian kings since the late seventeenth century. The military skills of the von Francois family,
which had served to provide them with sanctuary in Prussia, served to isolate von Francois from
the Herero.
i C. von Francois, DSWA, p. 50. JBG's translation.
1" BAP, RKA 1574, Official Statement of claims sent by the
Lewis to German foreign office, 12/3/90.

British foreign office on behalf of R.

rate in Walvisbay:

... I ask you as magistrate you are the chi
ief man and suppposed to be wi
mus;ltell me the truth what have I done to the G:rmalfs%p]'. knowol ;:]::3‘::::::;
enotrtcmo_rs but I don’t think they (the Germans) are of the same family . .
s e |_rdst uTc _thc Germans came to my father and asked for a protectorate .IMy
‘m E;:]?;h xll;:m\:;ilon:l aléow a (?:rl:nm protectorate. My father said to them [ \:vnm
rate. So my father called Mr. Lewis and told hi
Town [Cape Town) and get an Engli i
: glish Protectorate. Also he 1l i i
50. That is the reason why the Germans ar i posibiant'y prenie i
\ € Now 5t iti
because I have given my country to the Eugli‘:l'l.:',pplnB P oM Amma,
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Otjimbingwe were prohibited from travelling to Tsaobis to minister to the
German troops.?* However, this in no way affected Francois, who, through
maintaining control of T'saobis, was able to resupply and provision his troops
with goods, confiscated or otherwise, which had been transported directly from
Walvisbay, en route to the interior via Tsaobis.

The longer Francois maintained his blockade, the more the Herero needed
arms and ammunition. The longer the Herero forces remained in Otjimbingwe,
the more they and the other unprotected Herero settlements became vulnerable
to an attack by the forces of Hendrik Witbooi. In the end, the Herero were
forced to back down, salvage what they could and attempt to resolve the
situation peacefully. Of the chiefs present in Otjimbingwe, Manasse Tijisiseta
was the one least affected by Francois’s blockade. Waggons laden with arms
and ammunition, intended for Omaruru and coming from the coast, could and
did bypass the blockade in Tsaobis.?” Assured of a continued supply of arms,
and faced with the threat posed by the forces of Hendrik Witbooi, a threat which
far outweighed that posed at the time by the Germans in Tsaobis, Manasse
Tiisiseta forced the hand of the other chiefs by being the first to withdraw,
with his forces, from Otjimbingwe. The united Herero front collapsed.
Following Manasse Tjisiseta’s withdrawal, Samuel Maharero wrote to the
Christian Herero community in Otjimbingwe and ordered them not to
undertake any action against Francois.?¢ Samuel Maharero’s father, Maharero
Tjamuaha, anxious to dismiss Francois’s presence as an affair existing solely
between Germany and Great Britain, which therefore need not affect him, wrote
to Francois:

For me there is no difference between you and the English; I hate and love neither
(i.e. we are equally disposed to either party), however 1 do not want to be drawn
into the conflicts of you and the English.*

Zacharias Zeraua, as a good Christian, went one step further and wrote a formal
apology and asked for a pardon.?*

In the end the immediate threat posed by Hendrik Witbooi's forces appeared
to nullify the immediate threat posed by Francois and his men in Tsaobis. The
threat posed by Hendrik Witbooi prevented the Herero from maintaining a
unified front against Francois, let alone undertaking a joint attack on his small
party. Thus Manasse Tjisiseta withdrew back to Omaruru, Samuel Maharero
returned to Okahandja and Zacharias Zeraua stayed in Otjimbingwe. All three
prepared for the attacks and raids of Hendrik Witbooi’s commandos. The rich
cattle owners abandoned the settlements and the poor and the Christians, who
generally provided for themselves through riverbed agriculture, remained and
prepared to weather the storm. The superintendent of the Rhenish mission in
Hereroland, Brincker, in referring to Hendrik Witbooi’s impending attacks,
once again showed his true feelings, when he noted that the attacks would be
the best for the Herero as:

4 Berichte der Rheinischen Mission-Gesellschaft (BRMG), 1890, p. 247,

# C. von Francois, DSWA, p. 53. Menuons the arrest of Tatlow, one of Manasse's traders, with
a waggon of armaments in the vicinity of the Swakop river in December 1889,

= BAP, RKA 2107, Brincker in Otjimbingwe, 17/9/89, to German Consul in Cape Town, refernng
to letter written by Samuel Maharero to the Chrisuan Herero community i Otjimbingwe.

# BAP, RKA 2107, Maharero Tjamuaha in Okahandja, ca. 23/8/89, 1o von Francois.

= BAP, RKA 2107, Zacharias Zeraua in Otiimbingwe, 3/9/89, to Nels.
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The younger generation 15 so cheeky and conceited that it is hardly bearable. [ believe
that wh_en the Hereros are properly beaten [unter die Knute kommen] they will become
truly nice chaps, then they will learn to pay more attention to their missionaries
. With love and generosity we have dealt with them long enough . . . I

Suggestive of the extreme frustration felt by many Herero at the time is an
. incident ttlunT occurred in Otjimbingwe in late 1889, On Christmas Eve 1889
;hree Christian Herero, Elia, Josua and the school teacher Heinrich, bought
three bottles of brandy.'When the three bottles had been consumed Heinrich
was sent out to purchase more alcohol; however, the store keeper Hutton

" refused to scrv:“him, A fight started and: ‘the drunken schoolmaster crying in
¢ anger shouted: “Leave me, I cannot do otherwise, I must kill all the whites. ™!

Death by camel

- In the face of Witbooi’s impending attacks, the chance, which had existed, of

expelling Francois and his small force from Hereroland passed. Safely
ensconced 1nl'1"saubis and with the threat of a Herero attack removed, Francois
requested reinforcements and in January of 1890 these men arrived.® During
]am.m_r_',r and February of 1890 Hendrik Witbooi’s commandos, operating out
of their base at Hoornkrans, raided Herero cattle posts between Otjimbingwe.
Omaruru, and to the south of Otjikango.** Manasse Tjisiseta and Zacharia;
Zeraua attempted to ensure the safety of their followers by ordering them to
move closer to the mission stations, or to withdraw into the Erongo mountains.
However, this was to be to no avail. The Herero forces were severely beaten
ar!d were unable to prevent Witbooi’s commandos from striking seemingly at
will. Eur the Herero, the newly arrived German ‘protectorate force’ was
anything but a protection force. Instead they observed how the Germans stood
by and watched as Witbooi’s commandos raided and escorted their captured
Hcrem_cau!e herds past Tsaobis. That Hendrik Witbooi felt that he had nothing
to fear |5_wgll illustrated by the fact that, at one stage, he asked the Germans
for permission to water his captured herds at Tsaobis.*

:‘:51'\?,:.1{!\ 2107, Brincker 1n Oyimbingwe, 17/9/89, to RKA,
Not ere j
Fm:::is::c‘g::lﬂﬂl.a and Josua were joint signatories to the letter of 14/8/1889 addressed 1o von
" BRMG, 1890, p. 246.
#In N ber 1889 an [ ial Guard A, Henker, stati i i
P » A ioned in Potsdam, th
scat of the German Kaisers, was so attracted by the prosp ! of a new uni ﬂ::t,hec r::s:denlla!.
20{ service in Imperial Germany's new South West African Protectorate. On the day prior to his
eparture, Henker and his fellow valunteers were inspected by the Kaiser in the gardens of the
rbugtvfl pnlace,_ Sun.sm!cl. Follu:uin_g the inspection, a number of the volunteers, hoping to become
l’:; eracq with their 1 jed a thearre production at the Viktoria Theatre, in
tsdam. Here they saw an *. . . African production, Sianley in Afrika’ with which:

We were very pleased, what with the beaunful jungle and plentiful water, But when we later
landed in Sandwich harbour we were most put out.

The volunteers were mer at Sandwich harbour b H : i

: i A y Lt Hugo von Francois, who had served in th

L&;:ﬁl?oxl:_l'”:s;a:ley l.zrraca’. Fr{a;?hmsl led hus new remforcements across the sand dunes and grnva';

a Namib desert to Wilhelmsfeste at Tsaobis. Namibian Nati ives Wi

(n__\m\x"}, N e R ian National Archives Windhoek

" ELCIN, L.1.3. Konferenz Synode 1890,

,: ScsciELCIN.V. Missionschroniken Omaruru and Otpmbingwe, 1890, as well as NNAW,
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Photo 2.2: Hendrik Witboot
Source: Narmibian National Archives,
Windhoek

Following Francois’s withdrawal to Tsaobis, a number of Herero had argued
that once Francois was reinforced he would sally forth against the Herero.
Francois’s cordial relations with Hendrik Witbooi seemed to substantiate this
line of argument. Thus when in March 1890 the newly reinforced German
troops, under the command of Lt Hugo von Francois, marched to Otjimbingwe,
they found the settlement deserted by all but its European inhabitants. From
Otjimbingwe Francois travelled on to Okahandja, the residence of Maharero
Tjamuaha.**

At the time of Francois’s arrival in Okahandja, most of the Herero chiefs of
southern and central Hereroland had gathered to discuss and organize a
response to the attacks of Hendrik Witbooi.» Francois was aware of the import
of these discussions and did all in his power to impress upon his Herero
audience the military prowess and power of Germany. During all of his stay in
Okahandja, Francois presented himself and his men as a powerful muilitary force
and an ally to be coveted in the war against Hendrik Witbooi. Much like the
*Grand old Duke of York’, Francois marched his men to and fro, displayed his
camel, gave rifle and gymnastic displays and conducted mock atracks.’”
Francois was successful in his approach, and Maharero came to regard Francois
as a gun for hire. Following a single meeting, in which Maharero demanded

» ELCIN, V. Missionschronik Omaruru, 1880:

.. .itis expected that once he gets extra troops he will attack Otjimbingwe, if this happens
Manasse cannot remain neutral as they belong to the clan of Zeraua.

H. von Francois, Nama und Damara, p. 118.

» Unfortunately the sources, which could have given us more insight into these discussions, namely
the ELCIN Chroniken for Okahandja, are missing.

1" H. von Francos, Nama und Damara, p. 122.
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whether it was normal for Germans to be armed in the presence of others,
_Maharem left all further dealings with Francois to his military commander,
ZRJ_a_rua.“ Francois’s demand for a patch of land for the establishment of a
- military garrison was turned down, but it was decided to meet again in the
= tear future.

Two mqnd‘ls later, in May 1890, the Francois brothers, Curt and Hugo,
- accompanied by camels and virtually all the German troops in the territory,
wescorted the Imperial Commissioner Dr H. Goring, on his return to Okahandja,
. less than tWo years after his expulsion. Once again, Okahandja was in readiness
“ for an anticipated Witbooi attack. Once again, besides Maharero, the most
i poycrful Herero chiefs, Manasse Tjisiseta of Omaruru, Kambazembi of
Ortozondjupa and the Mbanderu chief Kahimemua, had gathered in Okahandja
o cllclcrminc a strategy against the attacks of Hendrik Witbooi, Following the
a:l_'wal of the German force, the German officials were invited to Maharero’s
brick house to take part in the discussions and to explain exactly what it was
that they could do for the Herero. Manasse Tjisiseta started the talks by stating
that a number of the chieftains were unsure as to whether or not they were
m_:der German or English protection, and demanded that they be provided
with a clear answer. Géring replied that the Herero were under German
protection, whereupon Manasse Tjisisera emphasized Germany’s moral duty
to prqvu_ie:_(hc Herero with concrete protection.” Though Goring promised to
do this, it is indeed indicative that, less than a month later, Géring travelled to
Cape Town and left southern Africa for good.* As a result of these discussions,
the protection treaty, which had been rejected by the Herero two years
previously, was reinstated.*!

Besides Manasse Tjisiseta, at least one other man realized the full import of
Maharero’s decision to reinstate the German protection treaty, this was
Maharero’s sworn enemy and opponent, Hendrik Witbooi. Upon hearing of
Maharero’s decision, Hendrik Witbooi wrote to Maharero. The letter is a fine
example of Hendrik Witbooi’s letter-writing and betrays his deep religious
beliefs and incisive political understanding of the time. The following rather
lengthy extract is taken from Witbooi’s caustic though prophetic letter to
Maharero:

¥ To you paramount of Damaraland [ today write this letter, because I have received
a letter i_'rom Dr. Gonng [Imperial Commussioner], and [ have gathered major things
from this letter, and these things have shown me the necessity of saying something
L to you. I have heard and understood from Dr. Géring's letter, that you have placed
yourself in German protection, and that hereby Géring has acquired influence and
l full right to order something and to enforce these orders over our country’s affairs,
and also in our war, which has existed from long past between us, thus [ am suprised
b and I am greatly offended [meem U grootelyks Kwalyk] because you call yourself the
: paramount of Damaraland, and this is true, because this dry country has but two
names, Damaraland and Namaland, that is to say that Damaraland belongs solely
to the Herero nation, and that is an independent kingdom on its territory, and
Namaqualnnd, that belongs solely to the red coloured nanons, and those are also
independent kingdoms, and this is also what 1s said of the countries of the white

» Ibid., p. 124.

' BAP, RKA 1574, Goning in Okahandja, 22/5/90, 1o RKA.

# Dr Goring lefi southern Africa and became the German government's representanive in Haiti.
* H. von Francois, Nama und Damara, p. 125,
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people in Germany, and England and so forth, as the countries of the present, and
those are countries on the water, and those are also independent Kingdoms, and all
the different peoples have their own leaders, and every leader has his own people
and country, over which he alone orders and governs, that no other person or captain
has the right, to order him n power, and to order, to do like that, and not to do like
that, because every chief on this world, 1s only a caretaker [plaatshekleeder] of our all
mighty God, and 15 only responsible to the great God, the king of kings, and Lord
of Lords, for whom we all, who live under the heavens shall bend their knees, and
from him alone seek help, advice, and power, and protection, and support, 1n all
these heavy circumstances of this life, because he alone gives generously to all who
pray to him for this.

But dear Caprain! you have accepted another government, and submitted yourself
to that government, to be protected by a human government, from all dangers, the
first, and the nearest, against me, in this war, which exists from long past between
us, to be protected from this and helped, by the German government, but dear
captain! do you know, what you have done, and for whom you have done this, that
which you have done, or have other people convinced you, or have you done this
out of your own independent enlightened mind? Maybe you only saw me standing
before you, in your heart, and in all your life, as a hindrance, and as a stone of
repulsion [steen des aanstoots], therefore you accepted this other powerful government,
to destroy me with this mighty man, this is possibly your intenuon, why you did
this, but it 15 very difficulr, to say and to know, that you will certainly succeed, or
not, but it appears [0 me, you did not consider enough what the implications were
on your side, for your country, your people, and your descendants, and also not for
your leadership rights, and you believe that you shall retain all these things of your
independent leadership, after you have destroyed me, if you succeed, as you believe
you will, but dear captain! It will eventually cause you much remorse, and you shall
eternally bear remorse, for having placed your land and government into the hands
of the white people . . .

1 know D[r]. Goring and you, you are of different nations, and you are from time
long past not good and true friends with one another, but you have concluded this
friendship, solely to destroy me, just like Herod and Pilate, so that they could remove
the lord Jesus, they hid and downplayed their differences . . .*2

Hendrik Witbooi’s words were indeed prophetic. On 7 July 1890, little more
than a month after the reinstatement of German protection, Witbooi
commandos attacked Herero cattle posts at Otjituesu, south-east of Okahandja.
Maharero appealed to the Germans for help, butno help was forthcoming. In
response to Maharero’s appeals, the Germans replied that: *. . . help could not
now be supplied, as the troops had instructions not to get involved in “native”
affairs."?

In early September Witbooi's commandos once again raided deep into
Hereroland. Cattle posts in the foothills of the Erongo mountains were attacked
and the sertlement of Otjimbingwe was overrun by Witbooi's forces. Here the
German officials and rraders actually drank coffee with Hendrik Witbooi during
2 lull in his assault on the town.™ Once again, German soldiers stationed at
Tsaobis watched Hendrik’s commandos pass by escorting rustled cattle and
wounded comrades.

For the Herero, German protection was a sham. Maharero, his closest

42 ELCIN, V. Politischen Briefe ete, 1879-1892. Hendnk Withoon in Hornkraans, 30/5/90, to “Wel
geliefde Kapitein Maharero Tsamaua!". JBG’s translation.

1 H, von Francois, Nama und Damara, p. 129.

* [ud., p. 130,
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owers and the poor were all that were left in Okahandja. His former

the mightiest of the Herero chiefs had shrivelled. I-{is artempted :Ini::::
th the (_Jermans had failed. The arrival of the Germans with their camels in
) an_cll]a had not provided Maharero with the long-expected remedy against
15h001 s attacks. Instead, if one chooses to believe Herero traditions, the
wa]_o’f the camels spelt disaster for Maharero. At some stage du,ring
rancois’s stay in Okahandja, a camel, a hornless animal and therefore taboo
-for Maha:cm’ls Orluzua or patri-clan, defiled Maharero’s Okuruo, holy fire. It
s due to this poisoning that, the traditions contend, Maharern; died.*® '

In my father’s house

On 7 October 1890 Chief Maharero Tjamuaha died of dysentery in Okahandja.

His mattress, blankets, clothes, shoes and hat were laid in his grave, and a
number of thorns were placed upon his body.** The thorns were meant to’ensurc
Irh:it Maharcrn’s enemies would be like the thorns in the veld, stabbing and
injuring one anqthcr,” In part they may also have influenced the nature of the
ensuing succession dispute. The death of Maharero Tjamuaha brought about
apower vacuum in the centre of Hereroland, into which a number of men were
drawn, st{ugglmg to inherit what they claimed was their rightful share of
Maharero’s estate. In this tussle the various candidates relied upon all possible
forms o}‘ sluppor_t._Samucl Maharero, however, went one step further, He alone
:]t:ec:;,e:ls];e:g.snhcnred the support and power of Germany, the new player on
: Immediately following the death of Maharero Tjamuaha, the succession
dispute andl the struggle for claimed inheritance broke out. The prime
con(ender§ in this struggle were all men, and all were directly related to
Maharero in terms of the dual descent and inheritance system which Herero
{:Uil'l_.ll_'e utilized. In Herero culture, men inherited and traced their descent
patrilineally and matrilineally. Herero society was built up out of clans, which
were arranged according to patrilineal (Oruzuo) and matrilineal (i-:anda)
desgem.The between twenty and thirty-six Otuzuo, patrilineal, clans and six
to nine Omaanda, marrilineal, clans were in turn associated with specific taboos
whmh_ related primarily to cattle and sheep. Indicative of the preferred
essentially pastoralist mode of subsistence was the linkage that existed between
stock and the double descent system and its concomitant taboos. Cattle colour
and ho_rn shape vary extensively, and the two variables were used to determine
the ep:‘st:molngical impact of cattle. That is, horn and colour variability
determined whether or not a cow was to be considered taboo for specific Otuzuo
Eanda cattle were inherited matrilineally and could be used for tradiné
purposes. Oruzue cattle were inherited patrilineally and, as they were
considered to be imbued with magico-religious properties, could not be used
for trade or exchange.* There were four men who could, and did, lay claim to

* G. Pool, Samuel Maharero (Windhoek 1991}
Pp. 72-74
“ BAP, RKA 2100, Nels in Otjimbingwe, 11/11/90, to RKA. & i i yimbi
1890, Lists as cause of death ‘Brechruhr’. i RELEIRY Qe Olfibinene.
“ BRMG 1891, p. 85.
* For further information on Herero ethnolo, i
r gy and anthropology see: Uri Almagor, "Pastoral

{:l;]nllly and Reluctance 10 Change: the Mbanderu of Ngamiland® inj’wrnal’ofdﬁi:f:!.aw, nus'S

-24(1), pp. 35-61; Eduard Dannert, Zum Rechie der Herero insbesondere uber ihr Familien- |r||d.'
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Caviseri and his brother’s son Nicodemus Kavikunua. Two men had a legal
jght to and contested Maharero’s matrilineal, or Eanda, inheritance. These
n were Maharero's sister’s son, Tjetjo, and Riarua, the son of his father and
is mother's sister. [t will be noticed that Riarua had a right to, and laid a claim
to, both Maharero’s Eanda and Oruzuo inheritance.

b In late 1890 the remaining Herero chieftains travelled to Okahandja to
discuss and arbitrate on Maharero’s succession and inheritance. Initially it
peared as if the theory and practice of Herero inheritance were one and the
e. A look at the kinship diagram indicates that in terms of the Oruzuo
heritance, Samuel Maharero, Riarua, Nikodemus Kavikunua and Kaviseri
were contenders. Maharero's wives, Okuruo (holy fire), arms and chiefly
Josition were considered part of the Oruzuo inheritance. As far as Maharero’s
“wives and Okuruo were concerned, both Samuel Maharero and Nicodemus
Kavikunua were immediately disqualified as they were nominally Christians.
{ Being Christians, they were not permitted to inherit and administer an Okuruo,
* as this would have entailed ministering to the ancestors and thus, in the eyes

A of the missionaries, the demonic practice of ancestor worship. Furthermore,
p being Christians as well as being the sons of Maharero and his brother,

- Kavikunua, neither of them was permitted to marry Maharero’s wives. Riarua
did not contest his rights to either Maharero’s widows or Okuruo, choosing

¢ instead to concentrate on other aspects of the inheritance. Instead, Maharero’s

adopted brother, Kaviseri, married Maharero’s widows and inherited his
Okuruo. Kaviseri was content with this and waived his rights to all further
aspects of the inheritance. During his half-brother’s life, Riarua had been
Maharero’s closest confidant and the widely respected supreme military
commander of Maharero’s forces; not surprisingly, therefore, he inherited
Maharero’s arms.

As regards the issue as to who was to inherit the chieftaincy of Okahandja,
Riarua, Nicodemus Kavikunua and Samuel Maharero were serious contenders.
The eldest patrilineal heir to Tjamuaha was Kavikunua. However Kavikunua
had died and his brother Maharero had become Tjamuaha's heir. The
inheritance had thus passed to Maharero. Strictly speaking therefore, in terms
of the Oruzuo inheritance system, Kavikunua’s son, Nicodemus, was to be the
immediate heir to Maharero. However, a number of years previously
Nicodemus Kavikunua had left Okahandja and lost his immediate support base,
following an affair with Samuel’s wife.** Added to this Nicodemus’s mother,
Nandaurua, had married Riarua, following the death of her first husband
Kavikunua. Riarua was therefore Nicodemus Kavikunua's step-father. Though

Figure 2. 1: Kinship diagrams indicating decendants of Mutjise, and those entitled 1o
Mahareros Eanda and Oruzuo inheritance

il i i ¢ his son Samuel
Maharero’s patrilineal, or Oruzuo, 1nhcr1tancc.Thesg men wer
Maharero, his brother through a different mother Riarua, his adopted brother

i ! he n Baniu,
Erbrechr (Berlin 1906); Gordon D. Gibson, HRISMIGI Org ojll i

L'n:\:blliih::i“;:‘.'l’hi] Thesis, University of Chicago (Chicago 1052); Josaphat H:alm,H I:::;
Ovaherero', in Zetschrift der Gesellschafi fur Erdkunde zu Berlin, Ve r_ins von D\rl.nc‘h_ Reimer ( :er )
1869); 1. I;I«, Die Herero. Ein Beitrag zur Landes-, Jhs- und Missionskunde (Gitersloh 1906);

v sl he Herero, Published
ik Gerhardus Lutug, The Religious System and Social Orgurtrmuuu of 1 F
%’I;Bd‘:"h:si:rd;w‘:rsuy of i..cidun‘(l:trc:hl 1933); 1. Schapera, Notes on some H’crem (_nmi:fqgm
{Cape To\-\-:r; 1945); Heinrich Vedder, “The Herero', in The Native Tribes of South West Africa,
compiled by C. Hahn, L. Fourie and H, Vedder (Cape Town 1928).

Nicod travelled to Okahandja to take part in the deliberations, he was
unable to muster enough support amongst the Herero for his claims to the
chieftaincy of Okahandja. Instead his stepfather, Riarua, as the eldest living
male heir to Tjamuaha, came to be recognized by the Herero as Maharero's
heir to the chieftaincy of Okahandja. For his part, Samuel Maharero, being a
nominal Christian, received the support of the missionaries and the Christian
Herero resident in Okahandja.®

In terms of the Herero matrilineal descent system or Eanda, Maharero's
sister’s son, Tjetjo, was entitled to, and was the sole contender for, Maharero’s
material goods. These consisted primarily of what remained of Maharero’s cattle

* 1. Irle, Die Herero, p. 217.
% BAP, RKA 2100, Nels in Otjimbingwe, 11/11/90. BRMG, 1891, pp, 85-86,
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Photo 2.3: Riaru, commander in chief to
Maharero Tijamuaha

Source: Namibian Nanonal Archives,
Windhoek

herds, in so far as they had not been appropriated by the com_mandos of Hendrik
Witbooi. Strictly speaking, Samuel Maharero was not entitled to any part of
the Eanda inheritance. However, and this was more in keepmg,wuh his status
as a Christian, he did inherit his father’s brick house. Ma_harero s house, which
had been built to store trade goods, was strictly speaking part nf_thc Eanda
inheritance. It was situated in the Christian quarter oflolltahandpa. Samuel
Maharero received this house primarily because none ofl-nslnvals had any |_1ccd
for it. Neither Kaviseri nor Riarua, who lived i.n Okahandja, were Chrlsnan?.
Tjetjo, who by virtue of his Eanda inheritance rights, had a right to Ma_harcr:} s
house did not live in Okahandja, and Nicodemus, though a Christian, also
did not live in Okahandja. Instead he had left and sought support amongst the
anderu chieftains in the cast. ) )
Ov‘i‘ﬁf}{crero chiefrains visiting Okahandja soon reached their Ivcrd:cts and,
all in all, by the time they abandoned Okahandja 1n t_:sr!y 1891 in the face ?f
imminent attacks by Hendrik Witbooi, the apportionment of Maharero’s
inheritance had been determined. Riarua, Kaviseri EIII'Id Tjetjo, as one would
have expected, had carried off the bulk and the most important cffccfs of the
inheritance. Samuel Maharero had won the right to live in Itus fathelr s house
and enjoyed the support of the missionaries and thc Chnsnar}g, whnchl, when
compared to the Okuruo, arms, cattle herds a_nd chmfb’_recpgmnon, which had
been inherited by his rivals, was rather insignificant. Livingina wwn_const_amly
threatened by Witbooi raids, the supply of arms, such as that _whnch Riarua
had inherited, was far more significant than thclsuppcrt of 1mE0vcnshcd
Christians and missionaries. As the chieftains hastily leflt Okahandja, S_amucl
Maharero cast around for support with which to expand his meagre inheritance.
There were essentially two sources of support to which Samuel Maharero
now turned. One was rooted in his existence as a Herero, gnq the other was
rooted in his existence as a Christian associated with the mission and all that
this entailed.

wun,

hrough his Eanda. Thus Tjetjo, and not Samuel Maharero, had inherited the
attle herds of Maharero. In life a man called upon his mother’s brother for
aterial support. In the case of Samuel Maharero his mother’s brother was a

tich man named Simoni Zemoundia Kandirikirira. Very little is known about

s man, apart from the fact that he was the father of teachers and evangelists

. closely associated with Samuel Maharero.*! His support was essential to Samuel

aharero. Immediately following Maharero’s death, Zemoundia supported

¢ Samuel Maharero with cattle and was closely associated with Samuel in his

visits to German officials in Windhoek.? It is an indication as to the power
‘and import of Zemoundia's support, that it was only following Zemoundia’s

__ death that Riarua and his allies dared to openly oppose Samuel Maharero.

As a Christian, Samuel Maharero was able to access support networks
otherwise closed to his rivals. Thus Samuel Maharero was supported as a
candidate of the Rhenish missionaries in his bid for the chieftaincy of
Okahandja. His elder brother, Wilhelm, had been the mission’s hope for the
future, but, unfortunartely for them, Wilhelm had been killed in battle in 1880.
Samuel Maharero had artended mission school, and, though not a star pupil,
he was literate and this was a skill which he used to his full advantage. Samuel
Maharero was well acquainted with the system of inheritance that existed in
Germany, whereby a man’s eldest son inherited his father’s property. Indeed,
it had been on this basis that the missionaries had sought ro groom the sons of
Maharero Tjamuaha, Samuel and Wilhelm, Now following the death of his
father, Samuel Maharero sought to cash in on the claims made by the
missionaries. Within two weeks of Maharero’s death, at exactly the same time
that messages were being sent out to the remaining Herero chieftains to come
to Okahandja, Samuel Maharero wrote to Curt von Francois seeking his
assistance and urging him to come to Okahandja.* Francois failed to come to
Okahandja and for the duration of the chieftains’ visit to Okahandja he kept
his distance. Commenting on Samuel Maharero’s advances, Francois wrote:

With great eagerness he sought informanon from me, 1n anucipation of his crowning,
as to how Kings were proclaimed with us.

In the end Samuel Maharero’s persistence paid off. In August of 1891, in
response to Samuel Maharero’s letters, Curt von Francois sent his brother Hugo
von Francois to Okahandja to inform Samuel Maharero that the Imperial
German government had recognized him as the paramount chief of the
Herero.5%

Thus Samuel Maharero was recognized by the Germans as paramount chief
of the Herero. But, at this stage, this recognition was worth very little in terms
of actual wealth and power. Added to this, German recognition did not
immediately imply German assistance. This much is made clear in Hugo von
Francois’s account of a meeting with Samuel Maharero in late 1891:

 See for instance the appearance of preacher Elia Kandirikira at Samuel Maharero’s deathbed
in 1923, NNAW, ACC 200.

2 BAP, RKA 2081, Kohler in Windhoek, 24/12/93, Reports on a visit by Samuel Maharero 1o
‘Windhock accompanied by his brothers and Zemoundia Kandikirira,

¥ BAP, REA 2109, Letter Samuel Maharero in Okahandja, 21/10/90, to von Francois.

* C. von Francois, DSWA, p. 78.

% Ibid., p 147. H. von Francos, Nama und Damara, p. 144.
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After some preliminary questions he requested the protection of th_c government
against uncooperative chiefs, apparently so as to cover his _bac_k, He did not want to
carry responsibility for all the problems in the _Hcr:m territories. _Rggardl:ss of this
admittance of weakness he requested our permission to improve his income through
taxation, He wished to tax every trader operating in Herero!nn_d 100 mark for water
and grazing, whereas previously money had been pad to the single owners thcrcc;f,
It goes without saying that this Testimonium paupertats could not be covered by
the government.’®

Samuel Maharero had effectively become the paramount :hie_f of a people wh_o
refused to recognize him, and of territories which were either ble.yond his
control, or under constant threat of Witbooi atllﬁck. As long as this was the
case, there was very little challenge to his position, but, once the threat of
Hendrik Withooi had been removed, it was a different marter altogether.

The inheritance

The chieftains who scuttled out of Okahandija in early 1891 left prlmarl‘iy
because, in terms of Maharero’s inheritance, there was not much 1o be hgd in
Okahandja, and, added to this, there was the ever-present threart of a raid by
Hendrik Witbooi, which would have made dilly-dallying in Okahandja at best
unsafe. - .
There were three interrelated reasons as to why, by the time of Maharero’s
death, southern Hereroland had become such a dismal and unhgalthy plnlcc;
The first related to the fulfilment by Hendrik Witbooi of his promise to *smite
Maharero Tjamuaha.’” The second related to the economic decline of
Okahandja and Otjimbingwe, which was aggravatcd'by W:tbnq1 s Iatta:ks, The
third related to the natural disasters of famine and disease, which in turn were
exacerbated by Hendrik Witbooi’s attacks and the region’s economic dec:llne.
Berween 1889 and 1891, Hendrik Witbooi's commandos raided, seemingly
at will, throughout southern and central Hereroland. In 1890 alone,lnear]y
fifty Herero carttle posts, situated between Onlmrur_u, Okahandja and
Otjimbingwe, were raided on three separate occasions in January, July and
September. Added to this, the Herero quarter in Otjimbingwe was bul_'m 1o
the ground and the settlement’s cornfields destroycd.f’The_artackﬁ r.uqunued
unabated into the following year, with further raids in which approximately
3000 carttle and 1000 small stock were captured.®® In early 1?.91 Herero
communities in the far north, around Otjozondjupa, were being directly
affected by the raiding.® In the face of these attacks Herero were forced to
abandon southern Hereroland. As has been seen, foi!ower; were ordered to
withdraw into the mountains or, in the interests of security, to congregate
around settlements further to the north.®! By early 1891 the Herero had been
expelled from their former grazing areas between the Khan and the Swakop

% H. von Francois, Nama und Damara, p. 144.
¥ The Hendrik Withooi Papers, edited and 1

P (W

d by Eben M k 1991) p. 65.

 ELCIN, V. Chroniken 1890, Otjimbingwe and Omaruru. The raiders took with them no less
than 5000 large stock, 1000 small stock, twenty horses, a waggon, a cart and further unspecified
goods.

* ELCIN, V. Chroniken Omaruru, 1891,

#o BAP, RKA 2109, Curt von Francos, 5/3/1891, to AA.

#t ELCIN, V. Chroniken Omaruru, 1891,

vers."? Herero chiefs sought to stem the onslaught and retain their rights to
land by ordering their Christian followers to occupy the settlements under
ack. Thus in the case of Otjimbingwe, Manasse Tjisiseta of Omaruru ordered
Christian followers to Otjimbingwe, ‘to strengthen this important post, so
that it doesn’t fall into the hands of Hendrik Witbooi’.53 But it was all to no
il. Herero continued to abandon southern Hereroland up until such time
at the threat of Hendrik Witbooi had been neutralized.®
* Through a policy of scorched earth, Hendrik Witbooi cleared southern
roland of its Herero inhabitants. Witbooi conquered the land and by right
conquest he claimed Otjimbingwe as his. In a letter to the European
abitants of the settlement Hendrik Witbooi made this clear:

ynh

You of all people are well acquainted with the law of conguest. And you know that
I defeated the Herero at Otjimbingwe. You know that it is only because they fled
into your houses . . . that I turned around on that occasion.

MNow [ ask you . . . are the Herero still there? and if they are still there, on whose

behest? If it 15 at your urging, [ ask you now, sirs, let them g0, for it is my land; 1
conguered it,®

- The second factor affecting the dismal condition of Maharero’s legacy was the
- complete and utter economic malaise in which southern Hereroland found itself
- atthe time of his death. In the face of Witbooi’s withering attacks Herero cartle
1 stocks had been depleted or driven away to other regions of the territory.
- Maharero’s once mighty herds, in so far as they had not been captured by
Witbooi, were dispersed throughout the northern reaches of his territory and
amongst his allies. Though his cattle may have been in safe hands, and cattle
trading on his mind, Maharero was forced to turn his attention elsewhere in
the face of Witbooi’s assault. Added to this, the settlements of Okahandja and
Otjimbingwe, which had blossomed as trading centres in the 1870s, had been
superseded in importance by Omaruru, which lay across the most direct route
from Walvisbay to Ovamboland. During the 1880s, whilst central Namibia had
been in conflict, traders had shifted their attention northwards to Ovamboland
and southern Angola.* This market soon supplanted that of central Namibia.
Associated with the development of the Ovamboland trade was the estab-
lishment, from 1884 onwards, of trade routes, which totally bypassed
Hereroland, Instead these routes led from Ovamboland directly through the
Kalahari to Kimberley and the Witwatersrand.®” In the face of economic gloom
itwas to these brighrer lights that many were drawn. As a contemporary noted:

Many Herero have trekked away . . . all profit is gone, The few known trading stores
are nearly empty. Several Herero have taken work on the English mines,®

# ELCIN, V. Chroniken, 1888-90 Omaruru and Otjimbingwe. Also BAP, RKA 2109 Hugo
Francois in Windhoek, 5/3/91, reports a locust plague b en Windhoek and Okahandja. Curt
von Francois, 5/3/9 1, reports Withooi wars affecting north-eastern Hereroland,

# BRMG, 1892 p. 304,

“ ELCIN, V. Chroniken Otjimbingwe 1892,

¥ The Hendrik Withooi Papers, p. 57.

* Secin this regard the carcer of Axel Eriksson who between 1869 and about 1882 operated out
of Omaruru. After 1884 Eriksson established himself in O boland and totally byp
Namibia.
* For a di of the of trade routes from the Cunene to Kimberley and the
Rand, see Harn Siiskonen, Trade and Socioeconomic Change m Ovamboland, 18501906, Studio
Historica 35 (Helsinki 1990) pp. 158-61.

* BRMG, 1891, pp. 12-13.
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In the wake of economic decline and war came famine and disease. In 1890
and 1891 southern Hereroland was struck by famine. This was the result of
both human and natural agency. Due to Witbooi raiding, Herero livestock had
been driven off and cornfields deliberately destroyed. Added to this, drought,
flooding and, particularly in 1891, locust swarms initiated a famine which
further weakened the inhabitants of southern Hereroland. In 1890 the region
was struck by chickenpox, to be followed in the following year by smallpox.*®
Though attempts were made to quarantine the sick, nothing could be done to
prevent the famished from inadvertently spreading the disease, as they begged
and scavenged from post te post for food.™

In the aftermath of the T'saobis affair, when Francois had forced the Herero
to stand down, it was clear that the Herero were in no state to repel settlers
should they choose to move onto and occupy tracts of land in southern
Hereroland. Added to this, in the face of Witbooi attacks, Herero were unable
and unwilling to prevent settlers from settling on tracts of land which were to
all intents and purposes unoccupied. Another aspect was that Herero chiefs,
such as Samuel Maharero and Zacharias Zeraua, were willing to sell tracts of
land, often in areas which had fallen from, or were beyond, their control, in
exchange for much needed trade goods with which they could then extend their
patronage and improve their positions. This was particularly true of Samuel
Maharero, who, in the first four years following the death of his father, was
effectively broke. The German government, which was anxious to lessen the
cost of its colonial venture, sold concessions to land companies for extensive
tracts of land in Namibia, and encouraged settlers to move to Namibia.™ Thus
in 1892 the German government granted land, earmarked for settlement by
homesteaders in the Windhoek area, to the Deutschen Kolonialgesellschaft.
Settlement terms were very generous. Each homesteader was granted three to
four Morgen of irrigable land and grazing rights to further land. After five years’
ownership, the land reverted to the settler who, in turn, had to pay a small fee
for water and grazing rights and was obliged to build a house and grow crops.
Artempts were made to attract settlers from Germany and the German
community in the Transvaal, Cape and Natal.”> Though prospects in the newly
established Charterland of Cecil John Rhodes seemed far better, a number of
Boers and Germans, who had settled in the Cape and the Transvaal, were
prepared to move to the newly established German colony. Amongst these was
the trader Ludwig, who, as well as leading vigilante posses, established an inn
with a beer garden and bowling alley in Klein Windhoek.™ Other settlers at
the time were the Voigts brothers, who had operated as traders in the Transvaal
and Chile, and the trader Fritz Wecke, who had also been a trader in the
Transvaal. In September 1892 these men established the Wecke and Voigts
company, which still exists today.™ At first settlers consisted primarily of
traders, Boers and small homesteaders who settled in the fertile Klein Windhoek
river valley. Though the land companies were granted concessions, actual
occupation of the lands by German settlers did not take place until much later.
 BRMG, 1890, p. 24-1
= ELCIN, V. Mi Onjimt 1891,
7 For concession claims to Namibia see, Dy , Fighnng, pp. 45-53.
7 Otto von Weber, Geschichte des Schutzgebietes Deutsch-Sudwes-Afrika, second edition (Windhock
1979), pp. 82-3.
*Weber, Geschichie, p. 83.
7 H.E. Lenssen, Chronik von Deutsch-Sidewestafrika (Windhoek 1994) pp. 43-4,

¢ ’Herero Succession Dispute 49

aally, settlers who occupied lands in southern Hereroland were spared by
raiders of Hendrik Witbooi, who were anxious not to antagonize the settlers
bthe German forces. In due course the distinction berween settlers and
idiers ceased to exist as decommissioned Schuiztruppen often chose to settle
Hereroland.™
__ en prior to the death of Maharero, the Herero confederacy, which had
pme into being around his leadership, had begun to crumble as its constituent
ains withdrew. Maharero was very conscious of this process and it had
med the basis of his complaints vis-a-vis the missionaries in 1888.7 By the
Maharero died, most of the influential Herero chieftains had withdrawn
it of central Namibia. Following his death, the Herero chiefs, who had already
ten slipping out of the confederacy, now did so completely and left Samuel
arero to weather the attacks of Hendrik Withooi in Okahandja. Though
o leaders had travelled to Okahandja in late 1890, to help decide on the
ion of the spoils of inheritance, they had soon withdrawn in the face of
drik Witbooi's attacks, The result was that only the missionaries, the
istians, the traders and the poorest Herero remained in southern
Hereroland, Samuel Maharero, as a poor Christian, remained in Okahandja.
Phis then was Maharero’s legacy. The fact that Samuel Maharero was
ognized by his fellow paupers and the Germans as a chief did not overly
her his rivals. For they knew that the area that Samuel Maharero claimed
be the chief of was either in constant danger of being raided, or at best beyond
ffective control. As long as the threat of Witbooi remained, and the German
presence was insignificant, whatever Samuel Maharero claimed and did was
n{no real import to the remaining Herero chiefs.

Murdered in peace?
-Central to developments in Herero society in the late nineteenth century were
the activities of Hendrik Witbooi. It is therefore necessary to discuss Hendrik
Witbooi and the relationship that developed berween him, Samuel Maharero
- and the Herero in general.
.- Originally a carpenter by training and a church deacon by choice, it had
- been following a near escape from death, at the hands of the Herero in August
¢. 1880, that Hendrik Witbooi had become a divinely inspired prophet and the
- paramount chief of northern Namaqualand. He later recounted how, returning
. home following his ¢scape, a voice had spoken to him. The voice had told him
that the time had been fulfilled, that the way had been opened and that a heavy
¢ task had been laid upon him: *These three words started my whole mission.’™
At this stage Witbooi had lived in Gibeon, a settlement in southern Namibia,

B Weber, Geschichee, p. 268,

™ See, ELCIN, I 1.3 Berwcht uber die Verhandlungen Dec. 1888, where Maharero accused the
missionaries of strengthening his fellow chiefs at the expense of weakeming himself. This was done
by, amongst other things, opening and rerouting hitherto closed trade routes, setting up mission
stations in the interior; and, pcrhnps most importantly, makmg and assisting the other Herero
chiefs become increasi 1gly more independent of Mak

T JBG's translation of ‘in vrede vermoord” which was wnncn on a note addressed to Missionary
Eich, at Otjiseva, by the Witbom schoolmaster, Samuel, following the ambush of the Withooi
trek at Osona on 15 Ocrober 1885, BRMG, 1886, p. 44

™ Withoor Papers, p. 33. Witbooi’s prophecy was indeed I';.llﬁu:d.
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which had been founded by his grandfather, Kido Witbooi, Kido had named
the settlement in memory of the biblical Gibeon, where God had made the
sun stand still for a day so that Joshua could defeat his enemies. Kido, Hendrik
had believed, only meant to pause for a while in Gibeon, before trekking on.
In accordance with his revelation and in the belief that he had been fulfilling
his grandfather’s aims, HendrikWitbooi had voiced his intention to trek north.
As to where he had intended trekking to, Hendrik Witbooi had noted:

That I do not know yet, with my trekking I am only continuing the great work started
by my Grandfather, who in his trek northwards, to a very good land, only rested for
a while in Gibeon,™

In 1884, Witbooi had travelled north to Okahandja to ask for permission to
trek through Maharero’s territory.® Permission had been granted and, during
the course of 1884, Maharero had twice confirmed this. In the following year,
Hendrik Witbooi, taking with him the cream of Gibeon society, had set off
with a trek of no less than 600 followers.® Trekking north, to the promised
‘very good land’, people had flocked to join Witbooi's following. A contem-
porary had noted:

It 15 a colourful collective mass of people, about 600; apart from the Gibeonites
there are also Veldschoendragers, Kol with some of his people, some of the Red
nation, the Janian people [the surviving followers of Jan Jonker Afrikaner] and then
all kinds of leaderless people, even blind, lame and cripples.®?

On 13 October 1885 Witbooi had written to Maharero thanking him for his
assistance and permission to trek through his territory.®® However, it was not
to be. Two days later, a Herero commando had ambushed the Witbooi trek at
Osona, approximately twenty kilometres to the south of Okahandja, In the
attack, Witbooi had lost two of his own sons, twenty-four followers, a number
of horses and all of the trek’s waggons and provisions; added to this twenty-
two men had been wounded.® As the refugees had withdrawn past Otjiseva,
missionary Eich had received a note. It had said simply, ‘In peace we were
murdered.’®

Hendrik Witbooi had been betrayed, and this betrayal was to colour all of
his further dealings with the Herero, particularly Samuel Maharero, whom he
believed had led the assault. Henceforth Hendrik Witbooi was to be at war
with the Herero. In a letter to Maharero, Witbooi had written:

Well you know that I arrived in peace, but you deceived me. You wanted to lure me

™ BRMG, 1886, p. 42.
* This was not unique; following the destruction of the Zwartbooi community at Rehaboth in
1863, the Zwartboois had been granted permission to sertle on Hereroland to the north of
Omaruoru.

" BRMG, 1886, pp. 36-45. As missionary Rust of Gibeon put it

Higr hat sich die Gemeinde nun fast panz aufgeldst, hich werden vielleicht noch 40-50
Gemeindeglieder vorhanden sein.
* Missionary Eich in Ouiseva, 14/10/85, in BRMG, 1886, p. 40.
© Witkoo: Papers, p. 6.
™ Missionary Eich in BRMG, 1886, p. 43, referred to forty Nama dead, 130 horses, all their
oxen, two waggons, four carts. The Herero who had fired from both sides on the Nama lost thirty
men and had eighty wounded. Missionary Rust in BRMG, 1886, p. 46 noted that Hendrik's second
son Jeremias and his fourth son Salomo were killed,
* BRMG, 1886, p. 44,
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. into your Kraal and then kill me without warning. I defended myself as best I might.

f,. You know how the day went. I had to retire because I ran out of ammunition. You

. did not defeat me, as well you know. At no point were my men giving way. But I ran
out of ammunition, so I left.

. Now I am once again prepared for war, and soon [ shall again meet you at the
same place. So sit there and wait for me! With your talk of truce you had bound my
hands; now your treachery has loosened the bonds. As before, | have again cast open
the gates of war. You shall get war from all sides. I tell you that openly. You know
that I had closed those gates when I accepted peace. But then you tried to murder
me through cunning.

Truly, now the Lord shall judge between us!
I close, and am, offended and betrayed,

Hendrik Witbooi®

_I-Signiﬁcandy the attack had taken place in 1885 at precisely the same time that
.- German officials and missionaries had been in Okehandja attempting to
' convince Maharero and his councillors to sign a protection treaty with Imperial

', Germany. Indeed the missionaries and the officials had sought to impress

| Maharero of their intentions by bandaging wounded Herero.®” Immediately
after the ambush, Maharero had completed his negotiations and signed the

treaty. These events did not go unnoticed by Hendrik Witbooi, who in a letter

had warned Maharero: *. . . preserve the land too, so that I do not have 10
claim it from foreign hands’.%

Following his defeat Hendrik Witbooi had returned to southern Namibia.
Here, he had consolidated his position and in due course he had recovered
sufficiently to begin exacting his revenge. In 1888, on three separate occasions,
his commandos had raided Otjimbingwe, and cattleposts between Otimbingwe
and Okahandja. With the cartle captured Witbooi had financed his arms
purchases.® In late 1888 Hendrik Witbooi and his followers, having gained
control over most of southern Namibia, had moved north into the Khomas
Hochland and established themselves at the mountain fortress of Hoornkrans.
In 1889, in exchange for concessions sold to the newly floated Great Namaqua-
land Exploration company, Witbooi had received two waggons fully loaded with
ammunition.*®

Well-armed, and with an ever-larger following, Hendrik Witbooi had fulfilled
the threats of his earlier letters:

You have deceived me in the name of God. Maharero, recall the words we exchanged
under the camelthorn at our first meeting. You then said that if you broke the peace
I should destroy you with cold hands; and if I should break the peace you would
destroy me with cold hands, seeking me out among all my warriors. The Lord heard
these words come from your mouth ®

Throughout 1890, Witbooi had sought out Maharero and his followers.

* Withoo Papers, p. 7.

* G, Pool, Samuel Maharero, p. 62.

= Witbooi to Maharero, 30/10/85, in Withoot Papers, p. B,

* BRMG, 1888, pp. 366-8. i

* BRMG, 1891, p. 23. See also interview between Hugo von Francois and Hendrik. When Robert
Duncan, the man who had brokered the deal and who was married into Witbooi society, was
later arrested by the Germans; Rhodes's role in the affair became apparent when Witbooi wrote
to Rhodes asking for him to intercede on Duncan’s behalf.

# Hendrik Witbooi in /Ga-os, 30/10/1885, 1o Maharero, in Withoo: Papers, pp. 8-9.
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Maharero’s power had waned. Maharero’s allies had withdrawn from central
Namibia, and isolated him in Okahandja. In a desperate attempt at turning
the tide, Maharero had sought to reinstitute his protection treaty with the
Germans, only to be greeted by Hendrilk’s caustic letters and prophetic words.
Even with German protection, Hendrik's debilitating raids had continued

unrelenting, and in due course, as Hendrik Witbooi had written to Samuel
Maharero:

1 smote your father because of hus unrighteous practices, and while I was smiting
him, God Himself smote him with death.%

Hendrik Witbooi had artempted to make use of the power vacuum that existed
in southern Hereroland following Maharero’s death. As we have seen, Hendrik's
commandos had struck whilst the iron was hot. Less than three months after
Maharero’s death, whilst the Herero chieftains had gathered in Okahandja to
discuss Maharero’s inheritance, Witbooi's commandos had raided throughout
southern Hereroland. Not surprisingly, as soon as the inheritance had been
divided, the chiefs, and their followers, in so far as they had nor done so already,
had withdrawn from Okahandja and left southern Hereroland. However, there
was to be no reprieve for the Herero. Hendrik Witbooi believed that it had been
Samuel Maharero who had led the attack on his ill-fated trek at Osona in 1885.%
Witbooi commandos had continued to raid Herero positions throughout 1891
and 1892. However, being a man of God as well as a man who had realized the
futility of war, Hendrik Witbooi did initiate a lengthy correspondence with
Samuel Maharero. % Finally, following a series of puerile replies by Samuel,
an exasperated Hendrik Witbooi had harangued Samuel:

Surely you can distinguish between what is just and true and what 1s unjust. So if
the works of your father appalled you because you felt them to be unjust, but you
were powerless to stop them, or to stand aside, today you have that power, and the
right to act and speak according to your own choice and vision. For I believe that

** Hendnk Withooi, 27/7/91, to Samuel Maharero, in Withoo: Papers, p. 65.

*! Diary entry Hendrik Witboos for 27 June 1850, in Withooi Papers, p. 48,

** Hendrik's first letter was addressed to his “dear Herero children’. Shortly thereafter Samuel
replied in a cynical letter addressed to his ‘dear Nama children’ and signed, though he was as yet
not recognized by anyone except the Christians and missionaries as such, as ‘your Captain’. As
always Hendrik's reply was direct and to the point:

1 have received your letter, but am dissatisfied by your answer . . . You replied neither 1o my
question nor to my intention, but Jjesungly turned my own words around. You answered with
nothing of your own but with my words. Where I had seid Herero children, you said Nama
children, and so on with all the rest, When I used the term Herero children I meant: Now that
old Maharero has died, you and the whole Herera nation are orphans, for I have not yet heard
that o new chicf has been appointed. It is only now through your own letter, that I learn that
you are Capramn. Here at Hoornkrans, on the other hand, there are no children in thar sense,
for I am Captain and Father, and I am alive. So it is not children that speak 1o you, but I the
captain alone. So answer me dear Samuel, as Captain - for you claim to be the captain - answer
with your own plans for your own time.

What followed was a series of letters, in which Samuel consistently referred to himself as Captain,
and attempted tit for tat gans by signung off as follows: “You did not greet me, but I shall close
this letter with greetings.’ It is of interest to note how important titles were seen as being, by the
various protagonists. Thus Francois wrote to Hendrik Withooi lambasting him for having failed
to use the correct form of address. This is perhaps best reflected in a letter by Hendrik Witbooi to
the resident magistrate in Walvisbay, cleverly asking for iformation as to whar the correct form
of address would be for Francois.
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man is a being capable of change. He can gain insight all at once, and turn.®

’s insi i i itbooi had

nt of Samuel Maharero’s insight and conversion, whn:h_ Wit
.;-;g::‘.l?:: came in April of 1892. In the previous month Assa Riarua, a close
friend of Samuel Maharero, had travelled to Windhoek, where he had asked

for and received freedom of passage, from the Germans, for a errem
commando which was to attack Hendrik Witbooi at his base at Hoornkrans.

'+ In April of 1892, the Herero commando attacked Hoornkrans and, though

driven off by Witbooi, the commando was able to capture a substantial amount

of cattle. As the Herero withdrew, German settlers, under the command of

1g, of beer garden and bowling alley fame, organized a posse and artacked
II:—hl:d:;:gL;ming angd unsuspecting Herero. Two Herero were killed, a nuglb;:t
wounded and a substantial amount of their captured cattle driven o : :
Windhoek German colonial officials passionately hoped r.ha! the Herero had
not recognized Ludwig and that they were under the impression that th[eyd nd
been attacked by Witbooi forces.* However, the Herero were not I'onle_d. rti f::l
Samuel Maharero asked the German Kaiser to take action against his officials
for failing to take action against Ludwig:

In this year 1892, on the 8th of April I sent my soldiers [Oorlog] to Hendrik éWliheI:);l
at Hoornkrans. When my soldiers turned round, the Germans nI'\I-'m‘d oe ! sk ;
two of my men, even though they were innoccn_l.Thc man w}_w shot mlz. people ::I:
known man s name is Ludwich. There were witnesses, a whiteman w! :;e_nnr; :
Laas, and a Baster whose name 15 Samuel van Wik, \Vh_en T heard abour; Isf\n'?édc?o
1 wrote to the German Regering Asseser Kohler. Until today Kohler has fai
answer me.%"

Needless to say, following this incident, Samuel’s faith in Gcrmanl ﬂot;u:::.z
was a little shaky. Added to this, German demands, that Salmuc 1 ad%r i
compensate a trader who had been ra;}de({ij h);}h: Oruzue rival Nicodem
1kunua, merely served to enhance this doubt. ) ) )

Ka;:::l[y H’f‘tcr lhcyl-{trcro attack on Hoornkrans, chdnkWubom and:ls;mucl
Maharero entered into negotiations. The negotiations were a success. e :‘\;vo
men had come to realize that the German presence in their territory pa:,; ' a
greater threat to them than their mutual differences. The dangc_r posed to t Lrg
by the Germans was the loss of land to sertli_:rs, who were bemgbeni_:ou;atg;is
and supported by the German administration. It was on lllmc astl: o v
realization that Witbooi and Samuel Maharero buried their hatchers an

* Hendrik Wirtbooi in Hoornkrans, 31/7/91, to Samuel Maharero, in Witboo: Papers, p. 65.
* BAP, RKA 2110, Kohler in Windhoek, 12/4/91, 10 RKA. s )
v gAI; REA 203]’, Samuel Maharero in Okahandja, 19/3/93, to ‘Zijn Hoog Ed. Majestent de
Deutsland te Berlin®. JBG's translanon.
E;Egcﬁzuﬁ;m l'u]l;wmg a raid by Hendrik Witbooi, an Ovambanderu commando under the
d of Ni d K attacked and robbed the trader Duﬂcll}: Robertson, w‘rmr
" oy wi Nicodemus Kavikunua was one of
by travelling to the Cape Colony with traded cattle. r titg
g::lnnzlcr:"\d;;:e:ot rvals to the chieltanship of 0Iag,ah::;-n:l:mL who, hau::f% :‘:‘:,‘;dr;?d';\‘:(sr%i‘nt::
d ards to settle the O banderu of K u ©
::‘:clll-crs::s:\a;i::w?nplicc of Robert Lewss, complained to the (xcrmdan a;tho:n::s’f:::r‘:cl:
2 em 5
3 er R v Assessor, Kohler, wrote to Samuel Maharero, reported on Nico :
:::;;f%;gl:f:::;ﬁer Robertson, and demanded that, even though the attack had been carried
out by Nicodemus, the goods were to be returned to Robertson.
BAP, RKA 2081, Kohler in Windhoek, 30/11/91, 10 Samuel Maharero.
I!AI’: RKA 2081, Newspaper chipping taken from Cape Times 30/12/1891.
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concluded their peace agreement.” Referring to the Germans, Witbooi noted
in a letter to the British magistrate in Walvisbay:

They have given land which I won from the Herero to the Boers, having declared it

‘no-mans-land’. They have also given farms on my land to people to whom 1 had
not sold or given it,'90

At peace with one another, Hendrik Witbooi and Samuel Maharero now
cooperated with one another to prevent further settlement of the lands they

claimed as theirs. Thus in late 1892, Samuel Maharero wrote to Hendrik
Witbooi:

- - . I must go to the two rivers Nosob and Tsoaxoub. These WO MIVers are now
deserted because of the war, and there are those who want to seize our land from
us. So let us first settle the two rivers now that we are at peace. The actual concluding
and consolidatng is merely a formaliry.

The most urgent task for me just now 1s to ensure that all of our land 15 occupied
by our naton, and that we push this powerful and strong nation back from our
country with energy and force, lest we lose it by default . . .

I have also heard that the Boers are intending to trek into our land. So be good
and do not permit them passage through your land here, nor allow them to settle

there. Use all your powers to keep them out, and do not wait until they have overrun
you, ol

Samuel Maharero and Hendrik Witbooi's alliance seriously threatened to derail
Germany’s attempts at colonizing the territory. In the face of this united
opposition, the German military force in Windhoek, under the command of
Curt von Francois, undertook unprecedented action, On the morning of 12
April 1893 German troops, guided to their goal by crowing cocks, surrounded

and attacked Hoornkrans, In the aftermath of the artack, a badly shaken
Hendrik Withooi wrote:

-+ . I knew of no war which would shoot me,
and unsuspecting with my men, therefore the few guns we had were not carried 1n
slings on our bodies but everything had been put away mnto the chests, In this
condition the Hoafman [von Francois] shot us early in the morming as we sull lay
unsuspectingly asleep, I left with all my men, without offering them resistance, in
this way the Hoofman captured our place, and destroyed the place in the most terrible
manner, as | had never imagined from a white civilised nation, which knows the
laws and conduct of war, but he robbed me, and small children, which still lay at
their mother's breast, and bigger children and women and children he shot them
dead, and many corpses, which he had already shot dead, he placed in the grass

therefore I was completely at peace

“ H. von Francois, Nama und Damwara, p. 153, *Wie sehr die Boern von den Emgeborenen gehafit
wrden . .. geht daraus hervor, daff angesichis der gememsamen GefahrWithooi und Samuel Maharera
die Kriegsart begruben und auf Rehoboth Frieden schioscen.’

'™ Hendrik Witboo in Hoornkrans, 17/11/92, to Magistrate \n Walvisbay, in Withooi Papers, pp.
111-12. In an earlier letter to the magistrate Witbooi referred to the Berlin Conference:

I have heard that the British and the German Gy
who should make Protection treaties with the chiefs of which country in Africa; and thar you
the British let the Germans have this land. But you stipulated at the meeting that no chief
shall be forced. If a leader is willing, and understands what it means 10 accept Protection well
and good; burt if another is not willing to, and does not understand why he should need
Protection, he cannot be coerced. Thar was the agreement reached &t your meeting, which
was endorsed by all those present. (Withoot Papers, pp. 88-9.)
=t Samuel Maharero in Okahandja, 1/11/92, to Hendrik Witbooi, in Withooi Papers, p. 106,

overnments held a large meeting to decide
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houses which he lit and burnt the bodies to ash. Sadly and terrifyingly the Hoofman
-+ did his work 1in disgraceful war.192

IIn all, according to Witbooi’s own account, ten men and seventy-five women
* and children were killed. The remaining women were captured and taken to
' Windhoek.

' 'Windhoek, Windhoek is my death

¢ In March of 1893, Samuel Maharero, secure in the knowledge of Hendrik

Witbooi's support, wrote letters to the German Kai_s;r candcmnmg German
' colonialism. Five months later Samuel Maharero visited Wmdhoci,(, (he sesg

of the German colonial government, to seek [h_e self-same Kaiser’s aid an
. protection. This apparent paradox can be explained only when one bears 1n

E mi : ; d ally Hendrik
= mind what had happened to Samuel’s erstwhile opponent anc He
i Witbooi. With his attack, in April 1893, Francois had effectively eliminated

the importance of Hendrik Witbooi’s support for, and recognition of, Samlt:lcl
Maharero as a Herero chief. Inadvertently, he had also unlcasl?cd a gl}cmha
war upon his own forces, which would keep German troops tied up ordtbc
coming two vears. This meant the temporary removal qf the threats p?;se )lf
the Germans and HendrikWitbooi to the Herero chieftains opposed to § amuel
Maharero. Therefore, it was precisely when the threat of chdnkl Witboor's
raids had been neutralized, and southern Hereroland had once again ‘b::cforn:
attractive to Herero chieftains, that Samuel Maharcru came under th_n.:;t ll'iorln
the remaining Herero claimants to the Okahanfha tlhrox?c.'l‘hcly smzth Flr
chance and openly challenged Samuel Maharero's chlcf{amsh:p. Those c1:tr§
chiefs who, in the face of Witbooi attacks, had withdrawn northwnrds_ .md
eastwards, returned to assert their authority to [{ar}ds and people now claime
by Samuel Maharero. It was under these cogdmnns_ that SZII'I’I.LIEE ‘Mshsrem
eventually found himself forced to seek an a!h?nce with Imperial (J_erma_my. )

In March of 1893 Samuel Maharero, secure in the knowledge of his al!_mml::.
with Hendrik Witbooi, and alarmed at the prospect of Boer sc:ulcrs sertling 11'||
central Namibia, wrote to the German Kaiser in Berlin. In his letter, Samue
Maharero asserted his rights of sole governance to Herero]and, and comesteﬂ
the right of the Kaiser to meddle in the affairs of hls.cf)l.lnll'}’. Indeed, Samue
Maharero went so far as to call into doubt the validity of the Sdzm_zvenmﬁ
between Germany and the Herero. Referring to the occupation of Windhoe
by German troops, Samuel wrote:

her first heard was
F that day onwards I saw that the friendship which my Ifa:

n;(:?:icndshlg, bur was my father's death and my death . . . Windhoek, Windhoek is
my death.'9?

2 ELCIN, Politwsche Briefe ete, 1876-1893, Letter Hendrnik Withooi at *Hoornkrans den 18 Apnl
! i Wijk. JBG's translation. s
"fgﬂlj-\lt‘nm'(npl-ﬁgs 1“’.=Snamllfld ].'\{a;mn:m m Okahandja, 19/393, 1o “Hoog Ed Majestent de Keser
Dey Berlin'. JBG's translation. . : -
“nHD‘;:";:I::r::nl:m:rf:!:mi m:d' Damara, p. 153, refers to the acuviues of Grafl ]oach.lm ISpn'l.
who. Ion behalfl of the ‘Sicdlungs Gesellschaft', attempted to induce Boer and German settlers to
I Namibia, -
scu{l& i;:i:‘);‘:::s o!’:Lnel RIMG were also alarmed at the prospect of Boer sertlers, 'Fur die bs;aﬁnd;:rflr;
Bestedelung des nordlichen Teiles des Landes haben sich fast nur laqﬂandud{e B}:mé _gelnfzg;a. rlﬁ;l
kommen aber fur unsere Missionsarbert wohl kaum sehr eriwiinschi sein wurde . BRMG, s P- %
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Shortly thereafter Francois attacked Hendrik Witbooi at Hoornkrans, This did
not immediately affect Samuel Maharero’s position. As late as July 1893 Samuel
was still unchallenged by the rival Herero chiefs, In that month German forces,
who had been attacked by Witbooi commandos and had sought the assistance
of Herero in Otjimbingwe, were greeted with malicious laughter, The Herero
refused to come to the assistance of the Germans and told them that, as their
chief, Samuel Maharero, was now at peace with Hendrik Witbooi, they refused
to participate in the struggle against Witbooi, 14

The ineffectiveness of German attacks on Witbooi did not go unnoticed and
rumours abounded as to the defeat of German troops at the hands of Witbooi’s
forces. As the missionary chronicles for Omaruru reported:

The exploits of the Schutztruppe are followed closely and rumours of the defeat or
destruction of the Schutztruppe are cagerly belhieved and spread.1o®

The German troops were held to a stalemate by Witbhooi's commandos, and
this influenced the thinking of all observers, As both sides were ensnarled in a
protracted guerilla war, Herero opposed to Samuel Maharero seized their
chance and began to agitare against him,

By December of 1893 Samuel Mabharero, along with his closest supporters,
had taken to travelling to Windhoek, not only to drink tea, eat butter snaps,
and listen to Lieder being played by Francois’s wife, but also to solicit the
support of the Germans against his opponents in Okahandja.'* Seeking an
alliance against his fears, it was not Francois's newly laid-out garden that
impressed Samuel Maharero, but rather a cannon which, as Francois noted: ‘I
twice had loaded with blank cartridges and fired’, 107

The opposition to Samuel was headed by Riarua, whom the missionaries
referred to as ‘Samuel’s heathen uncle’, 108 Riarua, who had been recognized
by all but the Christians, the missionaries and the Germans as chief, challenged
Samuel Maharero’s claim to the posttion of chief of Okahandja. Riarua was
supported in his challenge by his stepson Micodemus Kavikunua, who was
another of Samuel’s Oruzuo rivals.'®® [n April of 1894, Riarua’s forces, in
alhance with those of Tjetjo, raided cattleposts belonging to Samuel
Maharero.!'® Samuel Maherero's ally, Hendrik Witbooi, and his potential ally
Germany were at each other’s throats and were unable to come to his aid. Added
to this, his mother’s brother Zemoundya Kandikirira, the man who, in terms
of his Eanda, was pledged to support Samuel Maharero, was sick and dying.

In June 1894, the barely suppressed opposition to Samuel Maharero’s
position finally broke out into open attack. Riarua’s forces drove Samuel

'™ BRMG, 1893, p. 358, It 1s interesting
to be under the authority of Samuel,
" ELCIN, RMG, Chroniken Omarury 1804,

'™ H. von Francois, Nama und Damara, PP. 179 and 188, BAP, RKA 2081, Kéhler in Windhoek,
24/12/93, 1o RKA, details a visit by Samuel Maharero 1o Windhoek, accompanied by 1. Andreas
Maharere, Samuel’s brother; 2. Zemounda Kandilarira, Samuel’s mother's brother; 3. Johannes
Mupcana; 4. Johannes Ngoimuo; 5, Barnabas Kamrongo; 6. Silas Kamuvaru (3-6 are cousins of
Samuel); 7. Josaphat Kamatoto; 8. Wilhelm Kaumunika; 9, Gotthard Kambepahua (7-9 are
nephews of Samuel) 10. Chrisnan Mupurua, cousin of Johannes Mupurua and 11. Assa Riarua,
cousin of Samuel Maharero,

" BAP, RKA 2081, C. von Francois in Windhoek, 26/12/94, to foreign affairs.

" BRMG, 1894, p. 103,

'™ BAP, RKA 2081, C. von Francos in Windhoek, 26/12/93, 1o RKA.

" NNAW, ZBU 2027, W I d 12 Tietjo.

g 1o note that at this stage Ommbingwe considered 1rself

. The Herero Succession Dispute 57

o and his followers out of Okahandja.'"* It was to the power that comes
g::(l::;;rthe barrel of a German cannon that Samuel Maharero now auachcld
his destiny. Like Noah stranded on Mount Ararat, Sarmllc] Maharero and his
followers were ensconced on a hilitop at Osona, twenty kilometres to the south
of Okahandja. From this perch Samuel Maharulm, in appealing for help,
released neither raven nor dove to collect an olive twig; rather, Samuc[ Maherero
chose confrontation by calling on the Germans to come in forr.:c,“l— )

The newly arrived Landeshauptmann, Theodor Leutwein, was dcl}gl}f.ed with
Samuel Maharero's request.!?Well aware of the fact that, as he putit, ‘in terms
of Herero customs’, Nicodemus Kavikunua had been t_he nghtfull heir to
Maharero, Leutwein noted with, what can only be descrlbed_ as belng great
candour, ‘. . . it is obviously more convenient for us to deal w1th_a polmc‘a]‘!]);
divided [zerrissenen] Herero nation, than with a cl?sed and unified one’. :
Anxious to seize the initiative, Leutwein promised Samuel Maharero that he
would come to his aid: ‘Such a beneficial opportunity, at influencing Herero

ffairs, was not soon again to be expected.’'t5 )

¢ gtrindcd on an isolagted hilltop, surrounded by a clean ﬁelld of fire and with
the Imperial German flag fluttering above them, Samuel’s 300_followcrs,
huddled within a densely packed palisade of thorn bushes, and waited for the
German cavalry to arrive.!'*When the German troops approached Osona they
were impressed by the sight of the Imperial Gcrlm:_m flag fluttering in the wind
above Samuel’s laager and by the sound of Christian hymns that wafted down
on the breeze to meet them. One can well imagine that their impression was
further improved when they were met by Samuel’s veld-‘cornet and_cor‘nn‘!andcr
in chief, Assa Riarua, who, dressed in a uniform of [be_(_-_erman Kaiser's French
Guard regiment, told them that Samuel would be joining them as soon as he
had finished conducting a field church service.!”

Leutwein’s forces set up camp next to Samuel’s laager, a:md a message was
sent to Riarua in Okahandja ordering him to come to Leu(wem’s_camp to parley.
Riarua sent a message that on the grounds of sickness he was :r}drsposed_and
was thus unable to attend. Hereupon Leutwein ordered his forces into
Okahandja. Riding eight abreast the German troops cantered into Okahgnf‘.l:a‘
Whilst the majority of the troops rode to the north-eastern, non-Christian,
section of town, where Riarua's house was to be found, a cannon was
unlimbered in front of missionary Viehe’s house in the south-western, Christian,
section of town. At Riarua’s house the German troops were met by forty to
fifty men, about half of whom were armed with guns, Iwho |nfurrm:d_ them that
Riarua was not present. After searching in vain for Riarua, Leutwein ord_ered
Lt Troost to demonstrate the cannon’s fire-power. Shortly thereafter Riarua

" BAP, RKA 2100 & NNAW, ZBU 2027,

1 }s."N;\W, ZBU 2027, Samuel Maharero at Osona, 20/6/94, 1o Leutwein. : fa
" Major Theodor L arnved in Namibia in I b lFs:n ’,“. take over as Lan f’s;
hauptmann from von Francois, In 1898 he became Governor ufGS_\th. Prior to his sppnl':'lran
in Namibia he had been a lecturer ar the military staff college in Freiburg, an aspect of his past
that comes 1o the fore in his correspondence. S Wik

"'+ BAP, RKA 2100, Leutwein in Windhock, 1 , to " ,
"3 Theodor I.c:ulw:n, Eif Jahre Gouverneur i Deutsch-Sudwestafrika (Berlin 1906) p. 60}‘136 1
translation. See also, NN.KW, ZBU 2027, Leutwein in Windhoek, 17/6/94, to Samuc_i Mal urrn::i
Tr NNAW, ZBU 2027, Leutwein in Windhoek, 24/6/94, 1o Samuel Maharero, Leutwein promise
to come to Samuel’s assistance with thirty men and a cannon,

7T BAF, REA 2100, Von Lindequist in Windhoek, 24/7/94, to RKA.
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sent a messenger, and later came in person, to indicate his willingness to
negotiate., '8

Having taken Okahandja, Leutwein was joined by Samuel Maharero who,
at the head of eighty mounred soldiers, set up camp next to the German
encampment in Okahandja. As one of the Germans noted nostalgically: ‘For
the first time German soldiers and Hereros camped rogether as allies.'11

On the following day negotiations started. In the face of German fire-power
Riarua found himself having to give up all of his rightful inheritance to the
usurper Samuel Maharero. On the basis of his being the eldest patrilineal heir,
Samuel Maharero had been able to convince the Germans as to the validity of
his claims, to his father’s throne and inheritance, The Germans whom Samuel
Maharero had been unable 1o convince, such as Theodor Leutwein, chose 1o
ignore the implications of this in the interests of the further extension of
German power. Added to this, Samuel’s claims, as the eldest son, a position
accepted in German law, did provide the legal excuse Leurwein sought for
further German intervention. Through his use of the Germans Samuel

Oruzuo and Eanda inheritance. Effectively Samuel was able to step beyond
the bounds of Herero society, yet directly influence those who continued to be
confined within it, Riarua found himself humiliated. His nephew, backed up
by German firepower, forced him to rescind all his claims to Maharero’s
inheritance. Samuel Maharero had found the power to force Riarua to agree
to the following points:

1. All the decisions regarding Maharero’s inheritance were to be left to
Samuel Maharero.

2. Riarua was prohibited from using his status in Herero society in such a
way that could bring Samuel Maharero into discredir.

3. The cartleposts which had been in the possession of Kamaherero and
which after his death had passed to Riarua and his supporters were to be
transferred to Samuel Maharero,

4. The ammunition which had been in the possession of Kamaherero was to
be transferred to the possession of Samuel Maharero, who transferred it
to the care of the military station which [in exchange for German
involvement] was to be established, although it would temporarily be
stored in the house of traders Wecke & Voigts, 120

In a single swoop Samuel Maharero had completely undermined the power of
his opponents, ensured for himself substantial wealth and acquired the power
with which to maintain his new status as chief of the Herero. Herero norms
regarding the inheritance and succession of chiefs were overturned.

Faced with the incredible show of force it is not surprising that Riarua was
prepared to negotiate.'® What does ar first appear surprising is thar Riarua
was prepared to accept the incredibly harsh settlement drawn up by Samuel

'1* BAP, RKA 2100, Von Lindequist in Windhoek, 2417194, 1o RKA,

" BAP, RKA 2100,

' Leutwemn, Elf Fahre, P. 23. IBG's translation.

'#! Referring to the cannon used Leutwein noted:
Vor diesem hatten die E; geb eine 1 f ge Angst, wak sig hy 1ge das
Feuer ganzer Batterien aushalten, Der Mensch Lewohnt sich eben an alles, (Elf Fahre, p. 23)

Maharero and Leutwein. For in effect the settlement totally disempowered
Riarua, and reduced his position to that of a man at the mercy of Samuel
Maharero. There is only one possible explanant10r_1 foIr Rmrua_s w_ill_mgness to
negotiate. When Riarua agreed to negotiate, qu md1c_alcd his wxllmgncss;o
abide by stringent and humiliating conditions laid down, he had the

© intimidating precedent of the recently executed Andreas Lambert firmly in

ind. Less than four months previously, in a manner uncannily mmllar_ to
ﬂ:‘:wt’icn’s current raid on Okahandja, German_ troops had occupied
Naosonobis, the main Khauas Khoi settlement. Here, in a single day, [_.eutwcﬁn
had charged, tried, convicted and executed Andreas Lzrl_'nh:rk, the chief of the
Khauas Khoi, and Lambert had been a firm ally of Nicodemus Kavikunua,

i 's stepson. 32
ng‘:\in thapt' Samuel Maharero now owed his position to the power of German
cannons, it was only to be expected that Leutwein cxactcd‘a heavy price f_rom
him. In exchange for German assistance, and continued ‘(xurman protection,
Samuel Maharero agreed to the estah]ishmex_’u of a German garrison in
Okahandja. As Leurwein noted: ‘Hereby the capna],of Hereroland was place_d
truly within the power sphere of the protectorate.’'?® Added to this, and 12
keeping with his new position as chief of the Heren_:, Samuel Mahlarcro ngreg
to refund cattle which his erstwhile opponent, Nicodemus Kavikunua, who
had now become his subject, had taken from traders in 1891. Fl_Jrrh_crmore
Samuel Maharero committed himself to future ralks on the determination of a
definite southern boundary to Hereroland, and the delimitation of further land

German sertlers, '

i-m—Lut.)king back at the Herero succession dispgtu ot_‘ 1890-94, we can see that
initially Samuel Maharero had no legitimate claims, in terms _nf Herero culturfii,
to his father’s inheritance or power. [t was only in terms of |r_1her|tance base .
upon primogeniture, a concept alien to Herero society at the time, that S:mue
Maharero could claim rights to any of his father’s mhemanlcc, S‘amucl Ma _areﬂ;
was able to capitalize upon missionary and German bel_xctjs in the_ validity o
primogeniture in terms of inheritance, and gransfﬂrm this into active s:p.uport
for his position. As the eldest patrilineal heir of MahareroT}amuaha,l e wa?
able to convince the missionaries and the German forf:c:? as to the vah\dxry o
his claims to his father’s inheritance and position. The missionaries and German
forces in the territory sought to support Samulel Maharero for lh_cu- own cnis,
but they legitimized their support on the basis of w'hat Ilh:y believed w:si the
only correct form of inheritance. Samuel Maharero's skill lay in blcmg_s e t‘cj}
convert what was initially mere recognition on the part of the missionaries anl
Germans into active support for his position as_hen- o hls_father. .HF was able
to transform his position from that of a recogmzcdl minority Christian ]cadtir
in Okahandja, to that of chief of Okahandja. I}[mnally Sm:nuel _Maharehrp s
opponents could choose to ignore him, for cfl‘ecu\lrcly ht_: had inherited not! mgl
but the support of a minor section of Okahandja society and posed no rea

= morning of 17 March 1893 Leurwein, T d by Sct uppe,

au x(::ljur;r:::and ] carfnon, galloped into Naosonobis, which was the settlement of Andreas Lf:h::c(;
chief of the Khauas Khoi. Leutwein established his camp in the centre of the s:t_llcmcl;‘: 8 Ednard
two days had Andreas Lambert executed for murder and theft, and replaced by his brother Edu:
Lambert as chief of the Khauas Khot. Leutwein, £If Jahre, pp. 23-7.

12 Leutwem, Elf Jakre, p. 61, JBG’s translanon.

s BAP, RKA 2100,




60

Herero Heroes

threat to any of his opponents. Riarua had inherited the bulk of Maharero
T;amuah:_a's inheritance and evidently expected to govern the Okahandja
Herero. Riarua d_id not anticipate that German recognition and presence would
bcf:(_)mc of crucial importance, and he underestimated Samuel Maharero’s
ability to come to an arrangement with Hendrik Witbooi. The German forces
present in the territory had similarly not expected Samuel Maharero to come
to an arrangement with Hendrik Witbooi. Once Hendrik Witbooi had been
atrac]&ed at Hoornkrans, it became clear to the Herero and Witboois alike that
the (:‘erman forces were a force to be reckoned with. Too late Riarua realized
that .Samuc]l Maharero’s solicitation of German support could be of crucial
importance. Thus while German forces were ensnarled in a protracted guerilla
war with Wl_(buai forces, Riarua and his allies sought to eliminate the threat
posed to their position by Samuel Maharero. Samuel Maharero was driven out
of Ok_ah:md]a and appeared ready to make his last stand. But, through the
effecuyre use of his skills, as a Christian well-versed in missionary thought and
rhetoric, and as a skilled diplomat who had long associated with the Germans

Samuel Mnharcro was able to convince the German forces in the territory :(;
come down in support of his position. Samuel Maharero was not able to
convince all the Germans that Riarua had cheated him of his inheritance, but
it was a_ihc that Leutwein was prepared to accept in the interests of the further
extension of German power in the territory. -

3

Samuel Maharero as Paramount Chief
1894-6

Introduction

Between 1894 and 1896 Samuel Maharero, at the expense of other Herero
chiefs, and through the skilful utilization of the threat of German fire-power,
extended the power and extent of his initially tenuous position, as chief of
Okahandja, to that of paramount chief of all of Hereroland. This extension of
power came at a price, for which Samuel Maharero paid with the land, labour
and cartle of his subjects. As there was but a finite amount of these goods, this
policy held within it the seeds of its own destruction. As supplies of available
cattle, labour and land, with which Samuel Maharero purchased German
support, ran low, the outbreak of the Ovambanderu Khauas Khoi war only
temporarily alleviated German settler demand by effectively liberating
Mbanderu cattle, labour and land for resale by Samuel Maharero and his allies.

The interdependence of the Germans and Samuel Maharero is an aspect of
Namibian history that has been referred to before by historians, most notably
Helmur Bley, who has seen this as an integral part of what he termed ‘Leutwein’s
Political System’.! Bley extensively analysed the system of contrel and
governance which the German governor Theodor Leutwein set up in an attempt
to successfully colonize Namibia. Bley argued that it was when this system,
which was largely based on the power of Leutwein’s personality, collapsed that
the Hercro-German war broke out. A drawback to such an analysis of this
period of Namibian history is that it presents Theodor Leutwein as the prime
initiator of action. The Herero, and the Nama, are seen as being acted upon
and as participants in a set and plot devised by Theodor Leutwein. Though it
is true that Theodor Leutwein was a consummate politician, it is equally true
that individual Herero leaders also had good reasons for participating in
alliances and treaty-building with German colonial officials. Thus the discussion
of this interdependence, as it is presented here, differs from previous handlings
of the topic in that it concentrates on attempting to analyse Herero motivations
for wishing to participate in this relationship.

' Bley, South-West Africa, pp. 3-70.
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Manasse Tjisiseta and the Omaruru polity

l":uillow:ng the death of Maharero Tjamuaha of Okahand
T nsiseta of Omaruru was the most powerful Herero chief in south-western
Africa. Even prior to the death of Maharero, Manasse and his followin in
Omaruru_ had acquired and retained a great degree of autonomy vjs—:qu
Okahandja, and extended the territories under their control. Dnrmg':hc ]870;
()}mu_ruru had grown as a settlement catering for the trade passing frorr-:
Walvisbay northwards to Ovamboland. By 1880 Omaruru had become th
second largest settiement in Hereroland and its leadership followed a pol iticatl-
[c:::;;;}::l:‘:g;\m% largely independent of that of Maharero and his councillors
Indlca;lvc of Omaruru’s independence and unique regional interests were
1ts extensive dealings with the Swartbooi Oorlam polity centred on Fran;;f;}ntcin
to the north of Omaruru. Throughout the 1870s and 1880s the Swarthoois
and the Herero of Omaruru were involved 1n a struggle for control ;fthc tr: d‘?
routes that led northwards from Omarury through to the south- e

Ja m 1890, Manasse

western
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Ovambo kingdoms and south-western Angola.? A direct result of the polity's
incessant skirmishing with Swartbooi commandos and Hendrik Witbooi’s
raiding commandos was that Manasse's forces were of necessity well-armed
and well-organized. This was possible only through the maintenance of well-
established trading links with the Cape Colony. The success of these links is
indicated by the fact that at one stage Manasse’s forces even had access to a
cannon.’ The eventual success of Manasse’s forces vis-a-vis the Swartboois was
due to his polity’s ability to maintain what was in effect a standing army.* Apart
from good trading links, for arms and ammunition, this implied good discipline
and, as all armies march on their stomachs, a sufficient food surplus with which
to feed the soldiers operating out of Omaruru. On this basis, Manasse Tjisiseta
and his followers were able to maintain a polity independent of Maharero
Tijamuaha and his councillors in Okahandja. In the late 1880s, following the
arrival of German colonial forces in central Namibia, Manasse Tjisiseta and
his councillors in Omaruru sought to maintain their political independence.
In 1888 Maharero Tjamuaha of Okahandja annulled his treaty with Imperial
Germany, expelled Dr Goring and his assistants, and signed a new treaty with
the English trader Robert Lewis, Shortly thereafter Lewis travelled to Omaruru
where he tried to persuade Manasse to agree to sign a similar treaty. Manasse
Tiisiseta politely refused to sign and dismissed Lewis saying, “Treaties can only
be concluded between rulers, people and people, but not berween a people
and a trader.” When Lewis persisted and urged Manasse to follow Maharero’s
example, Manasse let it be known that ‘he had no intention of becoming the
servant of Lewis and that he would prefer to remain chief in his own area’.’
For the German colonial authorities, Manasse's rebuttal of Lewis created
the impression, eagerly emphasized by missionaries of the Rhenish missionary
society who sorely wanted increased German involvement in the territory, that

* Following their expulsion from Rehoboth,in 1863, the Swartboms had moved into north-western
Mamiiwa around the settlement of Fransfontemn. From this base the Swartbooms had developed a
huntng and raiding cconomy that stretched northwards mio southern Angola. During the late
18705 trekboers had begun moving into the areas directly to the cast of Fransfontem and had
established the republic of ‘Upingtomia’, The Trekboers and the Swartboos, shanng a similar
economy, came nto conflict with one another. Manasse had allied himsell with the Trekboers
and up until 1888 Swartboor commandos and Herero commandos had clashed with one another.
The establishment of friendly relanons with the Swartboois, in 1888, led 1o the strengtheming of
trading and hunung links with areas to the north of the Kunene niver in southern Angola. Up to
this day one of the drifis on the Kunene carries the name Swartbooi's dnift.

For an introduction to the long and convoluted history of interactiion between the Zerauas
and the Swartboms, and for more nformanon on the Swartboois in general see, The Commessions
of W C. Palgrave Specral Emusary to South West Africa 1876~ 1885, edited and introduced by E.L.P.
Stals, Second Senes No. 21, Van Riebeeck Socicty (Cape Town 1991},

' ELCIN, V. Chromken, Omaruru 1888,

*Without a doubt refernng to Manasse Thsiscta’s forces as a standing army 15 asking for trouble
Without wishing to conjure visions of massed marching by uniformly uniformed men, 1t 15 true
thar Manasse could rely on a group of men who were permanently present as soldiers. Throughout
the pertod under discussion Manasse could rely on and had access to the military might of a group
of men who were stanoned in and around Omaruru for the scle purpose of supplying Omaruru
with malitary force. Though there 1s as yet no direct proof of Manasse maintaining a standing
army, there 1s circumstannial evidence in the maintenance of extensive tracts of agricultural lands,
the reference by Manasse's signposts to soldiers, and the infamous Christie case, which 1s discussed
further in this chapter. Clearly the milnary aspects of Omaruru history need to be further
researched.

SELCIN, V. Chroniken, Omaruru | 888, Lew:s's further demand that he be recognized as being
in charge of the whites in Omarury was also turned down.
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Manasse and his counaillors were prepared to accept German protectorate
status On the basis of these 1ll-informed reports Curt von Francos visited
Omaruru tn 1889 & Not surprisingly Francois's overtures were turned down
and, apart from a short visit by Francois, whilst on an ntelligence mission 1n
1891, Manasse Tpsiseta and his councillors 1n Omaruru were left well alone
to do as they felt best” much to the chagrin of the Rhenish missionaries who
were left to lament the ‘abandonment’ of Omaruru by Germany *

The pillars of independence

The pillars of independence upon which Manasse Tyisiseta and his polity 1in
Omaruru based their sovereignty were fourfold Broadly speaking they consisted
of taxation, agricultural production, labour export and land allocation Through
these activities and with the montes generated thereby, arms were bought,
soldiers fed and trade routes maintained In short these independent sources
of wealth ensured that Manasse Tyisiseta and his polity were able to attain and
maintain a measure of independence vis-a-vis Okahandja It was an
independence which the polity struggled to maintain as Imperial Germany
sought to colonize Hereroland

One of the prime pillars upon which Omaruru’s mdependence was based
was the polity’s export of indentured labour to the Cape Colony in exchange
for trade goods and arms It was a business which, parucularly during periods
of ecological crisis, ensured a steady income Building upon contacrs
established during the missions of W C Palgrave, the special ermussary of the
Cape Colony to Damaraland, Manasse Tpsisera and his councillors supervised
the export of Berg Damara labour via Walvisbay to the labour-hungry farms of
the western Cape *

Throughout the second half of the mineteenth century, people described as
Berg Damara were exported to the Cape Colony and elsewhere In the early
1860s Johan van Reenen, whose ancestors had been slave traders in Namubia,
penuoned the Cape administration recommending the introducuon of Damara
labour into the Colony 10 Following the first three commussions of WC
Palgrave, the Cape colonial government ordered Palgrave to

direct [his] attention towards obtamning a supply of labour for the Coelony by
mducing Berg Damaras to emugrate to the Colony for the purpose of entering into
contracts of service with the Government or with private indwiduals or companies !

Mr James Murray, a former gaoler at Durban Village, in the Cape Colony, was

* BAP, RKA 2107, C von Francoss in Usakos 28/7/89 1o RKA

" BAP, RKA 2109, H von Francois, 6/1/91, to RKA

* ELCIN,V Chroniken, Omarury 1894

* Berg Damara as a separate ethmaty came 1nto being in the mineteenth century and came to
melude Nama/Dama speaking people who were as dark-skanned as the majority of the Herero
but were not in possession of cattle, but lived as hortculturalists and hunter gatherers For a
detailed overview on the development of Damara ethmicity, see ] B Gewald On being Damara
between 1893 and 1993 s presented at the Khowsan studies conference, Tutzing 11 14 July 1994,
forthcoming in Quellen zur Khorsan Forschung/Research wn Khowsan Studies (Cologne 1998)

' Cape Archives Depot (CAD), Colomal Office (CO) 4127 Memorial Jh Van Renen
Recommending Introducnion of Negroes from Damaraland 1862

" Seals, Commmsstons Palgrave, p xxvn
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L Mah

Photo 3 1 (From left to right) L or Michael Tnsiseta,
Kletnschmdi, Manasse Tnsiseta, Samuel Maharero, Omaruru 1895
Source Namibian National Archives Windhoek

appointed as labour agent, ‘for collecting Berg Damaras’, and sent to Walvisbay
70 12
= i:fn]eixately following the arrnival of Murray in Walvisbay, a steady stream
of indenrured labour began flowing towards Cape Town In two trips, u‘!
February and May 1880, the schooner Lows Alfred, employed by the Cape
colomial government, shipped at least seventy-three indentured iabuulrers tg
Cape Town '* It 1s clear that the prolonged drought, which not only :mmk
the availability of weldkos but also reduced pasturage for Berg Damara Sto;
and thus also the possibility of Berg Damara herding for others, as wclls}s the
continuing dispossession of Berg Damara territory by both Herero and.. ahm:
encroachment, led to the creation of an ever-growing number of impoverishe
people The reports, almost without exception, refer to the Berg Izamara as
being ‘all 1n a most deplorable condition’ 4 [ndICfmve of Lht:lr‘ csp'lc‘mtc
position, Berg Damaras came to Palgrave’s camp to ‘be taken to Cape o\-;ln
[and] to know the conditions on which Berg Damaras are taken to the
o he Nauve Affairs
In Cape Town the Berg Damara were placed into the Nan i
Department’s ‘Natve Depot’ on New Market Street, which had previously d:en
used to house the captured ‘prize slaves’, after which they were distributed as

“lmd ,p 308
' CAD, NA 1138, Palgrave 14/2/81 & 3/5/81
' CAD, NA 1138, Palgrave, 20/3/80
" CAD, NA 1138, Palgrave, 25/3/80
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gbourm amongst the farmers of the wester
mzrﬂ:z ::::gortgd lri::he Cape Colony were, given the population densities ar
4 » extensive. For a wht]_e, 1.3“8 Damaras even established cohesive exile
communities. The Rhenish missionary Kronlein, who had previously work d
in I\_ama!and and thus spoke Nama Dama, reported that he had a con E ‘o
of eighty to ninety Berg Damaras at Wynberg.'7 e

How were the Berg Damara induced to emi
on b:_ehall'of Mr Murray, known only as Narib,
sentinto the interior to ind

n Cape.!* The number of Berg

grate? Intermediaries operating
Schoonraad and Pampoen, were
uce Berg Damaras to come to CapeTown.'® Traders
¥ were also urged to participate in the collection of
morandum to the Cape Colony’s Public Works
s special emissary, Palgrave, wrote:
The establishment 1n Damaraland for
depot at Walwich Bay for their recepri
at Rehoboth for collectung and forwarding to the coast.

All traders are invited to collect Berg Damaras and those who have done s0 have

been paid sums varying f i
g from five to ten shillings for each Berg D
female, old enough to be educated To a master.!? SRR

Department the Colony’

the collection of Berg Damaras consists of a
on, and agents, one at Otpmbingwe and one

The traders were undoubtedly succesful recruiters; indeed as Palgrave noted:

Out of the 51 adults T am now sendin
agent; all having erther come here the
he had no communication.

£ up not one has been obtamed by the Labour
mselves, or been brought by traders with whom

Be that as it may, the collection of

Berg Damaras was es 1
process of capture. Thus journal ent ik Sk

ries read as follows: ‘Samuel Gertze has
F&(rn:.{lj::f Damarasdy;t, burons sending out some of his people.’*! Or elsewhere
] Yy returned from Otjimbingwe with one wa ingi :
ggon, bringing 18 Ber
22?325;;;:??&?9 but t}l:c[rest made off. Schaunraad’is fallo\fing witﬁ
A 1s was the fact that the traders were not i
to the niceties of Cape colonial law, i S o
t £ nic g > particularly as regarded arms trade to the
:jr;:::;cti’_rr.lg ?part froinéups_gfnce and bags of maize meal, Rhenish missionaries,
n central Namibia at the time, reported that ‘Be 2 )
rgdamra’ were al
cx(i‘hlanged for waggonloads of arms and ammunition. 0
\Ia;«:'sb":lear that arms and ammunition, extremely lucrative goods in the central
h 1bian context of the time, were a grear draw card for the Herero chiefs

'* CAD, PWD 2/70, N,

Pobiie iy ative Depot Office, Cape Town, 6/4/81

s 1o the Assistani commissioner

Sir I have the honour 1o report the death in Depot

man named ‘Zaligen’ he arrived ill from D
: amaraland s
new somerset hospital, from whence he returned al o o e o the

; r T his own d .., i
i B‘:{ his death was consumption, G.H, Stevens Contracting an;cpc::a l‘ml.‘:‘rl‘c e
5 (‘A% ]?\C;l[gﬁg, (Ecn_:n] Consul in Cape Town, 7/4/91, to RKA. 2
¥ , y d. M 5 A z % Y

» CAD, PWD 200 s e in Walvisbay, 5/1/81, to PWD,
If{::ﬁg; i 22;”5,11 mg;;v%- emorandum on the Collection of Berg Damaras in the ticinity of
1 s PWD 2/70, Resident Magust M ¢
;, AR Nr\ ot ;’u]gravr. Zwafsr;_mc usgrave in Walvisbay, 5/1/81, to PWD,
2: CAD, NA 1138, Palgrave, 3/5/1880.

See parucularly CAD, NA 291, Resident Ma
“Veremigte Evangelische Missions Archiv,
24/6/82 and 21/9/82, to Wuppertal.

yesterday morning of one Berg Damara

gistrate in Walvishay, 6/1/83, to NA,
Wuppertal, (VEMA) 1.594, Brincker in Otimbingwe,
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. Manasse’s predecessor, Tiaherani, in monopolizing control over the export of

Berg Damara labour from the interior of the country, had led mounted Herero
commandos in attacks on labour recruiters operating independently of his
control. In January of 1883, onc such commando led by Tjaherani attacked,
dispersed, captured and killed a number of Berg Damara, who had been
gathered together into holding camps, by Mr H, Rydin, an agent of the Ohlsen
company operating out of Cape Town.?* From 1884 onwards the Berg Damara
being offered for export to the Cape were being drawn exclusively from areas
that fell under the control of Manasse Tjisiseta.®®

Throughout the 1880s, as the mines of Kimberley (and after 1884 the mines
of the Witwatersrand) consumed all available labour, farms in the western Cape
were understandably short of labour. The Public Works Department of the Cape
Colony sought ways to alleviate this labour shortage and attempted to increase
the import of labour from central Namibia.?” The resident magistrate in
Walvisbay, John Cleverley, noted that substantial amounts of money would be
necessary if he were to induce the Herero not to ‘put a stop to the efflux of
their Helots’.2® Furthermore Cleveriey recommended that labour agents,
equipped with waggons, be sent into the interior and that they be paid [1 per
head of recruited labour.?® Cleverley’s request was granted when in 1891, a
full seven years after the official establishment of the German protectorate of
South West Africa, the department of Native Affairs of the Cape Colony
provided the Public Works Department with £300, ‘for the transport and
maintenance of Damara Labourers from Walfish Bay’.»

In 1891, whilst on an intelligence-gathering mission, Hugo von Francois
reported that the British magistrate at Walvisbay had travelled to the settlement
of Okombahe to recruit labour for the Cape.** It is highly unlikely that the
magistrate of Walvisbay ever visited Okombahe. More probable is that labour
agents, working for the firm of Messrs Webster & Co., had been to Okombahe *?
Bur, be that as it may, it is clear that, even following the arrival of German
troops in central Namibia, Manasse maintained strong links with traders
operating out of the Cape Colony and that one of Manasse’s prime sources of
income was the export of Berg Damara labour.

Another pillar upon which Omaruru’s independence was based was the
polity’s ability to feed itself and produce a surplus with which to feed its
standing army. This food surplus did not consist solely of dairy products and
collected veld foods, but also consisted in large part of cultivated grains and

3 CAD, NA 291 Letters recerved from Damaraland and Walfish Bay, Resident Magistrate in Walwich
Bay, 6/1/83, to Native Affairs. Interestingly Ohlsson, who had worked 1n Namibia as one of
Enckl ’s hunters, blished a brewery in Cape Town and the rights 1o hus name for commercaial
beer were bought up by South African Brewernies in 1982, Ohlsson is now sold as a light beer in
South Africa.

= CAD, NA 293, Mamfest of the Nansifus for 21/11/1890 lists all the Berg Damara being exported
as having come from Omaruru,

7 CAD, PWD 2/8/20 Awded Immigration. Introductson of Natives from Damaraland and St Helena,
# CAD, NA 293 Letters recerved from Damaraland and Walfish Bay, Resident Magistrate in Walfish
Bay, 20/10/90, to the Under Secretary for Native Affairs Cape Town.

# CAD, NA 293, Resident Magistrate in Walvisbay, 20/11/90, to NA.

» CAD, PWD 2/8/20, Office of the Sccretary for Native Affairs Cape Town, 8/7/91,

" BAP, RKA 2080, H. von Francois in Otpmbingwe, 15/5/91, to RKA.Von Francos also reported
that papers bearing the seals of the Cape Colony and the magistrate of Walvisbay had been found
in Omaruru,

2This p had been 1

ded by Cleverley to the Cape colonial authorities.

ot Cmm— _—
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vegetables. Omaruru was initially settled by Zeraua in 1868 precisely because
it was one of the few areas in central Hereroland where agricultural production
was possible. Various crops were grown in and around Omaruru, These included
tobacco and calabashes, both of which featured prominently in inter-regional
trade, as well as wheat, sorghum, millet, beans, onions and other foodstuffs,
The agricultural potential of the Omaruru polity was further enhanced by the
inclusion of the settlement of Okombahe within its sphere of influence in 1873,

The settlement of Okombahe was another of those few in central Namibia
that could support a limited degree of horticulture. At the time of German
colonization, it was occupied by both Herero pastoralists and Berg Damara
horticulturalists, under the ad istration of Ma ’s cousin, Daniel Kariko.
Throughout the 1870s and early 1880s, as Herero pastoralists expanded their
control over central Namibia, Berg Damara refugees, robbed of their pasturage,
trekked to Okombahe and attempted to sertle there.¥ Through Daniel Kariko,
Manasse sought to maintain strict control over the Berg Damaras settled in
Okombahe.* By his own account Manasse received a yearly tribute in
agricultural produce to the value of no less than 1200 marks from the
settlement’s Berg Damara inhabitants. Added to this, Okombahe not only
supplied Manasse’s polity with agricultural produce, it also provided the polity
with a population of labour, which, if the need arose, could be exported to the
Cape in exchange for trade goods and arms.

A further source of income and basis for Manasse’s independence was his
polity’s ability to levy tax on his subjects and on those visiting and make using
of its resources.’ Omarury straddled the lucrative trade routes that led from
Walvisbay northwards to the Ovambo kingdoms. This overland trade had 1o
pass through Omaruru and provided Manasse with an Opportunity to generate
capital.* Travellers entering Omaruru were greeted by the following printed
notice, written in English and Durch:

Notice is hereby given, that any person or persons passing this beacon, waggons,
carts, cattle or horses, without permission of my soldiers, will be fined the sum of
L5 sterling. Chief Manasseh,

" Effectively, since the carly 1860s, the newly blished Herero chiefiaincie along with their
allies, clients, and those whom they had rolerated, had ex panded into the central and north-western
regions of Hereroland ar the expense of less strongly organised groups, such as the Damara. In
the 1870s the Swartboois, former Herero clients living to the north of Omaruru, came into conflict
with Boers from the newly established republic of ‘Upingtonia® who were allied to Manasse, As
A conscquence, until 1888 there were numerous occasions on which Swartbooi and Herero
commandos loyal to Manasse clashed with one another. A direct result of this unsettled nature of
warfare was that Berg Damara, not immediately allicd to one of the warnng factions, were forced
to flee.

HELCIN, V. Chroniken, Omaruru 1887. Thus, for instance, when in 1887 there was imminent
threat of Swartbooi attack, Manasse ordered the Berg Damaras to abandon Okombahe and 1o
move closer 1o Omaruru. The relationship between the Swartboois and the Herero of Omaruru
is something that is badly in need of Turther research. The conflict berween the two dealr with
trade and raids to the north into southern Angola, and could have dealt with issues relating to the
control of exportable labour,

" BAP, RKA 2109, C. von Francois in Oyimbingwe, 5091, 1o RKA,

** From the 18705 onwards Omaruru became the most important trading centre in Namibia. By
the 1880s transactions conducted in and around Omaruru were highly monetarized, and evidence

doing this was by taxing rraders passing th h the settl and d ding payment in cash,
" BAP, RKA 1482, Berichte des Mr Matthew Rogers an die South West Africa Company. 1892- 1893,
According to the missionaries the waggon tax was d by M

fall

ing the
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1 Manasse’s soldiers collected a tax of 10 shillings per waggon in exchange for

water and grazing rights. Failure to pay tax led to a fine of £5 and the possible

' confiscation of waggon and goods.*® The tax collected undoubtedly went some

1 ’s soldiers, though, as with most
way towards paying for the upkeep of Manasse's so s :
mIZiers in chpargc of roadblocks, they tended to overstep their mark and levy

- charges of their own. The Rhenish missionaries resident in Omaruru wrote irate

letrers to Manasse demanding that they be exempted from t.he [:x, o:;e::cel
grounds that they were residents of 0mar_ur1_.1, and that lhle soldiers <:tc:1t:‘at i
to refrain for demanding bribes. The missionary chmfncles rclrorlzl s
missionaries were given written documents, by Manassels council, whic e
them from tax obligations. Unfortunately for the missionaries, no[r: 2
Manasse’s soldiers were literate and every so often the missionaries were s
9
95]?:‘:: E‘f)}rlnugp:mcrating income through hold_in_g jurisdiction over gmﬂ?f;:ﬂ
water rights, Manasse’s councill nldsul a:m|In|slc:;:n;eo}gr|;:c;;sr,e:d g
1on, mining claims and land rights. In ex 1 :

z&:r::::r;ﬁ;::n ﬁder(‘iking to accept the autt_:omy of Manasse andl hlg)co\;r‘l;::,
white settlers were permitted to establish trsliglnlg s:&;}resi;):uczglf;;f ]ir;ndm:nd!o;
On the same grounds white settlers could a so be N s

i I rights, within the territory of the polity. Amongst those who w
girlenpcar:cd li accept Manasse’s authority were Boer trekkers Iwho bll'okfe ran\:rea:ir
from the trader and trekker Will Worthington Jnrdap and 1_115 new;r o b
republic of Upingtonia in 1886.%° In exchange for 1‘J;|c|r ailcgnagce s;ln :nyon 03;
rent these people were granted land by Manasse." Though the a 01::. tien ot
land to settlers provided his polity with money, in the long run it w?s lh ]:E wh.:);
which led to the undoing of Manasse's |ndependen§c._ﬁmong_uht ;‘l i
applied for land was an English trader, named Christie. As wgh t :‘- i
applicants, Christie acknowledged Manasse’s authority. B\._u whep ris :[-::d e
had killed another man in a drunken brav_vl, was shot wh!]s_t being arre t [hf:
Manasse’s soldiers, it provided iustiﬁcauo_n l'o_r Gerr_nan lnvolufimen( in
affairs of the Omaruru polity and the termination of its independence.

The SWACO affair

i i is-a-vis the Germans and the

ndependence of the Omaruru polity, vis-a vis t 1 : .
‘igll::hlanc:jg Herero, the geographical extent of the polity’s regional mﬂuencc;i
and the foundation upon which this independence was based are all wel

i i d wravelled 10
S Idiers, of members of a Herero delegation which ha X
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The ending of Omaruru’s independence

The Francois brothers, following two short visits, had left Omaruru well alone
during the rest of their stay in central Namibia.® The missionaries noted:

From Omaruru so many complaints had come to Windhoek, that hauprmann and
lertnant von Francois, who had until then been the representatives of the government
mn the country, had broken off all contact with Omaruru, Their successors Major
Leutwein and Assessor von Lindequist dealt differently, as they did wirth everything,
with the people of Omaruru. s

Leutwein was a master diplomat; nowhere was this more apparent than in his
early correspondence with Manasse, where each of his letters was perfectly
timed to gain maximum advantage. Initially Leutwein refrained from writing
to Manasse and let Lindequist intimidate Manasse with threats of German
military might. Letters dealing with subjects as diverse as lungsickness or the
establishment of liquor stores contained references to Germany's, and by
implication Leutwein’s, military might:

- -« thank you for your letter , . . unforrunately Leutwein who was very pleased to
hear from you was unable to come as he had to collect nine new soldiers . . . after

this he will advance immediately on Hendrik, after the war he will come to you
immedately. s

Significantly, Leutwein only began to correspond directly with Manasse upon
his return from Naosonobis, where he had arrested, charged, tried and
summarily executed the Khauas Khoj chief, Andreas Lambert, In an opening
paragraph Leutwein demanded whether Manasse intended keeping to the
conditions laid down in the Schutzvertrag. Not surprisingly Manasse answered
that he intended keeping to the treaty.®? Leutwein next wrote to Manasse
immediately after he had had Samuel Maharero installed as paramount chief
of the Herero. Once again Leutwein advised Manasse to keep to the
Schutzvertrag. Once again Manasse confirmed that he intended keeping to the
treaty.* Even so German officials still refrained from visiting Omaruru, It was
not until August of 1894, when Lieutenant Hartmann, as official representative
of the SWACOQ, visited Omaruru, that direct face-to-face contacts between the
Herero in Omaruru and the German authorities were reopened. Hartmann,
who was ostensibly not connecred to the German authorities, submitted to
Leutwein a lengthy and illuminating report:

I have had a two hour long meeting with Manasse, who greets you and states thar
he badly wants you to wisit him., 1 told hum that Omaruru had not been as good as
what the Germans would have wanted but that whires had also been ‘muschief
makers’. Furthermore [ could calm him and inform hum that those whom he could
endure least of all, Major and Lieutenant von Francoss, have left the protectorate

* In 1890 von Francois's soldiers raped a woman at Ombury, one of the settlements allied 10

Omaruru. This may well explain why German troops steered clear of Omaruru unul 1894, BRMG,
1895 p, 85,

' ELCIN, V. Chroniken, Omaruru 1894,

** NNAW, WII d 10, von Lind q in Otjimt 2 27194, to Manasse. See also ZBU WII d
10, von Lindequist in Windhoek, 5/1 1/94, 10 Manasse.

** NNAW, ZBU, WII d 10, Manasse 1n Omarury, 13 & 16/6/94, 1o Leutwein,

M NNAW, ZBU, WII d 10, Manasse in Omaruru, 18/7/94, 10 Leutwen reply to Leutwern's
letter of Okahandja, 28/6/94.
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S 55
for ever, and that a new Major has been appointed to lead the German protectorate.
s

During the course of the meeting Manasse had asked I—?aﬁn;\an:rsvgir::;
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companion Dr Sinclair, a former ship’s doctor who had fallen on hard times.
Dr Sinclair and Christie, the brother-in-law of Tatlow, a tavern keeper and
trader in Omaruru, lived at Qukhas, along the Khan river, on a farm which
they had acquired on loan, in exchange for their professed loyalty to Manasse
and his council in Omaruru. Immediately following the murder Dr Sinclair
and Christie had hurried to the German fort in Otjimbingwe, to report that
Christie had shot Buijs in self-defence. Christie and Dr Sinclair were cautioned
to remain in the territory and to be present at the next magisterial sitting in
Otjimbingwe. Even 50, the two abandoned Oukhas and following a trip to
Windhoek they holed up in the Otjipatera mountains,!

Manasse considered Oukhas to be within his polity’s sphere of influence,
and obviously so too did Dr Sinclair and Christie, as had it been to Manasse
and his council that they had applied for permission to settle at Oukhas, & By
abandoning Oukhas and by informing the German authorities in Otjimbingwe
of the case, Christic and Dr Sinclair had attempted o extricate themselves
both physically and legally from Manasse’s authori ty. Immediately following
the shooting of Buijs, Manasse wrote to both the British magistrate in Walvisbay
and the German authorities in Windhoek asking for information:

A hittle thing has happened in my country, a bastard man was shot near this [sic], he
was shot without any reason, he was shot just like a woman. Those men who shot
this man did not let me know that they had shot him, and what they had shot hum
for. I heard these men went to Windhoek with a load & they came there to you,
please let me know in what way you have scttled with these men, for this thing which
they have done.

In reply Manasse received a short note from the German authorities stating
that they could disclose no information, but thar the case would be
investigated,®t

Before the killing of Buijs, Lindequist had visited Omaruru and informed
Manasse that once Hendrik Witbooi had been defeated Leutwein intended
travelling to Omaruru.* In anticipation of Leutwein’s long-awaired visit to
Omaruru, Manasse, who had received little more than a rather wishy-washy
reply to his queries on the Buijs case, sought to apprehend Christie and Dr
Sinclair, so that the two men could be tried during Leutwein’s visit. Twice
Manasse’s soldiers were sent out to capture Christie and Dr Sinclair. Though
the first party failed to find them in early November 1894, Manasse’s second
party discovered the rwo Englishmen, at a cattlepost in the Otjipatera
mountains. Manasse’s soldicrs, who were later tried and convicted for murder,
claimed that, as they had approached, Christic had gone for his gun and they
had been foreed to shoot him in self-defence. Having killed Christie, Manasse’s
soldiers looted the campsite and took all the Englishmen’s possessions except
the cattle which they suspected of having lungsickness.*

Leutwein, who since June 1894 had declared that it was his intention to
visit Omaruru, was en route 1o Omaruru, in early MNovember, when he first

* BRMG 1895, pp, 75-7

2 BRMG 1895, p. 77.

) NNAW, ZBU, WII d 10, Manasse n Omaruru, 30/10/94, 1o Leutwein,

= NNAW, ZBU, WII d 10, von Lindequist in Windhock, 8/11/94, to Manasse,
** BAP, RKA 2150, von Lindequist in Omaruru, 12/9/94, 1o REA,

s ELCIN, V. Chroniken, Omarury 1894; BRMG 1895, PP 75-7.
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was able to interest him in the case by tcllm_g Ié:m that ql?}:v'shtfn?:rsmon -
i be made to count in Omaruru. This tatio
paramount chief could also nar S
i i Manasse had never recognis
could not resist, particularly so, as s . 3 8
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:"f;f\:'gwm;;um\;l;l d 10, Leutwein in Oliimhi_ngwe, BI11/94, 10 Mnnuss.m_

 NNAW, ZBU, WII d 10, Leutwein in Otjimbingwe, 8/11/94, to Manassc.

 NNAW, ZBU WII d 10, Manasse in Omarury, 13/11/94, to Leutwein,

*t Leutwein, Elf Fahre, p. 62,

= BRMG 1895, p. 77.
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of fighting. At dawn three days later Leutwein and his forces marched into
Omaruru:

At the head rode three trumpeters playing a fanfare, At the church they formed up
on the left hand side of the road, whilst the Major [Leutwein) together with the
Assessor [von Lindequist] and the assistant medical officer Dr Schoppwinkel formed
up opposite to them. The procession paraded in between them to the sound of the
trumpeters raucous [sch nden) fanfare. First to pass by were 60 to 70 horsemen,
under the command of Lieutenant Eggers, immediately followed by the mounted
Herero, who had accompanied the Major, amongst whom [were] Samuel Maharero
and Zacharias Zeraua; they too attempted to sit at attenion and keep their eyes
right. The parade halted at brother Purainens house. Then followed about 40 soldiers
on foot under the command of Licutenant Volkmann and immediately behind them
a number of Herero and Berg Damara on foot from Otimbingwe; their parade march
wasn’t too successful. Then followed a cannon with ammumtion waggons drawn by
nearly a thousand oxen, and with that the parade march, which made my old soldier’s
heart beat faster, passed by, 4 waggons, stll followed ., 7

With the exception of Manasse, and a few of his Christian followers, very few
Herero were present ro watch the parade. Manasse’s reliance on the missionaries
may have done something to appease Leutwein and keep German occupation
at bay, but in the short term this policy appeared to have backfired completely.
The German forces surrounded the Christian quarter of Omaruru and
established themselves in the missionary buildings. The missionaries, who in
the past had lamented the lack of interest of the colonial government in the
affairs of Omaruru, now did all they could to ensure the establishment of a
colonial presence in Omaruru, The cannon was unlimbered near to Piirainen’s
garden wall, Dannert’s smithy was converted into a jail, and Bernsmann vacated
his bedroom and study in anticipation of their becoming the court room and
the basis of the new German mulitary station,”™

On the very next day court proceedings began. Seven young men were
charged with the murder of Christic. In what was missionary Bernsmann's
former sitting-room sentence was passed. Ndaja, the only accused not present,
was sentenced in absentia to two years’ imprisonment with twenty-five lashes
to be applied every three months during the course of his incarceration.
Kauzeesa, son of the former chief Tjaherani and nephew of Manasse, was
sentenced to eight years’ imprisonment with hard labour. Karuhere was
sentenced to death. The remaining four were sentenced to seven months’
imprisonment.” Anxious to impress upon the inhabitants of Omaruru the
gravity of his intentions, Leutwein ordered that, following the passing of
sentence, the convicred Herero, Kauzeesa and Karuhere, be tied to a tree with
the cannon aimed at them. Of the two, Karuhere was able to break free, but
was wounded as he ran to Manasse's quarters.™

Unfortunately for Karuhere the relations of power that had existed in
Omaruru had changed to such an extent thar Manasse now found himself
unable to provide the sanctuary which Karuhere could have anticipated from
his Omuhona. All of the actions undertaken by Leutwein had indicated his

™ BRMG 1895, p, B0. As the BRMG footnote states, ‘Brother Bernsmann fought 1n the expedinon
against France in 1870/71,"

™ BRMG 1895, p. 80,

" BAP, RKA 2150, Leutwein in Omaruru, 11/12/84, to RKA; BRMG 1895 pPp- 81-3,

™ BRMG 1895, p, 82,
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7 BAD, RKA 2150, Leutwen 1n Windhoek, 11/12/94, to RKA.
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this independence and thus extracted Okombahe from the control of Manasse
and his council.

When in 1889 Curt von Francois had ensconced himself in Tsaobis, he had
employed Berg Damara, from Otjimbingwe, as labourers, These people came
to feature prominently in Francois’s book Nama und Damara. In his book and
elsewhere Francoss expanded upon the theme of the Berg Damarasasa subject
race of the Herero, In a similar vein, and drawing parallels with ancient Greece,
Cleverley, the English magistrate in Walvisbay, referred 1o the Berg Damara as
the ‘Helots of the Herero’, Both the German and English authorities believed
that the Berg Damara were a distinet subject race of the Herero, and were
anxious to tap their labour, At least until 189] Okombahe, through the
mediation of Manasse, continued to supply the magistrate in Walvisbay with
labour.® Franecois's intelligence report on Namibia, written following his return
to Germany in mid-1891, devoted a major section to the settlement of
Okombahe and the feasibility of tapping its labour reserves 8 Elsewhere his
brother Hugo von Francois concluded:

This nation no longer has a future; but its labour POWer is a not to be underestimared
factor in the social development of the Protectorate. 54

The report formed part of Theodor Leutwein’s background reading prior to
his enshipment to Namibia, Undoubredly Leutwein’s thinking, regarding the
alleged ‘enslavernent’ of Berg Damaras by Herero, was influenced by the report
and this is clearly reflected in Leutwein’s correspondence, 5

Following the arrival of the Francois brothers in the territory, a close
association developed berween the German military and the Berg Damaras,
Ever since the establishment, with the aid of Berg Damara labour, of
Wilhelmsfeste at Tsaobis, the German forces employed Berg Damaras as
labourers, in the building of their forts, the tending of their gardens, the herding
of their stock, and labour in general. Employment with the Schutztruppe
provided opportunities for a large number of people at the bottom of the social
ladder. The relationship thar developed between the German forces and those
classified as Berg Damaras was obviously not a one-sided one. Apart from
benefiting from one another's presence, cach side also developed ideas vis-a-
vis the nature of the other's social structure and being. The manner in which
the German presence cou Id be exploited to their own advantage was an issue
that not only occupied the minds of the Herero chiefs, but also the minds of a
number of Berg Damara, some of whom saw in the presence of the Germans
more than merely increased employment opportunities.

In July of 1894 Cornelius Goraseb, a baptized Berg Damara Ogjira member
of Okombahe who had been associated with the Francois brothers and had

authorities, travelled toWindhoek. Here, 1n an audience with Major Leutwein,
he stated that in Okombahe the Berg Damara were being oppressed by the
Herero and that they wanted to be freed from this oppression, # Goraseb’s visit

* CAD NA Letters received from Damaraland and Whifish Bay, 203 Resident Magistrate Walfish
Bay 18899 » Wallish Bay 20/10/1 890 to the Under Sccretary for Native Affairs Cape Town,

** BAP, RKA 2080 Francois in Orimbingwe, 15/5/91 P10 AA

* BAP, RKA 2080, Report Francors 1n Berhin, 5/8/91, foho 119-75,

** H. von Francos, Nama und Damara, p. 77, JBG's translatron.

" BAP, RKA 2150, Leutwein in Windhoek, 1 1/12/94, 10 RKA.

* Leutwein, Eif Tahre, p. 64,
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k E 5 basis for the complete emancip
of workers, we have also ensured that the . 1 i
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of a permanent German garrison in Omaruru. Following the trial of the
executioners of Christie, Leutwein had presented Manasse, Zacharias Zeraua
and Samuel Maharero with a map, which he had drawn, which showed their
respective territories.® Leutwein later admitted that he had left it deliberately
vague, so that the respective Herero chieftains would vie for the colonial state’s
favour with regard to boundary disputes.” Furthermore, on the basis of these
discussions and in return for continued independence vis-a-vis Samuel
Maharero, Manasse agreed to relinquish his claim to Oyimbingwe. Given
Manasse’s intensive attempts to maintain his influence in the settlement,
particularly in the face of numerous Witbooi attacks, this further curtailment
of Manasse’s power is a fine indicator as to the extent of Leutwein’s.
Otjimbingwe was now placed under the chieftainship of Zeraua, who was in
turn placed under Samuel Maharero.”

With the signing of treaties and the effective limitation of Manasse Tjisiseta’s
power, Leutwein left Omaruru, leaving behind a garrison of twenty-five men
and a cannon.” Effectively Theodor Leutwein had forced Manasse Tjisiseta
into submission, and placed Omaruru firmly within the sphere of German
colonial control. Missionary Bernsmann was aware of the predicament Manasse
Tjisiseta had been faced with: to acquiesce to German demands or to fight.
With this in mind he wrote the following:

When I consider the course of all the events | must conclude that God has passed
judgement and that the two bad murders were turned to good. Through these the
major was forced to apply grear force in Omarury, and this was good for the
inhabitants who still beheved thar all the German soldiers were dead, this because
they had been told so a thousand times before, The Major, had he come with the
thirty men he had originally intended coming with, would have failed to impress
and without the pressure, brought to bear upon Manasse and his people by the
murder of Christie, he would scarcely have achieved so quickly and so easily thar
which he achieved with the new treaties, which I, in my opimon, consider good and
useful. Samuel Maharero would not have come, if the Major had not called him to
come because of the murder of Christie, and the mmportant treaty, regarding the
borders, would not have been concluded, or at least not signed that quickly. And
whether Manasse would have immediately relinquished Okombahe, if he had been
more free internally, I must doubt seriously. It cannot be denied that Manasse and

the Omaruru Herero are depressed, but I hope, the depression will be good for them;
they deserved it.?"

Bernsmann’s text clearly indicates the changed balance of power in central
Namibia. Until Hendrik Witbooi had been effectively neutralized, the German
forces were not perceived as being of much importance. However the German
victory over Hendrik Witbooi, even if it was largely political, ensured that
Germany had become a force to be reckoned with in central Namibia, In the
end it was Leutwein’s threat of war which had forced Manasse to accept the
stringent conditions imposed.

* ELCIN, V. Chroniken Omarury, 1894 BAP, RKA 2150, Leurwen in Windhoek, 11/12/94, 1o
AA

w2 I_;cu(wzm. Elf Jahre, p. 64,
' BAP, RKA 2150, Leutwein 1n Windhoek, 1 1112194, 1o RKA.
“ ELCIN,V. Chromken, Omaruru 1894, The four men who had been sentenced to seven months®

labour for the death of Chrisue were used to build the new fort,
“ BRMG 1895, p. 85,
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i Samuel Maharero as Paramount Chief

Treaties

‘ In late 1894 Major Leutwein and Samuel Mahgr:_:m had cur‘;niled tl_xc
1 independence of Manasse Tjisiseta and countercdfhm mflueri;ce::l:u:1 f:;\;e:h::
ibi itics.” -power had ens
entral Namibian politics. The threat of German I‘re_pl :r b ”
i‘ianassc Thisiseta ﬁad accepted Samuel Maharero's ]uns(;li;lona:g: %:i:ll?;
i i bjugate: an A
as paramount chief of the Herero. Having su ! '
Maiarero and Major Leutwein sought to further sr.rength;n :hellr ;‘:fs:gu:r:st:g:
ir 1 Thi did through concludin,
extend their influence and power. This they nclud faire
i 1 i independent Herero chieftains who w
of treaties with a number of previously in 1 i e
ithi i 1 Maharero's and ultimately
ceforth placed within the ambit of Samue !
E::I:many’s cI:erol. Leutwein, who was under pressure to clear sufﬁmefn;llar;f:
for the settlers, sought to ensure that the lands previously cle'ann‘i1 0 h':r{he
by Witbooi raiders were reserved for German settlement. fI‘u ho : Lce e
boundaries of Hereroland had to be determined nn;ihelnf]:)rccd, a::l f,el.?twcin
896, Samuel Maharero s
a year, between early 1895 and early 1_ 3
ac}::on;panied by contingents of soldu:lrs sup_ported by Gernlwél ;i:er::t’ir:-?
travelled throughout Hereroland, and dc!werc_d }udrg:mer:,;z:cc?rcimscribﬂi
installed chieftains, and, through the delineation of boundaries,
::d d:cided upon the borders of Hereroland and thus the extent of Samuel
Maharero’s jurisdiction.

Nicodemus Kavikunua ) :
The first to be graced by the presence of Samuel Mah?reru ind 'I_hac:lc;ir?é
Leutwein was Nicodemus Kavikunua, Samucll Maharero’s Oru.:a‘lbci r:; o
defeated opponent in the Okahandja succession dispute. In the ulh_-u;r =
the succession dispute, Nicodemus Kavikunua h_ad ancmptcld, a;_ 1;;1{\;‘2
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to accept Nicodemus Kavikunua’s claims to the chieftaincy, ’:ﬂdler:)epnd:nl
in w ; pre Nicodemus's status as an in
Leutwein was only prepared to accept :
ieftai i i beneficial for the German
frain.* Leutwein believed that it was more Icia : !
f::;;niall state to have to deal with a politically divided society than with a closed
nitary one.” ) )
: iTollyowing Samuel Maharero’s expulsion from Okahandja in ]ulyhl_.SD;‘lI;
Leutwein had summoned Nicodemus Kavikunua to appear belfotrie. u-nthc
Okahandja. Then, accompanied by cavalry an?l c;ngﬁ:;, h;i!;at\iu;dc;;:;zwd
o1 - an o
assistance of Samuel Maharero, who, having fle as. nce
15 hi i f Samuel Maharero’s installati
on his hilltop at Osona. During the course o T e
i i Kavikunua failed to appear an
as paramount chief, chdcmu_s vikui ol ipalant
i i i i h Theodor Leutwein, Nicode y
effectively ruined his fragile :elauon_shlp wit ks
i sal developments from afar in Otj 80,
who wisely enough had been awaiting f e
i he had been afraid that Leutw
ted that he had failed to appear, as |
Iwa((:elflzt;:vc had him shot, in much the same way as Leutwein had had the

REA,
ko RKA 2100, Leutwein in Windhoek, 17/6/94, to < . :
n g:i} RKA 2100, Leutwein 1in Windhock, 17/6/94, 1o REA. JBG's ranslation.
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Photo 3.2: Chief Nicodemus Kawmhunua
surrounded by German soldiers shortly

before hus execution m Okahandja 1896
Source; Namibian National Archives,
Windhock

Kha_uas Khoi chief, Andreas Lambert, shot at Naosonobis a few months
earlier.”® However, once it had become clear that Leutwein had not once again
resorted to summary executions, Nicodemus did come to Okahandjach
arrived l_hc morning after the two opposing Okahandja camps had held Iea::
cclcb_rguum fuelled by German alcohol. Given the undoubtedly hun F-'ovcr
condltm_n of the German negotiators and the inhabitants of Okahangd'a in
general, it is not suprising that Nicodemus’s arrival was treated coolly and]that
his requests and cl_aims were turned down. Leutwein, who in assisting Samuel
Maharero h_gd achieved a victory in Okahandja, clearly did not find it éifﬁcult
o rebuff Nicodemus’s claims to the position of paramount chief. Instead
N}_cudcmus was told by Leutwein to accept the Kaiser's will and thnt-il'hc did
fh:s he would be made captain over his own lands, much as had occurred with
Zachalnns Zerava of Otjimbingwe.* Similarly, Nicodemus's complaints
regarding the establishment of settlers, shops and military stations in his
territory were rejected. Instead Nicodemus Kavikunua, who had attempted to
court the Germans in much the same way as Samuel had, found himself the
victim of the selfsame treaties he had signed whilst attempting to acquire
German assistance for his claims to the Herero paramountey. 1 As Lindequist

smugly noted: ‘Nicodemus had signed the Wi
g e ot gned the Windhoek protocols and there was

Following his defeat in the
Kavikunua lived at Otjihacnen
Ovambanderu of the chieftain
Kavikunua and his followers we
and his allies. In return for his i

Okahandja succession dispute, Nicodemus
a a]png the White Nossob river among the
Kahimemua Nguvauva, Even so Nicodemus
re not beyond the reach of Samuel Maharero
nstallation as paramount chief of the Herero,

* BAP, RKA 2100 Lindequist in Windhoek, 19/1/95 4
»Li 5 5 1o RKA.
:;F:;\ql"l; RKA 22I C:}O. Lindequist in Okahandpa’. 24/7194, 10 RKA.
A , REA 2100, Lindequist in Windh k, 24/7/9 o
' Ihid. JBG's mns‘inricn. nehes it RICA.
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. Samuel Maharero had taken to the signing of a series of agreements and treaties,

which dealt with land, water and boundary rights of people nominally under

" his control as paramount chief of the Herero.!®? During early 1895 German

forces, assisted by Herero appointed by Samuel Maharero, began to enforce

. the signed treaty boundaries of southern Hereroland. Obviously people who

had previously never been subject to the chiefs of Okahandja, let alone Samuel
Maharero, resisted being moved. Writing about people living between

' Windhoek and Korras, Lindequist laconically reported:

Here the cattle chaps [ Viehgasten] only withdrew when the Major dragged the cannon
through the settlement and threatened to shoot if they did not follow.!2?

Not surprisingly there was a lot of opposition to these activities, and, even with
a cannon, the forced removals were not a one-way affair. Indeed, shortly after
the incident described above, whilst Lindequist was involved in further forced
removals ‘in Omatame on the White Nossob . . . the Unrerkapitin Nicodemus
[Kavikunua] along with approximately 100 well armed and battle hardened
[kriegsgetwohnien] people arrived to greet me and talk about the border’.!®
Euphemisms aside, Lindequist and his boundary party were effectively taken
into custody by Nicodemus Kavikunua and his followers, and taken to
Otjihaenena. Force had been met by force.'®® Backed by armed might
Nicodemus was able to ensure that talks were held in Otjihaenena and that a
number of aspects, particularly regarding the boundary, as delineated by
Samuel Maharero and the Germans, were renegotiated. Though Nicodemus
Kavikunua was unable to prevent the fountains at Seeis, the brackish waters
of which were of crucial importance to Herero cattle herds, from falling into
German settler hands, he was able, in this instance, to force an agreement
regarding water rights along the Nossob river. It was the ability of Nicodemus
Kavikunua to wield true power independently of the nominally paramount
Samuel Maharero that forced the Germans to reconsider their policies in
eastern Hereroland. He alone, of all the Herero chiefs, was able to mobilize
sufficient military might with which to intimidate the Germans. Following this
incident it became clear that new arrangements had to be reached with regard
to Nicodemus and the eastern Herero.

Determined to exact his revenge, Leutwein wrote to Samuel Maharero, in
early May 1895, notifying him of his intention to travel to Nicodemus
Kavikunua in Otjihaenena. Resolved not to suffer the fate of Lindequist’s
boundary commission, Leutwein informed Samuel Maharero that he would
be taking along fifty men and a cannon, and requested that Samuel accompany
him with about thirty men, ‘also with something prominent, so that I alone do
not have to hit too much’.'%® At the same time Leutwein wrote to Nicodemus
Kavikunua and the remaining eastern chiefs, Kahimemua, Kajata, Omambo

12 Regarding the southern boundary of Hereroland as determined by Samuel Maharero and
Imperial Germany, see BAF, RKA 2100, Vertrag mut Samuel Mah, betr. Fe 1g der Sudg

des Herero Landes, 1 1/7194 & Leutwein inWindhoek, 13/12/94, to RKA regarding further southern
boundary treaty signed 6/12/94,

120 BAP, RKA 2100, von Lindequist 1n Windhoek, 19/1/95, to RKA.

1% BAP, RKA 2100, von Lindequist m Windhoek, 19/1/95, to RKA. JBG’s translanon.

" Leutwein, Elf Tahre, p. 68,

1 NNAW, ZBU 2027, WII, d. 9, Leutwein in Windhoek, 3/4/95, to Samuel Maharero. JBG's
transiation.
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and Tjetjo, informing them that he intended paying them a friendly visit.!o?
Nicodemus Kavikunua’s answer to Leutwein bespoke confidence:

I'have received your letter. I am now ar the werft of Kahimemua. [ have called Tyetyo
and Omumba; so that we can all be here together to discuss that which bothers you.
We are all here Kahi Nicod Muambo, K Thetyoo, Mb
and Kajyata. We await you all here.

I am Nicodemus Tyamuaha Capran of the Herero. %%

Yo

Itis of interest to note that Nicodemus Kavikunua signed his letrer as ‘Captain
of the Herero’ and with the name Tjamuaha, which was the name of his and
Samuel Maharero’s grandfather. It is clear that, following the events at
Otjihaenena, Nicodemus felt himself to be in a strong position and, secure
with the evident support of the eastern chiefs, he sought to emphasize to
Leutwein the importance of his position and person. That is, he was, and was
considered by others to be such, still the rightful heir of Maharero, the son of
Tjamuaha.
After having bolstered his forces Leutwein set off with two cannon, fifty

German soldiers and approximately 200 Herero auxiliaries, 0% At the time
Lindequist wrote that the ‘main aim of the expedition is to demonstrate to the
eastern Herero and the nearly completely heathen tribe, the Ovambandjeru
once and for all German power and German soldiers’.""® Given the size of the
German force approaching, it was hardly suprising that Nicodemus Kavikunua
and Kahimemua Nguvauva believed that they were about to be artacked, With
this in mind Otjihaenena, which lay along the White Nossob river, was
abandoned and defensive positions were taken up in the hills surrounding the
settlement on the northern bank of the river. In turn the incoming German
forces took up defensive positions on the southern bank of the river. It was a
stalemnate. The German forces failed to overawe the Herero, The Herero position
of strength, and concomitantly Leutwein’s desire to achieve a negotiated peace,
is indicated by the fact that negotiations were held in the Herero camp, not
the German camp as had been the case on all previous occasions. Added to
this Leurwein, Lindequist, Samuel Maharero and their aides, in going to the

Herero camp to commence negotiations, had to slog, under the eyes of
approximately 300 Ovambanderu and Herero riflemen, through the hot white
sands of the dry White Nossob river bed, which formed the frontline berween
the two camps. '

The negotiations lasted for two days. The main topic of discussion was the
issue of the paramount chieftainey and the extent of this position’s authority.
Anxious to avert a costly war, and in keeping with his ideas regarding a
preference for a divided Herero society, Leutwein agreed to give in to and

7 NNAW, ZBU 2027, WIL, d. 9, Leutwem in Windhoek, 11/5/9
Omambo. & WII, d, 14 L n Windhoek, 26/4/95, to Nicod .
' NNAW, ZBU 2027, W1l d. 14, Nicodemus T ha in Otph 12/5/95, 1o 1
JBG’s translanion,

'® Leutwein, Elf Fahre, pp. 74-5.
"% BAP, RKA 2100, von Lindequist in Windhoek, 24/5/95, to RKA.

1" BAP, RKA 2100, von Lindequist in Windhoek, 24/5/95, to RKA & Leutwein, Eif Jahre, p. 78.
It 15 interesting to note that later, when wrting for a different audience, and secking then to
convince them of the correctness of hus actions, in hus pub d played
the occasion and even claimed that the Ovambanderu and Herero abandoned their positions,
whilst both his and von Lindequist’s letters witten from the ficld disprove this.

5, to Kahimeua, Kaiyata and

; . \ .
appease a number of Nicodemus Ka\'lkunu_a s demands. As; lésult::s
negotiations were a success for Nicodemus Kavikunua, as well as the Germans,

. but a setback for Samuel Maharero and Kahimemua Nguvauva. Leutwein’s

advocated tactics of divide and rule appeared to work well for the Get:r::a&sé
Most of the animosity and distrust of the Herero leadersdpre.;encuman
discussions was directed towards Samuel Maharero, as m:sr:osi:l2 tla t eK ’m i
government who directly supported _Samuel Mabharero. | n ;e_ L;ul' =
territorial concessions Nicoden;lés Kavakx;:u}: \:::Z r;:::)ﬁ;ne\:;ma: C{h::\r:lriouq
erero, independent of Samuel Maharero; { st us
;;::::: :l'iliefs living :i‘cng the Nossob_ ~ Mambo, Kajata, KaInang;n,nlila::c:]hoé
and the Ovambanderu under Kahimemm} - were alI] place l.’u e
chieftainship of Nicodemus Kavikur!ua.“‘ I‘}etuz, farml:tr mm: et:ic&aincy
Samuel Maharero and Nicodemus Kawkulnua and Eanda I?eu- t;)'t e:l: e
of Okahandja, was recognized as a sub-chief and plﬁced dlr:c} y ur_\k tnua g
Maharero.''* As Theodor Leutwein later noted, Nlcod_em?a Ka;i u m“sso;
by the signing of the treaties, been ;:a?s&);“-lle:clr;‘::db:;ﬁe:::rﬁ?.»\ar.pth-e i
of large herds of stock into a true chief with la t s’ o e
time Leutwein had effectively sought to deny th_e existence = h'. X
identity by placing them and their chieftain, Kahimemua,
gl‘::cr':ll;a::;;: the ccn:’roiyof Nicodemus — a move that continues to have its
i 1 resent. ) ) )
lm%::;z;]:h:ori as successful as Samuel Ma_harero in h|_s p;l:_rsuu ?}ft' El}'lli
paramountcy of the Herero, Ni;od;mus Kavli:unu:;i\:s;};:grlesa:.l:rclcue' s
German colonial state, able, in the short term, to re e e
i endence. Until open war broke out between supporters o c ]
E::iiunua and the Schutstruppe, Niqodemus Kavikunua \-Era_s‘ ?blledt:e;cflal\:sz
large degree of independence vis-a-vis the German aulhonn;a.f nt Sy
not until Nicodemus Kavikunua and his supporters had been ’emes e
that the eastern districts were opened to German scttlement.

Tietio Kandji ) :
'I::eijo Kandji, who lived at Ovikorero, north—ca;t ofOka:anm? oMna\;:::rnos r;(:;
moni 5 J ephew of 5
the farm Harmonie, was a grandson of Tjamuaha, an )
a cousin ol‘Nicaden,ﬂus Kavikunua and Samuel Maharero. He was lhu? i:l({);:
family member of Samuel Maharero, and, though not 'a\‘_clmmas;\ln‘5 g0
chieftainship of Okahandja, he did inherit most of Mallmrero jamuaha i
inheritance. Consequently Tjetjo was a rich man, ﬂl]llsd‘nsc:hr:::rfa:;gachandin
i i later installed a 3
his cousin Samuel Maharero who, though ¢ led 2 - -
initi i i i his father’s Eanda inheritance.
initially only inherited a brick house I'r_orrll cr's e
i his ‘elder brother’ Riarua,
E have seen, in early 1894 T|e'§}u and_ ! : g :
MsA}:a:;u’s former commander in chief, unm:? in action against ltg;:;r
impoverished family member, Samuel Maharero.!'” As a result, in June Y

it REA in Windhoek, 24/5/95, to RKA.
: " g:;‘ REA ‘Zzlié:l?,Ivd?’;"ly-_‘l{ntg:rm::bsdduu zunschen Nicodemus und Lm!wm.'.l'hls w::sri(ﬂ:;\n\:l‘;d
bya fu;thcr pro\(ﬁ:;)l 3/7/95 which determined the southern boundaries 1n ch‘:"}‘\si: I-hrf:m‘i..
“!" BAP, RKA 2100, Lindequist 1n Windhoek, 24/5/95, to RKA and Leutwein in »
1o REA.
"1 Leutwein, Elf Jahre, p. 77. -

N AN 2028, Treaty signed at Aais A o . ATsel
:"° ;::‘?::l’j'}li':;nn refers 1o yRr.n-ua as his elder brother. NNAW, ZBU ‘,!Dz?}.:(;:il ;’tn}l;cllﬁuo:i,
Ovikokorero, 6/7/94, to Leutwemn. It would appear that things came fo 2
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Kandji, by virtue of his rights to the Eanda inheritance, had inherited Maharero
Tjamuaha’s cattle herds. Now Samuel Maharero exacted his revenge. Although
he had absolutely no rights to the Oruzuo inheritance of Semoundja
Kandirikira, which had rightfully been inherited by Tjetjo Kandji, Samuel
Maharero, through the judicious use of the German forces present, was able
to obtain Semoundja’s Oruzuo inheritance, which had already been allocated
toTjetjo Kandji. Without referring to the issue of inheritance, Samuel Maharero
convinced the German authorities that the Oruzuo cartle and wives of
Kandikirira, who in terms of the inheritance had passed to Tjetjo, had been
stolen by Tjetjo. In effect Tjetjo was charged with having stolen two cattleposts
and abducted five women. Not suprisingly Lt Eggers, kaiserlicher Distrikischef,

stationed in Okahandja, summoned Tjetjo to Otjimbinde and wrote the
following to Tjetjo:

To my great surprise [ have heard that you have illegally taken from Zemundya and
other people of Okandyoze 5 women and 2 posts of cattle. I must urge you to desist
from this 1dea, if you want to keep the friendship of the Major.'2¢

To some extent we can glean from Tjetjo’s answer his fear and his frustration
in attempting to explain the intricacies of Oruzuo inheritance:

- Lask you which women have I robbed, because are not the ones that are here my
children, and upon their father’s death they came here, that is why they came here
.+ . What should I have done otherwise? As regards the cattleposts, ask the people
yourself how they came here . . . As regards Oyombinde, where you tell me I should
want for the Major . . . If [ travel to Oyombinde I will write to you so that you will
know exactly. That which could make me move to Otyjombinde was precisely that
which I fear and wonder about, namely the accusanons.!??

With the examples of the fate of Lambert, Witbooi, Riarua and Manasse before
him, it is not suprising that Tjetjo failed to keep his appointment with Leutwein
in Otjimbinde or later in Okahandja.!?

In early 1895, prior to embarking upon his trip to Nicodemus Kavikunua
in Otjihacnena, Leutwein wrote to Samuel Maharero: ‘My dear Samuel . . .
let me know whether it is still necessary for us to go to war together against
Tjetjo."'*? At some stage between late 1894 and mid-1895 Samuel Maharero
and Tjetjo came to some form of agreement, which resulted in Samuel
Mabharero fecling strong enough to call off the threat of war, It is likely that
the agreement reached was one whereby Tjeyo bought Samuel Maherero’s
peace by handing over Sen dja Kandikirira's Oruzuo cattle herds to Samuel
Maharero. Indicative of the changed relations between Samuel Mabharero and
Tjetjo were the negotiations at Otjihaenena in mid-1895 where Tjetjo fell within
Samuel Maharero’s camp and was given recognition as an independent chief
under Samuel Maharero, 1%

i NNAW, ZBU 2027 W1l d 12, Eggers in Okahandja, 8/9/94, to Tierjo.

¥ NNAW, ZBU 2027, Wil d 12, Tyeyyo in Owikorero, 10/9/94, 1o Leutwemn([?].

13 NNAW, ZBU 2027, W I d 12, Leutwein m Okorukambe, 10/12/94, 1o Tjetjo & BAP, RKA
2100, Leutwein 1n Okahandya, 13/12/94, 10 RKA

2% NNAW, ZBU 2027 WII d 9, Leutwein in Windhock, 3/4/95, to Samuel Maharero, JBG's
translanon.

'™ BAP, RKA 2100, Lindequist in Windhock, 24/5/95, to RKA & Leutwein in Aais, 14/6/95, to
REA.
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Kambazembi and the northern chiefs ) ,
By May 1895, all those chiefs who had p_oscd a threar to Samuel Mahargro s
newly acquired position as paramount chief of the Herero had been effectively
contained and neutralized. Step by step Samuel Maharero and T.}.ic.ador
Leutwein had frustrated the attempts of the chiefs, Riarua, Manasse'l"_u_mcra,
Nicodemus Kavikunua and Tjetjo Kandii, to jeopardize Samu_cl’s position. In
central Hereroland not a single chief remained who could slcrmusly_cndangcr
Samuel’s position. However, in northern Hereroland one chief rema‘Ined, and,
even though he had been largely beyond the course of events in central
Hereroland, he did have the wealth and influence, to affect, if he_ had wanted
10, the course of events in central Hereroland. The name of this fabulously
rich chief was Kambazembi, who lived north of Okahandja in the area pf
Otjozondjupa near the Waterberg.!*! Caught up by_ the course of events in
central Hereroland, Kambazembi and the remaining northern chr‘cfs had
remained largely beyond the interest of Samuel Maharero and Theodor
Leutwein. It was nort until the second half of 1895 that Samuel Maharero and
Leutwein could undertake action and actually embark upon a trip to the
northern chiefs. ) .

Already in the 1870s Kambazembi was reported to be a rich man. In 1877
he was reported to have had no less than 12,000 _!'o]lowers an_d 60 to 70
Ozonganda, homesteads. "2 These figures fluctuated wx_th the changing seasons,
Francois reported fifteen years later that Kambazembi had 2320 followers and
23 Ozonganda.'™ Either way Kambazembi is remembered as being a generous
patron who provided cattle, with which to reestablish Iherds, to many
impoverished Hereros, particularly during the many cattle raids r_}f Ihf_ varmp’s
Nama chieftains.’® During the numerous raids by Hendrik Witboo1’s
commandos in the 1880s, cartle which belonged to Maharero and other
southern Herero chiefs were given over into the care of Kamb_azembl‘s cattle
herds. As such Kambazembi was an incredibly rich man and is }'emembcrcd
as such. Hugo von Francois who visited Kambazembi at Okamaye in December
1890 described Kamb bi’s O la as follows:

1t was beaunifully sited in the shade of a small forest. A piece of land 600 by 300
metres was enclosed by thorn bushes. In the middle there was a small kraal of about
300 metres in length for calves and small stock. Along the inner borders of the
enclosure lay the huts of the 32 wives of the chief with behind them, in the corners
of the enclosure the huts of the slaves [Sklaven] and on one of the longer sides the
hut of the Chief. "

AL P, R 2100, Leutwein 1n Okahandja, 13/12/95, 1o RKA.
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Following the death of Maharero, Kambazembi initally supported Samuel
Mahareru’s claim to the chieftaincy of Okahandja.!* This is far from surprising
given that Kambazembi had so many of Maharero’s cattle in his care which,
had one of Samuel Maharero’s more powerful rivals become chief, he would
have had ro return. Initially Samuel Maharero was in no position to pose any
ﬂllrﬁlt to Kambazembi’s position; indeed he travelled to Kambazembi seeking
his assistance in the Okahandja chieftaincy dispute in early 1891, However,
by late 1894, with Samuel Maharero and Leutwein working in alliance, the
balance of power had changed. ’

In late 1894 having neutralized Manasse Tjisiscta, Leutwein wrote to
Kamhazemhi and informed him of his intention to visit and warned: ‘We have
signed a treaty with Maharero and this applies to you too though all the reports
I have received until now only speak well of you.'"” In April 1895 Leutwein
contacted Samuel Maharero and asked him to accompany him on his intended
visit to Kambazembi.*® However, this intended visit was cut short by the events
of Otjihaenena in May of 1895. As a result of the negotiations at Otjihaenena,
between Nicodemus Kavikunua, Kahimemua Nguvauva and Tijetjo Kandji on
the one hand and Samuel Maharero and Theodor Leutwein on the other, a
number of major decisions regarding land, boundary and chieftaincy rights
were taken. Kambazembi felt that he was being bypassed. Throughout June of
1895 Kambazembi sought contact with Samuel Maharero and Leurwein. '
Eventually Kambazembi sent one of his sons to Windhoek asking Leutwein to
visit h:’r_n.““ Leutwein let it be known that he intended coming in peace, though
he advised Samuel to make sure that he took along as large a contingent of
horsemen as possible, 4!

In ear_l}' August 1895 Leutwein set off from Windhoek on what was to be a
round trip of the German colony’s northern marches to the south of the Etosha
pan. Indicative of Theodor Leutwein’s skills as a careful statesman is the fact
that the trip commenced only after Manasse Tjisiseta had been successfully
lured to Windhoek with the promise of medical treatment.'*> At Okahandja
Leutwein was joined by Samuel Maharero. On their approach to the Waterberg
they were met by Kambazembi’s two eldest sons Kainjumjua and Salatiel who
escorted them to their father’s settlement.'** From the moment of their arrival
Kambazembi sought to downplay his political power and position. Instead
Kambazembi claimed that he was only a ‘king of the cattle’ and that he had no
pollmcal amlbiticns beyond that. Kambazembi’s willingness to forgo any political
clsn_ms to either Samuel’s position or to areas to the north of Otjozondjupa,
which were nominally under the control of the SWACO, but had not been
determined yet, meant that the ‘koning van dic Beeste’ and his people were
left largely undisturbed by Leutwein and Samuel Maharero.'* As a result of
Kambazembi’s foresight he was left in peace and Samuel Maharero, as

“°‘ HM"’. RKA 2]_00, H. von Francois in Walvisbay, 10/2/91, to RKA,
""" NNAW, ZBU 2027 WII d 11, Leutwein in Okahandja, 5/12/94, to Kambazembi, JBG's
transianon.
::: N'.Nﬂ“(:’. ZI?U 2027 WII d 9, Leutwein in Windhock, 3/4/95, to Samuel Maharero,
ELCIN, I Konferenzen und Synoden, I 1.3 18731905 Protokollbuch der Konffe in Hereroland.
1% NNAW, ZBU 2027 WII d 11, Leutwein in Windhoek, 1/7/95, 1o Kamb b
HEUNNAW, ZBU 2027, WII d 9, Samuel Maharero in Okahandja, 17/7/95, to Leutwein.
142 BAP, RKA 2150, Das Gebiet von Omarury, Leutwen in Windhoek, 30/7/95, 1o RKA.
' BAP, REA 2100, Von Lindequist 1n Windhoek, 24/8/95, to RKA.
" Leurwein, Elf Jahre, pp. 80-2,
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, paramount chief of the Herero, was able, two weeks later, to sign a series of
- far-reaching boundary agreements with the SWACQO. These agreements, which
_determined the northern boundary of Herero territory, as well as allocated land
and mineral rights to the SWACO, were signed on 21 August 1895 in
' Grootfontein.'¥

From Grootfontein Leutwein and Samuel Maharero continued their trip
through to Tsumeb and Otavi. Leutwein noted that in this area there were no
' Herero to be found and that this was due to the activities of Bushmen who
lived in this area. The mines of Otavi were long known to have been under the
control of Bushmen. Those seeking copper were forced to pay tribute to the
. Bushmen who controlled the mines.'** An indication of Bushman power in
the area can to some extent be gleaned from the fact that at both Naidas and
Ghaub treaties were signed with Bushman chiefs.'*?

From Naidas through to Outjo, Leutwein and Samuel Maharero, assisted
by no less than eighty mounted German troopers, enforced the newly concluded
. northern boundary agreements. All Herero encampments found living to the
~ porth of the newly concluded boundary were ordered to move south, into
‘Herero territory’.™® At Outjo Leutwein concluded further boundary
agreements with the Topnaar and Swartbooi chiefs of Fransfontein before
travelling on to Omaruru.'*® A direct result of this trip was that Leutwein
decided to establish a military post at Outjo, on the western trade route leading
from Omaruru to Omabalantu and from there to Mossamedes.'" Thereby
Hereroland’s last independent outlet to the wider world was cut off.
Furthermore, as Leutwein noted, Samuel’s position as paramount chief of the
Herero had been emphasized: ‘the escort of 80 German mounted men does a
lot to increase the stature of the Oberhduptling Samuel Maharero’.'®!

Upon the completion of their round trip Samuel Maharero and Leutwein
had signed a string of treaties which effectively delineated the boundaries of
Hereroland and the specific areas of authority within this territory. It was when
Leutwein assisted by Samuel Maharero, under pressure of the land companies
and the incoming settlers, attempted to enforce these new boundaries that
conflict broke out. Between 1896 and 1897 various Herero chieftains sought
to shrug off the ever-encroaching net which Leutwein and Samuel had thrown
upon them. The manner in which this took place and the effects that this had
will form the following section of this chapter.

Treaty enforcement

Signing treaties was one thing; enforcing them another. The territories which

18 BAP, RKA 2100, Leutwein in Grootfontem, 29/8/95, 1o RKA & Leutwein, Elf Jahre, pp. 81-7.
14 Chapter three of R, Gordon, The Bushmen Myth: the Making of a Nannbian Underclass, (Boulder,
San Francisco, Oxford 1992}, entifled ‘Bushman Copper and Autonomy’, has a fine discussion
of Bushman control of copper mines in the Otavi district.

1 BAP, RKA 2100 Leutwen in Otjimbingwe, 19/10/95, to RKA, reports mnstalling mn Ghaub
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Bushman Aribib at Naudas®, See also Leutwein, Elf Fahre, p. 88
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were now formally outside Herero control had not been vacated by their Herero
inhabitants. Thus, they could not be opened to German settlers until the Herero
had been driven off the lands which were now no longer officially in their
possession. However, it was when German authonties, working in alliance with
Herero allies, sought to enforce the various conditions stipulared in the assorted
boundary treaties that disagreements surfaced and armed conflict broke out
between the German authorities and their allies on the one hand, and the
various Herero groups on the other hand.

Not surprisingly, as the conditions of the various boundary treaties were
enforced, and the Herero were forced into ever closer confinement, the
pnpuia(iun pressure of Herero and their stock in the territories nominally still
in their possession increased. As the noose of treaties tightened, and access 1o
water, grazing, game and lands became ever more contested, tension rose. Apart
from resulting in increased pressure on natural resources, the forced removals
of Herero stock mnto ever smaller areas meant that infectious stock diseases
would soon be able to run riot. With nowhere to turn to, the effective
quarantining of stock became impossible.

Even before the outbreak of armed conflict in March 1896, tensions rose
continually during 1894 and 1895, as Samuel Maharero asserted new-found
authority. As the paramount chief of the Herero, Samue! Maharero claimed
jurisdiction over people and territories never before controlled by the chiefs of
Okahandija. The new-found subjects of Samuel Maharero found themselves in
a position where they no longer had recall to their own chiefs. Added to this,
due to the newly delineated boundaries of Hereroland, it was no longer possible
for disaffected subjects, as they had done in the past, to ‘vote with their feet’
and abandon Samuel Maharero for another chief. The impact of the changed
balance of power that had come about in Hereroland is well 1llustrated in the
case of the Omaruru sub-chiefs, Katarre and Daniel Kariko. The men were
sub-chiefs of Manasse Tjisiseta of Omaruru, Due to the changed circumstances
that had come about in the course of 1895, the two men were no longer able
tlnsgiek redress from their chief Manasse Tjisiseta, who had been cowed in late

Katarre

In late 1895 Samuel Maharero and Major Leutwein, accompanied by cannon
and cavalry, delineated and sought to enforce the northern frontier of
I—[erem}and. Apart from fulfilling the wishes of the land companies, the German
authorities had their own agenda for seeking to enforce this boundary. In
keeping with Leutwein’s policy of divide and rule, Leutwein was anxious to
prevent contact, and thus the development of an alliance between the Herero
chieftains of Hereroland and the Ovambo kingdoms that lay to their north. An
added aspect was that the German administration wanted to gain control of
the trade leading to and from the north. To this end a military fort was
cstablished at Qutjo, along the main western trading route that led from
Omaruru to the Ovambo kingdoms.

The settlement of Katarre, one of the sub-chiefs of Manasse Tjisiseta of
Omaruru, straddled the trade route that led from Omaruru to Ovamboland.
Acting on reports supplied by Francois and missionary Rautanen, a man who
plarticularly feared an alliance between Kambonde, the king of the Ondonga
kingdom in Ovamboland, and the Herero chief Kararre, Leutwein sought to

- In answer, Leutwein deliberately snubbed Manasse Tjisiseta by referri
i - the affair in a postscript to a letter wherein he had harangued Manasse’l
b for failing to move his subjects back from the northern Hereroland boundary.

Samuel Maharero as Paramount Chief 93

subjugate Katarre. In his official dispatches Leutwein noted that he wanted to

punish Katarre because he was ‘the swindler of all white traders and

- travellers’.'"2 As such, Katarre was charged with having stolen a chest belonging
to the Cape trader Jan Lambert, and, though he protested his innocence,
P Katarre was found guilty, fined eighteen cattle, and all of his firearms were
. confiscated. ' Katarre, believing himself to still be subject to his chief Manasse
¥ Tiisiseta, lodged a protest with him in Omaruru. Manasse Tjisiseta, in keeping
| with his role as Katarre's Omuhona, sought to defend his subject. In a letter to
' Leutwein, Manasse Tjisiseta supported Katarre's claims of innocence and
b wrote, ‘from all that I have heard about the man who stole the chest I must

conclude that everything that Katarre has told you about the chest is true’.'*

Leutwein’s postscript deliberately emphasized Manasse Tjisiseta’s subservience
to Samuel Maharero:

R:gardmg the rouﬁscatmn of Katarre's weapons, As you were not present in
1 req d the par; chief to take over your posinon and duties.

Thls I did so that the Herero could see that the confiscation of weapons occurred in
keeping with law and custom.'*?

Daniel Kariko

As noted carlier, in November of 1894 the settlement of Okombahe, and the
lands immediately surrounding it, was removed from the control of chief
Manasse Tjisiseta of Omaruru. During the rains Herero pastoralists living in
Okombahe tended to leave their permanent water sources and trek to pastures
with temporary water sources which were accessible only during the rainy
seasons. Berg Damara horticulturalists, who lived in symbiosis with the Herero
pastoralists at Okombahe, remained at the permanent water sources to tend
to their gardens. For a variety of reasons a number of these Berg Damara
horticulturalists saw themselves as the subjects of rich Herero pastoralists. This
symbiotic relationship was one which the German authorities found untenable.
In terms of German thinking at the time, the Berg Damara were a subjected
and enslaved people. A people that needed to be freed from their enslavement
s0 that they could develop as a counter — naturally allied to the Germans - to
Herero and Nama power. Furthermore, once freed from perceived Herero
enslavement they could supply the labour so desperately sought after by the
incoming German authorities and settlers, It was on the basis of this thinking,
along with the pure realpolitik of Leutwein, which ght to ken Manasse
Tiisiseta and Herero power as a whole, that led to Leutwein’s insistence that
Okombahe be removed from the control of Manasse Tjisiseta of Omaruru. In
exchange for agreeing to supply labour to the German colonial authorities,
Cornelius Goraseb of Okombahe was installed as the first paramount chief of
the Berg Damara. At the same time Daniel Kariko, a cousin of Manasse T)isiseta
of Omaruru, who had been in charge of the settiement prior to November 1894,

112 BAP, RKA 2101, Leutwein in Windhoek, 25/12/95, 1o RKA. JBG’s wranslation.
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was ousted as chief of the whole settlement and was henceforth only permitted
jurisdiction over the Herero population resident in Okombahe. 5%

By January 1895, German officials, operating out of the newly established
military garrison in Omaruru, had begun voicing their dislike of Daniel Kariko.
Thus Leurnant Volkmann, who travelled to Okombahe in December 1894,
described his meeting with Daniel Kariko, in a letter to Leutwein, as follows:

I could immediately see thart the captain Damel Karnko, who was a blown-up frog
with a big mouth in everything and who suppressed the Berg Damaras severely, was
n no way suited to govern together with Cornelius and that the struggles/strife would
not be resolved. I told ham therefore that he eould no longer be the captain of
Okombahe, but that he was only captain of the Herero in Okombahe. Furthermore
that your excellency [Eurer Hochwohlgeborenen] had given the place for use to
Cornehus.'s7

A few months later in early 1895, once the rains had begun and the garrison
fort completed, LeutnantVolkmann, who had been left in charge of the German
garrison in Omaruru, travelled throughout the areas now officially under his
jurisdiction. Volkmann reported that the Hereros had left their gardens in charge
of their Berg Damara servants. This was a situation which he found untenable
and which he resolved to alter. Henceforth the gardens, lands and resident
Berg Damaras were removed from Herero, and thus Daniel Kariko's
jurisdiction, and placed under the direct jurisdiction of the German
authorities.!** Not surprisingly Daniel Kariko's relationship with the German
authorities was not improved by this affair. However, Volkmann’s dislike of
Daniel Kariko was soon to increase even more.

In late July of 1895, Manasse Tijisiseta arrived in Windhoek for medical
treatment. As a gesture of his goodwill, Manasse Tiisiseta brought along
fourteen Berg Damaras whom he handed over to the colonial authorities for
labour purposes.'s® Needless to say, the Germans, who were desperately short
of labour, were pleased with the gift. However, for Daniel Kariko, Manasse’s
gift of Berg Damara labourers had totally different implications.

Prior to travelling to Windhoek, Manasse had pondered on how to placate
the Germans. The events of November 1 894, when Herero prisoners were used
as labourers, and Okombahe had been granted autonomy in exchange for
labour, had emphasized to Manasse Tjisiscta and his council the German
hunger and need for labour. This was further underscored when Lindequist
wrote the following to Manasse:

My dear captain I have one more request to make 1o you, you promused . . . Volkmann
[the German officer in charge of the garrison in Omaruru] a number of Berg Damaras
as Labour for Windhoek. Volkmann has told me that once the ones that had been
brought together by vou, were brought to him they ran away, Here they receve good
food and also money. As we need them badly, I ask you, to send along, as quickly as
possible, about 20 energenic labourers, fatling which you can bring them along when
You come here yourself. &0

'™ BAP, RKA 2150, Treaty regarding Okombahe of 30/1 1/94.

""" NNAW, ZBU 2027, Volkmann in Omaruru, 1/1/95, to Leutwen, IBG's translanon.
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i is i 1 nasse Tjisiseta ordered the Herero chie_f in chax_‘g_e_a[
-EFJLEJ':I:[&;;;?DT;?:! gi:riko, o rlaid for Berg Dam?m labour. Kar:kQ‘s activities
did not pass the Germans unnoticed. In an official statement, entitled, Report
on what was done by the Herero to the Berg Damaras in the Bockberge, Sergeant
r Herz reported his findings as follows:

On 11/7 the Berg Damara Richard told me that at the Bockberge stock had be;nl
slaughtered and stolen by Hereros . . . I rode to Bockberge where 1 was met :l
woorman [foreman] Kurirab and other aged men 20-22 in all. A_I'(er I had warne
them to tell the truth Kurirab began to tell as follows: Daniel lfankn was present in
Omaruru (day undetermined) Manasse spoke to Daniel, ‘I am now going l:;
Windhoek, the Herr Major [Leutwein] will ask me as to the labourers, th:'rcl'ur; :
will send you to the Bockberge so that soon some [!aboutcrs]' will come.” Dar:ilc
arrved in Bangibloed (Otjipane) and sent 3 of hls_‘. and 7 cfS_auI 's own people under
the leadership of the old Joseph (the last named being a councillor of Daniel [Kariko])
with the order to capture and collect many of our young men and bring them to
him. All 10 Herero were armed with firearms, and a_rrived at one of our cattleposts,
which was situared halfway between here and Ameib. The post people [servants a;
the cattlepost] gave them their Unkis [small field bulbs] and milk as a sign o
friendship. Five of the Hereros went into the veld and drove the stock onto the pus!.l
Without asking the post people they slaughtered 2 karpater [sheep] drank honey
beer and then burnt down the werft (about 20 qonloks). All the blankets and skins
which the post people possessed, as well as 10 big pots of honey beer, valued at 152
mark were taken away or robbed by the flames. Approximately 100 small stock an:
all the living beings which were to be found at the post, were taken along. Then they
arrived at the second post (day unknown) where they slaughtered three sheep, burnt
down the werft, honey beer to the value of -Ilﬁ mark ai;{d tobacco valued at 24 mark
. . the firearms of the post people were taken.
Wﬁ? Ta.ktizs-eph[htonk 8 lnhourcrspl'rum here, these had been collected at the

cattleposts,'®!

Although Kurirab was shot at twice during the course of the three-day raid, h!i
followed and confronted the leader of the raid,]qseph, who was one of Danie
Kariko's councillors. Having presented Joseph w_n.h a s?mcp, Kurirab was a.br:c
to gain an audience with Joseph and Daniel Kariko: ‘Upon my cump]:u_nt,::‘":
[Kariko] answered me: “. .. Itis all the fault of Manasse and the HerrMa;ori._ ;.
The writings of Leutnant Volkmann, the German officer in charge of the
garrison in Omaruru, indicate that he knew full well what the background was
to Daniel Kariko’s labour raid: “When the Kaiserliches Landeshauptmannschaft
wrote to Manasse directing him ro send Iahoulrcrs he crdureFIIDam_ei [Kariko]
to gather these together.”'®* Even though the raid had been initiated in response
to German demands for labour, Volkmann pressnd_chargcs of mu_:der against
Kariko.'** Charged with murder, Daniel Kariko failed to appear in Omaruru
when summoned. Instead, in a gesture (;xtrl:mc_ly illustrative of Here;o
perceptions regarding the colonial authorities, Kariko sought 1o appease the
Germans by presenting Leutwein with a further fourteen labourers.

Herrn Major Leutwein in Windhoek . . . This 1s ro inform you that | am sending you

0 NNAW, ZBU 2027 WIIL d 10, 1%7/95 Station Okombakhe Bericht uber Sachen welche von Hereros
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3 i rden. JBG"s translation. .
E?‘\k:g&’t;;? L“E"‘a‘ I,{!C"JII d 10, Volkmann in Omaruru, 6/8/95, to Leutwein. JBG’s translation.
r f 2027,
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14 of my people who unul now have worked for me. 1 only have these people, I have
no more. I will lend them to you to help on the roads but please return them when
you have finished with them. When their work 1s completed write me a letter
informing me that you are sending them back to me, furthermore write to me how
much money they have earned. As I have tald you previously i Omaruru these are
my very own servants [Knechre], who are in my service, and are nor people such as
the bergdamaras at Okombahe who have been freed. Finally I ask of you to please
look after these people well, ¢

The colonial state was seen as a labour-hungry institution, which indeed it
was_iob

Not only had Daniel Kariko been placed in charge of Okombahe by Manasse
Tiisiseta of Omaruru, he also claimed and possessed rights to a number of
cattleposts and settlements in the Bockberge, Erongo mountains. As had been
the case with Okombahe it was believed that once Herero control of these
settlements and cartleposts had been lifted, then Berg Damaras would be freed
to labour for German colonial interests. In a report entitled, Report on the
availability of labour from Okombahe, Volkmann reported on the availability of
labour in the Bockberge:

In the Backberge [sic] (Erongo mountains) a number of Bergdamara werften are to
be found, of which Omandumba 1s the biggest. It 15 situated on a big plateau in the
mountains east of the road Okambahe to Ameib and a number of hours east of
Tumeb. In the mountains a number of scattered Bergdamaras live wild, for which
the Hereros have great fear. They are bothered by no one. Omandumba has a fairly
well stocked small stock population and in the mountains even a number of cattle
poOSsts,

Damiel Kartko, a chief who Manasse had orginally placed in charge of Okombahe,
has during the course of time enserfed and repressed the Berg Damaras who possess
stock. He has declared that the land belongs to him, all the stock 1s his possession
and the people are his servants [Knecheen]. As Danuel 15 an extremly authoritative
Lgewalttatiger] person nobody has previously dared to voice disagreement with him.

In order to maintain the appearance of rights to these Berg Damaras, Daniel has
given some numbers of stock nto the care of these people.ts?

Volkmann concluded his report by recommending that Omandumba be placed
under the control of Manasse Tjisiseta: ‘Daniel Kariko no longer has anything
to say there. The Berg Damaras stay living there as people of Cornelius
[Goraseb] the Hereros are warned to live with them in peace. Possibly the place
can be declared a neutral area.’ 5% Consequently Daniel Kariko was ordered to
relinquish all his authority in the Bockberge to Manasse Tjisiseta and Cornelius
Goraseb.

Itis clear that the German authorities saw Daniel Kariko primarily in terms
oflabour, and specifically as a blockage to the effective supply of labour. Added
to this, the German authorities sought to ‘tidy up’ the ethnic map of
Hereroland. Herero were to be placed under Herero, Berg Damara under Berg
Damara and all of them were to be under the ultimate authority of the Germans.
In line with this thinking and in flagrant violation of the Okombahe protocols

1= NNAW, ZBU 2027, W II d 10, Damel Kariko in Okombahe, 12/7/91, to Leutwein, JBG's
translation.
1% See particularly, NNAW, ZBU 2027, Volkmann 1n Omaruru, 12/5/95, to Leutwein.

T NNAW, ZBU 2027, WIL d 10, Volkmann in Omaruru, 6/8/95, to Leutwein, JBG's translation,
18 Ihd.
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of November 1894, Leutwein proclaimed that Daniell Kariko no longmi hald
any say whatsoever in Okombahe, and all the Herero living there had to leave
tlement immediately.'*® - )
thg;;rtough the activities ol:!L.eutwcin,mGmenn and Manassel lisiseta, Da:::_le}l
Kariko was dispossessed of the settlements and l_ands associated “}t
Okombahe and Omandumba, and thus of land which could be used for
patronage and as a source of exploitable and exportable Berg Damara labour.
Anxious to retain a measure of independence, Daniel Kariko soug_h_r to
strengthen his northern flank and retain his |nc_|cpendcm access o ammunition.
To do this, Daniel Kariko trekked north, in late 1895, and cn_tered lntt}
negotiations with Kambonde the king of the 5qu(hcrn Ovambo kingdom of
Ondonga. Apart from seeking permission for h|§ followers to withdraw into
and settle upon the territory of Kambonde, Kariko also Is(lmgl;ll.oto_ seculrgsn::
independent and dependable source of arms and ammunition.'? Sm_ce ir: "
when the trader Eriksson had abandoned Omaruru _and Icslabhshed hm::se 1!1“
Mossamedes, the Ovambo kingdoms, which were in direct contact with lr e
Angolan harbour of Mossamedes, had become :h.c main source of arml,s1 or
the northern Herero chieftains.’™ The wells at_?\amuwn_t, on the scu;‘ ern
fringes of the Etosha pan, formed one of the main centres in this (r_a_de, ﬁarll
from Daniel Kariko and his allies, the sons of Kam_hszcmbn als_o unhz_cd t f:n‘
links with the Ovambo kingdoms for arms trading.'™ Daniel Kariko wa;
successful in his negotiations with Kambonde. Mlsst_opary Schaar, statmn!: .
at Okombahe, reported that all the Herero fo_rmefly living at Okombahe were
trekking north in late 1895 and early 1896.'7 It is probable that the Hcrfrc,
referred to by Leutwein in a letter of complaint to Manasse'for having
transgressed across the northern boundaries och_rumIand near Nam::;om in
1896, were these selfsame followers of Daniel Kariko trekking north. .
Apart from trading and negotiating with the Ovambo kingdoms, ami
Kariko, in an effort to strengthen his position further, reesrabllshcgahns cgntg;;
with a section of the Swartboois at Fransfontein and Sesl'ontcnq. U_nul 1 :
the Swartboois had been at war with the Herero of Omaruru. Following Pe;c;
negotiations, in which Daniel Kariko p!a)-i_zd a central rpl_c, lh_c- S\\'arlbm?is a
concentrated on and developed links with groups living in nlorth-w_e;tc{n
Namibia and southern Angola.'™ It was these links that Daniel Kariko, in

1 BAP, RKA 2101, Leutwen in Windhoek, 25/12/95, 10 RKA & Leumwen, Elf Jahre, p. 91.
e \'!\'J‘\\X-' ZBU 437, D IV. C. 4, Hartmann 1n Ouav, 8/12/95, to I.s.'umr'cln. g
(b i*'nr a d::(alh.-d overview of the shoft in trade away from Om:rulru 10\1’-:1wshayd::\ t P
towards Mossamedes, the Kalahar and the Transvaal, see Harn Tm‘f{? o
Change m Ovamboland, 1850-1906, Studia Historica 35 (Helsinks 1990) pp. -63. St
2 NNAW, ZBU 437, D, IV. c. 4, Volkmann in Omaruru, 27/4/96, to Leutwen. This nrmsl 1: Lr
wa; well cista'blleihud by the 1860s and presumably led in part to the considerable wealth of
Kambazembi.
™ BRMG 1896, p. 132, i )

N ZBU 2027W 10, Lewtwein in Okombahe, 2/10/96, to Manasse. )
:“‘ tiiﬁ" ‘ZZ%Ltzf‘;'; D Ii\d" c 4, }‘!‘nrunann in Otave, 8/12/95, to Leutwesn & Volkmann in

» 27/4/96, to Leutwemn. _— )
e'ni!’::-‘::::lnrly well sl}u ated to supply Damel Karko with armaments wasV |:n] Io:a;élcihnd ru':(l::;:
into southern Angola after Omaruru had gone into economc dechne in lhf carly 18 s h“'i?'u: e
AngalaVita Tom had set humselfl up as a war-lord engaged and emplo : nln L ‘dl,(!rt ek
community and Portuguese authorities in wsr][a:_ru ;%:nns: thc!?\'\;:'lt\:&ngomﬂz;r:w > E I’ éml;
v ;. Fi cerview of the ife and nmes of : = L.P

?n‘:iha [k[::st;:‘:::' I;}'(.;rra’:..);‘:flj:;'::uu dre Kunene; Dre verhaal van Kaptemn Vita Tom 1863-1937,
(Windhock 1990).
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seeking to secure his northern flank, sought to tap into and expand.

Apart from seeking friendship, refuge and armaments from communities
along his northern frontier, Daniel Kariko also sought to secure the friendship,
assistance and armaments of Cape colonial business interests and through them
ultimately of Great Britain. One of the ways in which Daniel Kariko sought to
do this was through the supply of Berg Damara labour and slaughter stock to
the Damaraland Guano Company, which had a company base at Cape Cross
on the Atlantic coast.’” Here, since the 1840s, and at other places all along
the coast, centuries of accumulated guano had been scraped off the rocks and
shipped throughout the world as fertilizer. Conditions in the guano camps along
the coast were harsh, and it was with difficulty that people could be induced
to work there. In exchange for trade goods, news of the world and armaments,
Daniel Kariko provided the Damaraland Guano Company with much needed
labour and slaughter stock. In May 1896, Daniel Kariko and eight of his
councillors rode out of the Namib desert and into the small settlement at Cape
Cross. Mounted upon riding oxen, the men were dressed in military-style
fatigues, and on their upper left arms they wore armbands of red, white and
blue. The German non-commissioned officer Bahr, who had recently been
stationed in Cape Cross, later wrote:

When I remarked that instead of the black [which would have made up the German
colours] they were wearing a blue band, they [the Herero] replied that they were
English colours . . . A i by an English they visited the Guano camps
[Guanolagern]. They also visited the schooner Alerr which was lying here at anchor.
- - - I believe that the only reason for their comung here was to acquire ammunition,
The Hereros wish to return later with the English trader Labather [Sabata).!™®

Kariko followed up his call ro Cape Cross with a visit to Okombahe, the
settlement which had only recently been taken from his control. One of the
German soldiers stationed in Okombahe later reported that when he inquired
as to the armbands being worn Kariko replied: ‘I should know better than he
did, he [Kariko] was now an English subject.'7?

Little more than a month later Daniel Kariko, ten of his councillors and a
herd of slaughter cattle revisited Cape Cross, and Bahr reported the following:

-+ - they had come to trade slaughter stock, They wanted weapons in exchange, as
Elers [employee of Damaraland Guano Company] did not want to give any [sic]. As
Elers told me he badly wanted to buy the sl stock. I therefi 1 d the
request, '8¢

Bahr’s words indicate that as late as 1896 Daniel Kariko could, and still did,
rely on his contacts at Cape Cross for the import of arms and ammunition,
and that German authorities were in effect powerless to do anything about this.
The German authorities had long suspected that Daniel Kariko was acquiring
arms via the Cape, and had repeatedly accused the British Magistrate in

7 NNAW, ZBU 436, D.

IV. c. 1, Resident Magistrate Cleverley in Walvisbay, 7/6/96, to Leutwein,
NNAW, ZBU 437, Bahr in Cape Cross, 12/5/96, to Kaiserliche Dhstrikeskommando an
imk JBG's translation.

'™ NNAW, ZBU 437, Statement Carl Richard Dahnel taken down in Omaruru, 19/8/96. IBGs
translation,

80 NNAW, ZBU 437, Abschrift aus dem Berichte des Feldrwebels Bohr vom 2 Juli 1896. 7. N. 40.
JBG’s translanon.
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Walvisbay of complicity in the smuggle of arms to Daniel Kariko.'®! IHowever.
it was not until they had gained a measure of control in the affanrs of [he:
Omaruru polity that they were able to undertake any action against Danie

* Kariko.

In much the same way that he had exploited Samuel Maharero’s differences

ith hi i i loit Manasse Tijisiseta’s
" with his subjects, so Theodor Leutwein sought to exploit jisis
© differences with [,)aniel Kariko. Following the Christie affair, Manasse Tjisiseta,

in return for peace, had been forced to rescind his control over the 'Blcrg Damalrs;
population of Okombahe, and in so doing had effectively cast his sub-chie

| Daniel Kariko adrift. In the two years following the Christie affair, Theodor

Leutwein used the issue of the Berg Damara pn_pulation of the Omaruru polity
as a chisel with which, bit by bit, parts of the polity were remnw_:d [an Mansss?
Tjisiseta’s control. For each of the Omaruru poh‘ry s alleged mfrmger_e:ls o
German rule, Daniel Kariko became the “fall guy’ - the blood offer W%E  was
expected in exchange for peace and the continued existence of Mal_'lassc |1§|scl/:
as an independent chief. Effectively Theodor Leutwein explonecl_ 1\-'!.;;1::15_5‘!l
Tiisiseta’s power and desire for peace to be able to get at and undermine Dani
KaS:ze news of Daniel Kariko's visits to C:alpe Cross became known in
Windhoek, orders for his immediate arrest were issued.'®* A factor u}ﬂqen;u}g
this decision, and allowing for its feasibility, was that, at the time o his \;lslts
to Cape Cross, Daniel Kariko had withdrawn himself _gn_d his fo]]ower_s mrz
Manasse Tjisiseta’s authority. Indeed it was J\:'lanasse Tiisiseta who, an;:oqs_t ¢
improve his standing with the Germans, first nl-nformed the German au 0:!:'!1!;
as to Daniel Kariko’s whereabouts, his military status, _and requeste 1;
arrest.'®* The German authorities, anxious to further the split that hm'irglmlargc‘
between Manasse Tjisiseta and Daniel Kariko, acceded to Manasse Tjisiseta’s
request on condition that he supplied soldiers to accompany .th.': Gcrm:n t;ug::;
sent out to capture Daniel Kariko.'® In the past Manasse Tjisiseta ha ofr chcr
Daniel Kariko to comply with German demlands; now he went one Istl:phprt :
by setting up a trap for the arrest of Daniel Kariko by summ;ypg im tia(;
talks to Omaruru.'®s Daniel Kariko did nor suspect that Manasse Tjisiseta :ouh
take part in a scheme to have him arrested. Indeed, he wclli:ome t ;
opportunity to talk about his position and requested that Vo géanndag
Cornelius Goraseb be present at the talks. However, he was sa em:f iﬂy
Manasse Tjisiseta’s attitude towards him am_:ll t?elt tzmt he was h;mgl un ; hiys
persecuted, and, in responding t&ManasseT]as:seta lfmm.lmmons, e signe

i Ti a, meaning the persecuted one. : o
Ien];::iqetlhl(‘r:filf: \T;s,betmyedgby Minassc Tiisiseta. In response to his chmt;:I s
call Daniel Kariko travelled to Omaruru, where he was gromp\{lyharrcsl:elé
incarcerated and charged with high lreason.'ll"he court martial, whndc was he! g
following his arrest, found Daniel Kariko guilty of high treason and sentence,

i BAP, RKA 2101, Leutwein in Windhoek, 25/12/95, to RK:_% & exiremely cheesed-off letter in
NNAW, ZBU 436, Cleverley in Walvisbay, 7/6/96, to Leutwein,
12 NNAW, ZBU 437, Volkmann in Omaruru, 17/6/96, to Leutwein.
:: Q',:?.R\Kf ZBU 437, postscript by Leutwen, 25/6/96, appended to letter sent by Volkmann in
ND s & 37,

Omaruru, 17/6/96, to Leutwein. E
"‘m,\'N!\\XIT, ZBU 2:)27.1xu:wemin‘% dhock, 6/3/96, 10

1 '6/96, to Manasse. ) :
:': l-it':r\;f:’.ZZﬁjBU 43?‘? Daniel Kariko in Eharni, 26/6/96, to Manasse. JBG's translation.

& ZBU 437, Daniel Kariko
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ﬂlm. I?ue to Manasse Tjisiseta’s i_n;crvcmiun Kariko’s hife was spared. However,
cg}z:s sc_nrenccd to a two-year jail sentence, later converted into banishmen;
::as :::l;l:n:fall his ﬁn.:a:l-ms were conﬂ_scalred. Furthermore Daniel Kariko
Su”?s a:d (e‘a ro:r} exercising any authority in the settlements, Eharui, Sorris
one sd ca.t'}:e i:rns‘.s, all of which had previously been under his control.
g b e tal crlxsfs payment n!‘_ﬁnes were transferred to Manasse Tjisiseta
s chief of Omaruru,'® Following his banishment, Daniel Kariko wrote on
more to his erlsnvhilc protector and chief, Manasse Tjisiseta. Kariko kn e
exactly what his posinon had become, and in his own bitter wc-u-ds he \-.'r(:-:c\:‘r

I have nothing to write except to greet you 1 fear for mysel i
::c'rﬁﬁcc,]: mean | am dead, I have moved on, and I am rruIyydcard:”Ih:;]f:Fa:':;
v heart _ns moved far away, I fear you. When you say you {Dantel Kariko] are snii
E::;:;cn[n‘c;:;en }Ilou :Incun y;ur mother Kamaija and Gerhard and my Berg Damara
3 rs to them when you say I sull have a yo
even though you sold them to the Gcrmyans. I fearto b:yst:llr(‘ig!i‘rwl::rlrlmﬁjr;s] 3 :’:l'l("l
die rherg where the sun goes down. Will you now kill me )'(;ursclf or wall ;«oﬁ se:d
:::r;n‘luss_atms to kill me[?] So I wait as your younger brother praying, in this mstance
% ell you; l:’ym_l kill me, then do not do this as an act of your authonity [on behalf
your leadership]. Do not send the very first people at hand, because you are lazy
or hso that you can say of those to be killed that they were not killed hy-\'au To k|.l}l
:;;s::gc(i;rh:rlc: and Philemon or \:\'l” you have the bravery to face rhose; wh‘n know
Joupa e }.oeurtmc;;al:-u ask you “Why did you kill Daniel?’, to know that you killed
. - . Enough.
The sacrifice greets you I am Daniel Kariko,'®

Less than a year later Daniel Kariko escaped to Walvisbay, 19

The centre cannot hold

Between his installation as paramount chief of the Herero i

the outbreak of war in March 1896, Samuel Maharero cxtcnd:djl:lilgpla?; 223
influence throughout all of Hereroland. In effect he became the most powerful
ngcro_ chief !hal’. had ever existed. However, his power, which waps bas:ld
primarily on his ability to manipulate the threat of German military firepower
came at a cost, which Herero, most of whom had but recently found themselve :
to ‘cte the _sub]c_cts of Samuel Maharero, had to bear. .
_ Following his insmlla_[inn as paramount chief in 1894, Samuel Maharero.
;_n return for German aid, had agreed, not only to the establishment of 'I:h:,
irst of many German garrisons in what had now become his territory, but also
more importantly, to the first of many boundary agreements that ;i,e]ineatec;
the southern boundary of Hereroland.' Aside from delinecating territory to

' NNAW, ZBU 437, See court marual of Daniel K
437, aniel Kartko, Inis of interest t 2

:::.:Iw:; L‘:;‘cfda:l rans]a\l.(sr i the trial, was the son of Tembo, a freed slave I"r)orr'r‘: tt;‘:t::{(sn':;m)uu;
tho ome to Namibia as an employee of C.J. Andersson. After 1894 B. T

::t p:rmm§1 servant of -Fiam( Franke and later gave evidence for the *Blue Honk'c;’( ':J:‘-;ﬂ::\i‘

ma&c::s n&f!.\uw):_[ﬁsr Africa and Their Treatment by Germany (London 1918), e S
’\W’ %gL :3?, Daniel Kanko in Eharu, 4/9/96, to Manasse. JBG’s translaton

, ZBU 2027, Manasse in Omaruru, 9/8/97, to Leutwein )

" BAP, RKA 2100, von Lindequis -] - -
m Windhoek, 13/1 z.rl;:, mngtlg.r\uf“ Mindhock, 117494, toRKA; and Inter RICA 2100, Leutucin
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be handed over to settler and German control, Samuel Maharero, by agreeing

to these boundary treaties, also asserted his rights and claims to territories never
before controlled by the chiefs of Okahandja.'! Anxious to retain German

| support, and attain wealth and power, Samuel Maharero actively assisted in

the enforcement of the treaty conditions, even though this consisted primarily
of the expulsion of Herero from their lands. Samuel Maharero seconded his
troops, councillors and even his own sons to the German boundary patrols
which determined and enforced the newly established southern boundaries of
Hereroland, and, at times, Samuel Maharero was not beyond becoming
personally involved in the expulsions.!® Apart from expelling Herero from
territories, Samuel Maharero extended his powers of patronage by ordering
his own favoured sub-chiefs and followers into territories which had now
officially become his.'** From November 1895 onwards, all Herero cattle
impounded, for alleged boundary transgressions, were publicly auctioned,
whereafter the proceeds were split berween the German authorities and Samuel
Maharero.’ The traumatic nature of this measure, can be garnered from the
fact that, when this occurred for the first time, Samuel Maharero’s son and
nephew, who were volunteers in the German army, broke down in tears and
immediately requested that they be released from further duty in the German
army.'”s Needless to say these activities inflamed passions amongst all those
who were not allied to Samuel Maharero.

As the newly delineated boundaries were enforced and the expulsions
continued, Herero artempted to escape the ever encroaching boundaries and
withdraw away from the German threat of dispossession. There was but one
way in which they could move, northwards ever deeper into the newly
delineated Hereroland. German authorities were aware of this migration, and
it was something they had hoped for, as Leutwein noted:

It 15 certmin that throughout Hereroland a certan spirit [Gahrung] has emerged.
The people see themselves and their means of existence as being under threat from
all sides, and they no longer know where to turn to with their enormous cattle

herds. 1%

Leutwein expressed the hope that once the population pressure became acute,
the Herero would be forced to sell their huge herds to the European settlers.!??
However, this was not the case and travellers began reporting the effects of
overgrazing as the Herero herds were forced into an ever-increasing small

area.'?®

1 See boundary treaties in BAP, RKA 2100, 11/7/94 southern boundary; 13/12/94 southern
boundary adjustment; 26/2/95 & 3/7/95 Boundaries & 29/8/95 northern Boundary.

12 BAP, RKA 2100, von Lindeguist i Windhoek, 19/1/95, to RKA, refers 1o Herero councillors
Assa Ruarua, Julus, Paulus, Chrisuan, Friednch Maharero, Hugo and Wilhelm accompanymng
the boundary commussion of 1895. Leutwein, Elf Jahre, p. 92. On Samuel Maharero's personal
imvolvement in the expulsions see NNAW, ZBU 2027, Samuel Maharero in Okahandja, 31894,
to Leutwein.

1 BRMG 1895, p. 71 mentions that the chiefs Kanagati, Kajata and Mbatacra, who were allies
of Samuel Maharero and who had been sertled around Onosazu were moved, under orders of
Samuel, into the eastern border areas of Hercroland,

1" BAP, RKA 2100, Hauf Muller in Windhoek, 19/11/95.

" Leuwten, Elf Jahre, p. 92.

1= BAP, RKA 2101, Leutwein in Windhoek, 25/1 2/95, to RKA. JBG's translanon.

7 BAP, RKA 2100, Leutwein in Windhoek, 317195, o RKA,

w BAP, RKA 2100, Leutwein at Grootfontein, 24/8/95.
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In late 1895, the Ovambo king of Ondonga, Kambonde, let it be known
that a number of Herero had come to see him, complaining that Samuel
Maharero had become the servant of Leutwein, % Large numbers of Herero
felt that they no longer had recourse to authority, apart from that sanctioned
by Samuel Maharero and his German allies. In line with this, Rhenish
missionaries reported that large numbers of Herero no longer stayed art the
mission stations out of fear for the new colonial regulations.?® This sense of
powerlessness was not confined merely to the common Herero. Chief
Kahimemua Nguvauva of the Ovambanderu wrote bitter letters to Theodor
Leutwein declaring his rights to land, water, people and leadership, and
demanding that his authority should be recognized. Particularly galling, for
Kahimemua, was that he had received no recognition, in the form of land rights,
fromTheodor Leutwein, for the fact that he had stood alone in the wars against
Hendrik Witbooi, whereas Nicodemus Kavikunua had received extensive land
rights and had even been appointed as his superior:

I place my troubles before you, I travelled faraway with Kaprein Maharero [Samuel’s
father], all people had fled and had left him in the lurch during the days of the wars,
I however stood by him in his need. [Standing] Next to him I was assailed by 10
wars and I did not abandon the land while he fled, until we made peace with Hendrik
Witboor. And I thought then for my efforts you would give me a small bit of land, in
exchange for the troubles which 1 experienced. [ have had more troubles than any
of those whom you have granted land, Therefore [ ask of you dear sir that you make
known where my debts to you he, whether I owe either you or Samuel, why you
refuse 1o grant me part of the land.

You gave land to Zacharias in Otjimbingwe, Kambazemb you gave land, you gave
land to Manasse, and you gave to Nikodemus the land which was actually meant
for me. 1 in turn have spilt my blood for noughr.

[ think that you alone have a good heart, that you will see the troubles that [ have
suffered, however I know thar all the land here belongs to you and Samuel .., I beg
of you that I be granted rights to the lands between Oyihaenena and Epako [Gobabis]
in the name of you and Samuel.2™

Unfortunately for Kahimemua, and the majority of other Herero who, in
seeking justice, petitioned Leutwein, it was part of Leutwein's avowed policy
of divide and rule that prevented him from acceding to their demands. Not

surprisingly this condition could not last indefinitely and in March of 1896 it
broke.

Let loose the dogs of war

In early 1896, Major Leutwein, commander of the German forces and governor
of German South West Africa, wrote to his superiors in Berlin stating that he
believed that the chances that peace would be maintained in the territory were
slim.?% In the previous two years, German forces and their Herero allies had
expelled Herero and their stock from areas lying beyond the boundaries of the

= BAP, RKA 2101, Leutwein in Windhoek, 25/12/95, 1o RKA,

** BRMG 1895, p. 71,

1 NNAW, ZBU 2028, W II d 14, Kahimemua Munjuku in Ouihanena, 3/3/96, to Leutwein,
JBG's translanon.

2 BAP, RKA 2100, Leutwein in Windhoek, 29/1/96, 1o RKA,
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rcated Hereroland, and forced them into the ever more crowded
:::alsyo(:'cc!::t:aaltl-leremland. Nor surprisingly this boundary enforcement and
forced removal had led to tension and open armed conflict was often_'n only
narrowly averted. In March of 1896 armed conflict did break out. Within two
short bloody months, hundreds of Herero, Ban_deru and Khauas KJ"mE \z_crc
killed and two chiefs executed. The following section looks at the events leading
up to the Ovambanderu Khauas K.hoil war ol_‘ 1896. 6o
The Otjihaenena boundary commission incident of January 1895, w ed
Lindequist and his commission had, to all intents and purposes, been arreste
and taken to Otjihaenena by the forces of Nicndemus_ Kavikunua, l'!ad led to
the renegotiation of parts of the boundary agreement in favour of _Nlcodemus
Kavikunua.?®* In follow-up negotiations Nicodemus was aplpuu_ued as an
independent chief and as Samuel Maharero’s representative in eastern
Hereroland.2* At the same time the German authormcls established a garr:szn
at Gobabis and a military post at Olifan(sklogctl“; ostensibly to control the trade
from the Bechuanaland Protectorate. ) )
= ?:?Sc;ccmber 1895 German troops, operating out of Gobabis und}:r the
command of Leurnant Lampe and assisted by the soldiers of Samuel Maharero
and the son and soldiers of Nicodemus Kavikunua, arrested a'numbgr of
Tswana Rolong traders at Olifantskloof.* qun though he was being aIssmte({
by the soldiers of Samuel Maharero and Nicodemus Kavikunua, Lampe
believed that whilst returning to Gobabis he was to be ambushed by Herero
and Mbanderu forces. No attack took place, and apanlfron_'x an srgumcn"!t
regarding rights to the captured firearms, Lampe andllus prisoners arrwﬂs
unscathed in Gobabis. However, this did not prevent Izn:n from sending nh_a
rather panicky missive to his superiors in Windhoek.?*” In response to this
Hauptmann von Sack, accompanied by forty mounted men and a cannon& \;vars
despatched to Gobabis. Sack arrived in Gobayis_ spml]‘ng for a fight and left
the inhabitants of Gobabis in no doubt as to his intentions:

.. [when] asked why I had brought along a cannon, [ rephed, that the l'unmgnds_:
the cannon was to pumsh all the tribes that transgressed the German laws and di
not keep to the treaties,. *™

Strengthened by the arrival of Sack and his_ rcinforceme_:n(s, Lampe rco;:ehncde
boundary discussions with Nicodemus K_:mkunua. During the ca.ursbe o td r:: z
days of negotiations, Nicodemus Kavlku_nua ggr_eed to l‘ur:h:.r' 0L1I1n ;a‘:;
adjustments and reiterated that he intending sticking to Ithc treaties he :

signed. As a token of his sincerity Nicpdemus handed his son, Hosea,gv r
into the care of the German authorities.*® Though follc\_wrs of the va—f

banderu chief, Kahi Nguvauva, were present during the course o
the negotiations, Kahimemua himself was not present. Indeed, Nicodemus

i I 19/1/95, to RKA.
o BAD, RIA100, Treaty conciaded between Nicodemus Kavilumus and Leutwern, 14/6195.
e 1 .
s i C nd the Bechuanaland
20t Later, following lengthy negotiations bc(\éccfn Gckrlmafn]y the lh?:cB:ush S i g

S it 1d become apparent that Olifantskloof lay wi A ;

Iphr:;:cr:r:;::\gl, (::tl:adcrs, whao w?:fc led by a man named Muzikuma (), were arrested, on charges
of arms smuggling, and escorted to Gobabis.
2t BAP, RKA 2100, Lampe in Gobalns, 2/9/95, to I.:tulwtm. . .
e g:l’ REA 2100, Hau:tmann won Sack in Gobabis, 8!101'95_, to Leutwein. JBG's ranslanon.
. Bﬂ[’: RKA 2100, Von Sack in Gobabis, 8/10/95, to Leutwein.
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Kavikunua complained that, even though, in terms of the German treaties and
agreements, Kahimemua had been placed under his authority and was therefore
hf_s subject, Kahimemua had left Otjihaenena without informing him.?"9 Though
:\1c_udemus K:évikunua was clearly intimidated by Sack’s show of force, he was
anxious to maintain his alliance with the Germans and Samuel Maharero, if
only_[ur the benefits that this alliance had brought him. However, Nicodem’us
Kavikunua’s decision to continue his association with Samuel Maharero and
the Germans served to isolate him not only from his erstwhile benefactor,

Kah1mep1ua Nguvauva and the Khauas Khoi, but also from his own follaw:rs?
Herero interpreters, who had accompanied Sack on his mission to Gobabis

rcpqr(ed that, at the close of the negotiations in Gobabis, Niccdcmu;
Kavikunua had lost the support of a large section of the Mbanderu, Herero
and Khauas Khoi councillors present in Gobabis at the time.2!! :

_[n |rs_elf, Kahimemua’s break with Nicodemus Kavikunua, who had clearly
allied himself with Samuel Maharero and the Germans, was not surprising
for in south-eastern Hereroland it had primarily been Kahimemua’s peoph:
who had suffered from the forced expulsions.?? The involvement of the soldiers
of Samuel Maharero, since early 1895, and of Nicodemus Kavikunua, from
Ju_k:,' 1895 onwards, alongside German troops in the forced removals asso::iated
with thq boundary enforcement, did not do much to ensure the maintenance
o!’_ cordial relations between Kahimemua Nguvauva on the one hand and
Nicodemus Kavikunua and Samuel Maharero on the other,

Aft_er two vears of forced removals, tensions within Herero society were at
breaking point, even amongst the direct followers of Samuel Maharero. Though
chrcr_o soldiers operated alongside German troops in the boundary patrols
this did not mean that they remained unconcerned by what was happening. Ir;
Augus_t of 1895 Herero troops, under the command of Riarua’s son Assa
operating alongside German troops in a boundary patrol led by I.indl:quist,
refused to :_abey orders and even went to the extent of raising their ﬁrean'n;
against their German patrol members.?*? These tensions were exacerbated
following the conclusion of treaties, in late 1895, by which Herero carttle
lmpyundcd south of the Hereroland boundary were to be sold by public
auction, and the proceeds to be equally divided between the German authorities
a“fj Ssrm_ml Maharero.?" In due course, in November of 1895, Hauprmann
Miiller raided Herero cattleposts to the south of Okahandja and confiscated
no less than 236 cattle and 176 small stock.2' The cattle were auctioned for
3500 marks and Samuel Maharero received approximately 1500 marks.?'¢ The
cattle raid was clearly intended to weaken Samuel Maharero’s positinn‘ within
his own society and make him more dependent on German assistance and
support. l:ur. in this instance, the cattle taken belonged to some of Samuel
Maharero’s closest advisers and followers, Johannes Tjamuaha and Barnabas,

;"'I' :LA:, RKA 2100, Von Sack 1in Gobabis, 8/10/95, to Leutwein,
o 1d.
12 See particularly BAP, RKA 2100, von Lind, ist in Windhoek

: ' 19/1/95, 10 L
» NNAW, ZBU 2027, W II d. 9, Leutwein in Outjo, 17, indequi
o4 Lomtoectn. Bl v, it in in Outjo, 17/9/95, to von Lindequist,
2 NNAW, ZBU 2027, W I d. 9, Mucller in Windhoek, 17 i}

s -9, ! cl 11195, | S

:’;:(?0, _Lcuu:u:m mn Windhoek, 19/11/95, to RKA, - FrEmacs SRR R
-h .\'M?W, ZBU 2{_]2?.\):" 1 d. 9, Mueller in Windhoek, 17/11/95, 1o Leutwein, mentons that
the CBI: ': were auctioned for 3500 marks & BAP, RKA 2101, Leutwein in Windhoek 29/1/96, 10
REA. thar cattle imp ded b ht up 2950 marks, ’ '

" both councillors of Samuel Maharero, and Paulus Kanaimba, Liccus and

Nathienel, all of whom were firm supporters of Samuel Maharero.?!” Indicative
of Samuel Maharero's powerlessness vis-a-vis the Germans was that, even
though he complained to Leutwein, he was unable to do anything other than
accept his share of the proceeds of the auctioned cattle.?'® Opposition to Samuel
Maharero in Okahandja and elsewhere increased. Added to this, his position
was not strengthened by the blanket dismissals with which the German
authorities greeted his complaints. An example of this was Leutwein's reaction
to Samuel Maharero's following letter:

Dear sir, T receved your letter regarding the impoundment of the cattle. After
recewving your lerter I left Okahandja to ensure that all posts were to the north of
the border. There are still some posts beyond the border, please don't impound them
as | have sent people to make sure that they withdraw as quickly as possible, T have
done this in accordance with our agreement and have brought the posts to Otjizeva.
As there 15 no water and no grass [ do not know where I should turn to with them.
As untl now [ stll do not know where it has been determuned that the border should
be therefore 1 have brought the cattle here, As the border is as yet undetermined, if
1 were to send the cattleposts to Otptugu [?] they would also be impounded. Therefore
1 request of you that these affairs be sorted out as soon as possible so that I will be
able to find place for my wealth.

1 have thankfully recewved the letter in which you referred to one of your men
shootng at one of my men. However these people, the traders as well as your soldiers
have very often hurt me with small things, which are not important and need not
concern you. Whilst trading these people repress my people, so too do your soldiers.

The soldier who shot at my man was not drunk he only wanted to kill my man so
that he could take his horse.

These are my complaints, investigate them before you dismiss them.**

Theodor Leutwein did not even bother to answer Samuel Maharero’s letter,
let alone investigate his complaints. Instead, he sent the letter on to missionary
Viche, stationed in Okahandja, with a subscripted scrawl ordering Viehe to
give Samuel Maharero a geography lesson. 220

Samuel Maharero’s precarious position was further exacerbated by his
growing dependency, in the absence of confiscated cattle, on land with which
he could settle his extensive trading debts.?* Typical of the traders associated
with Samuel Maharero was Ludwig Conradt, who instituted court proceedings
against Samuel Maharero and his councillor Assa Riarua for debts valued at
13,200 marks. As with other prospective settlers and land speculators, Ludwig
Conradt let it be known that he was willing to accept payment from Samuel
Maharero in either land or cattle.??? Samuel Maharero’s position as paramount
chief of the Herero had allowed him to repay his debts through the allocation
of land as farms to traders; however, more often than not these farms were
in territories previously beyond the control of the Herero chiefs of Oka-
handja.??® Not surprisingly Samuel Maharero’s involvement in land sales, land

0T NNAW, ZBU 2027 W II d. 9, Mucller, ibid.

B NNAW, ZBU 2027,W 11 d. 9, Samuel Maharero in Okahandja, 26/11/95, to Leutwein.

213 NNAW, ZBU 2027, Samuel Maharero 1n Otjiseva, 12/12/95, 1o Leutwein. JBG's translation.
2 [n due course Viche rephed that he had done as ordered. NNAW, ZBU 2027, W1l d. 9,Viche
in Okahandja, 23/12/95, to Leurwemn.

=1 NNAW, ZBU 2027, W II d. 9, Samuel Maharero in Okahand)a, 26/11/95, to Leutwein.
AW, ZBU 2027 W II 4.9, Ludwig Conradt in Rehoboth, 20/2/96, to L

NNAW, ZBU 2027,W 11 d 14, Samuel Mahareromn Qkahandja, | 1/1/96, to Leutwein, in which
he refers to having sold a farm to a trader in the Grootfontem dhsirict.
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dispossession and cattle theft did very little to endear him to his subjects,
particularly so when his very own councillors and family members were the
ones slighted. By early 1896 Samuel Maharero’s power base, purchased and

based upon land sales and cattle dispossession, had become Increasingly

number of German patrols operating between Windhoek and Gobabis, that is,
precisely those territories recently cleared of Khauas Khoi, Herero and
Banderu, were stepped up.?* These events, along with the tales based on the
evidence of rraders operating in Hereroland, and German reports on the illegal
importation and stocking of arms and ammunition, led to settlers becoming
increasingly willing to believe that a war was imminent, 225

In late 1895 and early 1896, German sertlers held stormy meetings in
Windhoek calling for the immediate dismissal and replacement of Theodor
Leutwein with a more forceful colonialist, 2 Sertler representative Carl Weiss

sutwein’s all too mild an Eingeborenen politik, in particular with regard to the
Herero.22” Alarmed by what was happening amongst the settlers in Windhoek
and elsewhere, Samuel Mabharero asked Leutwein to travel to Okahandja to
discuss the issues related to the southern boundary and in particular the
settlement of Seeis.22* [1 is clear that Leutwein was also alarmed by the attitudes
expressed by the settlers. However, in contrast to the settlers, of whom Leurwein
did not hold a high opinion, he believed that in the long term it was impossible
to merely force the Herero off lands claimed by the settlers. Instead, if the
colonial settlement of Namibia was to succeed, it was necessary thar Samuel

With this in mind and anxious to avoid a war, Leutwein agreed to Samuel's
request and called for a meeting to be held with all the Herero chiefs in
Okahandja in early 1896225

When Leutwein rode towards Okahandja, in January 1896, the sinceriry of
Nicodemus Kavikunua’s willingness to cooperate, and perhaps more
importantly to be seen to be cooperating with the German forces and Samuel
Maharero, was emphasized once again. As Leutwein approached Okahandja,
which was decked out for the occasion in bunting in the colours of the German
flag, Nicodemus Kavikunua and § | Maharero, accon ied by twenty

p
uniformed Herero carrying German flags, rode out to meet him. 2% All the major
chiefs, with the exception of Kambazembi, Manasse Tijisiseta and Tjetjo, were

4 BAP, RKA 2101, Leurwen 1n Windhoek, 29/1/96, 1o RKA.

2 For reports regarding the illegal importation of arms into the lernitary, see BAP, RKA 2101,
Lombard in Groeotfontein, 2041496, to Leutwein. For war scare, see BAP, RKA 2101, Leutwein
in Windhoek, 29/1/96, 10 RKA.

“* BAP, RKA 2101, Leuvtwein in Windhoek, 29/1/96, 10 RKA,

1 BAP, RKA 2101, Weiss in Windhoek, 7/2/96, to RKA. About a month later Samuel Maharero
wrote a letter to the German Kaiser requesting that Leutwein be kept in the territory, BAP, RKA
2101, Samuel Maharero in Otpmbingwe, 18/3/96, to Kaiser.

#* RKA, BAP 2101, Samuel Maharero in Okahandj 5 23/1/96, to Leut

* BAP, REA 2101, Leutwein in Windhoek, 29/1/96, 10 RKA. To be on the safe side, Leutwein
also wrote to Germany and requested an extra 400 troops, four cannons and officers,

0 BAP, RKA 2101, Leutwein in Windhoek, 29/1/96, to RKA.

Samuel Maharero as Paramount Chief 107

in Okahandja to discuss the issues relating to the s_outhcm bound:lary,

i.eurwein opened and set the agenda for the talks by stating rlhat _ﬂ:ere_ “el:c
two issues which needed to be clarified if peace were to be maintained in the
territory: what was to be the southern boundary of Hereroland, anrd what was
to be the punishment for those who transgressed the houndall‘y. After _twe_n.rsj—
four hours of deliberation the assembled Herero chl_el's submitted their v‘l;.\\s'
on paper. In response to Herero suggestions, Leutwein agreed to the bounﬂ :}:}
being temporarily shifted south, this so as to al_low Herero cattle access t he
brackish waters at Seeis. However, of far more importance was that II_.cutwn;},
amaster in the art of divide and rule, was anxious to prevent the build-up of a
unified Herero front against him. He therefore refusedl to accede to Nmr:dcmu;
Kavikunua’s request, that he be permitted to seulel in Gobabis, even (hqug
Nicodemus Kavikunua had done all he could possibly have du_ne o mdl-:_:atc
his willingness to cooperate with Samuel Maharero and Leutwein. At the time
Leutwein wrote:

- . . the relationship between these two chiefs [Nicodcmus Kavikunua and Samuel

Maharero], which has untl now been one of ammosity, appears, ol‘_ late, to_:::ave:

improved. Nikodemus stubbornly requested tha(_he mgetlhcr with his cnuInr.l ors

and herds of oxen be permitted to settle at Gobabis, Referring to our treaty I just a::

stubbornly turned down his request. Gobabis is of such strategic and commercia

impnrtnnc-:, that I would never relinguish this place.2"

In doing this, Leutwein effectively turned Nicodemus Kavikun}xa against h:tl_'n.

Nicodemus Kavikunua, who had been rejected by most of his followers for
cooperating with Samuel Maharero and the G_ermans, hadl nuwhcre Sro mrr}
to. The gamble that Nicodemus had taken, in cooperating with Samue

Maharero and Leutwein, had not been succgssful. In_stcad Nicodemus
Kavikunua found himself consigned to exist in limbo until the events of war

ok him. : ) o

w‘l‘_l.:ﬁrwe}::a and the Herero chiefs had held their meeting in Okahandja, in ag
attempt to alleviate the tensions that, on account of the forced removals an

cattle dispossession, had built up in the territory. Though there ulv-:rc soEe
minor temporary adjustments to the boundaries, it had hecqrne clear at hc
conclusion of the meeting that there was to be no subsll:antla_l let-up in t ;
dispossession of land and the enforcement of I?Oundanc_s. With settler agné

Herero tensions running high, it was no real surprise when, in late March lSh >
war broke out in Gobabis. In three battles, Herero, Band_eru and Khaugs Khoi
forces, who had initiated action against lhﬁ German garrison in Gobabis, w;re
defeated by combined Herero, Nama, Tswana and German forces under

nd. 232

Ge::iz:?;::?li(tcs wound down, Nicoder_nus Kavikulnua travelled ht_a
Okahandja to plead his innocence. In Okahandja hF stayed in the }Lnusc (sz is
step-brother Assa Riarua, who guaranteed that Nicodemus wau_l not e:ve
Okahandja.2® Kahi Nguvauva was captured at_?(aikfomem and ta CE
to Okahandja.?** Though he protested his innocence, N:Fodemus was arreste

shortly before Kahimemua was brought inte Okahandja. The two men were

:: E’SA'{EEC%EE.:;:TWD“N c.| Band 1. Feldzug gegen die Hereros und die Khauas Hottentotten
1896 Band |.

Y NNAW, ZBU 436, Schwabe in Okahandja, 16/5/96, to Leutwen.

3 Ibid.
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charged with high treason, found guilty and sentenced to death. On 12 June
1896 Samuel Maharero, who in late April 1896 had written to Leutwein
pleading Nicodemus Kavikunua's innocence, now refused to pardon his
erstwhile Oruzuo rival and openly spoke out endorsing the forthcoming
execution of Nicodemus Kavikunua,** After a few sips of wine Nicodemus
Kavikunua and Kahimemua Nguvauva were bound and taken by ox-cartto a
spot outside Okahandja. Nicodemus Kavikunua was tied to a tree and shot,
whereafter Kahimemua Nguvauva was similarly killed by firing squad.?* The
followers of Nicodemus Kavikunua and Kahimemua Nguvauva, in so far as
they had not been killed, fled into the Bechuanaland Protectorate or were placed
under the chiefs loyal to Samuel Maharero. The Khauas Khoi ceased Lo exist
as a political entity. In a policy of genocide all Khauas Khoi SUrvivors were
captured and taken to Windhoek where they were placed in a concentration
camp, and used as forced labour by the German colonial state,237

Conclusion

Between his installation as paramount chief of the Herero in 1894 and the
outbreak of the Ovambanderu Khauas-Khoi war of 1896, Samuel Maharero,
through the shrewd manipulation of German colonial power, consolidated and
extended his power. In the symbiotic relationship that developed berween
Samuel Maharero and Theodor Leutwein, Samuel Maharero used, and came
to rely on, Leutwein’s power to extend his own power. Similarly Major Leutwein
was dependent on Samuel Maherero, and, albeit to a lesser extent, Manasse
Tiisiseta, to extend his own power and to add an air of legitimacy to his colon-
ization. One by one Herero chieftains opposed to Samuel Maharero were forced
to submit to him in the face of German fire-power, In exchange for the services
rendered by the Germans, Samuel Maharero signed treaties pertaining to the
rights and properties of people who had mever before been under his
jurisdiction. Land, newly acquired by Samuel, was cither sold off to German
settlers or signed away in a series of boundary adjustments instigated by
Theodor Leutwein. Through the conclusion of these treaties Herero chieftains
were placed within the ambit of Samuel Maharero’s and ultimately Germany’s
control. Furthermore the newly delineated boundaries led to the encirclement
of Hereroland and the encroachment by German settlers and land companies
on former Herero lands. Between 1894 and 1896 Samuel Maharero supplied
troops to delineate and enforce the southern boundary, assisted in the expulsion
of people from their ancestral lands, settled his own followers on land now
officially in his control and in return for payment assisted in the enforced sale
of his subjects’ cattle. In effect, Samuel Maharero used the territories and cartle
of people who had recently become his subjects, as patronage for his supporters
and as payment of his debt to the Germans. Needless to say these activities
inflamed passions amongst all those who were not allied to Samuel Maharero.

It was when soldiers, operating under the authority of Samuel Maharero
and Germany, sought to enforce the conditions laid down in the various treaties

" NNAW, ZBU 436, Samuel Maharero Okahandja, 22/4/96, to Leutwen,

e

NAW, ZBU 437, Statement by Kahimemua.
# NNAW, ZBU 436, D IV .1, Band | -2 Feldzug gegen die Hereros und die Khauas Hottemtorren
1896 & ZBU 2030 W. 11 d. 23, which contamns hsts of captured Khauas Khoi,

that tension and later conflict broke out. More _and more people and ll:!e:;
livestock were forced off their former lands and into the ever more crowde L
areas of the newly delineated Hereroland. In an effort 10 reduce the strains
that had been brought to bear on their peoplg, ngcro chiefs soughl(_ (; com.c;
to agreements with the German authorities, independently of Samue

| Maharero, and sought to renegotiate boundary delimitations, it was all to no
| avail,

In a sense, the Ovambanderu Khauas-Khoi war, whilchl broke out in 1?\96,
only temporarily relieved the land pressures existing within Hereroland. As a

: result of the war large tracts of Herero territory were cleared for German

settlement and large amounts of Herero stock cgpmred and d:smbuteddamongs;
German settlers, However, the war did no_{hmg o c_‘hange (hg furll aa.ll;nelmazi
process of land dispossession which was taking _place in the territory. T] e a:d
clearances which continued unabated following the war ch. to codnfmtu o
overcrowding in the territories allocaltcd to the Herero. This ina :1“ (:SL
overcrowding was to have dire implications for Herero stock when rinderpe
struck in the year following the Ovambanderu Khauas-Khoi war.
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introduction of rinderpest to Namibia
n we arrived 28 oxen had already died. They lay scattered around. All the sick
mals — ca. 10 - were pr d, we saw a gr image. The tall, sometumes
EBigantic beasts in a pinful state; deeply socket sunk washed out eyes, matted
[gestraubre] hair, palpitating flanks, stumbling gait; a disgusting stinking bloody black
glime emptying from their behind. We are immediately agreed that here we are dealing
h the pest and have two of the animals shot.?

4

The Curse of Kahimemua
1897-1903

derpest was introduced to the African continent at some stage in the late
By 1892 the disease had reached the territory of present-day Zambia,
it was held up for a while by the Zambesi river, which it eventually crossed
6.* By July of 1896, the German authorities in Namibia, alerted to the
ach of the disease, had begun taking measures to prevent it spreading
‘the territory.’ In October 1896 there were reports of an outbreak of the
e around Lake Ngami in the Bechuanaland Protectorate.® Lake Ngami
j§ connected by trade routes to western Namibia and was an important centre
traders operating out of the territory. Though measures were taken and the
e routes immediately closed, it was virtually impossible to prevent the
d of the disease. The disease was unwittingly introduced to the territory
T Jaiie T455 the _ ected trek oxen operating along the extensive trans-Kalahari trade routes,
S the Ovamh_anderu chief, Kahimemua Nguvauva, was . d by game, particularly by eland and kudu, whose rotting cadavers infected
o:"ahi:.;(r?:; ﬁrtmg squad 1jn ?kahandga. Prior to his death, Kahimemua singl ‘cattle herds of Tjetjo Kandji and traders operating amongst his people in

entors, cursed them and cursed the land as a w i tn Hereroland.” The measures taken were too late to prevent the spread
hoiei he disease, and this was exacerbated by the fact that those expected to
irce the trade ban were themselves often involved in trading, This is aptly
ated by the activities of Hauptmann Franke. To supplement his military

Introduction

ok &\]':\cn my knee dlsf_ﬁcates the men with whom 1 have caten the blood of sheeff
ar::.a gfnmg to Q1c, When my hair comes off my head there will be a rinder
:‘::Foom. (Omutjise 1o Pesa) and those cows that [ have milked are going to die WII; .

¥ pancreas falls off and bursts I will make friends fight.! i W, ACC 560, Franke’s Tagebuch, 24/5/97. JBG’s translation.
Less than a year later, Kahimemua’s Prophecics came to pass. The rinderpeg e e e,

epizootic dccim:latcd Herero cattle herds, led to the reorganization of H 0
society as new elites capable of profiting from the changed circumstances card
to the fore, and facilitated German colonization of the territory as H rerd
desperate for food, vaccines and medicines, were forced into : 0s1 ion 4
de?!:nd_cnce vis-a-vis the colonial state and the settlers. S
& Ih:.' impact of rinderpest on the Herero has been discussed before elsewhe
h‘s:i-‘:\“d:??r:ry Jakob Irle and the historians Helmut Bley and Horst Drechsleg
o n ed a number of pages to the epizootic’s impact on Herero sociel

essence this chapter builds and expands upon the arguments of these autho

rience soon guides the eye and ear, and the broken-winded cough and the discharge of
8 from angry-looking eyes are at once noticed. As the discase runs on, the ammal becomes
clined to rise from the ground - some of the the beasts may be consupated, passing hard
15 of yellow-grey clay - but most will be affected by a watery and foeud diarrhoea, often
d with blood. The temperature 1s very high, and the breathing laboured . . . ropey saliva
round the mouth and nostrils . . . As the temperature falls, the ammal becomes semi-
pmatose and weaker; muscles guiver incessantly, moamng and gulping increase, and about
days after the antack commences the beast dies.

pilard, ‘“The repercussions of Rinderpest: Cattle plague and peasant dechine in colonial Natal®
he International Journal of African Hutorwcal Studres, 19, 3 (1986) quoting from Naral Wimess,
iy 1896. Franke's descriptions echoed the reporis of y services through Africa ar
e. In East Africa the disease was described as *. . . an acute contagious virus disease of
pants and swine, characterised by diarrhoea, nasal and lacrimal discharge and by ulceration
mucous membrane of the mouth’. H. Kjekshus, Ecology Control and Economic Development
st African History: The Case of Tanganytka, 1850-1950 (London 1977), p. 126 quoung from
REAA] 1939 (5):57. In South Alrica the disease was described as “a specific malignant and
hly contagious fever characterised by acute inflammanon of the mucous surfaces, affecting
tle, game, and, 1n a mmor form, sheep’. Charles van Onsclen, *Reactions to Rinderpest in
Africa 1896-97", in Journal of Afrcan Hustory XIII 3(1972), pp. 473-88, quonng from
tal Vetermary Surgeon, Cape of Good Hope, Spectal Report on Rinderpest in South Africa

3

;;:‘r:r:r\;‘rlcu‘ conducted wn_h Mr Titunga in Gaborone 14/12/02, Transcribed in BB 31-3
: m})u ;}hrd aclj{;unlg of oral histories on this topic see Heywood, Lau and Chly {cd;fplr.l‘ﬁr
caders, ages and Owtcasts m the Nambran Past (Windhoek 1992) : y
T sages o ; ) % Vs 992} and Sundermeier and Kuva ' 2
H"mm_;:z;;‘.f.::;rfla‘:;; Iﬂ];!;;:.l“\ ‘uum 1914 as told 1o Theo Sundermerer m 1966 by Hewmnrich Tjituk O}uiif'c_:z;;u:;r':;??', s 3'.‘_'5—88
it Anm:,;““r:: H:,l:a:.\!:'mu;rk Kavary, Paul Kagnkua, Ernst Ketprporu, transiated fro JAD, REA 2’I0 1, Lcm\-'\-';i'?m \1"1ndh‘0uk. 2007196, 10 AA
P o e : [3;:\ ng T;::;:um:}! by Brigitte Lau (Windhoek 1986). AP, RKA 2083, Leutwein in Spuzkoppe, T/10/96, to AA
» PP. 301-3; Bley, Sou I ¢ ¢ i . : i
v, Son it Africa, pp. 124-9 & Drechsler, Fighting, pp. 97-84 von Weber, Geschichte des Schutzgebietes Dentsch-Sudwest-Afrika (Windhoek 1979) p. 75.
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income, Franke indulged in a number of activities which ranged from labour
recruitment to horse and cattle trading. Writing in his diary entry, for 13
October 1896, Franke referred not only to his worries regarding the rinderpest
reports, burt also to buying twelve horses at £16 each which had been driven
from the Transvaal through the Kalahari, and thus along routes already infected
by the disease, to Namibia.#

Though the disease had already entered the territory by late 1896, definite
reports on the outbreak of rinderpest in Namibia only reached Windhoek in
April of 1897. The first herds to be struck by the disease were those of the
followers of Tjetjo Kandji, who lived in castern Namibia. Given the density of
traffic on specific trade routes, the disease spread incredibly rapidly. Due to
environmental circumstances OX-waggon trains were forced to pass along very
specific routes. The mission chronicles for Otimbingwe, in detailing conditions
along the route to Walvisbay, provide us with a graphic indication as to the
density of traffic on some of the waggon trails.

It was a gruesome road. It was covered with ox bones. A couple of weeks ago the
Finns [missionaries who had begun operating 1n Ovamboland in 1870] with 5
waggons lost 82 oxen. The road could not be otherwise, as 1n one year 880
COnsig were t ported inland, of these over 500 passed Omimbingwe.
During the past year 10000-12000 oxen passed Otimbingwe as draught animals.®

Even before news detailing the infection of Tjetjo's herds had reached
Windhoek, the disease had already been carried into the settlement by traders
operating along the Skaap river."® The spread of the disease was further
facilitated by the displacement and relocation of substantial numbers of people
and cattle, into the already densely populated areas of southern Hereroland
between 1890 and 1896. Due to war and land clearances, particularly in eastern
and southern Hereroland, Herero settlements had been forced to relocate to
the already densely populated areas of what had been newly designated as
Hereroland. This packing together of people and cattle ensured thart there was
virtually no tract of land that was not utilized. Thus when the disease struck,
the possibilities of quarantining were severely limited; consequently the disease
spread like wildfire.!! Within six months of its introduction to Hereroland, at
least two~thirds of the cattle in the territory had been killed by the disease.
Some communities lost 95 per cent of their cartle.'?

Preventative measures

Once it had become clear that th
Zambesi river, authorities throu
action, initially to stop the s
the damage caused by the di

e rinderpest would not be kept at bay by the
ghout southern Africa sought to undertake
pread of the disease and later to attempt to limit
sease. Already in July 1896, when rinderpest had

* NNAW, ACC 560, Tagebuch Franke, 13/10/96

* ELCIN, V. Chromken, Oyimbingwe 1895,

19 Leutwern, Eif Fahre, p. 126

"' For an overview of the clearances following the Ovambanderu Khauas-Khor war see BAP, RKA
1489, Muluarisches Emschreiten der Schutatruppe; 20 Tuly 1896 - 2 Februar 1898,

12 Horst Drechsler, Let us Die Fighting, p. 98, quoting from Irle, Die Herero, p. 301, who reported

that barely 5 per cent survived. Gerhard Pool, Samuel Maharero, p. 165, has figures of 97 per
cent of cattle being killed.
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barely crossed the Zambesi, the Gcrman_au:horities had be:gu‘ndplngmr:igﬂl:‘)‘;
an eventual outbreak in Namibia. All garrisons were st_reng:hulu : and or e
to secure enough stocks to ensure that (hcy_could exist foi: wWo }cf:;sf::micr
being resupplied, and extra tl:o%psdwcrcndnspal:ched to the easte 3
sibly to seal the territory’s borders. o

os@;:t:}it[bciamu clear thart the disease would not by_pass I\a_:'imbla. E‘:z
German authorities sought to introduce a 20-km quarantine corri orf;:icm
northern and castern borders of Hereroland. Ho_wcvcr, there were I;‘ISUEd i
troops to enforce the quarantine, and lhos_e soldiers who w;re emp c:;Ck okl
gencrally inexperienced, or, particularly in the northlcrn istricts, s sy
malaria. Added to this, the incubation period th:u existed b:t_ween n o
and the first outwardly visible symptoms of the dise?asc resulllc :}r: ma:); p wgw
continuing to transport cattle under the false impression t a;tl FlL i‘trs[ed
healthy.'* The impossibility of enforcing a quarantine zone is \_ate i 1u. =
by the case of Estorff who, with less thgn thirty sulmlers at his dl:]?osad, ::stgnf
to enforce a quarantine zone, extending four days’ travel r;ord su-:1 Poss
Omaruru, along the most important trade routes to Ovaml:!o an i: oogs “;
According to Estorff’s orders, traders were to bc_ allowed to _lad g s Lo
Ovamboland but were not allowed to return until after (h:_: nq .erprcs g
passed. Those accused of failing to report outbreaks of the dlscaudwuerc 2
arrested and fined. However, more often than not, those cxr{ec‘;e 'lr‘;es‘:hig
were themselves involved in long-distance ox-waggon lr_ad‘..b t ;: s
included the troops themselves. Indeed rmderpest‘ fnrs_t ro : ot
Grootfontein in the cattleposts of the German troops. The disease ha e
introduced to Grootfontein by trek oxen, usgd o r;m.‘x\pply th‘c garr:sog;kablc
Windhoek, where many had died without diagnosis.'* It n{aa ;m |]mw ey
situation and in due course the discase was reported to be rife along

es from the north.'® : s
Lraﬁ:sgilil::tud with the policy of attempting to implement an _effe:(:jtwe %ut-mrtl)l.;}:;
of Namibia was the policy of culling all cattle herds believed to a‘ewhcrc
infected by the disease.’” Apart from the fact that there were instances i
German soldiers and settlers acted of their own accord in kll[;ng_l—lcrcr]: Lhaad a,
the killing of what was to all int_r.ms ar_id purposes healt idﬂ\‘:r; i)
fundamental impact on Herero society. This fundlamcm:nl brea‘. IO iyl
was after all a world dependent on the ownership of living cau :: e ,m e
exacerbated when young Herero men, most of whomlwcre too ém-"lg il
stock owners in their own right, were employed, and pmd‘an. oxa 'ar-‘{‘c?for[ i
in the slaughter of cartle.'®* Whole l'tErds were slaughtered in a vai

; : disease from spreading.

Dl'iat?:;;h;'heer scale of the epidemic became apparent, a_numbcr |'ocde:f;§
men were employed to assist in combating the disease. Chiefs supplied y

/i s sending 100 remnforcements
i1, L vein in' Windhoek, 20/7/96, to AA, mentions sen ng 10 ren ; :
l:)}:;:}f:ﬁ: I‘ll|-.-]tr|:|‘:‘:sc;|reng:hcn the garnson in Gobabis and to ensure the sealing of the
der against the nnderpest.
T“n\!rt’cebcrf(?zscmchac. p. 75 ELCIN, V. Chromken, Omaruru 1897,
# ELCIN, V. Chrontken, Omaruru 1897, .
i rl:\liiilu\v,?a(i 2027 WILD 10, Bensen in Omaruru, 218/97, to Leutwemn.
" ELCIN, V. Chroniken, Omaruru 1857.
" BRMG, 1897, p. 323,
1 Tad,
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men to assist in the enforcement of the quarantine and vaccination campaigns. 2
Prior to their direct employment by the German forces in their fight against

the disease, Herero had undertaken action of their own accord. Once news of

the rinderpest became widespread, large numbers of Herero attempted to

quarantine their cattle herds by trekking away from the areas worst affected.

Previously densely populared sertlements such as Otjimbingwe, Otjosazu and
Omaruru were all but abandoned, as people left the settlements in droves and
attempted to drive their cattle herds away from the worst-affected areas.?!
Unfortunately for them, their search for safe havens failed. Due to the forced

removals and land dispossessions of the previous years, population pressures |

in southern Hereroland had increased prior to outbreak of the disease, and
this facilitated the spread of the disease when it struck.2?

Apart from merely attempting to ensure the effective isolation of their stock
from the epidemic, Herero also sought to employ medicines which would ensure
the well-being of their cattle. During the latter half of 1897 an Omubanderu
man was reported to be living along the Omuramba Omutako, one of Namibia's
least accessible areas and thus an area initially spared by the scourge. It was
believed that he, through the utilization and application of various roots, was
capable, not only of preventing the infection of healthy cattle, but also of curing

cattle already afflicted by the discase.?* Be that as it may missionary reports
noted that:

The heathens and a number of baptised sought their refuge in roots that grow in
this land and gave these to their beasts, however it was all 1n vain.?*

Kohlstock and Koch

After having crossed the Zambesi river, rinderpest devastated the cattle herds
of Charterland, present-day Zimbabwe, which had recently been appropriated
by Cecil John Rhodes’s Brirish South Africa Company. The BSAC lost a
tremendous amount of money as a result of the rinderpest, and Rhodes, who
until the Jameson Raid had been prime minister of the Cape, was anxious to
prevent a repeat of this happening in the Cape Colony. Consequently a telegram
was sent from Cape Town to Berlin in October of 1896: ‘Cape government
very desirous that docror Koch should come to investigate rinderpest would
he accept and come out immediately no difficulty as to terms.'?* Within two

= NNAW, ZBU 2027, WII D 10, Manasse in Omarure, 28/8/97, to Leutwein.,
# BRMG, 1897, p. 304 reports on people leaving for the feld.

I NNAW, ZBU 2027 WIIL D 10, Leutwein 1in Windhoek, 15/9/96, 1o Manasse,
 Mi v Eich of O d quoted in M low, Whaterberg, p. 20,

Ovambanderu are well known in Herero orature as being well versed in medicines and, to
some extent, the occult. In the hght of this it 13 of course interesting 1o note that in 1897 people
believed that the curse of the rinderpest, now ascribed to the powers of the execured Mbanderu
chiel Kalumemua, could be cured by an Omubanderu. Bearing Michael Taussig's, Shamanism,
Colonralism, and the Wild Man: A Study in Terror and Healing (Chicago 1986, 1987), in mind it s
probabie that this relates more 10 the mar lized p of the O deru
#* BRMG, 1897 p. 323,

# BAP, RKA 6089, Consul in Cape Town, 22/10/96, to AA. Robert Koch was a German physician
with a very distinguished carcer. He was one of the founders of the science of bacteriology, and
discovered the tubercle bacillus and the cholera bacillus. He conducted research on a variery of

diseases, amongst others, leprosy, bubonic plague, surra, malaria and ninderpest. He was awarded
the Nobel prize for physiclogy or medicine in 1905,

.
WINDHOEK

Map 4.1: The spread of rinderpest in central Namiba, 1897

months of receiving these summons, Prof. Dr Koch §md his assistant Ddr
Kohlstock travelled to the Cape and insmllcdl thcn_':selvcs ina laboraf&_ary owne .
by De Beers, one of Rhodes's companies, in K1rr_|bcr]cy, Rl_hodes shpersnmi‘
fiefdom.2 Though Koch and Kohlstock succccded_ in producing a rat c‘r roug| ;
and ready vaccine, the disease could not be curtailed. A c_ontel_'npgraln r:?:rre
concluded that the results of th;J serum developed in Kimberley
* imes good, sometimes bad’.
sol'n;siing {hg; cu:jrse of their activities in Kimberley, Koch and Kohlst;;k;crﬁ
summoned to Namibia by the German government. In February 18 :20
wrote to Windhoek informing them of his intention to send Kohlstoc
Namibia and that: . .
... 1 have succeeded in developing a vaccine against rinderpest. 1 believe fmr?'t-:(hhl:
prophylaxis can also be used in South West Africa and _rha( with the hﬂ:"lp of this
threateming danger to the colony can be averted with little difficulty.

< i Africa sce BAP,
v 1 the activities of Koch and Kohlstock in southern
;Il'(:.:r:ﬂg;la;l::‘x;;‘:;:::l:‘ﬂc; Med. Raths Praf. Dr Koch und das Stabarstes Dr Kohlstack nach
i . Okiaber 1896 — 10 Fult 1897 .

i“\‘f:fg:sgt: ;:IH‘ 1972 p. 483, quoung from E.P. Herald 121711897, Bh‘)dc? c:nnoi{b:\.:
been too pleased with the results of Koch's sciivilie‘s when game on h:? pnvalc‘ _e:.f;t:s[}:u;\r;;
Town were kalled by ninderpest less than a year a_fl:r Koch and Kohlstock’s arnival in 50 ;
# BAP, RKA 6089, Koch in Kimberley 2RI2I9T 1o AA.
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However Kohlstock kept procrastinating, and sent a string of letters to the
authorities, both in Windhoek and Berlin, in which he sought to explain his
delay. In March Kohlstock wrote that serum trials had not worked out but that
this should be no problem as Namibia was still rinderpesifrei, a comment which
not surprisingly elicited the clerical comment, ‘barely!’, in the margin.?® By
early March the doctors Koch and Kohlstock had perfected their serum. ™ Two
weceks later Kohlstock wrote to report that Koch had left for Bombay and that
he himself intended travelling to Namibia before the end of April.* In late
April Kohlstock wrote from Cape Town that he was unable to proceed to
Namibia as the injections which he had ordered had not arrived, and that he
was therefore returning to Kimberley allegedly to conduct further research.’
By this time rinderpest was raging in the castern and northern districts of
Namibia. Eventually in late May, when Kohlstock was officially ordered by
Governor Leutwein to Namibia, he left for the territory.® By the time that
Kohlstock arrived in Namibia, in late May 1897, rinderpest had already reached
deep into the Namib desert, and Kohlstock could see for himself the effects of
his procrastination, with cartle deaths at Anawood and Wilhelmsfeste along
the trade route leading from the coast to the interior. ™

Following Kohlstock’s arrival in Hereroland in June 1897, a systematic
inoculation programme started. The Namibia colonial authorities ordered all
cattle to be inoculated. To acquire the gall necessary for vaccinating purposes,
every stock owner, depending on the amount of cartle possessed, had to donate
one or more of his cattle, These were then purposefully infected with the disease,
whereafter their gall was then used to inoculate healthy cattle against the
discase. Not surprisingly the enforced donation of cattle, for inoculation
purposes, was not greeted with much enthusiasm, particularly so, as lack of
experience and the generally chaotic manner in which cattle were inoculated
resulted in wildly varying success rates, This is well illustrated by what happened
to the cattle herds belonging to missionaries Dannert and Bernsman. The herds
were inoculated by Dr Langheld. Of Bernsmann’s herd of thirteen, a mere four
survived, whilst all of Dannert’s herd of twenty survived.

As in South Africa, Koch and Kohistock’s method of vaccination was a
somewhat uncertain affair. In Otjosazu in a period of six weeks no less than
2000 cattle, of the 3000 cattle vaccinated, died.’” In Otjimbingwe, of the 6178
cattle vaccinated with gall vaccine, 2731 cartle (43 per cent), died, whilst a
mere six head of cattle of the 1394 cattle vaccinated with a blood vaccine died.**
Rhenish missionary Eich, who was stationed at Otjozondjupa near the
Waterberg, reported that at Hamakari, cattle started dying of the disease only
after having been vaccinated against it. At the Waterberg the eventual tallies

“ BAP, RKA 6089, Kohlstock 1n Kimberley, 6/3/97, to AA.

" BAP, RKA 6089, Koch in Kimerley, 10/3/97, to AA.

"' BAP, RKA 6089, Kohlstock in Kimberley, 27/3/97, to AA.

' BAP, RKA 6089, Kohlstock in Cape Town, 25/4/97, to AA.

** BAP, RKA 6089, Pauli in Cape Town, 19/5/97, ro AA,

" BAP, RKA 6089, Kohlstock in Windhock, 28/5/97, 1o AA.

¥ Leviwen, Elf Fakre, p- 126

" ELCIN, V. Chroniken, Omarury 1897

" Irle, Dre Herero, p. 301,

" BAP, REA 6090, Dirthng in Otpmbingwe, 15/8/97, to AA, This contradicred chnieal trials

conducted by Koch and Kohlstock which had concluded that the gall vaccine was more effective
than the blood vaccine,
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were that 50 per cent of the vaccinated and 95 per cent of the unvaccinated

herds died. Small wonder that Eich concluded:

The Herero have completely lost all faith in the inoculation program and refuse to
allow further inoculations to be conducted.”

German colonial reports make ample mention of Herero refu;ing o pum-:‘:;p:‘:;
ici i e
i inati igns ; fusal to participate which was engen
in vaccination campaigns. It was a re : : :
in part by the unreliability of the gall and blood vaccines. Anmh::gmn::r:af:cl(l:)e
in limiti 2 icipati in the vaccination camp
in limiting Herero participation g Rendods
i i i r by which cattle were selec!
apparently inconsistent and erratic manne : WS - :
pill)-pcscfu! infection, for the production of gall and bio_ot_i mcm:c \:re’cc:m
then used elswhere. Not surprisingly pcnp_}e were unwnll:lng o _b(]:nd e t‘;
in the sure knowledge that they would be infected and die terri Ic lca ht:m
ensure the creation of vaccine which was then used to protect catt. e c;e\:an 3;_
Added to this was the fact that in a number of cases vaccinators, wi of L
best be described as having been over-zealous, cnnflscat:,d cat‘; e gr‘hm
production of vaccine regardless of the size of the stock owner’s h'le"; 3 Enforced
used the vaccine on the herds of totally different stock owners. s c f‘nn e
vaccination and donation of cattle, for the purpose of vaccmr.t pr;: uc! :od ’mis-
a policy open to abuse. A fine example of all of these events, abuse an
understandings was the Etaneno affair.

The Etaneno affair

The independence of Herero society, which had already klneenlsubst:ntialcli
curtailed by the activities of Samuel Maharero andchulwcfn, was tor e;\:hc
further curtailed by events originating out of the rinderpest. r'-\p:rt rob -
impoverishment of Herero society, and the developmc::ll: of ?ep;n t;‘l:: \:as :
i i :mployment and so forth,
society on outside sources for food , employ i r : 5
IutheS:- direct curtailment of Herero mdepcr;del-;cc \:hlcl:l ::::?n]:[::-fbﬁl;;
i i J assis
f veterinary assistance. Under the mantle of aid an : < i
?hcvjiiscase,}G:rman colonial forces were given substantial and falr reac|:1_u11]g
powers with which to interfere in the affairs _01'_ Herero society. Powers w |; .
but for the diseasc, would never have been wul_lmgl_y relinquished m_Germ:a l;
The Etaneno affair provides us with some insight into the far-reaching natu
is involvement in the guise of aid. ) o
o ﬂ:lﬁugust of 1897, Dr Langheld, accompanied by a ;:ccmam%_g_t_e:et:: rr)'t::
Sers. Idiers loyal to Manasse Tjisis
ten German soldiers and ten Herero so ! i ik
ived i Etaneno in north-western Herero 2
Omaruru, arrived in the settlement of e,
inati 00 and 400 cattle, many of whic
the vaccinating team found between 3
\il:rr: already sick. According to Langheld’s later account, he ordered l;r:lf.; ];I:c;if
j to vaccinate :
headman of Etaneno, a man named Karukammo,
He:w::»er according to Langheld, the headman rcfuscd‘ o conpcrz;_tc‘a:tds
Langhc]d,thcrefnrc had him placed under guarrd, I‘arll‘g:d‘lj-[if:::,:gllcl?c:;irho
inE 1 i two of the
in Etaneno differs substantially from those of Ry
: inati i he accounts of Jonathan Ha!
on the vaccinating team. According to € ]
:::r:e}gamugonua, Langheld had ridden to Etaneno not to vaccinate, but for

* Mossolow, Warerberg, p. 20.
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the express purpose of acquiring gall with which to vaccinate cattle in Ouikango,

According to Jonathan Hans, Langheld demanded that Karukammo, the head- |

man of Etaneno, supply cartle for the production of 1
gall vaccine for use on the
cattle of the Onganda of Kahorouga, the son of Kawajo in Otjikango.* Jonathan
;—Ianshgla;c the following rendition of what the headman Karukammo told
.angheld:

I have no more oxen, to which Langheld rephed, here are enou,

will not give away, Langheld then grabbed my arm and said :onﬁt’ii:i?: :Il:: i.?::cl
there you can think about the 1ssue, [ repeated my case and didn’t want o enter Lhe’
house. Langheld then ordered his men to take up arms, the Herero secing this ran
to their arms, Langheld released me and walked towards the crowd, Katakatjura

aimed his nifle. Then things quietened
et U g q ned down the Herero thought that Langheld

_L:nathar: Han_s's statement was backed up by Katougonua, another of
anasse’s soldiers serving on the vaccinating team. Katougonua reported that

in answer to Langheld’s demand for cattle, Karukammo replied:

I have no more oxen. When I initially gave 8 oxen away, the Herr Stabarzt [Langheld]
rode to Otjimbingwe and dered the gall away. Langheld then grabbed my arm
and told me to come into the house where I was to think the issue over, | entered
the doorway . . , | wanted to run away, Langheld held me and told his soldiers, take
Your guns and stand guard ar the door, so that the man cannot run away. 2 ’

Needless to say Langheld had a totally di ] i i
' ngl y different view of the the situation. For
his part Langheld intimated that the events in Etaneno had been prearranged

as an attack on German authority conse i
quently he described
events as follows: y ik coted of

I asked him [Karukammo) if he wanted his cattle vaccinated. Hi 1

evading th_e question. Thereupon I told hum that he should discz:so?h[enitsl:ll.llg ::f]:
his people in a hut, and I called the 10 men [troopers| whom I had with me, to arms
and told them to set up a [Guard]post at the door. At this moment a m;mbcr of
people, nearly 60, jumped up and ran away, whilst loudly shouting their displeasure,
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they were good friends of the German soldiers, ‘they were also Ovaherero and

would not countenance that one of their brethren be harmed. They belonged
. to Manasse of Omaruru who was a good friend of the Landeshauptmann and if
- Langheld had problems with them they should go to Omaruru to discuss this

with them."** It was however primarily through the intercedence of this Herero
soldier that bloodshed was averted, in that he was able to convince Langheld
to release Karukammo. ¢

Obviously similar incidents, where gall was taken from the culled cattle of
one herd to vaccinate the cattle of another herd, occurred elsewhere in Namibia.
Partly as a result of the Etaneno incident, Kawayo (also known as Gaweyo or
Kawaio), who had recently been heavily fined on charges of theft by Leutwein,
refused to allow his cattle to be vaccinated.*” Furthermore there was also the
issue of certain chiefs claiming cattleposts as theirs and giving vaccinating teams
permission to cull cattle therein for gall. That is, chiefs donated cattle which
belonged to their subjects or others to vaccinating teams in exchange for the
immunization of their own herds. It is probable that as a result of these incidents
the vaccinating teams were instructed to be a trifle more diplomatic in their
activities. That this was not always the case, and that abuse continued, is best
indicated by a letter written by an officer in charge of a vaccinating team in
north-western Namibia:

... I dispute that Reitner and Jacob Wimmer received orders from me to take oxen
to be shot for gall, against the will of the Herero Captain . . . All gall, which was
used to inoculate the stock of Banjo, was raken from a cattlepost between Okan and
Otjombonde, of which Kapitan Banjo told me personally thart the cattle there were
his and that he gave me permission to shoot the same. When I was nearly finished
with vaccinating at Banjo I rode via Epano to Etonneno, to set up a vaccinating
station. In Epano the captam refused to allow me to shoot his sick cartle, 1 didn’t
shoot any and rode to Etonneno, where [ spent the night. I was again called to Epano
where 1 shot three sick oxen but their gall was unsuitable,+

Even with the extensive vaccination campaign, cattle continued to die in droves.
Cartle became worthless. Cattle prices plummeted. In 1897 missionaries
reported that one could buy ‘enormous oxen’ for no more than a few marks, *

They gathered ar a distance of abour 600 meters and, now nearly all armed with

flresr;_ns, they began advancing back. [ must accept that the nifles were already lyin

in wait in the immediate vicimty. In a short time the whole place was crawlinB

[zoemmelte] with people, there were abour 200 men and 100 women, who. whﬂsf

:};?‘;:‘r:g t!urleut‘%n;,ngly,h?dvanccd upon our hut, Their armaments ,cons;sn:d of
mately ¢ reachloas

bk I:nccs, g un:}l?i%r:igf‘s and about 50 muskets, the remainder were

Indicative of the worthlessness of cattle is the fact that Herero youth, most of
whom had never owned their own stock before, employed as assistants to the
vaccinating reams, were paid an ox a day for their assistance.’ Cattle continued
to die. The eastern chiefs Tjetjo, Kukuri and Omambo retained a mere 5 per
cent of their herds.* The cattle cadavers lay scattered around the settlements,
in the cattleposts and along trade routes of Namibia, and as they started to
rot, the scavengers being sated, the air of the territory was filled with the cloying

When the Herero saw what had happened, Katjipikuara - a man whom Manasse
smell of putrefying flesh.5?

:1 Jisiseta had appointed as foreman to the quarantine line at Etaneno - shoured:
Do not allow th.is man to be killed, take your guns and let us shoot. " One of
the Herero soldiers, possibly Katjipikuara, later told Langheld that, though “ BAP, RKA 6090, Langheld in Omaruru, 26/8/97, to Estorff,
5 b, Fiougl “ BAP, RKA 6090, Langheld, When Governor Leutwein got to hear about the affair he blamed
Langheld, but in good colomal tradinon the Herero soldiers were singled out as scapegoats,

" BAP, RKA 6090, Langheld in Omaruru, 28/11/97, to Leutwein,

“* BAF, RKA 6090, Grafl von Bethany in Franzfontein, 29/10/97, to the Kaiserliche Bezirks-
hauptmannschaft Otjuo,

* ELCIN, V. Chromken, Omaruru 1897,

© BRMG, 1897, p. 323,

* Irle, Die Herero, p. 301.

% ELCIN, V. Chromiken, Omaruru 1897,

*“There is more than one place named Orjik ich i issi
ikango, the most famous of which is the missi
ttlem is j i 0 of
;icmnen;_m also known as Grofi Barmen, In this instance the Onjikango referred 10 lay NW of
:; BAP, RFEA 6090, Protocol, Omarury 13/10/97, of Herero Jonathan Hans.
“ BAF, RKA 6090, Protocol, Omarury 13710497, of Karougonua,
BAP, mg.a 6090, Langheld in Otjikango, 26/8/97, to von Estorff.
“BAP, REA 6000, Prowocol Katougonua,
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Food, capital and patronage

The most immediate result of the rinderpest was that whole herds of cart
were e_xrgrmi_natcd, and this, in one swoop, deprived the majority of the Here
of their livelihood, food and source of patronage. Effectively in the space of &

few months Herero society was completely bankrupted and the Hcr:ro

transformed into paupers.

As pastoralists, the majority of Herero were almost entirely dependent on'}

the food products of cattle. Herero cattle were utilized primarily for the
production of cultured milk, Omaere, which was a staple food resource. As a

food resource the products of cattle slaughter, meat and fat, were only of §

secondary importanc_c,Thc consumption of meat products was further limited
by the Orluzuo and Eanda taboo systems. In general, cattle were slaughtered
only for ritual purposes or for the purpose of culling.

The meat of cattle killed by rinderpest could be dried or eaten with no ill A

effects to the consumer. However the sheer mass of cattle cadavers meant that
people could not process them for food. Therefore the cadavers started rotting
and had to be burnt or buried. Due to deforestation, particularly in the vicinity

ofpcrmaljcm se(_tlemcr_l(s, such as the mission stations, there was not enough §
wood available wn'th which to burn the cattle cadavers. As a result, the cadavers §
had to be buried. The hard rocky soils of central Namibia generally meant that §

the bodies came to be buried in the soft sandy riverbeds that ran through the

centre of most of the permanent settlements. Unfortunately as a result of this, §
the wells “:'hich had been dug in the riverbeds came 10 be contaminated by th:’ :
decomposing body fluids of the buried cadavers.® Later, when hunger became |
extreme, people disinterred the cadavers for the marrow which was to be found
in the bones of the decomposed carcasses.™ Due to drinking contaminated g
water and eating inadequate or strange foods the health of people was |

substantially weakened. This was exacerbated by the outbreak of diseases
amongst the weakened cattle and sheep that had survived the rinderpest. These
diseases were referred to by the Rhenish missionaries as Terasfieber, Bl he
and _Iu_ngs:ckncss. At the same time diseases, primarily relared to insufficient
nurrition, also broke out amongst the inhabitants of Hereroland.

The epidemic, which appears to have been a cocktail of diseases, struck |

between March and August 1898 and was particularly destructive as it infected
water, milk and meat.’ The diseases referred to included scurvy, typhoid and
a form of malaria. It is probable that forms of anthrax, induced by eating
rotten flesh, were also prevalent.’” The missionary chronicles of Omaruru, one

such sertlement struck by typhoid, give a clear and graphic description of the |

terrible conditions prevalent at the time:

In the beginning of the vear, typhoid broke out throughout the land, so that the
year 1898 brought even more need and sorrow than the year 1897, People got sick
and were dead or alive by the ¢nd of the week, pnimanly people between 20 and 50
years old. Some of the werften in the field died out completely, the corpses were

* ELCIN, V. C} k Otjimk and O 1847,

* ELCIN, V. Chromken, Omimbingwe 1897,

* Irle, Die Herero, p. 302,

- \N_:"cbcr. Geschichte, p. 76. Irle, Die Herero, p. 301,

* For this informanon I wish to thank veterinary eprdemiologist Dr Klaus Depner and veterinary
virologist Dr Kaue Depner, both formerly of the Namibian state veterinary services,
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& - then found unburied in the pontoks [huts]. In Omaruru itself there were days when

6-7 people died in a day. It was not possible to find people to help in burying people
« g0 children had to help in carrying their own parents to the graveyard. Elders Joel
and Barnabas died and the wives of elders Asa and Ferdinand and teacher Elisa

£ died. In the space of a few months 56 deaths had to be filled into the death-register,

this was a loss of 12 per cent of the nity. t the heath where food
and living condinions are generally much worse, than amongst the Christians, the
percentage of deaths was much higher. Amongst those who survived the typhoid

§ fever a serious lower body affliction developed, this apparently developed due to an

imbalance in the pauent caused by typhoid and which generally manifested itselfin
the form of intestinal abscesses.™

he sertlement of Otjimbingwe appears to have been particularly hard hit.
ssionaries blamed the outbreak of the human epidemic on the disinterment,
starving people looking for marrow, of cattle carcasses, and reported that,

some pontoks up to 12 were dead or dying’* Approximately 10 per cent of
the sertlement’s total population died as a result of the disease.*® Missionary
 Irle, who was based at Otjosazu, reported that during the course of four weeks
at Otjosazu and Okatumba approximately 450 people died and in total an
estimated 10,000 lives were taken during the plague of 1898 ¢t

No house no werft was spared, whole Werften died our. Added to which the famine
amongst the natves was appalbing, many died due to starvation [Entkraftung]. Often
there was nobody left to bury the dead. Our youngest daughter also died —asa result
of drinking pestilent milk.*

. The epidemic was confined to the settlements found along courses of the
. Swakop, Okahandja and Nossob rivers, and not further north.® That is, along
precisely the most densely populated areas in Hereroland at the time. It was
' here that people, who had historically been dispossessed of their cartle, had
- sought to make a living out of riverbed agriculture. It was in these selfsame

areas that people, only recently dispossessed of their cattle and land by war,
relocation and rinderpest between 1890 and 1896, now too sought to make a

' living out of engaging in riverbed agriculture. The massive loss of life, and the
_ extent of the epidemic amongst the populace of Hereroland, had a further

debilitating impact in that labour, necessary for the production of food and

' thus the continuance of life, was lost.

When the Rhenish missionaries first arrived in central Hercroland, in the

; early 1840s, they found a number of communities engaged in horticulture and
small-scale agriculture, albeit in forms that they did not approve of - marijuana

grown in round ficlds. The missionaries, who needed sedentary flocks to preach
to, established mission stations at sites where riverbed agriculture could be
conducted, which would then preclude a migratory mode of living. In the past,
with the added protection of missionary firearms, and the attractions of Cape
trade goods, the mission stations had soon become a refuge for large numbers

# ELCIN, V. Chroniken, Omaruru 1898,

% ELCIN, V. Chrontken, Otjimbingwe 1897.

# ELCIN, V. Chromken Otmbingwe 1897, 200 people died ot Otjimbingwe alone, Of the
Christians 72 died out of ca. 800 people.

1 Irle, Die Herere, p. 302,

*2 Ibid.

# For the distribution of the eprdemic see Irle, Ihe Herero, p. 301,
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of impoverished people. A number of these people, as the subjects of the
missionary Ovahona had sought to make a living for themselves on the basis of
riverbed agriculture. Following the rinderpest, people who had been robbed
of their cartle by the epidemic, also sought to make a living on the basis of
riverbed agriculture. Unfortunately for them, most of the prime agricultural
areas in central Hereroland had already been occupied. Elsewhere in southern
Africa, following the rinderpest, there was also a substantial shortage of
available agricultural land and in this regard central Namibia was certainly no
exception.

At Omaruru and Otjimbingwe a struggle for agricultural land ensued after
the rinderpest. At both stations Herero, who had previously lived in the field
as pastoralists, came to the stations ro grow crops on the agricultural lands
hitherto claimed by the mission station Herero,55 Some Herero found
employment in carting dung from the now abandoned cartleposts in the veld,
for use as fertilizer on the fields and for sale to those engaged in agriculture.
The carting in of manure was limited to those few who still possessed draught
oxen, and was by nature a lucrative business. The profitability of this business
and the extent of people’s desperation can partially be gathered from the fact
that there were cases of people stealing manure from kraals, partly because it
had become too expensive to buy. Traditionally built Herero houses were
demolished so that the manure and sand mixture used to cement the walls
could be utilized in the newly established gardens and cornfields.®® However
even if Herero managed to get access to seed, fertilizer and a patch of
agricultural land, there was always the danger that they would never get to eat
the produce of their agricultural endeavours. The crops were continually
threatened by the possibility of flood, drought, birds, locusts, trampling, thieves,
debt collectors and famished relatives,

By virtue of Hereroland’s arid climate, agriculture could only be conducted
in riverbeds. This, however, brought with it the ever-present danger that a newly
sown or shortly to be harvested crop could be washed away in a matter of
seconds by flash floods. As bad as too much rain was the problem of too little
rain, drought. Between 1899 and 1902 central Namibia was racked by a drought
so bad that wells dried up, veldkos became exhausted, and cattle-owning people
moved away to other areas, taking with them the manure and milk necessary
for survival, Those ‘who possessed nothing sought employment along the railway
or moved to the new town and mining centres of Karibib, Windhoek and
Tsumeb. Though the rainy seasons of both 1901 and 1902 started with good
rains, the rains stopped early and those crops that did sprout were soon
consumed by locust swarms.®” Famine stalked the land, to the extent that
impoverished Berg Damaras, deprived of their main staple field food, uinijes
(small bulbs), found sustenance in the voetgangers (locust larvae) which were
to be found in droves behind the Epako mountains.

A further threat to agricultural production was the role played by the traders,

*“Van Onselen, JAH, p. 486,

** ELCIN, V. Chroniken, Otpmbingwe and Omarury 1898-1902,

* ELCIN, V. Chromken, Otimbingwe 1897,

*7 ELCIN, V. Chroniken, Omarury and Otjimbingwe 1899 1902, Throughout the 1890s locust
plagues afflicted much of southern Alfrica, see E.A, Walker, A Hutory of Southern Africa (London
1965}, p. 459. Pool, Maharero, p. 165,

** ELCIN, V. Chroniken, Omaruru 1900,
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«In Ogimbingwe in early 1902 a number of people, some of whom had pre\;mu_.b:l_!,r
i been living in the ficlds for a long time, came to the station and started engaging
in agriculture production, However, towards the middle of 1902 there was a
massive move of Herero away from the station. This move away was due in
part to the continuing drought. However, the main reason for this move was a
statement issued by the colonmial Distrikisame, that all debts tolt_he traders in
Otjimbingwe had to be paid within two months. Not surprisingly people
abandoned the settlement, and their fields, as they trekked from cattlepost to

» cartlepost, secking to evade the debt collectors or vainly attempting to collect

the stock with which to pay off their debrs.® Th_c predicamep( of_I-Icret_-r:u in
central Hereroland at the time is well illustrated in the following discussion:

Missionary: “Why do you get yourself into debr?’ ) )

Herero: ‘The Halbichs and Redeckers give us no or very little credit, that
[eredit] we can only get over there in the other stores, and we have to
live, there 15 no more work and the transport business is finished, so what
else should we do?’

: ‘Make gardens!”

E‘: ‘But lht;‘ gardenlands are already occupied, and then at night the cattle
break in, or thieves steal all our harvest, or so many starving people,
who want to eat with us, come to our werft that for all our cff_orl:s we
have nothing left . . . If we bring cattle there is not enough grazing and
anyway the traders will take the cattle.’™

Driven into debt, no longer able to subsist on the produce of th_e fields, let
alone the produce of their gardens, fields and former herds, substantial numbers
of Herero were increasingly forced to abandon their homelands and take up
employment as wage labourers on the newly created settler farms of Namibia
and in the mines and towns of southern Africa as a whole.

As noted earlier the most immediate result of the rindergesll was that who_le
herds of cattle were exterminated. Not only were the majority of Herero in
Namibia at the time almost entirely dependent on the food products of cattle,
asubstantial number of them were also dependent on the labo!.lr power of cattle
for the production of capital. A substantial number of inﬂnem:lal IHererolcwncd
ox-waggons and earned their living through transport r\din;. With the
rinderpest this form of income generarion became §everely curtailed to those
few fortunates whose oxen had survived the epizootic. A number of chiefs and
influential Herero were engaged in freight riding, among them Manasse
Thisiseta of Omaruru who in July 1897 sent an urgent appeal to I;e].ttwem for
vaccination: ‘... | wanted to engage in transport riding, so as 1o acquire money,
however the disease has closed the road and I can thus not r1de_,’" :

Unable to transport goods on their own terms, and, more part_icularly, be_mg
cut off from a substantial form of independent income generation, the i:_hiefs
ran into difficulties as regards patronage and the loyalty of their own subjects.

# ELCIN, V.Chromken, Othmbingwe 1902.

9 Ibid. _

n N,lﬁ.r\W. ZBU 2027, Manasse in Omaruru, 3/6/97, to Leurwein. Added o this was the fact thar
Manasse had hoped to send his two sons o Germany; however, due to the rinderpest he no longer
had sufficient money for this. NNAW, ZBU 2027, Halbich in Otglmbin_g\_xc, 14/3/97, 10 I.:\.thtlnd.
Halbich turns down Leutwen's appeal for money to send Michael Tyisiseta to Germany instea
he urges Manasse 10 save up,
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Already substantially weakened by the activities of Samuel Maharero and
Leutwein, chiefs found their power being further eroded by the fact that they
were unable to cater for the needs of their subjects. They, as Ovahona, were
unable to fulfil their obligations as the protector of their subjects in times of
need. The chiefs simply had no cartle left with which they could allow their 3

subjects to reestablish themselves.
Obviously the loss of draught animals struck not only the Herero, but
everybody engaged in ox transport or dependent on it.”? As a consequence the

price of trade goods soared. There were incidents of racketeering. In the year |

following the rinderpest, when human disease ran rampant, this form of trading
was not confined to bulk goods, such as rice and maize, but was extended to
(hc_ sale of medicines.™ Apart from racketeering, traders, hoping to ger rich
quickly, took to extending credit in the hope of acquiring land.™ Be thar as it

may, following rinderpest, increasingly large numbers of Herero, commoners |
and royals, were driven into debr with the traders. Nort all of these debts were

necessarily solely the product of the rinderpest. For instance, cattle were
forcefully taken from Ovambanderu to repay the debts allegedly incurred by
Kahimemua, prior to his execution and thus prior to the outbreak of rinderpest.
There was also the issue of drinking debts. As the missionary chronicles for
Omaruru put it:

For the people and the land it 15 to be mourned that the intelligent and reasonable
Manasse was followed up by his son Michael. He is addicted to liquor and sins of
the flesh. Nearly all the bapnismal candidates of his werlft stay far away from the
lessons. Together with his people he 15 said to have incurred drinking debts of 1700
Marks within a period of three months.™

Though it is true that Michael Tjisiseta incurred massive drinking debts within
an incredibly short period of time, it must be borne in mind that he had but
recently ascended to the chieftaincy of Omaruru. Unlike Manasse, who at the
time of his ascendancy, could depend on the wealth generated by his cattle
herds, labour export, taxation and Berg Damara serfs to purchase and reward
the loyalty of his subjects, Michael inherited a chieftaincy cut off from virtually
all forms of income generation. Instead Michael had to rely on the distribution
of alcohol, bought on credit from the traders, to ensure the loyalty of his
subjects.

Recouping their losses

Deprived of their wealth in cattle, weakened by the activities of Samuel
Maharero and Leutwein, and driven ever further into debt, the Herero chiefs
attempted to recoup their losses through raiding, exporting labour and selling
land. In the unstable conditions that emerged, established Ovahona often found

22 0

y Eich, of O | was forced to curtail us building programme as there were
no mare draught animals and as a consequence he was unable to transport building materials
from Grootfontemn to his mission station at O diupa. Dr X. M 1 Waterberg: Beurag
zur Geschichie der M o] des Kamb bi-S und des He land,
(Windhoek 19807) p. 20.

M Irle, Dhe Herero, p. 301.

%% ELCIN, V. Chromiken, Opmbingwe 1902 and V. Chromken, Omaruru 1900,

* ELCIN, V. Chromken, Omaruru 1900,
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their followers appropriated by new elites who emerged in the wake of the
decline of the ancien régime. These new elites, who built upon their alliances
"with German colonists and/or Samuel Maharero, were particularly active in
Veastern Hereroland.

" Raiding
¢ It 1s possible that the intense tribal raiding that the Germans experienced n the

first years of their stay in East Africa - and to which they reacted so violently - was
the direct consequence of cconomic losses suffered initially through the ninderpest.™

- Though the above passage refers specifically to eastern, and not south-western,
| Africa, Kjekshus’s statement is particularly relevant here, because, had a
. traveller happened to visit eastern Hereroland in the late 1890s, he would have
been similarly struck by images of seemingly never-ending ‘intense tribal
raiding’. In the remaining years of the nineteenth century, Herero councillors
allied to Samuel Maharero were engaged in extensive raiding in eastern
Hereroland, particularly amongst the followers of Tjetjo.”” These raids began
prior to the outbreak of the rinderpest, as Samuel Maharero established himself
following his ascension to the paramountcy. With the rinderpest, raiding
intensified. It is in this raiding that we see most clearly the emergence of new
power elites in Hereroland. With the Okahandja succession dispute of 1890
94, the Herero elites that had been established by Maharero and Zeraua, in
the fallout of Afrikaner hegemony in the late 1860s, were effectively pushed
aside by the emergence of the usurper Samuel Maharero as paramount chief of
the Herero. This process of change in Herero politics was continued and inten-
sified in the aftermath of the rinderpest. It is at this time that young men such
as Willy Cain and Kajata, who traditionally had no rights to power by virtue of
their descent in the structures established by Maharero and Zeraua, through
their association with Samuel Maharero and the colonial state came to emerge
as the new Herero Ovahona, with large followings of both cattle and people.

In the years immediately prior to the rinderpest, Samuel Maharero and forces
loyal to him had engaged in raiding in the guise of boundary enforcement or
as reprisal for alleged transgressions against his authority. With the outbreak
of the Ovambanderu Khauas-Khoi war, a year prior to the outbreak of
rinderpest, the followers of Samuel Maharero were effectively given free rein
to raid at will in the castern districts of Hereroland. The cattleposts of chiefs
allied to Kahimemua or Nicodemus Kavikunua were raided throughout the
war and in the months thereafter. One such chief, Kahikaeta, who was allied
to Kahimemua, received orders to surrender unconditionally, at precisely the
same rime that Herero troops loyal to Samuel raided no less than 1200 cattle
and fourteen guns from him.™ German forces also engaged in these officially
sanctioned raids. By early 1897 forces under the command of Major Mueller
had taken no less than 6000 cattle from the Ovambanderu, and cleared the
district of all of its Khauas Khoi inhabitants.™

A prime victim of these officially sanctioned raids was Tjetjo Kandji, the

™ Kjekshus, Ecology, p. 131.

1 NNAW, ZBLU 2027, W1I d.9. Contains extensive correspondence regarding Kajata's rmding on
behalf of Samucl Maharero.

= BAP, RKA 1489, Leutwein in Okahandja, 8/6/96, 10 AA.

™ BAP, RKA 1489, Mueller in Gobabus, 1002097, 10 Leurwein.
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man who had dared to cross Samuel Maharero following the death of Samuel’s
uncle and benefactor, Semoundja Kandikirira. After hostilities had begun in
eastern Hereroland, Tjetjo wrote to Leutwein in a vain attempt to avert disaster;

- - . thank you for vour letter which was also sent to Wilhelm and Barnabas, I will
keep to the treaty . . . my posts are far away so the cheekiness of my youths 15 theurs,
if the cattle are shot I will turn to you and Samuel, "

Although Leutwein replied to Tietjo advising him to move his posts unti] the
end of the war, Tjetjo’s claims of neutrality were not accepted. Thus in early
1897 Tjetjo’s werft was ordered to pay 300 cartle as compensation for
involvement in the war. The cattle were collected from Tietjo by Willy Cain,
the son of one of Maharero’s trader accomplices, John Cain.* Significantly
upon the arrival of a first batch of 190 cattle, they were immediately handed
over to traders in Okahandja.* Apparently these cattle were not sufficient to
pay off Samuel Maharero’s debts, for in the margin of a letter reporting the
incident, Leutwein scribbled: ‘Following discussion with SM a further 1200
head of cattle is to be paid as compensation for war'#?

Samuel Maharero’s theft of cattle, and Leutwein's willingness to sanction
this theft, was given a gloss of legality, when Samuel Mabharero declared in a
police report, drawn up in the presence of the traders Albert Voigts and Ziegler,
that on the orders of Leutwein all Herero involved in the war against the
Germans had to pay fines.® Samuel continued his police report by noting that,
as the sons of Tjetjo had fought alongside Nicodemus - an allegation for which
there was no proof - Tjetjo had to pay a fine. Samuel Maharero claimed that
Tjetjo had written to him, significantly in a Jerter allegedly also read by the
trader Vougts, that he intended paying Samuel 1700 oxen.®s All in all it has been
estimated that, on the grounds of compensation, in total approximately 12,000
cattle were confiscated following the Ovambanderu war.® This was, however,
not enough to pay off Samuel’s extensive debts, which merely increased with
the outbreak of the rinderpest.

Following the rinderpest, forces loyal to Samuel Maharero continued raiding
Herero who were alleged to be against him, In early 1898 Herero horsemen
and foot soldiers, under the command of one of Samuel Maharero’s councillors,
Kajata, moved into territory claimed by Tjetjo along the upper black Nossob,
Here they plundered the Werfien and raided what remained of the cattle and
small stock of Tjetjo’s followers.*

Even at old Joseph’s, near Gobabs, fleeing Herero have arnived, who claim that their
small stock has been taken from them by the horsemen of Kajara and that one of
their big men has either been captured or killed.»

In essence these raids were a continuum of the move and expansion into the
" BAP, RKA 1488, Tjetyoo Kandyn at Okondyezu, 17/4/96, to Leutwein.
* Camn was murdered by Licutenant Prince Prosper von Arenberg 1n 1899, On the grounds of
‘tropical frenzy’ von Arenberg was pardoned. Drechsler, Fighting, pp. 134-5.
= NNAW, ZBU 2028, W I d 12, Held at Okand, 6/3/96, 10 L

N.

NAW, ZBU 2028,W IT d 12, Leutwemn writing in the margin of Held l.ll Okandjezu, 6/3/97,
1o Leutwen,

" NNAW, ZBU 2028, W 11 d 12, Protocol Okahandja, 29/3/97, Samuel Maharero,
# Iad.

* Drechsler, Fighting, p. 94.
T NNAW, ZBU 2027, W 11 d 9, the Bezirkusam in Gobabis, 11/1/98, to Lindequist.
" NNAW, ZBU 2027, W1l d 9, Leutwein in Windhoek, 15/1/98, to Samuel Maharero.
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eastern districts, by forces loyal to Samun_:i Maharero, which hgd begg‘iug
following Samuel’s rise to power and instalist_lon as paramount chiefin 1894.

Survivors clearly saw the alliance that existed between Samuel Maharer(;
and Leutwein, and reported that Kajata had been sent out under orders o
Samuel Maharero to collect cattle for the German government. T_he (_}erma]n
authorities, who in other instances had aided and abet'ged Samuel in his c]a'l:l:;
theft, considered this as going to far. Governor Leutwein wrote to Samucf axI:
complained that, though Kajata claimed to be raiding on behalfrg the
government, this could never be the case, and concluded his letter by or cnng
Samuel to command Kajata and his troops to stop what they were doing an:
to withdraw from the area.* In reply to Leutwein’s letter Samuel protested his
innocence and stated that he had only ordered Ka]ata_ to guarantee lhati lh;
Herero, living in the eastern districts, did not cross over 1m(:o the Bechnanaban
Protectorate. Samuel concluded his letter as fol]ows,;: If carttle have been
confiscated this has been without my prior know%cdge, b )

In essence both Samuel Maharero and Leutwein were lying. In response}: to
Kajata’s raiding, Tjetjio complained to the German ofﬁccrs Reiss _and He_df,
and asked them to intercede and to prevent further raids. Followlngf’l’;ct:o s
request, the German authorities ordered Samuel Maharero to prohubg an):
further raiding by Kajata.®3Yet at exactly the same time d_aat_thls corrcspo;) Ien:;.
was going on, one of the officers, Reiss, to whon_'x leetw had complained,
submitted a report of his activities in the eastern districts.

To report that the natve patrols - Willy's people — sent out between Okomotjliz;
and Oliphantskloof have visited all the Bandjeru Werfien . . . When (111’: patrol arrl:tc
at the Werft, the chaps [Kerls] started shouting, ‘those are Willy Cain’s people, those
are Germans we must kill them.” . . . As punishment we took the stock from 3 werften,
10 cows and 27 small stock.®

Six months later, in August 1898, Reiss described how he participated in
another raid.

I rode with 10 horsemen, Willy Camn with 13 of his people, [and) Tmugo:l 'l‘jlerjc;
[the son of Tjeyo Kandp] with 3 men. We travelled in the mght frpm Ohfantskloo
to the Big pan, where we arrived after the moon had set. At this ime the Hereros,
due to the great cold, go to bed and I wished to surprise the werften with no prior
warmng,.?*

In this raid five Werfren were dismantled and between 150 a_nd 200 Banderu
were disarmed and placed under the control ofT_raugott Tjetjo. A few months
later these Banderu were placed under Willy Cain.® ) G
Raiding, conducted in the guise of fines for alleged transgressions, as we
as raiding with no gloss of legitimation, continued throu‘ghugr .I:hc rcmas?{ng
years of the nineteenth century. This raiding took place primarily so as to offset

* See previous chapter and BRMG 1895, p. 71 for rtfcrcng\‘srlg Kanninﬁn':_}-lnvcku. Kajata and
i to the eastern districts at the of Samue .

i\;\;iﬂ;{; r;;‘t]“g;l;??\ﬂ-lc[ d..:?, Band 2, Leutwen in Windhoek, I.SJ'I!‘)_B, to Samuel Mahnmlm.

o NNAW, ZBU 2027, W1l d 9, Band 2, Samuel Maharero in Okahandja, 23/1/98, to Leutwein.

b ‘\'NAW: ZBU 2028, W 11 d 12, Tjetjoo Kandyii in Otphae H1/98, 1o L A

INAW, ZBU 2028, W II d 12, von Lindequist a1 Okondjesu to Tieyo. s g

NNAW, ZBU 2028, W Il d 14, Band 2, Reiss in Epuk 3/2/98, to an

hauptmannschafi. = e g

NN ] 2028,W 11 d 14, Reiss in Oas, 4/8/98, 1o erlich

Pt ?glﬁ gozs'.w 11d 14, Reiss in Ous, 16/8/98, to Kaiserliche Landeshauptmannschaft.
NNAW, Z
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the lack of c_Bpila] which had resulted from the rinderpest, and to repay debts
1o traders.”” A report written by Lieutenant Streitwolf, a German officer
instructed to prevent further raiding, provides a clear insight into the situation:

- .. activities undertaken with regard to the plundering by the sub-caprai /i
al_ung the Black Nossob. 1.) Once again [ have most stcEnI;'wamed Scarz:';?:rfzﬂi
b1g_men to desist from these attacks. 2.) I have travelled to Otjosazu Ofonati
Otjiruesu, Omunyeriti, Okatumba, Otphenena, . . . ’

The chiefs assured me that they had only collected cattle with which to satisfy
the demands of the Boer Swart, of Epukiro, who had demanded the payment of
oxen owed to him as war reparation [Strafochsen], and another case so as to pay off
debts owed to the trader Wiese. The driving together of cattle by the chiefs is therefore
only partly as a result of the egotistical [eigerose] acnvitics of the traders, This is
b?cl:ed up by Lang [Rhemsh ionary] who accomp i me on a tmp to the
Nossob. Salesman Albert Voigts denses that any of his employees demanded stock
from the captains.*

(.nntcmpqmry reports make abundantly clear that the raids conducted by
Kanangati Hoveka, Willy Cain and Kajata, in eastern Hereroland, were
caqducfcd to acquire cattle with which to pay off debts to the traders, Albert
Voigts, Ziegler, Wiese and Swart.® ’

The Ovambanderu war coupled with the rinderpest allowed for the
expansion of Samuel Maharero’s authority into eastern Hereroland, an area
hitherto clloscd to the authority of the chiefs of Okahandja. The move into the
eastern districts provided Samuel Maharero with substantial tracts of land,
ca((I_c and people, with which he could in turn purchase and maintain the loyalty
of his subjects. These eastern territories were brought into his ambit by allied
raiders dependent upon him for their position. The men engaged in this raiding,
on b_eha]f of .Samuel Mabharero, acquired small stock, cattle, guns, followers
and in some instances people. In short they became the new power elites of
the territory.

Labour

For the building of the railway line from Swakopmund to Windhoek, which will start
this year, a Jarge number of people, christians and heathens, have also been recruited
here and will be sent ro Swak und. Large s of Ovambo, also recruited as
labour for the railwayline, passed [the station]. From the other stations labourers

have ;Iso been sent there. Manasse gave the people the former school teacher Asser
Muninde as their foreman. '

A furthcrl way in which the chiefs recouped their capital losses was through
the trade in labour. As mentioned earlier, the newly developing German colonial
state was despcrat(:l}_: short of labour and consequently it sought to alleviate
this shortage by paying commission to Herero chiefs who supplied labour to
(h_c colonial state, and by importing labour from Ovambaoland, at that stage
still beyom‘i C_‘wrrnan control. As Tjetjo, who was trying to reestablish his power,
implored: ‘Give me the money of my people which are with you, give it to my
: i:i‘;aw, ZBU 2027, W1l D 9, Strentwolf in Okahandja, 25/7/99, to Leutwein
nd.,

* NNAW, ZBU 2027, WII D 9, Statement by v Lang of Otih kahand

3 ' 5 g of O n O 29/
6/99. For Voigts and Ziegler, sce NNAW, ZBU 2028,W 11 d 12, Protocol Samuel Maharero. Swart

and Wiese, see NNAW, ZBU 2027, W 11 d 9, Streitwolf in Okahandja 25/7/99 3
% ELCIN, V. Chroniken, Omarurt 1897. SR Yo Leuwen [,

messenger.’'? Both Herero and Ovambo chiefs appointed headmen who
accompanied the labour gangs to their places of employment. This was done
not only to ensure that the monies paid were returned to the chief, bur also to

- ensure that an eye could be kept on conditions of employment. It was following

reports to Tjetjo by Jacob, one such foreman appointed by Tjetjo, that Tjetjo
withdrew his labourers from German service, at which Lindequist was forced
to write to Tjetjo requesting that he continue to send labourers. Lindequist
concluded his letter as follows:

Why do the people in this country always tell so many stories and lies about the
government, who gives them their food, so that they can be sated and do not hunger?
1f you have now heard the truth from Jacob, regarding the manner in which my people
treated your people here in Windhoek and you have seen how well things are with
them, then send éven more people as labour to me, as you promised me previously.'™

Though it is clear that the labourers referred to were still largely free to desert
when conditions warranted it, the same cannot be said for all of the labourers
supplied. It has already been noted that in early 1898 Willy Cain ook part n
anumber of officially sanctioned labour raids on Banderu settlements in eastern
Hereroland. Following requests from Willy Cain, the German commanding
officer, Reiss, placed the inhabitants of these Banderu Werfren, which they had
raided together, into the care of Willy Cain, who in turn now supplied a number
of these Banderu as labourers on six-month contracts to the colonial state.’™

Land sales

Rinderpest cleared the land of cattle, pastures were abandoned as cattle died
and pastoralists were forced to move to other areas to survive. Following the
rinderpest, Herero chiefs took to selling large tracts of land, some of it in the
middle of their territories.'® Prior to the rinderpest Samuel Maharero, in
attempting to shore up his position through the payments of cash and liquor,
had already taken to selling land, initially often beyond the domains of
Okahandja.!"® After the rinderpest, Samuel Maharero was joined in this activity
by Michael Tjisiseta and Salatiel Kambazembi who also sought to rid
themselves of their debis and acquire funds with which to purchase and
maintain the loyalty of their subjects.'% For their part, the traders, in attempting
to live up to their ideals of becoming settler farmers, sought to acquire land
and sold goods on credit with land given as mortgage. The missionary chronicles
of Omaruru provide a fine illustration of this process.

. . . the traders speculate primanily on the acquisinon of farms, of which Michael
has already sold a sut I . The missi v has rep dly warned him
of the smecidal imphicanions of his dealings, however without success. In this way
Michael has already sold the whole of the nght bank of the Omaruru river from 8
kilometres below until 3 kilometres above Omburo, so that the mission station
Omburo has lost half of its grazing grounds, Furthermore downstream he has already
sold the farm Ovimbara, which, however, is necessary for the survival of Omaruru.
By this selling of farms the chief now often acquires money in his hand and one can

19 NNAW, ZBU 2028, W 11 d 12, Teyo, 23/7/00, 1o Leutwein,

 NNAW, ZBU 2028, W I1 d 12, von Lindequist :n Windhock, early 1898, 1o Tjetjo.
Wy NNAW, ZBU 2028, W 11 d 14, Reiss in Epukiro, 16/8/98 and 27/8/98, to Leurwein.
s Leytwen guoted in Drechsler, Fighung, p. 113,

s See particularly Samuel’s land sales in the Otjiwarongo dastrict,

we Pool, Maharero, pp. 166fT for a discussion on land sales and debt.
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usually nonice when a further payment has been made. Then the young folk ride
around the place like wildmen until deep at night so that one cannot but feel sorry
for the poor horses, 7

Movement

Thus far we have only touched, in passing, on a further consequence of the
rinderpest, that of the extensive social and geographical mobility and movement
of Herero rinderpest survivors. To escape raiding, debt collecting, hungry
relatives, hunger, new legislation, evictions, forced labour and disease, many

Herero survivors abandoned their ancestral homes and sought a brighter furure |

elsewhere.'® Those who still owned cattle but were not allied to the new power
elite that had emerged around Samuel Maharero attempted to escape, with
their herds, eastwards into the comparative sanctuary of the Bechuanaland
Protectorate, or northwards to the Ovambo kingdoms and the Kaokoveld.
During the early nincteenth century following a succession dispute in the
Bamangwato polity in what is now south-eastern Botswana, Tawana, the eldest
son, but not the heir to Mathiba, the Kgosi of the Bamangwato, trekked north
together with his followers, and established the Batawana kingdom, with control
over Lake Ngami and the Okavango delta in what is now north-western
Borswana. In full control of the trade leading to and from this wealthy area,
the Batawana became the most powerful society on the eastern flank of the
Herero. Herero traders and hunters, wishing to continue operating in the
northern Kalahari, had to pay tribute o the Batawana. Both Banderu and
Herero traditions record that, ar some stage during the nineteenth century,
reciprocal sanctuary agreements were reached with Sekgoma Letsholathebe,
the then Kgosi of the Batawana,!% Already prior to the death of Maharero,
Herero had begun abandoning Hereroland, which at that stage was in turmoil
as a result of the war with Hendrik Witbooi, and exchanging it for the relative
peace of Batawana rule in Ngamiland in the Bechuanaland Protectorate, This
movement increased as Mbanderu refugees fled the war of 1896, and it
continued after the rinderpest through ro 1904 and beyond. The Herero who
trekked into the Bechuanaland Protectorare could, broadly speaking, be divided
into two categories, those with cattle and those without cattle, Those with cattle
tended to settle just beyond the Namibia boundary, near to Olifantskloof, on
the outer reaches or just beyond the reach of Batawana authority and tribute
collection, A number of those who entered the Bechuanaland Protectorate
without cattle found employment on the Boer farms, which had recently been
established in the Ghanzi area, whilst the majority of them trekked on to Tsau
and Ngamiland proper.!"" Substantial numbers of Herero, with or without

1" ELCIN, V. Chroniken, Omaruru 1900,

'™ For moves as a result of rai ng see NNAW, ZBU 2027, W II & 9, Streitwolf in Okahandja,
25/7199;, 101 5 Samuel Mah in Okahandja, 23/1/98, to Leutwein & ZBU 2028,% 11
d 14, Band 2, Reiss in Epukiro, 32/98, to Kaiserliche Landeshauptmannschaft, For people moving
duc ro demands of debrors and hungry relatives see ELCIN, V., Chroniken, Otjimbingwe 1902,
' Josaphat Hahn, ‘Die Ovaherero’ in Zeitschryft der Gesellschaft fur Erdkunde zu Berlin, 1869, p.
244. Refers 1o B: traders in Okahandya in 1868 1o trade and to conclude agreements with
Mah L Ivis ible thar this ing came to be the basis of the mutual refuge agreement
that existed between the Batawana and the Herero and Mbanderu.

""" BNA, HC.145/1, Resident Commissioner in Mafeking, 15/12/97, to High Commissioner, In
late 1897 British colonial officials, operating in the Ghanzi district of the BP, were at a loss with
what to do with over 200 Herero whoe had moved into the arca and had taken to squattng on the
farms newly allocated to Trekboers, who had been brought in by the BSAC of Ceail John Rhodes,

L ——

cattle, also trekked northwards into the Kaokoveld and Ovamboland beyond
German control.'!! .

Both the German colonial authorities and the Hereros a]hed to them were
anxious to regain control over the people and flocks who had withdrawn from
their control, and to prevent a further exodus. In early 1898 _Gerrna!'l patrols
‘travelled throughout the eastern districts of Hereroland urging Kajata, and

“‘other Herero chiefs allied to Samuel Maharero, to desist from raiding the

remaining settlements of Tjetjo and the Mbanderu, and to assist in |'.‘re\-'-antuk1|g2
these settlements from crossing over into the Bechuanaland Protectorate.

Somewhat paradoxically, at the same time patrols of German and He_rero
soldiers were also engaged in raiding these selfsame settlements.!!* At times
these patrols even crossed the boundary into ‘.h‘ Be_cpuana}s_nd Prﬂfectomte
to raid Werften which had sought sanctuary in British territory.!' Indeed

* German officers even asked for permission to raid Werften lying beyond

Rietfontein within British territory. In one instance it had already been decided
beforehand to whom the prisoners, who still needed to l?c captlured, were to
be allocated."'s Not surprisingly Pr Lt Reiss, who along with (;am and Kajata,
had profited from the captured stock and people, was able to lie and conclude:

... except for a few armed insurgents, the German area has been cleaned m:éaliberr]
.. . the big Banderu trek, which exited via Epata a year ago has completely perished
of thirst, up to the last child and last piece of stock.!'®

Elsewhere in the territory, following the rinderpes_t, an ethnic swap appeared
to be taking place at settlements as Herero increasingly sought to move out to
the field whilst Damara increasingly came in from the field.

It was as if the Bergdamara had grown tired of living in the field whilst in turn ll‘:‘e,
Herero increasingly removed their Werfren to the outer veld particularly to Oyjivua.

This apparent reversal was probably increased as impoverished Herero of the
settlements were employed as herders for those who still had some stock. Thus
Herero, whose herds had been decimated, no longer _had a need for Berg
Damara herders. The need for herders was henceforth primarily fulfilled along
lines of ethnic solidarity. That is, Herero with stock a_ppea_red to be more
inclined to employ impoverished Herero. At the same time it was clear that
this was also part of the process whereby Herero left the settlements to escape
debts and German laws.

3 idered by the Bech land F dministration was that, ‘Tt
2?&-?[}:l:h;nssiblc to settle these Demaras as cotters or bijwooners with such boers as may require
them.’ BNA, HC.145/1, Lt Scholefield in Tsau ?, 8/12/97 to RC. | )

" For i ELCIN,V. Ch ik Omaruru 19‘2_!1 mljl(ts mention of people with cattle rrlm\:r\g
away to other areas. Given Omaruru’s northern orientation it is probable that these people an
herds travelled to the lands of the Ndonga kings and the Kaokoveld chiefs.

LLLg W, 72027, WIld9 i in Okahandja, 25/7/99, to L ¢
“‘;"l;:'?\\ﬂ",ZZBBLU 2028, W I1 d’ 14, Reiss in Epukiro, 3/2/98, 1o Kauerliche Landeshaupr-
:rfﬁiggi'; ZBU 2028, W II d 14 Band 2, Reiss in Epukiro, 4/8/98, to Kaiserliche Landes-
hawptmanrnschaft.

j iss i i 27/8/98, to Leutwein. A
1" NNAW, ZBU 2028, W 11 d 14 Band 2, Reiss in Epukiro, 16/8/98 & stol
I'cw\;-«ks later these unfortunates were placed into t}_\e hands of Willy Cain who in turn sent
ix-month contracts to the German colonial state.
:Eet\lz;::t“?’nszu 2028, W II d 14 Band 2, Reiss in Epukiro, 4/8/98, 1o Kaiserliche Landes-
hauptmannschaft.
17 ELCIN, V. Chroniken, Omimbingwe 1899,
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For some 1t 1s the police, with their freedom curbing and punishment mandating §
proclamations, who became the cause for leaving the Station and withdrawing into 3

the field.1'*

The movement of Herero away from the stations was exacerbated by the

drought. Eventually the only Herero who remained on the station were those §

with continued access to gardens,''?

Not surprisingly, a result of this movement was that the Rhenish missionaries
increasingly lost control of their spiritual flocks. This loss of souls galled the
missionaries. An extreme example of this is provided by the missionary

chronicles for Otjimbingwe. Here the missionaries lauded the economic decline |

of Otjimbingwe, which had resulted from the development of the railway-line

from Swakopmund to Windhoek. Otjimbingwe, as a thoroughfare for goods E

and materials, ceased to be a place of importance, and with the decrease in
Otjimbingwe’s economic importance the missionaries hoped that Herero would
return to congregate at the settlement to escape from the disliked regime of
the German government.'® In this it is interesting to note that the missionaries
were attempting to reassert, or rather regain, their central role of importance
to Herero society. That is, they attempted to reassert their ascendancy over a
large section of Herero society, which had been lost with the coming of the
German colonial state.

People trekking away from the settlements sought to gain access to unsettled
lands, particularly for those without cattle, lands which to some extent could
be farmed. In some districts impoverished Herero were moved, with the
assistance of the German authorities, to other districts, where there was the
possibility of conducring agriculture or living as bijwoners with Trekboers and
newly sertled German settlers. In 1898 on the advice of Distriktschef Dr Kuhn
a number of Herero families, consisting of thirty to forty men, twenty women
and fifteen children, trekked from the Omaruru area to Grootfontein, ‘as their
cattle had died of the pest and they would otherwise have died of hunger’.!2!

Conversely though, the German authorities were also clearly worried by the
increased mobility of Herero who were no longer encumbered by their cattle
herds. This led to the belief that the Herero were more inclined to war, as,
having lost everything already, they now no longer had anything to lose.'?? Ag
a consequence of this fear the German authorities artempted to gain a measure
of control on the movement of Herero. This was particularly the case at Ourtjo,
where the Distrikeschef Franke prohibited the movement of Herero without
officially sanctioned business in the district.'* In the activities of Franke,
seeking to limit the movement of Herero, and the missionaries, seeking to
ensure Herero access to land free from colonial intervention, we see the
beginnings of what would later become the Reservarionsfrage, reservation
question,

Referred to in passing above was the movement of Herero into wage labour.
Initially this move was out of pure necesssity, though it soon became a way in

‘" ELCIN, V. Chroniken, Omaruru 1902, JBG’s ranslavon.

"% ELCIN, V. Chromiken, Otjimbingwe 1900.

' ELCIN, V. Chroniken, Otpmbingwe 1899,

13 ELCIN, V. Chroniken, Grootfontein 1898, Apart from the Herero there were also abour 20
Bushmen and 20 Berg Damaras.

NNAW, ZBU 2027, WII D 11, Volkmann at Waterberg, 27/2/01, to Leutwein.

1Y ELCIN, V. Chroniken, Omaruru 1900,
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‘which to finance re-stocking. However, as has bgcn nmeld for prher fa;tsrgf
| the subcontinent, large numbers of people who tried to reinvest in cattle herds
. were forced to make a permanent move off the land and become \?rla?c
. labourers.'2* This proletarianization also occurrcdl in cer_nrnl _Namlbiakw _;rg
. ‘those without possessions moved to other areas, with their children to Karibi

or to the railway so as to be able to support themselves’,'*

Herero found employment assisting in the construction of the railway-line,

. for which funding was provided by the German state following rinderpest, I'rqn;
Swakopmund to Windhoek.!?* Herero men found extensive employment witl

1 iti imarily employed in
the German colonial authorities, where they were prim T
assisting in the building of military garrisons. Herero women’snd children we}re
employed in what are now referred to as ‘work for food’ programmes. In
Otjimbingwe, a mission station which had been totally denuded of all its trees

. forty years earlier, women and children brought wood to the missionaries in

exchange for milk and rice.'?” Large numbers of He_rcm women were employed
as washerwomen by the German troops. The missionaries, ho_weve;, Wctchlll:t
overly impressed by this form of employment: ‘. . . women doing the washing

.- of the soldiers. This last form of employment also forms an ample source of

many moral dangers [sittlicher Gefahren). t’a E'mlployment was also found in the
mines run by the SWACO in northern Namibia:

Dr Hartmann of the SWACO and English miners passed to :h_e north for lh_t;lcopp_er,
The native labourers, who are not being kept in custody in Otmu and who will receive
3 Mark per month, will probably trek to the copper mines.!?

With the ending of the Anglo-Boer war in_Suulh AI[rica, the newly rgopencd
gold mines of the Transvaal and diamond mines of Kimberley once again bigsn
devouring labour. Herero rinderpest survivors were also recruited for these
mines.'™

The balance

Rinderpest broke the cconomic basis of Herero society. The established pfot;ii:
structures of Herero society, which had already been significantly l:rarlxs 0, e
by the acrivities of Leutwein and Samuel Maharero, were further a lfc;[e rerz
the discase. Herero lands were lost for ever and a sqbslanual ngmbcr o h e w0
were transformed from pastoralists into proletarians. Ei‘fecnvelg l}v:t \gﬁn
space of a few months Herero sacieu_r was cumpletely transforme . m:lr_:mcrcg
an independent autonomous whole into a series of dependent and sp!

arts. ; . )
g On the level of the colonial state the new intrusive forms of governance

24 Van Onselen, JAH, p. 486. ; _
- LV.C iken, Otjimbingwe 2 . '
:,: ::‘Léi::c'\h‘u\n;.’:[:nmdm:‘;:, the railway ro Rhodesia was built, in part, by ‘rinderpest ]..:mur_’. Van
On'::hn JAH, p. 48‘:; quonng from AJ. Wills, An Intreduction to the History of Central Africa, p.
5 s VP
159,

w1 ELCIN, V. Chrontken, Ouimbingwe 1902,
12 ELCIN, V. Chrontken, Omaruru :gg‘;
4 “hr ,» Omaruru . 5 .
.':?' F}r?a;»:!zhlirﬁﬁzd af the Man called Love and the Sack of Sero (Boston 1993) ASA annual

conference paper.
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: iogt : sive Herero
increased their control over central Namibia. Following rinderpest, massive j By the late 15903, Rhems?: n;l: su;n;n;'s‘;: Ia;mee‘iigi;:‘:gct’t‘:?:oluniat state
displays of power, as had been demonstrated in mid-1896 by Leutwein if land sales and consequent loss o nnd, :h Ri‘::nilzh mission and to the Herero
Omaruru with 300 soldiers, 100 auxiliaries and two cannons, were no longes jeo allocate reserves ?[ma!,?ngblchla“ iss ea.ric:s argued that either the Herero
necessary.!*! Omaruru’s power, and along with it the polities of Kahimemu - living there. In .lhe'r prHRdng ; < mlssmn" - megml-l to reestablish themselves
Tietjo and Kambazembi, had been broken. In their stead the colonial staté} be given extensive tracts of land, so as‘lwla ?:1 be allocated to the Herero, so
asserted its authority and control of social and economic life, ; L 8s pastoralists, or that extremely fer'r; = ::ine:istence as agriculturalists.”*® On

Whilst the epidemic was raging through the country, the colonial state had that they could build uplon e ““:_ (:::' from petitions from the Rhenish
begun increasing its control through the allocation of vaccine. Those who had the igens of reserve & mc“m'ns’ cpalso arnered information from its own
access to the colonial state, or who were allied to the Germans, received vaccine., | missionary society, the co]amla slt:t > sentatives were not in favour of
The Etaneno affair indicated that those with friendly relations with the! representatives. On the whole these repre
Germans could expect their herds to be vaccinated. Those with less cordial

| allocating inalienable tracts of land to the Hercro. m-zvr{fftng\;r;?a;:ntit;
relations to the colonial state and its agents could expect their cattle to bel . request of [h'.:A“’w‘."mg“Amb’?ﬁ:;;f&;s;smmonI '
slaughtered to provide gall vaccine for the herds of those Herero who wer ¥ Mission Society, Lieutenant Yo ' P
well connected to the colonial state. However, those with herds which had been According to my opmion there 15 at this moment in ime absolutely no necessity for
vaccinated were soon to discover that this vaccination was not withour its costs. | there to be a general regulation regarding the rcservsl:;)rl g:::l:;iimmd Toieate
A tax had to be paid in cattle for the vaccinations administered. This was not As a result of the rinderpest thiestoch ot ;hc:{:ri;o(hjs opulation has decreased,
something people took lightly. When Estorff travelled the eastern districts to to come, added to this during the last cuu%:loat:-";s roeRt approximately half of
round up cattle as vaccination taxes, he was accompanied by no less than 834 result of d's.eas“‘,;\%?;c:‘na:nﬁ‘;i?; tHercrc]gnd are uninhabited.
seventy mounted men and a cannon.'*? The colonial state was thorough in its | the *dependable”sate
tax collection. Following the Etaneno affair, where carttle were culled for vaccine
for other people’s herds, German officers came to collect vaccination tax from §
the headman at Etaneno.'! In instances where Herero cattle owners were |
unable to pay, grazing land was taken in lieu of cattle.!*
Dealing with another part of southern Africa devastated by rinderpest, Shula |
Marks noted the observation of the Natal administration ‘that the destruction
of African cattle gave the colony a most favourable opportunity for delimiting
African lands which had thus been vacated’.'** The same held true for Namibia.
Even prior to the arrival of the disease in the territory, the threat of rinderpest |
was used to further the ends of the colonial state in the clearance of land for
land companies and settlers. Indeed in late 1896 Leurwein explicitly used the |
threat of rinderpest against Manasse Tjisiseta of Omaruru to ensure that the
cattleposts of his subjects were withdrawn from the lands allocated 1o and °
appropriated by the SWACO.'* Following the rinderpest the Herero chiefs
took to selling extensive tracts of land in an effort to recoup losses suffered. In
effect, this meant thart the colonial state found itself in a position where it had
the power to decide on and allocate land without anything but the slightest of
consultations with the Herero chiefs. In effect, the colonial state claimed
ultimate authority over all land allocation. This is best reflected in discussions
relating to the allocation of reserve lands to the territory’s autochthonous
populace.’¥?

Volkmann concluded his report by noting that he was totally against (hcr
establishment of reserves, primarily because 'Ill would then become r}fccssa{i
for permission to be asked before one could build roads, dams and rai \-\frn_ys.
For Theodor Leutwein, who was governor of German South West Africa at
the time, the most important result of the rinderpest was that it led mkﬂ:.:
construction of the railway-line between Swakopmun{ and Windhoek. .
Already in 1896 Leutwein had requested fund§ from the German g_overnn:(eg‘
for the construction of a railway-line between Swskopmugd and Windhoe I:
In the years immediately following the esmblishmcm_o( a German p?::_ctimg ni;
there was a dramatic increase in the amount of freight transport. This c‘:h_ [h
serious environmental degradation which in turn hr_mlcd the extent to whic
ox-drawn freight transport could expand. However, it was not untl r:nd;rp?{n‘
had halted all forms of bovine freight transport that funds were finally
142 .
gr%;',}t:};mcmascd mobility that came about as & result of Ill1c railw_ay construction
had a threefold impact upon Herero society. The most m_'lmedlatc impact w;s
that the train totally undercut all previous forms of freight transpfartpm L‘"lf
territory. This primarily affected those Herero who were cn_gsgcd in dmc 7
fahren, particularly the chiefs who saw their power and mcorln(c g;_bu::d
even further.'* The second impact was that new centres, sugh as danl'l by
Usakos, came to acquire regional importance whilst Orjimbingwe declined 1n

i N ZBU U 3032, WII el Emgeboren-
= :,V. Chroniken, Omaruru 1901 NNAW, ZBU %1_312, ZB hihos
;nﬁfvit;‘und L;lan'mun ‘peneraha’, Band | & WII ¢2 Eingeborenin Reservare und Lokatonen
:ﬁu\‘#s‘%@augﬂt 2032, Berlin 16/2/02 Bericht betreffend schaffung von Rdscrua:znﬁf:r Eingeborenen
n }f.cr;m.’;nde,\-’utkmann & Report by Distrikischef Oberleutenant Kuhn of 1/3/02.
14 Leutwein, Elf Jahre, p. 132,
1 BAP, RKA 2101, Leutwein in Windhoek, 2007196, to A,
line. =
14 Weber, Geschichie, p. 77.
w ELCIN, V. Chroniken, Othmbingwe 1899.

" ELCIN, V. Chroniken, Omaruru 1896,
12 Mossolow, Waterberg, p. 22.

1M NNAW, ZBU 2027, WII D 10 Band 2, von Lindequist in Windhoek, 16/4/98, to Omaruru
Kaiserliche Distrikes K i

' Drechsler, Fighting, p. 98.
19 8. Marks, Reluctant Rebellion (Oxford 1970), p. 130, cited in van Onselen, FAH, p. 487,
i NNAW, ZBU 2027, WII D 10, Leutwein in Windhoek, 2/10/96, to Manasse,
¥ §ee ELCIN, V. Chroniken, Omaruru 1901, NNAW, ZBU 2032, Berlin 16/2/02 Beriche betreffernd
Schaffung von Reservaren fiir Emget w1 H lande, written by Vol at the request of
the foreign office.

calls for the establishment of railway-
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1_Lz'z't;i»;:rtelnce as the railway bypasscd the settlement.'** The third factor, which
n due course would have dire consequences for Herero society, was that
(Jcrmanl troops could henceforth be easily transported and rcsuppl’ied

: In lalﬂdmg the rail_way, it'iitiall)- from Swakopmund to Windhoek an.d later
nr\:aer:m;;i?:r;u 2::“}:, ;he German colonial state acquired extensive control
drer who, had they not worked, would have died of starvation. In

te SOT,f}?]lowmg the maltreatment of labourers sent to work on the railw:

Manasse Tjisiseta of Omaruru wrote to the German authorities: i

From here I have nothing to tell you; except the famine that oppresses us we a
stll well . . . Last nme you were here you came to ask for labour for the railwa '§
rephied yes and no. The no [ based on the fear I had for my willing workers for :’I;
r;l:srrcstmcm and difficulues, you said that you would protect the Hcrera- sgulnsi
lhcse problems, and I said that [ would support the ssue, when you left I gathered
the mi}cr chiefs and sent 160 people, however that which [ feared has now come t
pass. The people are now fleeing from Swakopmund they fear the r;ard lreatmcn‘:
and that they do not receive enough food for the heavy work that they have to do, '+

T'he death of Manasse and the subsequent accession of his son Michael i
_ﬁne mdlcamrlas to the extent to which the colonial state was able to incre s‘a
its presence in O_maruru, which had hitherto had a strong ann—Gcrmae;;
reputation. It is inconceivable that, prior to the rinderpest, the Ogira of
Omarurtg would have permitted the German authorities m, decide upon
Manasse's successor. However, this did oceur, primarily because the colonial
state had 1_hc power to sanction and legalize the land sales of Otjira members
who now mdu_]ged in these transactions in an effort to accumulate ca itai
:“311[(;;:;12 the rmdcrpc_.q(,'l‘hc extent of this dependency was emphasized \fh::n
n extra contin i i i i
e discon(enf'e::l of soldiers was introduced into the town without
The impact of rinderpest was also felt in the ways in which Herero made
sense of the world around them. Ideas regarding the causes and effects of
disasters are created and transformed within a field of public discussion and
Er:_l'h.-ct gcncrall_y accepted beliefs and prejudices. During rh;! late 1980
f]rnha_hwcnn friends of mine jokingly changed the acronym AIDS into arf
American Induced Disease to Stop Sex’. In doing this they reflected the
generally accepted idea that AIDS was but another in a long line of western
donor attempts at reducing the Zimbabwean birth rate. Similarly whilst
gnnductmg ﬁclqwork, informants would tell me that the rinderpest h};d been
ESuced bf\K_ah]mef'nua Nguvauya or that the disease had been created by the
: r_mans,d sin mpcr parts of Africa, people believed that rinderpest had been
ring‘:‘u-wcre: by wh:_:cs; mdeedl t_here was a ‘universal suspicion that the whole
nderpest enterprise was a sinister device to impoverish Africans in order t
;ocrcc ih_ern into the white man’s services’.” The various observers at the rims
ad varying ideas as to the causes of the disease, and in effect the extent of

" The mi ies ch d this devel as they bel i that Otjimb

Et:nlrcaaway from German interest and influence in which th

I“c».n:l 'Vnrld. EL_C]N,V. Chromken, Onyimbingwe 1890,
NNAW, ZBU 2027, WII d 10, Manasse in Omaruru, 23/11/97, 1o Leutwein,

could now form
¢ Herero could be exposed to the

" ELCIN,V. Chromiken, Omaruru 1899 i i
T e, O u s that at mid-year an extra of soldiers
nr 2} fol, . H

Pule I s ‘Epid and Reval " in Pasi and Present, p, 134.
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their reflections on the topic are an indication as to the stupendous impact the
disease had on socicty as a whole.

Commentators have noted that the Herero in German South West Africa,
devastated by the loss of their cattle, were placed at the mercy of the

" missionaries. As a consequence of convenience or conviction, they went to the

mission stations. Throughout the land there were, as another commentator has

© putit, ‘signs of a general movement towards conversion, which the missionaries

saw as a blessing concealed in the disaster’.'"® Though this may generally
speaking be true, the specifics of the situation indicate that this conversion
was part of a process. The case of events at the mission station Orimbingwe,
which lay along the main coastal ox-waggon route, illustrates this point well.
At first missionaries at the mission station in Otjimbingwe were ecstatic at the
appearance of rinderpest, as they believed that the initially selective impact of
the disease had vindicated their belief in Jesus Christ and his teachings. When
the disease approached the settlement, Herero herds were withdrawn from the
station and dispersed to the many cattleposts in the field. As a consequence
the disease initially appeared to have spared the settlement, particularly as a
mere 6 per cent of the inoculated cattle died. Enthusiastic in their apparent
deliverance the missionaries reported that people were saying that the disease
had spared Otjimbingwe as its inhabitants had prayed to God. However, this
deliverance was of but short duration. A few wecks later the disease ravaged
the cattle herds of Otjimbingwe in the same way as it had decimated herds
elsewhere in the territory. However, the missionaries saw this yet again as a
message from God.
.. what was more important was that the whole populace had received a deep
impression of the punishing hand of God [suchtigenden Hand Gottes] and that the
pumishments of the Lord brought abour the necessary respect for his justice.'**

These ideas were also shared by sections of the colonial authorities. The
rinderpest was a blessing in disguise; the Herero would now be converted.'?
There was indeed a major move to the missions by large numbers of Herero.
Those who argue cynically that the sole reason for Herero conversion was to
gather material benefits from the missions are unaware of the extreme rigour
with which mission Christianity had to be lived. Becoming a Christian did not
merely entail claiming a belief in a Christian God; it required a complete change
of lifestyle. Missionary reports of church services at the time illustrate this point.

The serious Christians seek their refuge in prayer. The evening hours of prayer in
the church and on Sundays after the services are well attended. I note here that the
hours of prayer were an initiative that emerged completely out of the pecople’s own
wishes. '

“t H, Bley, Sonch West Africa under German Rule (London 197 1) p. 123,
1 ELCIN, V. Chromken, Otiimbingwe 1897.
1= ELCIN, V. Chroniken, Omaruru 1897
In a conversation with the missionarics he [von Estorff] smid, that he hoped that this period of

crisis would become a blessed peniod for missionary work. He himsell had requested that the
Landesh haft in Windhock ask our Missi ¥ sOciely OF MOre MISSIONAries, as he

was convinced that the Herero people would now turn to Christiamity and that this period
should not be allowed to pass by unused.

JBG's translation.
1 BRMG, 1897, p. 324,
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;’:'d:_!ed to th’s.“."as the f;nct that the missionaries were at times well aware of |
t]n_r own position within Hereroland society. They were cynical enough to
realize that not all their converts were true believers. Indeed they said as much

in their reports and they did not sh i i
shy away from using material i
attract and convert souls, However, the truth wasx:ﬁat: FNGr et
i Fhe gifts of charity by the Mi Iy
consisted of rice and meal for the starving did not fa
Healrh:ndom broke down. Offers 1o the dead wer
sacrificial oxen had been torn away b
1 vy the storm: the death laments ilent;
polygamous marriages were as good as totally dissolved through dcath.g‘I:w e

It was not merely the fact that Herero cattle, as food and capital, were destroyed.

nity in the h
n their impact on the Herero,

Herero cattle formed the underpinning of their society. Through the death of ;

their cartle, Herero society was plunged into a fundame isi isi

a
tore asunder many of the social boundaries and beliefs 1:?1‘:::;:::;?;1::115:;;?;
prior to the rinderpest. One particularly fundamental boundary that collapsed
was that which existed between generarions. The rinderpest tore asunder th
age sets and generational boundaries that had limited access to cattle: ¢

I'he youth, who have to assist i inat for every day that
yo ist in the vaccination, receive an ox fo ¥

. by
they work; this was their salary; and with this they danced and sang.'%}

:’g;:;g, u‘::mtlatgd youlths were granted permission to cull cattle, irrespective
g e taboos which cx:_sred within Herero society. Herero youths, too youn:
gt:)cc;wn cattle, were paid cattle to kill cattle which were ostensil;ly ht:alth)--g
;and ;{tir‘::; turned u_psldc—dcwn, old values no longer appeared to be reievam‘
society, in attempting t 1 i ing,
i y PHng to come to grips with what was happening,
h;M ;he Ievc_] of the sertlers, the most important impact of the rinderpest was
th: they gal_n_ed access 1o !ar!d which had hitherto been inaccessible. The
o ]g;a:sn punitive measures against those who were accused of having ‘revolted’
Nassob’rE?'E:;};: :‘;;“2 the rl_nderpr.-st. depleted the cattle herds along the Whirte
¢ Seeis river to such an extent that lar fH
were left open and ungrazed,'s' D e o ne
5 ue to Herero land sales large numb
: ers
;;-:.i:rr: l\;\;c;e n(;lw able to claim and move onto lands pr:vioﬁsly owned boaf
i 3 nother facw{ was that, as a result of the rinderpest, cattle ranching
o ecame a Vlable_opuon fpr settler farmers. Following the rinderpest cattle
prices rose to three times their pre-rinderpest level and: ‘It was only now, with

the Herero out of compertiti 1
i petition that the rearing of cattle became a profitable

Conclusion

Kevin Shillington has written on the southern Tswana:

R
mderpest . ., helped to accelerate that process which the natural limmtations of the

132 Irle, Die Herera, p. 303,
' BRMG, 1897, p. 323,
1% Pool, Maharero, p. 165.

W ELCIN, V. Chroniken, O I
) Loy Otjir::ing::_mm 897. Due to sale of land to the SWACO many Boers trekked

i Drechsler, Fighting, p. 98.
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land, which

e no longer made. The holy §

ecology combined with the coercive policies of colomization had done so much to
promote in the preceding decades.'™’

In a sense this was also the case with Herero society. Rinderpest and
 colonization were processes that fed into and off one another. Due to the
gctivities of Theodor Leutwein and Samuel Maharero, people and cattle had
been pushed together onto ever smaller areas of land. Not only had this led to
' @ heavy burden being placed on limited and scarce environmental resources,
it had also facilitated the spread and impact of rinderpest when the discase
- struck. Added to this, Samuel Maharero and Theodor Leurwein had, prior to
rinderpest, substantially weakened the position of the remaining Herero chiefs;
: with the rinderpest the power of these chiefs was further reduced, as they lost
the means to control the loyalty of their followers. The economic devastation
that rinderpest wrought upon Herero society ensured that the society became
- hopelessly indebted, which in turn led to further labour export, land sales and
" continued dispossession,

- As a result of the rinderpest epidemic there was a major break in Herero
society as it existed before and in the aftermath of the disease. Rinderpest
finalized the breakdown in authority of the chiefs who had already been
" weakened and encapsulated by the acuvities of Theodor Leutwein and Samuel
' Maharero. In the aftermath of the cpidemic, as Samuel Maharero sought to
recoup his losses, new Herero elites allied to Samuel Maharero emerged. Men
- such asWilly Cain and Kajata, who overshadowed and defeated Tjetjo Kandjii
' in eastern Hereroland.

Herero were forced to seek new forms of economic subsistence. Herero
commoners were forced into wage labour or indentureship, within their own
territories and in other countries. Herero chiefs took to selling large tracts of
land to traders and land companies, whereby further stretches of Herero
territory were opened to settler occupation and thus further Herero
dispossession.

Socially rinderpest transformed Herero society. Age boundaries were broken
as young uninitiated men acquired cattle, power and wealth independently of
their elders. At the same time systems of patronage that had existed were either
transformed or destroyed. Unable to provide cattle, chiefs sought to bind their
subjects to them through the allocation of alcohol - something that had
happened before, but now with the absence of cattle this form of patronage
increased. It was, however, a form of patronage that entailed further
dependence on traders as land was exchanged for cash and goods. Associated
with these changes, institutionalized conventional forms of looking at the world
appeared to have failed to deal with the awesome power of rinderpest. In
attempting to come to terms with what had happened a substantial number of
people turned to the missionaries for religious assistance.

Rinderpest did not merely kill cattle; it was the death knell of an independent
Herero society as a whole. Following rinderpest, Herero society lost its land,
people and cattle, and sank ever further into debt. It became dependent on
the goodwill of the colonial state for its very existence. It became dependent
on the colonial state for land, in the form of reserves, and food, in the form of
employment, on the traders and settlers for credit and employment, and on
w1 Kevin Shallingion, The Colomsaton of the Southern Trwana, 18701900 (Johannesburg 1985),
p. 113,
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the mission for religious guidance. B
scattered groupings centred on urban
their associated chiefs.
and the German coloni

y 1904, Herero society was a series of
centres subject to German garrisons and

Effectively Herero society had lost its independence
al state was victorious.

5

Owvwita Ovia Ziirn
Zurn’s War
1904-8

Introduction

On 12 January 1904 the Herero-German war broke out, When the war finally
ended in 1908, Herero society, as it had existed prior to 1904, had been
completely destroyed.! The surviving Herero were deprived of their chiefs,
prohibited from owning land and cattle, and prevented from practising their
own religion. The war was not the result of a premeditated insurrection against
German colonial governance. Instead the war resulted from a series of
misunderstandings, in which war became the inevitable result of panic, on the
part of a German colonial official, and the self-fulfilling prophecy of Herero
war that existed within the mind of settler paranoia. Due to German short-
sightedness, and conflicts within the German military and administration,
opportunities to come to a negotiated settlement with the Herero were
consistently ignored in favour of a needlessly protiacted genocidal war.
Undoubtedly ‘the socio-political offensive of the German settler society after
the rinderpest, and the process of regeneration of the Herero society and their
herds around 1900 produced a very tense situation’.* But, for war to break

1 The dating, 1904-8, may at first seem rather unusual, Military operanons against the Herero
‘officially’ ceased in 1906 and were ended by 'ymperial decree’ against the Nama in 1907, However
the incarceration of Herero POW's only officially ended in April 1908. NNAW, BWI 406, Windhoek
3 April 1908 Durch Verfigung des Kaiserlichen Gouvernements vom 26 Marz 1908 151 die
Kriegsgefangenschaft der Hereros mit dem 1 April 1908 aufgehoben. Operations were carried on against
the Mama even into Botswana in 1908, Wulf D. Haacke, ‘The Kalahan Expedinon March 1908,
The Forgotten Story of the Final Bautle of the Nama War’, in Borswana Notes and Records, Vol.
24,1992, pp. 1-18. Berween 1904 and 1911 (rerman patrols were actve in the Omaheke Sandveld
agamst Herero. BAP, RKA 1492, Emschretten der Pohzatruppe in SWA vom 22 April 1911 bus @
August 1911, The case of the Herero Kandiapu, who was to be deported to Cameroon and died
whilst in police custody in Swakopmund, is a case in point. NNAW, BSW 74, Windhoek, 9/8/
1911, Deportation order for Kandiapu on the grounds that he had participated in an armed band
in the Omaheke Sandveld. Hostilitics against the aboriginal inhabitants of Namibia were still in
progress in 1915 when Namibia was occupied by troops of the Umon of South Africa. See in this
case particularly the work done by Robert Gordon an social banditry in north-western Namibia
wn The Bushman Myth: the Making of a Nanubian Underclas: (Boulder, San Franaiseo, Oxford 1992),
* Comment contained in thesis referee’s letter, May 1996,
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out, triggers were needed to imtate the outbreak, and these can be found in
individual fears and guilt complexes, in given places and times, and given
individuals in very specific misunderstandings. It is this that this chapter seeks
to bring to the fore.

The causes of war

Angered by the loss of their lands to settler farmers and land-companies, the
Herero initiated a premeditated, carefully planned and centrally led country-
wide insurrection against German colonial rule. That, at least, is whar the
majority of commentators dealing with the Herero-German war have sought
to argue.’ An exception was the historian, Helmut Bley, who refined this line
of argument and showed that:

In 1903 the Herero did not suffer from any acute shortage of land and there was no
deliberate German polieal mitanve and no particular acceleration of the land
question.

Instead, he argued that the war was not so much caused by the loss of land, as
by Herero perceptions thar this was abour to happen:

Feserves were seen as a preliminary to a general expropriation of the tribes, or were
interpreted as such by the head-men who were resolved on declaring war. Their actual
losses of land were less significant than the fact that the Herero head-men felr the
position and future of their tnibe o be threatened.®

I, for my part, argue thar the origins of the war are to be found in the
interpretations and perceptions of the German settlers and missionaries, rather
than in those of the Herero. It was these German interpretations and per-
ceptions of Herero society which in effect ensured that in the end the Herero-
German war became a self-fulfilling prophecy. Typical of this mode of thinking
was a German officer, Leutnan: Ziirn, who, troubled by his conscience and his
perceptions of what was happening in Herero society, panicked, over-reacted
and effectively initiated the Herero- German war. The following section details
the build-up to the war and analyses the direct causes of the war,

It was not the Herero chiefs, but the missionaries operating in Hereroland,
who were opposed to the sale of land. In order to be able to conduct their
vocation, the missionaries needed stations which had enough land to support
stable concentrations of sertled sedentary followers, and which formed
permanent centres within specific pastoral ranges. Thus the missionaries were
consistently opposed to the sale of land associated with their stations, for fear
that their resident Christian followers would be forced to move away from the
stations. Already at the start of German colonial involvement in Hereroland,
they had sought to ensure that the lands associated with their stations were

' See amongst others, C, Rust, Krieg und Frieden un Hererolande: Aufze aus dem Kriegspahre
1904 {Berlin 1905) pp. 3-4; G. Pool, Samue! Maharero (Windhoek 1991) p. 201 & W, Nuhn,
Sturm uber Sudwest (Koblenz 1989) p. 53.

* Bley, South West Africa, PP. 133-4.

* Ibid.
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Photo 5.1: The German mﬂrmryfa::{ !':!"Ok.ahm:d_}'a
Source: Namut N

1 Archives, W
reserved for inalienable Herero nccupatjﬂon,“ Lndeud ;1;? ggtg:ri;i’dclgit:;r;'
dly written by Kajata in 1901 and used as pr
:ﬂ;ﬁiiliz::o the fu);(her sale of land to settlers, was actually drawn up and
i by missionary Lang.” ) )
wrg‘t;nmgir plari the Herero chiefs continued to sell m_en;lland, a:n:ll m;;":}?i:lf:
8 Prior to the rinderpest, Her
that often startled European observers. Y
iri In the aftermarth of the rinderpest,
had sold land to supplement their income. i t g
i 2 hey were to retain their positi
le of land by chiefs was essential if they x ;
::z.:fp their losses. Thus Herero chiefs, deprived of their cattle ?crif, :::‘\j t;l:itzersl
to selling extensive tracts of land. The sale ochrcfo land to lan 1:(,“ ;})n =
and traders was not as pressing as it may seem. 'Ifh:cec?rx":pr::.:zs:ral Ofﬁ{:mm
i i to enfo
land to speculare with and were in no position : s
i ht. Indeed, following the war,
from the lands which had been boug  follow ¢ Sha
? had been the eviction of company ’
noted that one of the war’s benefirs ¢ i kacse
Vi ficult.? Furthermore, thoug
k that would otherwise have proved dif] r
:?:dei'sagought land to farm on, Herero cattle herds had not built up to a level
ed 1o competition for land. ) ) .
lh?: Iwas on ths issue of what would happen in the long mr'md: whcsrt\ ;:v\:!a:
envisaged that Herero cattle numbers would return to pr;—rl: crlf:cn noted’
that Leutwein and the missionaries were in agreement. As has
elsewhere:
In his [Leutwein’s] judgement, the Herero did not realise that they w:n:iundnrm:?:‘z[i
iﬁ::r whaole economy by selling land instead of cattle, the means of production ra

CIN, A89-1904 Gouvernenent
i he sale of Herero land see ELCIN, I 1.!4, I
;(F“;'?;:;Z::xa-“{'(‘:‘]:ff::‘l"/';ffro;?c:r:we) (Dokumente 1), Rn’c;,fc an Oaawrlzuunrcjm.A:imurd!m und
Tres z e w Sl ] )
H:amle 1891-1904. & 1 1.3 1873- 1905 Protokollbuch der K :m

afwirtschaft, pp. 330-1. )
:Rohrbdnrg;,_Px:l;ﬁe\f;;!‘aﬂj:‘:;;{f lgﬁ\ cites the case of colonial official Rahfr'l;acf;:c;l::a:“;:
Indee £ s;r)rllju}] Maharero, contrary to his wishes, that at least 25 per :ci: ch:sn‘s :*pr“sm
;“;;ﬁ?a rcsl:rvc‘nf unsaleable land. Sce Leutwen, Elf Fahkre, p. 276 for Leut
oppesition to the sale of Herero land.
¥ Bley, South West Africa, p. 134,
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than the products themselves, nor that ther "
3 grazing-land w. . N
ueed. If they managed to rasse fresh herds, they would Simply take pack 1
have very ba sold in their raditional manner - by force ~ process which §
Plll'{.‘hast_?d?] v:ﬁl.:sr.pu!mcn[ consequences. The army would have Eo proteci
Képt back § ¥ the Europeans, parucularly that which was not yet occupied, §
peculatively ‘in mortmain’, 10 upied, of

ncreasing settler population, of whom he noted that they:

e inchined, with their inborn feeling of belonging to a supernior race, to appear

members of a conquering army, cven though we had conquered nothing. The

jority of settlers had no knowledge of the protection treaties signed with the
1L

Frightened, not b y 3
3 y the costs of enforei . : ;
of their activities, which orcing land clearances, but by the cest ver, undaunted, Leutwein attempted to continue to administer the
missionari e would result from the inevitable land clearanct

aries petitioned the German government for the establish

Herero reserves.!! The missionary lobbying, in combination with Le

 atttudes of the settlers were shared by the majority of the aspirant
% who served as soldiers and officers under Leutwein. With the exception
sale of officers associated with Estorff, Leutwein knew himself to be opposed
8 Herero lands to traders, and led to the establishment of reses) olicies by his officers united armjnd Franke. The reports of ()ber!gumam
4, Premierleutnant Volkmann and others made no bones about their
gition to Leutwein's policies and new legislation. Whilst on leave in

ny, Volkmann, asked to comment on the feasibility of establishing
ons, wrote: “There is absolutely no reason why at the present time there
be a general regulation of the reservation question in Hereroland.’"?
se were the very same men who were expected to enforce and negotiate
ndaries of the newly to be established reservations - a policy which
posed and felt was at the expense of the settlers. Paul Leutwein, the
the governor, provided some indication as to the ‘gung-ho’ attitude
t among reservists, troops and white settlers at the time.

g:i;:op];;d;; Iglr:_tly_, ne\; c;edi[ regulations which would prevent traders
iming debts in the form of land :
of reserves of inalienable Herero | i el ks
: d. During th iscul
B e bl ero lan g the course of 1903, dis
: s regardin ] 18
cr{:#“ R o jnlngeffect_gutht establishment of reserves, and
- tl'lhuesg ;ﬁﬁ:r::p:: ];{l;umh'ein’; new legislation were the settler farmers,
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service. In 1899 Leutwein had also o
) ttempted to introd i
but, following a how! of i + 750 T
settler protest, these had be
1 . ent
}:Eilmpenal German government.!? Now, in 1903, l.eutw::’r:r':;:of
cr&cg[:;zr;; g;llll:-l: andffc?sured their undying opposition when his
em off from ch i i

B R e eap land and their envisaged dream of |

‘company of Franke marched into Windhoek on 31 December 1903. On the
day there was a celebration in Kasino Sylvester, Here there were a large amount
mers whose farms lay in the Herero area. These were generally opposed to
ing that White farms could no longer be enlarged at the cost of the Herero.

One way to :
y to become an independent farmer was by trading . . . most farmers| ieved that the me had now come to change this ruling 1n favour of the whites.
; one thought of any danger. I can still see before me how, in a fiery specch, one

arca of the Herero uprisin m i dii

sing became farmers this A

goea s way. A few years of t f

cient 1o gain enough cattle from the natives. The I0,00S o & oldest Afrikaner [settler], the Hauprmann v. Francois called for a general razzia
I inst the Herero.'®

land necessary for a farm were often acquired 0 a similar way. i3
The sertl . " . : 1 ;
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could EHF;I:CI o Ic""d"lpanl(-‘s Ch_dn t enforce dispossession. In 19028 by tl'_le1r supreme cnmmandcr,Thendo: Leutwein. o
of land, whilst “': y land companies between one and five marks per % tensions that existed in the minds of settler society In GSWA were
Heterd lnd & Ie government charged thirty pfennig to one mark bated in October of 1903, when the colonial government became involved
Coniianies \:Eluc: l?cthUgh_t for between fifty pfennig and one mark."® against the Bondelswarts chieftainey in the south of the territory.
2 ad acquir ; , . : : R - g
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ent on Herero chiefs or on the gr:)\:::;-mene srcttlehrs P e e t;iaikr:d jlomar(:ao rhc(&glz‘l(’.:kc"“ﬂ'?‘o ‘:: tI::r\:crln::;(;f;e:t: ?)fo ?}11?\
Leutwein’s 1t s t for the purchase of la from central and northern G, .19 To coun s
eutwein’s credit regulations and reserve policy, the possibility of g lacement, there was a general mobilization of all German forces in
; late December of 1903.20 Only those reservists associated with the

ing cheap land appeared to hav W

g e been placed bey

= ¢ : yond the h W w

pirant settlers. Leutwein knew that his moves did little to endel;aI::: G otone SUvRy e ncionend Pttt
: ce.?!

:" Ibid., pp. 135-6.
¥ ?N!W:, ZBU 2032, WII el, Eingeb und Lokati ;
'* For a discuss - g% : e A
e usston on the mtroducuon of this new legslation see Bley, South I.;;é:f f
"' Leutwen, Elf Tahre, p. 269 & 5 1
s £ F 1 P pp. 559-68.
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fcw\(‘wk Unversity, PhD, 1974, pp. 132~
1% Schrank, Sourh West Africa, p. 129.

cited in Bley, South West Africa, pp. 139-40.

U 2032, WII ¢4, Bericht betreffend Schaffung von Reservaten fur Ewngeborenen im
Volkmann in Berlin, 16/2/02.

in cited in Nuhn, Sturm, p. 52.

iyl Maharero, pp. 196-7.

p. 207, Bericht des Kaserlichen Gouvernements vom 20 Januar 1904.
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Left behind in Okahandja and charged with im:

for which he felt little sympathy, plementing a reserve policy

1 Distrikisch i 1
B : ] , ef Leutnant Zirn determ
w(()ﬂ[l;:l;:c;s :cfs:rl;at, 1;?'35 envisaged, would become the Okahnr:gj:dat:g
bl S e h::v. ~urn was not particularly happy in his place of
SR tin—;c oo as an:fr.'ioug to make a career for himself, Indeed, at exactly
R naiisodiimu) € was finalizing ti_:e reserve treaties, he was also applying
e aﬂa transfer out of hls_pomlqn in Okahandja. Not yet thirty
ity hirr: and €r a mere two years in service, he requested that Leutwein
s the replacement of Haupimann Franke, who had just marched

rhmugh Okahandja en route to > war u
1 the the south, as te orary Bezir
in the south, as temp 9 ks

The Okahandja reserve was determined against

councillors associated with Assa Riarua whothc wishes of the Okahandja

wished to see more land
* BAP, RKA 2021, Zirn in Okahandja, 28/12/03, to the Governor.,
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' reserved.?® Missionary Dichl commented that in the first instance the Herero

rejected the boundaries drawn by Ziirn as the territory allocated to them was:
(i) too small; (ii) located in a part of the country more or less unfamiliar to
most of them; and (iii) left much to be desired in terms of grazing land’.?*

" However, as Diehl continued:

Ziirn summoned the Headmen again to bring the matter to a close. They were,
however, sorely disappointed to hear that Herr Ziirn was still insisting on the borders
as originally defined by him. Indignant, they refused to sign on the dotted line. Herr
Zirn thereupon dismissed them in whar they said was a rather rude fashion,
observing that he could well do without their signatures as Samuel would be prepared
to sign in their place and that would be quite sufficient.?*

Thus, after more than a little cajoling on the part of Ziirn, the boundaries of
the Okahandja reserve were decided upon. As another contemporary observer,
Paul Rohrbach, noted:

A number of witnesses have stressed that during discussions with Herero councillors
in the fort of Okahandija the Distrikeschef von Okahandja [Zurn], the same official,
whom Samuel claimed wanted to kill him, used threats [Drokmitzel] to ensure their
acceptance of a smaller reserve for Okahandja. This happened after the Governor
had already left for the South.*

However forceful he may have been, Ziirn had at least gone through the
pretence of having had discussions with the Okahandja councillors before
determining the boundaries of the reserve that was to be assigned to them. In
the case of the inhabitants of the Waterberg, Ziirn dropped all pretence of
engaging in discussion and did not even bother to consult the heirs of the late
Kambazembi, who had died earlier in the month.?” Instead, Ziirn determined
the boundaries of the Waterberg reserve on his own account, and forged the
signatures of David Kambazembi, Salatiel Kambazembi, Theurtheus and
Gabriel of the Waterberg, and Quandja of Otjikururume on the treaty.? Having
appended the forged signatures to the document Zirn claimed that, ‘In my
presence [the document had been] agreed to and signed’, which was a blatant
lie.?” Indeed the Herero delegation, en route from the Waterberg for boundary
discussions in Okahandja, was ordered to turn back as the boundaries of their
reserve had already been determined.? Ziirn’s blatant disregard for the rights
of the Herero and sympathy for the settlers opposed to Leutwein’s reserve policy
are well illustrated by his actions with regard to the Waterberg and Okahandja
reserves. Nevertheless, on 8 December 1903 Leutnant Zirn, having failed to

1 BAP, PTS 2115, Leutwein 1n Okahandja, 2/6/04, to Kolonial Abteilung AA.

3 Diehl cited 1n Drechsler, Fightng, p. 116,

# [bid.

# Rohrbach, Kelomialwerischaft, p. 338,

1 Lenssen, Chronik, p. 120.

#* NNAW, ZBU 2032, Treaty between Zurn and Herero chiefs, September 1903, folio 98-9, Zurn
placed crosses at the end of the document and then subscripted them with the text ‘signature of
the Kaptem David in Waterberg” and so on for all the Waterberg illors. None of the Waterb
councillors were present in Okahandja when Zirn appended their signatures 1o the treaty that
threatened to disown them of a substantial part of their territory. Some of the councillors had
enjoyed some missi y education, parti 1y Salaticl and David Kambazembi, and could thus
write their own names. That the Herero chiefs of the Waterberg were not present when the treaties
were signed see: Pool, Samuel Maharero, p. 186 fn. 48 & Opstand, pp. 48=50.

¥ NNAW, ZBU 2032, reverse 99.

% Leutwein, Elf Jahre, p. 277.
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consult the Waterberg Herero and having cajoled the Okahandja Herero into
acceprance, announced the boundaries of the Okahandja and the Waterberg
Herero reserves.!

It was in this aggressive atmosphere of crude disregard for Herero rights,
on the part of the settlers and their Schutztruppe allies, that rumours of an
impending Herero uprising started. By late 1903 these rumours were persistent
and widespread. So credible were these rumours in the eyes of the settlers,
that they went to the extent of attempting to entrap their servants into
‘betraying’ the impending revolt.» Though the Herero consistently denied
wanting to start a war, there appears to have been a belief, on the part of the
settlers, that the Herero would undertake some form of action against colonial
rule. The fear of the settlers was enhanced by events in the south of the territory
where the Bondleswarts were proving to be more than a walk-over. The
withdrawal of troops from central Namibia, as well as the general mobilization
of all German reservists, merely served to emphasize to the settlers that war
was imminent. It was in this climate of general distrust that the settlers, now
mobilized reservists, and soldiers like Zurn, left in charge of Hereroland, dealt
with and interpreted the events that led up to the war,

Beginning in early January 1904, German officers and settlers showered one
another with rumours and reports on the envisaged Herero insurrection.
Meetings held between German officials and Herero chiefs consistently referred
to and dealt with the rumours of war. On 6 January Traugott Tjetjo and Lt
Streitwolf held a meeti ng in the Gobabis district to discuss the shooting of
alleged Herero cattle thieves by a settler named Bulack.® Streitwolf reported
that he did not believe thar war was imminent.* On the same day, at the
Waterberg, Sergeant Rademacher and the Rev. Eich, acting on the reports of
Frau Sonnenberg, whose husband had been drafted, spoke to David
Kambazembi on the growing indebtedness of Herero buying goods on credit
irrespective of the price. Sonnenberg believed that the Herero were buying
goods in preparation for war, However, David Kambazembi emphasized that
the Herero had no intention of starting a war, and both Rademacher and Eich
reported that war was unlikely. Instead Rademacher reported that a large

number of the late Kambazembi’s councillors had travelled to chief Ouandja
at Otjikururume, a settlement where the late Kambazembi had lived prior to
moving to the Waterberg.*s Eich believed that it was possible that the Herero
had heard rumours of the Bondelswarts war in the south and that this may
have made them unsure of the continuance of trade supplies, as traders, as
was the case with Sonnenberg, would be called up to fight in the South.
Furthermore, there was a rumour that some Herero would be called up to join
the German forces in the war against the Bondelswarts, and Herero had begun
buying goods in anticipation of this maobilization.*” Another factor may simply

' Ibid. & Pool, Opstand, pp. 48-9,

" Rust, Krieg, p. 5. The settler Conrad Rust, lad traps for hus servants in a vain endeavour to
discover when war was due. He describes in detail how at Christmas 1903 he arranged a mass at
which he hoped to entrap his servants mto betraying the impending revalr,

" Nuhn, Sturm, pp. 51-3.

' Pool, Opstand, p. 58, fn, 8.

" BAP, RKA 2111, Copy of letter by Rademacher at the Waterberg, 6 January 1904, to the
Kmserliche Distrikisamt Okahandja. Includes a letter sent by mi ¥ Eich to Rad her on
the same day.

* Kol. Blart, 1904, p.211, Eich mt Waterberg, 6/1/04, to Zurn.
' Kol. Blatt, 1904, p. 210.

149
Ovita Ovia Zirn, Ziirn’s War

i bazembi’s councillors, who cm::ld
een that, in the absence of the late Kam| : i
II::\‘:: :cpt an eye on their subjects, Herero had begun b}:yt,nﬁ goods. Or as Eich
it, s Herero took part ‘Because buying is so nice’.™ )
pug:‘;::::dny 9 January 1904 Rademacher’s patrql arrived m_Okshsnd:a f‘;ormo
the W;terherg_ Acting on the patrol’s observations, Lt Ziirn _rcpu‘;:: 4
Windhoek that he did not believe anymigghumownrd ‘t::':ip;e:]]i:%fmerberg
i i he Schurztruppe stati ]
it would be advisable to strengthen t e T
i the trader Jakobs arrived in
with a few extra men.* On the same day R
ted that he had passed large numbers of Here :
:I:f S::FI.::ncnr from the Waterberg.*® In normal c1rcumsm;|:§s, :hzs ::pm; :::::
i i d Eich had already re
orried Ziirn, as both Redemachcr an 1 3
]li‘?at( |:;::cc(‘J.::uu:iIlors of tl:nc late Kambazembi were travelling Lowardts l(l}kahsnd.m
and even Ziirn himself referred to thn-i]r coming |nl:l1_1s u\::[i:‘:':::d. happened
ing 2
On the following day, Sunday 10 January, 1ol  HOIORarg appRnec:
i i der Alex Niet arrived in Okal i
However, in the night of the tenthl, trad o i
d panic in settler circles, with hl_s report that
;zl:r:; u:)auack the town on the following day.}:z ?f:urn org;rchda:gj;hea:zltﬂ:;
wing i 1 i into the fort at Okal 3 E
living in the area to immediately come in ¢ o e
i i 43 The Herero, when questioned by ol
out a patrol to investigate. ; Sofcd hythe pr
] Okahandja from the Waterberg 5
P i h‘ad il ount chief Samucl Maharero,
assembly with the ‘Councillors and the paramou f1 e
1 i ] he inheritance of a number of ¢ y
deliberations could be held to determine t S s
itions’ he Waterberg had every reason to be in Okah 3
o e abi b frf:m y d his heirs, having begun dividing his
Kambazembi had died in Scptembet and hi » hay ! iDg e
i i k the guidance and sancti
inheritance, had come to Okahandja to seek | L Sh =
i 1 of the delegation from t
| Maharero. For Zirn, howcv:r,lrhc arriva : r
g;:;:)erg was something completely dlf'ferc‘;n. 1lfm htln:, ;::Tl:;nhl:; :;%:::; :é
i i ose sign
Hereroland, a delegation of men had arrive \A; hitrtc i
these men to land whic y
document that would remove the rights o o l;
g[all?cv:; was theirs. Added to this were the thoughts of Missionary Wandres
who wrote:
i . He had dealt with the
urn’ d .. . had 1ts basis in his bad conscience
51::}3?(:::?;[ Ig)ckahandm, particularly Samuel, n a very bru:;:uc Srrn;nl-:;_r.(;j:;:
Gathemann will confirm that in his presence _he [Ziirn] sh:)uu aitd I:Imthcrl bl
das Maul, du Schwein” [hold your mouth, you pig!]. One day Zirn tol g wa"m;
|:the présencs: of brother Meier, “When a native comes and complains, then

[hawue] him a couple of times behind the ears’.*®

- . _ I
: {B\,SIP ?II;S\ 211??;1;(})0;; ]oll‘lulur by Zurn in Okahandja, 9/1/04, to governor; see also Kol. Blant
g + G

1904, p. 210.

* Rust, Krieg, p. 131, - .

+ Kol. Blat. 1904, p. 210. e —
. 66, Pool's reference 15 based on Niet's depo o

a I_’ooi& Opunu-d!:ssuigg I'o:[;ctvmcs rendered. Unfortunately no other rcfercncc‘?‘nal;:::“h:

claime. cor'\'i\g:w i.e. three years after the event, that 2000 Herero were adyunc:ng \Vuhn} e

T it ! lhn; t! c amount never exceeded 300. Pool and others l'nllcswmg, hm; [#> e

ok ht a further 300 armed Hereros headed towards Osona. Pool’s rel :n.-n“ ki

(hs:ﬂg‘,nn;?(\; rl‘:ig(n ap 115, but probably refers to the same Hereros referred to originally by Niet.

on s 4, p. 115,

4 Pool, Opstand, p. 66.

. indhoek,
::gg&f.Rl.ziué"i%"l;:.I’clmnnlaklcn\mndrcs Carl, Band 3 1900-1905, Wandres in Windhoe

es’ urn echoes
20/#/04, to the mission directors 1n Wuppertal. Interesungly, Wandres's report on Z
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The fears that Ziirn entertained were increased as German traders and settlers,
complying with his own orders, sought shelter from the anticipated revolt in
his fort. One can well imagine that the tales and reports, brought in by the
settlers and traders, who had been ordered to shelter in the fort by reservists
and soldiers who were convinced that war was about to break out, did little to
sooth Zirn’s fears. Influenced and infecred by the rumours and tall tales of
the reservists, frightened traders and settlers, Ziirn became convinced that the
revolt had started. Trapped in a spiral in which everything he did served to
convince him of the validity of his belief, Ziirn panicked and towards 1 a.m.
on the morning of the eleventh he telephoned Windhoek and reported that
the Herero were approaching, that he believed that a revolt was imminent, and

that he needed reinforcements.® A few hours later Ziirn sent the following
telegram:

Samuel and many councillors [at] Osona, believe following Native reports revolt
very possible. Patrol sent to Osona, have 26 men at station with volunteers, based

on the amount who marched through there must be approximately 200 Hereros at
Osona. Zurn.*

In the morning, Monday, 11 January, the provisional governor Richter
summoned Bergrat Duft and reported, on the basis of Ziirn’s panicky missives,
that at Okahandja ‘the Hereros had gathered in suspiciously large numbers
and were probably planning a revolt against the Germans’.* The Germans now
believed that the revolt was a reality and following discussions it was decided
that Duft should travel to Okshandja to negortiate with Samuel Maharero and
his councillors, and seck to prevent the revolt. Accompanied by eighteen
soldiers, Duft set off by train to Okahandja. The Germans, convinced that the
war had already begun and that the railway bridges had been saboraged, ordered
a train to patrol the line from Okahandja towards Teufelsbach, in the direction
of Windhoek. Anxious to ensure that the train would get through and that extra
reinforcements could be brought into the settlement, the soldiers travelled
hidden and ourt of sight to observers on the last stretch of the line berween
Teufelsbach and Okahandja.® For all their panic and subterfuge, the train
arrived in Okahandja at 2.30 p.m. without an incident.

When Duft and the reinforcements arrived in Okahandja, the settlement
was in a state of heightened nervousness, Zirn had ordered all reservists to
the fort and, by having the battlements manned by armed guards, had increased

the words of another, who 35 years later wrote of a settler farmer:

‘When I get a new boy,’ he smid, ‘the first thing I do is walk over 1o him and twist his ear.

With a ternble thumb and forefinger he showed me how he walked across 1o @ new black
labourer, took hold of the man’s ear, and screwed 1t around,

‘But doesn 1 that humiliate them?' I asked,

‘Sometimes | make them cry”

‘Don’t they ever try to hit backy*

‘Sometimes a Herrero [sic] will. They've too damn much cheek; two words for every one of
yours,"

Negley Farson, Behmnd God s Back, Sixteenth impression (London and New York 194 1)p. 7.
“ BAP, RKA 2111 Tel Bilow in Windhoek, 11/1/04, to RKA,
“BAP,RKA 2111, Copy of Telegram Zidrn in Okahandja, 11/1/04, to Richn
at 7.15 a.m. arrived 8.05 a.m.

“ Kol. Blatt. 1904, p. 215. Windhock 17 January 1904, Tageshericht Bergrats Duft.
* Kol. Blatt. 1904, P- 216 & Rust, Krieg, p

er. Zurn sent telegram
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ili ¢ Duft was informed that a meeting had
the military preparedness of the folll't.’
been arrnnied with Quandja of Otjikururume, ang th:;l Samhpel g}:al:iar;:om\::?

1evi a im ed,
t in the settlement. Believing that Ziirn wanted to have )
R:aharem had withdrawn from Okahandja to Osona, \_ut_uch lay tl‘:icnty
kilometres to the south along the Swakop riv;r, wll-xer:fh]eth:d E.:nmejea:\isiaah;;::
ho was sick.’! The misgivings and apprehension felt by

:l:rc shared by the Herero who had agreed to meet Duft; they refused IO;‘(!'TE
to the fort. Instead, at 5 p.m., after the Herero de]eganon_ hﬁd ascertal_ne! that
the Germans were unarmed, Duft, Ziirn and the missionary Dieh mec:
Quandja, and a number of Herero councillors from the Watcr!}erg];nf
Okahandja, on the path that led from the fort to the Herero location. Duft
described the meeting as follows:

Samuel was in the field collecting debts

;11:1: :{m:c]cl{ci,rrl;trrlr:;;lohu:a‘:!:::::crtt::. [li‘:::\:wisc we were told that Assa Riarua was

very sick,. ¥ . - ‘
Thus the two most important Herero men of the Okahandja c__hlcl'tamcy, \‘>amu£
Maharero and his adviser Assa Riarua, the two men whom Zirn hag_harnzguAg
and cajolled into signing reservation treaties, were absent ani in 155018 &n é
regards the Herero who had arrived from the Waterberg on the p:lg |(t) sett?c,
the Herero delegation confirmed that they had come to Okal a; d:g ] .
the inheritance of the late chief Kambazembi.** This conﬁ:‘me 1scc||1_ss o
held earlier on in the day by the Rev. Dichl and 1‘:hc Herero.* In roun mt?t :
the discussion, Duft warned the Herero delegation that the Herehm(r:ug n(;
do nothing to endanger the peace. In response, the Herero urgedtl e :je;manv
to refrain from sending out patrols as they distressed the Penp:s, and in any
case “They the whites had nothing to fear from . . . the natives.

Of their own accord the nauves referred to the protection treaty, a:df(h‘:t;egfgi_;:&?;;
3 eting was arranged for the

were closed in complete peace and a new me . Ira

morning. The missionary Iiehl, when asked as to hls_ opu;mn of the negonations,

noted that there were no grounds to mistrust the Narives,

Diehl’s opinion was thrown to the wind. Even as the German dci-:{galnnn:;]]:\eof
back to the fort, Duft and Zirn dismissed t.hculdcn that the Iergrg t:'(am.s
intend to wage a war. Instead, “We [Duft and Zurn]_ ‘“.ld the whlfl:ehn'} a Id it
of Okahandja believed that the statements of the Natives were 1: rnc;;e .mo
1If there was an element of alarm amongst the Germa_ns, T enht g,emrc:
primarily through the actions of the Germans, was transmitted to the

i 1 Maharero referred speafically 1o
latt. 1904, p. 216. In a letter to I..eulwei:!, Samuc i 1
Z«::::;nﬂy;miers bait]:g hidden in chests and occupying the battlements, Moskanze {dﬂév{dcfgr?
the Dutch Schans, forufication) of Okahandja fort, prior 1o the outbreak of the war. N,

| Maharero at Otj i, 6/3/04, 10 Le )
‘l'l ;}L%f\s'a’r?clﬂ A., Samuel Maharero at Otjozonjari, E_M'M’O‘i,_ ludﬁ:;::é:.qﬁ:t{c?k::f;;&
bstantis cka, 2 £ 2 T, !
[:I:]. Suh.sl:mllslcd .t?;ylmmnnucl :-!‘E:rtk‘a. Z_u‘sg;iaﬁnmve.u.n Pt ks
15 also

29/6/04, 1o the mission directors in Wuppertal.
*2 Kol. Blart. 1904, p. 216.

' Kol. Blatt. 1904, p. 216,

*“ BRMG, 1904, p. 115.

* Ibid., p. 116.

% Kol. Blam. 1904, p. 216.

¥ Ihid.
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living in the settlement. Samuel Maharero and Assa Riarua had withdraw
from Okahandja, for fear of what Ziirn might do. As a Herero informed Diehly
carlier in the day, °. . . you must see that we do not understand why there
so many German patrols and why have all the whites fled into the fort?** Th
Herero could see that the Germans were preparing for war, but did nof
understand why. Samuel Maharero believed that Ziirn wanted to have hi
killed and that the German patrols were being sent out for this purpose.®®
Following the meeting, and the agrecment to meet the next morningy

members of the Herero delegation rode the twenty kilometres to Osona, to§

report back to Samuel Maharero and his council in hiding on the day’s evenrs

in Okahandja and the meeting. Back in the fort, Duft telephoned Richter in
Windhoek and also reported on the day’s events. At this stage, no hostile action |
on the part of the Herero had taken place. Yet Ziirn telegraphed Swakopmund §

and requested that the German naval cruiser Habicht, which was in the vicinity |

of Cape Town, land a company of marines as reinforcements. All the remaining |

settlers were ordered to enter the fort or to spend the night in the railway station.

Further orders were issued to reinforce the fort in anticipation of attack. |

Finally, against the express wishes of the Herero negotiating team, as darkness
fell on 11 January at least two further mounted patrols were sent out. One of

the patrols succeeded in confiscating a number of unregistered Herero rifles |
and returned unscathed. The second patrol, sent to warn settlers on the outlying |

farms and order them to the fort, left at 5.30 p.m. and disappeared.®!

Ensconced in their fort, the German settlers, traders and soldiers once again 4

cxpanded upon one another’s fears. The frayed nerves of the fort’s inhabitants
were hardly soothed when, during supper, a prisoner was shot and killed as he
sought to escape from the fort.®2 Shortly thereafter the trader Leinhos
confirmed everybody’s fears, when he reported that he had received

information, from a Herero woman, which indicated that the Herero .

movements were directed against the whites.® At this stage Ziirn telegraphed
Windhoek and requested that a machine gun and further reinforcements be
brought up by rail from Windhoek.* For all their fears, the night of the eleventh

to the twelfth passed quietly; indeed Dr Maaf, after having travelled through
Herero territory, arrived unscathed from Karibib and reported nothing §

untoward.®%

At daybreak on the morning of Tuesday 12 January the traders, who had
spent the night in the fort or the railway station, headed back to their homes
and stores in Okahandja. Missionary Meyer, who had spent the night in the
mission station, walked across to the Herero location, Lt Griebel, a

** BRMG, 1904, p. 115

*ELCIN, T 1.19 A, Samuel Mah o ar O i, 6/3/04, to L

= BAP, RKA 2111, Generalkonsul in Cape Town, 12/1/04, to AA, asks for Habicht to be sent to
Swakopmund at the request of the Swal d Rezirksh Pool, Opstand, p. 67 & Kol.
Blan, 1904, p. 216,

*' Kol. Blatt. 1904, p. 216. It is possible that this patral, which left at the same time that the
Herero delegation was on 1s way to report to Semuel Maharero in Osona, followed the Herero
en route to Osona and were subsequently killed. This parrol may be the one referred to in Samuel's
letter; if this 1s the case, then 1t 1s hardly surpnising that Samuel Maharero failed to pitch up in
Okahand)a on the following morning.

* Rust, Kraeg, p. 8.

* Kol. Blat. 1904, p. 216.

4 Ihd.

** Kol. Blatt. 1904, pp. 216 & 217.

* BRMG, 1904, p, 115,
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ive of the Otavibahngesellschaft [Otavi railwa_y_companyl, who had
ived a few days previously, with the intention of recruiting Herero Ia_bcmrer;
r the Otavi railway, left the fort and wandered to the Herero Iccat!on an
uel Maharero’s Werft.8 Bergrat Duft and Dr Maa, who had an appou:;nlmnt
vith the Herero delegation later in the morning, walked to theWFckc and_ mg‘Lsd
ore, which was run by Mr Stérmer, and visited the garden, which was sllual;
lose to the graves of Tjamuaha and Maharero, and then strolled on towards

the Herero location and the prearranged meeting with the Okahandja artl'd
Waterberg councillors. As they walked toward_s the location, thlcg.r] werle :ln:::“ ay
' missionary Meyer who, in an unconscious pastiche of true colonial melodr: ,
" declared ‘the natives are restful’.®®

On the previous day Duft, Ziirn and the settlers had expressed the belief

that the expressed peaceful intentions of the Herero were mere fa!.:jncauo_n,“
| Vet until this stage, as they were walking _mwlards their prearra.\n%e mlee:imcgd’
nothing whatsoever had occurred which 1ust:ﬁeF1 the Germa_\n s fears. nd e

; missionary Meyer's words scrved only to emphasize that nothing u:tow};arcl ;:-s
' happening. However, as they passed the house of the Herero ¢l ut'cf hc:‘
3 Johannes, Duft claimed that Johannes told them not ro‘pmcleed any furt . [
More specifically, the Germans concluded from the man s facial expre_::m:! t hg

- they shouldn’t proceed as the war had started. The Germans substamgte t I"s
" fear for themselves, when they saw a large number of armed Herero at Samuel’s

Werft and a large number of armed Herero moving past the buildings of trader

i i f the Herero councillor
Denker and Gastwirt Dickmann towards the house o
" Barnabas. Alarmed, Duft and Maafl turned back towards the fort. As they
' walked back, they were joined by Lt Griebel, who was at that moment returning
from the Herero location. Griebel made absolutely no mention of war

1851 d.7
ions and like missionary Meyer appears to have been unconcerne
E}r:i]:iﬁ: who had arrived in the previous week, was a Iab_our recruiter. H:I hag
been to the Herero location in the hope of holding meetings with Sal‘l‘ll!.l-;'. \:n
his councillors for the supply of labour to the Otavnbaﬁ;nggse!{schaﬂ. - a 1111%
failed to find Samuel, he had turned back to the fort. Significantly, a terh['
war started, Samuel stated that the Germans hgd waged war agam;t hmc;
because he hadn’t been willing to supply them with labour, whereas he ad
been willing to supply the labour recruiters of the mines of the Witwatersran
1 7 )
m'glnrc!;ein]{ the fort Duft and Maaf reported what hald happened. Zirn behe:led
that the long-awaited revolt had started gnd immediately telephoned ||I.|he f{r.rqt :i
Denker, ordering him and Gastwirt chkman_p t? come back to]'IL Je:) o i
once.™ Shortly thereafter, in response to Zu_rn s tclephon_e cdn . hml‘ n,
accompanied by his wife and a child Of. the Dickmanns, arrive ha( the :n,
Denker reported that he had told the Dickmanns, who were in the company
of a Miss Miiller, to come to the fort; however they had chosen to remain,

* Kol. Blat. 1904, p. 217.
o Tbid.
# Kol Blatt, 1904, p. 216.

L Blatt, 1904, p. 217, ; :
" }é::swa::: Nnion:l Archives (BNA), RC.11/1, Correspondence regarding Hereros (and flight to

Ngamiland after rebellion in German South West Africa). Samuel Maharero in Mogopa, 2819104, to

Resident Magistrate,
7 Kol. Blatt. 1904, p. 217.
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Shortly thereafter shooung started.™ In the fort the Germans opened fire on
Herero in the vicinity of the fort. Lt Zurn and Bergrar Duft sent a telegram to
Berlin reporung that the long-antcipated upnising had begun. Effectively the
Herero-German war had started.™

At 11 a.m. Miss Muller arrived in the fort and reported the deaths of Mr
and Mrs Dickmann and settler Kuntze.” A few hours later a troop train armed
with a machine gun entered the outskirts of Okahandja on the line from
Windhoek. At this stage none of the bridges or sections of the track leading

into Okahand)a had been destroyed. However, just beyond the first houses of

the settlement, near to Denker’s store, the track had been saboraged and the
front waggon derailed.™ Following a heavy firefight and a failed sally from the
fort the train was forced to withdraw.?? By the following day the Herero were

prepared and the rallway-line had been sabotaged at a number of places along .

a 5-km stretch to the south of the settlement. As a result the second attempt
by train also failed.™ A thard attempt to lift the siege by train took place from
within Okahandja on 20 January, but failed.™

Throughout the day on 12 January shooung continued. The MISSIONary
house came under heavy fire, not from the Herero, but from the fort. The
fmissionaries, it1s clear, had nothing to fear from the Herero, instead they feared
their countrymen in the fort. Towards evening, rmussionary Diehl was reduced
to carrying a white flag to the fort, with a request that the troops desist from
shooting at the mussion buildings. In the evening, under the cover of darkness,
the various trading stores were looted and a number of them torched. Under
the cover of darkness, and thus safe from German rifle fire, missionary Meyer
and the son of missionary Diehl walked from the mission house to the Herero
location. Samuel Maharero and Assa Riarua were not present. 0

It 15 clear that the outbreak of the war hinges around what the Germans
made of what 1t was that the Herero church elder Johannes may or may not
have said to Duft. Duft’s Tagesberiche clearly demonstrates that he did not
understand what Johannes said, and that 1t was on the basis of Johannes’s facial
expression that they decided to turn back. In later accounts detaihing the
development of the war, Johannes’s meetng with Duft has been transformed
into a dialogue, 1n which Johannes exphaitly warned Duft in Ogtherero to turn
back.®! Given that Duft and Maaf did not speak Ottherero, their interpretanion
of whatever it was that Johannes may or may not have said 1s open to discussion.
But, accepting that Johannes did tell them to turn back, there 1s no reason to
assume that this was on account of a war breaking out. One perfectly plausible
explanaton as to why Johannes should have wanted to tel] the Germans to

™ Itnd

™ Pool, Opsrand, p 69

™ BRMG 1904, p 116

™ Rust, Krieg, p 153

™ Rewchskolomalamt, Die Kampfe der deutschen Truppen in Sudwestafrika Auf Grund amthchen
Matersals bearb von der Kriegsgeschchtlichen Abtelung I des Grafien Generalstabes Erster Band
Der Feldzug gegen die Hereros (Berlin 1906), p 30

™ Rust, Krieg, pp 154-6 A careful reading of Rust’s text indicates that a number of soldiers
were left behind as the tram withdrew

™ Pool, Opstand, p 77 It1s of interest 1o note that these farled attempts to hit the siege by train
were referred to by Maharero 1n his letter to Hermanus van Wk

" BRMG, 1904, p 117

* Rust, Krieg, p 8, Pool, Sawmuel Maharero, p 207, Nuhn, Sturm, p 57
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Photo 5.2: The destroyed trading store of Wecke & ogts in Okahanda shortly after the

outbreak of the Herero-German war
Source Namibian Naronal Archives, Windhoek
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Osona for Okahandja at 8 a.m. at the earliest. By 9.30 a.m., the earliest time
by which the emissaries could have returned to Okahandja, the war had already
started. Johannes told Duft and his delegation to turn back on the morning of
the twelfth, not because war was about to break our, but because the emissaries
had not yet returned from Osona, and as such the meeting could not begin.

The absence of Samuel Maharero, Assa Riarua and Theodor Leutwein from
Okahandja, at the moment that shooting started, coupled with Ziirn’s panic,
were the two major factors that allowed an incident to lead to the outbreak of
war. If either Leutwein or Samuel and Assa Riarua had been present in
Okahandja at the time, it is likely that the shooting in Okahandja would have
remained but an incident, and the war would have come to an early end.
Unfortunately though, Samuel Maharero was scared of Ziirn whom he believed
wanted to kill him. Samuel was therefore not prepared to remain in Okahandija.
Equally unfortunare was the fact that Theodor Leutwein was away fighting a
war in southern Namibia; otherwise he might have been able to play a greater
role in restraining his junior officer Ziirn.5?

Missionary Wandres reported Bergrat Duft as saying: *If Zirn had not been
in Okahandja, then the issue would not have developed in the manner that it
did."® Indeed, following the outbreak of the war, Ziirn was recalled to Germany.
Upon his return the possibilities of instituting court martial proceedings against
him, for having instigated the war, were investigated. Fortunately for Zirn, he
was never court martialled and the investigations regarding his role in the
outbreak of the war were quashed as the war caught the Kaiser’s and public
imagination and Leutwein was ignominiously removed from office to be
replaced by von Trotha.5*

The letters

Four letters, allegedly written by Samuel Maharero prior to the outbreak of
the war, are used to prove that the Herero-German war resulted from a carefully
planned and premeditated insurrection against German colonialism, The letters
purportedly show that Samuel Maharero, in the days immediately prior to the
outbreak of the war, called the Herero to war, and called upon the leaders of
the Rehoboth Basters and the Witboois to join the Herero — ‘let us die fighting’
- in their struggle against the Germans.®

Central to the proof that there was a premeditated insurrection initiated by

** For Leutwein’s dislike of Zurn, see Bley, South West Africa, p. 134. Leutwein told missionaries
Wandres, Hamann and Meer:

Samuel wrote to me, that Zurn and the traders were guilty of having caused the outbreak of
the revolt. I did not think that Zarn could have been so brave, [Ich hatte nicht gedachi, dafl
Zirn so tapperich gewesen sei] |

VEMA, Personalakten 1623, Wandres, Windhoek 29 June 1904,

" VEMA 1623, Wandres in Windhock, 29/6/04, to mssion directors in Wuppertal.

“ BAF, RKA 2021, Personalakten, Ralf Ziirn, Aus Amt Betr. beschuldigung gegen Ziirn Schuld an
Hereroaufstand,

*“The phrase ‘let us die fighting’ which Samuel Maharero included in a letter to Hendrik Witboo
was taken by Horst Drechsler as the utle of his book. Drechsler was o conscientious historian;
though he believed that the letter was written prior to the outbreak of the war, he did note in his
foonote 52 of chapuer 111 that the versions of the letter which he had found were incomplete and
that the opening passage was missing.
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Samuel Maharero is the letter attributed to Samuel’s hand and dated 11 January
1904, that is, on the day prior to the outbreak of the war.

To all the chiefs of my land. I am the paramount chief of the Herero, Samuel
Maharero.

1 have issued an order, a straight word, meant for all my people, that they should
no longer lay their hands on the following: namely English Basters, Bergd a
Namas, Boers; we do not lay our hands on these. Do not do this. I have sworn an
oath to this, that this case does not become open, also not to the missionaries.
Enough. I am the paramount chief 8. Maharero, Okahandja.*®

All commentators who have written on the war state that this was Samuel
Maharero’s order to his subjects to rise up in revolt against the Gcrmans."_

Writing under orders of the alte Afrikaner, settler Hauptmann von Francois,
Conrad Rust, himself an alte Afrikaner wrote the book, Krieg und Frieden im
Hererolande. The book was issued free of charge to all the members of the
German Reichstag as they met to discuss the compensation that was to be pad
to German settlers following the war in GSWA.* Rust referred to the letter, in
his book, as ‘Samuel Maharero’s Manifesto’ and stated that it had been issued
on 11 January 1904, and that it was an order to war.*® He did not, huw;\._rcr,
provide his readers with a copy of the manifesto. Theodor Leutwein, writing
after the war in an attempt to exonerate himself from blame for the outbreak
of the war, referred to the letter as “The order of the paramount chief to revolt’
and quoted it in full but attached no date to it.* The historian Gerhardus Pool
referred to the letter as a directive to revolt and wrote, ‘“This order was
unmistakably aimed at the German population and was interpreted as such by
the Hereros.'"

But what were the origins of the letter, how did this crucial bit of evidence
fall into German hands, and was the letter really an order to revolt? Atno stage
does the letter urge anyone to attack anybody. Instead, accepting the translation
as correct, it commands Herero not to lay their hands on specit_’xc groups of
people, and not to tell anybody, not even the missionaries. It was this last clause,
calling upon Herero to maintain secrecy and not to tell anyone, not even the
missionaries, that led to the letter becoming public.

From the very beginning of the war, German settlers and a number of
officials believed that the missionaries had aided and abetted the Herero in
their insurrection, and had failed to provide warning of the revolt. At lhe
outbreak of the war, as a result of this settler mistrust, the mission house in
Okahandja became one of the prime targets for German marksmen ensconced
in the fort. The missionaries had more to fear from German bullets than they
did from Herero assault. Missionary Diehl, in a letter to his relatives, provided
a clear description of this episode:

w ELCIN, I 1.19 A, Verschiedene Brigfe von w. an Samuel Maharero w. a. Herero 1887 F?D-\f The

letters dealt with in the text are included in these files and are acc ied by German
BG'S translation from th: German text.
{’ O.Hi frikea m der de hen Zeit (Munchen 1955) p. 45; Bley, South- West Africa,

p. 142; Drechsler, Fighting, p. 143; Weber, Geschichie, p. 125; G. Pool, Opstand, p. 62 & Maharero,
p. 2

L Rusl‘ Krieg, pp. v=x1.

* Ibid., p. 4.

% Leutwein, Elf Jahre, p. 467,

* Pool, Samuel Maharero, p. 202,
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We have not been molested in the least by our Herero, They did not fire a single
shot at our house. We had nothing to fear from them. It was safe for us to pace up
and down the area in front of the house that was within the range of their rifles,
Things were different on the opposite side where our German fellow countrymen
were firing away, We could venture there only art the risk of our lives, although the
house was well ourside the line of fire and no shot was ever fired from there or nearby
- .. One bullet penetrated my study, embedding itself in the wall above the desk
- .. If I had been sitting there, as [ had the day before at this time of day, [ would
now be a dead man. The bullet would have gone straight through my head.

Following a series of ever more vociferous attacks in the press, both in Germany
and in GSWA, the Rhenish Missionary Society launched a counter-offensive. 9
In a biting commentary, in which he lambasted the ‘sharpshooters’ of
Okahandja fort for having used the windows of the mission house for target
practice, the inspector of the Rhenish Missionary Society, P. Hausleiter,
introduced the May edition of the Rhenish missionary reports with the claim
that they contained proof that the missionaries were innocent and beyond
blame.* The proof was provided in the form of a lengthy quotation taken from
a letter written by missionary Brockmann. The letter consisted of WO parts;
the first dealt with the settler and military distrust of the missionaries, and the
second provided the proof of missionary innocence and loyalty to the German
cause. Brockmann’s letter began with a description of how he and fellow
missionary Diehl greeted Governor Leutwein, when he arrived in Okahandja
in the second half of February 1904, following his return from the bartlefront
in southern Namibia:

The Governor greeted us n a friendly manner by shaking our hands and said to
brother Diehl: “What on earth have your confessional children done? There was of
course no time for further discussions; bur vesterday [19/2/04] we were already invited
to visit hum. I was not present and brother Duchl alone went to the station. The
Governor expressed his surprise that even the missionaries had had no prior
indication that the revolt would rake place.”s

The surprise expressed by Leutwein, as well as his clearly articulated belief
that the missionaries ought to have known what their ‘confessional children®
were up to, was shared by the German sertler community. They for their part
believed that the missionaries, who were not 1o be trusted anyway, had known
about the outbreak of the war beforehand. With Leutwein’s statements it
became clear to the missionaries that they were in danger of losing the support
of Leutwein, whose support was essential if they were to carry on with their
activities in the territory. But help was at hand, and Brockmann continued his
letter:

Yesterday evening a Herero letter fell into our hands, which had been written by
Samuel Maharero to his councillors on 11 January, that 15, a day before the outbreak
of hostilities. From this one can see to what lengths the people went to make sure
[ewie sehr den Leuten darum zu tun war] that even we missionaries did not get to hear
anything about their evil intentions . . . With this letter all evil allegations, such as,

** Diehl cited in Drechsler, Fighting, chapter 3, fn. 39,

** For example 1t was claimed by the Deutsch Sudwest Afrikanischen Zestung, 912/04, thar shots
had been fired on the German miliary from within the ¥ house in Okahandja. BRMG,
1904, p. 149,

* BRMG, 1904, pp. 141-4,

* Ibid., pp. 147-8. JBG’s translation.
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that we knew about the case before hand, can be refuted by us. The Lord be thanked
that he has now deflected all the false suspicions away from us.’

For the future of missionary endeavour in the territory, the letter could not
have arrived at a more fortuitous time. It arrived precisely when the
missionaries, who were already under extensive pressure from the German
settlers and military, were confronted with the beginnings of expressed doubts
by Governor Leutwein, a man who hitherto had consistently suppquted the
mission. The letter served not only to free the missionaries from suspicion but
also served to further implicate Samuel Maharero in the revolt. However, as
has been stated earlier, the letter can in no way be construed as a call to arms.
Instead it is a document that clearly calls upon Herero not to continue harming
non-combatants and if it was written by Samuel Maharero it was issued after
fighting had begun. It was this aspect of the letter tha:l prevepted Rust, even
though he referred to it as ‘Samuel’s Manifesto’, from including the letter in
his text. Leutwein, in following Rust, did refer to it as an order to revolt but
neglected to date the letter presented in his text. )

Leutwein’s failure to date the letter may have been for the following reasons.
The archives of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Namibia contain the
correspondence and administration of the Rhenish Missionary Socle_(}', Ina
file entitled Letters to and from Maharero 18871904, the letter, ascribed to
Samuel Maharero, has been found written in Otjiherero. Inspection of the letter
shows that it was not written in Samuel’s handwriting, nor is it signed by
Samuel’s hand, furthermore the letter has been dated in a German manner;
that is, ‘11 d. Jan'. In a later letter to the German colonial office, Governor
Leutwein, in providing evidence as to the origins of the war, ?e_fcrred to four
other letters ascribed to Samuel Maharero and noted, “The originals were not
signed by the paramount chief, whose handwriting is knov:rn o me.'“_? Of the
four letters described by Leurwein one was presented without c!ntmg :_md
opening sentences, and another was demonstrably postdated.® It is possible
that Leutwein was aware of the German dating on the letter referred to by Rust
as ‘Samuel’s Manifesto’, and that he therefore left it out of his published work.

In summing up. The letter, dated 11 January 1904, ascribed to Samuel
Maharero, was first made public by the missionaries in the second half of
February 1904, and has been referred to by all commentators following Rust
as Samuel’s call to war, I accept that the letter was written by Samuel or that
it was written on Samuel’s orders. However, I contend that the letter was not
written a day before the outbreak of the war and it was certainly not written as
an order to revolt. Instead, the origins of the letter may be described in the
following manner. At the outbreak of the war a number of non-combatants
were killed by Herero soldiers. Samuel Msharem_was well aware of the
damaging effects that this had on one’s public rc_lat_mns, and, if he was not
aware of this already, the missionaries and Chnstlan_Hc_rero wou!d most
certainly have emphasized this point.* Following the first initially chaotic weeks

* Ibid, :

T NNAW, ZBU 450, p.92, Leutwein in Windhoek, 14/3/04, to Colonial department,

* Reference to Samuel Maharero’s letter of 21/1/04 to H. van Wijk. )

* See particularly the letters of Witbooi on the outrage cxperienced when n‘un-combmams were
lalled. ELCIN, Politische Briefe etc. 1876-1893, Letter Hendrik Witbooi at Hpornerns:s_c_n 18
April 1893" 1o Kapt. H. van Wijk, Similarly see Kolbe recording Jonker's raids on Kahitjene.
VEMA, 2.585, Okahandja Orjikango, 24
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of war, Samuel Maharero and his councillors were able to take stock of what
had happened. I contend that it was in this period of stand-off that Samuel
Maharero issued the directive calling upon his followers to ‘no longer lay their
hands’ on non-combatants. The German dating was later added to the letter
by the missionaries, who may well have believed that it was a call to arms, but
were far more interested in finding proof with which to prove their innocence.
In other words in early February, possibly the eleventh, Samuel Maharero
issued a directive to his followers that henceforth non-combatants were not to
come to any harm. The missionaries, secking to prove their innocence, seized
upon this letter, which in no way can be construed as a call to war, as proof of
their innocence and probably added the dare.

Following the outbreak of the war, the German government instituted a
commission of inquiry into the causes of the war, As part of the commission’s
evidence four letters ascribed to Samuel Maharero were submitted.!'™ One of
the letters submitted to the commission was a letter addressed to the Baster
Caprain Hermanus van Wijk in Rehoboth. The copy of the letter handed in to
the commission was dated as having been written on 2 January 1904. In
Leurwein’s later published account of the war the letter was left undated and
Leutwein noted that it had not been dated.!®! Part of the letter which was
submitted to the commission as proof of Samuel’s premeditated planning read
as follows: “Here in Okahandja we have fought three times with the machines
and I won.'1e2

In the text submitted to the commission, brackets had been placed after
‘machines’ and the words, ‘probably with rifles 88" (which were standard
German issue at the time), included. However, Samuel Maharero used the word
‘machines’ not because he was unable to articulate the word ‘rifles’. Rather
the word referred to the three failed attempts by German armoured trains to
lift the siege of Okahandja. The term ‘Maschine’, was current at the time, and
referred to trains.'®®* Why then was the term incorrectly translated in the
commission’s report? Primarily because, if it had been translated correctly, it
would have implied that the letter was written at some stage after 20 January,
that is when the third battle between the Herero and the Germans in armoured
trains had taken place. This would in effect have meant admitting that the letter
had been written after the war had broken out. The third failed attempt by the
Germans took place on Wednesday 20 January 1904.'% Samuel Maharero’s
letter could only have been written after this event had taken place, that is
around 21 January, nine days after the outbreak of war.'® The original letter
which has been found in the Namibian national archives is indeed dated 21
January 1904.1%The letter can therefore not be used as proof of a premeditated
insurrection on the part of the Herero.

' NNAW, ZBU 450, Leutwein in Windhoek, 14/3/04, to Colonial department.

= Leutwein, Elf Fahre, p. 469,

192 NNAW, ZBU 450, p. 94.

' For the use of the word Maschne, see Rust's description of the disastrous second German
attempt to enter Okahandja on 14 January 1904. Rust, Kraeg, p. 154-6.

'™ Kol, Blaw. 1904, p. 218,

' It 15 interesting that Pool, in his first book Die Herero-Opstand {(Cape Town 1979) p. 64, has
the dating as 21 January 1904. In his later work, Samuel Makarero (Windhoek 1991) p. 204, Pool
has the dating as 2 January 1904 and concludes that the dating must be incorrect. The ariginal
letter is 1o be found in the Namibian national archives in Windhoek and shows the dating to be
211104,

19 NNAW, ZBU 451 D. IV.1.2. With thanks to D. Henrichsen for sending the photocopies 1o me.
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A further letter, allegedly written by Samuel Maharero as a call to war, was
submitted to the commission. This letter was directed to Hendrik Witbooi.
However, the letterhead and introductory paragraphs were not included, and
are not to be found on the original archive copies. There is thus no way in
which this letter can be used to prove that it was sent out prior to the ol_.lr.hreak
of the war as part of a ‘national’ mobilization campaign. Given that this le(t_er
was intercepted by Hermanus van Wijk and handed over to the Gg‘man col_omgl
authorities along with the letter that Samuel Maharero had written to him, it
is probable that this letter was also written around 20 ]anu‘ary. S_amue!
Maharero’s letters, to Hermanus van Wijk and Hendrik Witbooi, were
undoubtedly two of a number of similar missives sent to various chiefs mlrhe
territory, calling upon them to support Samuel Maharero in the war against
Imperial Germany.'®?

The inevitability of war: Otjimbingwe

Though the war was not the result of a premeditated plan dfawnl up by the
Herero chieftains, once it had begun, the remaining Herero chieftaincies were
drawn into the war. Through a combination of German and Herero mistrust,
suspicion and revenge, the tide of war flowed across the country and engulfed
the whole of Hereroland. There was no preplanned insurrection, and the
remaining Herero chiefs were clearly shocked and surprised at the outbreak of
war. Men such as Michael Tjisiseta in Omaruru, when informed that war had
broken out between Samuel Maharero and the Germans, noted:

I don’t believe 1n this thing. Samuel Maharero can surely not make war on the
Germans alone. And he has not, as yet, informed us of any intention to do so.'®

Yet war did break out, and the sheer inevitability of the outbreak of war, even
in those centres where Hereros protested their innocence, peaceful intentions
and civilized Christian lifestyle, is well illustrated by events in Otjimbingwe.
Here during a period of two weeks following the outbreak of war, the Hcrgro
were slowly but surely forced into a war which they did not want_and which
was not of their choosing. Primarily due to German military short-sightedness,
Herero settlements which could have been spared from the horrors of war
became engulfed in war, In much the same way that Ouandjo and the H_erero
delegation in Okahandja had protested their peaceful intentions up until the
bullets had begun flying, so for two weeks Zachalrias Zeraua and his fullowe}‘s
desperately sought to keep the peace in Otjimbingwe. It was all to no avail.
The case of events in Otjimbingwe provides a microcosm of events throughout
Hereroland at the time.

In Ogimbingwe a Herero cap named Zacharias had his throne; however only a
small part of his tribe, mostly Christians, lived permanently at the settlement, the
remaining people lived scattered at the cattleposts in the outback '[z_‘]usenfefd'el,
Between the Herero and most of the whites of the settlement (app_rcxnmn(ely 30)
there existed since ages a good understanding; the two main famibies H. and K.

11 The Ndonga King Kambonde and Chief Nehale also recewved a letter from ng\_ml Mshnre:ru
on 24 January 1904. Marti Eirola, The Ouvambogefahr: the Ovamboland Reservation in the Making
(Rovaniemi 1992) p. 165,

18 Pool, Samuel Maharero, p. 206,
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Photo 5.3: The buildings of the Halbich
family compound, which was transformed
into a fore shortly before war broke out in
Otjimbinguwe

Source: T. Leutwein, Eif Fahre, (Berhn 1906),
P 370

belonged to the old missionary colonists who had been brought into the land forty
years ago by the missionary Hahn.'®

In this manner the missionary chronicles for the sertlement of Otjimbingwe
introduce their account of 1904 and the outbreak of the war in the settlement.
The settlement is situated at the confluence of the Omusema and Swakop rivers.
The Omusema, which flows into the Swakop from the north, divides the
settlement into three sections. In 1904, the north-eastern section was referred
to as Die Overkant, the other side, where the military station, a couple of trade
stores and the houses of the settlement’s white inhabitants were to be found.
In the north-west the church, the mission buildings, the school, the houses of
missionary trader families, Halbich and Kleinschmidr, and the houses of the
settlement’s various non-Herero inhabitants; to the south of the Swakop, the
houses of the settlement’s Herero inhabitants were to be found.

Crucial to the outbreak of the war were settler perceptions of Herero
intentions. The same held true for Otjimbingwe where settlers received a string
of ever more alarming messages. Whereas on 11 January the white inhabitants
of the settlement had gathered to celebrate a wedding at the quarters of the
Hilbich family, where ‘It was a gay day and the natives [had] also received
their share of the party spirit.”'*" In the evening, as the party broke up, the
ever-present settler fears, of what the Herero were up to, were increased when
a messenger galloped into the settlement from Karibib, bringing news that an
unusually large number of Hercros had gathered at Okahandja with intentions
that were clearly not peaceful. At this stage, with the exception of Ziirn's panicky
missives, nothing untoward had happened. Yet these reports and fears were
expanded upon on the following morning, when two further couriers arrived
from Windhoek, with reports, based on Ziirn’s observations, that 300 mounted
and armed Herero had gathered ar an hour's distance from Okahandja, Samuc]
Maharero and his councillors had left Okahandja and the garrison in Okahandija
was to be reinforced by a cannon and forty men. Upon receiving this news,
missionary Olpp called upon Zacharias, in his ‘roomy brick house’, and asked
him to convene a meeting with his councillors, church elders and the Basters.!1!
By the time the meeting was held in the early afternoon, reports started trickling
into the settlement of events in Okahandja. At the meeting Olpp and the
quantity surveyor and reservist Leutnant Von Frankenburg, who had been left

'® ELCIN, V. Ortschroniken, Otimbingwe 1904, pp. 120-30,
"0 ELCIN, V. Ortschromken, Oimbingwe 1904, p. 130.
' Ibid., pp. 130-31,
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in charge of the German forces at the settlement, ix?furmed the twenty Herero
and six Basters of what had happened at Okahandja:

1 reminded them of their longstanding peaceful nature [alte Fr:'.ex{jzﬂigke:ﬂ;l::g
appealed to their reasoning which would ir}l’crn&"t.hem_ that ?:::li;ns!;sﬂ?:fl:snd o5
Ves wi
diately suppress every revolt, whereafter the nat € r
lfrrrtla:'decm, T?:crc’;are they should be wary of making comr{\ic:n cause with those o
Okahandja and not to d d into with them.}'?

Anxious to avert disaster, and with absolutely r;]o in(emt(?l:: of ﬁiﬂ;;‘:ﬁ:ﬂ:;ﬁ
i i i 15 councillors
ak out in their settlement, Zacharias and his ¢ ¢ : 3
:Z:ccful intentions and wrote a letter to the governor dcclam?g Lhm_r onalg(.m
For their part the Germans continued to strengthep and fortify their Puliade&
On the following morning ten reservists accompsmcﬁ“by four waggons
i it 1 i jimbingwe.
food and ammunition arrived in Otjimbingw .
WI%m’ing the following days refugees and s«:tﬂeirs, who ha? abjgx:d&z;esiltg:;:
ili s sent out to u
farms at the behest of the German military patro! out t s
to move into the settlements, began s]lrnsgh:g l:nmtfi;u:::l;f:»:ﬁ::;::c:z \;t
1 Tms.
brought in reports of dead settlers and burn ] o
i(;)etg]?ismbin;wc continued to express their loyalty tul the G;r?;;r; i{::gi(::l;: :?rr:érelr
i i i hat a cattlepost be
istration. Indeed, when it was repartt_:d th ! porye]
diately sent out a comman
Redecker had been robbed, Zacharias imme: ! s T .
llowing this show of loyalry, a
ture the rustled cattle.!’® A day later, fo 1 !
g;?;binwc Herero were prohibited from carrying weapons whilst at the
settlement.!'® i
Herero displays of loyalty were to no avmil:' ?’nbs?_ndag rl}:-' _Ia:;s;l;}[r; :: t\:::
i j he settlers had believe a :
happened in Okahandja, where t 2 Bepor iy
i i i fort and the settlers abandone
imminent, the soldiers abandoned their i don
houses an:'i stores at Die Overkant and occupllicd :I{J;_:l?n;‘p:_cx ::!l; b'}x‘;i:ixx}-\{gﬁsl ll;%:}:
i 1551 trader Halbich famly.
made up the lodgings of the missionary ; e ks
i ildi i i h-western section of the set
family buildings were situated in Il'_le nort SR
j ias a.The move took place whils
adjacent to the house of Zacharias Zerau : M UL grers
ishi d to move into the confined spa 1
parishioners, who were too scare ¢ il g ot i
issionary church, held their Sunday service o X
:;:iisf 5 houyse.’ 17 A Herero hymns wafted over th;{ml,bt_he]:] ?}eqmggszl‘;i;;s{ ::l';:g
i i ition i the Halbich bui
their supplies, arms and ammunition into ich ¢ JDlex Snc
iti i As the missionaries preached p
transformed it into an impenetrable fortress. « ¢ Ahonseaes
i i den stakes were driven into the grour
and goodwill to mankind, W00 iy
i ilbi i here they served as range ma v
surrounding the Hilbich buildings, w] ved keny o
i Herero parishioners prayed,
barbed wire strung between them. As I 3 e
i dows of the Hilbich complex
d out their future fields of fire, th_e win ;
g:::ic:ded, gunports were knockeq into :falls{, th; mndc?:dm‘.[?l c(;i:;sl:ic;:hm;:
i observation post, and a barrier pft ornbushes erected. :
:;lii?t:? with the exi:iplion of the missionaries, were permitted to be outside
the confines of the fortification.''®

"2 Ihid.

" BRMG, 1904, p. 123, Y

vis ELCIN, V. Or,lschmmkcn, Otjimbingwe 1904, p. 133,
" Ibad., p. 135,

e Thid.

W Ibid., p. 139.

1 Thid.
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Needless to say, in the face of such concerted settler war efforts, tensions
within the Herero population of Otjimbingwe ran high. Rumours spread that
Hendrik Witbooi, at this stage an ally of the Germans and a renowned opponent
of Otjimbingwe in the past, was advancing on Otjimbingwe to attack the
settlement.'"? Herero reports started coming in from Okahandja which stated
that the whites were killing all Herero, and though the missionary dismissed
these reports they were soon backed up by Herero reports coming in from
Karibib.'? In the face of all of this Zacharias Zeraua continued to order his
councillors and church elders to maintain the peace.'*! These were not merely
words spoken for the benefit of the missionaries and the German settlers, Two
days after the whites had abandoned their houses and stores at Die Overkant,
some cattle were rustled and the store belonging to trader Kronewitter was
broken into. Zacharias reported the crimes and saw to it that the goods were
returned on the same day.'?? Similarly on 20 January, eight days after the
outbreak of war in Okahandja, Zacharias reported to Frankenburg that a Herero
from Otjimbingwe had murdered an English trader. Zacharias went on to
express his regret that his authority had not prevented the killing, but that he
would see to it that the killer was apprehended,!2?

The Herero of Otjimbingwe clearly demonstrated their peaceful intentions
and loyalty to the colonial administration. For their part the Germans did little
to alleviate the fears of the Herero. Instead, in exchange for their displays of
loyalty, they were consistently mistrusted by the Germans present in
Ortjimbingwe. Added to this, the Herero received a continual stream of reports
of what had been happening elsewhere in Hereroland.

The Herero expressed their fear that the men of the cruiser Habicht, who had recently
arrived in Karibib, would come this way to exact revenge for the murder of the
English trader. Considering all things it appears to me that the Herero now have a
greater fear that the Germans will hit out at them, than that we could expect anything
like that from them.'4

The fear of the Otjimbingwe Herero, as expressed by missionary Olpp, was in
no way misplaced. The marines landed by the Habichr deserved their fearful
reputation. That much is made clear by their own accounts. After having been
landed in Swakopmund, the marines, who had dyed their uniforms with coffee
and tobacco, set off by train, accompanied by two machine guns and two
revolving cannons.'?s All the ‘blacks’ whom they found at the railway stations
were captured and sent back under guard to Swakopmund, where they were
placed as prisoners on board the Woermann steamship lying at anchor there,
this to cut off any contact with their tribe, 126 Apart from capturing people, the
marines had arrived in Karibib without incident. The published text of one of
these marines, G. Auer, makes for gruesome reading and even the most

ve Ioid., p. 136,

1% Ibid., p. 139. On 18 January Olpp d information ding the return of Leutwein from
the S(‘l:;lh and the landing of the troops of the ship Habicht in Swakopmund,

2 Ibd., p. 141,

'3 Thd.

'3 Ibud., p. 142,

'3 Ibid. JBG's translation.

'3 G. Auer, In Sudwesiafrika gegen die Hereros: Nach den Kriegs-Tagebuchern des Obermatrosen G.
Auer, bearbeiter von M. Unterbeck, Zweite Auflage (Berlin 1911}, p. 30.

'** Auer, Gegen die Hereras, p, 31. These ca ptured Herero were then sold to Alex Hewitt and shipped
off to the mines of the Transvaal.

: ] ; d lynched
: He men who had been stripped of their clothes an ed
g:f:fc-sé.kﬁ:.wkun’ag wnd Frieden im Hererolande, Aufzerchnungen aws dem Kriegsjahre 1904,

(Berlin 1905), p. 196

1 t
conciliatory reading of the text makes it clear that the troops were told tha

men, women and children were to be slaughtered.'* Sts(ioncd‘;’r: K;:Ibll_?{‘?;l:;
expressed his disgruntlement at not being able to capture any ‘blacks’.
they did capture prisoners the following happened:
The prisoners were immediately subjected to an l:xl:nstk\-"t‘ nn}e:]ror:;na‘:tc‘:j:':-rl;e:&y‘
. ; Ay W tured a number of the 5
they betrayed one another. In this way we cap e e
cere sentenced to death and hung from the nearest g 2
mré tribal comrades [Stammesgenossen]; these criminals were not worth a shot o
powder.'#¥ _—
The Herero in Otjimbingwe received written rcpor(ds (:f rh;sc a:q;:::cs;ﬂeni
i ’ be attacked and slaughtered.
Herero believed that they too were to g e
i i i ; the e of events on 21 January. Shortly
of their fear is well illustrated by the cours 5 Janus
after midnight, two young Herero boys sturrl;b_!ed ;q{od(;mgb&%\i.\:gs’rr:nn;
ibi i re being killed by the
Karibib and reported, ‘now all the Hereroal s AR
] z tjimbingwe. The
e Distrikischef (Franke) was advancing on 3
ilrnar:agc’lia:ciy abandoned the sertlement.'* Missionary Olpp spent mgst of;:lz
night searching for his scattered flock, who had fled to a kopje about
kilometres up the Swakop river. Olpp later wrote,
according to the letter, which they recewved in the might, all the Natives of Karibib

7 [d., p. 34
12 Ipud., p. 37.
129 Iud., p. 46,
L EILCI.\p',\'. Ortschromken, Otimbingwe 1904, p. 143,
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were locked up in a courtyard whereafter they were slaughtered. Parucularly the
sons of the families H and R [Halbich and Redeker], that 1s the best friends of the
Hereros, were engaged in this bloody work. 1

After lengthy discussions Olpp was able to convince Zacharias to return to
Otjimbingwe, though he kept away from the German stronghold and the women
and children remained outside the settlement. Apart from young Herero men
playing chess in front of Zacharias’s house two days passed without incident. 1%

In the end war did break out. And, as in Okahandja, cooler heads, which
could have averted the outbreak, were absent. On the morning of 23 January,
Olpp looked out of his window and saw how Herr Kronewitter and his wife
walked to their house at Die Overkant which had recently been burgled. An
evidently angry missionary Olpp later noted that “in the face of my warning he
dares to [cross over] unarmed!’ At this stage Zacharias was not at the settlement.
Olpp sent offa message to Zacharias and hurried to the German fortifications.
Shortly thereafter a Baster church elder burst in to report that Kronewitter
had been killed. As Olpp hurried back to his house the German soldiers opened

fire on the Herero settlement.'® Frau Kronewitter made it to Olpp’s house
and reported:

Her husband had intended repairing the broken windows of their house. Suddenl

ten young Hereros had appeared. They had d ded tob from her husband.
When he replied that they had already stolen it, they had torn him from his ladder
and worked him over with their Kirris [clubs] so that he soon lay streaming blood.
She had sought to protect her husband, had pleaded, had praised, then an unknown
heathen Herero had aimed at her. At this moment the councillor Nikanor had
interceded by knocking the flintlock away and shouting: ‘Is this not our old Frau
Kronewitter?, she is not to be harmed.” She had clutched at ham and he protected
her whlst he led her away from the scene of the tragedy to my house. '™

The following day being Sunday, Olpp asked his Herero parishioners to respect
the Sabbath. These restrictions did not apply to the German reservists. For
them the war had broken out and the Herero were to be driven off. Allegedly
in the interests of a clean field of fire, they burnt a number of Herero houses
and demolished Zacharias’s brick house with dynamite. Nearly two weeks after
the outbreak of war in Okahandja, war had eventually broken out in
Otjimbingwe. On the day of the Kaiser’s birthday the Herero raised a German
flag in the abandoned German fort at Die Ouerkant. Thereafter they torched
the buildings and abandoned the settlement completely. Less than a year later
Zacharias was captured and tried. In his trial it was noted that, ‘Zacharias did
not issue any order to make war. The cattle, which his people had stolen in the
beginning, he had returned to the whites, particularly Redecker.’!*s Never-
theless, for most of the settlers and soldiers under arms, Herero, whether
Christian or otherwise, were Herero and therefore they were guilty. The Habich:
Marine Auer, who was later stationed in Otjimbingwe, was an elogquent
exponent of this position:

" Ibid., p. 144. That the reporred Iynchings did take place was later confirmed by governor
Theodor Leutwein. Nuhn, Sturm, pp. 81-2 & p. 183,

2 ELCIN, V. Ortschroniken, Otjimbingwe 1904, p. 145,

' Ihid.

™ Ibid., p. 146. JBG’s translanon.

1 NNAW, STR 1. 1.a.5., folio 8, Aussage des Zacharias 10.1.05. JBG's translation.
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5 d 1n heavy chains and kept them under
mbin . . . the caprured Blacks we la
g:‘.}\l:rc gui::. drew upon them for all forms of work. A nuri:b_cr nl’_p:n;o‘li\:;i f‘i)‘:;:lz‘:
d to have no malicious inte
have no knowledge of a Herero revoltan y t Sown
::; naturally these were all hes with which they sought to escape punishment
N

Failed negotiations

The Herero had not anticipated the outhrcgklof Ilhe war, and _were_E?;::
unprepared for it. Far from seeking to press their mma: er\-\_al;ﬂ:‘a:&gar:;" :hi
i amibi

vantage, the Herero sought to wrtl?drgw from central ?

:ium ogf cooler minds and the beginning of ndegcnalmns. Unfortunately for
them, negotiations were not allowed to succeed. )

Thn:cgdays after the outbreak of shooting 1In Oka}l:sn;l;asf;:::frleﬂa:‘::;z

i the Sw
abandoned the settlement and withdrew along :
ili iviti hardly those of an army
harui. Herero military activities at the time were
giiingn::) expel an invader. Instead, the Herero withdrew a{l;l soygl;:tto;:f;::;
' be done. Thus in late y
nd assess what had happened and what was to :
?n the vicinity of Ongandjira, Samuel Maha;cm wrote t%m%c;:f;:all;lser:r;::rhg‘f:
i ol 4 t, the G .

d asked them to come to him. For their part, t
::ttlcmcms had been cleared of Herero, also regrouped and Sough;]to dﬁs:?:;:
what was going on. On 11 February, nearly a month a[tgr ré:e_ mg:w;f:wmund

1 i Port Nolloth, arrived in
sar, Leutwein, having travelled from l_ort h, arriv . : an;
:Ia'nl;:,re he was met by two of his subordinates. An indication a-.sbtod]_.guzlxlute};r;ts
optimistic mood is indicated by his opening words: Itis not as ba asaand vm;
If I were now to go to Okahandja I would let Samuel come to me, ¥
1137
1d see, the revolt has ended.”*? ) o
wo;:nxious to come to a quick negotiated settlement, I.eurwclm, uﬁ_o;h;s a;q;a(jl
in Okahandja, dispatched a letter to Samucll M'\.:harﬁrg in ‘:::! 1:ep1'::d me
¢ yar.'*® In carly March Sam
el as to the causes of the war.! ! .
?)at’jz:nnjsti, a small settlement along the Swakop river. In his letter Samuel
clearly outlined what he saw as the causes of the war.

Otjozonjan 6/3/1904, To the Kaiser’s rcprcscma(iv: GO“VT;"S;urt I‘;:t:::t'; Iu:uri::
ing we aty
red your letter, and I have understood everything s ) 1
;;Edc..]:ncy ciunc:l]ors.,l and my councillors answer you in the following ::an:l:ct:. ll;::
outbreak of this war was not iminated by me in this year, rather 1t waE |]eﬁﬁ Bo:'h 5
whites. How many Hereros have the whites, parll:u]!rlz;; the iraldt\’:rs, I; :ulghr !
. i And each nume I have br
and by locking them up 1n the prisons. >
E:sncss 0 Wu::ndhock [Otjomuise] the blood of m:lf pciple alway:rngc;(){ﬁ:;;’%?:Llﬁlcc;
y 4 € €Xac
unt of 50 to 15 head. Many of the traders hav | d ;
:,he;':]r’_rrtsng their debts onto my people. And when something like this ornl.urr:::l }t?‘:
‘:m us. And began making my people pay and to drive away their catt E,I:]\'e e
s\em:-h: -had to pay up to 1 pound if they robbed 2-3 cows.'™ These ﬂ:::%:hncs e
Fo the outbreak of war in this country. And no\: n Iht‘ts; ye:re,g::;;E ;ay e Lk
i i s, they 5
ou had friendly intentions and love towards us,
::;L\!:ch Gouverneur, who loves you, has gone to a serious war and has been kalled,

e Auer, Gegen die Hereros, p. 101,
17 Nuhn, Sturm, p. 107, 5
": E?:::‘r:::’ i({!tj}?:h:;rn; lf:l-.-s that had 10 be paid by Herero following the impoundment of

‘stray’ Herero cattle.
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and because he has died, so you too will die. Then added to this they then killed
two Hereros of Tjetjo, until also Leutnant Zirn began killing my people in prison,
up to 10 men, They claim that they died due to disease, however they were killed by
their captors [ovanngurise]. Finally Leutnant Zirn began to mistreat me and to look
for a reason with which to destroy me [ndji zepere]. And it happened that he said the
people of Kambazembi and QOuandja are busy with war. And it happened that he
called me to him to ask me and I told him directly that this was not the case. But he
did not believe me. And finally at dawn [11 January] he added soldiers to the fort
[moskanza) which he hid in chests [movikesa] and called me, but if I had come they
would have shot [jahe] me. Because I realized this I fled. Then Leumans Zirn sent
people of the gun on my path to follow me and shoot me [ovandu nozandjemba
okandjijaha) this incensed me and consequently I killed the whites which had
damaged us, because my death was ordered. This I heard from a white man present
here named M. von Michaelis.'* This is how the war began. It was initiated by the
traders and Leutnant Zurn [via utwa i ovarande na Leutnant Zirn). 1 indicate how
the war started, It is not mine. Question the traders and Leurnant Zarn as to their
war, when they have told you then we can talk about it. The present war is that of
Zarn, [Nambano ovita ovia Ziirn) These are my words, I am the chiel Samuel
Maharero, 4!

Samuel Maharero's letter described in detail the run up to the war and directly
implicated Ziirn and the trader settlers in the outbreak of the war. It clearly
showed how, in the absence of Leutwein, Ziirn and his acolytes had operated
beyond their jurisdiction and effectively brought about a war. However, once
it became known to the settlers that Leutwein had corresponded with Samuel,
it was leaked to the press.'* In the jingoistic atmosphere that had developed,
the settlers found themselves supported by none other than the Kaiser himself,
Leutwein was instantly ordered by Berlin to desist from entering into any form
of negotiation. Instead he was ordered to immediately engage in an offensive
against the Herero. Leutwein’s prophetic words, written in defence of his
actions, were dismissed; ‘In colonial issues there must always be a diplomat
standing next to a leader. The rebels must know that their route back is still
open, one that does not always lead to death,

As negotiations were broken off, and a German offensive planned, the Herero
and their herds tried to gather to Samuel Maharero ar Ongandijira, north-east
of Okahandja. On the night of 28 March the followers of Zacharias Zeraua of
Orjimbingwe crossed the railway-line between Okahandja and Windhoek, 144
Two days later they reached Samuel’s encampment at Ongandjira. At
approximately the same time Michael Tjisiseta, and his followers from
Omaruru, arrived, and six days later, on 6 April, they were joined by David
Kambazembi and his followers.'*s The missionary Eich met Samuel Maharero
at Oviumbo in early April. Eich later reported that there were an estimated

1% ¥on Michaelis had an unsavoury reputation and was disliked by Leutwein. Pool, Samuel
Maharero, p. 194, & Rohrbach, Kolonialwirtschaft, p. 333.

" ELCIN, I 1.19 A, Verschiedene Briefe von w a Samuel Maharero u a Herero 18871904, Lerter
written in Otjiherero on Rhenish missionary society paper dated Otjozonjati, 6 111 04, signed by
Samuel Maharero, The letter is not in Samuel’s handwriting and it is probably a copy. Another
copy in German exists. The Herero text has been used in this mstance, JBG s translation. Another
version of this letter was first pubhished by Rohrbach, Kolonialwirtsehaft, p. 338.

' Lewtwein, Elf Jahre, p. 511.

14 Leutwein cited in Nuhn, Sturm, p. 112, JBG"s translanon.

" Nuhn, Sturm, p. 122,

 Pool, Samuel Maharero, p- 225.

Owvita Ovia Ziirn, Zirn’s War 169

20,000 Herero in the area and thart besides Samuel the chiefs, Michael Tjisiseta,
Ouandja, Assa Riarua and David Kambazembi, were present. Furthermore Eich
reported that in the laagers Baster gunsmiths were engaged in repairing Herero
rifles.'* Though not referred to by Eich, the chiefs Tjetjo, Zacharias, Traugott
Tjetjo and Kajata must also have been in the vicinity.

In accordance with his orders from Berlin, Governor Leutwein regrouped
his forces and advanced on the Herero chiefs and their followers. On 9 ApriI
German forces fought a day-long battle with Herero forces at Ongandjira.
Though the Herero had dug trenches and erccted a kilometre-long barricade
of thorn bushes, they were unable, in the face of German artillery, to hold
their positions. The Herero retreated eastwards and four days later they clashed
once again with the Germans at Oviumbo. This time, however, the two sides
were more evenly matched and after a day of fighting the opponents withdrew.'”
Following the battles of Ongandjira and Oviumbo the Herero began trekking
northwards towards the Waterberg, which they reached towards the end of July.
For his part Governor Leutwein, having failed to defeat the Herero, was relieved
of his command and replaced by the German Kaiser’s own candidate,
Lieutenant-General Lothar von Trotha.'#®

Leutwein strongly believed in a negotiated end to the war, all the more so
now that his ordered offensive had failed to bring abour the crushing victory
so desired by the Kaiser and his settlers. Earlier Leutwein had written:

... 1 do not concur with those fanatics who want to see the Herero destroyed
altogether. Apart from the fact that a people of 60,000 or 70,000 is not s0 easy to

ihilate, I would ider such a move a grave mistake from an economic point
of view. We need the Herero as cattle breeders, though on a small scale, and especially
as labourers. It will be quite sufficient if they are politically dead.'**

In keeping with these sentiments, Leutwein, shortly before the arrival of the
Kaiser's candidate, Trotha, had one last attempt at a negotiated settlement.
On 30 May 1904, the following proclamation, printed in Otjiherero, was
distributed to the Herero by 100 couriers:

Hereros! You well know that after you have risen against you protector, the German
Kaiser, nothing else awaits you but a fight to the death. Until then I cannot stop the
war, However you can stop the war, by coming over to me, handing in your guns
and ammunition, and receiving your expected punishment.

However it is well known to me that a lot of you carry no guilt for the many evil
affairs that have happened. And these can safely come to me; their lives will be spar:r:l..
However no mercy will I show to those who have murdered whites and robbed Lh_eu'
homes. These will be placed before a court and must receive the value of their guilt.
You others however, who have no such guilt upon themselves, be clever and no longer
connect your fate with that of the guilty ones. Leave them and save your life! This I
say as representative of your paramount lord, the German Kaiser.

Okahandja, 30 May 1904 (Sgd. Leutwein)'®

Leutwein, as always a stickler for correct procex_iure, sent a copy uf. the
proclamation to Berlin accompanied by a letter in which he justified his actions.

14 [bid., p. 226.

W7 Ibid., pp. 232-9. _ .

14 See Bley, South West Africa, pp. 158-63, for a discussion on the appointment of von Trotha.
W Leurwein cited in Drechsler, Fighting, p. 148.

" Nuhn, Sturm, pp. 197-8.
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Leutwein noted that it would be impossible to encircle all the Herero at the
Waterberg and force them to surrender; a number would escape and continue
the war. He concluded his lerter by stating that he had offered the Herero a
chance of surrender in an attempt to curtail the war.!! Reaction from Berlin
was swift and immediate; Leutwein was ordered to refrain from any further
interference in German military policy.'*? Summoned to a meeting with Trotha,
Leutwein asked him to ‘conduct the war in such a way as to preserve the Herero
nation’. Trotha refused and informed Leutwein that he would ‘conduct the
war as he saw fit’.!" Henceforth a negotiated peace was out of the question.

The war

Counter to Leutwein’s wish to negotiate, Imperial Germany had decided to
continue the war; there was, however, no way that the Herero could know this.
After the Battle of Oviumbo there was a four-month period of relative calm, as
German troops were withdrawn and regrouped. Far from pressing their
advantage, as one would have expected from the initiators of a carefully planned
insurrection against German colonialism, the Herero did nothing.

The Herero expected that the negotiations initiated by Leutwein would
continue. There were historical precedents for this train of thought. In the past
Leutwein had reached negotiated settlements, even following extensive
engagements and German losses. The examples of the negotiated settlements
with Hendrik Witbooi in 1894 and the Bondelswarts in early 1904 were clear
cases that supported this line of thinking. Following a military stand-off, as
had happened at Oviumbo, the Herero believed that Leurwein would now come
to a negotiated settlement with them. Indeed Leutwein’s declaration of 30 May
indicated that this was Leutwein’s wish. However, negotiations were cut short
at the orders of Berlin and Trotha. Henceforth, all attempts by Herero chiefs
to negotiate were dismissed. When, in response to Leutwein’s proclamation of
30 May, Salatiel Kambazembi sought to negotiate a surrender, Trotha noted
“Thar will hardly help him; fought together, caught together, hanged
together.’ 154

During the four months of phoney war, in which the Herero undertook no
offensive actions against the Germans, the Herero had not an inkling as to what
was going to happen. The Herero did not even attempt to sabotage the German
telegraph lines, let alone disrupt the over-extended German supply lines.
Indeed, five days prior to what would be the deciding battle in the war, the
battle at Hamakari, Herero soldiers were still ordered to refrain from engaging
German patrols.’® Instead between April and August the Herero retreated
northwards towards the plains between the Omuramba Omatako and the
Waterberg. In the Herero laagers church services continued to be held by the
Rhenish Mission evangelists Julius (Okahandja), Christian (Otjiruse), Elifas
(Otjimbingwe), Elifas (Otjosazu), Josaphat, Komatoto and Johannes
(Okahandja). s English traders such as Wallace and Cain, who had been a

" Ibid., p. 198,

\% Pool, Samuel Maharero, p. 247,

' Bley, South West Africa, p, 162,

"4 Von Trotha cited n Poal, Samuel Makarero, p. 249,
% Ibid., p. 254,

* Rust, Krieg, p. 135,
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i i ith the Herero laagers for
cillor of Maharero, lived and moved wit !
zg;rr:)ximatcly five months.'” Basters who had worked on the mines, and others
such as Hendrik Cloete, were employed as gunsmiths and [!ln rcpa}r:anrﬁ
saddles.'* Firearms and ammunition were brought to the erer(la_{ T
Ovamboland and from South Africa.'* Though settlers cln;im_ed thnllﬂ:]c c:’e;n
i ibali depended for their nourishment on
were engaged in cannibalism, the Herero : il
i i i hat in the seven years following
eir cattle herds, which had recovered somew : y
:?nderpest and w;re still largely unaffected by the war, their maize fifcid: aE:}ng
the Nossob river, their links with the Ovambo, and collected field foo s.h =
For their part the Germans, under the new _ccmmand ofT_mtha, sought
engineer a crushing defeat of the Herero. To this end, all possible negouanonds
with the Herero were to be avoided. German farcfs, under the new ccmdm;n
of Trotha, were ordered not to engage in barttle with tht; I-}erero. ]r;tc:;{etm:g
through encirclement, the
were ordered to regroup and ensure that, hrous S
i icini Finally when he believe at
not leave the vicinity of the Waterber;. ) I
:::)ugh reinforcements had been brought into the co;n:ry,_TEoLhal;;nS]:cnetp:;lgt
1 's princi t and encirclement,
with Moltke’s principles of separate deploymen
his armies to encircle and annihilate the Herero at the Waterberg. Or, as he
put it in his own words:

My initial plan for the operanon, which I always adhered to, wx:; :l:i:‘f:tr:.l‘lce;::
hilate these masses wi
masses of Hereros at Waterberg, and to anm ; R
i i hunt down and disarm the splinter group
low, then to establish various stations to [ 1 : .
\t:f:o ‘escaped, later to lay hands on the captains by putting prize money on ther
heads and finally to sentence them to death.'*?

In early August, Trotha issued battle orders to his troops. On 1 Le’;ug::lzt;:;
battle of Hamakari at the Warterberg took place. 'Ehc Hurer(;;vzrrcthi ;(Bala.hari
i th-easterly direction into the dry desert san harl,
E:;:‘::l :osfhuc Herero gs the Omaheke.'®3 Trotha's troops purst:ied ;he Hn_hr_rixl‘}o
i d 26 August Trotha issued orders which,
ever deeper into the Omaheke, On 16 an Finck
i - holes, cut off all escape routes to t s
by placing a cordon along the water 5 ! bty gt
' iv d the fleeing Herero to move
south and north-east, and effectively force % e
i i 1 4 On 21 August, Trotha place
o the inhospitable stretches of the Omaheke.
Ln;,-ice of 500% marks on the head of Samuel h]‘_l;thlxlarcm, an;i_ lopiersnadrhs;it;g
i ow-up skirmishes,
the head of any Herero headman.'®® In a series of fo ;
A:gust and Sc)l;tember, the German troops pursued the fleeing Herero. In early

7 Ibid., pp. 132-5. a8
1 . 226. ust, Kreg, p. . N )

I:: g‘ﬂ)‘ ?31‘;;“:7;:;:222 en Wetboeke m Verband met Damaraland en Walfusch Bay !'a:ffi;ﬂmi‘.J
G clur Sir W. FI Hely-Hutchinson in Cape Town, 17/5/05, (a_Mr Lyttelton. goa ,h al:r:;
M?:Jgrrp‘m P 22:’;. i!as reports of waggons laden with firearms coming down from v:;r: I_ri-ﬂcn;
i For ca;n;balism see Rust, Krieg, p. 133, For maize fields sce same p. 1‘57{. As '::eriﬁdgrpcs:.
cattle herds, these had certainly not attained the numbers that they had be ar:.ll! ]: oerpent
However. 1!1.:3: herds, small as they may have been, were at this stage of the war still largely 3
and as yet largely unaffected by the war.

it Poal, Opsiand, pp. 210-11. s

. *s diaries cited in Pool, Samuel Makarero, p. 4

:°: ‘;r;;l’g;?;:g:;:c; 1940, Owmaheke is the Otjiherero name for the sandveld area east of the
Waterberg.

i Pool, Opstand, p. 24501,

1#% Paol, Samuel Maharero, p. 269
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Phote 5 5 German troo,
ps watermg thewr b ]
after the baile of the Waterberg, 1 fgx‘;u?:s:o;;‘gftm the sl Hevahen ety
Windhoel

Source Namibian Nauonal Arch

September, German troo:
ps attacked the rea
at Ovinaua-Naua near the Eiseb river Ce SRR NN

?:;:;t;bjl:;::frﬁnet:otr the DU;SLIII began The arullery moved as one detachment
¢ thick rows of the fleeing enemy, which 3
withdrawal by setting ablaze the grass behind 1t '”}, St e
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s ced them north-eastwards into th T
by the desert and the Germa o e e
n patrol
co:[;,\grega];ed Gl v ”vsr rols the Herero chiefs and their followers
parrr?:l:ge] F(’)l]c:;)ru;r 1934i1Gmrral Lothar von Trotha, who was acuvely taking
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::;l:rdlll:nl'i“c 1]‘.El)urlng the afternoon of the following day, Sunday 2 O:{GS:: ?;1:]3_
S :dé}mls.rs)g_r(:l;:lfcldd st:lrv:c;, (I'icncral vonTrotha, addressed his officers 168
a declared that the war against the He
continued n all earnestness, and read out the following procl:lrrer;:,n:r?uld e

1
(Illﬁhg:r::‘g;n:;;a] o{;the ‘German troops send this letter to the Herero people
i 0 eano onger German subjects They have murdered and stolen, they
ot e rls, noses and other body parts of wounded soldiers, now out of
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nnon] Within the /
Herero, with or without a gun, with or without cattle, wll b?z]r:::r; ?v?ﬂd:éslrfl;;?r’

8 Rust, Krueg, p 384
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accept women and children, T will drive them back to their people or Twill let them
be shot at

These are my words to the Herero people

The great General of the mughty German Kaser '*

At dawn the following morning, Herero prisoners who had been sentenced to
death by a field court marunial were hung in the presence of about thirty Herero
prisoners, women and children amongst them. After the hanging, Trotha's
proclamation was read out to the prisoners in Otpiherero. Printed copies of
the text in Otpherero were distributed amongst the Herero prisoners The
prisoners were then turned loose and driven out 1nto the Omaheke 17 Trotha
described the day’s events in his diary as follows

Before my departure yesterday 1 ordered the warriors caprured recently to be court-
marnalled and hanged and all women and children who sought shelter here to be
driven back into the sandveld, handing them a copy of the proclamanion drawn up
in Othiherero [se] '™

Of late a number of authors have sought to deny or at least downplay the
existence and implicanions of Trotha’s proclamation, which has become known
as the Vermichiungsbefehl.!”> However, Trotha’s own words, 1 his diary and
elsewhere, indicate that he knew full well what his proclamauon entailed On
the day that the proclamation in Ompherero was handed to the prisoners at the
hanging in Osombo-Windimbe, Trotha wrote 1n 8 letter

Jow I have to ask myself how 10 end the war with the Hereros. The views of the
Governor and also a few old Africa hands [alte Afrikaner] on the one hand, and my
views on the other, differ completely The first wanted to negotiate for some nume
already and regard the Herero nation as necessary labour material for the future
development of the country 1 believe that the nation as such should be annmihilated,
or, 1 this was not possible by tactical measures, have 1o be expelled from the country
by operative means and further detailed treatment This will be possible if the water-
holes from Grootfontein to Gobabs are occupied The constant movement of our
troops will enable us 1o find the small groups of the nation who have moved back
westwards and destroy them gradually

My intimate knowledge of many central African tribes (Bantu and others) has
everywhere convinced me of the necessity that the Negro does not respect treaties
but only brute force

1 find 1t most appropriate that the nation perishes instead of infecting our soldiers
and dimimishing their supphes of water and food Apart from that, mildness on my
side would only be interpreted as weakness by the other side They have to penish in
the Sandveld or try to cross the Bechuanaland border '

16 Over a hundred Herero were killed whilst one German was wounded Rust, Krieg, p 382

JBG's translanon

Wt Pool, Opstand, p 249

1w NNAW, ZBU D 1 a Band 3 - 4, Jeaf 165 With thanks to MrW Hillebrecht for finding it at

such short notice JBG's translanion

170 Rust, Krieg, p 386 & Nuhn, Sturm, p 282

1 Drechsler, Fighung, p 161

172 Brigite Lau, ‘Uncertain Certanties The Herero-German war of 1904", in Mibagus, No 2,

April 1989, pp 4-8 , Karla Poewe, The Namibran Herera A Hustory of thar Piychosocial

Dhsinitegration and Survival, Edwin Mellen Press (Lewiston and Queenston 1983), Gunter Spraul,

‘Der “Volkermord” an den Herero Untersuchungen zu einer neuen Kontunuitatsthese’ in

Geschichte m Wissenschaft und Unterricht, 1988112, pp 713-39, & Gert Sudhalt, Die deutsche Ein-
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171 Pool, Samuel Maharero, pp 272-4

R




174 Herero Heroes

At a later stage Trotha enthused:

The exercise of violence with crass terronism and even with gruesomeness was and
15 my pohicy. I destroy the African tribes with streams of blood and streams of maoney.
Only following this cleansing can something new emerge, which will remain, '™+

German contemporaries of Trotha also understood full well what the general
meant. In September of 1904, a month after the bartle at Hamakari, Major
Ludwig von Estorfl had urged Trotha to enter into negotiations with the Herero.
At that stage Trotha had answered: ‘No, my friend, I will have nothing of thar,
only that we have to start all over again. We will fight for as long as possible.
Basta!’.'”® From 1904 and through into 1905 Estorfl, along with the divisions
of v.d. Heyde and Miihlenfels, ‘. . . had the thankless task of chasing after the
refugees in the Sandveld and preventing their return’.!” Estorff’s own words
describe clearly whart he did and what the intentions were of his commanding
officer, Trotha:

... I followed their spoor and found numerous wells which presented a terrifying
sight. Cattle which had died of thirst lay scattered around the wells, These cartle
had reached the wells but there had not been enough nme to water them. The Herero
fled ahead of us into the Sandveld. Again and again this terrible scene kept repeating
stself. With feverish energy the men had worked at opeming the wells, however the
water became ever sparser, and wells evermore rare. They fled from one well to the
next and lost virtually all their cattle and a large number of their people. The people
shrunk into small remnants who continually fell into our hands [unsere Gesalt kamen],
secrions of the people escaped now and later through the Sandveld into English
ternitory [present-day Botswana). It was a policy which was equally gruesome as
senseless, to hammer the people so much, we could have still saved many of them
and their rich herds, if we had pardoned and taken them up again, they had been
punished cnough. I suggested this to General von Trotha but he wanted their total
extermination.'*?

The policy of extermination was one which had been embarked upon by Trotha
for some time prior 1o Osombo-Windembe. Major Stuhlmann, describes in
his diary entry, for 11 August 1904, a scene from the bartle of Hamakari on
that day. Stuhlmann muses on the horrors of war and of a wounded Herero
child lying next 1o his cannon:

- - . the hutle worm had flung s arm around the wheel of the cannon, which had
possibly destroyed his other farmily members . . ., we had been exphcitly rold
beforchand, that this dealt with the extermination of a whole tribe, nothing living
was to be spared.!™#

Stuhlmann’s diary describes how on the following day they marched through
what had been the Herero encampments at Hamakari. All around them lay
the evidence of the hasty Herero retrear; scattered household goods and
children, with staring cyes, abandoned and sitting at smouldering camp fires.

4 Horst Kuhne, ‘Die Ausrottungsfeldzuge der “Kaiserlichen Schutztruppen m Afnika” und die
Id krausche Reic fra} 'y in Militargeschichte, Band 18, 1979, p. 211. JBG's

translanon.

'™ Pool, Samuel Maharero, p. 270,
'™ Ludwig von Estor(l, Wanderungen und Kampfe i Sudwestafriba, Ostafrika und Sudafrika: 1894
1910 (Windhoek 1979) p. 117, JBGs translation.

7 Ibad., pp. 116-17, JBG’s translanon.

T NNAW, Acc, 109, p. 49 JBG's translanon.
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Map 5.2: Map showing Herero flight after the batle at the Waterberg
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Following the battle at the Waterberg on 11 August 1904, the Herero were
forced to flee into the Omaheke. The majority of the chiefs and their followers
survived the actual bartle at the Waterberg. But, cut off from water and their
cattle, the majority of the Herero died as they tried to struggle through the

the erstwhile chief of Otjimbingwe, who was later captured and interrogared,
reported that the chiefs Banjo (Otjombonde),'® Salatiel Kambazembi
(Waterberg), Ouandija (Otjikarurume), Kajata (Otjihaenena), Michael Tjisiseta
(Omaruru), Mutate (Omaruru), Kainjonna (son of Kambazembi otherwise
known as David), Katjahingi, Assa Riarua and Samuel Maharero had gathered,

] i ificantly enough as

Tietjo were also on
the Eiseb river but at the waterholes Otjinena and Epata, By circumstance and

not by choosing, the Herero chiefs and their followers were forced ro congregate
along the dry water course of the Eiseb river. Here, the Herero, desperate for
water, dug pits, some of which were up to twelve metres in depth. Here, oo,
at what was effectively the sole major source of water in the desert, the surviving
Herero were found and attacked by the troops of Estorff, Following Estorff’s
attack, the Herero were forced to flee once again,

On 9 September Estorff’s forces attacked Owinaua Naua, dislodging the
chiefs Tjetjo and Mambo and forcing them to flee eastwards in the direction
of the Bechuanaland Protectorate., Neither of the two chiefs reached the border.
Tietjo died of thirst near to a waterhole named COruaromunjo and Mambo
apparently died of exhaustion whilst following Tjetjo’s parey.'® Samuel
Maharero, encamped in the Eiseb at Osombo Onjata, fled as soon as he received
reports of the attack at Ovinaua Naua, '#* With four waggons, his councillors
and nearest associates Samuel fled downstream. However, due to the absence
of water, Samuel and his party were soon forced to abandon their waggons
and most of Samuel’s non-mounted followers were foreed to turn back. Only
those followers of Samuel Maharero who were fortunate enough to be mounted
eventually reached Njai Nijai in the Bechuanaland Protectorate. Samuel
Maharero’s nephew, Willy Maharero, was also forced to turn back, though
Willy’s messengers did manage to make it to Njai Njai and return, Upon their
return they reported that, due to thirst and salty water, most of Samuel
Maharero’s cattle and horses had died and that all of his party were sick, '8¢
Willy Maharero remained in the vicinity of Sturmfeld and later crossed into
Bechuanaland via Rietfontein in early 1905.18%

When Samuel Maharero fled Osombo Onjata, Salatiel Kambazembi and

"0 Zacharias listed Banjo, though a later reader of the report,
margin that Banjo had died.

"' NNAW, Str.1.a.5, reverse folio 8.

2 NNAW, Sir.1.a.5, folio 9 and reverse,

""" Zacharias reported that Samuel fled when the first shots were fired at Osombo-Windimbe,
that is on 29 Seprember, This is unlikely as Samuel sent a letter to Sekgoma Letsholathebe dated
N, 1 28 September. In his evidence Zacharias noted that the distance between Omkeer and
Njai Njai was abour & days. NNAW, Str.1.a.5 reverse folio 9, In his first interrogation of 10 Jan uary
1905, Zacharias stated that Samuel Maharero fled with Ouania, Kajata, Michael, Mutate, David
{Kainjonja, Kamb 's son), Katjahingi and Assa,

" NNAW, Sir.1.a.5, foho 9,

" Willy had originally intended surrendening to the Germans but changed his mind following
the Ombakaha affair, Drechsler, Fighting, chapter 111, fn. 120.

prebably von Estorff, noted in the
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Zacharias Zeraua fled to Osombo Onguti, four days’ travel to the north-west.

i ir cattle
; However, there was insufficient water there and they lost most of their ¢

and a number of followers due to the thirsk.Th:rcfo;e Salatiel tgkke%:lr;;g
ji i j djou and from there on to Ovam
Onikoko in the Omuramba Otjoson q oin e Qi s s
i granted refuge by
where, along with forty women _and thirty men, s i ol b
hief Nehale.'® Zacharias sought to turn bac :
::ﬁﬁ:g to the east of the waterhole on the Eiseb river before surrendering to
forces in early 1905. ) i ) ) .
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reached the Bechuanaland Protectorate, and a third whli‘t;_re?a;%?isjsem wcré
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In early 1905 a party of Herero, who owe S it
i ards Vryburg at Lehututu.
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i i Thisi Iso made it to Bechuanalan
with these people, Michael Tyisiscta a e e e
i i kloof towards Vrijburg, Micha
of heading southwards from Olifants| owand Michal etnd
i Michael remained inTs
Tsau, the capital of the Batawana. 1 ' .
:I?;:;::riod o} tume before he turned back to Hereroland.'[quteHnam Sn:;r\:f:ll}l
reported that when he visited Tsau in August 1905, 'Ii:h_? erfe:]rr()Gergmnn
enquired after Michael, kaptein of Omaruru, who had left Tsau
1 191
lerl?::l?:.n Hereroland Michael dispatched a nineteen-man patrolb,lcd b;‘::s;cl;
Mutjinde and Gerhard Afrika, to Walvisbay, \."':lh instructions to buy :Isarmed
ammunition. The patrol made it safely to Briush territory, but wer?\'Ili e
and interned upon their arrival in Walvisbay.'*2 According to Asls;rlh:: gk ¢
son, the patrol also escorted an English trader, who il-md been :;_t e
Om’ahckc to safety in Walvisbay.'** At some stage during 1905 Micha (]}SWA
left Tsau ’and attempted to make the sam;_;ann;cy, t::: ;;ér:;v:?lgscccmber
i :eded in this endeawv: <
from east to west. Michael succeede I i oy ey
5 Mi 1, his brother, Hugo, and cight follow \ ) .
:X«?s?:istt;::ﬂf;n January 1906,. Michael led more than 130 prisoners in ;1?;;:1;
out from -'the concentration camp in Swakopmund. On 29 January

B E. Lenssen travelled to Nehale
g ho 9. & Eirola, Ovambogefakhr, p. 181 H ; .
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I‘:: %&C{;T\ﬁ\é Olllntislc,hrﬁoc':‘mg 'Mnslstratc [Merry?] in Tsau Ngamiland, 3/4/05, 1o resident
C issioner in Mafleking.
"“‘D:l:\"l:,skc 11/1, RC in Mafeking, 26/4/05, to HC.
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and a party of 198 Herero embarked in Walvisbay and were shipped to Cape
Town and the mincs of the Witwatersrand. 1% In return for the supply of mine
labourers from amongst his followers Michael was permitted to live on a farm
near Johannesburg. Michael never returned 1o Omaruru, but died in exile in
Krugersdorp.'*® Following the Second World War a number of his descendants
and followers left South Africa and settled in the Gabane area in south-eastern
Botswana.'%?

Following his internment in Walvisbay, Asser Mutjinde was shipped to South
Africa, probably to Port Nolloth. In 1905 Asser wrote to the missionaries in
Omaruru from Nababes in Namaqualand, northern Cape. Mutjinde reported
that together with about 250 Herero he was working in the copper mines of
Nababes. Furthermore Mutjinde reported that they had erected a school, were
engaged in baptismal churches and had become affiliated to the Rhenish
Mission community in Concordia,!*® In 1908, when the Wankie colliery in
Rhodesia was extremely short of labour, labour recruiters desperately sought
labour throughout southern Africa. It is possible that members of Asser
Murtjinde’s exiled Herero community were being referred to when the general
manager of the Wankie colliery wrote the following:

We received an offer from an independent labour agent in Vryburg to supply us with
any quantity of 6 and 9 month nauves atr 25/- per head . . . In the meantime I have
wired the agent in Vryburg to send us 100 natives, 1%

Once war had broken out, a sizeable number of Herero fled northwards to the
kingdoms of Ovamboland; these numbers increased substantially following the
battle at the Waterberg. In the months of the phoney war, prior to the bartle at
the Waterberg, Herero traded cartle for grain and firearms with traders from
the Ovambo kingdoms. With the exception of the Ndonga king, Nehale, the
Ovambo kings refrained from artempting to intervene directly in the Herero-
German conflict.?% As the war turned against the Herero they made use of the
trading contacts and long association with the Ovambo kingdoms to seek
sanctuary. Amongst those Herero who sought sanctuary in Ovamboland was
Daniel Kariko, the erstwhile chief of Okombahe. 20! Daniel and his followers
sought refuge with the Ongandjera king Tshaanika, who in later years was
reported to have Herero men attached to his court as ‘Secretaries of War®,202
Previously Kariko had sought refuge with his followers in Walvisbay.?®s At a
later stage Daniel Kariko travelled to the Transvaal, probably via the trans-
Kalahari cattle trade route pioneered by Erikkson.? At the outbreak of the

' Deutsche Kolontalzeitung (Berlin 1906), p. 61,

1% Schlosser, Ethnologie, P 210,

" On 17 December 1992 Mrs Brown (a.k.a.Vinderine Kavi Muvangua) of Gabane, Botswana,
confirmed that her father Huko Tyisiseta (Hugo Tjisisera Michael's brother) had travelled from
Omaruru by sea 1o Kimberl y and Joh: burg. Gewald, Field book 1, D ber 1992,
% ELCIN, V. Ortschromiken, Omarury 1905, folio 321,

'™ Zimbabwe National Archuves, A 11 2/8/22, Wankie Mine Labour, General Manager Wankie
mine in Wank:e, 8/6/08, to s honour the admnistrator Salisbury.

** Eirola, Ovambagefahr, pp. 165-77.

" Drechsler, Fighang, p. 167,

#4 Eirola, Ovambagefahr, pp. 18] & 184.

1 NNAW, ZBU 2027B, reports on Kanko in 1900 with 500 men in Walvisbay,

# After an initial period of acceptance in the the Ovambo kingdoms large numbers of Herero
moved onwards towards Angola and the Kaol Id. Eirola, Qwvambageft pp. 180-5.
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First World War Daniel Kariko was emp‘lin%r)ed eiihzr(?s ar“::::sgelc)g]{] co‘; ::tq::r;
i i td (late
oliceman at a mine of the Witwatersrand Deep G y
lE)eep Levels). Together with Lucas Kamafn,gou,FDamcl Kart::]oi?;a?ni;i?::c:f
i rior
the mine as a scout to the Union Defence Force p ] :
‘Ii%ramibia Following his return to Namibia, in 19015, D::Leui Kariko was
L ili { aruru.
in the office of the military magistrate in Om ! )
m"I};lﬁ:Sr years the opium addict, mystic, naturalist and maq:c{dlalep\:e:ssnir:
Afrikaner writer Eugene N. Marais met Ea‘:}u Fi Mla_rh arerg: ;i :Ima :d ohis rﬁ:w
n i ere
Groenfontein in the Transvaal, Sout rica. He : Hs Jew
ini i h-22 situation of being permi
remaining followers were caught in a catc Sl et
i land on condition that they supplllcd labour to t :
1}:’: §:gll::zFrench company. When recovering from bluurs gf de];resm;}n ?22:1::
is visi is fri Preller whose farm lay
isited his friend and confidant Gustgv

gf;f:}:ntein. Marais was most impressed with the Herero refugees whom he
described as black Afrikaners.

i .
Most of them could read and write — High-Dutch was the normal -Schoul l::ﬁ::;iz-
and a form of Afrikaans the ‘learned’ languagc_ofspuch_. #;lolawore Europea 3
many lived in bwilt houses and farmed as Afrikaners did.

Marais spent many an afternoon chatting with the ageing gnd ;iii:fs I::r:;i
chief and his confidant, the prcacher—tenchclr Julius Kauraisa, It bt
basis of these conversations that Eugene Marais later wrote up Samuel’s
f Die woestynvlug van die Hcrem's.z’“" )
° Fu‘;iowinﬁ theé;nack at Ovinaua Naua, S{amun_alrf\ﬂ:hareorfotf;a:laﬂi':\:r?::;;;
iseb. After eight days 1
closest followers had fled along the Eise it g
yae fell within
hed the pans at Nyae Nyae.*® The area around Nya
L::lcfruct range of the Batawana polity. Consequently Samuel Tahare::)&rﬁ::
and sent the following letter to Sekgoma Letsholathebe, the Kgo

Batawana:

country. [ am writing
vai (Mogopa) 28 Sept 1904 .. . I amn the Batawanas
?;y?;ﬁﬁ.f ﬂlﬂ?l?la)\'e been fighting with the Gcms-lms mn IT; :::1;1;:11;?';, :::yﬁ‘:&?:;
i ch by the mann
were my friends, they made me suﬂ‘e_r s0 mu s e A
fought with them. The beginning of the troul :
:::'ntl];‘olys roswork at Johannesburg. This is the reason that they fought wl:h mc:l. 3‘2
Englishman called Juda [Hewitt] knows lEis hedwas the man_\.}rho i:sar’ne_ o g s
: ve been fighting for eight and my |
:ggcs c]otr:-\ae into your country at Magopa I asi;‘help fmme?tu::g i:t&r_‘;ns ‘l:: :uI:::]l
he English governm ;
times my father was friendly with t b
1 nd request permission to
come to the English government for succour a t by
d help me in my heavy trouble, p
LI ask you to have mercy on me an
::;I:I')‘rtlroy m:.o";'his is my prayer to you that I may follow those of my people who have

; sk "

208 NNAW, NAW 4, Subfile Native Affairs Native Police, Herero Police previously employed by the

< i I B

z‘é\{.lk:fi:’g.l\clamis. Sketse uit die Lewe van Mens en Daer, Kaapstad 1928, p. 3. JBG"s translauon.
With fhankg to R. Gordon for the reference and G. Krager for the photocopy.

07 Marais, Sketse, p- 3.

. gk op
200 Nyas Nyai has as many spellings as it has exact locations. Properly speaking Nyai Nyai refers

ibi border.
1o 8 series of waters lying between Tsumkwe and C?nrr\ on :he_ N“:;blf':ri‘gsl":::\'o“nauu
Zachanas Zerava indicated in his staternent that Nyai I\ym_lny eight days it pos ek
Naua, Samuel’s letter to Sckgoma indicates that hc_ h_nd arrived in Magopa,
‘Butsv\;m‘m just across the border from Gam in Namibia.
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gone before me nll I get there. If you allow me I wall leave here at once. Sir I ask you
ni here, If low Twall i h t SirIask
to answer me as soon as possible.

I 5 i
send my best greetungs I am the chief of the Damaras Samuel Maharero. >

Fi { v

wrt())rr;rll\g{':: é\loy:;cg!e\-t;ge(;pa) Samuel],Maharcm and his followers travelled north
: were met by one of Sek; i i

; y ekgoma’s confidant '

ormer secretary, Samuel Sheppard, who handed him the fnllow?ntlgllsefr::g:“ ’

Banw: 5
Stk l;t:&}(z:g:;r;?’ I9(|24. 1am your friend that likes [you] I say if you are fightin
e like Kahada [Kahak :
[Nicodemus), Come und <ahaka], Kwenengo, and Kicodem
: + er me and the English. [ i % s
firh : 23 glish. I ask you not t
Ylgu:l;ug, because E_ou will h_ave nowhere to go to. The E;gllsh areo takcfany care of
riend too. With greetings Sekgoma Letsholathebe. 2! your friends. I am

Hencef i
2 orth S]_amuEI and hlsitsmall party of followers were in the unenviable
position Df_ be ng refugees with nothing to offer but their labour. After a shor
period of time in the Tswana capi of r- wte re me\red[
pital, T'sau, Samuel and his v

: s is followe
on to Makalamabedi on the Botletle. Here ‘Matabele’ Wilson i tr;der and

2

labour recruiter for the Briu o i
b. r tish
B I itish Sourh Africa Company found Samuel and his

Conversation with these peopl
= n zople reveals the fact that they consid i
su:;ﬁi: t‘::rit:i: Bbrlusl; flag is not all _lh:y thought it wuuld.ybe. Forear!iL:::ptr}?:“\::n
Sippled Wi 4 ri:fm? mealies per diem by the Protectorate Gov:mmen,l hl:‘t t]::erc
oot .msao{ any sort,fand now the supply of mealies has bec,n cut (:t'f!‘|
L st o cl‘rkaﬁr ol of them as servants — for a paltry dole per day and.
vt 4 corn. When the writer saw them, they were suffer

unger. The Bechuanas resent the presence of these refugcees in mcﬂgnilials.:

s

the Kafir doctors are icti
predicting th i ill vi
presence. '3 £ that murrain will visit the cattle as a result of their

Thel i 1
A&ic::c::irnr:scrwu:i:&rs so:ght to md‘ucc Samuel to supply labour to the South
S of.the ! nothing left, Samuel Maharero attempted to survive b
g o e r._oimact referred to in his asylum application as Juda Judn!‘r
i i c:ia who read Sampn]'s letter had correctly jotted dc;wn 1r:
g He’wiu r‘:; to a labour recruiter for the South African mines, Mr Alex
(WNI,A) o sdebmploy:d by the Witwatersrand Native Labau:' Agenc
ad been set up to recruit labour throughout southern ang

central Africa for the mines of S ica.?
T it bt et of South Africa.?"* In later years Samuel Maharero

29 BNA, RC.11/1, Corres i
pondence regarding H J] i
it e " ng Hereros (and flight to N, Z i
'I‘hi; isr;\:gn;;:l(:]:t:f;L:E:j;i.j;u::::l Nahal_cmoin Mogcpaslam.fm f:n;::&i:{lﬁ;;iﬂtgn
written in Otjihere ‘
fngg;lh;écl:‘c}; la;!d“r‘f_slsed 1o Sekgoma is to be ru:ﬁch.:ﬂzu::sﬁgufé Il_‘;l;l}mmhcm. il
NA, » Williams at Tsau, 6/9/04 : '
P ) o » to RC. Xangwa,
.\hs%pl‘lfl:hm:lr';‘:;’:; :—:;;ero settlements "I?::g‘:‘:c‘ fr:ns::llf::rlcl:‘;mm
% T
!Xnngwa 0 el opological research on the Dobe !Kung was conducted at Mug:p:s
11 CAD, AG 1931, Mer Yilli i |
vyn G. Williams in Joh i i
S 3 ; ohannesburg, 8/2/05,
5 B“ Bchuanaland.Wor_ds by an Eye-witness’, 19 May téOb in '.!";:: :;m:cml > Chromicte, edi
‘IE'Farry orton, Bloomington Indiana I ulmsayo Chronice, edited
21" For more on Alex Hewitt see [.B. G 1
h E .B. Gewald, The Road of the M lled Love S
e export of Herero labour to the South African Rand, MPO—!;T:‘;’upcr p:c:::l::; ;»:&;::‘L:':’v
ay

4/12/1993 at the ‘Polutics and Labor in Namibia'
Studies Association held in Bus‘:':_m Namibia® session of the 1993 Annual Meeting of the African
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After 1 had fought the Germans 10 my oWn country, 1 sought refuge under the
Government, and the Latter received me and prevented my enemies from pursuing
me. And after the Government had received me, a white man named Jund [Hewt]
came to me at Tsau, Lake N'gami, and said to me ‘I have been sent by the
Government to you, the Government has given you ground on which you and your
people will build’. But, Chief, this was an untruth, he was only getting me into
trouble, he was referring to ground owned by Companices. And after I had left with
him he took me (o the Transvaal and told me that it was @ country of contracts and
that T must send my people to work on contract at the Mines. Thereupon 1 began to
gend men to work on contract, and they died 1n large numbers.'*

Following the battle at the Waterberg, although substantial numbers of Hereros
fled eastwards and northwards into Bechuanaland and Ovamboland, the
majority of the Herero were confined to the Omaheke. A number of Herero
were able to slip through the German cordon and head westwards back into
central Namibia.?!s There were also groups of Herero who had never left central
Namibia, but had managed to remain living undetected in the more
inhospitable regions of territory. German military patrols regularly came across
traces of these groups and as late as 1907 detachments eagerly requested
permission to shoot at them. Primarily these groups of free Herero were to be
found in the Khomas Hochland mountains and along the course of the Khuiseb
river, These Herero were in contact with Walvisbay and traded rustled cattle
and horses for goods in Walvisbay. In 1908 a German patrol, which had chanced
upon tracks in the lower Khuiseb, followed a Herero party along the Khuiseb
deep into the Khomas Hochland mountains. The Herero party was eventually
attacked in the mountains overlooking Windhoek.#'

One such party which had remained in the mountains and had kept its
distance from the fighting was that led by Andreas Maharero, Samuel’s younger
brother. Andreas was in contact with Walvisbay and wrote the following letter
to the magistrate there:

Kansberg den 9.5.1905
To the Omuhona of Walvisbay magistrate.
It 1s 1 Andreas Maharero who wrote this letter to get permission from you and ask
whether you will help me or not. 1 have got my people and weak ones. And I also
have cattle and small cows and small horses. Tell me whether we will ger some placc
if you accept us. I do not want to continue with the peace with the Germans, because
my brother 15 also not here and 1 do not trust the peace of this people and 1 want to
go to the colony of the Enghsh there where my brother was.

Please give the answer to the same man who brought the letter. Let him try to
come back quickly.

Can you please tell me where my brother is? Because you are the one who knows
where he is. This 1s the end.

A last word: I would like some tobacco and coffee. This is the last and I greet
you, the great Omuhona of Walvisbay.

It is I Andreas Maharero the younger brother of Samuel Maharero. 2

214 NNAW, South West African Admimstration (SWAA) 2085, 460/25 Maharero volume 1, copy
of letter from Samuel Maharero to Resident Commssioner, 25 February 1920. That Hewitt
consciously lied to Samucl Maharero 15 substantiated by the writings of A, Loton Ridger, who
sccompanied Hewitt on hus tnp to the Herero. A. Loton Radger, A Wanderer’s Traul: Being a fmhful
record of travel tn many lands (New York 1914), pp- 282-9,

213 NNAW, Str.1 1.a.5.

w NNAW, ZBU 459, folio 148, Meldung, Windhoek 10/2/08.

211 CAD, File No, 1IWLB 4/1/21/1 Private individuals, With thanks to Dag Henrichsen for alerting
me to this letter and 1o him and Louis von Hasbad for the rough translanon.
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Seeking to end the war

f: aln armqsphere where Tr(_nha’s proclamarion had in effect been the mere
Shgoa sgngu;mmg of that which, as the numerous diaries of the Schutztruppen
Seer\:!r,edare:‘lzclztiﬁ«‘!‘t;ecnf;cmn;or;_ilaiace, a negotiated settlement with the Herero
: : n effect the Herero, defeated in barttle, were gi
option but war. In these conditions negotiat : gt
' gotiations and a return to peace could
::; lglsznplsaec:t. _IIn ]at]; 1?105 W;l]y Maharero told Licutenant Strcﬁtwoil‘ \:hu
! nto Bechuanaland on an intelligence mission, th c
; ! at he h
;:;e:::ﬁi iir;egd;rmg]}m lt]he Germans in January. But that he,had chang::
ed to Bechuanaland when he heard what had h
) appened
(T;mb_a:aha.““ Here little more than three weeks after the issuing :prrotha?;
r;n:_ mn:g:befehf Oberleutnant von Beesten lured a number of Hereros into an
::n I:_hh. l_.Bnd\er the pretext of wanting to engage in negotiations with the Herero
0|f hmsé' ecsten pcrsu:ld.cd eleven Herero headmen, led by Joel Kavizeri of
[headan ja and Saul of Otjenga, to enter unarmed into a German camp. Whilst
ermans surrounded the approximately seventy Herero who remained

outside the camp, Beesten a * iations’ i
Sutaide o Becs(en,: llowed the ‘negotiations’ to break down and in the

;I.‘élngr'.:‘:bordcrs to open fire. For a bricf period of me the enemy vigorously returned
il r:) ::-.:;l;c“ r:ar;ered dcw? the hillside, pursued by our shells and bullets, to
t at a distance of approximately 300 metres. In th T
: . € meantim
Il(spl(;n;\;(;md headmen had tried to escape and had all been killed within a rad]ieus“:‘
e metres . . . Abour 12 noon the remainder of the enemy withdrew. As far
ow, no onc cscaped unscathed . . . There were no casualties on our side. "

:I;\l:o:gh i};{l:’idcn(s like the abo_vc occurred on a daily basis they did little to end
indic:zrz; :h:t cgimplcs Ff Michael Tjisiseta and Andreas Maharero clearly
rman forces were unable, however much the i

1 v and their

ic:zl;::;:[li::;;;n:ykhivc wanhlcd, to drive all the Herero from the territory. The
akaha emphasized to the Germans once again th, I
Herero were defeated the; s b e
¢ g v would have to come to some form of arran

with the Herero which went beyond merely attempting to annihilate all of:;'irt‘::r:[

Zacharias

I) 0
ressure to end the war eventually came from within Germany itself. Alarmed

218 The diary entries of Schutzeruppen HE.R. Kn i
s]ausgg:g‘r‘ :Sa;_t”\:-nz gomg c»;:II r;:IId ﬁnf- ct;m.m-unplcr‘l:: P;B;:ﬁ;}st:ﬁrr&téﬂ%lgat;;ﬂ;;&o eiman
e 5 capture crero 4 have been hung. The :i h . for |
%/7/04 Our prisoner has a noose around hi il e el i o sy
s 0 is neck which is then attached
horse. The particular Witbooi ensures that things do not bcc::n:ta:'cg‘r:;:rdlf‘:;:!‘ro:

him.
16/8/04 A captured Herero female [Hererowei
s r oweib] was, after she had been given suppli
w;::: ::": :f'::;tr\::;is;(:z;hipeople":‘s gr;:_n.Tl‘le :;cm ale had bnrfly left l‘;lpcpe::nl:r:r&::\
7/10/04 As last night we had noticed T onabe o n il
er of fires in our vicinity, looke i
om;r:::z,rﬁi‘rl\::l;;ﬁcrfn bt &r scarihing we found. We ;umg! ‘:Isﬁ:crs gda:-l‘::;i%‘j:;el:és
on foor. i i :
B adar e ook alungnns p:ist:::ﬂ:ftc werfl shot down part of the inhabitants, the
o ]g‘;erfhsler‘ Fightung, ch. III, fn. 120.
. s 2089, p. 105. Al i i 5 “ight
b SRK.'\” e Opgaud, é 2I§:Icucd in Drechsler, Fighting, ch. I1, fn. 119. For a published
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~ by what was happening in Namibia, particularly following the publication of
- the Vernichtungsbefehl and Schurstruppen letters in the German press, the Rhenish
" Missionary Society, the German social democratic party and other groups urged
* the Kaiser and his government to accept the surrender of the Herero. Events
. onthe ground had shown that, though the Herero had been militarily defeated,
© it was impossible to destroy them all, added to which, all artempts to do so led

to a hostile reception in Germany itself. However, even when the possibility of
an honourable negotiated settlement was forced upon Trotha and his
sympathizers, Trotha ensured that Herero interests were disregarded. One of
the Herero chiefs who artempted to surrender was Zacharias Zeraua of
Otjimbingwe. A detailed account of his surrender and subsequent fate provides
an indication as to the manner in which Herero concerns were simply
disregarded and promises broken.

At quarter past ten on the morning of 9 December 1904, the following
telegram was sent from Berlin to General Lothar von Trotha in Namibia:

His royal Highness the King and Kaiser wishes to grant mercy to all those Herero
who surrender voluntanly and orders that, apart from the incontrovertibly guilty
and the leaders, their hives be granted. You are to make this known to the Herero in
a suitable manner. You are to accept the good services offered by the evangelical
mission to care for the imtial accommaodation of the surrendering Hereros.?!

Immediately thereafter, Estorfl who was at that stage stationed at Ovinaua MNaua
on the Eiseb river, was ordered to inform the Herero that, if they gave up their
weapons and surrendered, then their lives would be spared.? Discharged from
seeking to enforce the containment of the Herero in the Omaheke, Estorff issued
a proclamation to ‘the Herero people’. The Herero were called upon to

surrender, in exchange for which Estorff promised to spare their lives and
resettle them in the areas they had originally come from:

I speak the truth, I do not hie. 1 will send you there where you previously were, some
to Otjimbingwe, some others to Waterberg or also to Omaruru or o Okahandja.
[At this point Trotha, who later saw the proclamanon, scrawled unerhort, unheard
of, in the margin] 1 will issue letters to you so that nothing will happen to you on
the road or at the setrlements. ™’

Estorff’s proclamation was the first genuine attempt by the Germans to
negotiate with the Herero since Leutwein had been relieved of his command
for attempting to do the same. Clearly the Herero had long looked forward to
an end to the war, Estorff’s offer met with a positive response and in due course
he received a reply from the councillors of Zacharias Zeraua,Victor Metirapu,
(Gerhard) Jephta Marritta, Nehemia Katjipitua, Kahapa Metirapu and
Katjiheive Mbakuru, all formerly of Otjimbingwe. Zacharias Zeraua himself
didn’t reply, but he must have known of this letter, which was probably written
with his consent. It must be remembered that at this stage Zacharias, as a chief,
still had a price on his head. Added to this Trotha's promise of immediate

=1 NNAW, Str. 1. 1.a.5, folio 1. Interestingly this file is one of only four archival files of the
Schutztruppe in Mamibia 1o have survived. A possible reason for this is that the files were destroyed
by the retreating German forces in 1915 when the Union troops invaded Namibia, This line of
reasoning is backed up by the fact Zu vermichien 1915 [To be destrayed 1915] has been scrawled
across folio 1 in red ink.

=22 NNAW, Str. 1 1.2.5, folio 2, Telegram from von Trotha in Windhock 9/12/04 to von Estorff.
2 NNAW, Str. 1 1.a.5, folo 4. Proclamation to the Herero People 12/12/04 von Estorfl.
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summary execution and Beesten’s betrayal at Ombakaha formed a somb

bnckgmun_d to anyone wishing to surrender. Not surprisingly Zacharias f[:lr:
1; mak,e his presence immediately known to the Germans. For their 13:[
1_.era_ua s councillors thanked Estorff for his proclamation and wrote: ‘We pwhc:
ive in the field, have received the paper of peace, however we do not b::liew

that it is peace. Your word of peace is good, however we recently heard of the

;‘;iin;i) sitn (t)crlll:;:li:hu.‘ﬂf"f‘l!ey cdc:minued by noting that they and their followers
continuing the war, but were afraid that if they surrendered

;:h{!}‘ would_a]] be killgd as had happened ‘in Ombakaha and gkahandj:‘r:”
.s;ciorff replied lmrchlately. that the events at Ombakaha had made him anéry
;n l;sad_, but that this would not happen again.?** Encouraged by Estorff’s letter
r;a;lyar::sgg\_v galx;ed to shl?w himself. In an extremely cautious and God-fearing,

s ich he s i 1 1 i

i e ought to emphasize his peaceful past and intentions,

gz:;:i ::cu;cg r:c :::cr of peace and we are very happy. We are very happy that
uched the Kaiser's heart to make peace with us, th k
joyful, We have accepted the peace Ih g
e . [ have accepted the peace as have all
gi:::l:rﬂlnliim?;:r p::p]e h;nlvel,1 as God's people, all been joyful. With regard to Ir::
E wish to call all the people together. At present I
people have been scartered; they e s b Al i
y have extreme hunger. Peace is ade b
people, In all truth my heart is intent on ith s oo
\ peace, along with my councill
and I we are all in peace. Soon [ wi E 5’ e
A il also tell Samuel Maharero's 1
w:t!h (hﬁ pe_op]c in the vicimty 1 will attempt to seek the peace HEE N
will write as to whether or not these peopl 3
¢ g ple want peace with you or not. I wi
710;\:? tell you, you must wait for the answer. .. As far as the W:apn}l'lis are cnncelrnélr:
e one with powder [muzzle loader] and not a 88 [Schutztruppe standard issue]

1 come in peace in God’s name. 1 ]
1 .1 am the great ruler of Othimbingwe, 1 Z
along with my councillors. [ joyfully anticipate your letter, 2" gwe, 1 Zachanas

glll’\::;ngdt.hclcqqrse of three weeks Estorff and Zacharias negotiated Zacharias’s
i rllae::eenu:t\liﬂ'll!y (h:;ug_h the exchange of letters, and finally in face-to-face
; iktor Metirapu and Estorff, Zacharias and his
: w \ } s followers wer
*:::.iulilcg into surrender. Zacharias was informed that henceforth no Hcrerg
n;:’ g !e allowed to own ﬁrcarms and that all the cattle of the Herero would
if 7“; ong m_lhc Germans.?* When Estorff threatened to continue the war,
difﬁcult;[:‘gs tf:lle_d. to ?r;render, Zacharias let it be known that he was haviné
athering all his people and more im a i
t ! portantly that he was bein,
F}::s?r:zed by \:«":I!y Maharero not to come to a negotiated settlement witE
ncgol’i’;ii‘gﬁ:sfl\; ome memébcrhs of Zacharias’s party were also against the
. At onc stage Zacharias appended a letter with
solely to Viktor Metirapu. In it Z; i g T
. acharias urged Estorff to ensure thathi
; g t his cattle
;zs:hl::;;:s w;ra v,_cll guarded as Willy Maharero intended attacking Estorf;
u‘mcr .0:1;1 ed his secret message of betrayal with the words, ‘Do not let the
people see these words, instead communicate solely via Victor.?*

3¢ Ihid., \:i:m: Metirapu et al. to von Estorlf, reverse folio 4
32 Q:{_!X“\volsc (]‘;e emphasis on events in Okahand)a :
ND , Str.1. 1.a.5, foho 5. Von Est ; 4 i i
Q‘n?., Z}c‘hanns i ey r'oh: 1;1'1'[ 1n Ovinaua Naua, 18/12/04, to Victor Metirapu
: \t’i&" ?r. 1 1.a.5,Von Estorff 1n Owinaua Naua, 23712/04, to Zacharias

Nt . Str. 1 1.a.5, Zacharias in Omahua, 27/12/04, to von Estorfl. Y
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Eventually Zacharias and his followers began moving along the Eiseb river

_ rowards Estorff at Owinaua Naua.

1 wish to inform you that I am now at Epata. The people can only come along slowly
as they are very thin.

1 would once again like to have news from you, so that 1 can be nformed of all
events. [t is the pure truth that I have accepted the peace, the peace that the Kaiser
made. In God’s name. [ greet you on behalf of all my people.®®

After observing Sunday in the field, Zacharias and his people marched into
captivity on Monday 9 January 1905.2* Estorff wrote to Trotha and
recommended that Zacharias Zeraua and his followers be sent back to
Otjimbingwe. Trotha had different ideas and in the margin of Estorff’s letter
he scrawled: ‘No way, Zacharias is to be investigated for the murders, none 1o
Otjimbingwe; to the missionaries, the men are to g0 to the troops for labour.®?
Al through Estorff’s letter Trotha vented his anger with sarcastic comments.
When Estorff recommended that some Herero may be suited for labour, Trotha
scrawled “All! are suited, or that it would be no problem to employ them for
food, he scribbled ‘Also that! generous belief.#** Estorfi’s promise 1o the
Banderu councillor, Nicolaus, that he and his followers would be settled near
Gobabis was greeted by Trotha with, “You have nothing to promise!’meth
ended his marginal tirade with the following words:

Are these then the circumstances io which the end of this unheard of revolt is to be
achieved, that now with our promises we have to beg for peace? This position is the
cause of the revolt. Ty

Under no circumstances was Zacharias to be permitted to return to
Otjimbingwe. Instead in capuvity Zacharias was immediately interrogated and
charged with instigating the murder of white settlers.?*® In court Zacharias
stated under oath:

Before the beginning of the war 1 did not hold meetings with the captains in
Okahandja, therefore I knew nothing of an impending war. 1 also did not receive a
letter from Samuel that he wanted to make war.?’

The camps

A direct result of the war was, as Leutwein had foreseen and feared, a shortage
of labour. To alleviate this shortage, forced labour camps were established.
Berween 1904 and 1908, Herero, who were captured by German forces, were
incarcerated in forced labour camps across the country, and made to work on
civilian and military projects. There are those who have argued that: “There is

2 Ttnd., Zacharias in Epata, 411105, 1o von Estorfl.

a1 bid., Zacharias n Oyjinene, BI1/05, to von ‘Estorff. The letter indicates that Zacharias, as @
ruc Christian, observed the Sunday.

112 NNAW, Str.l 1.a.5, von Estorfl to the northern military command, January
foho 10.

1 Thid., folio 11.

2 Thid., fohio 12.

= Tbid., reverse 12.

8 NNAW, Str. 1 1.8.5, folio 1 322 These are the papers dealing with the nial of Zacharias Zeraua.
217 Thid., Okahandja 22/2/05, tral of Zacharias, folio 17.

1905, reverse
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absolutely no evidence . . . that the Herero perished or were used on a large
scale as “slave labourers” "% What follows is a dry description of the history of
the camps. In the following chapter the impact of the camps on Herero society
will be discussed.

Prior to the battle of Hamakari at the Waterberg, German commanders
received requests from labour-hungry settlers for the allocation of Herero
prisoners of war, large numbers of which, it was anticipated, would be made.
With the expulsion of the Herero from central Namibia, the perceived Herero
threat had diminished and, at the same time, a dire labour shortage had
developed in the colony’s settler economy. As the war approached its climax,
the settler economy, which serviced the German military presence, started
picking up again and the demand for labour increased. From the very beginning
of hostilities, the German army had employed prisoners of war as forced labour.
As it was anticipated that the German army would make a large number of

prisoners of war, it was hardly surprising that settlers applied to its commanders
for labour:

According 1o reports, large numbers of Herero have already been captured in the
battles at the Waterberg. Bearing in mind that the containment and maintenance of
large numbers of prisoners in Damaraland [Central Namibia] is likely to be bound
up with major difficulties, the Gibeoner Schurf und Handelsgesellschaft has submitted
an application that of these prisoners they be immediately granted ca. 50-100 Men
as mine workers . . . It is perhaps advisable that the Herero be chained together in
groups of about ten men before transported south.**”

As the Herero-German war wound down in northern and central Namibia and
the Nama-German war developed in the southern reaches of the country, the
military and settler demands for labour, and the concomitant shortage of
labour, developed continually. However, as a direct result of the German
military’s successes, most of the Herero were confined to the dry regions of
the Omaheke, and could thus not be approached for labour purposes. With this
in mind the German Reichskanzler recommended that missionaries be asked
to encourage the Herero to surrender and that those Herero who surrendered
were ‘to be placed in concentration camps [Konzentrationslagern] in various
parts of the country where, under guard, they could then be used for labour’.?*®
With the effective containment of the Herero survivors, missionaries of the
Rhenish Missionary Society and their assistants were sent into the Omaheke 1o
lure the survivors out and into the newly established camps. In anticipation of
the new prisoners, a number of holding camps were set up in Omburo,
Otjosazu, Otjihaenena and later Otjozongombe.?!! Given the circumstances,
the missionaries were extremely successful in their endeavours. Large numbers
of Hereros, starved, pursued and hunted like animals, were enticed out of the
desert. The captives were placed in holding camps, from whence they were
then redistributed to smaller camps all around the country.

2w B, Lau, *Uncertain Certainties’, p. 5. One short look at any of the German colomal government
files entitled Kriegsgefangene (prisoners of war), stored in the Namibian National Archives in
Windhoek, will disprove these claims.
29 NNAW, ZBU 454, Kaiserliches Bezirksamt Gibeon, 18/8/04 an das Kaiserliche Gouvernement,
JBG's translanion.

0 NNAW, ZBU 454 DIV 1.3. Band 1, Tel des Reichs)
eingegangen am 14 Januar 1905,

s ELCIN, V. Ortschroniken, Omaruru 1905 & 1L 9.1,7, Privatbrief ven Missionar §. Bohm aus
der Aufuandszeit 1904 ff aus Walfischbay.

s an das Gouver
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F the very beginning of the war, settlers and calomal‘ businesses
dcm:a‘::iled cap(us:'ed fiererogfur labour purposes. The army, which was also
desperately short of labour, was loath to let its monop_oly go andl |t was nndt
until 1905 that, following lengthy discussions, it was decided that civilians an
civilian businesses would also be permitted to use cnpt_u_rcd Herero for laobour
purposes.®? Henceforth civilians could apply to the military for labour. < rLcle
the military needs had been fulfilled, captured labour was to be made available
to civilians:

The district authorities will determine the nun_lber of prisoners required for :ja_bolur
purposes and will inform the military authorities [Erappmkalnlammd'a] ::::_:-r_ ing ’3;1
Bearing in mind the number of prisoners available, l_hc military aut! on;es whc
allocate, to the district authorities, prisoners, who will then be allocated to ;
individual applicants according to their importance and need . . . As prisoners they
are not to be paid for their labour.24?

Civilians could collect their daily allotments from the various camps, whllsé
large civilian companies, such as the Woermann shipping company, maintaine

eir own camps.®* = o
. He‘:em prisgners of war were used as labour by both military and C?V:!%:!.an
enterprises for a wide range of activities. Prisoners were put to work in civi mg
companies, ranging from laundries 1o transport cOntractors, !or:werles t?trcln
shipping companies.?** Various military units used L!'mr prisoners, c:m g
children, primarily for the maintenance spd care of their stock. T‘t‘_ns enft e
the construction of cattle kraals, the pumping o_fwa_tc‘r, and !:h_e cutting 0! g:l‘alss
for fodder and herding.2* The German colonial eivil a'drrlumstraugn user its
Herero, and later Nama prisoners of war, for_the Ibmldmg of raillway- m:f,’
berween Usakos and Otavi and later between Lideritz a_nq Ke:trpunshoup. ¢
The civil administration also used prisoners of war on building pro;ccrs,_;rlldee
the building that presently houses the parliament of independent MNamibia wa;
built partly with the aid of Herero prison iabqur.“’ I-_Inwcve;-, .ﬂ." amouillnr 'at?cs
quality of labour supplied continued to be msuflﬁf:lent, Clvnhgn aL;_t 1;)“ e
regularly petitioned the military authorities for additional labour. l“heho z\m ogf
partial transcript of a telegram sent on heha}f of the Swakopmund chamber
commerce is a fine example of this petitioning:

The civil economic community, eXcepting the Wc:rmann line [shipping com;{m;y],
require 300 Natives fit for labour for the e and cont e of their

. Zinged lia b 1/4/05-31/3/09.

2 NNAW, BWL 406, Akten E. V& Kriegsgef: Eing 2 : beg 0
Rur:dw:‘fﬂ,gurrg Windhuk, 6 April 1905, der Kaiserliche Gan::emeu_r in Vertretung Fecklenburg.
Abkommen des Gouverngments mit der Militar-behirde betreffs Ul g von Kr epgfargitn.
0 NNAW, ZBU 454, DIV 13 Band 1, Berichr, Etappenkommando I'b 7957, Windhu! 7
IE%IS.SI’IET‘\:]‘;U;IIE Swakopmund, H. Vedder in Swakopmund, 31/12/06, 10 K. Ritter, regarding

{ Herero prisoners from the Woermann camp. g
;:c}:'m'::u‘:xs 1:|rlt='rs 1:'\'riucn by various civilian companies for POW labour are to be found in
NNAW, U 454, Band 1-3. y .
M J:\'.;\\E',BZBU 4:’;4 ;md 1-3. For children one look at the various photographs in the leb;::
Narional Archives will suffice to show the employment f‘f minors 'b{ the (_?v;\_'man lmop]s(.‘_"d”
particularly the photographs in Acc. 100 which carry the PP Hing
helfen Kraal bauen. )
"!‘b;!bid. & ELCIN I1 9.1,7 Privatbrief von Missionar ] Bohm aus der Aufstandszeit 1904 ff aus
Walfischbay.
200 NNAW, ZBU 454, Leutwein in Windhoek, 12/2/05, to Bauamt.
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C herefore we

your excellency that a big transport of native

prisoners of war be handed over to the district administration for distribution by

the civilian administration. 2+

Conditions in the camps were horrendous. Apart from the texts provided by

the civilian and military authorities, there are also extremely detailed reports

written by the missionaries, who were actively involved in the herding of Herero |
into the camps. The missionary chronicles for Swakopmund provide a clear |

image of conditions in these camps:

When missionary Vedder arrived in Swakopmund in 1905 there were very few Herero

present.?® Shortly thereafter vast transports of prisoners of war arrived. They were

placed behind double rows of barbed wire fencing, which surrounded all the buildings |

of the harbour department quarters [Hafenamtswerft], and housed in pathetic
[jammerlichen) structures constructed out of simple sacking and planks, in such a
manner that in one structure 30-50 people were forced to stay without distinction
as to age and sex. From early morning until late at night, on weekdays as well as on
Sundays and holidays, they had to work under the clubs of raw overseers [Knutteln
roher Aufseher], until they broke down [zusammenbrachen]. Added to this the food
was extremely scarce, Rice without any necessary additions was not enough to
support their bodies, already weakened by life in the field [as refugees] and used to
the hot sun of the interior, from the cold and restless exertion of all their POWErS in
the prison conditions of Swal d. Like cattle hundreds were driven to death
and like cattle they were buried. This opinion may appear hard or exaggerated, lots
changed and became milder during the course of the imprisonment . . . but the
chronicles are not permitted to suppress that such a remorseless rawness
[rucksichislose Roheit], randy sensuality [geile Sinnlichkeit], brutish overlordship
[brutales Herrentum) was to be found amongst the troops and civilians here that a
full description is hardly possible.?s!

The conditions in Swakopmund were bad. Vedder’s presence in part ensured
that the military authorities instituted an inquiry into the state of affairs, which
concluded thar, in the interests of labour, the prisoners ‘be provisioned and
strengthened in the interior before being sent here’.?* In Liideritz conditions
were, if anything, worse than in Swakopmund. Initially missionaries were not
presentin Liideritz. It was only later that, acting on reports of Herero evangelists

4 NNAW, ZBU 454, Telegram Fuchs in Swakopmund, 13/2/05, to von Trotha. JBG’s translaton.
e Whth the outbreak of the war all Herero living in Swakopmund, and those captured along the
railway-line towards Karibib, were placed onto the ship $S Eduard Bohlen, which at that stage
was anchored off the coast ar Swakop d. Not really § & what to do with the prisoners
the authorities decided to offer the male prisoners to South African labour contractor A. Hewitt
as labour for the mines. Hewitt gladly accepted these prisoners, but argued that, as the prisoners
were already embarked and ar sea, he need not have to pay customs dury nor 20 mark per labourer
as demanded by the German authorities. Hewitt did not have to pay and on 20 January 1904 the
S8 Eduard Boklen, with 282 prisoners on board, set sail for Cape Town and the mines of the Rand.
NNAW, BSW 7, folio 110, Letter from the Kaserhiches Bezirksamt Swakopmund to the
Kaiserliche Gouvernement Windhuk dated 12/2/04.

#1 ELCIN, V. Ortsct ken Swakop d. JBG"s transl The author of the text, Dr Heinnch
Vedder, would later become an acclaimed national ialist, anthropologist and historian of
Namibian affairs. After the Second World War Vedder was appointed to the South African senate
as representative of the black population of Namibia. His election led in part to the majority of
Herero leaving the Rhenish Mission church and establishing their own independent church.

¥ NNAW, ZBU 454, Dr Fuchs in Swakopmund, 20/5/05, to Kaiserliche Gouvernement. JEG’s
translation,
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Photo 5.6: Christian Herero women prisoners of war, captured ;hlon.{);;fer the
outbreak of war, carrying crates at the harbour in Swakopmund in
Source: Mamibian National Archives, Windhoek

B

i i itie
who had been sent there, they voiced their deep concern to the author

i in €
An aspect of the forced labour system was that the district autho'i.‘lu:::‘::rrlY
ordered to submit monthly reports to the cent_ral governmcntla;_tn h: i
prisoners, categorized as men, women and children, found within t
3

ili 1 1f’_zsa
authorities area, had been allocated to civilians or to the government itse

Because these lists were to provide the German aulhoritifs “_rith anlgx?:;i;;);
as to the labour available, they also included ;he categorization a:cs it
prisoners were fit or unfit |Arbeitsfiahig l{n__f&.‘alag] for labour purﬁ&dﬁ s
case of Swakopmund, the district authorities’ list was accompah “]fausnnn
register [Totenregister], which listed the cause of death as eit L:'rned mncoeé
heart failure, bronchitis or scurvy. Fmlhermmfed‘h:hlzt‘g:::h ;:)y 0 stuinon
i i i se of dea
certificates which already listed the cau ) )
?:l?::\lving privation’. These only needed to be filled in for a tally to be kept o
the daily dead.?*®
i Vedder, acting on German
T vakopmund 1, Eich in Okahanda I-ifbﬂz’i to] T, G :
::llﬁ&fcylr‘:;;:r[(i.zrlwi::;ns?hz dcalh‘of 59 men, 5: wnmr:ré :r{n{‘;géc:’;ﬁ;:rnv::‘%;z#z‘:‘:: ;:r;\:;
it i eri re 50 bad that during the cou { 5 )
cch‘:r::::lLni‘r:;lcnnlljl‘llitd;:;f:x;o;i(lcs in Luderitz disobeyed the order of his comman ding officers an

had the camp moved to a healthier setung.
14 NNAW, ZBU 454, Etappenkommando
BG's translation. )
.1” See for instance NNAW, ZBU rﬁth i\"l é::u?;g: 2 Krieg
ot X 107 (Old notation SD63-182) Tarcmeg_uurjur E:_ng\eborrne.
d here is the conducting of mcd\cn}’ :xp:-_nm:Kn;:o:::
i esis Liber die Medizische Lér:urgunz?‘:rc iemaligen |
T?fikt‘:.t‘:{&:;;fnb;«;;;, basing herself on the .Sammn_bmghl ul}er die
s u::;hrend des Herera und Hottentottenaufsiandes fir die Zeit vom

in Windhuk 30/3/05 to Kaiserliche Gouvernement.

s B 1 b

uber Eing gsgefang
% NNAW, Bezrksamt Swakopmund
Another aspect that needs (o be mentione
POWSs, Dr Carla Kricger
Deutsch Sudwest Afrika,
kaiserliche Schutztruppe fir SWA
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Herero prisoners of war not only died, they also resisted and fled. The files
of the magistrate court in Liideritz make ample mention of Herero prisoners
of war, men as well as women, who had been put to work on the construction
of a railway-line from Lideritz to Aus, who actively resisted, often for naught,
the mistreatment to which they were subjected.?” Further to the north at
Swakopmund, large numbers of refugees fled to the comparative safety of the
British territory of Walvisbay. According to German intelligence reports, the
postman, operating between Swakopmund and Walvisbay, acted as a go-
between for labour recruiters of the South African mines, As a result of his
activities, large numbers of Herero prisoners fled to Walvisbay and eventually
the South African mines.2*# The extent of Herero flight from Swakopmund was
such that the Woermann shipping company, a major recipient of the forced
labour, was often short of harbour labour. As a missionary, who was working
in Swakopmund at the time, noted:

. .. Timotheus Hipangua, fled with wife and child and many others in the might of
4 Nov 1906 1o Walvisbay, Many had preceded him and many would follow him, to
swop their toiling existence here for an existence of tedium in the mines of South
Africa.?5

a number that corresponded with a number in a register that kept track of
allocated ‘free’ labour, 26! Some registers which had been used to keep control

1/1/04-31/3/07, Band | Berlin 1909, pp. 105-6, refers 1o these activities and to the post-mortems
conducted on POWs who had died m the camps. Interested in the medical aspects of death Kricger

des Reichs-Kolomalames, Berlin 3/7408, an den Heren Gouverneur i Windhuk. Specifically
deals with Prof. Klaatseh's (University of Breslau) request for Herero skulls. And Meine Kriegs-
Erlebnise in ngsc):-’:‘udh-ss:-/ﬂ'rika, von einem Offizier der Schutztruppe, (Minden 1. % 1907),
P 114, which carries a photograph with the following rext: ‘A chest of Herero skulls was recently
sent by troops from German South West Africa to the pathological institute in Berlin, where they
will be subjected 10 scientific measurements. The Skulls, from which Herero women have removed
the flesh with the aid of glass shards . . " With thanks to Ms G. Kriger for this reference. Leonhard
Schultze, Zoologische und Anthropol gsche Ergeb, einer Forschung o Ichen und
Sudwentafrika (Jena 1909}, contains a detmled exposé of the anatomical details of a number of
dead Herero and Nama POWSs. Following their deaths, usually by hanging, their bodics had been
placed in preservatives and shipped 10 Germany for dissection

7T NNAW, BLU 220, SPS 49 Strafprozesssache gegen die Hererofrau Anna; NNAW, BLU 221,
SPS 85 Strafprozessache Zegen die Herero Kricgsgefangene Justine; SPS 81 Strafprozessache
gegen die Hererofray Johanna; SPS 80 aganst a number of runaways; NNAW, BLU 28, {O1d
notation ZD 96-523) Eingeborenenangelegenheiten E.1 -K Eingeborenen Unruhen,

4 NNAW, BSW 107, (Old notation SD 68-204), Entlaufen von Eingeb nach Walfischbay,
UA 1042,

* ELCIN, V. Ortschroniken, Swakopmund 1906,
™ NNAW, BWI 406, Akten E.V.8 Kri f: Emnget ha b 1/4/05-31/
3/09. Windhoek 3 April 1908 Durch Verfugung des Kaiserlichen Gouvernements vom 26 Marz
1908 ist die Kricgsgefangenschaft der Hereros mit dem 1 Apnil 1908 Aufgehoben.

1 For an overview of labour legislation see Tony E »'Popular Resi in Namibia, 1920-
1925" in Resistance and Ideology n Seteler Societies, Southern African Studies Vol. 4, edited by Tom
Lodge (Johannesburg 1986) p. 10, NNAW, Ace 508. The carrying of metal dises had intially
been recommended by von Trotha three years carlier.

of the allocations of forced labour, were retained and lif:d to list the allocation
of labour according to the new pass and labour laws.

Conclusion

The Herero-German war was not the result of a premeditated Herero _z:;
surrection against German colonial governance. Ideas ofha natwn:fithe
insurrection existed solely in German colonial minds. Lanc! s or_tf\_gc,lo ke
part of the Herero, was not a cause of the war. Herero chiefs wi l;lngry s: !
land in the aftermath of the rinderpest. Instead, those opposed to the u;tt;:
sale of Herero land were the German governor Theodor L_et_:twe'jin an :
Rhenish Missionary Society. Once legislation was passed limiting it ﬂ!:l?;;
of Herero land available for sale, Germa_n settlers were cut off fr;m':i ?n m :h;
jingoistic attitudes of the settlers and their sympathizers that re;ufte r;cmme
legislation led to the creation of a chlmau: wherein the outbreak o wan e
inevitable. Anxious to ensure sufficient land for_fu:ure' sculcmc;t a Germ :
officer consciously forged land treaties. It was thlg man's [rlunhllf hcurés_cuflz_l::e
and panic that led to the first shots of the war being fired in O al :m1 ];-wi[h
Herero-German war broke out asGthe resul}i?f sertler paranoia couple
i ctence and panic of a German officer.
m?l::?::irs, amibute?i to Samuel Mahsrcrn,_which purport to sho\; that LI;;:
war was the result of a premeditated revolt against German rule oné e Ea;]t“[
the Herero, were post-dated and at least on_e_qf the letters was planted to de:
ility away from missionary activities. ) ) o
Sct’#ﬂi 1:::;1!:: in wgich chief Zacharias Zeraua and his _sul:;ects in (I)t];rr;;mvr:cg:\;e
became involved in the war iIIustrat:ls how Here‘ro chiefs and (he_u‘ o :e warl
irrespective of their professed loyalties, were driven a_nd d;n;vn ::]r!m(;erman
against the Germans. As wil:h ;c_;:e outhreakrof the war in Okahandja,
ia inevitably drove the Herero to war.
Pa?;:nir:?se at a n}:rgotialed settlement were consciously “bomgwbanfduw;rre
frustrated by German metropolitan ideas on how the war was to be 1(; hgavé
But for German metropolitan interference, the Herero-German war ;_CIU i
been contained and the war brought to an garly cpd. lnsl:c_ad conflict ‘:11 r:d
German ranks led to opportunities to negotiate being studiously ignored a
the war was allowed to continue and engulf the whole of the terrltbolry, u
Though the Germans had effectively won the war, d:lcy were uz'xt;at.1 e to e):}:[e
all the Herero from the territory. Howevelr, the war did lead to 5 e com:}l[ .
destruction of Herero society as it ha: exls;ed gn:n;:}r: tl:;i:rt;r.an; sihr:isr ik
o lost all their rights to land, cattle, ;
25;::: ;-:lngI:l;:m society reestablished 1tself in the aftermath of the war is
the subject of the following chapter.

#2 NNAW, BWI 440.SAW In the case of Windhoek the registers were retained into the period
after South Africa’s occupation of Namibia in 1915,
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1905-14

Introduction

By early 1905, Germany had won the Herero—German war. Herero society, as
it had existed prior to 1904, had been destroyed. The Herero were left
propertyless, landless and leaderless, and legislation was passed to ensure the
eternity of this condition.! However, it was within the confines of this legislation
that Herero society was able to reestablish itself, albeit in a different form, but
independent of Germany. That is, Herero were able to maintain, reestablish,
transform and recreate their own identity as Herero. The following chapter looks
at the way in which, following Hamakari — and contrary to the hopes and
aspirations of German colonial officials who had assigned the Herero to oblivion
— Herero ensured thart their identity as Herero came to be maintained.?

The chapter is divided into sections detailing social developments amongst
the Herero people between 1905 and 1914. The first three sections detail the

! For the development of German legislation regarding the dispossession of all Herero property
see BAP, RKA 1220, Einzieh won | Eingeb, im Stidewestafrikamschen Schutzgebiet,
9 Mai 1905-6 Februar 1914. Von Lindequist in Windhoek, 17/7/05, to colonial office. In this
letter von Lindequist echoed von Trotha's suggestion that Herero prisoners be indelibly marked,
by noting that henceforth, ‘“The nauve will receive as legittmation a tin counter embossed with a
number, magisterial district and the Kaisers crown.’ Letter from the Reichs-Justizamt in Berlin,
31/10/05, to the colonial office & for a printed version of the legislation, which was passed into
law on 26/12/05, see Deutsches Kolonialblare, 1/1106, pp. 1-3.

For copies of the legislation regarding the control of Herero see, NNAW, ZBU, 2023 Werwaltung
der Emgeborenen angelegenheten, W1I a 4 - a 10. For published texts, see Werordnung des Gi
von Deutsch-Suudwestafrika, bete, Dhenst- und Arb dge mit Eingeb des sudu frik F
Schurzgebrets, Verordnung des Gouvernenrs von Deutsch-Sudwestafrika, betr. Mafiregein sur Kontrolle
der Eingeborenen, & Verordnung des Gouverneurs von Deutsch-Sudwestafrika, betr, die Pafipflicht der
Emgeborenen, all of 18/8/07, DKRB, 15/12/07, pp. 1179-84. For a detailed discussion of this
legislation, see Bley, South West Africa, pp. 170-17, and for African responses to this legslation
see, P. Prein, ‘Guns and Top Hats: African resistance i German South West Africa, 1907-1915"
in Fournal of Southern African Studies, Vol. 20, No. 1, 1994, pp. 99-121,
#In 1911 a colonial official in German South West Africa initiated a file on the Herero, which he
captioned with the words, aufgel: Eingeb ,“dissolved Nanve Tribes’, NNAW, ZBU
2027.
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Collecuon and
concentration camps

Map 6.1: The misstonary collection camps for Herero war refugees at Omburo and
Otjihaenena, 1905

survival of the Herero in POW camps, and their conversion to Chr:snznﬁi.;
the inclusion of Herero into the German army and its structurcsﬁ aliz i
existence of Herero in communities beyond direct colonial comrol,f Iobown iE
the abolition of the POW camps, there was an extreme shortage of b;l‘ lf:urcm
the territory, which facilitated the m&lwememlof_ngern and the rc:_ests ;s;e:: +
of Herero society mediated by mission Chpsrlanuy. The extensive F(';h : inny
which a Herero catechumen was initiated into becoming a Her:m [l:lS[s ui‘
and thereby a member of a community which existed i_:e:yond t. e CO;[]I ‘ﬁehad
German colonial control, came to replace t?xe exTensive pm:;ss w] ‘u:_[_mw
existed in the period prior to the war, by which a ngero you dv_vas ::;nn o
into becoming a Herero adult. The chapter closes with a short. _vam:l on 2
relations between ‘initiated’ Herero Christian adults and uninitiate

youth.

Camps

jori he Herero in GEWA were
he end of the Herero-German war a majority of t ! : .
::c:;ft::ed Christians and lived in POW camps. The following section examines

-
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| the link thar existed between Herero incarceration in POW camps, and Herero
' conversion to Christianity.
In late 1905, an esumated 8800 Herero were confined 1n military prison
_camps and put to work as forced labourers on various military and civilian
projects scattered across German South West Africa.’ Upon assuming office
| in late 1905, the new civilian governor of the territory, Friedrich von Lindequist,
issued a proclamation to the Herero still hiding in the field. In it he urged the
Herero to give themselves up, either to the military or at two collection points,
Omburo and Otjihaenena, which were run solely by the Rhenish Missionary
Society.! By 1908, when the camps were eventually abolished, a further
estimated 15,000 Herero had been collected with the aid of the Rhenish
Missionary Society.* The Herero POW's were put to work, as forced labourers,
on various civilian and military projects. After an initial ban, the missionaries
were also permitted to minister in the camps run by the military. In a period
of great misery this was a fortuitous development; indeed had it not been for
the activities of the missionaries it is likely that even more Herero prisoners
would have died.

Missionary sources provide us with direct first-hand eye-witness accounts
of conditions in the camps. In Karibib missionary Elger wrote:

And then the scattered Herero returned from the Sandfeld. Everywhere they popped
up — not n their oniginal areas - 0 submut themselves as prisoners. What did the
wretched people look like?! Some of them had been starved to skeletons with hollow
eyes, powerless and hopeless, afflicted by serious diseases, particularly with dysentery.
In the settlements they were placed in big kraals, and there they lay, without blankets
and some without clothing, in the tropical ran on the marshlike ground. Here death
reaped a harvest! Those who had some semblance of energy naturally had to work

Photo 6.1: Herero children, caprured after fightin, BIAT U, CORSIT, 1, Ti
s Sigh at O k:
4 g 1 tructing a kraal
Source Namibian Nauonal Archives, Windhoek

It was a terrible misery with the people; they died 1n droves. Once 24 came
together, some of them carried. In the next hour one died, 1n the evenung the second,
\n the first week a total of ten - all to dysentery - the people had lost all their energy
and all their will to hve . ..

Hardly cheering cases were those where people were handed in to be healed from
the effects of extreme mistreatment [schwerer Misshandlungen]: there were bad cases
amongst these.®

In Windhoek missionary Meier described the arrival of Herero from the field:

In the beginmng of 1905 the first arrived . . . back from the Sandfeld . . . Ther
condiuon mocked all manner of descripuion. Dressed in rags or totally naked, starved
to the bone, 1n the coming period one often saw them arrving in contingents of
150-200. Unfortunately many whose hives had been spared in the war later died of
exhaustion and lack of proper care in the prisoner camp. Finally the mission could

* BRMG, 1906, p 10.

4 Do von Weber, Geschichte des Schutzgebetes Deutsch-Sudwest-Afrika, p. 171 These two collecuon
points were later increased to four.

s ELCIN, V. 33 Chroniken, Usakos 1907, For a detiled discussion on the number of Herero
survivors and POWs, sec Nuhn, Sturm, pp 314-15.

SELCIN,V 12, Missions Chronicken, Kanibib 1906, wnitten by missionary Elger. See also BRMG
1906, pp 11-12 That this mustreatment of Herero was not merely icidental but structural 15
indicated by a circular letter from mubitary headgquarters in Windhoek to the German officer
commanding Karibib in late 1906. The letter noted °. . due to the mushandling of Herero
prisoners, who act as carmers, i is adwisable to recruit Ovambo labour as carriers’. NNAW, STR
19 1. und 4. Kompagnie Kartbb, Letter Windhuk 16/11/06.

Photo 6.2: Here: . .
i rero prisoner of war camp in Windhoek; in the background the German
Source: Namibian National Archives, Windhoek
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no longer merely look on —
29 y on certain days often 10 or more corpses were carried

Conditions in the camp did little to 1
| © improve the lot of the Herero. Meier
described the condition of Herero who came to the sick bay run by the mission,

and his words provi indicati : .
— s provide some indication as to what happpened in the Windhoek

H}(:w oflclg these poorest, those who deserved pity, came staggering! Many of them
:’ o could no longer move, were I:!rought on stretchers, most of them uncoucious,
f:c\ivngrclz those :hp c;uld still think, were glad that the hard supervision of m;
echngless guards in the Kraal and their Shambok [rawh: 1

time being been left behind.* PA Sl el s e A e

During the pgriod of time that the camps existed, there was a movement of
mass conversion amongst the Herero. Missionary Meier, who in May 1905
ministered to approximately 500 prisoners in Windhoek, noted, ‘Never again
befor,c or !.helreafta_:r, have I had such attentive audiences, as 3p=ci,ﬁcally in l.‘hcu:cI
days.® Missionaries reported consistently high attendances and a hunger on
the part of the Herero for Christian religious instruction. Those Herergo with
some form of re_llgious training established themselves as Christian ministers
During the evenings or during work-breaks, Herero evangelists and missionaric;
preached to the prisoners. Herero sought out missionaries.'® On the part of
the Herero, there was a struggle for missionaries. At the same time, on the
part of the Catholic and Lutheran missionaries, a struggle for Here:‘o souls
developed. In r.heilr eagerness to guide converts to the true faith, the missionaries
of the two denominations engaged in a long-drawn-out struggle for a monopol
cwlcrlihe s_uuis of the Herero. Eventually, following discussions between ﬂ‘li
;mssmnanes and the military authorities, a decision was reached whereby
\;ilrirero PIDWS were 10 ‘pe divided equally between the two denominations.
ere this was_not_possnbl:, the Herero prisoners were to be ministered to b
the two denominations on alternate Sundays.'! Y

On Monday I was in Windhoek, to whence Brother Meier had called me, in

TELCIN, V. 37, i i55i
o ’ Chronicken, Windhoek 1905, written by missionary Meer. JBG’s translation.
* Ibid.
1 On high attendances, see ELCIN, V.31, Chroniken Swak
o LCIN, V31, opmund, 1905, p. 8
On Herero preachers, see N 'A\U.; b : "p . i
P oo ey ers, see NN , foto 417. VEMA, repro SW 5226-7, "Andreas Kukuri halt
BRMG 1906, pp. 68-9, reported on the Herero eva i
) . 68 3 ngelists working amongst H
wurhkmlg_on the Oan railway-line: _Samuzl Kutako, who was given 25 lashes by Elu- mt;]r:{:ﬂ;;‘:::;
;u: hnnn:s in \-{huch he was working, had B7 in catechism classes and 103 children in school:
c:icld?:: iHa:;::(;lwr?se v\lulfe ipd mother died in the camps, had 34 in catechism classes and '."Cll
LE i Julius who was a vol y list but recogni issi
1 ) ] ! I:d gnized by th 5 s
had 60 in catechism classes and 24 children in school. All three evangelists were sj:ﬂf;iml :;::'n
;:::ivly whhen they were visited by missi y Kuhl in 1906. Kuhl bought sdurional
for them and their flocks, p. 90. ;

Leyebishana :ullcc(ior:!pm'o:t_ p. 90. Former school teacher Gustav Kamatoto, preached at the

On Herero secking missionaries see BRMG, 1906 i

; | : A . p. 72. Herero POW's working on the Otay
railway-line flocked out 1o meet Rhenish mission inspector Spiecker once they hgnd for =nd ot
:h}\ he was associated with the mission. O
it For conflict see ELCIN, I 1.22 Konferenz Protokoll Ka ngue

Fare CIN, I 1. d ribib | 5-17 Januar 1906 & Otfrmbi
15-26 Sept 1906. During the 5 ber sitting the fi even carried its s(rusg{::m'llnlynnd

the borders of GSWA; when referrin Jgami issi
£ g to the Herero around lake Ngami the mi
that all should be done to prevent them “from falling into the hangs of the R;:::::’ms ssssed
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connection with the military command’s intennon o distribute the captured Herero
to the Catholic and our Mission. The division is to be as follows, 5 rows of huts in
the prisoner Kraal are to be allocated to us and 5 rows to the Romans . . . The
missionaries are requested not to enter the territory of the different denominanon.'?

- But why did the Herero become Christians?'? To argue that the Herero became
Christians solely for personal cynical secular gain would not do justice either

. tothe historical evidence or to the validity of the personal professions of faith

expressed by Herero converts at the time. The Herero became Christians fora
variety of reasons, which ranged from identity and solace to organization,

. protection and information. Indeed, during the course of time it came to be

the case that to be Herero it was necessary 10 be Christian, The two became
SYynonymous. Christianity provided the Herero with organization, protection,
meaning - in what appeared tobe a meaningless world — and allowed them to
reestablish a society.

Missionary Meier, who ministered to the POWs in Windhoek, described in
detail the case of a dying Herero woman prisoner. She told Meier how in a
dream, laden with Christian symbolism, she had seen two spotlessly clean men
who had come to her and asked her when she wanted to come to heaven. The
dying woman had told the two men that they would have to wait a bit, as she
wanted to take her child, of about one, with her into heaven. ‘As she told me
about her drgam, [ saw how her sunken face glowed with inner joy. “Muhonge,”
she called after me as [ left, “please pray for me, 50 that I too may enter.”’
Meier noted that shortly afterwards her daughter died and ‘her wish was
granted’ when she too died.'

In the camps Herero leaders and men of fighting age, allegedly involved in
complicity in the war, were systematically sought out, tried in “‘court martials’
and executed, usually by hanging. 15 [n some cases the missionaries were allowed
to minister to some of these unfortunates. Missionary Meier, who was deeply

For copy of text of arrangement berween RCs, RM and the military, for access 10 Prisoners,
see ELCINVII 31.1. Swakopmund, 15/12/05.

For interdenominational struggles conunuing ot stanons long after the war se¢ particularly
ELCIN,V. 8, Chroniken Gobabis, and as yet ELCIN uncatalogued folder entitled Jahresherichie
o M. Pardey Grootfontein 1908-1924, parucularly the conference report for Grootfontemn of
2609410,

For conflict with denominations other than the Catholics see ELCIN, I 1.29 Beilagen wrid
Protokolle 1913-1922, which contains information on the London Missionary Society working
among Herero refugees at Tsau in Becl land
12 ELCIN, VII 31 k d 1, Eich in Okahandj 22/11/05, to Vedder.

14 For further discussions on why Herero became Chnstians following the war, sec BRMG, 1910,
p. 243; Oswin Kohler, “The stage of acculturation in South West Afnica’,in Sociologus, 1956, Vol.
6, No. 2. pp. 138-53 & ELCIN manuscnpt by Theo Sundermeier, Die Oruuane und thre
Spaltungen, particularly p. 2, “Doch nicht die miederlage und die hohe Verlusiquote, sondern die
Eingeborenenverardnungen von 1906 und 1907 waren &5, die das H Ik, seine Sozi: frnung

und rehg Bind dgults, hi Die totale Land, i das Verbat, G h zu
halten und die zwangswese Verteilung der Familien auf die Farmen der weusen kolonatherren machten
die Herero orientierungslos. Thre Stammesgefuge serbrach, und traditionelle, auf der Rin ferhaltung
basierende Religi ubumg wrurde verhindert, Ohne Landb und ghne Rinder waren sie valer und

ah‘nm{us.’ -
14 ELCIN, V. 37, Chroniken Windhoek, 1905. .
1% §ec Leonhard Schultze, Zoolog he und anth 1 he Ergeb emer I g im

westlichen und zentralen Sudwestafrika (Jena 1009}, which contains anatomical information on
Herero and Nama gained from post-mortems conducted on POWSs. In one instance, where the
heads of 18 POWs were dissected for a study on brain size and form by an Trahan pathologist, the
cause of death for 14 of the 18 was given as death by hanging.
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affected by the incident, described at great length the final days of Zacharias

Kukuri, the former Omuhona of Otjosazu. On the basis of a fellow prisoner's

testimony, Kukuri was sentenced to d
¢ eath. In the days leading up to hi
. (]
::ef:;cll.l—:;ogn%rlo(;kun‘slIarmslnverre bound behind his back, even thuighphe \\tr.alz
smallpox. rom the disease and mal i
; : treatment, Kuku
transported to his execution on the by i a sl
0 1 ] ack of an ox cart. Meier, who a i
Kukuri to his execution, described the events as follows: ’ R

... 1 did not see the slightest trace of fi im, i .
] ear on him, instead it was as if he i
to a wedding. “Muhonge’, he said at one stage, ‘oami otja Elias makamawkir:ag:;uji 1

otjinga me keende kej Yie, i
paslsinde nde kejuru metemba,’ i.e. “Muhonge, like Elias, I too travel to heaven in
Having arrived at the execution site, I noti
a ! ite, noticed how he kept looking at th
:En\.:}:;c:tgir}clﬁz::;nst \-:ea{st;lll takmﬁ; place. I feared for his tranqlﬁ]hry :ng‘;l;::es:
at i, ‘Muhonge,’ i o
notv!r(;\uk at it? For is it not “my“j;odf ?:':3 :l:‘:o':sc];'[ L
en we finally stood underneath the :
T gallows, we prayed together that beauti
:E'.],ﬁl usﬂh‘:ﬁ;\::; ‘Tar:hslni anrd Ics;ldcnﬂe.’ Possibly he noticcg that I \:as wz:)l:?il:ﬁ
-An n I was finished he said, ‘It would appear th i
that I am afraid, but have 1 not told e i sy s
1 5 ' you: “When a father calls his child
child then fear to go to him?”, Give my wife, who i e o
tell her that I have died in l.h; faith 013" th b g e ey sk
e lord Jesus, so too tell hal i
should ever see them.’ I asked him agai i ; 1 i Ay i
. gain to be infaruated with the lord .
Jesus, you help me,’ with this, after he had gi i ety
B , given me his hand, h
::.d?:r. Saa; the noose was laid around his neck. And then - neve:\:il;ln;t:‘:fg:flth}:et
molh:nglr;;n:uﬂ:::x[of happened, as Ifu' fell the noose slipped and the wretch fell
5 ost consc OF a T 50 too, the ol ;
ﬁ:}enxlslrrlsi:: [a}ifgemnszmurzung bemachtigte]. Today I still see how ht::::esr:ut;;
ut. n however 2 soldiers were there, they lifted him up, and th i
the side, on orders of the major who led the proceedings, he Er’asl:hm.f? alisete

;oe;a;ier::;r::c;:;:g};crero in Fh_e ca]mps, the missionaries, and the faith that
> 3 t true spiritual solace, and a way in which i
r : a seemingly
renmtclhgeblc world cquld be understood. Mission chronicles and missionagr;
be;;g:;sl;ﬁrscdit:}::%mm reports on Herero converting to Christianity shortly
y execution or otherwise. These c i i
and they brought a manner of I o g sl i
solace and peace of mind to a |

those killed. That is, people b i e S

: ecame true believers a
standing and meaning to their lives. b ae bt deae
prf\’c;:i :rc\lo:ehli-::;::: :vho wedte not ;xccuted, the Chrisnan faith and its texts
’ al precedent which allowed them to con’ i 1

L e i textualize their
;Tf‘t}n;::r::zl;:nmd ;:en;:lmonl, The Bible, and particularly the Old Testament,

L ple of previous events, informed one on how i

e : us ev to act in these
;::l::;mfn_sgha?’d promised the inevitable absolution of those who persevered
nsns ;lm .17 Inspired I?y the_ Qld"i:'estam:nl, Herero elders in Swakopmund
ol :;;: altoi :;:e ??;ngl;dn?sswn inspector Dr Spiecker, in which they asked
of the estament into Herero. The reas
: ) : . ons they gave

substantiate their request, referred directly to their own imprisunmgngr e

1 ELCIN, V. 37, Chroni i i
e 0('.05.;'“, , Chroniken Windhoek, 1905. The execution of Zacharias Kukuri, the Omuhona
7 ELCIN, VII 31 k d 1, Eich in Okat J

5 dia 1 i ; ;
that there has been an appeal for t'aooks by the Herero Pi;;."?: T P LTSN It

Our dear great teacher! We, who belong to your community, have the need that you
allow the words of the Old Testament to be written in our language by the miss10nares
who are in our country, so that the words begin with the first books of Moses through
to those of the prophets and those of the Kings and to all those other books which
until now have not been written in our language. All of the stories of the Old
Testament teach us how we should act, about all the conditions that existed during
the period of the first heathenism, the enemies and the imprisonmcms,Them[or: it
is essential that they be translated. Our greeting! Enough.'®

But it was not only the Old Testament, it was also the teachings of Jesus Christ

' thar brought faith and subsequent understanding. Shortly before his death,

Leibhard Kutuziremumue of Omaruru wrote a letter to Asser Mutjinde, a
church elder, formerly also of Omaruru. In the war Asser Mutjinde had fled to
Nababes, and the copper mines of the northern Cape. Here he ministered to
a group of fellow Herero exiles. Leibhard Kutuziremumue referred to his
friend’s letter and wrote:

1 thank you heartily for rebuking me n your letter of 11th December and reminding
me that in his love Jesus Christ has punished me. You called me by my name and
asked: ‘Leibhard do you now love the Lord Jesus or not?' As | thought about your
question [ said 0 myself, ‘It is the Lord Jesus himself who 15 now aking me, as he
once asked his servant: Simon Peter, do you love me? 1 answer vou as follows: I
love him truly; for he loved me first. My dear friend there is absolutely nothing which
is more blissful, as this our promised land; therefore 1 say to you, that 1 truly love
him. Our m: 1es are very dilig and true n their plea for the Herero with

the beneficent Lord Jesus.'*

The Bible provided the Herero with people with whom they could identify. It
provided them with incidents that reminded them of their own predicament
and allowed them to persevere. The case of Samuel Kariko, a church elder and
evangelist of Omaruru, is a casc in point. Acting upon the reports of the
extremely harsh and deadly conditions in the POW camp in Lideritz, the
annual conference of the Rhenish mission decided to send Samuel Kariko to
Liideritz, to minister to the prisoners there. Missionary Vedder was ordered to
make sure that Samuel Kariko was sufficiently fed and warmly dressed, before
he was placed on one of the Woermann steamers that transported Herero POWs
from Swakopmund 1o Lideritz.? Drawing mental if not physical strength from
the New Testament, Kariko likened himself to Jesus’s apostles and wrote:

As a prisoner | travelled by sea to Luderitzbucht, to do the Lord’s work there, People
wanted to make me similar 1o Paul, it was a pity though, that 1, not like him, did not

was published in Quyjihercro only

n BRMG, 1906, p. 148, JBG’s 1 The Old
in 1987.

1w ELCIN, V. Chroniken Omaruru, 1906, Edited version of the letter1s also 1o be found in BRMG,
1906, p. 147. JBG's translation.
# ELCIN, I 1.22 Protokall der Konfe Rh. i im H lande Gehalten zu Otjumbingive
pom 15-26 Septbr 1906, In Lideritz the Herero POWs were put 10 work on the rmlway-line to
Aus. Up 1o 45 per cent of those transported to Ludernz died. Samuel Kariko, 100, did not last
long in Lideritz, and within six months he requested permission to return 10 Swakopmund along
with eight of his family members. In September of 1906 Herero evangelist Victor Matirapi,
formerly of Otjimbingwe, was dispatched to Liaderitz. VII 31 d1,EichinO dj
22/11/05 toVedder, refers to Kariko's request to leave Laderitz. Kariko was transferred 1o Usakos
where he was expected 10 take over the position of Gontlieb, who had defected to the Roman
Catholics. Eich in Okahandja, 8/12/05, o Vedder.
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have the spinit of holiness in my heart

Apart from providing spiritual sustenance the Rhenish mussion also provided
direct physical aid in the form of food, clothing and a modicum of health care
These very direct physical contributions to Herero well-being greatly improved
the standing of the missionaries and the acceprance of their teachings

Following reports of the dreadful conditions 1n the camps, particularly at the |

coast, the Rhenish mussion set about collecting and buying clothing, bedding
and food for the prisoners

I hear from returning Ovambo that the Herero are involved in quarry work and that
many of them are dying, that they only get rice as food and that they cannot endure
this Please appeal to the authorities concerned that the Herero get @ more mixed
diet including mulk at least unul they are somewhat fartened up [herausgefuttert]
Secondly tell the Herero they have to cook therr rice properly, thirdly get them pots
to cook in #

missionary publications 1n Germany called upon their supporters to supply
them with all forms of clothing #* In camps where the mussionaries were present
rudimentary health-care facilines were established The correspondence of
mussionary Henrich Vedder, who was stauoned in Swakopmund, provides us
with a clear insight into the mission’s direct physical contributions to the well-
being of the Herero POWs

The Herero community consists primarily of Herero prisoners who were sent
numerous transports from the interior to work at the coast For a period of ume the
need under them was very big Abourt 800 of them died during the course of the
vear The many preces of clothing, sent by friends of the mission 1n the motherland,
served to alleviate some of the need, furthermore large sums of money could be
paid out so that the exhausted and sick could be helped with sleeping blankets and
sufficient nutrinon Following requests by the station missionary [Vedder], a sick
bay and a provisional chapel were erected in the prisoner Kraal, in which often more
than a 1000 prisoners were to be found Fate’s effect was to be noticed in the *Word’
Nearly all the Herero prisoners have now reported for religious nstruchon The
Herero school is also bemng regularly and diligently artended by 124 pupils

During the course of 1906, Herero forced labourers began to be compensated
for their work However, those who were arbeitsunfahig were no longer given
any sustenance by the military, though food and clothing for these people
continued to be supplied by the mission 25

Herero prisoners were subjected to extreme forms of exploitation, abuse and
mustreatment To some extent the mission was able to provide the Herero
prisoners with protection from this abuse Through interceding with the military
commanders, some of the missionaries were able to ensure that Herero were

# ELCIN, V Chromken 1906 Omaruru, for an edited version of Samuel’s letter, see BRMG,
1906, p 147 JBG's translanon Samuel was referning to St Paul’s second letter to the Corinthians
16 23-33

# ELCIN, VII 31 Swakopmund 1, Dannert in Omaruru, 14/2/05, to Vedder

# BRMG, 1905, 1906, p 10 & 1907 ELCIN, VII 31 Swakopmund |, Spiecker in Barmen,
Germany, 11/3/05, to Vedder Mentions that he has placed advertisements for clothing in the
German papers

M ELCIN, VI 31 § Evangel Musion, Swakopmund Quartal und Jahresherichte Conferenz Berichie
Jahresabrechnungen 19061930, Swakopmund 15/1/06 Jahresbericht 1905 JBG's translation

# ELCIN,V Chroniken Omaruru, 1906
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Photo 6 3 Captured Herero women, i the background the German fort or Feste in

Windhoek
Source Namibian Nauonal Archives, Windhock

allowed off work on Sundays, that injured prisoners :iould be attcnde:i:l lg, and
that children were allowed time off to attend classes * However, partly due:lz
their own convictions, the missionaries were unable to prevent women u:mfns
from being subjected to sexually degrading compulsory ml:crnsfl examli il
German troops raped Herero women and regularly made use of sexua o
offered When informed of these activities, missionary authorities, unwnaLIE
to understand the extent of Herero oppression, suffering and nbuts:e, wcr:lgmon
to comprehend that people, 1n a vain attempt at allenaung their fl:(;‘:“cﬂ oE
could be forced into prosuitution Instead, they drafted hypocriuica E
condemnauon

1 was appalled by what you reported on the disgusung activities OE (:: ]—Le‘;relrco
women Of course one cannot really expect anything different fmn;\ t ct 1Ifc dpeep
Even if they have become Christians, we cannot allow ourselves to ﬁrger the deep
ymmoral dirt out of which they have come, and again and agngn w1:_ 1D[];I,-erderb\hc.’!e
patience we must attempt to show them tl-!e disgusting and shamefu
und schandhche) aspects of their actviies @

# ELCIN,VII 31 5, Evangel Mussion, 53 e *Quarmium.i} ' ‘J .Jm’l ;’,S::jenn: Bem:h;j
FJahresabrechnungen 1906— 1930, Jahresbericht der Stanon p fur P
-+ K bestehende F de {1t and nd unter dem
e zahireiche, aus epigefang ! T i -y s
] ft sat sich bringt Da die Gefangenen i
“m'“"f: o Mm:.::‘ff‘?t' R ji: a(:f:ngw:schaf M;nberam -mimn, musste der Gaussd:ch
Py # 1
:‘:‘5::“2’:1 der Muntagspause von 1-2 Uhr verlegt werden T:r?l: d;cL.ier ;‘;;M?nfr:::ﬁ::‘J";:?E:J,Ru{;
h Aus der Zahl der Taufb ber konnten mn I gelat) £
g:sf:f‘::}::grdu ;a!ms von mehr als hundert Kindern besucht wurde, konnite lerder in r{:u Ie;..rm uuche:l
des }a&r:.l micht mehr gehalten worden, da die Kmnder von der Kom mandanteur sur Arbent herangezoge

Germany,

:”’“SKEIN. VII 31 Swakopmund 1 Rhemsh mission inspector Sprecker in Barmen,
26/4/05, to Vedder JBG's translanon
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ineeded. These transferred initiates would often accost missiona;iels i?;

angelists working in the camp to which they had been T.;sn:i;rred_, g;l_a;: =
i 1 i le to keep track of these imiu 3

: tain degree of education. Being unab ke ! !

“ﬁ:;y the vaﬁdiw of their claims, the Rhenish mission society had special passes

Sexually transmitted diseases such as gonorrhoea and syphilis were rampant" ]
amongst German troops.?® In early 1906, in an effort to curtail the spread of

these diseases, the German military camp authorities began to force Herero 4
women and girls to undergo internal examinations.* Though there was a storm

of protest, this form of abuse was still common long after the camps had been

abolished.* Missionary Elger noted in 1911:

For many months periodical real disease ex

excluded), on the grounds of Police orders, the genitals and the activities [ Wandels)

of all natives are subjected to an investigation by a medical doctor in such a manner

that the feelings of decency [Schamgefuhl] of the people are most deeply hurt . ..

However, the Wachimeister told me: ‘T have no guilt, I only do what I have been ordered
to do.*¥

To what extent the missionaries reduced this abuse is debatable. However it
seems probable that their mere presence served to limit abuse; if not by their
mere presence then at least by their position as representatives of an institution
that was able to influence public opinion in Germany.*?

Apart from providing some measure of protection, the mission provided
Herero prisoners with an identity that was outside and beyond the immediate
control of their captors, and which endured beyond the camps. In a sitwation
were the German military actively sought to destroy traditional kin and clan
networks and ties, the identity and the affiliation provided by the mission came
to replace those networks which were no longer permitted to exist.*® Once one
became a catechumen, one’s identity came to be fixed in a realm which was
independent of the German military. Herero became registered in baptismal
records held by the mission; records which could be drawn upon ar any time
to confirm one’s status and, most importantly, one’s identity.® A frequent
complaint of the mi ies was that those they were teaching were often
removed and transferred to other camps depending on where labour was

 Sanitatsbericht uber die dewtsche Truppe in Sudwestafrrka 1907/1909,Vol. | (Berlin 1909) p. 2 and
p. 161,

* ELCIN, V. Chroniken, Karibib 1908, Missionary Elger complained, but could not prevent the
examinations from taking place. See also Bley, South West Africa, pp. 212-19, for a short discussion
on p ituri pulsory ion and German colonial race laws.

" BRMG, 1913, p. 100. Herero women into prostitution drawn in by white men,

" ELCIN, V. Chroniken Karibib, 1911,
*2 In this regard sec particularly, ELCIN,VII 31 Swal d 1, Abschrift B hung der betden
Inspekioren Hausleiter & Spiecker im Kolonialamt zu Berlin am 18 Sept. 1905, Refers to a meeting
held in Berlin between the missionary inspectors, kolomaldirektor dr. Stubel, Gouverneur von
Landequist, Geheimrar dr Golinelli and Oberrichter Richter. The meeting dealt specifically with
the numerous deaths of prisoners in POW camps,

! Gunther Wagner, ‘Aspects of conservatism and adaption in the economie life of the Herero', in
Sociologus, 1952, Vol. 2, No. 1, pp. 1-25. P, 4 *, , . life histories collected by the present writer
from a number of elderly Herero indicate that for many years after the war the majonty of tribesmen
were not able to maintain regular and close contacts with their kindred. It may therefore be
assumed that the complex system of nights and duties which under traditional conditions had
hinked the individuals to both his patnilineal and matrilinel kin . . . was more or less completely
suspended.”

M A case in point 1s thar of Hulda Kahunda, who in 1914 was able to trace her antecedents and
prove her virtue, through the letters and records kept by the Rhenish mission and the missionaries,
Pardey and Bernsmann. ELCIN, as yet uncatalogued files entitled, Grootfomtem/Akien Parday

Urkunden Tauf . abmelde - Zengnisse 1908-1940/48, F, Bernsmann in Otjimbingwe, 8/6/14, to
Pardey.

. ions of the whole native |
population have been taking place. Without regard to the person’s age (small children

Einrinted which were issued to Herero Christians and those undergoing religious

nstruction in the camps. If and when the need arose, these cards could be

o f
. used to identify the newly transferred bearer as a Christian initiate in need o
missionary attention.**

Registration as a Christian and the accoutrements attached to this status

¥ allowed one to tap into Christian networks els_ew:here."‘ On the ba.:l:s ;ii $::—
" identity as Christians, Hereros could ask the missionaries to intercede

behalf. Strictly speaking families in the camps could not be split up and sie:lc:
to different camps. This did, however, occur. Herero who were marr

i isti i he missionary to intercede on their
j ording to Christian rites could ask the n
s :Smlf, angd, given that their bond was a Christian one, they had a greater chance

i 17
issi T case.
that the missionary would support ﬂ“'. ) ) ) o
Apart from solace, understanding, aid, protection arlu:I identity, ass.::;l(:é:c[:'-
with the mission also supplied the Hﬂ:riro wn:hl a very ;r:gt;:ﬁg{e«l:i‘::: Hererc:
i i 1ati i e missionaries y
that of information. By associating wil e R g A
i to know what had happened to their kin, wha :
g S e thei e. Missionaries and
ike 1 eir prospects were.
were like in other camps, and what Wt sionawk ans
i mitted, to read and write.’® As such they
evangelists could, and were per| 5 . i Kt
i intai on behalf of prisoners.
and did maintain correspondence 0 hal : r
correspondence of the time is littered with missionaries asking nn: a\l:loth:]x;;:
to the whereabouts of various Herero. Furthermore IIHSSIOD&;IT; :.;1 c:r:irelg e
1 he territory; as suc i
could move relatively freely through t gl
i 1 fficial and a personal nature across .
spread information of both an o ! Srbemiignig
i mbark on ships to the
Herero prisoners of war refused to e : : el
Lﬁderitfbc:ause, due to the reports supplied by the mission, they Wf::x:n:cs
of the cxtreme conditions prevalent there.* Indeed in st:hme lcl’e i
missionaries were prohibited from telling Herero POWs where they wi

sent to.*?

i i from here [Okahandja) to
rrow, another load of prisoners _wnlt leave ; kaha
.l;fei:y[é);;momun&] .They are to be sent for railway construction to Ludctlﬂl::t:;1:
}would gladly have spoken to the people before [they leave], however they a

ELCIN, V. iken Omaruru, 1906. : i . .
:: Chrisll.i:,n\HErt::)“:\lha had fled n; Botswana and South Africa almo;t _nmn;id;‘::::};::?‘ifc:si;:c
i ish th Ives in their n y
d form of or to establish them: in thei " ociet
gig&c,t;ﬁr.?a??m n; Brigfe 1905 (von Mussionaren), E_r:lash and Forcign Bible Society in Cape
, 1o Olpp asking for a Herero language bible. e
Ia;‘;\:‘féfﬁifggamp_?;p“cpmg extensive Christian marriages on the part of (ll:_c P'l;rc:::.:gm;s
Clearly a ;\cw r<;rm of authority was introduced in a si':ua_tmn where I-Eercrn ];‘fsis:ucs ucoue
i | d, thereby ihilating the r i
;Ir‘ldd:wmel:ltlih:fur:—z:usin marriages and so forth. In effect the elders h?ﬁ:%‘;r“;;f ::I:‘:El;hcir
* Somclhm‘g that the common Herero could not be seen to be doing :K_c e
lives. In this regard sec W, Hillebrecht, “Habe keinerlei Paprere in demer Kiste .. .
1992). o . vay
f‘é‘l’:g;{: 1&1‘([:“:::::;“" 1906 Omaruruy, see the reports of Samuel Kariko 1:n1,.m::;1;:m ;1"
Kol.Blaut ,lqnﬁ, p. 402, for report on Herero refusing to travel to the coast
conditions there, See also BRMG 1906, p. 165.
«© BRMG, 19086, p. 165.
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to know where they are by
ein
can do it.+ g sent fo, that 1s why | am not allowed to.

Herero beca isti I

o mnveﬂg;ctgh(f;_.st}ags not solely l:or cynical personal secular gain. Rather

el i -hristianity for a wide variety of reasons which, in essence, |
identity as people seeking to reestablish a sense of society. B; b

Loy e
primT::rrasg :é}:l:?t;,aens, or at the very least by associating with them, Herero
g gin to rehun]ld a society. For apart from the be;u‘ﬁts of
pmats I',f »protection and identity, Christianity, and the predominantl
ifestyle attached to this faith, provided a blue-print with \:I:::':

Herero priso 1 i
prisoners could begin to rebuild a society, In a situation where all forms

of traditional social
governance and organizati
o social n ganization had been bankr
¢ ;i:;{;};(e#f ﬁ?::f;::;;yo;;rrm:d_eig anew form of social organization that :g;:gr:dr
ork. ebuilding, and the benefits of Christi iati
continued after the camps were finally abolished in IDOé PRSI,

Army

In 1908 Governor von Lindequist noted wi ;

wers Biei StI th obvious pleasure th
W“Eb"-::‘ngg‘;?leld gehum Herero still in the field, and [hat.fhough Hcra:tni-f i:ﬁl:t:z
Herero P dWs.,Thei?:ezli:: \»;::nb:::ge;pgrcdl.l‘l ".l(:he men referred to were

ersua. s ¥y the Germans and s
persuade Herero remaining i the feld o come into the colcction points or
With these and mhe"}?’ to the German military. The following section deals
lice sud colons r Herero who served and fought in the German mili
e rf:"mCO ?nlal forces m.thc aftermath of the Herero-German warl itary,

with the Gc:;:;r:adilli? > {"mdeq"'s‘ were not the first Herero to cooperate
Hérévo had béen invc :g a:gc:;; Elv:t;; ::r\:ci:hrl:; a?i.val of the Schutztruppe,
the - e German mili . Pri
and“;:ea;hil::o?\{c-‘:jamu_el_Maharero’s sons had fought alongside Gi::::af ::':\;“:
e et 1n_]rrsl|rét patrols with them." From 1892 onwards Hcre}r)o
itits Berrors & witl Ka_mnel Maharero were involved in joint ca;-npaigns
a later Herero wa ;my‘ ha]ata’ one of Samuel Maharero’s eastern chiefs and
i ceremnnialr azmgI i:ld even been decorated for bravery and presented
campaign.** The ex:wur “_{ the Germans, following the 1896 Ovambanderu
that, in ea.rly 1904, rnn:l?e d:;:;;l;\;(::;r;;nl i‘n o (icrman Al GBIy fuch
Herero ) 2 L prior to the Herero-Ge

& ﬁghlr:!?;é:i:jt:g;amrb“g region believed that they were to be c;rr;z:li;ig
involved in a war agm;::::}r:etggrﬁ:f: Ilr;i::rt: :hBondc!:waﬂ Namar, who were
i ; ? . ever inni :
Eclr}:a:f;;"!"’;Ut:'-‘smntlal numbers of Herero min e\g;:: l:g:f;;izr;??;:
soldiers, 13 wﬁ" ther as labourers, waggon drivers, herdsmen, batm

: en the Herero—German war broke out, a numbe,: of Hirr]e:;

1 ELCIN, VII 31 Swako; d 2!
& Kol Blar 1006, 40:?_"‘““ I, Eich in Okahandja, 16/12/05, 10 Vedder.

:: Leutwemn, Elf Jakre, p. 03,
Leutwein, Elf Fah 3 3 Feli el irtsc 5
5 if Fahre, p. 103; Dr Felix Meyer, Wirts, haft und Recht der Herero (Berhn 190 h P
235

* Reports of Herero policemen i
t and soldi i i i
which mentions 40-50 Herero in srrw::r:;:tcléop:?ifz“nd ERCRLN T o

Perhaps you
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soldiers continued to serve in the German forces. One of these men was Sepp,
the bambuse, or batman, of Ludwig von Estorff. Sepp died during the battle
for Omaruru in 1904, Estorff, one of the most intriguing of the Schutztruppe
officers, had a tombstone erected in Sepp’s memory and inscribed with words

: that tellingly referred to the book of Revelation chapter 2 verse 10:

Do not be afraid of what you are about to suffer. I tell you, the devil will put some
of you in prison 1o test you, and you will suffer persecution for ten days. Be faithful,
even to the point of death, and T will give you the crown of life.*”

Until at least the mid-1980s, the German military graveyard at the Waterberg
contained a gravestone in remembrance of the Herero and Berg Damara
soldiers who had fought alongside the Germans in the battle at Hamakari and
the war as a whole. The gravestone bore the words Hier ruhen treue Kaffern-
soldaten der Kaisl. Schutztruppe.*®

After the war substantial numbers of orphans were taken into German
military service as bambusen. It was so common for German officers to have
bambusen that the Woerman line had special reduced transport prices for ‘Boys’
returning to Germany with their masters.* The German colonial adminis-
tration, anxious to maintain its labour resources, expressly legislated against
the export of these servants and labourers from the colony. Following the war,
extensive numbers of Herero orphans, who had becn bambusen in the army,
now became regular soldiers. However, they were not alone in being associared
with the army, women were also involved, as washerwomen and as prostitutes
and concubines. Missionaries were most worried about this. An official German
government report, published in 1912, noted that ‘there were 650 Africans
with regular jobs with the armed forces, and a further indefinite number lived
in the army locations, without being in registered employment, usually working
as servants’.’ It is safe to assume that the 650 referred to were men; it is also
safe to assume that these 650 men were accompanied by or associated with
650 women, and that they had at least 650 children berween them.*! In other

s Indeed, it could even be argued that one of the first shots of the Herero-German war was fired
by a Herero in German service, for the arrested Herero who was executed on the night prior to
the outbreak of the war in 1904 was shot by a Herero solder.

" The lated text on the b read as follows:

Faithful unto death. In this way 1 want to give you th
My dear fathful unto death servant the Herero Sepp,
Omaruru.
Von Estorff, Major.
“Taken from photograph following p. 163 of Ludwig von Estorfl, Wanderungen und Kampfe in
Sudwestafrika, Osiafrika und Sudafrika: 18941910, reprint by SWA scientific society (Windhoek
1979).
+ A photograph of the roug!

e crown of life. Revelations John 2. 10.
fell on 4 February 1904 in the battle for

h sandstone marker appears in the Windhoek Observer, 18/8/1979, p.

of the W p remain closed to historians, one 15 allowed free
house in Hamburg. Photographs illustrating the company's history have
of the building. On an autumn afternoon in 1993 Dag Henrichsen and

8.

“ Though the arch
access 1o the Woermann
been hung in the stairwell

1 visited the building and discovered a photograph of a price list for passcnger services between
Hamburg and the African conunent. A 'Boy' coul
accompamment of his master, for a charge that was
s Bley, South West Africa, p. 250.
1 It is only far to admit that un
themselves as being Herero, However given t
and mussionary reports of the nme 1t is safe to assume 1

1d be transferred from Africa to Europe, in the
less than that of a child.

fortunately we do not know how many of these Afnicans saw
he number of bambusen collected durnng the war
hat most of them were Herero.
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Phote 6.4: Herero m.
L women washing German soldiers’
-4 He L ters
Source: D Nauonal Archives, Windhoek sngoree

m?;f;zﬁeifom?:y wo ”;;msand Herero, or no less than 13 per cent of the
ulano 3 irec i i

ity P 10n at the nme, were directly associated with the German

By 1915, when Imperial Germ lamibi
) W an control of Namibia was replac
?j:;:ﬁ: \?iflr}lfa.ﬂt_lhe bambusen and their associates had spent zmi;?r::n:hz;
£ in the structures of the Schurztry By 1915
{3 Stes oA S RDING O ; ippe. By 1915 the bambusen, who
I rmy as juveniles, were all young men who had i
;r(;?l(;i:nd:ntlx from mainstream pass-carrying Christian Hereroasogietratf\d
%l l1.rs \ass_ocn:_ned with the German colonial government, and charged );vi ;
unrn;.:_rn.n‘;mg its laws, they had had power which extended way beyond th:ir
effecl:lval;: sE:tus as boy_s. In 1915, these young men and their following were
dcl’camz 3-'1\]rcc:K :i(ti;)f rhelrhpowerh;‘;uhcnrthe army that had supported them was
: s were they robbed of their power, but th
have been robbed of the stru s votae bl s mompan
‘ ctures whereby they had been abl i
society. However, in the aftermath of the Fi R e
> y ! irst World War, the H i
continued to use the institutional str Seuinir s
uct
themselves and to arrange their society. Moks afite Oetunaes Gy, 20, dAflns

Beyond the colonial ambit

Ti = i

afn-?yug:;:gdd?dt'hc Herero in the camps became Christians and those in the

ey Som _e::sc c 1I¢1:rs. It I?as been aajgucd that in both instances the structures
gies within their new environment were used to reestablish society.

* Nuhn, Swrm, p. 315. R
R oy P . Refers to official census of 1911 which has a total of 15,130 Herero
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the following section we will deal with those Herero who remained beyond
'the ambit of German control and remained in the field. These Herero either
became impovenished hunter-gatherers or tried to reestablish the structures
of the past.

Immediately following the outbreak of the war, various Herero leaders
attempted to maintamn their positions of power. This they did by raiding other
ss fortunate groups of people, or by subduing these groups by force and
exacting tribute from them. In some cases, the Herero elites who did this were
able to rely on the positions of power which they had occupied prior to the
war, that is, their positions of authority carried on into the new condition of
b war. Obviously their ability to exact tribute ensured that their power increased,
' Willy Maharero, Kahaka Seu and Friedrich Maharero were Herero elites who
maintained their positions by operating amongst Herero refugees in Botswana

\ and on the eastern fringes of the Omaheke, and exporung labour to the South

African mines.
Another area which formed a refuge for Herero beyond German control was
the Kaokoveld, in the north-west of the colony. Here incoming groups of

| Herero, fleeing the war in the centre of the colony, were able to subjugate the
" pastoralist and hunter-gatherer communities already hving there. A number

of the incoming Herero were well armed and soon established themselves as
the new elite, Building upon pre-war relanions that had existed between traders
operating in southern Angola and Herero traders operating out of Omaruru,
Herero related to the Omaruru elite were able to establish themselves as the
dominant force in the Kaokoveld.

In the late nineteenth century, Vita Tom, or Kaptein Oorlog (war) as he was
also known, had established himself as a war-lord in southern Angola.VitaTom
was the son of one of the daughters of a sister of Manasse Tjisiseta, the most
powerful chief of Omaruru, and was brought up by one of Manasse’s SISters;
therefore he was extremely closely related to the Omaruru elite. With the
outbreak of the Herero-German war, Vita Tom was joined in southern Angola
by large numbers of refugees from Omaruru. During the early 19005 VitaTom
and his forces regularly fought alongside Portuguese and Angolan Boer forces
in battles against the Ovambo kingdoms. During these expeditions large
numbers of Herero who had fled to the Ovambo kingdoms were captured and
absorbed into the following of Vita Tom, Amongst the berter-known Herero
who became followers of Vita Tom in this way were Salatiel Kambazembi,
formerly of Waterberg, and Thomas Mutate, formerly of Omaruru.?

Prior to the Herero—German war, two men living in the Kaokoveld, Muhona
Katiti (literally small chief) and Kasupi, led two communities consisting of
Himba pastoralists and Ovayimba hunter-gatherers. With the outbreak of the
war both men were joined by substantial numbers of Herero refugees. Kasupi,
who operated in the north-western sector of the Kaokoveld, was associated
with Vita Tom, and as such was well armed.* Between 1904 and 1915 relations
between Kasupi and Muhona Kartit deteriorated, as each chief attempted to
achieve a dominant position in the area. In 1913 Christian Herero refugees
associated with Kasupi and VitaTom, who had been living in southern Angola,

1 E.L.P. Stals and A. Oro-Remner, Oorlog en Vrede aan die Kunene; Die verhaal van Kaptemn Vita
Tom 1863-1937 (Windhoek 1990) p. 31.
1 ELCIN, report by Hennch Vedder on a trip to the Kaokoveld in 1914, p.6.
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were settled at a number of strategic waterholes in the Kaokoveld.* These
communities, which were visited by missionary Vedder in 191 4, were described
as consisting of people of Himba, Boer, Bushmen, Herero, Portuguese and
Nama descent. They were led by literate Herero refugees, formerly of Omaruru,
Okahandja and the Waterberg, who conducted church services and communi-
cated with one another in Dutch and Herero. Due to the conflict between
Muhona Katiti and Kasupi, most of the community’s fairly substantial cattle
herds were kept in southern Angola. Here a portion of these herds was used
for the purchase of arms and ammunition. Vedder reported that guns could be
bought from the Portuguese for six oxen and 100 rounds of ammunition for
one ox.* Kasupi, well supplied and well connected to the most powerful war-
lord in southern Angola, did not need the German colony, let alone any of its
representatives; it is therefore hardly surprising that he refused to meetVedder.

d he senta ger to Vedder, who let it be known that: ‘he [Kasupi]
was old, had a sick knee and could not come, furthermore he did not need the
Whites in his country’.5?

In 1909 Governor Schuckman noted in a letter to the German foreign office
that the Herero living in the field were fast on their way to becoming ‘Bushmen’.
In a sense, he was quite correct, given that it has been argued that the term
‘Bushmen’ was introduced in the southern African context to refer to
impoverished pastoralists who became bandits, ‘struikrovers’.5 In another sense
though, Schuckman was also correct in noting that the Herero were becoming
Bushmen, that is, they did become something similar to the stereotypical images
that exist of Bushmen as pristine hunter-gatherers in the Kalahari. The Herero
who had fled into the Omaheke sought to maintain their existence. This they
did by hunting and gathering, and/or raiding others. As Schuckman noted,
the Herero had been driven into the Omaheke and “They already live the lives
of Bushpeople, flee into the bush when they see whites, particularly patrols,
and if pursued would probably flee across the English border [into Bechuana-
land].”* It was a view echoed by an officer in charge of one of these patrols,
Lieutenant von Gersdorff, who wrote:

The Herero hiving in unb d freed consisting primarily of escaped prisoners
and labourers, live in the Sandfeld like the poor Ovatjimba did in the past. From a
pastoralist people they have become a hunting and gathering people, therefore, in
their development, they have taken a step backwards.®

Gersdorff described how these people lived in the Omaheke. Temporary shelters
were erected at an hour and a half’s walk from waterholes; this to avoid two
forms of predators, German patrols and lions, both of which preyed on game
and people drawn to the waterholes. In an effort to reduce dependence on the
waterholes, water-holding tubers were collected and reburied in the vicinity
of settlements. Shelters were built in stands of thick ‘wag 'n bietjie’ acacia,

* Ibid., pp. 10-11.

* Ibid., pp. 11-12,

" Ibid., p. 12, Unfortunately for Kasupi,in 1915 his benefactor, Vita Tom, decided to move into
the Kaokoveld directly, Muhona Katiti was destroyed, but so too was the power of Kasupi.

** This has been argued by R. Ross, in Ross, Vossen and Wilmsen (eds) Language, History and
Identity in Quellen zur Khoisanforschung, forthcoming (Cologne 1998), on the basis of Richard
Elphick, Khovkhor and the Founding of White South Africa (Johannesburg 1985) p. 227.

* BAP, RKA 21001, Governoer Schuckmann in Windhoek, /5/09, to foreign office Berlin.

* Kol. Blau. 1909, p. 892,

which were virtually impregnable for mounted horsemen. Apart from collecting

" peld foods, game was trapped and hunted with slings, spears, bows and arrows

with fire-hardened or metal heads. A picture thus cmergelslef a :.Iocmty that
shied away from all forms of contact wu;h the Germa:ll military. Howt:v:ﬁ',
given the extreme labour shortage at the time, the colonial government sauﬁ t
to induce these people to return to areas under Glcrmgn control so that they
could then be employed as labourers. With this in mind a ten-man Herero

© patrol, reminiscent of those sent out by the mission in the previous years, was

sent into the Sandfeld with the following printed message:

May 1909: [ the Kaiser's Governor, let it hereby be known, that it is my will, that
you now remain on the places upon which you are now smlcq, that you remain
living 1n peace and do not walk around in the bush like wild _amrngl_s. v :

That is why I tell you via my messengers: Philemon, Dawd,\!_":lhbnld, Gabriel,
Bartolomaus, Hugo, Isaac, Paulus, Hermann and Leonhard, that it is not n:ccssa[ry
for you to run away when my police patrols approach. It is however necessary for

ou to carry my number, _

! Therefore I will send police with the messengers who will hand out the numbers
to you. .

éll'l:le troops will leave you in peace as long as you remain pcaccfuily on your places,
upon which you are now settled, and those which will still be specifically allocated
to you. )

¥f you Herero remawn peacefully on those places which I will allocate to you, 1
will give you a couple of bockis [goats] again, so that you can get milk for your
children.**

The patrol returned with reports of approximately 500 Herero lwt;r!? in :}}::
vicinity of Epata, the last major waterhole along the Eiseb river IL tt:re
Bechuana border. A number of these people were rescttled as fam_1 lal qur;:s
and horticulturalists at the Waterberg.®® However, not all Herero living in the
shmen could be induced to return. o

ﬁci‘tat:lfg::l‘r;:cak of the Herero-German war i_n 1?94? two_Hcrcrg men, Iw_mg
in the Grootfontein district, Kandiapu and Kanjemi, :allnlcd in hostlnlmes_agamsr
the German military. In itself there was nothing surprising in the1rrtlie=:|smn tt;‘}
fight against the Germans. However, at the outlbreak of the war, b'ol:fl men w:rr
in the service of to the German military and pu_hce.“ As sucllm, possible 5ulrlren_ e
to the German military or to the missionanlcs, at the missionary c::h cc(}llo:
points, was out of the question. Instead, mlakn_)g use of the weapt;ns tl eg;l Z[
captured, they established a community in the Sandveld ouoea ea s
Grootfontein. The community, which consisted of approximately 2 S;aop 2
had a number of Werften at distances varying from twenty to 100 km to the e:;:t
of the Omuramba Omatako, in the Ogituuo region. From these bases in the

£l i . B92-4, . )

Al g).':j"l!p;_r\ 2101, Proclamanon Schuckmann to the Herero May IQOD.I_BG s lranslan_un.[

L BAP' RKA 2101, Governor Schuckmann in Windhoek, 30/10/09 to foreign office Berlin. clni:

furth:rl letter of 3/12/09 Schuckmann reported that a further 145 Herero had been registere

EABE i in. Refers to *Der fruhere
inWi ffice Berlin, Refers to ‘Der fru

Lo . RKCA 1492, Governor in Windhoek, 22/7/1 1, to foreign o .

fg?.‘::;r:w Soldat ’Kun;em:'. Governor in Windhoek, 9/8/11, o foreign office Berlin. Refers 10

>

e "
Kandiapu as ‘Herero ol

b : i . It would appear that at an earlier
NNAW, BSW 74, folio 70, charge sheet Windhoek 27/7/11
stage Kanéinpu had been ca;:mrtd and placed on & farm as a farm labourer. One of the charges
brought against him was that he had run away from a farm.
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?ha:g:;:;;t::ggllig;isa i; Kaa::jjeg:i__and Kj{ldiapu raided the settler farms along .
nd Ogituuo. Apart from raidi h i
also harmed the labour-hun, i Ll id

gry settlers by form
of T%—Ie:;em who ran away from the farms,z; i ;
n due course Kanjemi became known
ourse K ; e amongst the farm labou
‘?:Sf:funtem dlstrllctl as the *Captain of the Sandveld’. Numerous arrrl;:;s (;f:rt:le 4
. a;::‘:::t r(;ehm.mate Kanjemi and his followers. Due to the difficult fe.rrai: '
convemion:] o watcrholes,_these military patrols failed in their mission. As
ey patrols had ‘l'suled, _Herem policemen were sent out to disc;:vcr
e Uués of the Cnpta_m of the Sandveld’. In 1910 four of these
e ]?:gdi?e %ﬁdot;IKn;gemfs associate, Kandiapu. Though the Herero
pol; : covered the Werfi, they were not ver: i inging §
2 y successful in b
; : ér;?ﬂazltff’nlls to heel. Inst_cad. they were attacked and robbed of lhcirlt-:ll?)?ll:nei ;
e 5. p n early 1911, it was decided to employ the services of undercover
g uma‘:‘nlc}emen.'l"hcse were plac_ed as labourers on the farms known to be
be;;n s ?rnt:::?llowqr;ti Kacn:emi, or where the farmer’s workforce had
E v aCt Wit e ‘Captain of the Sandveld’. In this
. wa;
{;naf:::l:-nealgm; 1\:‘;“’_ g«}thlere(} T.]ogclnsurc the success of an expedition senfi::uﬂﬁt
b 5 n July o 1 Kanjemi i i
fnl-!;wers e b anjemi, Kandiapu and a number of their
cum:;:ﬂa:‘;i;eozifi:&c:l;::erero t&:lyonﬂd] the immediate control of the German
s something that the German coloni iti
e hing t ial authorit
c;};];::}l}e;a;ethl-llere'rg communities independent of German co]onia;ej:r?::ltﬁ
o suchg'l"he eizif:—;:“;fy'orf the German colonial enterprise, and were treated
] : X nishment meted out to Kandiapu and Kanjemi
:;?cs:hc particular manner in _which they were dealt with give]:muls’ :Ioons
i sen:::l_as nl)(the_ extent to which they were perceived of as‘a serious mmr:te
a8 e wl:sgm :r::::;ir;;i:ua[m by hanging, Governor Seitz ordered that thr:
t as soon as possible, but that the place i
;:t;h; szccutlﬂn were to be kept secret. This was to preventpa cro:;nddlf;;nn:
o Se;‘lt%;)::g tp(;n;_ucularly to prevent the taking of photographs.*” Kandiapu
ive years’ imprisonment with foreed lab I i
: ‘ our. How
;:ist :13: 3:;2‘1;::? Ié:ﬂ-;:'lmdi sal.l,'e for the colony and in August 1911 é\::c;rtr?;i
eitz ndiapu i ivati
St S wroi:c: ¢ banished for ever to Cameroon. In motivating

Aft i i
[Or::sk:zgré:g il:dl::s;cxatcdl for years with an armed group in the Sandveld, he
; eneral peace, stability and security of thi Hi
1 y of thi
:?sn:::‘llare:‘g%s:rrg: mS thehc;lony can therefore no longer be acceptsecll: o;{l: :ivl;{;i
n Sout iti I
o e ‘est Africa it is furthermore necessary that he be forced

Kandi )

ina::ii;iiui:e;ﬁ;r::;g tg C;r_:;lercon — badly beaten and mishandled he died
1 nd whilst waiting for the st hi

him away. In a final injustic i i mlagnbund s
1 stice, th * isti

prpei ‘madness’.“] s the cause of Kandiapu’s death was euphemistically

** BAP, RKA 1492, Governor Scitz in Wi
= indhoek, 22/7/11, to the fi i
- Eiié’?swg?il %Wernnr Senz in Windhoek, 9/8/11, to rorgig;"\::%::ug—lzﬁif“]m.
. .‘-NAW’ e ?1‘ & :J_vrrnnr Sm_(z in Windhoek, 31/7/11, to Magistrates office i‘l-’indhotk
i NNAW' gt ?‘1, [o io 69, Banishment order signed by Governor Seitz in Windhoek 91’3‘“
> s folio 72, Prison death cernficate for Kandiapu, Swakopmund 13”‘]!1 1 2

| awempted to reestablish the social structures
| however, there were also those groups w
Immediately after the outbreak of the
b operating in German South West Afric

upon bandit bands, such as the Bloubergbende which operated in the vicinity of
Karibib, and which had been in existence
Others were formed by rogue e

se who were in a position to raid
that had existed prior to the war;
hich raided solely to survive.
war rogue bands of Herero began
a. Some of these were probably based

In a sense it could be argued that tho

prior to the outbreak of the war.™
lements during the war. Whilst missionary-led
patrols were being sent into the field, to induce Herero living in the field to
come to the collection camps, there were groups of Herero who refused to come
in and actively artacked the mission patrols. These groups probably formed
the basis for later raiding communities living in the Sandveld. One such group
was the Andreas bende which operated to the north-west of Otjihaenena and
artacked Herero sent out by the mission to collect Herero from the field.” Other
groups are known to have operated in the eastern reaches of the Omaheke, far
beyond the reach of the German military, but within striking distance of Herero
and Tawana herds in Bechuanaland.™

Herero in Ngamiland and South Africa

large numbers of Herero had lived

From the mid-nineteenth century onwards,
beyond the confines of central

in ethnically homogeneous communities,
Namibia in what is now Botswana.” Here, at the beginning of the twentieth
century they were subject to the authority of the Batawana Kgosi Sekgoma
Letsholathebe. Sekgoma Letsholathebe’s position as Kgosi of the Batawana was
contested, and as such he devoted a large amount of his time and energy to
extending his support base. Thus, through slave raiding, cartle loans, and other
forms of patronage, he built up a large following of dependent commoners
and immigrants, amongst whom were large numbers of Herero refugees.”™
Berween 1884 and 1904, Herero had moved into Botswana in three distinct

1 NN AW, BloubergBande BSW 107. .
7 Kol. Blatt, 1906, p. 241 for reference to Andreas bende and Philemon, Konnjara, Hamana.

7 NNAW, ACC. 107, M. Schokke, Schuistruppe first company's FEporL On ex pedition to Omahcke
and K feld; detailed i of the area, list of waterholes in Kaukaufeld, 1911, Notes
on one such combined band,
It 15 interesting that till a short nme ago 18-20 Hereros with guns but without ammunition
have been living near Garu. As long as there was open water in the ‘bush. At last the lack of
water compelled them to change the place o go e Garu. With the returning Bechuanas they
crossed then the boundary. I inspected the empty werfts and 1 believe that the statement of
the Bushmen is correct. It corresponds also with what Hauptmann Hollaender found out durnng
his patrol, but large numbers of Hereros are not any mare in the north of the Sandveldt’.
1 .. Andersson, Lake Ngams, p. 218. & Josaphat Hahn, ‘Das Land der Ovahererd', in Zeuschrift
der Gesellschaft fur Erdkunde zu Berlin, 1868 pp. 194 & 243. Theop hilus Hahn, ‘Ein k [
im nordwestlichen Theile der Cap-Region’,in Globus, 14, 1869 pp. 270-1, detmls Herero attacks
on the settlement of Gobabis and the capture of waggons loaded with ivory and ostrich feathers.
“These were sold to the missionary trader Carl Hugo Hahn at Otjimbmgwe. The route east of
Giobabis to the Lake was heavily contested, with Barolong, Boer, Batawana, Banderu and Herero
all claiming jurisdiction. See also: J hat Hahn, ‘Die Ovaherero’, in Zeitschrft der Gesellichaft
fur Erdkunde zu Berlin, 1869, p. 244.
4 Thomas Tlou, 4 Histery of Ngamiland 1750 to 1906: the Formatson of an African State (Gaborone
1985). Also Chapter 2 of Barry Merton, forthcoming Indiana Umversity PhD thesis, A Social
and Economic History of a Southern African Native Reserve: Ngamiland, 1890-1966.
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waves. The first took pl 1
place 1in 1884 when Imperial :
protectorate over most of present-day Namibiz and ?e;\?lniggrd:l?lija{red .
) erero

families cro
ssed over the newly created border into the Bechuanaland

Pro i
tectorate. The most important of these families was that of Samuel Shephard

which was granted refuge by Sekgoma Letsholathebe.”

When they returned from sch
) ooling to their onganda (fa i i
gso happened that 'th_:re_ arose a question, should l?:t(t cII:Llfy pipeldabiphgind
e'}mhar;_si p s gy get the throne from the
e
Gart 5;:&]::;:‘;:;522::::&:1 at a place where they were to decide on the issue and
b Lipessalytedionid o ate and found out that the Hereros had decided to take b
. He then decided to leave for Botswana and came in that d:‘::t'o m’e‘
w0n.

The second wave of Herero into B
T hepenc » Botswana took place in 1896, wi
ot Mo Kok o T s o e e B
iz it v : alated after rinde
i outblli?lf:;:fclt;l‘l r;{csrabhsh their depletled cattle herds anzp:fxl[,lf;‘r?tfjg’:im
b e s hundcrcdm_'Gumn war in January 1904, the third w.ave of
e Promm:u;mc 78Thref s, if not thousands, sought refuge in the Bechuana-
As such they weré, as ]oen::; El::: ‘t:zru?‘eil}::;:lllsy Etalined N
Aasuch ere, ufficient grazing a
shewc:i ;;:.:';:1 n;:;ti:-iu:y iel;goma Le_tgholalhcbe (then sti%l the gm:i;fi;’ ‘:}f-
ket B ) o help the British authorities in the resettlement of ghcs)
e i i zi reserve, an area that he claimed as his own.* Here th .
b el sl h'“ against thel Boeljs and the Germans, pay (ax.and rolv';y
e > is position vis-a-vis his Batawana rivals and hi Ip' ol
to the area. Things were very different for the secong ;::;um: :;

Herero, those with: llams, the res 3
. out cattle; of these, Williams, the resident magistrate in Tsau
i . 3 ] 3 1 gt i

The distribution of th

. e men or other arran
as speedil gements necessary to reli i i
whl?musly:;:;:{eb;{e,ilhchburden of a large number of able godi:d g:\:i[tl:lltgc[::fnmry
Here G Tabo: thi sugI:es:i rnadht to support themselves and as there is no derl:lg::;
offers.® on that they be transferred to Palapye as opportunity

::E[su. History Ngamiland, p. 94,
erview conducted at Samedupi 23/12/92
-5
who had been bought by Sir James Alexander i:lr;l;;lﬁS::spa:d Wﬂﬁ)(ht‘ Wooiwich in Enpiand.
1t Woolwich in England

Upon his return Samuel
! | acted as Maharero's
interviewed one of Samuel's descendants, and sr:t:::ﬁ lglctlgclléz?no;'(he SRSHEAEC

The Germans had brou i
ght a big, comfortabl,
s ! r able char for § i
and u;um:::[“ans wt;;e getting too friendly. Eventually, h::‘:;]i-‘tig rahlh':r iy dhnieds
y war. He advised that we leave before the trouble bega’nl ere would be trouble
Fi i 1 ‘
e M‘E"“: Ru‘:l:':ll:; l{::lezJ:\em_afWé;:Ie(m Bovswana (New York 1977), p. 168
and Herero under Kahaka § i e Bech Hen‘ - :

. s - guva and Kakopere Hange,
z(;;?ls:;l:l,’:-il'/r::‘,:frgk:,ds)fum;z! bric}&iuw;xo;l;c: éht B'“h"“n:}"“'d Pr'?“ft'o“"ul s
Bors\;ma Mns IengBEd research essay submitted to Department of Hi ety of
" BNA R,C |¥.f1 s s P 27, 8: Interviews i 3 with Usiel K ‘0 Sl
ot M“_. S » Acting Rc;:dcm Commissioner Mafeking 1 D 18_23“2‘1?2.
the A nl%c ]alg;:tr;:: Neandlond: g ecember 1904, Intructions for
i 3 » Merry in Tsau, 27/4/05, to Resi issi
 BNA, RC 10/18, Williams at Tsau, 12/3/04 RO, ommissioner:

NA, RC 11/1, M.G. Williams in Tsau, 31/10/04 to RC,
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Though Sekgoma stated his willingness to provide temporary locations within

- the Batawana reserve for as many of Samuel’s followers as might arrive, the

British authorities werc anxious to prevent the further expansion of Sekgoma's
power base; as such they supported the move of these refugees away from
Ngamiland and on to the mines in South Africa.®?

Shortly after the arrival of the first Herero refugees in north-western
Bechuanaland, the Witwatersrand Native Labour Agency (WHNLA) applied to
the British authorities to lift their ban on the export of labour from this area of
the protectorate.” Not surprisingly the colonial autharities, faced with an
unprecedented influx of refugees; immediately lifted the ban and during 1905
there were three labour recruiters operating in Ngamiland alone. Here they
received complete cooperation from the British colonial officials.® Accom-
panied on their forays by members of the Bechuanaland Protectorate police
the labour recruiters were extremely successful.%

In small batches of fifteen to twenty men, the recruits were sent down, on
foot, to the Transvaal and the mines. The recruits passed along a number of
staging posts, which were usually small trade stores working in alliance with
the recruiters. The desperate condition in which these recruits found themselves
is clearly indicated by the following example. In August 1905 a trader, who
ran a staging post, notified the police thata number of labour recruiter Clarke’s
recruits appeared to be infected by smallpox. Accordingly the men would have
to be placed in quarantine, which would effectively have meant that they could
no longer work on the mines. Upon receiving the message police corporal
Hatton and his men immediately hurried to the scene only to find that: ‘the
boys had gone as soon as they had heard that the police were sent for’.® The
police did come across others who reported of the infected that ‘their chests
are bad and they have high fever’.®”

Eighty years later, whilst conducting interviews in western Botswana, I came
across the proverb Ekutu ra Sero, People would say, ‘Do not immediatly accept
what a person gives you for it might be the sack of the man called Sero. My
informants stated that, following their flight 10 the Bechuanaland Protectorate,
most of the refugees had had no food and were starving. Then a man named
Sero had arrived. Sero had had bags of rice and sugar with him and people

had been allowed to eat as much as they wanted. However, once the food was
finished Sero would say, “You have eaten all my food, now you must pay me.
Of course the people had not been able pay as they had absolutely nothing.
Whereupon Sero would threaten them and say that if the men did not go to
work for him in the mines then he would have them imprisoned. As an
informant stated: ‘people . . . saw that eating this food was tantamount to tying
together one’s feet or killing a person and putting his or her head in a bag’.®®

w1 BNA, RC 1171, Williams 1n Tsau, 21/11/04, 10 RC.

1 BNA, Resident Commussioner (RC).11/1 Hereros Correspondence No. 786 {A), High
Commissioner in Johannesburg, 251105, to Resident Commssioner Mafeling.

s BNA, HE Record Dept, WNLA, File 247,\‘;’i[wﬁ[:¥5¥nﬂd Native Labour Associanon fimuted
st of Employees 13 March 1905,

» BMA, R.C. 11/1 786 B. Resident Magistrate, Lt Merry 1in Tsau, 5/7/05, to Resident
Commissioner at Mafeking.

» BNA, District Commussioner Serowe (DCS) 4319, Cp! Hartton in Rakops, 13/8/05, 10 District
Commissioner Scrowe.

& Thid.

o Tnterviews conducted with Mr Commissioner Ngate Hange n Maun on 23 and 24/12/92, and
Mr Usiel Ketanga Kandapaera and Mr Kayikoro Kakero in Tororamury 26 to 20/12/92.
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Therefore never immediately accept what a stranger gives you, for it might hel

the sack of Sero.

Very little is known about the Herero communities that emerged at the mines
in South Africa after the Herero-German war. Of particular importance though,
for the maintenance and organization of a separate and specific Herero identity

on the mines, was Christianity - more specifically the retention of belief in the X
tenets of Lutherian protestantism as taught by the missionaries of the Rhenish

Missionary Society. This faith comes to the fore, even in the cynical descriptions

of Loton Ridger, a labourer recruiter for the South African mines, who was |

operating in Ngamiland in 1905:

After our Indaba [meeting] was fimshed some of the Damaras [Herero], now more |

cheerful at the prospect of soon reaching the lake and seeing their friends again,
began to sing hymns, taught them in their young days by the German missionaries
before they were expelled from their homes by the German soldiers, The irony of it!
Taught the love of God by the German missionary, to be hunted down like rats by
the German soldiers!®

In 1992, one of my informants Mrs Magdelina Kanaimba told me of her

childhood in Nigel in the Transvaal, where they had been the only Herero family
present in the early 1920s. In Nigel, Mrs Kanaimba'’s father, who had been an
evangelist for the Lutheran missionaries in German South West Africa, had
worked at one of the mines as a first-aid orderly. Every Sunday her father used
to travel by train from Nigel, via Springs to Mayfair station, from where he
would then walk to the Crown Mines Herero Location where he would preach
from German psalm books and Bibles.% Throughout the early 1900s the
Rhenish Missionary Society received requests, from the various assorted
preachers of the Transvaal, for Herero Bibles and hymn books as well as proof
of baptism and confirmation for various Herero miners. The existence of a
specific Herero community on the Rand appears to have come to an end in
the early 1930s.

As noted earlier, Sekgoma Letsholathebe was not the legitimate Kgosi of the
Batawana. In 1906 he was arrested by Bechuanaland Protectorate forces as he
returned to Ngamiland from Mafeking where he had travelled to receive medical
treatment, and was incarcerated in the fort at Gaborone. Shortly thereafter
Sekgoma was replaced as Kgosi of the Batawana by Mathiba in a coup which
enjoyed the support of the Bechuanaland Protectorate colonial officials.®? Never
officially charged in a court of law, Sekgoma was eventually released from prison
in 1912 and exiled to Kavimba on the south bank of the Chobe river. Here,
during the coming years, he was joined by a substantial number of his followers
and allies, Herero and Mbanderu refugees amongst them.

The deposition of Sekgoma Letsholathebe had major implications for
Ovaherero society in Ngamiland. One of the first things to be brought up was
the position of the Herero who had found sanctuary in Ngamiland.** Under
Sekgoma's rule a number of Herero had been able to find more than just a

** Loton Ridger, Wanderer, p. 283

* Interview conducted with Mrs Kanaimba in Gabane on 17/12/92,

“ See for instance ELCIN, 11-17A Letter from Briush and Foreign Bible Society in Cape Town
to Rhenish Missionary Society in Wuppertal asking for Herero Bibles 21/8/05.

* BNA, §$.32/7, Ralph Wilhams in Tsau Lake Ngamu, 10/7/06, to HC,

“' BNA, RC 11/2, Williams in Tsau, 28/6/06, 1o RC.
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temporary safe haven in Ngamiland, and had established themselves as chiefs,

allied to Sekgoma, but with their own client base. Amongst those who had

been able to remain in Ngamiland were the Mblanderu as_socia'l:{_:d with
Nicodemus Kavarure. In early 1907 the acting resident magistrate in quu
" began reviewing the grounds on which Herero had been permitted to stay in

Ngamiland.* Life for the Herero and Mbanderu followers of the dclpused ngi:;s:
became increasingly more difficult in Ngamiland. Eventually in 1916 the

i i it Protectorate
' Banderu chief Nicodemus Kavarure petitioned :?e Bechuanaland
. government for permission to trek away from Ng

il d " M g were
sent, to the resident commissioner in Mafeking, ‘to apply on his behalf for
p:mlzission to leave the protectorate and settle their people at Nyae Nyae in
the South West African protectorate’.’® As reasons for applying for permission
to move the two messengers stated that:
i i 1 years is inclined to exact
... Chief Mathibe, under whom they have been for severa ;
mo{r:nuch from [h: Damaras in his reserve. Making them \.\:ccd lands, build houses,
bury dead Batawana, make roads and hunt buffaloes ete.”

were not permitted to return to Namibia, finally in Farly 1917
.itol‘ijag:d?reuynnd Hererg followers of Sekgoma were given permission to trek
a at Kavimba.*® ) o -
© ‘Is:igzZusion regarding the Herero in Botswana, they retained the!r ldenTtLu:‘:
as immigrants, but they became full members of Tswana souety.dweln
communities were parts of Tswana wards, ha_dlluans from Batsw:anaé a‘ljl ¢ s
had to work for them and sell them commodities to survive dprmg dad 1 a!.l
Those who had passed on through Botswana to South Afnca' ende a\:lll: w
labourers on the farms and mines, on the latter of which theyl \;erg e
establish homogeneous communities united by the teners of Rhenish missionary

Christianity.

Reestablishing a nation

When the Herero POW camps were al_:o!ished in 1908, th_erg were 1:i‘li:l"er.‘l:lvcli;._r
three separate Herero identities in Namibia: the Herero Christians ofb e ca‘;nt}:;] c,
the Herero soldiers in the German army; and the Herero ll\lrm%' eyon o
ambit of the German colonial adminisr_rnuon, In the war and in the can;l:ions

Herero had been systematically deprived and ro!:bed of their [.m]ss:f 0;
society, religious beliefs, and political apd economic leadcrs.Tbe sl.io :ccz:;:b]e
social organization that had been permmetll alndlthst han_i remaine :\(-'hen A
to them was that provided by mission Christianity and its acolytes.h e

camps closed, the supply of Herero POW labour was cut off and the s}r:a yr
acute labour shortage was exaccrbated,The conditions of exrre_n;e 1? l}u‘l
shortage provided the Herero with a certain amount oflgewsy,_ whic 1 10\3:;

them to move, recoalesce and begin to reestablish their society within the

“ BNA, §.30/4/1, Acting Magistrate Tsau Ngamiland 2/1/07 to Government Secretary in
Mafeking.

. ggi‘.g':gg:;act.ng Government S y in Mafeking, 1/7/16, 10 Resident Magi

+ Ibid.

“ BNA, §.126/1, RM in Maun, 20/3/17, 10 RC.
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confines of Gem_'nan colonial legislation. The following section describes this
process and details the reestablishment, through the mediation of Christianity, *
of Herero society. ’

Labour demand

Once the war eventually ended in 1908, Leutwein’s dire warnings, regarding
the irreversible destruction of labour and impending labour sho;[age were
shown to b:f true.” As the economy of the territory picked up again, the de,ma.nd
for labour increased, particularly so following the discovery of diamonds in
the vicinity of Lideritzbucht in 1908. In an effort to alleviate the demand for
labour, the colonial government was forced to start recruiting labour from
Ovamboland and as far afield as the eastern Cape province in South Africa.'®
Leutnant Streitwolf was sent to Lake Ngami, to induce the Herero to returr; o
GSWA, and trader Lenssen was sent to Ovamboland to urge the Herero living
there to return.j‘“ _In 1908 the Boer Oosthuisen, who lived in Grootfontein
was sent on a mission to recruit labour in Ovamboland.'?? Children were used’
as labourers.'®? Missionaries regularly complained that Herero children were
often unable to attend religious instruction or school as they were employed
by masters w]:p refused to give them time off.!™ By 1914, even those people
v;'ho had traditionally b_een regarded as being unable to perform menial labour,
[fo:c?ﬁ:;?{ were being rounded up and redistributed amongst farmers as

Herero communities considered to be living idle lives, beyond the reach of
settler employers, were broken up and redistributed amongst settlers who
wa_nted labour. %5 This policy had been begun during the war. Even those Herero
living under the protection of the mission were not excluded from this policy
In 1906, the military, contrary to its promise to the Rhenish Missionary Societyl
which _had been given permission to maintain twenty families at the Ombun;
collection point, surrounded the families living there and drove them off to
settler farmers who had demanded labour.'" Once work on the Otavi railway-
line had been cgmpleted, Herero who had been employed as forced labourers
in its construction were forcefully redistributed amongst those farmers who

“;l.\.'equltlwcin cited 1n Drechsler, Fightng, p. 148,
] Wliam Beinart, ‘Cape workers in German South-West Africa
; . , 1904-1912: Paty f
migrancy and the closing of options on the Southern African labour market’, in The Sn:n::‘i:;?af
Southern Africa i the 19th and 20th Centuries, collected seminar papers No, 27,Vol. 11, Universs
of London, Institute of Commonwealth Studies, 1981, o o
101 T enssen, Chrontk, p. 172.
i Kol, Blart. 1908, p. 429,
103 I this regard see particularly the excellent work done b ri J
i y Gesine Kriiger on “Little Norbe: .
A pm‘x‘r_akn:m the archives. Traces of the history of every day [ife after the r;m.;an-ﬂzim:-:
T ! paper p d at the Symp “Writing History. Idenuty and society in
i'nmn'bm » held at the Department of History, University of Hanover, 5-7 Mnyyl‘im N
3 hELC;.\.\"][ 31.5, Evangel. Musion, Swak, Quartal und Jahresberschte. Conl n
ahresabrechnungen 1906-30. Another side-efl f thi lom i chil
taken to Germany. b NG
o > s
(’{D;‘\'::W, SOTR l:;lscrh:]h: Sc}:\utztrnppc fur DSWA, STR 19 1.und 4. Kompagnic Karibib
3! s reports of patrols in the countryside and th i J ,
Contwas parts of pael 10 and their coming across Herero in the field who
i See ELCIN, V., Chromiken, Omaruru 1907, Drechsler, Fightmg, pp. 200-10.
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were often
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! claimed to need labour.!?” Herero who were not employed by White sertlers
were considered to be idle and
settler farmers. In the
Ovamboland following succession disputes had established themselves, along
with their followers, on the farm Otjeru. Here, assisted by Berg Damara and
" Herero clients, they grew crops and kept cattle.

were rounded up to be distributed amongst

Qutjo district Ovambo chieftains who had left

In 1910, ‘to prevent Otjeru
from becoming a settlement of workshy vagabonds’ it was decided that ‘natives
of another tribal affiliation will not be permitted to settle there’. It was therefore
decided to divide and allocate the Herero and Damara cattle herders and
workers living there, along with their families, to those farmers in the district
who had requested labour.** In an effort to secure labour for the settlers,
legislation was passed which stated that all tribes with the exception of the
Ovambo, who lived beyond direct German control, were to be exempted from
work in the mines.'”

It was in this context, of an extreme settler hunger for labour, that raids
came to be systematically organized into the Sandfeld to capture ‘Bushmen’
who could then be used for labour."? Mission reports of the time make for
illuminating reading, particularly with regard to missionary ideas and
proselytization:

On the farms to the east of Grootfontein there are nearly only bushmen, who are all
still heathens . .. In Sandfeld there sull appear to be many Bushmen and it would
be good if they could all be made to settle here or on the farms. As it is well nigh
impossible to missionise in the Sandfeld amongst the Bushpeople. The police are
involved in getting the Bush people out of the Sandfeld. However how often do they
not run away again, after they have been brought to a Farmer or somewhere else. It
would appear that at the populated centres, where they must become accustomed
to law [Zuchi] and order and where they must also work, they do not feel well and
appear to prefer the free life in the Sandfeld, Therefore 1 also do not know whether
the police are not proceeding too severely, whereby they will most certainly not win
the support of the people. A couple of days before 1 got to Naitsas, the police had
fetched a werft of 52 people out of the field. They would not have gotten these people
if they hadn’t surprised them. Because a couple of days carlier, when they had
attempred to capture another werft, they had to return without having completed
their objective. The bush people had probably heard of the coming of the police,
and therefore they had sent their women and children away, and attempted, as well
as they could, to barricade themselves in their werft. Apparently they wanted to engage
in battle with the police. However as a native policemen opened fire, because he
believed his superior was in danger, they ran away. They were also unable to caprure
the wounded one, even though they shot him through the chest.'!

i ELCIN, V. Chroniken, Omaruru 1907,

o NNAW, BOU. 8 §. 1 South West Company Limited 1/2/96-12/9/10 Band 1. O. I
Ovamboreservat Otjeru 1/12/09. Outjo den 2 Marz 1910 letter to the Kaiserliche Gouvernement
Windhuk, Die Wartung und Pflege der Vichbestande konnen die betreffenden Ovambo unter

zuhilfenahme ihrer Familien selbst besorgen.

s NNAW, BSW 74, (Old notation SD 65-185) irk d E.2.a Eing
Arbeiter Allgemeines.
All i Band 1, Beg am 4

1o NNAW, DOK 28, Akten E.3.a. Eing Allg,
April 1907, Contains Jetter from Governor to Dhstrikisamt Okahandja regarding captured Bush
people who can be unlized as stock keepers 11/11/14, Also contains a hist of farmers who want
bush people.

i1 ELCIN, Uncatalogued file entitled Fahresberichte v. H. Pardey Grootfontein 1908-1924.
Grootfontein den 28 Jum 1911 Zweiter Quartalbericht 1911, Groatfontein den 8 Jan 1914, Vierter
Quartalbericht 1913 Ostlich und nordlich of Grootfontem . . . In diesem Gebiet wohnen oder
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Herero Heroes

;I;E:::Ie(::;ﬁ: f:f::ﬁ?:m m%cd l}l:c mission to assist in the sedentarization of
I care for them.!2 In an effort to prevent thei i
away, it was decided to transfer ca, At Heathes
way, prured Bushmen to Swak d
died in great numbers unti i 1 s i g
til, following debates in th islati il, i
: e legislative cou
decided to ensure that better care was taken of them.“g‘ ouneil ftveas

Movement

;l‘bh:lif’i?:(’pcezr;]ps wcrens:oi‘ished in 1908. In the immediate aftermath of the
5 e travelled throughout the territor h 1 i
former homes, friends and i i o el
m i society. This movement was e b
facilitated by the extreme demand fx i i
or labour that existed in th i i
demand gave the Herero a measure of | i idi s
1 eeway in deciding to who d
they could sell their labour. In effect th i ot
I eir r. e Herero regained an element of thei
11?:;[3:', however limited this may have been, in being able to influence :hcus]a;;
o Deuf labour and consequently their area of residence.
Iandur;ng the war, to break the links that existed between Herero and their
i sso,u tal:ga} lr}xlum‘m::?s of %‘aftured Herero were deported and put to work in
of the territory. The deportation of Herero pris fi i
ensured that they became dependent on thei LroUM SO i
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may have existed with Herero still in the fi Thi i g
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also applied to Nama prisoners. At th ; e
i 5 e end of the war these tw
people, Nama from the north and Herero fr S s
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where they had originally come from.'"* H ‘ b ool
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::g;ﬁ:;nrl}&:;g-tt::rm hbm:ir ;oerI:cts, as these would have limited their alr::itlit:
. n has argued that the institution of short-
that came into being at the tim i e
e reflected an attempted
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v was the shortage of labour that H
abandoned contracts that were no ir liki schuieshintiadiies
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passes and be confident thar the g i
; : y would then be taken on under an assi
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o movement throughout the territory was so great that German settlers

ielmek h die Buschl die in letzter zeit durch Poliz ili
L 1 und Milit
:::d?:kfl‘:nc ch h:_uan leute diese Stammes einen Farmer vergiftet und :;;::f:b‘t:;:;r: ‘::f:ld:sn
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':l‘_d"EtScsI::l;scn \Q‘ordcﬂ, :n_d:rc sind hier im G en_vo;;::;\rt{:ri‘ulrhund_Pollxi.:lpat::u!glcn
i Min::: T{c)h;' ubr_Ig i _”' ben scin durften, Hier im Gt:l';ngnis sinds:ng:f:}f:
b Ler,.'t,“;:réi:“g,:;‘ Kmd.. Die ubrigen Kinder (etwa 20) und eimige Frauen
i Seriniig er gegeben worden. 15 Manner sind schon seit Langerer
1z 14
Mnrchclr‘g?z\ﬂli\?}p&o“d' uncatalogued, in process of being catalogued by Pastor R, Wefller in
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P .rli:‘]g ! See foto-copy file 7, article 14, p. 13. See photocopy
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For the process of losing passes and seelan,
or the ! 5 5 g employment elsewhere in,

;:‘;l-':f'\’wlm resistance in German South West Africa, 1907-1915"in J’::::E:}n.‘;‘ug::s g hp

,Vol. 20, No. 1, 1994, pp. 99-121, & Bley, South West Africa, pp. 250-6 tadimien
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became convinced that the Herero were recoalescing and that a new war was

~ imminent.''®

Though Herero had been ordered to report and surrender themselves 1o
the missionary collection points and military stations, and though patrols were
regularly sent out to seek Herero, many Herero continued to live in the field
and roam from one area to the next.!'? These people were effectively beyond
the control of the German authorities and provided an attractive alternative
to Herero serving contracts that were not to their liking. German settlers and
soldiers, partially constrained by the conditions of peace, could do little more
than rant and rage at the Herero who had chosen to remain out of settler
employment and in the field. The extreme frustration felt by the German troops
and settlers at the that time is well illustrated in a letter written by the officer
commanding the station at Waldau, approximately twenty kilometres to the
north-west of Okahandja:

As numerous unemployed [beschaftungslose] Herero, men as well as women, have
recently been wandering about [.‘rsrumlm’bm], in the vicinity of Waldau and along
the railway line, who, when hailed, flee into the bush and hide there, I request the
Kaiserliche Distriktsamt to inform me whether it is permitted to shoot at these male
Herero when they refuse to stand still when hailed, so thart in this way they will be
forced to stand still.

Bauer!'®

Herero were distributed, as labourers, among the many settler farmers who
requested them; this did not, however, prevent them from engaging in what
the missionaries referred to as the ‘dreadful practice’ of hartloop, running
away.!'? The number of people breaking contract increased during years in
which there was good rainfall and a concomitant increase in the availability of
field foods. The movement of Herero away from farms was not solely confined
to the farms of the new ‘inexperienced’ settlers, bur also affected the so-called
Alte Afrikaner farmers.'? In early 1909, at the height of an above-average rainy
season, farmer Conrad Rust, an Alte Afrikaner who had written a ‘settler’s
account of the war’, reported from his farm, Monte Christo, that: Simon
Katerna No. 5255; David Katerna No. 8593; Maria Karaspura No. 5258;
Katarina Kamarwec No. 5257 and Zwanzig Kanjuwara No. 8570, had all fled
from his farm and were believed to be headed in the direction of the

Bechuanaland border.'?!

e NINAW, DOK 28, Three statements of early 1909 1 which settlers express their belief that
another rebellion is brewing.

17 NNAW, STR Kasserliche Schutatruppe fiir DSWA, STR 19 1. und 4. Kompagnie Karibib,
Order on the 12/2/08 for patrols to be sent out along Kuiseb inan effort to apprehend 16 escap ed
Herero who arc attempting to reach Khomas Hochland.

18 NNAW, DOK 28, Bauer at Sration Waldau, 12/5/07, 10 Kaiserliche Distrikisamt Okahandja.
JBG's translanon.

1% ELCIN, V. Chroniken, Gobabis 1908.

1 Prein, in his excellent article, blames the running away of Herero from farmers on the fact
that farmers, though they claimed to be Omuhona, failed 10 realize that this entailed that they

should also redistribute wealth 1o their cl F This was particularly true gst the
new sertlers. Pran, 75AS, pp. 110-11.

12 NNAW, DOK 28, Akten: E. 3. b. Eingeborenensiamime betreffend: Hereros, Band 1. The
Kaiserliche Bezirk in Windhuk, 6/2/09, 1o Kaizerliche Bearksamt Okahandja. It

possible that these people hoped be recruited in Bechuanaland for work on the mines. During
1908 and 1909 there were reports of an Englishman named Stanley or Stan operating in
Hereroland attempting o recruit peaple for the South African mines,

e
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Making use of the extreme demand for labour, Herero refugees living in
Ovamboland took the opportunity to return to northern Hereroland disguised
as Ovambo migrant labourers. In the period of one week, in 1908, more than
a thousand Ovambo migrant labourers were taken into service at the Guchab
and Tsumeb mines in northern Hereroland. Of these labourers, a number
turned out to be Herero, who had attempted to pass as Ovambo: ‘Like them
they are dressed solely in a loincloth and, as is the Ovambo fashion, have shorn
their hair to a small bushel at the centre.’ These Herero reported that they had
disguised themselves as Ovambo, as they had feared that they would have been
recognized as Herero and would have been punished.

They further noted thart there were still many Herero in Ovamboland, who eagerly
wanted to return; however they feared that they would be punished for their alleged

involvement in the revolt and that they would lose the remainder of their cattle
stocks.'22

Herero not only sought to return to the areas where they had originally come
from prior to the war, but large numbers of Herero also remained in the areas
in which they had been incarcerated, or moved to areas which they had not
previously occupied. Given that for many Herero their former homesteads and
settlements had been utterly destroyed, and that they had very few prospects
of being able to reestablish themselves in their former territories, it is no surprise
that a number of Herero decided to move or settle in areas where they had
previously not resided, but where their future prospects looked better. The
decision of Chief Zacharias Zeraua, formerly of Otjimbingwe, to settle in
Windhoek is a case in point. Following the war, Zeraua’s former settlement,
Otjimbingwe, was but a shadow of its former self. Already in the 1870s, when
the trade routes shifted northwards, Oyimbingwe had gone into economic
decline. This was exacerbated in 1900 when the Windhoek to Swakopmund
railway- line bypassed the settlement. Added to this, the former Herero capital,
Okahandja, also lost its position in the Herero-German war. Instead, following
the war, Windhoek became the largest and most important settlement, Needless
to say, Zacharias, when released from imprisonment, chose, as the sole surviving
Herero chief in the territory, not to return to Otjimbingwe or Okahandja, but
asked for permission to remain in Windhoek.!??

The recoalescence of Herero society
through the mediation of Christianity

It was within the confines of stringent legislation, designed to control and mould

their lifes, that the Herero, through the mediation of Christianity, reestablished
themselves.

122 Kol. Blatt. 1908, p. 429, ‘Zur Arbeiterfrage’. At this stage 1t is only fair to note thar these
Herero/Ovambo migrants were often not voluntary migrants, Ovambo chieftains controlled the

of migrant lab to and from O boland, and ived i ingly greater control
of the wages earned by these migrants. Sec in this regard the work of Clarence Smith. Given that
the Herero had entered into Ovamboland as refugees, they were at the bottom of the social standing
n Ovamboland and as such could be and were easily ordered around by their Ovambo hosts. See
in this regard the work of Eirola on Herero migration in Ovamboland following the Herero-
German war,

Y NNAW, DOK 28,Von Lindequist in Windhoek, 20/8/07, o Kaiserliche Bezirksamt Okahand)a.
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In an effort to control the movement and labour of the indigenous population

" of the territory, the German colonial administration instituted legislation which

was designed to control and mould the Herero and Nama of Namibia into an

. anxiously awaited and dreamed-of tribeless black proletariat.'? It was

legislation which sought to ensure that:
1 izati i i bush which try to avoid poliucal
T'ibal organization will cease. Werfs deep in the !
E:;;rvi;on w-nr'ﬁ not be tolerated. They would provide focal points for memories of
tribal life and days when the Africans owned the land. '

Germany's colonial mission was ‘to divest the Heri‘rjo as falr :stizs«:‘:rt::roi :l:lc‘::
i 1stl ly to merge them wit

national characteristics and gradually

groups into a single coloured work_mg—class’)l“ Helrlnut Bl_c::'r has Tmted that

German settler discussions at the time regarding native legislation:

i th Ives to a discussion of the ec and pohtical pressures
i:.g.'.:ll‘:iicnlf:‘r:gl:llﬂur laws could be enforced. Inlstead they aimed at totalg;:;::ng;zg
the Afcany’personaity by recreating thels e LR BC L s pariculrly
making their legal status dependent on their pOTIca’ 5 pustivuiady
true of the artempt to divest the Africans of their _naunua1 characterstic: d

i identity was highly cultivated in Europe - and of the s?srem_nuc
::::‘i: :fh :r:;‘r;::fdzar:*\l?: 1:‘h:Y Africang, c{cn within the limited sphere of the ‘working-
class’.!1¥7 o
Herero society, and the world it had created, had collapsled_."l he mn;?;:)t: 2:'
educated Christian Herero had fled across the border. Initiation, even ah ; (ghe
the non-Christian Herero, had swppcd,_"[‘he Germans made surf t a1 1t
Herero were widely dispersed,}:ha( ]::ii_ Lr:balbc?nn;c:g::r,lb::hr.: i;r’m?silg‘:;: e
ed, and that their symbols, 4 : %
zﬁf:;; Tr!r::r\:c ar]csodgztsl;.‘:iye:d,'“'l‘uwns and s:ulgm:ms_which had cnm_ed Herexi':
names were renamed.'?® As the governor, Lindequist, noted on_z mn:_:;ncyhas
1907: ‘Omaruru, which used t‘?]be i‘lglghground of Herero identity,
ccome a German village.
CO?’;DLE::I:;? journey, through devastated land where the_\‘x\v;'t::holis ‘ii{uie‘::g
Herero for their cattle were collapsing, the governor noted: ere the i
have had 10 thousands of cattle we will too.’1*! A complete transformati

intended, and appeared to have taken place.

i i i1 H. Bley, SouthWest Africa.

14 On German sttempts 8, EENE L e 0 penhien, W1l .4 - a 10, For copies of the
i:gislulion rt’glrdins the control of Herero, see P:Encr_dnm:g des Gdo::w_-u_eur: van autsch-
Sudwestafrika, betr. Dienst- und Arbertsverirage it 7 oo g
i i h-Sudwestafrika, betr. MaPregeln o
.;chuflsgsb:rw, K-.m:‘nung:fu Gm;:n,em\eun von Dc::: D{,:mhi;l{dﬂ“'“f"h' betr. die I’gﬁﬂuc?t fr
Gingebo 1 ~ P derailed discussion of this
i 11 of 18/8/07, DKB, 15/12/07, pp. 1179-84. 1_"0[ 8 ¥ 1 of |
t'ﬁ;::i::':;:glzy, South ‘V:!sl Africa, pp. 170-3, and for African r:sponsc;(r_lh\sl'lgcg;s_ls:g:;;:
scsc P Prcn;x. ‘Guns and Top Hats: African resistance in German South West Africa,
n ?m‘imal’ of Southern African Studies, Vol. 20, No. 1, 1994, pp. 99-121. &
123 Deputy Governor Tecklenburg to the colonial office, 17/5/04, cited n Bley,
p. 223.

12 Thid. p. 224.

i [ad. p. 224. y -

12 Bley, South West Africa, p. i

0 Kol Blatt, 1907, p. 826 & Kol. Blatt. 1908, p. 233.

1%e Kol. Blatt. 1906, p. 643.

i Kol. Blatt. 1908, p. 727.

South West Africa,
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A superficial look at the mass conversion of the Herero following the war
might seem to lend credence to the idea that the Herero had indeed been
divested of their personality, memories and ‘national characteristics’. However
the Herero as Christians still saw themselves as Herero. Indeed, the
opportunities provided by being Christian allowed Herero to reestablish
themselves as Herero, within the confines of totalitarian legislation. That is,
the missionary brand of Christianity introduced to Namibia by the Rhenish
mission, mediated in and all d for the reestablishment of a new Herero
nation.

Christian elites led the way in reestablishing the nation. This had already
begun during the gathering, when Christian converts were sent out to gather
the dispersed from the field. At this stage this was not without its dangers and
some of the Christians sent out to gather those in the field were killed.'3?

That people are coming in, 1s due to Nathaniel, whom I sent out with his companion
from the Omatako, to collect the people. Unfortunarely Nathaniel has become the
offer of his peace mission, at the third werft, the werfr owner Kandjenaua shot him
along with his escort.'®

Those in the field who refused to come in identified the mission, and
consequently its message, with the German suppression. Thus one had a
splitting between non-Christian leaders in the field who refused to come in,
and the Christian leadership which developed in the camps, urging the
dispersed to come in.

The twinning of Herero leadership, acceptable to those still in the field, with
Christianity was a process that took place during the time that the collection
points were maintained. Both missionary Kuhlmann and Diehl consciously
took along Christian members of the old elite of the area in which the collection
points were established. By 1904, all the elite Herero families of Hereroland
had been in contact with the Rhenish mission and nearly all of them had allowed
some of their male descendants to be educated by the mission, and in some
cases even to become evangelists employed by the mission. The surviving
Christian sons of the Herero elite, which had been destroyed and dispersed in
the war, continued their Christian mission after the war and assisted the
Rhenish mission in its activities. In turn, as the sole surviving free represen-
tatives of the previous elite, they found their status enhanced, a condition that
the mission exploited in its collection activities. In late 1905 missionary Dichl
established the mission collection point at Otjihaenena. He was accompanied
by twelve armed Herero, the former school-teacher of Otjihaenena, Gustav
Kamatoto, and the former evangelist of Otjihaenena, Erastus, who was closely
related to Nikanor the former Omuhona of Otjihaenena.'™ Similarly, missionary
Kuhlman established the Omburo collection point with the assistance of twenty
armed Hereros and the former Omuhona of Omburo, the Christian Friedrich.
Kuhlmann reported that people specifically came to the collection point to
see if it was true that the Omuhona and Muhonge had returned.'’® Further
Herero evangelists who were closely related to the former Herero elites, and
who had survived the war to assist the mission in its activities, were Samuel

" Kol. Blatt. 1906, p. 241, & BRMG, 1906, pp. 91 & 161-5.

" ELCIN, VII 31 Swakopmund 31.1, letter Dannert in Omaruru, 17/1/05 to Vedder,
"M BRMG, 1906, pp. 89-01,

1" BRMG, 1906, p. 71,
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Kariko, Asser Mutjinde — both of Omaruru - and Gustav Kandji. The presence

of Christian elites at the collection points had a very direct effect on those in

the field, and expedited the movement of people to the camps. By_dcﬁmt:(lm,
those who refused to come to the collection points or actively resisted being
led into the camps came to be defined non-Christian field-Hereros.

A problem faced by the Rhenish mission following the war was the total
absence of large, stable congregations of Herero, suclh as had existed at the
mission settlements prior to the war. To overcome this problem, the mission
appointed Wanderevangelisten, wandering evangelists. These men were
dispatched from farm to farm, where they would Fondu_ct farmwork for a
number of weeks and preach to the farm labourers in their free hours. Their
activities were backed up by the missionaries themselves, who also travelled
from farm to farm preaching to the small groups of Herero employed on the
farms. Referring to the changed circumstances Kuhlmann wrote:

In the past we were the masters. We could determine the nme of th_c day thar the
natives should gather. Now we have to take into account the conditions prevalent
[on the farms), if we want to reach everyone.!

The same was true for the Herero leadership. No longer were 1here setll.lcmenrs
which they could administer. Instead together with their erstwhile subjects they
were labourers, subservient to the military, farmers, mine-owners and railway
authorities who sought to control their every move.'” At the slhgh_lest suspicion
of something untoward, those unfortunates suspected of being involved were
arrested and interrogated. The summary arrest of Barnabas Zeraua, the son of
the former chief of Otjimbingwe, Zacharias Zeraua, by the settler farmer Rudno
in January 1909, is a case in point. Rudno reported that he hadl observed that
‘the natives of farmer Polle, particularly their werft elder Au;;usnnu?, had been
maintaining regular contact with the natives of his [Rudno’s] werft » th:r{_:fore
he had had Barnabas arrested. A police patrol was sent to Lh? area to investigate
the case. Though Barnabas was shown to be related by marriage to Augustinus,
the patrol concluded that a revolt was not imminent and that nothing untoward
happened.!® )
ha?n L\rchermau sphere of control, the only form of Hercro leadership that
was allowed to develop was that of missionary evangelists.' All other forms
of Herero leadership had either been destroyed or lived bey(lmd the _rgach of
the German administration. Those Herero who were placgd into positions of
authority by the Germans as voormanne were often st_o affiliated to the mission
as evangelists.!? Though the new Herero Iea‘dcrsh[p that developed in the
territory in the years after the war was Christian, Lh|§ did not mean that old
feuds that had existed between the Herero elites prior to the war were not
continued in renewed conditions of peace. In 1910 a nulmber o_feldcrs of the
Herero community in Swakopmund were relieved of their functions, because,
‘on a Sunday following the church service a serious case of fisticuffs [Prugeler]

1w BRMG, 1914, p. 160. . . o
M As missionary \ll'xcddcr, with his penchant for the euphemistic, put it: “The chicftaincies were
abolished. Now there were only Herero labourers, for the Herero nation existed no longer, and
strict, but just, laws regulated native affairs’, Hahn, et al,, Nanve Tribes, p. 162, "

i NNAW, DOK 28, E.3.B, Kaiserlichen Bezirksamt in Kanbib, 13/1/09, to Kuserliche
Distrikisamt Okahandja. ) : 1654

v+ ELCIN, uncatalogued folder entitled Fahresberichte v. H. Pardey Grooifontein 1908- L

10 ELCIN, V. 26 Ortschroniken, Othmbingwe 1908.
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developed in the house of an elder which resulted in the arrest and imprison-

ment of the leaders’. The reason given for the altercation was ‘the continual
struggle for leadership [Grossmannsucht] and tribal feud that exists berween
those who come from Omaruru on the one hand, and those who come from
Okahandja on the other hand’.'¥!

Under the leadership of their evangelists and in line with the teachings of

Lutheran Christianity, the Herero began to reestablish themselves as a nation. |

Anxious to rpaimain their Herero labourers, settler farmers invited and allowed
the evangelists to work on their farms.'*? Some settler farmers had small
churches bu_ih, organized white bread and tea at baptisms, and even presented
labourers with a complete new set of clothes upon their baptism.'** Scattered
across the country, Herero communities living on the farms and mines, under
the command of their omuhonge [teacher], began to communicate to one
another. The evangelists, who travelled from farm to farm, from community
to community, at the invitation of the settler farmers, intent on a stable and
productive labour force, spread the word, and with it the information of their
fellow Herero.!'"* The wandering evangelists were referred to in the settler press
as wandering weekly tabloids.!** In a sense this description of the evangelists
was very apt, particularly when one realizes that these men were distributing a
Fnomhly Herero-language magazine, which was published by missionary Lang
in Tsumeb.!" In this way the family connections of the past could be
reesta_blisl:led, fleshed out and continued. Another way in which farmers sought
to maintain Herero labourers on their farms, even though this was prohibited
by law, was by providing the Herero communities working on their farms with
::aui_e and stretches of land which could be cultivated. That the practice of
leasing’ cattle and land to the Herero communities resident on the settler farms
was effective is indicated by conditions on the farm Abakobib, in the
Groortfontein district, where: :

S num_‘m!rs of Natives live, who are independent, i.e. they keep large stock and
farm maize, for which they naturally have to pay rent. This results in there being
many more Natives [on this farm] than on other farms, which all have their particular
Werften. Since approximately one year Zacharias has been holding regular baptism
classes on this farm. '+

14t ELCIN,VII 31.5, Evangel. Mission, Swak d Quartal und Fahresberich f i
Jahresabrechnungen 1906-1930, Juhmsbcrlch'l Swal«?pmund 1908, i i
2 I Lu_de!::_x w}u_u:s protested against Herero becoming Christans, BRMG, 1912, p. 20, On
farmers inviting missionaries, sce BRMG, 1914, p. 84 & 1913, p. 15, B

:: gﬁg» 1914, p. 164,

G, 1913, p. 9, Mission evangelist Alfred working amongst far: d J
not nppomte_d_ by the mission. p,14 Missionary Kiihm'l;srtpurlsgthat :Ttﬂ?qu::f;:::ﬁ:;;a:ﬁ?&
20 Herero living on 2 farm had been taught to read by a Chrisuan Herero, and that they had
b‘ulll a pom_c.k for IASLFUCTION PUrPOSES; P. 15 Herero farm worker preaching and teaching in
I(:roo:ion(cm arca. ARMG, I_l?l 2, p. 184 Gotthard Hamambo evangelist on farms near Otjimb-
ingwe. p. 185 Joseph evangelist amongst Herero in mulitary service, ELCIN, New folder entitled
i

Jahresberichte v. H. Pardey Gr 1908-24 den. 3. Apri
g'l;|;"?lbmcm 1911. Refers to Zacharias granted to the by his en ‘pnl Izl I.'crsmr
illholt. i

3 Prein, JSAS, p. 114,
4 BRMG, 1914, p. 66; 1913, p. 11, st a monthly run of 550. The literacy whi il
4 03 s P % . ch this entail
was reflected ina h_ung:r for all forms of literature. In 1912 the I'nissn'onan:!s nctlc:l mn alarn:allhea‘:
children were singing songs that had come out of Schundli I ful li BRMG
1912, p. 186. j - :
147 ELCIN, New folder entitled Jahresberichte v. H. Pardey Grootf 5
] . H. 1908-24. i
den. 3. April 1911 erster Quartalbericht 1911, J e
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| With the reestablishment of leadership and communication, a new specifically

Herero identity began to develop, which was mediated by Herero understanding
of Lutheran mission Christianity. This did not mean, though, that this new
identity was always one which was necessarily appreciated by the mission.
Mission reports are littered with accounts of sugar-beer drinking and
schoolmasters who had fallen foul of drink.!*® Apart from the expected
missionary dislike of sugar-beer drinking and moonlit nights of all-night
dancing, the mission also turned against that which it saw as a return to heathen
idol worship. The mission cards, initially issued during the period of the camps
to POW's undergoing religious instruction, came to take on a meaning of their
own. The cards, which had once provided Herero and Nama POWs with
tangible physical proof of their existence and identity beyond the confines of
German military administration, began to be distributed as amulets following
the death of their bearers.'**

An indication of the re-found stability in Herero social life, in German South
West Africa, and the striving to complete this life in all its facets, was the
contacts initiated by the Herero of the territory with those living in exile in
Bechuanaland and elsewhere. By 1914 the Herero living in GSWA had reached
a stage of stability and self-awareness in which they could begin to search for
the missing pieces that would complete the puzzle of their social relations. In
other words conditions were such that in GSWA Herero could begin attempting
to reestablish the social relations which they believed had existed prior to the
war. In this it was necessary for them to find the missing links in the chain of
social relations that bound them. Some of these missing links were to be found
in Bechuanaland. In the interests of worker stability and larger numbers of
workers on their farms, some farmers actively encouraged the Herero to seek
to reestablish contact with their kin in exile. Indeed these farmers petitioned
the military authorities, urging them to desist from leading military patrols
into areas where it was expected that Herero, living in Bechuanaland, but
seeking to return to GSWA, communicared with their kin in GSWA and, it
was hoped, would pass through.'® The mere fact that settler farmers urged
the military to allow the free passage of their workers, whom they openly
admirted were communicating with their kin in Bechuanaland, is an indication
of the extreme labour shortage suffered by the settlers, and their faith in their
ability to control the social conditions existing in the territory to their own
advantage. Had the farmers felt threatened by their subjected labour force,
they would never have allowed them to communicate with those who were not
subjected, much less urge them to do 50,15

1 BRMG, 1913, p. 8 Usakos, p. 9 Okahandja; p, 100K hoop. 1914, p. 187 Swakopmund.
1w ELCIN, VII Cupboard uncatalogued, in process of being catalogued by Pastor R. Wefller in
March 1992, In folder simply entitled, Grootfonzetn. Vertraudich! Rundschreiben Serwe 11 No. 7, Eich
in Swakopmund, #2712, to conference.

1% NNAW, BOM 34, [GA.5] Grenzhereros 19/3/14, letter from farmer W, Eichhoff, farm
Okamatangara, 19/3/14, 1o Bezirksamtmann Gargens, in Omaruru. In the letter Eichhoff
mentioned that for the past six months he had maintained o Herero family, under the leadership
of Otjirowi, who had come from the Lake Ngam area, and requested that all police patrols be
stopped so that further families could be induced to cross over from Bechuanaland.

0 WNAW, ZBU 2027, WII d 3 Band 1 Angeleg i der 16 Zinget

B ANE!
Herero, Angefangen 1911, Letter from Bezicksamtmann Gorgens in Omaruru, /3/14, to Governor
Windhoek, date stamped 4/4/14. The Governor followed up the advice and noted in a leuer that,
“the arca between Eiseb and Omuramba u Omatako east of the line Okauha police station
Onosondu Okawakuatjiwu 15 to be avorded by Schutziruppen patrols for the nme being, it will be
necessary Lo request my permission heforchand.
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The Herero, with their re-found identity and leadership, became ever more

strident in their demands for access to land and cattle in the years immediately

prior to the Fiirst World War. Settler farmers, desperate for labour and anxious |

to retain that which they had, began, contrary to strict interpretations of the
law, to provide their Herero farm workers with cattle and plots of land which
could be cultivated, in exchange for services rendered. Shortly after the camps
had been abolished extensive discussion had taken place, on the part of the
settlers and the colonial government, regarding the feasibility of establishing
Herero reserves in Omburo and Otjihaenena. At that stage the ideas were turned
down for a number of reasons. There was, as the settlers were always to remind
the government, an extreme shortage of labour, added to this the creation of
reserves in the middle of settler farms would lead to an increase in cattle
rustling, besides the Herero cattle would form a source of infection for settler
cattle, and the reserves would form a focal point for idlers and political
ferment.'s? However, by 1914, settlers in the colony’s legislative council had
begun calling for a change in legislation so that Herero could be allowed their
own cattle again and that they be granted access to land. Interesting in this
context is the fact that it was the governor, Theodor Seitz, who at this stage
was disinclined to allow Herero access to cattle on the grounds that: “Natives,
with their bad bulls, would then corrupt the highly bred farmer cattle.’ It was
up to the Bezirksamtmann of Omaruru, Gaérgens, to remind the governor that:
“In my district the farmers have decided by themselves, to allow the Natives to
own large stock.’!% In effect by 1914, the Herero were in a position where, in
exchange for their labour, they could dictate to settler farmers that they be
granted cattle and access to land. Failure to provide these two commodities
led to the desertion of Herero labourers from their employers to the farms where
cattle ownership was permitted, to the mines, or to the urban centres of the
territory.'*

Following the formal abolition of the camps in 1908, large numbers of Herero
remained in the urban centres to which they had been transported. Here they
formed the basis of a permanent urban population which made its living by
working for a wage. In Windhoek, Karibib, Swakopmund, Keetmanshoop and,
to a lesser extent, Liideritz, permanent urban populations of Herero were
formed. Initially these populations were based on the military POW camps
and the forced labour camps to which these POWSs had been transferred. Thus
most centres had at least three distinct Herero locations, which had their origins
in the former military, police and railway POW labour camps. As sertler
legislation in the territory became increasingly more racist, legislation was
passed which called for the abolition of the locations in the urban centres, and
the establishment of single “Native locations’ outside the urban centres. '
Though these centres were undoubtedly a refuge for the youth and women,
whom Prein referred to as escaping patriarchy, their activities in the urban
centres did not extend beyond illegal beer-brewing, prostitution, etc. They did

112 NINAW, ZBU 3032, Wil e3 Eingeb Rese i vate Omburo und Otjihaenena Band
1 Angefangen 28/12/10, Kaiserliches Distriktamt Omaruru, 23/11/10, to Kaiserliche Gouvernment
Windhuk & Governor 1n Windhoek, 2/2/11, to Colonial Office Berlin.

1 NNAW, BOM 1-5, Copy of legislative council meetings of 21-23 April 1914, p. B.

™ Prein, 7545, pp. 110-11.

191 See particularly Bley, South West Africa, pp. 263-7.
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not relate directly to the reestablishment of Herero sociery, rather they related

' to the uninitiated youth serving in the army and the police.’®

' Initiates versus the uninitiated

In 1913, at the annual conference of the Rhenish mission in GSWA, missionary

. Kuhlmann entertained his audience with a paper, entitled ‘Characterizing the

Christianity of our Herero communities’. Kuhlmann qpened h]s presentation
by stating that, with Herero Christian converts, heathenism continued to stream
underneath the Christian veneer.

... the old heathen perceptions [Vorstellungen) of the Herero, conunue‘:? operate,
also with the Herero who have become christians, as an undercurrent.'®

It was a view echoed forty years later by Oswin Il(ﬁhler, who sa_!w_(hc conversion
to Christendom as a mere ‘rite de passage’, in that !.he P'nssmn formed an
institution where ‘they could assemble aglain’l but whlch, for the Herero . . .
was to a large extent of transitional insmut:_on‘al value’.!% 1 disagree wl.thf
Kohler's claim that the mission and its Christian message were merely 0
transitional value for the Herero. Instead 1 would argue that the Hc}*erz
conversions were genuine and without guile. The converts, though, retaine
aspects of their cultural background that Iexssper:ued their nerthcrnbl'i‘.umpe:n
pedagogues, but which made conversion all the more acceptable to the
Herero.!® The movement into Christendom by the IHererc was more than mere
‘rite de passage’. It was sincere. The move into Christendom, with its extensive
catechism, schooling and prescribed way uf_l!l‘:,came to replace _the clx;icnsw:
initiation practices that had existed prcvmu_sly."fhese traditiona :;er;lo
initiation rites had ceased to be performed during the war and the ume of the
camps.'® Missionaries were aware that the Chngtendorn that had e_msteddpnor
to the war on the stations was something very different to that which ha _gow
developed amongst the Herero; indeed the very language used am.i i gas
expressed were different,!*! This discrepancy they explained away as bct:ng huc
to the changed conditions and the different class of Herero converts t at they
were now getting. There was, however, more at work than that. :
Kuhlmann’s words indicate that, within the mass conversions of the time,
we can see the maintenance and transformation of Herero culture and_ its
concomitant identity. That is, the underlying structures within Herero society

18 ELCIN, V. Chroniken 31 Swakopmund, 1912. For events regarding beer
life and youth. i

" MG, 1914 . 5T-63. N

" gﬁ(dh{u, ‘Tl;fsmge of acculturation in South West Africa’,in Sociologus, 1956,Vol. 6, No. 2,

. 139, . s
i d north P P a fine ple is that of Rhenis!

i e ;S;Sclltl?r ‘who in ?;'13 :m d a paper to the BRMG annusl :unf.crcn:c cl}t\l‘t:

«Characterizing Chrisuanity 1o our Herero *. In his p K referre:

i i i Christian Herero as an
he ‘heathen’ ideas of the Herero which continued to affect the Al
:ﬁ;e:cur::m. For a published and edited version of the presentation sec BRMG 1914, pp. 57

f’3.Rudnll' Leh ‘Einige und Ausgleichserscheinungen in der Sozialen

Organisation Mittel- und SWA \-rélk:r', in Thurnwald Festschrift; Beitrage zur Geseunngs- und
Vi ! haft (Berlin 1950}, ) N
“?{:;::z::;’xf%ﬁesbm,p. 5.;R. Ohly, The Destabilization of the Herero Language (Windhoek 1987).
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were not destroyed but maintained and brought to the fore in a different form.
It was particularly in the realm of kinship that one saw the maintenance of’
Herero identity. Peter Delius has noted for the Nzundza Ndebele that, following
their defeat, dispersal and enslavement by Boer forces in the 1880s, it was out
of expediency, in that nuclear marriages came to be the only ones accepted by
the Boers. That is, the Boers consciously tried to tear Ndebele society asunder.
The kinship structures that had existed within Ndebele society were
systematically ignored and transgressed. Yet in spite of all this assault, Ndebele |
family kinship structures continued to exist, and were used to rebuild a specific
Ndzundza ethnic identity.!52 Analagous processes occurred in Namibia.
Following the Herero-German war, concepts of northern European mono-
gamous Christian marriages were deemed to be the only ones acceptable by
the German colonial administration. Herero POW's, for their part, used
Christian marriages to prevent the splitting of families; the spate of marriages
in the Okahandja POW camps are an example of this. However, other forms
of marriage and kinship arrangement continued to exist and continued to be
acceptable and relevant for Herero.!®* The terms relating to the importance of |
Herero kinship structures and the taboos associated therewith were clearly not
destroyed. Though Herero society had collapsed, this did not mean that taboos
had simply disappeared; obviously taboos associated with sexual relations,
kinship, food and the like remained in the minds of Herero. Similarly, though
the societal superstructure which had existed to enforce these regulations had
been destroyed, sanction on specific relations continued to exist within the
minds of surviving Herero. Though these Herero kinship structures were
unacceptable in the eyes of the settlers, the settlers and the Herero continued
to act upon them. Even though they denied it, the existence and importance
of these structures was accepted by the German settlers, to such an extent that
they acted upon it. That is, in the eyes of all those involved, the structures,
whose existence was officially questioned, were still identifiably Herero and
clearly made one Herero.

The Herero conversions after the war were different to those prior to the
war, and the missionaries were aware of this discrepancy, but shifted it aside
in the struggle for souls, and the belief thart at least this was a step in the right
direction.'®* For the Herero, however, there was a major difference. The
converts prior to 1903 had accepted and internalized the ideas of morality,
marriage, etc. within the missionary concept of northern European Lutheran-
ism in the late nineteenth century. The Herero converts of the period 1904-
14, though they were true believers, maintained their paradigm of kinship
structures existing prior to the war. These structures were not destroyed.

Thus Herero maintained their identity; onc way of doing this was by
substituting the long and arduous physical and mental conversion into
Christianity (with its name-giving, etc.) for the initiation that had existed prior
to the war. That is, the long-drawn-out process of becoming Christian, with
its concomitant taboos, etc., came to replace initiation into Herero adulthood

1% Peter Delius, “The Ndzundza Ndebele: Indenture and the making of ethnic identity, 1883~
1914°, in Holding their Ground: Class, Locality and Culture in 19th and 20th Century South Africa,
edited by P. Bonner, I. Hofmeyr, D. James, T. Lodge (Johannesburg 1989), pp. 227-58,

'*" In this instance sce the case of Dichl ar Otih where an gelist is married by church
law to a woman in the Windhoek camps, and by ‘customary’ law 10 a woman n the field.

8 BRMG, 1914, p. 63,
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with its concomitant taboos. Herero saw this transformation as being one which
was very real, and refused to take on pt_:lice~ or seltler—asc_nbcd nameshwhg_:n
" being baptized. At birth Herero were given a name by their Mukuru, that is,
" their father as the representative of his ancestors. This name was bound to one's

soul, it was one’s true name, by which one was known to one’s siblings and
Mukuru. Herero who were baptized after the war took on names that bound

' them to their fellow converts and to God. It was a name, and an identity, that
could not be destroyed by mere mortals.'**

Given that Christian conversion came to replace initiation, conflict arose

" between the Herero Christian converts and those whom, in their eyes, were

the uninitiated youth. However, these uninitiated youths were very powerful,
for they served in the army and the police. This is not to say that the bambusen
who became soldiers were not initiated; all recruits are initiated into an army.
It was, however, a form of initiation that was not acceptable to mainstream
Herero society. They had power, but were unimnatgd. Another factor th_gt was
unacceptable to mainstream Herero was the granting of power to Ovatnmbaci
From the beginning of its presence in GSWA the German army had empioﬁre_

Qvatjimba, people who previously had had no power, but now, due to their
status as soldiers, were powerful. For the ageing o_rphans, who had _bc:n
collected during the war, and those Tjimba whq had mmcd the army prior to
the war, the kinship structures open to the civilians d!d not ap_pty.'l hey were
beyond society. Furthermore the morality of the Christians did not appfly to
them, they were a morality and a force unto themselves, a morality and force
which became leaderless when their army was defeated in the First World War.

Conclusion

In essence, this chapter has sought to discover how, in the facc_ of determined
attempts at destroying their society, the Herero were able to survive and r;c:ee;:e
their own society. In the aftermath of the war, there had blcerlx“cslls or the
complete elimination of the Herero as a separate ethnic identity.'® An attempt
was made to take from the Herero all that defined Lh_ern as su_ch, and to mix
them along with the other inhabitants of .\_‘amibia into a ‘slngll:. COIm;:.e:
working-class’.'*” In line with these aims, a series _ol' laws had been passed vlv ic]
‘aimed at totally changing the African’s personality by recreating th.e|r feel :rﬁgs,
wiping out their memories, and making thc\r_legai status dependgpt_on their
political attitudes’.'* Yet the Herero did su;v!:le a;a stepara(e ethnic identity,
w this came about was the subject of this chapter.
andT:: c‘r:sptcr commenced with an overview of Lh_e three groups of I-Ilcre}r‘o
that had survived the Herero-German war, those in the bush, :hosel}{n the
camps, and those in the German army. Of the three groups, the camp Herero
were numerically the most significant. During the course of their incarceration,
the camp Herero converted to Christianity. Tr_lese p_eop!e bggame Christians,
not solely because of material improvements in their condition, but because
1% For a discussion on the importance of names and the refusal to accept settler names, see BRMG,
1914, p. 58,
1w Bley, South West Africa, p. 223.
w7 [bid., p. 224.
14 Thid.
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Christianity provided them with an i i i .
an identit
o Ggrmm R y that existed beyond the confines
: :n.h r.he_ abolition of the POW camps there was an acute shortage of labour
}r{l ¢ territory, The extreme shortage of labour facilitated the movement of
; erero ar]n.::_l aliowed them to recoalesce and begin to reestablish a society. The
“?i.'l:l:egt:c !ct;t?:ar?e o ?c _reesmlgished was based upon the structures t'('mnd
institution of mission Christianity. These structures
1 nity. came to replac

and c9mp1ement those that had existed in Herero society prior to 1904 :cm:
of which had never been destroyed. '

7

This Land is notYours
It is the Property of America & the Herero

1915-23

Introduction

In 1915 Herero soldiers, under the command of South African army officers
and dispatched by their chief Samuel Maharero, assisted in the invasion of
German South West Africa. Eight years later, in 1923, Herero soldiers, now
under the command of their own officers, carried the remains of Samuel
Maharero to his grave in a coffin covered by the Union Jack.

In the aftermath of the South African invasion and occupation of GSWA,
the Herero established themselves with cattle in areas of their own choosing.
As the new South African istration established itself, and sought to gain
control over the territory and its inhabitants, the Herero made use of the
divisions that existed within the new administration and organized themselves
in ways that protected their own specific interests. It was not until the death
and funeral of Samuel Maharero that the disparate groups of Herero came
together 1o establish a single unitary Herero identity.

Herero new age

In 1915 two events occurred which drastically altered the course of Herero
history. South African armies occupied Namibia and the grain harvests in
Ovamboland, in northern Namibia, failed. These two events freed the Herero

from German domination and service.

In 1915 armies commanded by the famous Boer war Afrikaner general and
prime minister of South Africa, Louis Botha, invaded GSWA from the Union
of South Africa. In a short sharp campaign, the once proud and seemingly
invincible Schutztruppe were routed and defeated. In August of 1915, General
Louis Botha accepted the surrender of German South West Africa, from
Governor Seitz at Khorab, near to Grootfontein.'

At the outbreak of the First World War, Herero believed that better times

1 Gerald Lange, Imperial Service (Johannesburg 1991).
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g;:rﬁ upog them and acted aclmrdingly,Thc German authorities, aware of and
(hegpl:sr:on‘ts)y Fh[;sg ti;peclar;]ons, asked the missionaries to curb and control
of their Herero flocks.? This the missionaries attempted
the p 1 tod
;&;ekmg to convince ;h: Herero that war was a “White Man’s W’arP and ‘:ha?,lgz
ma:rr;ro \.:'1:1(;“1:1 remain liuysl to the Germans. The Herero were no,t fooled, and
yme, with clear insight into their true position, replied 1551 ‘
with the following telling answer: “We hav e ir ey e
v e e already been im,
lm]);’ they can ﬁnly wage a war with our masters,” EE
cas as to the benefits of British rule had lon i
. g been prevalent in He
::c[‘;‘carﬁll_n the l}??ﬂs and 1880s Herero royals had regularly petitioned Brir;:ll:
i b:;?e?: LeieCape C:Igny with requests for formal British protection
i expanded upon in the run-up to, and in the i iate
aftermath of, the Herero—German war, wh : e b sals
: 5 »when thousands of Herero found
in Bechuanaland and South Africa unde i iy
i and r the protection of the British ¢
(I:‘I;fse pe'?‘plt provided first-hand reports on the superior conditions in ther(oi‘::é
: ngy, ransvaal and Bechuanaland. Some of these optimistic reports may
Ha?«c een exaggfral:cd,bm xl}ey c:lrtainly helped to raise expectations amongst
5 chrn‘;n _GS\XA. As Rhem_sh missionary Pardey, whose Herero evangelist
eserted him for the advancing South African troops, reported:

:\:0\.::1::1?:;“ hcllclvtd, Ithal the golden age of Omaere drinking had dawned, an age

S be':::y Z?uwd, as they had in the past, lve in the field and on cattleposts,

g Un“f iabn into labour . . . The heathendom resurfaced . . . The heathen

i g = A, Whele wghis 105 6 SoLE mant s e e
A ng one could hear the howl i

::ppencd that on Sundays they danced in church, My r:bukcshggd[ﬁ:ﬁ:h:#e::g:

on as the people saw me they walked away, only to return later to make things

worse. Eventually I asked the natnve commissioner to take ste ainst the eve
E: nel 1eps ag; cver

itz;]l;e{)?fgcth Af;ican fcgces advanced ever further into GSWA, Herero at all
society deserted their erstwhile employers. Farm lab ; 1
: ; ] . ourers, dom
::rv:nts, church c\'nngellstsl, police bambusen, army auxiliaries and éissio;it:;
ma; ers, all abandoned lhlc:r employers and returned to their former arcas of
S:;t:ln;? §0ught freedo;'n; in the field, or found employment with the advancing
rican troops. Herero soldiers and policemen, who h: i
1 ad previousl
[ﬁught \::(h the Germanlforc::_s, now betrayed their cr’stwhile emgloyer:.ba‘{
oroughly shocked Rhenish missionary described what happened in Gobabis:

On 14 June [1915] at 4 o’clock an En,
: ghsh officer and 25 Boers, w
:‘:ot::ncg and straw hats, entered and took Gobabis, the women of’(ioet?;;)Tfrit:\!::
the German fort, now occupied by the South Africans, and started dancing. The
;:":t Imornmg rhc natives showed the South Africans where the arms of the Go!;ahis
e 1 z;emn [cm}l m1htlua] were buried. Betrayal followed upon betrayal, and who
ere the traitors? Precisely those natives, who during their master ha:j lived
exceedingly well, the police bambusen.® S" e

All across the country the Herero lefi i
! t their employers and sought to establish
themselves independently of their former masters. Herero g\.\aho had been

*ELCIN,V. 31 &V. 10 1914.

TELCIN, U i ” =
Tk ncatalogued document enuited Vierter Quartalbericht der Gemeinde Grootfontetn 1914.

*ELCIN, V. 8 1915,
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scartered across the rerritory migrated to those areas where they had previously
lived under their own leaders. Mission teachers and evangelists, often drawn
from the chiefly families that had existed prior to 1904, abandoned their places
of employment and returned to the sites of their former chieftaincies, In some
instances these ‘chiefly evangelists’ were accompanied by new followers, whom
they had acquired whilst working as evangelists in the aftermath of the Herero-
German war. The new colonial administration was inundated with requests
regarding the whereabouts of leaders known to be in South Africa. As the new
colonial administration strengthened its grip on the country, the extent to which
Herero were moving through the country started to become apparent.
Throughout the territory and from far beyond, Herero abandoned areas to
which they had been deported, assigned, moved or fled, and returned to areas
of their own choosing.®

Not only did the Herero attempt to establish themselves at a physical distance
from their former masters, they also attempted to establish themselves
independently of the ideological institutions associated with the sertlers.
Missionaries reported a return to and dramatic increase in, what they termed,
‘heathenism’. In the first years after the South African takeover, there was a
dramatic increase in Herero divorces. In effect, some of the aspects of the
church and its related institutions had outlived their usefulness to the Herero.”

Though the incoming administration was sympathetic to settler farmers, the
virtually immediate release from detention of German settler soldiers being a
case in point, there were two prime reasons why the new administration, in its
initial years, did not take steps to prevent the desertion of Herero labourers
from the German settler farms. The first reason was a logistical one. The South
Africans were initially simply unable to enforce the continued residence of
Herero on the farms of their former employers. South African troops were
engaged in a bloody war in East Africa and could ill afford to become embroiled
in a further conflict in SWA. The second reason why Herero were able to leave
their former employers was directly related to the grear Ovamboland famine
of 1915.

During the course of 1915, the grain harvests of the kingdoms of Ovambo-
land in northern Namibia failed completely. Hordes of young men abandoned
their homesteads in the north, and headed south in search of food and
work.? At this stage there was a great demand for labour. Upon the cessation
of hostilities, the diamond mines at Pomona, Elisabethbucht, Oranjemund,
Kolmanskop and Liideritz, and the copper mines at Tsumeb had resumed
production. Similarly the recently released German settler farmers returned
to their farms and sought to continue farming. The farms and the mines

o The extent of Herero migration can to some extent be gleaned from the new administration’s
professional interest in the matter and 1ts appointing part of its bureacracy to deal specifically
with the issue. NNAW ADM. 76, The return of Kaptein Qorlog from southern Angola can also
be attributed to the recent South African of Narmubia; h , it is probable that the
effects of the drought and his deteriorated relanons with the Portuguese also induced him to return
to Mamibia.

TThe aspect of Herero lishi d d hurches is dealt with in greater detail in a further
section of this chapter.

# See ADM 106 for reports on famine. See E.H.L. Schwarz, The Kalahars or Thirstland Redempiton
(Cape Town ?1920/28). Opposite page 65 has photograph taken by Lt C.H.L. Hahn which is
entitled ‘Skeletons of Ovambos who perished in the 1915-16 famine'; the collection of bones has
been gathered together as it only shows femurs and skulls and no rib-cages.
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::E:i:.liybr;e:t?:g{ 1;2::1;,‘]:‘1:(1 the Ovambc;_ famine victims took up the positions
. e route south from Ovamboland w;
corpses and skeletons of those who had T prg s i
) collapsed and died as th i
make the journey south. In Karibib, i ihis. in a sioale ol
Soatalarbig v o-ne S5 ib, in central }\Tarrub:a, in a single week, in
5, fifty- ambo migrants died. During the fami .
::1:2 ltOOU f:mm: victims perished in Karibib alone.'® 'I‘hg: ncwa:uu:gf)r?:i‘::
‘Ova,mz\;:; s the end of 1915 and early 1916, were having to deal witl‘;
S fgéﬂ?r::ca‘;?;pl; 12 to 15 pfer diem’, established a labour depot in
istribution of the Ovambo fami icti
Ovambo were fed, selected s e isle
\ and allocated to their fi
Commenting on (h,e death I
ne : -rate of the Ovambo fami ictims 1
the military magistrate for Karibib reported: ine vietims in fate 1916,

part::f:;::nat::r?g:és something Ilke_z_ or 3 per month. This, of course, may be
i it or by improved conditions in Ovamboland, and also to l.’he 1

1\.|m ro _Ovam_ho on hand here now, but the imp is so ph fsaer
feel convinced it must be largely due to the compound system i e

1;:;: ?:L);:i{::;lg:;l:o find e;“l;,loy‘;nmt in the mines or with settlers, they
as cattle-herdsmen with Here ho h ui
stock. By early 1917 the new admini 1 Sy o aaarin
¢ stration had begun impl i i
that sought to withdraw Ovambo | far oy Jalierds
> : abour from the farms and place th i
E:: pr:lrllw:fyti:?:r mme?l__h’l"hgﬂeclicy did not meet with muchpemhusf;.’::g};
1€ p: mers. The Officer in Charge of Nau irsi i
district ¢ ited in his I report fgr lf-i}‘l;uw G

::I)éo];f;:;:’:lco‘;is_:ll‘n}w that rhcr;sre still 361 male Ovambo in service in Windhoek
, which figure may be regarded as representin
i y T g the short:
lws::ziig l(s)a( pr;senl not possuhl_:, if one 1s to study the wellbeing of :higf:lrfflelic:;
i jl.m\-'a;'r‘la o labour from _hlm by imperatively disallowing re-engag:mn:; of
i p]afing :hi;::f;sl&?ld, while c:h!:'. policy of withdrawing Ovambo from farms
ways an ines 1s fully appreciated, the pro
::I:ceisuyflla_tl: a gradual one, and 1t is not anticipated that there’ will I::e ;:521;2“313?{
pply of Herero and Damara 1o take their place before the end of 1917.%* tined

The replacement of H b
i adminis[rmone:rem y Ovambo labour was a process that bothered

.. . the introduction of Ovambo lab: i
our, which
;cfuscd to work for Germans and are ¢ , | o ;ﬁ)p::?fd i D;'I:::E s
r:r\-remg:ﬁu_m ;quat on Crown lguds, in locations and wherever else it was posiri;l:;
, in the absence of police, to do so. There appears to be no doubt that as

I NNAW, ADM 76, Hereros General Mi,

Windhock, 14/3/18, to Militacy Magisteate & edionge. T
bl peiact, 10|5.y agistrate in Otjiwarongo.

NNAW, ADM 106 & ADM 77.

12 NNAW, ADM 106, Annual report 1916, Vol
. ! ,Vol. 1. In later years the § i i
:x::;sg::t; ;I::: ?:;rh African compound system, such asy:h: b;ﬁn:'ﬁkﬂ‘:;::rtzgﬁgﬁt
= Whl;'ishny AR 164 1 ‘Tizht:cr Dec. 13 1916 to Magistrate Swakopmund from Sgt of Railways
ptbeion n% at ' beg to inform you that a large quantity of Kaffir beer is bein brcw:d
ses of the Mative compound SARH Walvis bay. The brewery is under tghe strict

supervision of compound oversee who rations out a limi y about twice a wee
d r Swart,
ho ral ited quantity a/ k.

1" NNAW, ADM 1 10, Native Affairs G
7 2 ¥ encral, Annual Repor: 5 .
Affairs, Windhosk, 31/12/16, 10 S y for the Pm:umt::’:?r, Ostrin gL e
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long as the Ovambo retain the positions formerly occupied by the Herero, there will
be a surplus of labour, which the local demand cannot absorb.'

The arrival of the new South African administration and the failure of the grain
harvests in Ovamboland in 1915 freed the Herero from enforced employment
at specific locations. Their former positions of employment were taken up by
Ovambo employees, and henceforth the Herero labourers were free to move
to areas of their own choosing. All over the territory, Herero reoccupied the
farms and lands from which they had been driven in the Herero—German war. 13
Okahandja, formerly the most important Herero settlement in the country,
which had been largely cleared of its original Herero inhabitants, was one of
the centres to which Herero returned. During the course of 1915 two ‘Native’
locations sprang up in Okahandja, one on the site of the old location and
another next to the railway.' Lands in the vicinity of Okahandja were similarly
reoccupied by Herero, causing recently released settler farmers to complain
of Herero ‘squatting’ on their farms.'” Lands around Windhoek and Avis were
also reoccupied and settlers reported that settlements of ‘illegal squatters’,
engaged in horticulture and pastoralism, had sprung up.'® All across the
territory, as the new age dawned, Herero reoccupied their former lands.
Freed from enforced employment and in partial occupation of their former
lands, the Herero sought to consolidate their new-found independence through
the acquisition of cattle. It was in the fluid conditions of the South African
invasion and its immediate aftermath that the Herero acquired the bulk of their
cattle herds. During the German-South African hostilities, German settler
farmers had enlisted in the Schutstruppe and abandoned their farms to the care
of their wives and overseers. Prior to the war some of these Herero overseers
had already illicitly received cattle from settler farmers in return for services
rendered. In the unsettled circumstances of war extensive rustling took place
and large numbers of settlers and Africans lost herds of large and small stock.'?
Often Herero herdsmen and overseers simply absconded with the cattle stocks
of their former masters. Added to this, members of the incoming administration
were involved in cattle dealing, and there was thus an extensive illicit trade in
rustled, confiscated and caprured cattle.? Due to the famine in Ovamboland,
and the collapse of the German administration, which had previously prevented
cattle from entering into central Namibia from Ovamboland, cattle could now
casily be moved into northern Hereroland and traded with the Herero.
Furthermore following the collapse of the German administration hundreds

WNNAW, ADM 76, Draft letter Secretary for the Protectorate in Windhoek, 14/3/16, 10 Military
Magistrate in Grootfontein.

is NINAW, ADM 106, Annual Report 1916 Vol 1, Office of the military Magistrate Tsumeb
5/1/17, Following the war large numbers of farms, in the north of the territory, were abandoned
on account of ‘Bushmen raids’. It is probable that these farms, too, were occupied by the Herero.
s NNAW, ADM 83, Okahan dja Native affairs.

17T NNAW, ADM 83, July 1916, Indicative of the changed nmes, by 9 October the police moved
in to round up all the ‘yagrants'.

s NINAW, NAW 1. NAW 6. SAW, Census of Black population in Windhoek in 18/10/15, Berg
Damaras men 47 1; women 700; children 1521; Hereros 721; 10015 27 1; 1993; Hottentots 239;
320, 171; 739; Ovambos 45;12;4;61; Bastards 24; 40; 26; 90; Cape Boys 52; 22; 12; 86. Grand
Total 4490, This is excluding Klein Windhuk, Station, Race Course and Hospital locations.

15 NNAW, ADM & OCT; ELCIN,V. 8 Ortschroniken Gobabis, 1915.

2 NINAW, ADM 106, 1916 Annual report, Military Magstrate’s Office Okahandia 2/1/17, refers
10 0.C. Nartive Affairs Licutenant Ratttray and mentions that he was later dismissed for cattle
speculation.
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of H i ;
Hem::‘;f:r{:dw“{:_ohhid_snught refuge in Ovamboland were able to return o’
ith their c_al:tle herds.?! In 1915 cases of lungsickness, which had §

previously b 4 ; hal
y been in O d and southern Angola, were reported

in o
orthern Hereroland and were probably caused by infected cattle being J

imported from the north.??

The Herero made i i . ‘
us ini i inabili E
e of the incoming administration’s inability to enforce

its will o 1
- in:olr];?:.h :‘; acquire cattle and occupy territories free from the control
g administration. Here the Herero reestablished themselves as

ca i i ife i
ttle ranchers or horticulturalists. Life in some of these settlements appears |

to ha i i
empl‘;:r E;C;f;r:;';r:;plemu;; In some instances Ovambo famine victims were
S be.L n ?—l er instances the land tenancy relations, which
African adminis."(r!iuiul;we 'Ie‘:ie :racsr:aﬂ::ii;?rrs, cpnt}i}nusd BAEE I nowSoue
Fugiing 1] . E Iy so in the Omaruru district wh
farmin;’g.:dmmmmmrs were warned against the dangers of allowing ‘kat[‘!tsa:
The Herero acquired cattle and reoccupi
: L : pied land to such an e
:?:[r;cgti: ::cdoﬁ;n]go}s-;:s the incoming South African administrati::le:[a;l}::;e(g
et !:nla cr{:iro with substa_nual cattle herds had reoccupied some
sy Namibi: a[r,i hlad r:eslabhsh:ld Herero leadership in the urban
ik peted r'm:l _Tr[dy due 1o a d_1fferr:nt perspective on colonial
administrari(;n w:s T srlg ue 1o rhelexlstlng state of affairs, the South African
s eugiaimia s Hrcc to recognize, accept, deal and enforce legislation
ishe erero leadership, Herero possession of cattle and Hcrer(;

occupation of land.?’ In earl ini
Srapaen ot g " thm}: August 1916, the Administrator’s office in

Under the G i
bt comrl;rrr;i:: Itf:r:;:;:l:e walg sélov:cd to possess any riding animals or large
. . ns of this law the acquisi
sanctioned as 1t will tend to make the Nanuve more ¢ % “DE :nrdif:em'jc'f' e nsz
W

Once H { i

ok Ia;d :lz;znl:;;aghls to the ownership of cartle had been granted, Herero access

et cxamplzont}eh%r‘:nttﬁd,The cgurse of events in the Otjimbingwe reserve

_ e new administration was ill- i
bttt 1 as ill-prepared for its task
y, it was unable to influence th i
way that it achieved the initiau i it e
hs ative, but instead was fi

o " ad was orced to accept the ne

cond i:;_g:;z;hiy a'r?se. In carl_y 1916 administrators in the Karil!:ib distri:t‘

T, Mformes tdi:tt-ri Tcubrull; is ?iow the only Government farm on which

) ct are allowed to run stock.” Withi

y r ¢ @ ck.! Within seven

;nr: ;:Iacr:bmag,xsr.rare in Karibib reported that: ‘2-300 natives [wcrtu]“;n:j:;r::e

i amr:: 5 ang_ that they were in possession of about three times Es mucg

i m.s istmgst which scab had broken out. In an effort to alleviate the problem
g te reported that he would be sending troops to round up the surplus

21The return of K Vi .

ety aptein |‘;: nthcrtv_se known as *Oorlog’ to Namibia 1n 1915 15 a fine example
2 NNAW, ick

;“ \r\aw: !S\“Df:{_p\b?i ;.;l.ngslckm:ss general Okahandja.

* NNAW, A ,

e Scmc’(ﬂ?‘}_’;:?;‘I-[I,-r-u?ciﬂi):-c_ogc; ‘g rhhe M'gnat:-‘ Magistrate Omaruru, 20/11/1916, to
16/2/17, i+ D.F. Herbst, Secretary for the Pron .
Lo/t te e mdicmy siagistinte Crmzue & ADM 85, Cagit. BRI Venter, %:r::iwmghm'
n Cnn:sP‘and:n’c‘c i: \:li:’:&-;.;‘w the Ofbceein Chus Hadwe Dlikire Windhuk endente!
= NNAW, ADM 43, D , ADM 43, Protectorate of South West Alrica, Native Affairs.

stock. Unfortunately for him, his activities were all to no avail. Within five
months of his attempts to round up the surplus stock, the central administration
inWindhoek, clearly unable to contain the situation and forced to accept Herero
demands for more land, sent the following directive to the military magistrate

. in Karibib:
_..1am directed to inform you tha

cannot be sanctioned.
When making your periodical trips in the district, you should pick on some Sfarm
which you consider will make a suitable permanent reserve for natives and forward your

application for authority to establish same with your recommendations.”

¢ the indiscriminate placing of natives on farms

The new colonial administration, having been forced to accept Herero
possession of cattle and access o grazing, had to develop a system of control
whereby it could seek to govern its new subjects. In the case of Hereroland,
this entailed recognizing and working with Herero leadership. Thus in late 191 6,
Traugott Maharero and other Herero leaders were recognized as Herero

headmen and retained on a government salary.®®

Conflict with settlers

Not surprisingly the new-found independence of the Herero galled settler
farmers in the territory. As the Herero reacquired stock and reoccupied
territory, it was inevitable that they came into conflict with the settler farmers.
These saw their livelihood threatened by the Herero, not only in terms of
agricultural production, burt also through the loss of what they saw as their
land and labour. Associated with the improvement in the material well-being
of the Herero was an increase in self-awareness and a sense of independence.
In response to this greater independence and the perceived threat that the
Herero now posed to settler interests, the sertlers submitted a flood of
complaints and allegations, some of which were patently false, to the new South

African authorities.

Various reports have, during the last two or three months, reached the office of the
Native Commissioner, of a proposed rising of the Herero . .. These reports emanated
solely from the German farmers, and although it is not believed that a rising is
contemplated or will occur, yet irresponsible talk and actions by Natives on this
subject should be firmly dealt with. As herein before stated interdistrict removals of
Natives are prohibited, and any tendency to a rising can best be obviated by keeping
an eye on the movements of the Native and by discouraging, as much as possible,
aimless travelling.*

owed up by petitions from settlers

These personal submissions were foll
16, the Agricultural Society of South

organized in agricultural so cieries. In 19

Correspondence between

2 NNAW, SWAA 1134 A158/13 Orjimbingwe rescrve 1916-1924.
dhock, 9/5/16; 8/12/16 &

Military Magistrate Karibib and Secretary for the Protectorate, Win

15/2/17, Emphasis added.
4 Tn the case of Okahand)a, Taugon Maharero was recognized as headman and retained on a

government salary of £1. NNAW, ADM 106, Annual report 19 16,Val, 1, Military Magistrate’s
Office Okahandja 2/1/17.

= NNAW, ADM 43, Report issued by the office
Reported unrest amongst the Hereras.

of Native Commissioner Windhuk 31/1/16 entitled
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West Africa submirtted i
three resolutions to the n ini 1
ew administration
::ic::e;::d‘ that_a num‘ber pf measures be taken. The resolutions submitted d?;ﬂ
i :;(::;}I: .risfh nath d_ogs’, ﬁw carrying of daggers or spears, and the
. The resolutions all dealt with issues th 1
to Herero attempts at achievi e i S e
ieving and maintaining independ

Yo e t : pendence from sertler

rol; that is, the right to hunt, and the control of cattle independent of settler

control. On behalf of the agri i i i
i reqﬁl::(l;!tural society, its president, Bohnstedt, ‘begged’

That the outlying (im Felde) native | 1
| : ocations . . . be removed. Th i
large stock by natives be prohibited. Thart the squatting OneGov::;r:J:n:(ef:f'::::;

natives with their carttle, who do so u i
n order to a: ibi imi
the penod of absence of Natives on leave. ™ 7ot ekow bromiibited: To e

Sorpe settlers r.!id not wait to see whether the new administration would taki
action on I‘helr behalf; instead, possibly in an attempt at for tng the
gn\[rernmcnt s hand, they undertook action on their own behalf RISIBgISRA
hadnmtugol.(l)s; F)f 1916 Paul Ahn_cri, a fifty-one-year-old Hanoverian, who had
o Chag 0 wt_:rrt'u:e (o_be appomt_e@ farr_n manager by a more successful settler.
morninrggin A:.g‘:ste :I:L;llnse :}i‘an;?lgll‘ous |n]|1u13= t%pmpeny. On an early wintcr’;
1 Augus s nert had shot and killed two
maimed a third. The goats had bel e
who lived at Otiihaenegna. Giving cﬁgszgct%;::rlj:::::é.Edward kadiToese;

I am a Herero and reside at Op i 1stri
Otjthenena in this district, 1 know th

;:;n;r&cr;:_\;rsday the 17th. inst, I came up to Grootfontein t:worck iﬁ:r?adl :
o Oniko;ko [tn-\:aé, 1 Ieig my goats at my werft at Otphenena that morning in chayr:ge
e vambo who was employed by Herero in Otjihaenena as a herder]
blophdiiidin io:ita\:'h;n Iklr.‘ft, all alive and well. I returned home at about 6 p m.

. n ykonko reported to me th and
on arriving at my werft I saw two dead goats.e’: TR ol Sy st coms

The case highlights the isti i

< 1e problem existing within Hereroland at the ti

zl]:éartgr;t’); :ﬁ:-:-;")ﬂ and l:n:ep;n:em Herero could afford to employ hte:d;lrrr?;
! ivestock, but did not have sufficient a 1 1

In his defence, Paul Ahnert, who i G e

y A pleaded guilty to the charge, indicated cl
:r;:::iglea Spr‘:;:c? lay: 'ﬁ‘hednafti;es at Otjihenene always tre;pass, they fn::; E:f
s have no land of © etr own.'* The case brought to th
shortage of grazing for Herero livestock and resulted in tl?e] secret:riro:;' :::

protectorate, Major J.F. Herbst, writin, 1 il 1
S S 5 ing the following to the military magistrate

It is extremely undesirable tha i i
! t natives working on the Ra
to graze their gtock on the very li d areas gin : _ﬂWa;er :sj'::Uh'" o a"?[‘?d
mu’ls_thzfa:ecgs_suy t:espa]sls on the adjoiming farms in o;der 1o maintain thc;r -slnc?l
ministrator will be glad if you will consider th 1 a
suitable farm as native reserve in i s rspapinic
f your district where the stock o i
not required to work and all those who are away at work may be L::ll)\;ts Wi

0 NNAW, ADM 43, Bohnstedt in Karibib, 30/4/16, to Military Magistrate.

T NNAW, SWAA 1129 Omitua R i
?:‘Ibif: T ERAR I plgu[Ah::;?E A158/10 Grootfontein 1916-1924, which includes a
id.

B NN, i
AW, SWAA 1129, Herbst in Windhoek, 19/9/19, to Military Magistrate Grootfontein,
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In due course the farm «Ovisume’ was selected by the military magistrate and
approved of by Herbst as a ‘Native Reserve’ subject to the following conditions:

That only natives with exemption certificates, old men and women unfit for labour,
the herds of men at work whose cattle will graze on the reserve, be allowed there.

“That the usual grazing fees be paid for all stock grazed on this reserve,

It is of course understood that regulations may at any time be imposed by this
administration governing the control of the community and its stock there. You will
further make 1t clear to all natives in your district that the reserve is not intended to
be a squatting place for natives who are fit for employment except for those under
exemption ceruficates, but is primanly established with the object of secunng a
Iocation for the old and infirm, and a grazing ground for the cattle of those persons
who are in employment on the farms and elsewhere.

You should now proceed to endeavour 0 collect on the reserve such persons as
are enttled to reside there, carefully registering them and their stock and giving
permits to them to protect them from molestation.>

Thus the unexpected outcome to the case was that, in response to the affair,
the administration created a new “Native Reserve’ for the Herero. The granting
of a reserve to the Herero in the Grootfontein district can hardly have been
what the settlers had hoped for. The case highlights the conflict of interests
that existed in the new administration and which influenced all the legislation
that it passed: the conflict that existed berween settler interests on the one hand,
and forms of liberal native policy interests on the other.

Settlers and liberals

The legislation passed by the new incoming South African administration was
mediated and bedevilled by the conflicts that existed between settler interests
on the one hand, and a paternalistic liberal “Native’ policy on the other. In
effect these conflicts were an echo of the conflicts being fought out in the
legislature of the Union of South Africa, The incoming South African
administrators came from the newly established Union of South Africa where
the 1913 Natives Lands Act had only recently been passed. This piece of
legislation severely limited and restricted the rights of Africans to purchase or
own land in the Union. The land Act had been passed with great conflict
between liberal interests, who wanted to maintain African rights to land, and
settler and mining interests, who wanted land and cheap labour.” These
conflicts were transferred into the Namibian context. Added to this, the various
provinces that made up the Union had different forms of Native admin-
istration. Obviously the new administrators, who were drawn from the different
provinces of the Union, represented differing forms of ‘Native’ administration.
Similarly the South African troops, who came into Namibia and who were
initially involved in “Narive’ administration, came from different areas of the
Union and represented differing attitudes towards the ‘Natives’. It was within
the margins of the conflict between liberal and sertler interests that Herero
were able to reestablish themselves between 1915 and 1923.

WNNAW, SWAA 1129 Otjitua Reserve, & 15 office Windhoek, 27/3/19, to the Miltary
Magistrate Grootfontein,
v §aul Dubow, Racal Segregation and the Origins of Apartheid m South Africa: 1919-36 (Oxford

1989), pp. 29-39.
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The South African invasion forces contained within them the contradictions
that would later come to the fore in the new administration. The forces
commanded by Botha consisted primarily of ‘poor white’ Boer soldiers
commanded by English officers. Botha and many of his fellow Boer soldiers
had fought against the English thirteen years previously in the Boer war. Some
of them had even sought and found sanctuary in GSWA during the war in which
Imperial Germany had supported the Boer republics. At the outbreak of the
First World War Imperial Germany had armed and supported those Boer rebels
who refused to fight with the English and who had crossed into GSWA and
had once again taken up arms against the British. These Boers, who in GSWA
were organized into a Frefwilligen-Korps under the leadership of Andries de Wet,
were later joined by Boer rebels in South Africa under the command of General
Maritz. The Boer soldiers who made up the bulk of the invading South African
forces joined the invasion force not so much out of patriotism and belief in the
British crown, but out of the need for a job and the belief that there was a
profit to be made.

For many South African soldiers there was indeed a substantial profit to be
made in the raiding of cattle. Though the incoming South Africans were
officially opposed to stock theft, indeed the lashing of African stock thieves
was to be permitted, theft took place under the auspices of the British crown,
and a spate of claims were laid against the invading forces.* Events surrounding
the occupation of the town of Gobabis by South African troops in 1915 were
not unique. A few days prior to the occupation of Gobabis, Boer soldiers, who
had deserted from the South African troops, drove about 1400 rustled cattle
through the town en route to the Bechuanaland border and the Boer carttle
ranches at Ghanzi. Shortly thereafter on 14 June at 4 p.m. a South African
English officer and his force of twenty-five Boer soldiers, who were wearing
stolen clothing and straw hats, entered and took the town. The contrast between
the rule of law and looting, between liberal and settler interests, comes well to
the fore. The difference berween rustling carttle and looting clothing is only a
marter of degree, albeit that the one was conducted under the auspices of the
British crown, This form of commerce continued after the war and involved
members of the South African army who had been detailed to deal with ‘“Native
Affairs’. ¥

Settler interests

In 1903 General Louis Botha, defeated after three years of unremitting warfare,
had returned to his farm in the eastern Transvaal. Far from being welcomed
home by faithful servants, Botha was driven off his lands by a hostile group of
tenants who informed Botha that he had no further business there; in effect
they had reoccupied the lands which had been taken away from them twenty
years previously.* Though Botha never did pursue his farming career, he never
forgot his homecoming and henceforth, when he did become one of South
Africa’s leading politicians and later prime minister, his political decisions were
always coloured by the events surrounding his homecoming in the eastern
Transvaal. Anxious to spare his opponents the same experience, and a firm

* NNAW, ADM 78, Native claims for losses sustained during $.W.A. Campaign.

7 NNAW, ADM 106, Annual report 1916. See particularly the sacking of Major Rattray, 0.C.
Native affmrs and others in Okahandja.

M Peter Warwick, Black People and the South African War: 18991902 (Johannesburg 1983), p. 165.
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believer in the necessity of racial solidarity, Botha established extremely lenient
terms of surrender with the German troops. Active service officers were allowed
1o retain their weapons and horses, and were allowed mlchmslc their own places
of residence. German soldiers were permitted to retain thmr' weapons, all:_rcn
without ammunition, but were to be interned at Aus. Reservists, a.ftelr having
surrendered their military weapons, were pcrm!ncd to return to their former
places of residence and continue their occupations. In other words, Germs:
settler farmers, who had fought as reservists and had been ficfeatcd_by the Sout
Africans, were permitted to return to their farms and continue their occupation
i ing had happened.

E iﬁT:E:;E very !i:flg had changed. On the issues of labour Iand Ia_nd, settler
farmers could and did expect a sympathetic ear fr_arn_ the incoming South
Africans. Settler farmers still felt perfectly within their rights when they c?llcd
upon South African troops to re-capture labourers who had run away from
their farms during the hostilities:

i buro reports
To 0.C. S.A.M.R Kalkfeld Native female Sara. Mr. R. _Hacklander Oml
here, that the above nauve female 15 at present :esxdu_lg_ on Onjakava Farm (h;lg:.
Keser) near Kalkfeld. Thuis nauve left him during hostilities, and he now wanis her
back on the farm. Please take the necessary action for her return, as Mr. Hacklander
states that she wants to come back. Charge Office Omaruru, 17/11/15 W, Adams
Sergt /C.%

ican officers, contrary to the official condemnntiox_\ of such German
1;::::::‘;::: found it perfectly r:asunah]:: that ﬁrsf-time African offenders be
lashed for stock theft, and that African children be indentured to sFttler farmers
who felt that they needed labour.*” In the instance of Wmd_hoilk 1.:h_e:
kricgsgefangenen Register, the register of H_erem POWs_, which h:gd hs_te dl cldr
camp deaths and forced labour allocations, were simply mammu;c an
continued by the incoming South African forces.l“ German settler armcrsd‘
who complained about ‘Natives squatting’ on their farms, could rest ﬂssurbe
that the events that had befallen Louis Botha would not befall rher{'n. By October
1916, little more than a year after their defeat at the hands of South ME“.“"
troops in Namibia, German settlers could sit back and _watch as South‘:fr?can
police, acting on the basis of their complaints, moved in to round up ‘African
vagrants’ living on farms in the Okahandja district.**

%{::e::!:he South African troops invaded German South West Africa they
brought along with them aspects of political thought current at the glmehm
their own country, One of these aspects was a form c!f hbe‘rahsm whlc‘h ar;
become known in history as the Cape Liberal tradition. T hg Cape Labe;:
tradition has many detractors, and there are many who maintain ‘hat,.[fh.c
tradition only catered for those already in possession of wealth and power. This

" Jari irs Omaruru 2. JBG's emphasis.

roe :’ﬂi&, igwb: IAIIE:I}:Eative affairs: innu:l reports 1915, Sub-file contmns memhor:\d::l\I;:
military magistrates in 1917 that the secretary for the protectorate was not averse wbt r;‘ -;:mmm
of lashes on first-time stock theft offenders. Another sub-file in the same :Iaftc :rs
information on the indentureship of children aj{labuurer-s 1o various soldiers and farmers.

1 NN, C 111, Register fur Kriegsgefangene. . .

- ]}:—.[\\IQV\:'?:;T!“B?‘Ohh;ndif!\'m;{'c affairs, Settler 1 of natives 5q on the farm
Oviakondua.
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much may be true, but the rruth is also that, in comparison to the other
provinces of South Africa, the Cape Liberal tradition was the most colour-blind
and racially tolerant (in the nineteenth-century sense of Afrikaner vs English)
political tradition in the sub-continent. One of the tradition’s prime spokesmen
was Senator Theo L. Schreiner who, like his more illustrious sister, believed in
the equality and rights of all women and men. Speaking in the South African
senate in Cape Town, shortly after the South African invasion, Schreiner
informed his honourable colleagues that, merely because Germany had
defeated the Herero and taken their land, this did not mean that they, as the
new victors, need do the same:

The Hereros are not an agricultural people but a pastoral people living by carttle
raising, and they need sufficient grazing ground. I think that is only right and just.
We are out to do justice to all nations, regardless, as the Right Honourable Prime
Minister said in London before leaving, of colour or race, therefore do not let us
think that because the German nation destroyed 70,000 of these Hereros, that it is
right that we should take the land which was really theirs and give it out in farms to
white people.#

Similarly, within the South African armed forces that invaded the territory,
there were those who genuinely wanted to improve the lot of their fellow men.
Associared with this, there was a genuine horror at what had occurred in the
Herero-German war, a horror which became all the more manifest when files
of the German administration, which extensively detailed all manner of abuses,
were captured by the incoming troops.** Similarly the incoming administrators
were influenced by what they came across in their new positions. The awe at
what had happened comes across in some of the archival texts. The new
magistrate of Okahandja noted that the town had been ‘the great place of the
Herero people’, yet ‘nothing remains of their great stadt’. In Windhoek the
Officer in Charge of Native Affairs stumbled upon the unmarked mass graves
of Herero POWs to the north-cast of the railway station. ‘This burial ground
is unfenced and a common traffic ground for persons and animals; a golf green
has been built on a portion of it . . . would it be possible to have this site enclosed
with a wire fence please?’® Furthermore during the South African invasion,
African transport riders and scouts who were captured by German troops were
tortured, mutilated and summarily executed: ‘Some had one eye scooped out,
some had their ears curt off, and others were castrated.’** The treatment meted

1 NNAW, ADM 156, Natve Reserves, Speech of Senator Theo L. Schreiner in the senate in the
debate on the question of the second reading of the treaty of peace and South West Africa mandate
bill, 17 September 1919, Schreiner followed up his pleas with personal letters to the then
admunistrator of SWA, Sir Howard Gorges.

“ Oflate it has been claimed that the infamous ‘Blue Book’ which detailed the treatment of Africans
in G5'WA was little more than a piece of propaganda put about to further South Africa’s terntorial
ambitions and Britain's position at the negotiating table. Granted that the book was used to
strengthen Britain's position vis-a-vis Germany, it must however be borne in mind that the bulk
of the evidence contained in the ‘Blue Book’ is little more than the literal translation of German
texts published at the time which were the findings of a German ission of inquiry into the
effects of corporal punishment. NNAW, ADM 255, Report on the Natives of SWi and their treatment
by Germany, Prepared in the Administrator’s affice Windhuk South-west Africa January 1918,

* NNAW, NAW 15,0.C, Nauve Affairs in Windhuk, 25/3/19, to the Secretary for the Protectorate.
The eventual outcome of the case was that the graves were allowed to be forgotten and to this day
have been abandoned.

* Albert Grundlingh, Fighting Therr Own War: South African Blacks and the First World War
(Johannesburg 1987}, p. 87.
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out by the German military to all South African non-wpi[e prisoners of:var
undoubtedly did little to alleviate the horror felt by r.hlc incoming forces. i

With the example of what had existed_befafu and with the hope _and belie
that they could create a more just administration, liberal clem?n'ts in }he ch
colonial government of Namibia attempted to develiop a ne\:v hntwe plo icy.
In April of 1916 some of the German laws regprdm:g the l\-azwelpopu a::on
were amended. Henceforth the compulsory registration 91‘ all Africans above
the age of seven was scrapped, as was the enforced carrying of r.he_ brass pass
badges bearing a registration number and embossed with the Imperial German
crown. Instead, a new pass system was introduced for all males above the a]g:
of fourteen and women living in urban areas. The new system of passes a sg
allowed for the exemption of Africans from corn_pulsory employment, an
implicitly accepted the ownership of stock l;y_Afrul:ms:.“ In August 19 1‘16, a
year after the German surrender, the new administration ISSBICd a memorandum
which dealt with Native affairs. The memorandum dealt with:

(a) the laws affecting the Native Population in the Protectorate of South
West Africa; _ _

(b) the practice followed by the present Administration in carrying out the
provisions of these laws; and

(c) the Native Policy, generally, of the Protectorate Administration.

The memorandum noted that during the German administration,

The right or authoriry delegated to certain officials to flog or chain Natives f:: c;rt;:::z
offences were indulged in to the extreme by practically every member of the Po <
Force in the most trivial cases of complaint by Masters, whilst assaults upon u;vorlr:)cn
by these very guardians of the peace, and by members of the European population,
were numerous, and as a rule went unpunished.

The memorandum continued by noting that P_xf_rica_ns had had no (f;rm of

redress, and that it was this that had made them ‘disinclined to work for :rma;

masters’. Instead a new series of Master and Servant laws were to be introduced,

and .
The Master should be made to realize that a Native, as much as a Eur_opeau, is
entitled to the protection of the Laws of the country from assaults :zon h_ns gir';?;:i
and attempts to defraud him of his just dues under his contract, and that no indivi
whatsoever, except a Magistrate, is allowed to mete out punishment.

However well intentioned this may have sounded, th:lol'.fject was stll the same,
the African was to be a labourer, and a suitably submissive well-mannered one
art that:
1t should be impressed on the Native that w_htle our officers give protection to all,
and will assist every Native to secure for him fair treatment and fair wag:s,fuh:s
incumbent upon him to carry out his service in proper manner to the best of his
ability, and to be obedient and respectful.

 LE. Lenssen, Chromik von Deutsch-Sudwestafrika, 1883-1915, fourth edition (Windhoek 1994},

. 218-19. : i "
?‘pNNAW.ADM 43, Draft of ‘Protectorate Laws in regard to Registration and Control of Natves'
sent by J.F. Herbst, Deputy Secretary for the Protectorate,
Cape Tt 26/4/16. o ) :
'°2’.e\m(§:nADM 43, Native Affairs Memorandum, Administrator’s office, Windhock, 3Blle

to the Secretary for Native Affairs in
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Police officers were encouraged to ‘acquaint themselves wi iti
the labour market in their districts sg as to be able t; \::;\:st: 'i.\f;:?vi:sn\?vfe?:
::;Elggmcdn‘t csntbe fgu;_d‘, b:i.ltl;'on no account can Natives be forced to take
masters indicate i i ir wi
P M e i e mastzr;};;pohce, against their will. They must be
However well-intentioned the new paternalistic legislati
Ithv: |rlnp!emcmation of the new rule of law was hai:::::inbn;agu}::z?;et?é
lnFPtatude, a_nd the attitudes of those employed to enforce it.” As the new
military magistrate in Okahandja put it: “When I assumed duty here at the latter
end of 1915 the position was chaotic. NO records of any value had been kept
since our occupation. The German records were lying about in sheds nr?d
nurb:nldmgs and had been tossed about at the will of anyone who chanced to
pass. ’.2 IAdded o the chaotic condition of his new administration’s records
lhe_ rru!_uary magistrate of Okahandja had to rely on soldiers, to enforce hi;
legislation, who had not the slightest inkling as to the rights of’[he people the
were supposed to be administering. The assault on the Herero chief, Trau cn.!;r
Maharero, in Okahandja in 1918, by members of the new admi;listra?ion
|IlL;su;ated1L31e need for adequate administrators.
n 1916 Traugott Maharero, one of the few direct famil
Maharero _snl] resident in Namibia, had been officially rg'cr;l;:l:::; sb:'friae!::zfj
Sm_nh African administration as a headman in Okohandja.”® Others clearl
believed th_ar the nntiye, irrespective of his standing, should know his place rﬁ
be slubserwent to theirs. On a winter’s afternoon in 1918, troopers Labusch-
agnie and van Rensburg entered the Okahandja location, ostensibly ‘to see if
there were any natives without passes’. The troopers came upon Traugott

Maharero and his councillors. In a st
. atement T i
happened: ent Traugott described what

I was lying down on the ground at the time next to my hut talking to some pe
4 le.
;\s the policeman asked me for my pass he kicked me with his bogted foot aﬁdozicd
must shew him my pass. He said: ‘Stan op [sic], where is your pass’. Headman
?cddard of Ovitoto who was with me at once said to the policeman thar that [sic] is
raugott, he does not carry a pass, [ then told the policeman he must go to the
g‘luarﬁli::t_e :ndhscc him about me as [ did not have a pass. The policeman kicked me
ek kick:l m“; ::ailn‘.uﬂas lying down. I at once assumed a situng position and he

For his part, i S T .
iad part, a rather surprised, not to say indignant, trooper Labuschagnie

I did not kick this boy [at this stage Trau
gott was at least forty years of age] at all, h
did not even get up when I asked him for hus pass, and was very imp:n%nl:r.ai\'i,osi
of the natives hzrlr: shofv some respect towards the Police, they stand up when they
are spolkcn to, this native did not even trouble to get up when I spoke to him and
;1;:]}?:])' lgqc;cd rp:.'l:;h_;:; is the first time a native reported me. I never had trouble in
ing with natives. This narive had no reason for r i i

e dne s g eporting me as I did not kick or

* Ibid., p. 6.

*' In a sense events in Namibia forshadowed 1l . N

Africa. Dubow, Racial Segregation, pp. |07—th= of P paternalism’ in South
2 NNAW, ADM 106, Annual report 1916, military s Office Okak ia 201017,

:: mﬁg. SWAA 2082, Native Chiefs and Headmen Okshandja, 22/6/16.
NAW, ADM 44, Statement by Traugott Maharero, Okshandja 8/8/18. Transcribed as is.
ie, 9/8/18. Transcribed as is.

* NNAW, ADM 44, § by Caspar Hendrik Labusct
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Not surprisingly fellow trooper, Hendrik Jacobus Uys Janse van Rensburg,
supported Labuschagnie’s statement. According to van Rensburg, trooper
Labuschagnie merely ‘went up to him [Traugott] and stirred him with his foot’,
and besides Traugott had ‘replied in a very sullen and disrespectful manner’
clearly not becoming of a ‘Boy’.% With hindsight one is hardly surprised that
trooper Labuschagnie was not disciplined. However, one is surprised to learn
that the incident was used to villify Traugott. Licutenant Liebenberg, the
trooper’s commanding officer, in dealing with the case concluded:

It is quite clear that Traugott is hardly fit to be respected as [a headman]. By his
behaviour (according to his own statement) he plainly shows that he does not respect
a white man, and did not even think it necessary to get up when he was spoken to
by the Police. As native chief he should be more respectful towards white people
and at all umes be an example to other natves.”

Following the assault on Traugott, and others like it, Gorges, as administrator
of SWA, and Swart, the magistrate in Okahandja, complained about the quality
of the men that they had in their employ. Though true concern for the human
condition may have influenced their position, it is more likely that their fear
that SWA would not be incorporated into the Union of South Africa played a
major part in determining Native policy. Gorges, in a letter to the South African
prime minister, touched on the abuses of South African soldiers and also
disclosed the prime reason why these abuses had to be stopped:

“The present state of affairs cannot continue without involving the Umion in difficulties
1n the future over the admimistration of this country.

My fear 1s that responsible officers of police including also I regret to say Col. de
Jager, do not yet realize the need for the closest adh o my ding instructi
on the treatment of natives in this country despite the fact that the need for
improvement 1n that respect is being constantly placed before them. Only within
the last few weeks has the almost unbelievable argument been placed officially before
me by that officer [Col. de Jager], in entering a plea on behall of a policeman here
who pumished a native by chamning him up with German punishment chains for a

day.
Nearly a year and a half ago [in] the Sandveld [a] series of assaults on natves was
reported by Major Thomas, Magistrate at Okahandja (Ma ate of Bri mn

the Union). The reply of the superiors of the men concerned (in order to divert
attention from the main 1ssue) was a wholly unfounded personal attack on Major
Thomas . .. the attack was unwarranted, and to this day nothing has been done to
bring the offenders to book. With this sort of thing going on it 15 not to be wondered
at that such conduct 1s repeated in out of the way places like Witvlei. Stoop is notan
isolated offender. Cases have also occurred recently at Gibeon and Kalkfeld.

I am unfortunately yet without precise information as to the disposal of and form
of government to be provided for this country when peace is signed. I do, however,
assume that the speeches delivered at the Alled Conference in Paris give a very fair
indication of what the intentions of the Briush and Allied governments are in respect
both of the country and its nanve inhabitants. Great use was made in Paris of the
Blue Book compiled here under my directions dealing with the 1ll-trearment of the
Hereros and other tribes of this country by the Germans and the solemn declaration

= NNAW, ADM 44, Statement by Hendrik Jacobus Uys Janse van Rensburg, 9/8/18, Okahandja.
47 WNAW, ADM 44, Liebenburg, O.C. Det 2nd M.C, Police Distriet No. 3, Okahand)a, 9/8/18,
to Mihtary Magistrate Okahandja.

# NNAW, ADM 44, Swart, Magistrate Okahanda, 9/3/20, to the § y for the Pr

Windhuk.
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was made that the care of these helpless and undeveloped peoples is to be one of the

primaxyldunes of the League of Nations and that the custody and tutelage of these ©
peoples is to be given to a state which has shewn that it can exercise a conscience in

the matter.

It is our sincere desire that the control of this country will for all time shortly
pass completely into the hands of the Union but whether the transfer will be effected
w;lhoulldlsscmlenl voices amongst the natives will depend entirely on the quality of
the officials sent here to represent the Union. Chains and the liberal use of the sjambok
[rawhide whip] by the Police will clearly not secure that clean sheet which I am so

anxm:ss:o present when the existing Military occupation of this country comes to
an end.

Though_l the new administration used the issue of German native policy to
_furrher its own ends, there were, following the South African invasion, concrete
improvements in the standard of living of Herero in the territory.® In theory
Afrllcans now had access to the rule of law, were allowed to own carttle, seei:
their own employers, be exempted from employment and live on crown lands.
Asa wilmlc the differing strands of thought, between paternalistic liberals and
settler interests, which made up the new administration’s approach to Native
affairs, formed the field within which Herero had to operate and settlers could
hope to _ﬁnd a sympathetic ear for their complaints. One specific aspect of this
new policy was the creation of Native Reserves.

New reserves

When South African armies invaded Namibia in 1915, the Herero had no rights
o lqnd or cartle. By the time South Africa was granted Namibia as a mandated
territory in 1921, the Herero lived in reserves and had extensive cattle herds.
I'his section, by paying particular attention to developments in the former
pollt:e; of Qmaruru and Okahandja, details the process by which Herero
reacquired rlght_s to the land, albeit in the form of reserves, and seeks to show
how Herero ;_;olmcs and society developed during this period of time.

i The granting of reserves to the Herero by the new administration was a
victory for rh_e liberals and the Herero, who had forced the administration to
accept the fait accompli of Herero in occupation of land and cattle. The new
ad_rmmstration had certainly not intended granting reserves to the Herero
neither Ihad it intended that the Herero regroup as an independent polity,
Indeed in a personal letter to senator Theo L. Schreiner, Sir Howard Gorges.
the South African administrator of SWA, had said as much: -

ISeemg that [h:_ whole of Hereroland was confiscated by the Germans and cut up
into farms and is now settled by Europeans it would be an impossible project, much
as one feels for this unfortunate tribe, to place them back on their tribal lands. The
effect of the German action has been to break up the Hereros into families and they

3 NNAW, ADM 44, Administrator Gorges 1n Windh, 14f i i Ini
SR TR ndhock, B/4/19, to Prime Mimster, Union of
:’ In aletter to Smurs, 9!6!11_8 .hGorgu wrote that he had ordered his magistrates ‘to do their utmost
0 supp any att of the ill of the natives pointing out that a clean record in this
matter was essential of we wanted to use the German maltreatment of the natives as a reason for

keeping this country’. Cited in §.]. Schoeman, Suidwes-Afri iliLé:
NS ey » S s-Afrika onder militére bestuur 1915-1920,
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now occupy broadly, n the local scheme of things, much the same place economically
as do the natives one finds all over the non-native districts of the Cape Province.
They work now where they find the conditions suit them best and are under no form
of tribal junisdiction or control. To restore the Herero Chiefs to the positions they used to
hold or to collect the tribe ( ing that the individual members would be willing to submt
1o such a process) in a reserve would, I fear, completely disorganise industry in this country
and have gravely unsettling effects.*

However, in a process that developed from illegal squatting, to squatting and
grazing licences, through to grazing reserves, a series of African reserves were
established in the territory prior to 1921.

Immediately following the invasion of South African forces into Namibia,
Herero left their former employers and settled on unoccupied land in the
vicinity of their former settlements. Here they commenced farming and a life
independent of the settlers. The extent of this resettlement was such that the
new administration, in attempting to keep track of its subjects, and in the
interests of its revenues, began selling squatting licences to Herero thus settled.
An aspect of squatting was ‘Kaffir-farming’, that is, the leasing of farms to
Africans living there, and/or allowing farms to be managed by Africans. This
appears to have been particularly prevalent in the Omaruru district. In
December of 1916 the military magistrate in Omaruru suggested that action
be taken against the practice and that he be allowed to ‘insist on all absentee
farmers or lessees having responsible white managers living on their farms’.
This, it was felt, would assist in alleviation of the poor white problem.®*
Squatters were blamed for rustling and poaching, and 1t was felt that on
government reserves better control could be maintained on the activities of
the Herero.®?

In September 1916 the first grazing reserves werc established on the crown
lands at Orumba, Okatumba, Fiirstenwalde and Aukaigas in the Windhoek
district, not only because this was an area of Herero concentration, but because
this was also an area, near to Windhoek, where the new administration could
exercise its authority. Reserves were also established for the benefit of large
commercial companies, such as the Deutsche Farm Gesellschaft. For the DFG
a grazing reserve of 12,000 hectares was set aside at Neuheusis in 1916.% In
1917 further grazing reserves were created in the districts of Omaruru, Karibib
and Keetmanshoop.

Officially the grazing reserves ‘produced a marked impression on the native
mind, rendering them more settled and inclined to take up voluntary service,
feeling that in their e their sole p ion stock will be cared for
and protected’.®5 It was with these considerations in mind that, in 1920, it
was decided to allocate crown lands for Native Reserves in a more deliberate
manner. The Transvaal Crown Land Disposal Ordinances of 1903 and 1906

« NINAW, ADM 156, File No. W. 36, Nauve Reserves, letter Gorges in Windhoek, 25/11/19, to
Theo L. Schreiner.

o2 NNAW, ADM 43, T.L. O'Reilly, Military Magistrate, Omaruru, 20/11/16, to Secretary for the
Protectorate, Windhoek. The writings in the margin of this letter indicate that Herbst, as Secrctary
for the Protectorate, was sympathetic to O'Reilly’s suggesnions and asked for the existing legislanon
to be checked for possible impl ion of this plan.

1 NINAW, ADM 43, T.L. O'Reilly, Military Magistrare, Omaruru, 20/11/16, 1o Secretary for the
Protectorate, Windhoek.

w4 NNAW, ADM 43, Bowker in Windhoek, 15/1/17, 10 8 y for the P

5 . Schoeman, Miliire, p. 96, citing Report on Native admunistrauon, 1916, p. 4.
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were implemented in Namibia as proclamations 13 and 54 of 1920, This

allowed the administrator greater freedom of action in allocating crownlands
: £ f 1] i ing
for Native Reserves.®s ! I

Otjohorongo Herero Reserve

The case of the establishment of Otjohorongo 3

c}cnr]ly illustrates that the incoming South Afr?csl::zlcr;?nli%:;:uryt:nn?: ;t?er:]sr; g
to gain the initiative and control of Herero affairs, found itself’in the fa?:e ngf
prissure]fmm the Herero, forced 1o accede to Herero dcmands: for land .
" ?az?;:i::iri I:‘[a;ar"f‘,L. O'Reilly, the magi;tratc for Omaruru, referred to
bk i n}uunts of smc_k held by Africans in the district. Indeed in
it h{ an hprty exemptions from labour had been granted in the
o8 short while previously he had written to his superiors complaining
Ahat anderl;'loe \;r:;:lis&u:;f;ﬂgf;nlynoc_cuplgd farms and engaged in poaching,
y : ce ir-Farming’. In reply, O'Reilly’s superiors ordered

him to ‘have the Native squatters removed tc,» the Nati . e

. : uatters . . . tive reserve or

;::::::1 lng?pLoyant % O'Reilly was a cautious man. He did not emba‘:Iraa:
m\ " ‘;})m" \rushly 1In cfrmmg them 'thaF there was no reserve to remove the Herero
w}.ﬁd.l ik Idc]_‘.?m:’ lhuug‘h, O’Reilly was approached by a Herero delegation,
g bt A?‘ I Daniel K:arlko, who had returned to Namibia at the time of
i ltlhcan invasion, Moses Mbandjo, Christof Katjiume, Gerhard
i t l.Lsurvmng members of the former Herero elite of the Omaruru
wmr}; = nd others amongst 1ts ranks. The delegation came *asking for farms,
> e can stay to 13“’ with our Children, for the blind and crippled people
an pe_up]c in work’. _Thc Herero were well acquainted with the fears
cnt:rl’.alrlxcld by the Magistrate, settlers and administration alike, of the Herer(;

as parasitic, work-shy slackers, and they clearly sought to allay these f b
including the following requests in their text: Y e

l\::;;:l:rl‘ l;;éaql;c all m;—r }.:(uc];' to the farm appointed by you, also the stock of the
service of the whites, so that we need not trouble th
their farms with our stock. Our sto sl ot
5 2 stock will stay on the farm, it 15 not
: to say tha
want to leave our services [employment] and stay on the l'a,rm‘ v e

Daniel Kariko and his collea i

iel gues knew exactly what it was that the

a;lmmlstratmnl expected of the ‘Native’ - obedient stock-free labour — ;nr:]ci\:

;reu' te_xbt] thrcy included th_e kc_y to this treasure. After having named a number
possible farms, and having in passing informed on a German settler illegally

occupying a farm, the delegation concluded:

;!:t;mh?s\::c::l ::gl[ehlohugrc:_mrcm‘ that 15 why we are asking the big chief for this
s e big chief to assist us in this martter, so that if we :
o to farm
;::r;l;l:{g\f(}:(rhwtﬁ-k that ww:j:uccd not take all our stock with us. When we gga searchin;
aith all our stock it is very difficult. That 1s the reason wh
2 y plenty of us
cannot obtain work from the white people on farms because they say we cannot

:: 5.]. Schoeman, Militére, p. 96.
T NNAW, ADM 106, Annual report 1916,

" ADM 43, Herbst S 3 3 -
i erbst Secretary for the Protectorate inWindhoek, 16/2/17, ta the Mihtary Magistrate
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engage people with plenty of stock 1n our service. Therefore most of the people that
can work has [sic] a lot of stock.®

Kariko and his colleagues succceded in their plan. Within a day of having
received their petition, O’Reilly completed and sent off a detailed four-page
letter to the secretary of the Protectorate. OReilly was sympathetic to the
request and fully endorsed the petition, even going to the extent of including
a little piece of historical justification:

The Berg Damaras here have a very large Reserve on the Omaruru river at
Okombahe. As you are aware, this area was allotted to the Berg Damaras in former
times, by the Herero Chiefs, who were then masters here. The fortunes of war have
now left the Hereros without any ground at all, while their former slaves and subjects,
the Berg Damaras, still retain the excellent Reserve. This fact is a source of much
heartburning and envy on the part of the proud Hereros who still regard the Berg
Damaras with contempt.™

1t is clear that Daniel Kariko, the former Omuhona of Okombahe, who had
been removed from power by Theodor Leutwein twenty years previously, had
got through to Major O'Reilly. After having touched on the Union government’s
commitment to segregation in South Africa, the near certainty that SWA would
become part of the Union, and thus that segregation would be implemented
in SWA, O’Reilly referred once more to the petition:

To come to the petition itself, there is nothing unreasonable m it . . . When one
considers their past history and treatment, it will, 1 think, be readily conceded that
common justice necessitates the granting to them of some small corner of our vast
area which they call their own, and fairness likewise suggests that they, a prouder
and an infinitely more superior tribe, should, at any rate, not be allowed to remain
in a worse position than the Berg Damaras.

1t is also obvious that a Reserve of this kind will conduce towards better Police
control, less friction with white farmers over private stock grazing, less indigency,
and that sense of having been treated fairly which, m the Native mind, always tends
to make better and more honest servants. At the present time, the Herero with stock
of his own is in an unenviable position; he is dependent enurely on the tender mercies
of the German farmer, who takes advantage of him as far as he can. At Okombahe
the Berg Damaras keep all their stock. The old men and women and the children
tend the stock and cultivate the gardens while the young men go to work on the
farms. They work better and are on the average more willing than the Herero, simply
because there is behind that labour a feeling of quasi independence, the knowl dg
of a ‘Home' to return to occasionally for a rest, where the ‘old folks’ are living an
where the German master cannot dictate and domineer.™

O’Reilly was impressed by the petition, and realized that he may have seemed
a little too enthusiastic: “You will pardon me for somewhat getting off the point,
but 1 feel rather strongly on the native question as a whole and think we, in

s NNAW, SWAA 1140, Native Reserves Omarury, petition, 17/4/17, presented by Moses
Mbuaandjou; Daniel Kariko; Christal Katjimuine; Kavikunino Turitjo; Elia Riatjama; Gebhard
Katjimuine; Gortlieb Uspuruapi; Gerhard Zeraua; Gottfrid Ndjiharine [Tiharine]; Samuel
Kariko; Alexander Kakara; Jacobus Nguazireko; Josua Kaumbi; Paulus Tiiscua; Erastus
Katji Alfred Katji Tjeepi Kaiminia; Simeon Kuzecko.

20 WINAW, SWAA 1140, O'Reilly in Omaruru, 18/4/17, to Secretary for the Protecrorate, Windhuk.
T NNAW, SWAA 1140, O'Reilly in Omaruru, 18/4/17, to Secretary for the Protectorate, Windhuk.
O'Reilly’s view regardi the ion of reserves refl d the ideas of ].H. Pim, a well-known
liberal thinker on ‘Native Affairs’ ar the time in South Africa. See, Dubow, Racial Segregation,

pp. 23-7.
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this protectorate, can do mu i
: ch towards helping to solve so its difficulti
b me
g:-'\ing to ﬂ?c very novel_ conditions of the country.” The mag?sftl::tglﬁczlms
Pmlec:rr::;:edha:out 1|1“s enthusiasm for J.F. Herbst, the Secretary f:r Itjl?ct
¢, had no hesitation in granting permissio Rei
. ' n :
of ;h.: _lclad: ng Hereros’ to seck out a suitable locality. ™ B eTAR eIty
thexz;:dgoof :}]erlg and !:15 cu::npaninn_s had hoped to establish a reserve on
AR ef gab river. For a variety of reasons though, this plan was
b ;n?nde of the prime reasons being ‘the fact that the Hereros who
s \ﬁiﬂ;Tio::’e ,I_.I(,)wcrc lernﬁ_ed at the idea of being placed on neighbourly
- However, a suitable stretch of land was found i icini
v ; s in th
?jrd:;:igic}er:[anl pol:Fc station at Otjihorongo. One of the prime moii‘\r:;ir::r?s’
chemmcng: this locality was the fact that it was surrounded by ‘unsurveyed
g ?‘g:_'ound_, and 1t [was] far enough away from the nearest farm’;rs
accomp;g_ rcnlct[::ganuh the natives’. Furthermore, ‘the Herero headmen who
ie "Reilly] were very satisfied wi thi i
theI veld good and the water sufficient’,™ with this area, and considered]
. (;1, ;:llgl.rystzﬁre;nberhl_v 17 ].F. Herbst,_ tl'lxe secretary for the protectorate, wrote
e impne :[1:3 rn:‘1 that the administrator had ‘approved of the selection
and recommended by you'. Permissi
create a Herero reserve subject to the fo!lnm?rng condri:?;s::n e

1. That i i i i
e Ia;)::x}; 1;2»:5 :rnhfexempuon certificates, old men and women unfit
s erds of men at work whose ¢ i 3
BTl 5tk attle will graze on the reserve,

2.That the usual grazing fees be paid for all cattle grazed on this reserve.’

grﬁ;:illiosrl?as on solving the poor white problem involved ensuring the
his balic Yh ppointment of white falrm managers on all farms; in keeping with
tradin fa{'n'f re-']:::‘mmended that his former interpreter, Dixon, a son of the
'Superginten::l:n\; cf h:d first arrived in the 18405, be offered the position of
as Superintend 0% the reserve. It was envisaged that ‘in addition to his duties
poseaarehmonrs ent D:xor_l could act as a Game warden, and probably
year after Karuix!::;ns\.gnlti Ih‘?;Hc::-I]lim o dls;:ln\éered'_?e In carly 1918, less than a
i : eagucs had submitted thei iti

;T:;;E;‘;?mr uerWA appointed Dixon, as the superintcnde;r:,iﬁ&rg]?:i:::,?
Reserve, nr?encrlfs:tz?rfé;"?‘?s” as the headman of the Otjohorongo Native
ool et e Native Reserve to be established under the new

The establishment of the Otj

ohoron, i
that need to be looked at in turn. g0 Reserve details a number of aspects

. Through sheer force of numbers and presence

T NNAW, SWAA

AR SS?WAi\llI 40, 0'Reilly in Omaruru, 18/4/17, to Secretary for the Protectorate, Wi

™ "\'-I\W' WAk 140, H::rb_sl in Windhoek, 4/5/17, to Military Magistrate Oma o Nanchaks
ly - 140, O'Reilly in Omaruru, 23/8/17, to Secretary for the Pmucrluurri-rc.

TP NNAW, SWAA 1140,].F. L
Magistrate Omaruru. J.F. Herbst, Secretary for the Protectorate in Windhoek, 7/9/17, to Military

* NNAW, SWAA 1140, Mi
Protectorate.,
7NN,
m;’?nzf‘fk\w;;}z”;z’ ALl _S_BFZH Nﬂll\fc Reserves Ogoh go Omarury, Admini i
3 5 l‘(_) Military Magistrate Omaruru, Even though Dm(':n was 1o be appo?n:l:;

litary Magistrate in Omaruru, 20/12/17, 1o Secretary for the

superintendent of O and Christof K
reserve, it is not is ik ATk ; was to be appointed head
= rese'rvi. not surprising that in oral testimony Daniel Kariko is credited with havingmm'-?'rnms
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on the land, the gathered Herero were able to force the administration to
change. Failure on the part of the administration would merely have led to an
increase in the number of squatters, herding stock and ‘Kaffir-farming’ on
settler farms. The Herero were able to influence the manner in which the
administration brought about its change in policy. The Herero were able to do
this for the simple reason that they knew how to approach and manipulate the
administration. This was particularly true of Daniel Kariko, who, through his
extensive sojourn in South Africa, was well-acquainted with the whims of South
African administrators. The case of Otjohorongo also indicates the extent to
which decisions regarding ‘Native Affairs’ were heavily dependent on the
personal views of the new administrators. Once the Herero were able to
convince O’Reilly of the validity of their needs, they were effectively assured
of their reserve. In the aftermath of the German administration, the Herero
made use of the inconsistent approach of the new administration, with regard
to “Native Afairs’, to improve their well-being.

Qrumbo

The establishment of Herero reserves was an attempt by the new South African
administration to contain and control the Herero. In the event they were simply
overwhelmed by the sheer number of Herero who flocked into the newly
established reserves. The hard-handed reaction of the South African
administrators served only to further radicalize the situation and aid the further
development of centralized Herero leadership. This process is well illustrated
by events in the Orumbo Reserve near Windhoek.

Immediately following the South African invasion, African stock keepers
began acquiring cattle and ‘squatting’ on the lands surrounding Windhoek.
Stock returns for August 1916 show that, in little more than a year after the
German defeat, Africans living in the Windhoek district had acquired more
than a thousand head of cattle, 14,000 goats, 3000 sheep, and a fair number
of horses and donkeys.” Though grazing and squatting fees were collected for
this stock, it was clear the new administration had no intention of allowing the
situation to persist:

It is however felt . . . that were it possible to in some degree concentrate this stock

at centralised points two useful purposes would be served; I. Large areas of

Government Grazing ground would be reserved for Government stock which at

present are being overrun by native stock. Secondly there would be less difficulty in

controling the movement of native stock and the collection of fees payable would i

large measure be simplified and a closer check kept on squatting generally.™

South African officers, accompanied by three ‘headmen’ drawn from the
Damara, Herero and Nama communities of Windhoek, were sent to investigate
lands to the cast and west of Windhoek, with the intention of finding territory
suitable for the establishment of reserves.® In September of 1916, partly in

 NNAW, ADM 85, Native Reserves, General Windhoek District, Native Stock Census Windhoek

Cartle Posts, August 1916.
" NNAW, NAW 12, Officer Commanding Native Affairs in Windhuk, 26/5/16, to Deputy

Secretary for the Protectorate.
0 NNAW, ADM 85, Native Reserves General, Windhoek district, Bowker, Report on general

conditions of section of country inspected, Windhoek 10/7/16.
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OKATUMBA NATI
1600 VE RESERVE response to settler complaints and African realines, the new admimistration

reserved the farms Orumbo, Okatumba, Aukaigas and Furstenwalde as Nauve
grazing reserves ®

Due to the crowded conditions and the constant harassment of stock, serious
diseases had broken out amongst Herero livestock, prior to the estabhishment
of the reserves In the last seven months of 1916, no less than 1500 head of
small stock were lost to ‘seab’ alone Following the reservation of the farms,
stock was rounded up and dipped at Aukeigas before being allocated to one of
the four reserves The new administranon was intent on pursuing a policy of
segregation In line with this, Herero and Damara were to be separated
Aukeigas and Furstenwalde were earmarked for Damara settlement and
Orumbo for Herero settlement * By the end of 1916 5867 small stock
belonging to Herero, which had been ranging on the Windhoek commonage
and the farms Oneama and Aukeigas, had been dipped and were being
concentrated at Orumbo Apart from the small stock no less than 500 head of
cattle had also been concentrated at Orumba and Okatumba Concomitant to
the establishment of the grazing reserves, grazing licences were sold at 3d for
ten small stock and 3d per head of horned cattle, horses, mules and donkeys
The charges levied were considerably less than those which had been charged
by farmers on whose land Herero stock had previously grazed The grazing
licences were introduced to counter squatting, encourage settlement on the
reserves and, more importantly, to force people to enter 1nto wage labour In
a year and a half 1616 licences were sold It1s necessary to bear in mind that
the reserves were also constructed to facilitate the removal of indigents from
the urban centres Or as the budget-conscious annual report on Nauve Affairs
for Windhock 1n 1916 put it

There are at present 50 indigents 1n the locauon being fed ata monthly costof £14

This expenditure could be reduced ¢ derably by settling these people at Orumbo
where they would have use of the milk from the ‘Commumty Cattle’ and where they
could make gardens, the water supply in the Nosab Raver being sufficient for that
purpose ®
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Along with the introduction of grazing reserves all manner of measures were
introduced to regulate the acquisiion and possession of cattle and to ensure
the steady supply of labour A headman was appointed at Orumbo Branding
irons were bought on government |oans, thereby facihtaung rights to ownership
and state taxation purposes Those men in possession of more than fifty head
of small stock, or ten head of cattle, could, upon payment of 10/-, be granted
labour-exempuion cerficates * In order to further reduce squatting, as well
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st In the 1950s people lving at Aukeigas were forced to leave m terms of the Group Areas Act

The inhabitants were deported to Damaraland Ther former home was rransformed mto the Daan
Viljoen game park Foll g Mamb {epend the former mhab of Aukeigas and
their descendants returned to reclaim their land Throughout 1092 and 1993 they, along with
their herds, squatted along the road that leads from Windhoek to the game park

52 WINAW, NAW 10, Capt Venter, Supenntendent of Reserves, in Windhoek, 3/1/19, to the Officer
in Charge Natve Affmrs Windhoek District

» NNAW, ADM 110, Nauve Affars General, Annual Reports, Bowker, Officer in charge of Nauve
Affars, Windhoek, 3 1/12/16, to Secretary for the Protectorate

» By early March Bowker, who was faced with an mnflux of no less than 400 pieces of stock a
week, was rec ding that the p cernficates be increased up to 100 small stock and
20 large stock In the interests of fulfiling labour requirements Howker also advised that “all able
bodied male natives be called upon 1o give six months of the year to labour independently of their
stock possession’ ADM 85, Bowker in Windhoek, 20/3/17, 1o Secretary for the Protectorate
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as ensure an adequate supply of labour, it was made obligatory that ‘a herd be
responsible for not less than 100 head of small stock’.®* Be that as it may,
conditions at Omburo were vastly superior to that at Windhoek itself: ‘The
mortality since arrival at Orumbo is practically nil ** The water supply on the
eastern and southern reaches of Orumbo was ‘excellent’. It was suggested that
boreholes be sunk in the northern sector of the farm, and that if this were to
be successful, the farm could carry approximately 12,000 head of small stock.
Furthermore, the annual report for 1916 reported that the establishment of
Native Grazing Reserves had produced a marked impression on the ‘Native
mind’. An impression, according to the report, which, most importantly,
rendered the African more settled and inclined to rake up voluntary service.
For, stated the report, the African would know that in his absence his sole
possession, stock, would be cared for and protected: ‘stimulating their fast
expiring ambition to acquire more stock with obvious attendant advantages to
the labour market. Money they must have and they realize that through labour
alone can they get it,’#

In March of 1917 Native Affairs officers were clearly overwhelmed by the
number of people and stock flooding into the reserves:

In many cases where a farm labourer has a large number of stock the farmer either
refuses to allow the native to graze his stock on his farm or else charges extortionatre
fees for grazing which compels the native to resort to the reserves. As a result of this
we have stock coming on to the reserves from all parts of the district at the rate of
about 400 a week.*

A cursory glance at the stock figures for the grazing reserve at Orumbo between
December 1916 and June 1918 shows that, though the average number of stock-
owners remained constant, the rise in the number of cattle was simply
phenomenal. It is clear that small stock were being traded for cattle, and the
inverse relationship between small stock sales and cattle acquisition is clearly
shown. From the moment the reserve was established Herero exchanged their
small stock for cattle. If, for the sake of argument, we accept that a single head
of cattle consumes the equivalent of ten head of small stock — they were taxed
accordingly — it will be noticed that within a year of the grazing reserves opening,
the number of cattle, 1212, or the equivalent of 12,120 head of small stock,
had already exceeded the land’s grazing capacity, which had been estimared
to be at 12,000 head of small stock. The exchange of small stock for cattle and
the overall accumulation of stock are mirrored in the grazing reserve at
Okatumba. Here, however, the number of stock-owners in the reserve grew
four-fold, and this reflects the continued growth of small stock in the reserve.
The graphs also reflect that the Herero moved their stock during the rainy
season and purchased new stock immediately after the rains.

Already in early 1917, once the true extent of Herero stock ownership had

* NNAW, ADM 110, Native Affairs General, Annual Reports, Bowker, Officer in Charge of Native
AfTairs, Windhoek, 31/12/16, to S y for the P
* [bad.

" Bowker referred to this as the ‘Orumbo Water Scheme® and came o determine a major part in
the reserves development.

" NNAW,ADM 110, Native Affairs General, Annual Reports, Bowker, Officer in charge of Native
Affairs, Windhoek, 31/12/16, to Secretary for the Protectorate.

" NNAW, ADM 85, Capt. P.J. Venter, § dent of L i
Officer in Charge Native Affairs, Windhoek,

nWindhoek, 8/3/17, to the
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started to become apparent, Captain Bowk:r', the officer in charge of Native
Affairs in the Windhoek district, had written to the secretary for the
Protectorate:

There are important issues connected with the reserves which it is felt should b;
brought before you at this juncture and not left in abeyance until a European lan,

settlement scheme may be introduced. It will be apparent . . . that thcrc_i, not
sufficient grazing to accommodate all the native stock possessions c.[ the d1su|c|t.
When we arrive at normal weather cond and the p grass supply

is reduced to its average complications will arise and i}' w@ll again b:_n:c:ssary o
revert 1o the old unsatisfactory condition of affairs by distributing native stock aver
various Government farms in order to prevent their death by starvation . . . there is
only one lasting solution . . . earmark a block of ground sufficient in extent to
accommodate native stock for the next 20 years.’®

Bowker recommended that a further block of farrps be reserved for Native
grazing. In response to Bowker's request, Captain P.J. Ve_nl:er, the super-
intendent of reserves, was dispatched, in true Wcslem style in a tent wa,ggm}
drawn by fourteen mules, to investigate a series of ten farms to the cnst;
Windhoek.” In the conclusion to his reportVenter described what had already
occurred at Orumbo and Okatumba, the two reserves which had been opened
less than a year previously:
1 found the small stock in such poor condition that they are dying off in large numbers
daily, dried carcasses can be scen in large numbers on stacks at almost every llut}.l 4
. The farms Orumbo and Okatumba are sadly owlmtocked, and _conos!cqucntly the
grazing is well nigh exhausted and the large stock in poor condition.

To alleviate the stock problems the ten additional farms, invcstlg_ated byVenter,
were reserved for grazing and in September of 1918 a water-boring prugrarnrn‘::
was started. Perhaps a little optimistically Bo\:\rker commented on Venter's
water-boring programme, ‘if he succeeds in ﬁnd!ng adequate water at 5 points
1 think the question of grazing of native stock chlll’l:;: solved for many years to
as the Windhuk district is concerned’.
co?:ir?:llf: :fcntter, who was accompanied by ten Herero 1abm}r:rs efngloyl';d
at 10/- per month, attempted to drill for water \I-m.h hand drills. W:ﬂﬁn e
first week of operations the drilling tower, not having been anchored, fell over.
After three months, with a lot of ingenuity, broken screws and_borrowcd food,
Venter reached a depth of 95 feet but no water,* added to which the hollc had
to be abandoned as it was too crooked and bent to azllow for fqrtber dxl*lllmg.
Not surprisingly Bowker came to the co_ncluswn that, ‘locked at in th:dhnghtest
light I fear the prospect of finding sufficient water on the new proposed reserves

N in Windhock, 19/3/17, 10 § y for the Pr

" ;ﬁﬁ;’, ia?k% aIz‘. %of;:::: :: Charge ol'}‘.\tlu'v: Affairs in Windho:k. 19/4/17, l; lhlt' D;ﬁqri

Assistant Quartermaster-General, At this stage there wasa russl_e going on between B all]vt M:r::h

and the Quartermaster-General with regard to the farms Aukeigas and Furstcgm le. n{or i

of 1917 the Deputy Assistant Quartermaster-General _had written to the Secre ar{animals

Protectorate suggesting that the farms be used for the grazing nl‘jr_unspart a_nd :.;rn}oun o

and that the farms be placed under his jurisdiction, Not surprisingly Native ll:?»:‘ o

already faced with a severe land shortage, protested vehemently against the sussg ion. o

2 NNAW, ADM 85, Venter in Orumbo North, 21/8/17, to the Officer in charge Nauve A
i t.

y:'g;:’\gf:;?;ﬁcsi. Bowker in Windhoek, 15/10/18, to Secretary for the Protectorate.

“ NNAW, ADM 85, Venter in Windhock, 3/1/19, to Bowker.
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with hand boring machines within a reasonable period of time is poor’. %
Consequently a request was submitted for a *steam boring plant’ for operation
on the reserve. Bowker believed ‘that Capt. Venter has a natural aptitude for
working with machinery and I have no doubt that with a few days training under
an experienced mechanic he will be able to undertake the boring operations’.%

Until Venter started working on the drilling machines, Bowker had
commented that his work was ‘most thorough [and] accurate and reflects much
credit on that officer’.” Elsewhere Bowker had noted, ‘it is with much pleasure
that [ can report to you that all his work is most thorough . . . his attitude of
mind to the native is good, if anything it errs on the side of kindness’.* However
once the man, with a natural aptitude for machines, began working on the
water-drilling programme, his other work collapsed.

From the very beginning of the South African invasion, Herero had begun
reacquiring cattle and with that the need for land. Along with the increase in
cconomic power and independence, there was a change in Herero conscious-
ness, a willingness, on the part of the Herero, to stand up for their rights. In
March 1919, shortly after the steam drilling had begun, a delegation of Herero
approached Venter to complain about his orders. Venter had ordered a number
of Herero living on the northern boundary of Orumbo to cease watering their
stock and planting their crops on the neighbouring farm of Otjivero. The Herero
stated that they had already planted and that they would remain where they
were. Furthermore they demanded thar ‘the Government must give them
additional farms to graze and water their cattle on’. Venter was clearly out of
his depth. In a report on the affair, touched by pathos and reflective of his
firm paternalistic belief in the civilizing mission, Venter wrote of the affair:

I...explained to them that we are doing our best to get water on their proposed
Native Reserve and that if they would only give a helping hand we shall soon have
enough water and grazing for their cartle,

Their answer to this was that we shall never get water on the new proposed native
reserve, and therefore the Government must make some other arrangements.®

Venter granted the delegation permission to lodge their complaints ata higher
bureaucratic level, and with that ensured that he would come to bear the brunt
of his superior’s wrath. For though, strictly speaking, all people were to have
access to the rule of law, Venter was meant toactasa doorstop. That 1s, Venter’s
role was to prevent the ‘Natives from being restless’. Bowker's response, as the
officer in charge of Native Affairs in the Windhoek district, was quick, and his
retribution merciless and brutal,

In Namibia in 1919, the trees of Orumbo were to be the ‘big stick’ that
Bowker wielded in his ‘soft-talking’ approach to the Herero of Orumbo., Shortly
after the opening of the Orumbo grazing reserve in 1916, Bowker had written:

Orumbo 15 a richly wooded farm and the indiscriminate cutting of trees has been

* Ibid

¥ NNAW, ADM 43, Bowker at Okatumba, 15/9/18, to the Secretary for the Protectorate.

* NNAW, ADM 85, Bowker in Windhoek, 15/10/18, 10 Secretary for the Protectorate, Audit of
Books and General Inspection of Native Stock Reserves,

“ NNAW, NAW 12, Superintendent of Reserves, Venter, in Orumbo, 1 3/3/19, to Officer in Charge
Narive Affairs. This piece of text was written in Niger, where my wife was employed in a Dutch
development project. The sentiments expressed by Venter clearly echo the sentiments expressed
in the present by equally paternalistic believers.

¥ NNAW, ADM 85, Bowker in Windhock, 19/3/19, to Director of Works, Windhock.
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strictly forbidden, they may only be cut for building purposes; there_ is a sufficient
quantity of dry wood to meet the cooking requirements of the Natives for a long
pernod. o

On the farm Orumbo there was a white thorn forest, prubablyl consisting of
camel thorn trees, approximately four to five hundred metres wide and about
three kilometres long. When the reserve was opened ‘the most explicit orders
were issued that this forest was not to be cut’.'®! At the opening of_xh_e_reserve,
special meetings were held to inform the inhabitants of the prQh;b:I1on,Th:
administration believed that there was sufficient ‘hakkies’ t:m!;er fc:r the
construction of buildings, kraals and garden fences, and reserve inhabitants
were given permission to cut as much ‘hakkies’ timber as they ngeded. However,
in 1917, contrary to what Bowker and Venter had ordered, it was observed
that some white thorn trees had been cut. Meetings were held to remind _the
reserve inhabitants of the ban. In April 1919, following the Here_ro delegation
toVenter, which had demanded more land and water, Bowlker seized upon the
issue of the trees of Orumbo, as an instrument with which to castigate the
Herero.

Bowker, irritated by the Herero delegation that had approached Venter, called
every man on the reserve to a meeting. There, as he noted in his own words:

11ssued a final warning and told them that if any further cutting took place, I would
burn their kraals and garden fences and cause all persons residing in the forest to
remove to the main location, and destroy their huts.'*?

Two months later, in July 1919, on a blustery winter’s afternoon, Bowker
returned to Orumbo and addressed a ‘meeting of natives on Orumbo on the
subject of their cattle trespassing on neighbouring farms’. It was an address,
spoken in true colonial ‘nativespeak’, laden w-jr.h the pla[ernallsuc 1d!‘:as of r.h_e
civilizing mission, and chilling in its implications. In it ‘B(mfker reminded his
audience of the threats that he had issucd two months previously.

Once T give an order, that order must be carried out. The sooner they understand
that the better it will be for their own interests. [ am going to show the people today
how strong the law 15 and how far it can reach. It seems to me _L'ha_l you have got ll‘_u:
impression that all the strength of the law in the land today lies in the tongue — in
talk. You seem to think because there is a change in the law and because the jambok
[rawhide whip] has been taken away that you can do as you hike. There is a stronger
law than that of the jambok and that law I will show you today. So far as I understand
the cattle that were found across the boundary yesterday belong to the people who
live near the boundary in the forest . . . since you are such children that you cannot
look after yourselves, I must see that there 15 someone who can I(_:ok_after you -
Mow - All the natives who are living by the river must come ar_ld live in the main
location . . . if they wish to build new houses they can get a permit to cut wood from
the hak doorns but not wood from the forest by the river. Today is Monday. On
Sunday week I shall burn every hut on the river bank ~ that is 13 days from u?day,
You must move and everything left in your huts on the Sunday appointed will be
burnt, I shall not wait for you to finish your new huts, you can live on the veld or
ur friends in the main location . . . )
WSIIlgi[;Iike punishing. I dishike it so much that I have held back from punishing you

100 NINAW, ADM 110, Native Affairs General, Annual Reports, Bowker, Officer in charge of Native
Affairs, Windhoek, 31/12/16, to Secretary for the Protectorate, p. 6

o1 NNAW, NAW 12, Report on inspection of reserves, 1919,

‘o2 Tnd.
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this long time but you have forced me to i
: y punish you. I have no alternative .
will not listen to kindness 1 shall use cruelty,'® g e

Bowker carried out his threar, the huts and gardens were destroye
Added to this, Bowker sacked the Herero fagreman at Orumbo, éa‘:t?:)?oi::::
In sacking Bartholomeus, who until then had been on a government salary.
ankgr stated: *Apparently the man who was foreman here was afraid of ym:
and did as you told him."'** This was not what Bowker expected of a headman
and as he later stated: ‘Your former headman did as you told him, he did no;
make_ you do as he told you. That is no good to me.''? In his su:ad Bowker
appointed a_Tswsma policeman, Cornelius Izaak, ‘because I know that he would
not be afraldl to report them if they did wrong’.'% What Bowker wanted was
grateful, n_ia::]c Hereros. The forms of representation which were contained in
:::fdpmmlse of British rule were a lie. Herero were expected to do as they were
The lies, inherent in the language of colonial control, were well illustrated
by events surrounding the celebration in Orumbo of Britain’s victory in the
war against Imperial Germany. Less than a month after Bowker had effectively
destroyed the livelihood of a number of people in Orumbo, he once again
addressed the inhabitants of Orumbo, this time on the occasion of the signing
of the treaty of Versailles. The speech, coming less than a month after Bowker
had c-rdere_d their gardens and huts to be destroyed, must have sounded hollow.
cruel _and insulting in the extreme. Dealing with the ending of the war and’
referring to the Union Jack, Bowker stated:

This flag now flies in this country i
| 1 y in place of the German flag . . . I shall now ask
Caprain Venter to hoist the flag and as you see it reach the top of the pole you must

stand, remove your hats and while Capt, Vente -
give three cheers. 17 P r and [ stand at the salute, you will

After the raising of the flag (whether or not the audience cheered is not

recorded) Bowker informed his audience that th iti ]
brmiiess sl tiiong ey were now all British subjects

I may tell you now while speaking on this subject that you have a great deal to learn
that 15 all you natves of this protectorate . . . It is the greatest work which men su:l':
as Capt. Venter and [ have to do in this land - to teach you the meaning of the law.
\‘l‘fg have both been born and brought up and worked among natives since we wtré
children and you are with ton the most ill- d, worst disciplined and most

ungrateful we have ever known. '8

Having informed his audience what he though
fulfil his civilizing mission. SRS R I

The natives of the Union regard it as a dur it i

1 i y when an officer leaves his house in the
morning and goes to his office that they stand up and take off their hats. In this
couniry you seem to expect a white officer to walk around you, to get out of your

o NNAW, NAW 12, Orumbo 21/7/19, Meet i i i
O i gt ram,‘:d.ccung of Natives on Orumbo on the subject of their
I‘: N'.\:AW. NAW 12, Address of Bowker to Orumbo 21/7/19.
o I\:b:AW.?\AW 12, Address of Bowker to Orumbo, 1/8/19,
- ::2&, :1:3;1 ?g.‘?awml:_r's address to Orumbo delegation in Windhoek, 2/9/19,

NI D » Text of speech delivered
T B P elivered by Bowker at Orumbeo, 1/8/10,

way rather than disturb you. Now on this first day of the new government this 1s the
first lesson I will have you learn. When your officer leaves his house to open his office
you will rise and greet him, It is not a great thing to ask. I ask vou to respect your
superiors, if you do not do so how can you expect your superiors to respect you.'®

Itis hardly surprising that, after their huts had been burnt down, their gardens
destroyed and their fences demolished, the Herero of Orumbo had no further
faith in Bowker. Less than a month after Bowker’s address, a ten-man Herero
delegation from Orumbo sought an audience directly with the secretary for
the protectorate in Windhoek. The delegation protested against Bowker's
actions, and demanded further access to land and water. The delegation was
allowed to speak and were spoken to by Bowker, but returned empty-handed.
Instead Bowker chose to harangue the delegation as to the correct procedure
to be followed when submitting complaints:

Had Captain Venter . . . refused to issue . . . a pass you were at liberty to come to
Windhuk without a pass, he may not refuse you a pass to sec the Secretary if you
have a complaint against any officer of Native affairs. You should then have come to
my office and asked me to arrange an interview with the Secretary. Had I refused
you an audience with the Secretary you would have been at liberty to go to him
direct, That is the course of procedure in all cases, and you know it.''

In his harangue Bowker conveniently forgor that this was exactly the procedure
that the Herero had followed. The delegation had gone via the ‘chain of
command’. They had approached Venter in March at the water-drilling site to
seek permission to travel to Windhoek, in April they had spoken to Bowker —
who had reacted by burning down their houses and gardens in July — and they
had come direct to the secretary for the protectorate in August. By closing off
this route of protest, and by the actions he had taken, Bowker had effectively
radicalized the relations between the administration and Herero in Orumbo.

Though the secretary for the protectorate supported Bowker’s actions,
Bowker must have realized how drastic his actions had been. In seeking to
deflect blame from himself, Bowker argued that Venter was to blame. Venter,
who in March of 1919 had first been approached by a Herero delegation seeking
land and water, and who had granted the delegation permission to lay their
demands before Bowker, now became the scapegoat, the cause of all the trouble.
In a report to the secretary for the protectorate, Bowker wrote:

1 desire here to draw particular attention to the blame at to the Superi
of Reserves in the matter of tree cutting and trespassing. In 1916 1 demarcated the
location boundaries and instructed the Superintendent to allow building on no other
portion of the farm. In 1917 he had allowed several small locations to be built on
various other sites, explaining that this was necessary as scab infected stock bad to
be quarantined. He undertook to remove the quarantine locations as soon as the
disease had been eradicated. This however he failed to do and allowed a location as
large as the main location to spring up in the white thorn forest. | frankly admit that
most of the damage was done while Capt. Venter was away boring for water; but
where I consider he 13 very much to blame and should be severely censured is that
firstly he failed on his return to Orumbo to take any steps whatever to prevent a
conunuance of that most beautiful and valuable forest, and secondly in that he failed
to carry out my instructions to remove the natives to the main locanon after the

4

109 NNAW, MAW 12, Text of speech delivered by Bowker at Orumbo, 1/8/19.
e NNAW, NAW 85, Bowker address to Orumbo natives in Windhoek, 2/9/19
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eradication of scab. He did not even report the posinon in respect of tree cutting
... It 1s obvious that had Capt. Venter exercised a reasonably strong control there
would have been no need for the drastic measures taken by me in July last. '

Looking baqk at Bowker’s actions, it would seem that he was consciously intent
on worsening the relations thar existed between the Herero and the
admn'mstr_uuun. Clearly this was not the case. Bowker had specific ideas as to
how ‘Natives’ and the administration should interact, and when this failed to
oceur he_ sought to transform the situation to his ideal. In so doing Bowker
unintentionally radicalized the situation. The new-found self-consei that
the Hcrero had acquired and the radicalized situation that had emerged are
well illustrated by an incident that took place in the winter of 1920. George
Baas, a tenant farmer on the farm Okahna near Orumbo Native Reserve

reported that ‘the Natives of Orumbo graze and warter their cattle day for da:.:
month for_month at my dams; I have often told those people to keep their cartle
away, but it was of no avail’. Finally Baas decided to take the law into his own
hands :_and, as he himself with unintended understatement put it, ‘now
:somethmg more serious has happened’. Together with two labourers Baas
seized about 600 head of cattle’ and drove them towards his homestead. Here
they were met by three men and ‘some women’ who ‘drove those cattle away
by force’. Baas’s labourers had run away and all Baas could do was look on
and bg confronted by ‘those 3 men armed with knob kirries and stones’ who
told him t_ha[ if he should “seize their cattle again they would kill [him]’. On
the following day the same herd of cattle, now under the guard of four mounted
men and three on foot, were once again driven to Baas's dam.''?

The Herero reserves were established in an attempt to contain and control
the H_crcro, The resources available to the Herero in the reserves, however
were inadequate. When Herero, acting within the framework of the promisc;
_nf British rule, approached the new colonial administration to seek
improvements and later, following Bowker's actions, redress, they were
nlzbuffed,Thx_s rebuff led directly to the further radicalization of Herero vis-a-
vis fh“ admlnl‘stlﬂiti?n, and an increase in the self-awareness of Herero regarding
their true position in the colonial scheme of things.

New ideas and changed attitudes

In 1921 Nami_bia was granted as a mandated territory to South Africa by the
League of Nations. Two years previously, at the signing of the treaty of Versailles

it had already become clear that the country would to all intents and purpose;
become part of the Union of South Africa. The initial superficial alleviation of
oppression had been instituted solely to assure South Africa’s rights as a
mandatory power. In the years following the South African invasion, the Herero
had been able to rebuild a modicum of autonomy vis-a-vis the settlers and the
new administration. The realization that the new administration intended
continuing a po_llc_v supportive of racial inequality and settler interests ledto a
marked change in the attitude of the Herero, and other Africans, towards South

VENNAW, NAW 12, Report on inspection of reserves, 1919,

1 NNAW, 4T
W:rlndh.?::_ ADM 44, George Baas, Farm Okahna, 19/7/20, to the commissioner of police,
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Africa. Once they came to realize that the South African occuparion was not
to entail the return of their land, they began to organize in opposition to the
South African administration.

After 1919, Herero sought ways to express their new-found power and
identity within what was b ing an increasingly restrictive armosphere of a
territory governed by settler interests. Indicative of the changed attitudes were
the spate of complaints lodged against the police in 1919 and 1920.'7
Magistrates began sending in reports that referred to the changed attitudes to
be found amongst the Herero, changed atritudes that did not necessarily imply
opposition to the administration, but did imply a sense of growing self-
awareness independent of the administration and its activities. The military
magistrate of Otjiwarongo summed up the atmosphere in his district at the
time in the following manner:

So far as this district is concerned, cases of absolute refusal to work for masters
have been few indeed. I have of late months remarked an increasing sullenncss on
the part of the Hereros, and an increasing disinclination to accept orders given by
the Mative affairs Officer, and orders given by myself. This is particularly noticeable
in natives who have acquired cattle, but are still in employment. From a fairly close
observanon of the natives on the farms 1t is becoming increasingly evident that the
Herero has set before him some definite idea of again becoming the dominant native
race, and to that end he 1s straimng every nerve to acquire large and small stock, in
order that he may again become independent, and relieved of the necessity o
working. In the meanume a sort of passive T € Mo at present confined
to doing work as badly as possible, is being initiated. Some of the Exempted natives
in this area have lately acquired other natives to work for them as cattle herds.''*

Similar reports emanated from other districts of the country. Though one must
not lose sight of the fact that the magistrates were intent on ensuring a
sufficient supply of labour, it is clear that a fairly substantial proportion of the
Herero were becoming increasingly able to withdraw themselves out of the
labour market, much to the chagrin of the magistrates, With Namibia now to
all intents and purposes an integral part of the Union, the excesses of the
German period were being conveniently forgotten or not fully comprehended
by the officials in the new administration. The proclaimed adherence to the
rule of law, irrespective of race, was soon being forgotten in the interests of
settler demands for labour, The Native Affairs reports at the time clearly indicate
the changed attitudes amongst the colonial officials who were now faced with
increasingly self-aware Herero. The Herero had ceased to be victims in need
of British protection; instead they had become protagonists in the struggle for
labour:

Klein Windhuk Location too, 15 2 general rendezvous for slackers, as there 15 no
system of control there . . . Duning the German occupation, 1 believe natives were
not allowed to acquire stock, today we have large numbers who are stock-owners
on a big scale, and naturally, they have a very independent spirit. The native with
just a few head of cattle considers 1t infra dig to work. 1 would suggest that all natives
be made to work irrespective of number of stock owned."'?

113 §ee parncularly NNAW, ADM 44, Complants by Natives Agamst Polce 1919, 567/6. Report by

Adrmunistrator Gorges on police violence.
118 NN AW, ADM 44, Military Magistrate in Otpwarongo, a/6/20, to Secretary for the Protectorate.
17 NNAW, NAW 7, Sub-file Complants. Native Affarrs Windhoek 23/7/20 to magisirate

Windhoek.
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The initially charitable Herero perceptions of the new South African
administration were influenced by the return and reestablishment of Herero
chieftains in the territory, some of whom had already lived under South African
administration in South Africa, Following the South African occupation of
Namibia, Herero living in exile had begun seeking contact with their family
members, friends and colleagues living in Namibia. As forms of overt Herero
political leadership came to be tolerated by the South African administration,
so Herero leadership living in exile sought to influence the course of events in
Namibia. In the case of the Omaruru polity, and the Herero who had previously
lived around Otjozondjupa, events were influenced in a very direct manner by
the immediate return of the Herero chiefs Daniel Kariko and Salatiel
Kambazembi from exile in South Africa and southern Angola. In the case of
Okahandja, things were different. At the war’s end in 191 5, Samuel Maharero
was living in the northern Transvaal in South Africa. Samuel did not
immediately seek to return to Namibia. It is possible that the experiences of
exile taught Samuel Maharero that he could not take for granted the support
of people he might claim to be his. Indeed, it is probable that Samuel believed
that he could not depend on a power base in Namibia, in the way that Daniel
Kariko or Salatiel Kambazembi could, because in terms of popular perception
he had led his people into a disastrous war, Added to this were the issues of
Samuel’s age, debts to the Anglo-French company, pride and the knowledge
that he would return to Namibia as a poor man. Instead, he sought to influence
events by sending his son Friedrich to Namibia. Friedrich’s visit was to have
profound effects on the further development of Herero history in Namibia.!'®
In July 1920, Friedrich Maharero and eight of his followers, from South
Africa and Bechuanaland, requested permission to visit Namibia for a period
of nine months.'!” Permission was granted and Friedrich spent the final months
of 1920 visiting Keetmanshoop, Windhoek and Okahandja. Missionaries
reported that Friedrich was collecting money from his father’s followers, so
that a farm could be bought for Samuel Maharero in Namibia, to which he
could then return.!'® In February 1921 Friedrich Maharero and Hoseah Kutako

Friedrich’s trip to Namibia was to have a profound impact upon the further development of
Hercro history in the territory. Friedrich must have been overwhelmed during this trip, in which
he was asked to rekindle Maharero’s Okuruo; to appoint Hosea Kutako as provisional paramount
and to provide information as to the whereabouts of countless missing relatives. Mbanderu oral
histories report that it was during this time that the green flag of the Mbanderu was started. Sources
report that when Mbanderu asked Friedrich as to the wi k of their relatives Friedri
replicd that they had all disappeared and that as a result they should join forces with the red fag
of the Okahandja Herero. The leadership disputes EBoing on in the present between the various
Herero leaders are partly due to the fact that, via Friedrich Maharero’s legitimation of Hoseah
Kutako as Herero chief, people other than those of the house of Tjamuaha have been able 1o
claim rights to the throne. The case of the South African appointee Chicf Risruako is a fine ex ample
of this.

T NNAW, SWAA 2085, E.H. Goddard Office of the Native Commussioner Nylstroom, 20/7/20,
to Sccretary for Native Affairs Pretoria.

UENNAW, SWAA 432, Translauon of letter sent by Irle in Germany in May 1921 ro Halbich in
Karibib. Irle scems to have been a faitly pessimisti person, R ling the collecti

by Friedrich Maharero for a farm, his letter continued:

of money

If this 15 50, then woe to the German farmers, woe to the Germans of those parts in general.
There will be bloodshed onee more, as in 1904, resulting from the secret rogueries of Samuel
Maharero. All of you including the Admunistrator, know nought of the vengeance (vendertas)
of the Hereros. Refer to my book: *The Hereros'. *An eye for an eye, a tooth for a tooth’ is the
duty of retribunion, the neglect of which will bring death even 1o progeny.
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appeared in the offices of the officer cun'!r:_mnding Native Afl'mrs,dC?apllm:
Bowker. They requested permission to visit QOrumbo Reserve and invite
Bowker to be present. Bowker, because he did not l:navc access to almofgr;gir,
claimed to be unable to travel to Orumbo and declmeu‘i _the :_nvltanﬁn. . ;
had, he would have witnessed the ceremony whereby Friedrich M: argm ald
his hand on Hoseah Kutako’s head and in ﬂl'le name of his fgt er, _:mu‘zn
Maharero, proclaimed Hoseah Kutako to be his father’s regent in Nagn lai)
No colonial officials or missionaries were present at the ceremony in rur;:_ oi
Indeed it was not until after the death of Samuel h:iaharera tha'r. the archiva
documents began referring to Hoseah as Samuel’s regent in l'he\zlﬂn'g)'?;
However, henceforth Hoseah Kutako would t?!te a leading role mf{!tf?‘n:;héek
politics, a role way in excess of his nominal position as a headman of Win
Iuc;:{zﬁdication of the changes at hand were provided I:Jy events surmundm%
the visit of Prince Arthur Frederick Patrick Albert of F,onnaught,{Gn;;r%E)l:
General of the Union of South Africa, to the territory in August o 1922, ;
protectorate administration, anxious to create a good impression, hacli _arre_m%ﬁc
for the prince to be greeted by the headmen of the various commumlnes‘;%airs
territory. In order to ensure that nothing untoward would occur,Nan‘;fe e
officers and magistrates scampered across the country lulculler.t and edit :
‘addresses’ of the various communities. All went well, with the exception od
Orumbo Reserve, where Hoseah Kutako had assumed his ;egcncyas;.
Windhoek, where he was headman. The I_-!ercro at Orumbo mformlg dt ;
authorities that ‘they did not wish to [submit an address] ... a’leEu:y re 1eh ;
the Hereros of Windhoek to do all that was necessary for them’.'? 'I‘ho;g _1: e
Herero in Windhoek had submitted a suitably innocuously wolrdcd add_m,s o
the administration, the Native commissioner w_as_wamcd, by his subor inates,
that the Herero of the district intended sublmlmng an as yet unsee; pctt‘;'[“'";
to the prince during his address. Commenting on the petitioners, the officia
noted: : ” ,
d ¢ in the authorities and will not tell anything o
Lhc::"i)r‘lts::;?otsshal\gltl“;é{;?gdl:}ﬁ a lot of trouble emanates from the Negro
Improvement Society.'*?

Truppenspieler

As early as 1916 the new administration had begun receiving rcporr:s fraannd1
worried settlers across the country of young men gathering mgetkerown
marching to and fro. These military men would later bc'comeld'nrs s
condescendingly, as the Truppenspieler, or those that play at being soldiers.

i i 21, to the secretary. Surprisingly

INAW, SWAA 2085, OC Native Aflfairs in Windhoek, 25/2/21,
:;:;ﬂm;:u ‘:;\uld be found in the archives which detailed the ascendancy of Hosc:zah t:;::]e
regency. It would appear that no colonial officials were present dunng the ceremony in Orw .

1% Werner, Herero, pp. 130-1. ) i imiens:
N Ad Cape Col d C y.Hcr:rouf\_ n nde
;;Ia:ﬁrgwﬁ:(ﬁ:n:: El’l‘.l_,. Cope, OC i\":uivc Alffairs in Windhoek, ¥/8/22, to Native Commissioner

SWA,

AW, ADM 156, R.L. Cope in Windhoek, 2247422, 1o Nauve Commissioner.
, AD} 3
NAW, SWAA 432 A 50/59 Vol. | Truppenspielers 191 7-38.
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Herero society was highly militanized From the 1860s onwards, Herero men
had been organized into European-style, highly armed, uniformed and
mounted mulitary umits The nulitary commanders of these units were generally
a chief’s principal adviser, and formed an integral part of the polities’ Otjira
These military units were usually only mobihized 1n umes of trouble The
exception though was Manasse Thisiseta, the chief of Omaruru, who had fielded
a permanent standing army '* With the advent of German colonialism n
Namibia, numerous Herero were employed as auxihiaries in the German army,
and Herero mulitary units fought alongside German forces '#* Following the
Herero-German war, numerous Herero orphans and children were captured
and adopted, ininally as mascots and servants, later as soldiers, into the German
army These young men grew up and were socialized in the confines of the
military With the defeat of the German forces 1n 1915, these young men were
left leaderless Their structures of social organization had collapsed From being
powerful funcuonaries of the colonial state, they became young unimtiated
society-less men In the aftermath of the German defeat, these young men
sought to maintain and recreate the structures that had given their lives
meaning, power and standing As propertyless uminitiated young men,
employed as wage labourers 1n the towns and farms of Namibia, they came
together to recreate their power They appropriated the names and titles of
their former commanders They sent hand-written relegrams in German to one
another They 1ssued mulitary passes, pay books, and commands to one another
And, on moonlht nights, they gathered together, to march, talk and dream of
the power that could be theirs

The Otruppe were orgamized into regiments that corresponded with
magisterial districts Regiments were charactenized by specific umiforms,
designations and names Thus, the Otruppe of Windhoek wore a khaki uniform,
those of Keetmanshoop wore whites and those of Luderitz, khaki tunics and
white trousers 28 The regiments also had different designations Thus, Otruppe
of Okahandja were known as an infantry regiment, and those of Windhoek as
a machine-gun regiment The areas under the control of the various Otruppe
regiments were given new names Sigmficantly Okahandja was named Paradies
(paradise) and was headed by the Kaiser, a k a Eduard Maharero, the brother
of Traugott Maharero 127

Animitial glance at the documents captured from the Orruppe by the South
African colonial admunistration in 1917, presents one with an image of a surreal
world, a world 1n which His Excellency Governor von Deimling, State Secretary
Heighler, Treasurer von Mimistermann, Oberstleutnants Leutwein, Franke and
von Estorff, Major Muller and Hauprmann und Adjudant Schmetterhng von
Preusen —1 ¢ Butterfly of Prussia — correspond with one another in a mixture
of German and Herero Patrol reports, military passes, pay shps, notices of
promotion and regimental transfer, written on music paper and the discarded
stationery of the German colomal administration, litter the archives On closer
inspection, 1t becomes clear that the messages refer to collected contribu-
tion dues, letters of attestation to other regiments and the payment of fines

Photo 7 1 ,Herero honour guard drawn up 1o meet
Q{a-‘mn‘m 5 coffin in Okahandya n 1923
Source Archives of the Basler Afrika Bibhographien, Fritz Gaerdes collection

the tratn bearing Samuel

i Opmbingwe volunteer auxiharnies of Andersson
# See the war agamst Kak the 1l
2 Werner, Herero, p 129

131 NNAW, SWAA 432, Truppenspreler 1917 18Vol 1
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and assistance, out of regimental funds on behalf of regimental members.
Information that was of importance to regimental members, such as a
magisterial ban on marching, were passed on by circular telegrams.i2s A
member of a regiment, travelling through the district of another regiment, and
who was able to produce a letter of attestation, Reisepaf, from his regiment
commander, was guaranteed the support of the regiment he was visiting. Thus
in May 1917 a telegram was sent to Lt Col Franke (a.k.a. Erastus) requesting
him to pay Oberleutnant von Mausbach, who had travelled from Omaruru, the
sum of 3/~ so that he could continue on his journey to Windhoek. The telegram
was sent by Schmetterling von Preusen, Hauptmann und Adjudant der
Entapenkommando (a.k.a. Fritz).1* Effectively, by copying the structures and
images of the German military, young Herero men had set up a countrywide
support and information network for themselves. A network that extended from
Luderitz and Keetmanshoop in the south, to Gobabis in the east, Tsumeb,
Grootfontein and Otjiwarongo in the north, Swakopmund and Omaruru in
the west and Okahandja and Windhoek in the centre of the territory.!” The
regiments formed an organization which looked after the welfare of its
members, a social structure to replace the society which they did not have or
were only marginally part of,

Ideas within the administration were divided with regard to the Orruppe,
and ranged from outright rejection and demands for the outright banning of
the movement to benevolent mocking. Hans Joel, an Otruppe commander in
Lideritz, who had asked if he and his colleagues could be ‘allowed to play as
soldiers i.e. to drill as soldiers in the military’, was informed that his application
was refused and that ‘there are other forms of sport such as football and cricket
in which you can indulge without being interfered with’.!3 However apart from
these light-hearted exchanges, the administration was clearly worried by the
sight of blacks in uniforms. In 1919 shopkeepers wrote to the administration
asking whether they were permitted to sell military-style tunics to Africans. At
the time there was a debarte raging in the administration as to exactly what
constituted resistance or Opposition to the administration. After much
deliberation it was decided that Africans could wear military tunics as long as
they did not sport red flashes on their tunics, red flashes being the symbol of
Ovyiserandu, the red flag and the colour of the troops of Maharero, 3?2 Already
at this stage the fear of communist-inspired agitation had developed in Namibia;
the outright rejection of the administration of the socialist red flag can only
have served to legitimate it further in the eyes of the Herero. It is possible that
the idea of the red flag was given greater impetus by Herero who had returned
from the mines in South Africa where the socialist movement was gaining

FONNAW, SWAA 432, enclosure | 1, circular telegram 1/7/16.

1 NNAW, SWAA 432, See enclosure 4, telegram 5/5/17.

"% Dag Henrichsen & Gesine Kruger, "“We have been captives long enough, we want to be free™:
Land, umforms and politics in the history of Herero during the nterwar period’, in: Namibia
Under South African Rule (Windhock, Oxford 1998) ed. P. Hayes, M. Wallace, J. Silvester & W.
Hartmann; & Wolfgang Werner, ““Playing Soldiers™ The Truppenspieler Movement among the
Herero of Namibia, 1915 o ca, 1945", Journal of Southern African Studies, Vol. 16, No. 3,
September 1990, pp. 485-502.

13 NNAW, SWAA 432, Hans Joel in Luderitzbuch, 2/1/24, 10 the administrator Windhoek, &
Harry Drew, for the secrctary for SWA in Windhock, 12/2/24, 10 Hans Joel.

' NNAW, SWAA 1421, Unauthorized use of Uniforms 1919-45, Messrs Binnes and Newman
write to the mulitary authorities in 1919 asking if they can sell military-style runics 10 blacks,
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1 inherent in the symbolism of the sua_a!ist
grou}ndl d )’“"I;lzﬁs?trtal:\ifg;‘:; r'co"rl.'li-:e red flag of the O_r_:':'semndu, thereby giving
o reater appeal to legitimacy and univcrsahsm.“l‘ Be that as it nbmi:
s ‘?r"::nrfsm inherent in the Otruppe, its liberal use of umversallslzlfz syll'gn{i\nl
thed“ilis1 :reation of a world that operated independently of t {.cc}:“cy .
agministradon mirrored that of the movement crela(ed by Marcus S
?he Universal !;‘Iegro Improvement Association, which swept across

Africa in the early 1920s.

UNIA

s . his
In early 1922, a rather flustered missionary ;(uh:ﬁ;gﬁefix&lai:deji;;i t;r
i ' i d appeared em!
eriors that the following words ha appe I
;‘;‘i)nt on rocks at the side of a road leading into Omaruru:

Omaruru 5th February 1922, This land belongs to Mi:h?’il [Tjisiseta]. This land is
not yours, it is the property of America and the Herero.

§ a
As if this was not dramatic enough, one of the_ rocks was alsouad:;:lscj ;:;]et:re
| which depicted a hand gripping a flaming heart. The Ini el Mo
el t Association had arrived in Namibia. The conflation o 615;1 e
lmprovem‘;n land with images and ideas of the UNIA _clearlly showed t at: o
Clilllrrls o c'cleas engendered by the UNIA elsewhere in Africa had caugb rin
mlllenarlnill ]The missionaries were quick to claim that ﬂlF Herero w{fr;_ ethg
%181'8 as w?st‘ically manipulated’ by outside forces operating frorndwu 1nn %
mmmuneserves 13 But, though the movement had develope ;rbnooiw
_Here_r&:a;t commlunitics in the south of Namibia, b:._r 1922 UNIA ]:[aics :::f ane
r::ngain unifying organization amongst the Afncar; ;:rl;\n\:r;‘}‘“;\ﬂnharcro =
territory, and would remain as such untl the death o
lation was
lgf:.octubcr of 1920, the Universal Negro improyemcn;nﬁ‘;5$::t;:2iam'
introduced to Namibia, when a numb?r uf'\'ll{eg.( Afnca;s e
working in Liideritz, set about c;tabdlishﬂg f(;‘{;;el::?;;:?;a:; o Al
iti nfined sole :
izlt;l::'feg::dmd::ﬁ-?:;::r: 'c’?'l"hus, in am{us that appeared in the NegroWorld,

i lowin,
M With the red flag of Otfrserandu in mind, van Onselen Netw Nineveh refers to the fol g
particularly tantalizing set of events:
... workers on the Witwatersrand . . . ec
their store of conceptual baggage whu:hol
redistributed amongst their kinsmen. (p. 40)
is in mi Morol 1l
ith this in mind van Onselen refers to a ] By sl
&lﬁmu‘: Imd was allied 1o a man named Jesus Christ in Vryburg. | thing they

ir i ingl dical mill
. ind st’, and their i . 40,
rcmgmb:;::hlcf:i‘;;"zp:;iﬂs who were distinguished by the T“:‘Fl‘;‘i}; b:dlg(:ﬁ[bh‘.? Sz’;_{p
F.’.Ugﬁ‘"fh: fear of communist ugita;:l_’s, see :’hc EI._‘.;SIT‘?SE i{zuslmr:nn ,,‘n Omaruru 20/4/22 103
4 i ssionshaus =34, the
“*ELCIN,VIL23.2, Berichte kns Musuameans 1300 20y Gt who might hare phinted
¥

1y added new symbols, ideas and attitudes to
hey S‘lcn cnrncd’hack to the rural arcas and

‘Ki . alled himself John
ong ‘Kitchen boy' who ¢ stk

murals. N
i e Sassers I e DINIAY i nd 1n the context of the UNIA
I i J ble to read and write, and 11
;:O:[v?::n?sn‘:fr:; .:L;:en:'::dﬂ :::Id ::-‘n‘:: aEnglish. The office bearers in Ludenitz were nearly all
15

West Africans or West Indians, the only exceptions being South Afncans.

e ot ——
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G » -
h E:Jn;ini]:‘xi gvere lambasted for controlling the trade in the black location
-3 ritz. efore long, th(_)L_lgh, the movement spread amongst the Na

'Iq;:r; gnfi Herero communities of the territory.'* S

. whoTe :\:sng_m;ce;aehmd the UNIA, and its spread into Namihia sociery as
et ﬁdc’r' 4 |(|.:. er ]li;l‘ Headly, a West Indian employed as a Chief Stevedore
!—[ea-dl itz uar our. " In December 1921, whilst on a month’s long leave
o D};:I:ave ch;ondhaek. Here Headly held meetings with Herero ‘Nam;
e ara :Iahers. He was a charls_mauc man and extremely succc.:.sful in
e l:l-?: ‘8;4[:1& Herero leadership of Windhoek. Consequently, a branch

was established in Windhoek. H b
ity DA b b . Hosea Kutako who, a few
h 1sly 3 ppointed by Samuel Maharero as hi
3::::; r;]:l:sle‘ll:a;lvtr in I?-lamébia,]ohn Aaron Simon Mungunda - Hos]:as': ;:{e)i}i(e):
ght for the South Africans in G i i
T o the r jerman East Africa — Nikanoor
eru headman in Windhoek - al i

3 ! along with Headly
inu;l::;:f?g;cé n]aerll submitted a new year’s greeting to the mayor ofWing:ci
o dcm:ndcd ;h:tn{ii?:fua;npux;ccd the establishment of their organization

; icipality assign them a stand to 1

Ha\:’il;?:'mndumng our rr_u:ctings in an orderly Manner', 19! erect @ suable
Calcnda:;sa::c? r;l:embcrslhrp cards, red, green and black rosettes, newspapers
sl o Atf ¢ promise _of far more, the UNIA attracted the attention ci’
sl ry sh rican inhabitants. Needless to say, this attraction was enhanced
movemu::l ;uzihthe Hcrcrovleaders had granted their allegiance to the
owr woﬁld . :sr:;o:: |:I:11\Ih,n‘k mfml;c;s believed that their contribution

ney urchase land for Africans.'® This li i
Friedrich Maharero’s earlier visi 1bi : S e
isit to Namibia, during which he had
; 3 11

:r;orlla;);rf?;ithle'elgpnses of purchasing a farm for his father who wishaed ig r:f\[ne':
ooy ma. g y January 1922 it was claimed that an estimated 500 had

e f:lm ers of the movement in Windhoek.!* In April 1922 5; branch

Karibirl’; ::d Gngf;wnko_pmund? and in October 1922 meetings were held in

sakos, with the aim of opening further UNIA offices.!* However,

** Fitzherbert Headly, ‘A Voi i
Ay ¥, ‘oice from Luderitz, Dutch South Africa’, in The NegroWorid, 8 October
' NNAW, i 4
R wrinsc:’ﬁa'\:ne I, Letter written 1n Nama and translated imto Dutch. By the middle of 1921
Hes gt cnu]dl; lr:-m urged pe_op!e to send money to UNIA’s head office in New York, this
e km; ::irg:lnnd liberated from slavery, and an African sm:rnm;n( cs:ab]i‘s(hclfi n
- =4 i i
o opamiin ide one with some insights into the way in which people believed the
o Ey 1
o fl;llzchririi_::tmﬂ:a“e‘l)i:l::::;:i\::ﬁ:ldu;lnlfrh_c Ge:msn occupation. He spent some bme working
bl / " ) y. Following the South African i
uduiﬁddi‘j;?:: raliw;ys. Ininally Headly confined himself 1o pmmnti(:scrh?::::tﬁ:kdf]i'h‘l"cr]mc
e iy :h:n:nnlllaus-. Howr)rcr, following mid-1921 Headly became involved inonn:?o:\a]"m
Pouter A the cal pse of UNLA he became involved 1n a trade union. In later life h s
authorities on account of fish size caught. He remained invol P gt
il ained involved uniil his death in
1 NNAY, SWAA 42 i
R bty 3 1, Headly and others 1n Windhoek, 2/1/22, 10 His worship the Mayor in
I': S’E:E’,g\:’m 421, Letter in Nama.
s \ ‘AW”, SV:C"&:IC?:!]2rllﬁsn:rls:§lnonndo[§|huﬂ by missionary Irle in Germany, May 1921, 1o Halbich
i?f;lﬁi.\;‘ln S\:;mnry S\;C-‘A I’romcmn;r:,mmg“ of Liebig's Extract of Mcat Co., Neuhcusis,
) mw_;(il:’lh:‘4:’;;{)ﬂ:‘::r;};:ail;in:;q?mu_nd, 14/4/22, to magistrate in Swakopmund
. 1 tification, noted that he th i
¢ best dealt with by being deported’. Schulz in S:ukopmund, 7s:§ﬁszh‘t‘:b§:];::.‘:ﬁ:f
» T
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not everybody appears to have been bitten by the bug. Upon his return to
Liideritz in January 1922, Headly addressed a four-page missive to Barnabas,
a Herero headman in Windhoek, urging him to:

Fall into line with the UNIA and so do something for yourself get a move on we arc
awaiting on Africa our Brothers across the Seas are awaiting on you all, now is your
time to make a bid for freedom and liberty before it is too late for if we lose this
opportunity we are doomed fo another thousand years and that 1s for life everlasting
‘Amen’. So thercfore I am making this appeal to you as a reputed Leader of our
race to get yourself and that great race of ours the Herrero [sic] Nauon to join up
into the UNIA and let us go forward and get our freedom.

intimidated by what they saw occurring around

Similarly the Swartboois, clearly
h of a colonial state scorned, wrote:

them and conscious of the wrat

During the past years the Monrovia people have gone to Windhoek with their
Congress . . . They first of all held discussions with the foremen of the location.
Then they called the whole of the people together and spoke to them . .. numbers
of peaple, black as well as yellow, have had themselves entered in the Congress book
and pay money for this. Almost all the natives of Windhoek and also of the farms of
the district have done this.
Only we men of the Zwartbo
And now we pray the Government that we

congress and to give us a written reply stating
aloof . . . For we do not know whether this congress law is for or against the Enghsh

[South African] Government and whether the badges these people wear, are
Government badges. We therefore approach you so that we may understand all these
things, for we do not want to do anything against the Government.

But, by approaching you and asking for information we are guilty in the eyes of
the Congress. And we have been threatened that we shall lose the blessings which
the advent of the Congress Government will pour out on Africa.’¥’

For the Herero, however, UNIA continued to be the vehicle for their ideas
and demands. By October of 1922, UNIA in central SWA had become
dominated by Herero.!*s When UNIA sought to open offices in Karibib and
Usakos, those sent to initiate the movement were Herero, John Hungunda
[probably John Mungunda] and Theodor Hanbanue. A month later West
Africans, who had initially dominated the movement, lost control of the
Windhoek branch of the UNIA to the Herero royals.'*® John Aaron Simon
Mungunda, the brother of Hoseah Kutako who had fought in Tanganyika,
became president, and Clemens Kapuuo, the man who would succeed Kutako
as chief of the Herero in Namibia, became secretary of the Windhoek branch.

oi tribe have not registered 1n this congress book.
may be freed from the affairs of this
he reason why the Government keeps

Protectorate. It would appear that Abraham’s premises were raided by the police in late May 1922,
for a number of internal UNIA documents relating to the establishment of a UNIA branch have
been filled along with Abraham's papers and stamped ‘South-West Africa Police 23 May 1922
Swakopmund'. For Karibib and Usakos sec SWAA 421, Letters adressed to the Magistrate Karibib
October 1922 by Post commanders in Usakos and Karibib. T ingly the UNIA bers
who mitiated the establishment of UNIA offices in these two towns were not West African and at

lcast one of them was Herero.

1 NNAW, SWAA 421, Fuzherbert Headly in Lideritz, 25/1/22, 10 Barnabas.
1T NNAW, SWAA 421, Letter from Dawvid Zwartboos, [zaak Zwarthooi, Petrus Bois, Hieser
Hendnk and Timotheus Richter to SWA Protectorate administration. Dated by the Admimstranon

Translation Burcau as 20/11/22.

s BRMG, 1923, p. 72.
W NNAW, SWAA 421, Harry DrewWindhoek, 10/11/22, 10 Secretary for the Protectorate, Drew
refers to the falling out between the West Africans and the Herero.
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At the same time the branch was closely linked to Traugott Maharero of
Okahandja, who for his part was an officer of the Otruppe in Okahandja.'" To
the horror of Rhenish missionaries, Herero graves were visited by UNIA
members who poured libation in the name of Marcus Garvey.'s! Thus by late
1922 the UNIA had become integrated into Herero socto-political activity,
closely linked to the Otruppe and indistinguishable from the Okahandja Herero
royals.

UNIA, which was indeed universal, provided structures whereby the Herero
could link up with societies and structures beyond the confines of Namibia. 15
In this manner links with the exiled Herero in Bechuanaland and South Africa
were strengthened with the aid of UNIA’s structures, imagery and rhetoric.
The eastern districts of Namibia were influenced by UNIA coming out of
western Bechuanaland. Thus in 1922 the Magistrate of Gobabis questioned
his colleague in Ghanzi, Bechuanaland:

blue and green at their nanve meenngs,
and have been explaining how war should be made against the Europeans . . . are

members of any socialistic or other political society I would be glad if you could
advise me.'*?

Similarly, Samuel Sheppard, the son of Saul Sheppard who had settled in
Bechuanaland following the German occupation of Namibia, spent most of
1922 and the first half of 1923 travelling through Bechuanaland, South Africa
and Namibia on behalf of UNIA, !5¢

In the 1950s Herero society would collect money to finance the journeys of
their representatives to the United Nations in New York, In effect these trips
were but an echo of what the Herero had already tried to do in 1922, Then,
i ye, as representatives of the
UNIA, requested permission for Mungundu and Izaak Jantje to travel to the
UNIA head offices in New York,155 Effectively UNIA allowed the Herero o
place their predicament, their loss of independence and land, on the world’s
stage. UNIA provided the means whereby they could link into power structures
capable of influencing the policies and activities of their colonizers.

10 NNAW, SWAA 421, R.L, Cope, OC Native Affairs in Windhoek, 22/11/22
South West Africa. NNAW, SWAA 4
the rank of Wach her, in the

" BRMG, 1923, pp, 71-2,

12 In late 1922 the Industrial and Commercial Workers Union, ICU, set up by Clements Kadalie,
started aperating in southern Namibia. No reference has been found 1o the ICU being active
amongst the Herero, though it is probable that amongst the 70 new members recruited by the

fall.

» 1o Secretary for
32, enclosure 1 1, circular telegram 1/7/16. Traugott carried
d i in Paradies, Okahand;

ICU 1n K ing their first ing, there were a few Herero, BRM(, 1923, p.
23,

' BNA, Damara 5.5/1, Bushmen crossing from South West Africa into Bechuanaland
Protectorate. Reported unrest and murder of Capt. van Ryneveld, Magistrate of Gobabis.

'™ BNA, 8.5/1, Office of the Magistrate Gobabis, 4/4/23, to the Magistrate Ghanzi & Resident
Magistrate in Ghanazi, 2/5/23, 1o Resident Commissioner:

Samuel Sheppard is a native who travelled from Maun to Ghanz, held meetings at Kakfontein,

then proceeded to Lehututu and towards the Upingron district eventually reaching Windhuk

after months of travel. I endeavoured 1o trace him and have now received the attached letter.
1" NNAW, SWAA 421, Native Commuissioner in Windhoek, 11/7/22, 10 the Secretary.
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Church

i e

Associated with the development of Hcr_ero _se!f—awareness, r:ﬂlr}l):efe;:e:&: ‘l)r): $c
UNIA and Truppenspieler, was the growing |:'uie:;;n:m'.ieru:t}e1 :missionaries (e
Herero with regard to the Christian faith. No longer \.\llvlere_:_ gt
or accepted as the sole interpreters of and final authorines
faith. As a Herero put it

You teachers of today are not like the old t:schcrs.éot:islc;:vc God and the Kaser

(the government}; the old missionanes only served God.

ng i i ffered by Germany and the
i f being informed of the woes being su '
gg:r:a?m ;ci:pi in the aftermath ‘:.'nf\-"ersalllcs,hl.h:i ;Iererfo s:;rt:’di::hn;?:;;:gr
issi i one for the:
German people and the missionaries ha 1 Soride
w;: :::::12 T;p:icai ol:;' these attitudes were lhlt :ven_{s_surrounc(l;ng ilil‘l:n?:iln 5
?} :ra{ Jan Smuts, the South African Prime Minister, to Groo e
Semrember 1920. There representatives of the Herero comm nmtyl:u Dipitee s
pefiticm to Smuts and demanded that the German mlss:gnarle: ‘t‘e i
i } d missi ¥ ist, put it:
As Nafbali, a Herero spe an
in the past the German missionaries hac; bc:n ke :a:::;sh::i tl‘:“;&;yh:::::'t:
the; mor
d betrayed them in the Herero war, urther o
;I:)i!;r?:utinfa:, zven though they had been poor since the Herero war - .
The Herero felt betrayed by the mission, and for its pa:}:ct:;&rix:ls]z\::d]:ss
similarly betrayed, particularly given the role of Nafbali in "
issionaries fired Nafbali.'*® -
" Ji:asy’tme :::: lcondition of South African occupation be:ar%eNe]\.:rbr:go::
apparent, Herero, building forth on _the ideas prnpag::;«;d I:gle %, w!,mcs =
voicing their discontent specifically in t"f.r's of r.:ctl:c,' beeundersmod st
i sors irrespective of nationality cam ders
;;’i::::l!::sp;:::lding o mgi'ssionnry demands for church contributions, Herero
stated:
We are of course your servants; because until now we have brought y;: T::;r‘:::‘gr
We do not make any distinction as to whether you are Gerrn’alrg‘r:I,Mk gi":spcw_w
Boers. Because, for us, you are all White, just as we::! for you al &
of whether we are Herero, Bergdama or Ovambo.

Associated with Herero development of ideas rcgardmﬁ Ch_ns:;;m{g raizzg ,;a:icu
is the development of independent Ethlcliplﬂn churches I]!Jl e
Initially these churches had been brought into Thg coltllr@r{h Ythe Rose ot
workers working on the diamond mines near I_,uderltz, Wi S Aen
invasion many Herero who had been living in Il:he Union chmrdn ol
;:V he ideas of independent churches operating on the Rand. s
t}fe[4l§l]\00 Africans who accompanied the South African mva;::rfnr ;:: :: inv“igun
along Ethiopianist ideas and beliefs. Already prior to the Sout

1 BRMG, 1924, p. 116, ]B(_."r’s translation.
151 ELCIN, V. 10 Grootfontein, 1920.
=t Tnd.

R e ili the independent Watch-tower
180 [t 15 perhaps I;ldicat'we that the documents Qc(allmg the mise of e Ins

il Tr NNAW, SWAA 432 A
church were catalogued along with the on the Trupp s
50/59 Vol. 2 Truppenspielers IQIT—ID?S_
i»1 Beynart, ‘Cape workers in GSWA', p. 59.
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Photo 7.2: Herero ev 1 '

2 evangelist Andreas Kukuri conductin, 7
e 7 a
Source: United evangelical mission archives, Wuppertal et Feon

:;!;t;l: !'lgd viiel\.;cd African Christians with distrust.'s? Following the invasion.
1s position did not change and nominally God-feari i i i
settlers sought to prescribe and curtai i e cPluma] < i
tail African religious activity. ' iopiani
churches that sought permission to begi 7ae i e iy
Dt e rough pord egin proselytizing in the territory were
ty of excuses, ranging fi
:hel allready converted nature of the .|"u’ri|:an.Iog g fioun Shenasd fax pedsebo
n Jate 1922 a *Native Churches Inqui 1551
| : ¢ Chur quiry Commission’ was set u
g:;s:\l_::ii:emré d_ealn;rg wn:h_ thehlssue were sent to all magistrates missioﬂai?ei
s airs officers in the Union of South Afric d S\X«,’ icati
of the attitudes existing in Namibi 1 i gy
Xis1 13, not a single questionnaire was filled i
2':12[1;03“‘112,:0;“‘““‘5'0“’ even though franked and addressed envelopes had ;Jrll!:l:
sed. A full nine months after the questionnaires were distributed, the

magistrate of Swako i
gl pmund wrote that he had spoken to Rev. Eich of the

n(l’cr:i:gasjshkad a v:ryhl_ongb:xp:ncnce of native mission work in SWA. He tells me

nown to him about separate churches i f thi

2 0  separ amongst the natives of this country.

am;:y:ra:hc:rm_n amount of ‘seditious’ propaganda has been circulating at tumcys
g natives here from the Union & from Monrovia [UNIA] with a view to

' Sertlers in Lideritz sought to
prevent Herero from becomi i
Pt gh ; I ing Christians.
emitlcé"l(;?ﬁ?ﬁc{-i’tf;‘g;:;:;i‘;:—‘: :E\:.\ﬁgir‘\idh‘\:k.tl 51501 Té t: Konst, Venter, Aris. In the letter,
t ' nVenter noted “het spreek,
::_z:: mildlaegf."a:;;r han worden 1edere avond naar kerk te guan.:mefmﬂaff ;:::ﬂd;"“::{j’:"‘:,ﬁ:
& is hakl 3 ¥

i P that the gs were not Church services but meetings of the

pe.
i NNAW, ADM 128, Ethiopian catholic church in Zion,
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their having their own churches & mi i but the has made no headway.
In some of the Herero communities the artendance at divine service has decreased
in consequence of what he terms ‘foreign agitation’ but no founding of a separate
church has as yet taken place.'®®

Missionaries noted that increasingly the Herero were becoming the trouble-
makers [Unruhstifter] in their church communities and were active in inciting
other communities. Holy communion, an aspect of crucial importance in
Lutheran protestantism, started being boycotted by the Herero. Herero voiced
their disillusionment with missionary schooling: “The children learn nothing
in the school; by staying with the mission we have remained dumb.'% Of
particular concern to the Herero was that the mission did not take stock of the
realities in which they were living. The Herero wanted to mave forward, and
wanted their children and themselves to be trained accordingly. “What does it
help to continually hear God’s word. We should be learning English, or the
missionaries should teach us other skills.'*” In Karibib missionaries were
informed in writing that they had no ‘heart for the poor, the old and the
children’. God-fearing at the best of times, the missionaries did not resort to
Saran but now blamed communist agitators, whom they claimed were operating
out of the newly established Native Reserves, for having manipulated their
communities.!** That the Herero were capable of independent thought was
apparently beyond them.

Bondelswarts

A further factor that influenced the thinking of all of the territory’s inhabitants
was the crushing, by the South African army, police and air force, of a revolt
initiated by the Bondelswarts against the South African administration in 1922,
The Bondelswarts were a small Nama polity in southern Namibia. At the
outbreak of the First World War the majority of them had been deported and
interned in camps in the north of the territory. During the course of this
deportation the polity lost all of its stock. From the beginning of the South
African occupation of Namibia, the Bondelswarts had petitioned the South
African administration for restitution of their stock, land and leaders. In what
seemed like a conscious policy of neglect the new administration systematically
negated the demands of the polity. Deprived of stock the Bondelswarts were
forced to resort to hunting or working in the most abominable conditions on
settler farms in the area. Children were pawned to farmers.'®* Throughout 1919,

w9 NNAW, SWAA 2060, Native Churches, Magistrate of Swakopmund, 24/8/23, to Native
Commissioner. Regarding the questionnaire the magistrate noted that, though he had received
them the previous year, he did not ‘reply to it as the questions hardly seemed applicable to the
situation up here’.

e BRMG, 1924, p. 116.

17 Thid.

s ELCIN, V. 32 Ortschromken, 1922

wa NNAW, ADM 43, Military Magistrate in Maltahohe, 11/2/19, to the Secretary for the
Protectorate: *. . . in the course of my recent visit to certain farms in this district en route to the
farm Duwisib . . . [ ascertained that several farmers had native minors in their possession which
they stated had been given to them by the parents of the said children’. The military magistrate,
sensitive as always to local conditions concluded his missive by stating that he personally saw no
objection to the ‘linle ones ... remain[ing] in the possession of their present masters’, particularly
“as in some cases the children have been callously deserted by their parents’.

ﬂ
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1920 and 1921 the Rhenish missionaries sought to draw the administration’s
attention to the deteriorating conditions in the polity.'7 In 1922, undaunted,
and in the interests of settler demands for labou r, the administration introduced
a staggered system of dog tax, whereby the tax to be paid increased
exponentially to the amount of dogs owned. To a society which depended on
its hunring dogs for survival, this proved to be the final straw. They detained
the police officer who had come to collect the tax. Thereupon the administrator
ordered in the army, police and air force. Following the crushing of the polity,
the German Consul-General in South Africa noted:

The success the administration of the protectorate has achieved is chiefly attributed
to the use of modern means of warfare, notably motor vehicles and three aeroplanes
sent from Pretoria into the area where the revolt was taking place. It appears to me
that the planes, in particular, have rendered good service in reconnoitring the
positions of the bands of natives, in maintaining liaison between the different police
patrols, and in supplying them with water. Through the lavish use of bombs they
have speeded up the process of wiping out the bands, '™

Following the bombing of the Bondelswarts, there could be no doubt in the
minds of the territory’s African inhabitants as to the true position of the new
administration. The sjambok may have been officially dispelled but the
conditions remained unchanged. Africans were to be the labourers of the settlers
on African land.

To all intents and purposes, by 1923 the Herero had reestablished them-
selves. They had regained cartle and some land; they had reinstated some of
their leaders; they had established structures which linked them to one another
and the wider world; and, perhaps most importantly, they had begun to
understand the true nature of South African occupation,

Death of Samuel

In Okahandja, on a cold winter's day in 1923, an honour guard of Herero
soldiers, dressed in German uniforms, wearing German military ranks, and
marching to German commands, carried a coffin to the grave. A military brass
band, which played a German funeral march, and 170 mounted Herero
soldiers, riding four abreast, preceded the coffin, No less than 2500 uniformed
Herero soldiers, and an unspecified number of Herero women and onlookers,
followed the coffin to its final resting place on the banks of the Okahandja river,
Samuel Maharero, the first paramount chief of the Herero, who had died in
exile, was thus laid to rest in the grave of his father, Kamaharero, and his
grandfather, Tjamuaha. This section details Samuel’s death and funeral, and
seeks to examine what the implications of this were for Herero society.
During the South African invasion of Namibia, Samuel Maharero supplied
the Union troops with soldiers of his own, in the hope that, as his son put it, ‘if
the country was taken back from the Germans it would be given back to Samuel

% NNAW, ADM 110, Annual Reports, contains scores of requests for drought relief in the years
leading up 1o 1922. BRMG, 1923, p. 78,
" Quoted in Drechsler, Fighting, P. 248.

i
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Photo 7.3: Part of the funeral cortége of Samuel Mahar_'em in Okrahandja in 1923.
Wearing sashes in the front are Hoseah Kutako and Friedrich Maharero
Source: Namibian Nanonal Archives, Windhoek

and his people’.)” This, as we have seen, was not to be, and, t.}nﬁpgg_ S:]m;::;
Maharero was initially given permission to return to the la_nci_ o !ir. Ifl' 5 i‘mm
permission was later withdrawn and he was doomed E?‘ die 1n4c;|1c, ; o
the support and comfort of the graves of his fathers.!™ On 1 arc 5

i L i Africans and Herero in
? Fri , In the Face of Fear (London 1950 p. ST.Fm.smppc[s on ric
:L:Ft;ri‘:h-r{i::i A?ric:n w(acr,{cc Albert Grundhingh, Fighting Their Cun War: .Sa:lngtAjrrcan.?v!;:i.:f
a"d.r),: Furst World War, Ravan Press (jo_hsnn:shu}g. 1 '?S?Lpfg}:?;: tu,’::r:g:: ;;‘;:‘]‘;T:r?.:[::n 45
wars in southern Africa, see Melvin E. Page, 4 rica and the i(_ i II9i(s—lDlH’,j‘AH,
87); B.D. Willan, “The South African Native Labour ~onunge s
[!Is:ﬂ{nl“ﬁe?nﬁ)lqpp.](;l -86; 1;. Warwick, Black People and the South Ajrican War: 1899 {9072(;4?::3
Press (Johannesburg 1983). There were even two Herero, known only as Aq:nr; nn.‘e ol
August no. 7649, who served with the South African Native Labour conungent in France. ! A
el 1 Maharero, in Nylstroom,
; SWAA 2085, Maharero Vol. 1, Letter from Samuel , 11
2,;112\}.1\]9‘;\[):’1?: R‘:siden: Commissioner in M;l’;king. Lnlunu'::a:ely]:h;ﬁrlicf)::a::;;gwu}rg:nm&cel
; i T
* lication for permission to move to the Bechuanaland Ir ho fegl e
%::::::?nsr::\ii}ssins from the Botswana Nanonal Archives. According to BNA archivists in Marc!
1992 the files: Damara 5.24/4

Samuel Maherero [5ic]. Proposal to settle him and his followers inr‘g;'Bl%:n:t:T]::g
Protectorate, (removal from Transvaal 1o Bamangwato Reserve, dc]as:h_]u‘;_ el h
move of other Maherero from the Bakwena rescrve). (J) 786 D 1919-24;

i
were missing and they stated that they had been ‘stolen about 20 years ;E_U,‘;:ﬁer?‘\:‘:‘i:xd':
missing’. After the war the Umion authorities sought to invite Samuel 1o du; i:“: b0 acteng &
cunccssié.ns commission in SouthWest Africa. Though permission wssls;nmgwg [\:\Uw?' et
of Native Affairs in Pretoria, Samucl was at this stage too fucklm (r'm: "ltllasi . .s.k; .mu:1d s
"0-8‘5. Department of Natve Affairs in Pretoria, MJIZU;’%??:;:EA? 2085, 5w Puﬁ:cmra:c o
J H i the resid 1 I 3 T
j\ai';fill-::znj 1?:‘3;;?“'10:;1::( no stage was Samuel Maharero 1o be allowed into ?’am::;: Tat: l;:
;nl’nrm 1fg:hc intends coming. Interesungly, the deparmlum of Nanve Affairs in Pret 5
this stage still prepared 1o allow Samuel to travel 1o SWA.
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Samuel Maharero died in exile in Serowe, the capital of the Bamangwato
kingdom, in what is now Botswana.!™

Samuel Maharero had cancer of the stomach. Prior to his death he had been

bed-ridden and had suffered greatly from a great deal of pain for a number of
months. Samuel did not die directly of cancer. The immediate cause of his
death was exhaustion and resultant heart failure. His last days were filled with
pain and agony. Lying in a hut in exile, Samuel must have pondered on the
events of his life. In a sense Samuel’s death was similar to that of his father,
Kamaharero's last days had also been spent in pain. Like Samuel, Kamaharero
had spent the last days of his life musing on life and suffering from stomach
cramps, though these were caused not by cancer but by dysentery or poison.
But, unlike Samuel, Kamaharero spent the last days of his life in the land of
his birth and next to the grave of his father, Tjamuaha. On the morning of his
death Samuel requested that he be buried along with his fathers in
Okahandja.!” In his final days Samuel Maharero was visited by his friends and
relatives, some of whom had died thirty years previously.'" Though his mental
faculties would not have been affected by the cancer, it is probable that his
physician, A. Worrall, prescribed him morphine, the painkiller of the day. And
if this is the case it would certainly go some way towards explaining some of
Samuel’s more esoteric final words to his people, which were dictated on the
day prior to his death.

Samuel Maharero’s testament to his people consisted of a series of trans-
criptions of dictations, conversations and visions, steeped in Christian sym-
bolism, and clearly shows the extent to which Christian teachings had become
part and parcel of Herero society.!” In essence Samuel Maharero urged the
remaining Herero to be humble before God, regroup, trust in one¢ another,

172 BNA, DCS, RM in Scrowe, 14/3/23, 1o RC. Following his residence in the Transvaal Samuel
had moved to the Bechuanaland Protectorate and settled at Serowe under the chieftmincy of
Khama, Kgost of Bamangwato district, Khama provided the Herero with tracts of land near
Mahalapye in his district. Following the granting of land by Khama, and the establishment of
Herero leadershup as Bakgon of Khama, Herero flocked to the area and a period of centralizing
took place as Herero, scattered in the southern districts of the protectorate, began moving to
Mahalapye in the B district. For further information on this process see Manasse,
Kebonang, and BNA, DCMOL 2/3, DCS 2/15,

' DCS 2/9 District Commussioner Serowe, Death of Chief Samuel Maharero and removal of
remains for burtal at Okahand)a in South West Africa. 1923, Telegram: ‘RM Serowe 14th March
regret report Chief SM is dying [ saw him this morning with MO and he asked me 1o greet his
honour and say that he wishes to be buricd at Okah andja in Damaraland next to his father. Please
telegraph if §'s wishes can be carried out.”

*** In Samuel Maharero’s final message to his people, he detailed ene such visit as follows:

I was awake and was visited by three of my elder brothers Wilhelm, Elias (Kandirikira) and
Kamatjikuria (Kandirikira) as ghosts. They said: ‘Do not be afraid, we have come to see your
illness, we are the children of Tjamuaha, there is not much time, we are going to wait for you
at the grave.” I then called for Tyikune through his children and the tribe, and asked for the
arrangements for the journey, he (Tjikune) called for Murauria, through the tnibe, and wanted
to see if the master of this country would give me a place. I will arrange for the dwellings to be
in the order they used to be in, (NNAW, ACC 200}

' NNAW, ACC 200. Friedrich Mah read the to the Herero illors and head

at Okahandja at the funeral. The message was probably passed on to Courtney Clarke by Vedder

who discussed the message in the BRMG 1923, pp. 117-22. Unfortunately we do not have a

Herero-language original of the message, added to which there are major differences between

the ACC 200 document and the message presented by Vedder in the BRMG. It would appear

that the BRMG message has been somewhat edited by Vedder.

maintain their identity as Herero and seck to regain their land: )

When the big flood of water came God kept 8 people anri theg: n;ﬂ;lf;: Ic:r:ers e

whole earth.'™ I have no news to tell you, but what mustblsay C:,cd e

the Natton. You are my children. You know all my troubles.

- i * erero
Samuel’s message articulated the message that, in God sfll]i:::;‘ ll:'l: I-I;Ien:m,
would find succour and shelter. As with the descendant§ o (i ,(hcir s
if they were willing to submit to God, wcPId once again raid Rt S
numbers and position. Samuel Maharero’s message 1'{::}1:1:1‘:".1‘.-1“Z eyl
passages taken from the book of Isaiah, which ws; a ;vGod e
Herero congregants at the time.'™ In _nther words, t (;ug o B e b
the Herero for their sins, God in His mercy had Ile T s:r " r;.)vidcd Tiing
prevented the Herero from being completely exterminate h, (a}nﬂd?s o
with the chance to reestablish themselves in keeping wit A _—

You may be oppressed or treated with contempt, do not Fe::z::?:vc?a:ga[ove

IY!‘JI.ll‘ authorities and the church and kecp the peace amongst y

3 smmclr-'a’:f 'r::(::u[rf?r:sgfit:hﬁ:-p!ease for the sake of your grandfather, if thur:s

s SOE:\ r;o::wrong he must be punished according to the law, If first l'nhlcs
:gf:;::ca:di'our country you do good, then ygu wil!lgll..casc God. God has punis
mc‘;;ih;{::ew:: rt‘r:'.f:xp;ncl\i\h:adn':énz?.lﬁr;:r,;: Iv:}sng has not the trust of his people
cannot be their head and be a father to his people.
My children work for God, my sickness is due to y
but if you trust in God he will forgive you your sins.
- i i :1’s successor, his son
The transcription was directed pnmaply at Samutu_s aue ower,l'_() s Sp2
Fricdrich Maharero, and it called upon Fr_ncdnct_l Lo_do al "m Hsmm inipen
the reunification of the Herero. The section, with its call on

our evils and that of my people,
1f you do evil it will not benefit

3 hat started
8 Reference to Noah, 1 find the longevity of c“”‘;“\;;?“i;’{?:ll:dclrl]r‘l—;(l};ilb:nu::d??:l t\::m:bm =
i i 3 abylon !
o E:-‘:“: UI;C‘i‘;I:P;:mcsh 49'00 yﬂ"s i h this 15 not as Strange as it Scems as Chief
the twentieth centu

Hi ) P F s Str . i
Rigruako clmmed in 1991, at the book Jaunch of Gerhardus Pool’s Samuel Maharero, that the
Herero had migrated southwards from Babylon le

aving all others behind.
e BRMG, 1923, pp. 109-10.

Why should you be beaten ﬁnyn;mn:?
hy do you persist in rebelhon :

gj:uyr wh‘n’:Ic hﬁ:‘.\d bbby ym; Whnlefh“r: ;\sc::‘l:;:i 15 nio soundness — only wounds and
o he sole of your foot to the top of you E

fwr?r:;n; open s:rcs. not cleansed or bandaged or soothed with ‘m]._ ey Mot
Ysu(r country is desolate, your ciies burned wath fire; your ficlds are being

right before you, laid waste as when uw:rlt!mwn_ by s“c:lmlm;“; -
The Daughter of Zion s left like a shelter in a vineyard, hike

. 1 like
E;yl::ct;:‘lmogr% Almighty had left us some survivors, we would have become by

ho1:5-9)
would have been ke Gomorrah, (Isaa . et e
Missionary Weener, who was stanoned in Okshand)a at the ume, f"ily C'fl‘:’c\“;’;‘fl;:xplmm“s:
;11 ns:::“:““m ng ‘amungs] the Herero he often felt that Ismah 1: 4 best desc ;
P i Idren given (o corruptiont
i d with guilt, a brood of evildoers, chi y
%‘ sI:rnmc“l‘:t::l:npl‘;:::pl]..eolr?;‘:;qw}: nvfspumed the Haly One of Isracl and turned their backs
ey hav
on him.
18 NNAW, ACC 200.

in a ficld of melons, like 8

Sodom, we
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to the law and care for one another, echoed the teachings of Jesus Christ as
portrayed by Marthew.!* Samuel Maharero’s claim that he was suffering on
account of his people echoes the idea of Jesus Christ dying for the sins of
mankind. This image of Samuel Maharero as the Christ is reinforced by the
final section of Samuel Maharero’s message to his people. This was not delivered
through the mouth of Samuel Maharero, but after his death through the
medium of Diana Riarua, the daughter of Assa Riarua, After his death in
Botswana, Samuel Maharero appeared to Diana and informed her that he had

risen from the dead.'®2 Samuel’s words echoed those of Jesus to Mary
Magdalene, when he told Diana:

You will not die, you will go and tell the people, who will wear mourning for me -
they are not mine - mine are those who will do my wall,'®

Friedrich Maharero, who had been at his father’s side when he died, succeeded
Samuel as chief of the Herero in Botswana. Friedrich conducted his father's
funeral arrangements. Three days after Samuel’s death, an empty lead-lined
coffin to the value of £120 was ordered and delivered to Mafeking. From
Mafeking it travelled by rail to Palapye Road, where it was met by waggon and
taken to Serowe, where Samuel’s body had been temporarily buried.
Immediarely after Samuel’s death, a flurry of correspondence ensued berween
the authorities of the Bechuanaland Protectorate, the Union of South Africa,
the South West African Protectorate, the South African Railways and Herero
representatives in Bechuanaland and SWA 184 Finally after months of wrangling,
Friedrich Maharero and forty-nine compatriots were granted three-month
passes and permitted to accompany Samuel’s body to Okahandja.'®s Two
hundred pounds, which had been kept on fixed deposit at the South African
National Bank in Nylstrom, were withdrawn to pay for part of the funeral and
travelling costs.'® Finally in August of 1923 the lead-lined coffin, accompanied
by its funeral entourage, departed by train for Okahandja.!#

A uniformed Herero honour guard of 150 mounted men and 1500 footmen
met Samuel’s body as his train steamed into Okahandja station on Thursday
morning, 23 August 1923. The honour guard, led by Hoseah Kutako, Traugort
Maharero, Friedrich Maharero and Mr Warner, the magistrate of Okahandja,
escorted the coffin to the house of Traugott Maharero, Here it was placed in
state in a ‘mourning chamber’ which men were barred from entering.

In the weeks prior to the funeral, Herero from all over the country had begun
converging on Okahandja. Special rail tariffs were introduced to facilitate

'*! See particularly Matthew 5-8,
'™ Matthew 28: 1-10; Mark 16: 1-20 & John 20: 1-18,

'*! See Marthew 12: 49-50 & Mark 3: 34-35,

'* See, in particular, BNA, DCS 2/9 District Commussioner Serowe, ‘Death of Chief Samuel
Maharero and removal of remains for burral at Okahandja in South West Africa. 1923°,

't BNA, DCS 2/9, T. Ellenberger Government Secretary in Mafeki g: 13/7/23, to Resid
Magistrate in Serowe.

' BNA,DCS 2/9, Acting Resident Ma,

gistrate Serowe 16/323 1o Acting Government Secretary,
Mafeking. It 15 probable that this was maney which Samuel had earned through acting as a labour
tout for the Transvaal mines. Whar is particularly interesting is that the money was placed on a
five-year fixed deposit, in other words it could not be got hold of by anyone bar in the case of

death. It 15 possible that Samuel had already intended thar this money be used for his funeral
costs,

" 0y, banderu h ies call 1 indi

empty, or filled with stones, a donkey ora g

that the coffin that travelled to Okahandja was cither
oat, but not with the remains of Samuel Maharero,
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Herero travel and ensure the speedy return of Hcrer::l em}:floyee:;"l;:::no?r:h;
third day, Sunday 26 August 1923, whe_n Samuel’s ;o in w] L iri
Traugott’s house and placed on trestles, it was flanke bde; Br e
uniformed Herero men, 170 uniforgl_ed st;dtmztg::l Her:ro p(;pulation
ified amount of Herero women. Given tha oy
:?:E:ctime was in the region of 20000, the number of Herero who atte
eral was phenomenal. e ALy
the(:f:.:::rtnc;.«—(llan-].u:, secretary for the protectorate, Mr dCl;p;e?\Li?::n s
officer, and Mr Warner, magistrate of Okahandja, atten z plbaa i
beha!f‘of the settler administration. Courtney-Clarke an
colleagues were clearly impressed:

On arrival at the Location we were led into a hollow square fc-rrncg b\y;’ﬁl’ethN::‘v::
fa f the Chief’s house, the women being massed on one side i She st
fo rm:lK e n the other sides. Practically all of them, with the excepuion ; t el
'fs‘::-rn:g:msp}?cadmen, were 1n uniform, either olld g_uman or Bi"“h' 9r1]:e ir A
apparently been spared to obtain this form of g for the o s
i 1 nized by the Natives responsible and unlike Natve funs b
o weh GF;;: table throughout . . . | have attended a number of Native funl:i:lo S
rl:’c[;;é;lbucl 1 must frankly say I have never scen one better conducted.

" . ich
In effect the funeral, in its outward appearances, was 1dcnu_:s::: to :::iz:j]:éry
R e T L st s yasuntid oldlece; wnd
- and ceremony, marching br: nds, 3
mi:;ls]egfrizﬂpof soldiers, The outer paraphernal}a of Sa‘mh:e‘l: : r;::;zle;w:)i_
identical to the state funeral which had been given to e
e e o itind  ts feneal 61
o blaﬁaahna(::rsr::er;:{c;;d at the funeral n_t' He_ydehreclf. nine ye;;:
Sam}lc sly, and it was they who undoubtedly prowdlcd information as tgom-
E::c\::u:ndy,possibiy whys of a state funeral.'®® Referring to tgc I?f?::?icrem
mands, uniforms and the like, missionary Vedder cornme_ntlc ht am"  Hesero
wamec{ to bury Samuel Maharero with the greatest p,(::i:lb ¢ honour,
that, they had until now only had Gcrman examples’. R
H,osea Kutako, who two years previously had been app e
Maharero as his representative in SWA, led the proceedings ancsﬂe's I
of ceremonies. After Samuel’s coﬂ;n h:fdl':;escpaha::i:: ‘;_rle o
Tl'lnugcé:’sshcu‘si,l @?‘ls:rz:fi::plg:gol?rgondio, a Rhenish missionary evanglellst‘;
gamg,d fe un;d and read from the book of John, chapter 2. Unformnazte i)_e $:
‘:’it;ii‘: knoor\‘::recise!y what it was that Rudolf Kondio read. Chapter 2 o

e NINAW, ACC. 200. " s
e e vz fatal d in November 1914 whilst restin
1 World War, He was fatally wo\_md: in P 1 :

R:nf\;o]i’(;};;fi:::ﬂﬂ_oﬂc was buried with full milnary honours in Windhoek

% BRMG 1924, p. 118, .

11 What the exact meaning ufl-!osc_sh s words were B e L thE nek e
have a Herero-language rendition of the fungml and wi b stha A it

Cotis, aCl ke, However, sun can be translated into Otjiherero as ILI])u S e

Lnnrtlnqsf-‘s:;‘ olr ‘day’. It ils probable that the words were spokcrn in :c;; e

m“d“":f ;v.- loaded with extra meaning relating tolthe daymmg of a new ssrcini Fosltybiiicirs

\\v’odrdif :150 seemed 1o believe, and would fit in nicely with the passage:

c

the Herero evangelists,

d 5 tll his death in the first
of German forces o hpopia

we cannot be certain. Unfortunately we do
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book of John contains two sections. Th i

t > . The first deals with Jesus changi

;r:]t: t:lene and thlu s;cond deals with Jesus clearing the tm{ple of the iizfc::;::
money-lenders. The first section deals with the fi i

by Jesus, and ends with the words, * e i
s, s, ‘He thus revealed his glo d his disci

put their faith in him." Though this could it

choice is for Chapter 2, verses 20-2: FeRbs ResRon sty pracnal

The Jews replied, ‘It has taken forty-si i i
Jews ) ; y-six years to build this temple, and 1
::i;::jseﬁ: in l|£rede- d:y;? B;ut the temple he had spoken of was ﬁis I::dyyglll't::ehseux
. m the dead, his disciples recalled what h i : i
Scripture and the words that Jesus had spok:n."”t BRES TSk they beliewa the

'Sl"ia:\;:?::ircngignishcd, tlhc r‘rim;rrners set off towards the mission church, where
in was placed before the altar. Samuel’s s H F
and the colonial officials sat in the fr \ o St atiion
1 th g t row on opposite sides of the ai
Heinrich Vedder, assisted b s a e i
i , y Werner, conducted the fi ice i
Orjiherero. Prior to the funer: i s i
2 al the organizers had approached the missi i
to determine the manner in which th VR s 16 b Sesd ek
e funeral service was to be cond
;[;i:iyt:iger::;csleg (h:{ s;’fulé funeral service be conducted in the c;:;zg
nt that the handfuls of soil be tossed onto the coffin insi ;
) n insid
::nht:ll;llzh and not at the graveside. The Herero wanted the funeral to be conduec?e‘;
accorfiil::;l::tl‘-;:;:zat tl:e cerzerlnprﬁr at ]t]he graveside could take place strictly
custom. Initially it had been intended that W/
conduct the service. However, Werner wi s B
. 7 as s0 upset by the requests that h
refused to conduct the funeral.'”’ Hij iti ety Faches
v is position was undoubtedly furth
strengthened by a Herero prohibition on i hacevice
s ! the holding of a Damara church i
Lr;;ht;:l::rgh "Im the morning of the funeral.' However, given that the CS:L\:;;
uilt, maintained and financed by the H i
Okahandja prior to 1904, it i g thae b Moo e 0
: »itis hardly surprising that the Herero saw th
¥ - 3 e . . . Ec.h
as falling within their jurisdiction.'** Vedder conducted the service, which 1;;:2

for about three-quarter i
Sl 25:q s of an hour. His sermon was based on the first book of

All men are hike grass, and all their gl i
I ory is hike the flowers of the field;
withers and the flowers fall, but the word of the Lord stands for evc;ﬁ‘g, _——

v - : ; "
‘ollowing the service the procession made its way to the site of Samuel’s former

house. Here further i i icki
s ceremonies, described only as ‘licking the dust’, took

M NNAW, ACC 200.
1% Pool, Samuel, p. 299,
'** It must be borne in mind that unnol the outbre:
. ! ak of th - i

:‘::'bn:lt. r:a;m:_nmcd and financed by the Herero e Hc?gmluf:;'i’r:"wa: i }'90;;1{:::\‘}'““"

ust not be forgotten th eade: atione
e Muh'rrs::a n that a number of Damara leaders wook part in the funeral celebratons
9% See the carlier ar b K k i
R o and the 1es regarding the church in
! See Isiah 40: 6, 8,
197 W
M:;:i\:;::::: iﬁf;a(i;):;;:z;fl;rkcl,th‘-’in:].hoei;:czsrw‘ﬁ, report on the funeral of Samuel

s : . In a letter from Lewis Warner, th i i

9/8/23, to Courtmey-Clarke prior to the funeral, Warner outlined the i mls:l:_::::;thhn:!_d}n.

and noted, ‘Frederick i 5
don’t do this). ick and his followers, also Traugort and his followers then lick the dust (We
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In the shade of casuarinas and eucalypti, the graves of Tjamuaha and
Maharero lay within the grounds of a forestry station, which had been
established by the German administration on the banks of the Okahandja river
following the Herero-German war.1%8 It was to these graves that the funeral
procession and Samuel’s coffin draped in the Union Jack proceeded:

On the arrival of the procession the mounted men took up their position on one
side of the square, the women on the other and the men and band on the third. The
coffin and bearers however halted on the furthest corner of the square and one of
the oldest men Tjorovi knelt down on the ground with the bearers and announced
the arrival of the dead man to his ancestors, calling out —

“Father I have brought your child and all your peaple (giving the names of all hus
descendants) open the road for your son.'

After some delay and repetition he announced the road was open and the cortege
crossed the square and took up its position at the grave side, the male members of
the family kneeling round the grave. Tjorovi again proceeded to call on the departed,
saying —
“Father 1 have brought your child Samuel, I have brought all, Frederick [Friedrich]
is here, all his brothers are here, ] have brought them all to you. Can't you hear
1 speak to you.’

This was repeated several times followed by -

“Don’t you know who is speaking. I am speaking Tjorov: your sister’s son. Have
you no sense, why don’t you listen, I have brought your child who was away 2
long time, I can't tell you why but you know yourself. Take him to your breast.

Suddenly he displayed great signs of joy and announced the departed had heard
and had replied saying ‘he wanted Samuel’. This was greeted by a great shout from
all assembled of *Yes! Yes! He wants him 1%

Courtney-Clarke, speaking through an interpreter, presented a speech on behalf
of the administrator. In keeping with colonial ideas on the behaviour of the
ideal native, the speech urged the Herero to work, keep the peace, be
industrious, respect the law, follow the example of Khama, avoid the example
of Cetswayo, Dinizulu or Lobengula and generally efface themselves. Even the
few words which might have struck a chord, those related to the issue of land,
were smothered in the admonition that ‘these Reserves are not to be regarded
as places where your young men can live idle and lazy lives. They will have to
go out to work and earn money to improve them’?*® In a final show of
magnanimity Courtney-Clarke agreed to allow a Herero guard of honour of

ferred to the ici '
pool was constructed in

1% In 1915, following the South African invasion, the station was
who wished to build a swi ing pool on the g ds. The swi

1932, and still exists.
1% NNAW, ACC 200, pp. 4-5. Itis interesting to note that the same procedure is followed at the

annual commemorations at the graves, where an clder calls on the ancestors and waits for a reply
before proceeding further.

20 NNAW, ACC 200, p. 7. The words spoken on be
ring to them following the Herero rebellion and the
_as soon as these reserves have been marked off
move into them with your wives.

half of Hofmeyr would come to havea bitter
forced removal of Herero to the reserves.

1 am setting apart reserves for your people . .
and water has been found on them you will be able 10
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ten men to keep watch over the grave for one night.?°! After all, Samuel
Maharero’s new grave lay in what was, according to the law at the time,
European municipal land;i.e. it was off-limits to all Africans after sunset. The
Europeans left and the Herero continued with their funeral. Samuel was buried
next to his fathers,

For the Herero the funeral of Samuel Maharero was the largest socio-political
event since the Herero-German war. It was an event that brought to the fore
a number of issues which showed that the funeral was indeed, as in the final
words of Courtney-Clarke’s speech, ‘the beginning of a new era for the Herero
Nation’.22The funeral demonstrated to the Herero and the outside world that
they were once again a self-aware self-regulating political entity, with their own
unique identity, a socio-political entity that had its own command structures
that did not ‘do under’ for the regulated order and symbolism of the colonial
state, either in time management, uniforms or marching, The funeral showed
their continued faith in the British empire at the time, even though this was a
faith which would soon come to an end. It showed their growing independence
from the Rhenish church, The Herero determined the way in which the funeral
was to be conducted, who was to attend and to a large extent what was to be
said. Christian Herero ists and Ovandangere spoke on behalf of Samuel’s
soul. Herero soldiers paraded in honour of Samuel. Samuel’s foes, descendants,
followers and successors marched and prayed at his grave. In effect Samuel’s
funeral brought together for the first time the Herero who had survived the
Herero-German war. Herero who had fled to Bechuanaland and South Africa;
Herero who had become indentured labourers on the settler farms; and the
young Herero men who had become German soldiers, now marched together
for the first time as a single unit. Samuel’s funeral was the catalyst that reunited
the Herero. The uninitiated youths, who had become the soldiers of the Kaiser
and Marcus Garvey, now became, once again, the soldiers of the Herero,
reunited with the missionary evangelists, and their indentured flocks. The
reading of the Bible, by the missionary evangelists, the marching of the youth,
the prayers of the Ovandangere, and the awe of the whites all served to ensure
that the funeral of Samuel Maharero heralded the reunification of the Herero.
At the funeral of Samuel Maharero the various strands of Herero society that
had emerged in the aftermath of the war came together and, through the process
and ceremony of burying Samuel Maharero, were woven and drawn together
to make up, for the first time in history, a unitary Herero society.

Postscript

Following the funeral of his father, Friedrich Maharero appealed to the South
African administration to be permitted to stay in SWA. His appeal was backed
by the signatures of Hosea Kutako, Traugott Maharero, Alfried Mabharero,
Salatiel Kambazembi, Joel Kasetura, Asser Kamusuvise, Silphanus Mungunda
and Wilfried Kazondonga; i.e. all the eastern and central Herero leaders in
the territory.2o Conspicuously absent was the support of the Herero of

1 NNAW, ACC 200, p. 8.

22 Thid.

M NNAW, SWAA 1/1/3 cc 4, d to the ad
thar Friedrich be allowed to remain in the territory,

rator of South West Africa requesting
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Omaruru. Clearly the differences that had existed berween _Om:]rgruoa;:
Okahandja prior to the Herero-German war were to be continued int
future. )
. F:i:cdrich was not to remain in SWA and in _Decm"aber 19_24 he Iw;s c;::)arlli::
to the Union border by a policeman, who provided his §upei1;ol;se;:;0?h v
iedrich’ i ith Baster representatives :
report on Friedrich’s meeting v_mh_ et o
inhabitants of the Rehoboth district, Basters as wel . s
take part in an armed revolt against the enforc‘ed branding a_nd removal E: :{t::;l:
from the Rehoboth district. Significantly this confrontation was o o
known as ‘the war of Garvey's button’. It appears thaL_Fnednch 5 presen :
SWA has come to be conflated, in popular hismnes,l WI‘Ih the alleged presenc
of Marcus Garvey in the territory. Follluwin,g_ Friedrich's depa_rmre :’1:“:515922[
permitted to return to the territory again until shor!Jy before h1§ I:LEIB i SWA'
At the time of Friedrich’s death grand apartheid was flg:;)n;‘ l?f;ﬂ‘;rs the'
in i iedri buried along with his 5
s a condition to allowing Friedrich to be v t
gkahandia municipality demanded that Hoseah t:.[(;;c::m sign a‘ﬁ ;gie;:f::lgt
i 5 descendants of Maharero wi :
stating that henceforth *any oﬂ_mr : D e
r places’. 2% Or, as the major of Okahandja to 'y
z:)r:ewigh Kaffirs to ,be buried there’.?* Even for some members of the ;Bi:llliu
affairs department at the time, this was going a bit far and the -r?um:n};“mi
was asked to explain why this course of action had been taken. Two
later the following reply was received: - o
i is in the immediate vicinity
ertainly aware that the graveyard referred to is in nedis
‘o(i?:h?:iﬁ;o;cl': \;atler ?n stallations, and the pus_s1|b|l1rdy of w&t;r cc;::rli:r:::; irznocfa;:;:;
consideration. You will certainly admit i
:Irt:f‘l:l;‘;::d[waler] will filter through thrc t?omlllls n\.-w:;1 gc'l:cili :op::;;i\:?re:) Sk:l;r::;jl;f
illage. In the interests of the health of the village, Ao
:-:; ;;fceil considered it advisable to su::ﬁn ;uct}: r'.'aﬁ?.:ﬁilmwpiﬁ :rl:aknﬁ:or il:n:i?iech]
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i ish that arr e ¢ anticip of ey
g.::lslt:iz vlfllzrero to retain free rights to exercise their tribal (radluon:::i;hlscg_:z
town area, without the council being permitted to demand or requ P

raitha ]
cmgilltl'::‘zay sooner or later the limited area will force the Herero to find another

graveyard, and why should the public interests of whites be left behind in the interests
of native traditions which will inevitably die out?*

As if this was not enough the Okahandja municipality commissioned a

i iry i i Henno Martin.?*® Henceforth
1 | enquiry into the issue headed \_33-' Dr 1 L
%—;:r:rg;c]:ade?s were no longer to be buried alongside Tjamuaha, Maharero,

i - 127
=4 NNAW, SWAA 1/1/2 Intelligence Natives SWA, Report by David Ngiki, Okahandija 29/
24,
2% NNAW, SWAA 2086, Hoofl
j x . . il
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i i i h Kutako remindes
1953, During the course of this meeting Hoseal 1 Sridlidebe ity
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5 bl ‘. i ¥ o pr " d
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World War to escape internment, The Sheltering Desert (Windhoek 1957).

1lek is in Windhoek, 20/9/52, to Die Stadklerk
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Samuel and Friedrich. Thus Hoseah Kutako and Clemens Kapuuo were buried
elsewhere. However, in the early 1980s, when the South African administration
was heavily dependent on the support of the Herero population of Namibia,
the burial of Herero chiefs alongside Tjamuaha was permitted once again.
Apparently ‘native traditions’ do not inevitably die out.

Conclusion

When the South African invasion of Namibia began in 1915, Herero believed
that a new age, which would entail the restoration of Herero independence
and land, was dawning. The Herero acted in accordance with this belief. Herero
abandoned their erstwhile German employers and sought to rebuild a new life
independent of settler control. They were aided in this by the famine in
Ovamboland which forced thousands of Ovambo on to the territory’s labour
market, effectively freeing the Herero from employment. Herero occupied
abandoned farms, established new herds and began converting acquired small
stock into large stock. As the Herero prospered, they came into increasing
conflict with the settlers. In response to this the new South African
administration passed legislation which was continually mediated by the
conflict that existed between liberal and settler tendencies within the South
African administration. It was within the ever-changing parameters of this
conflict that the Herero came to reestablish themselves, largely beyond the
bounds of settler control. Thart is, the Herero were able to make use of the
leeway provided by this conflict to reestablish Herero society. One of the
unintentional outcomes of this conflict was the creation of Herero reserves.
The Herero reserve established at Otjohorongo is a fine example of how Herero
were able to make use of conflict within the settler administration to further
their own aims.

The establishment of Orumbo Reserve was an attempt by the administration
to contain and control the Herero living in the vicinity of Windhoek. In the
event, the administration was simply overwhelmed by the sheer numbers of
Herero and herds involved. Caught between attempting to appease settler
interests and fulfilling Herero demands, the administration reacted hard-
handedly against the Herero. This, coupled to the inadequacy of the reserves,
led to the further radicalization and growing self-awareness on the part of the
Herero vis-a-vis the South African administration. The administration’s actions
allowed for the development of a new centralized and ever more radicalized
Herero leadership associated with Hoseah Kutako.

Within Herero society new ideas and attitudes, with regard to the manner
in which the world was organized, and their place within it, came to be ever
more widespread in Herero society. The develoy of the Truppenspieler,
which provided Herero youth with social support and status, the development
of UNIA, which provided the catalyst and means for the reestablishment of
Herero chiefly authority, the development of Herero discontent vis-a-vis the
mission church, and the suppression of the Bondelswarts rebellion, all served
to emphasize 1o the Herero what their true status as subjects of the South
African administration in Namibia was. These events served to educate the
Herero as to their position as a colonized black population. Samuel Maharero's
funeral brought together, for the first time, the Herero royals of Botswana and
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Namibia, the Herero soldiers, and the Herero Christians, newly cnlmrertcd and
otherwise. The funeral of Samuel Maharero not only served to bring together
the various strands that went to make up the Herero, _but also_ scrv;d o
emphasize to the Herero their specific identity as Herero with a specific history
of having come through the hellfire of war.




Conclusion

Bctw_'een 1890 and 1923 Herero society was destroyed and rebuilt. The politics
of this society prior to its destruction in 1904 and the manner in which Herero
society reestablished itself after 1904 are the subject-martter of this thesis

When research for this work was started, the author’s ideas on Herero his‘tory
were largely detsrmmed by childhood recollections of Herero celebrations and
the works of Bridgman, Drechsler, Bley and Pool.! This book has attempted
o go hcyun_d these observations which saw the war as the ‘be all and end all’
of Herero hl_smry, the year zero upon which all that is Herero is based and in
rcrms_of which ‘aII that is Herero is to be understood. Indeed, rather much of
what 1t argues is totally unrelated to the war, and in that sense uncharted
Cansequent!y it has been necessary to revise considerably the accepted viewsl
on ,:entral Namibian history. Most notably, it has become clear that Herero
society was much less monolithic than originally thought, Ethnic divisions were
far frqm clear-cut, ‘and very porous. Herero society, if such can be defined
was riven by tensions and splits which extended beyond the Herero as:
convcmmnally' defined, so that the incoming Germans were able to play off
one leader against another, thereby facilitating their conquest. The nineteenth
century in central Namibia was characterized by evolution and disintegration
of po!mes‘ and ethnicities. This process was partially arrested and frozen with
the establishment of German colonial control in Namibia,?

! As a child the author ded Herero day celebrations in Okahand)a, T
; 1 hese celeb:
w::jhéhc works Iol’J.M. Bridgman, The Revalt of the Hereros, H. Drechsler, ‘L;Ijs };ﬂoﬁi’;ﬂ?
an . Paol, Die .J_-!'cnm-omtauq, all concentrated on the Herero-German war to the dclrimcn;
ofa further analysis of Herero history, The work of H. Bley, South-West Africa under German Rule
s

100, dealt with the war but was mare i
to0, dealt s " concerned with an analysis of German coloni 4
in Namibia than with Herero history. ” onatinvolvement

2 Charles Ambler” .
i arles Ambler's excellent Kenyan Gommunities i the Age of Imperialiom (Yale 1988) brought to

In tr?lnt.:mpdnrnry Africa, ethnic bpundnrics are often the site of intensely bitter and violent
conflict; and to many people ¥ Alfricans and outsiders alike — tnibalism represents an atavistic

igly insur: bl to progress. Yet the history of central Kenya makes clear

that in Kenya at least the roots of e:hnir:iry are twisted and shallow. (p. 157)
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Through the astute manipulation of Herero kinship structures and
missionary and German administrator ideas of succession and governance,
Samuel Maharero ensured that Imperial Germany supported him in his struggle
against the other Herero chiefs, and recognized and supported him in the newly
created position of paramount chief of all the Herero. In exchange for land,
cattle and labour, taken from his newly acquired subjects, Samuel Maharero
was able to purchase and rely on the support of Imperial Germany.> The
dispossession and enforced land clearances which resulted from this alliance
led to increased social tension and pressure on the land remaining in Herero
hands. The Ovambanderu Khauas-Khoi war of 1895 was a direct result of
Samuel Maharero’s alliance with the German colonial administration.*

The rinderpest epidemic which struck Namibia in 1896 spread with extreme
rapidity, because Herero herds, on account of the land clearances and boundary
enforcements, had been forced into an ever smaller range, thereby ensuring
that the quarantining of herds had become well-nigh impossible. Herero society,
which had already been substantially weakened by the acrtivities of Samuel
Maharero and his German allies, was further weakened as the powers of Herero
chiefs were usurped by German vaccinating and culling teams, Added to this,
the power of chiefs was undercut as they lost not only their means of acquiring
capital, but also their means of patronage. In the aftermath of the epidemic,
crop failures, diseases, droughts, and the breakdown of power structures that
had existed beforchand served to destabilize Herero society even further.’
Rinderpest ensured that pressure on the land was reduced, and that large
numbers of Herero were forced onto the labour market. New war-lords, such
as Kajata and Willy Kain, made use of the turmoil to improve their position
through the export of labour. Samuel Maharero, too, sought to retain his power
by exporting labour and selling land.®

Frightened by the extent of Herero land sales, Rhenish missionaries, in

The findings of this thesis indi that the devel of ethnic identities in central Ni
in the ninteenth century mirrored what happened in central Kenya at the same time. Ambler’s
words regarding central Kenyan ¢ ities are cqually rel 1o the ities of central
Namibia. Along with Ambler’s work, the influential work edited by Leroy Vail, The Creation of
Tribalismt in Southern Africa (London 1989), on the develop and h of ethnic
identities in southern Africa, greatly influenced the author’s thinking.

3 Similar alliances between incoming colonialists and African chiefs were made throughout Africa.

Elsewhere in southern Africa P. Bonner, Kings, C and Ce The and
Dissalution of the ni h tury Swazi State (Cambridge 1983), and P. Delius, The Land Belongs
to Us: The Pedi Polity, the Boers and the British in the Ni h Century Tr I (Br i
1983}, have detailed the devel and ult dissolution of similar alliances.

4 Events in southern Tswanaland in the 1870s and 1880s f d what happ din N;
Here too people were driven off their lands, forced onto ever smaller strerches of land untl
eventually war and further disp ion became the For a detailed overview of events
in southern Tswanaland, see Kevin Shillington, The Colonusation of the Southern Trwana, 1870
1900 (Braamfontein 1985).

5 Jeff Peires has described in great detail what can happen to a society when it is struck by such
natural disasters as befell the Herero, To some extent events in central Namibia following the
rinderpest appear to reflect similar conditions to what occurred in the eastern Cape following the
lungsickness epidemics of the 1850s. J. Peires, The Dead Will Avrise: Nonggawuse and the Great
Xhosa Cattle-killing M 1856=7 (Jot b 1989).

* The turmoil that emerged in central Namibia following the O jeru Khauas-EKhor war
and the rinderpest was in many ways similar to the unstable situation that emerged in Zululand
following the Anglo-Zulu war of 1879, and which is described by Jelf Guy, The Destruction of the
Zulu Kingdom (London 1979). In both instances new warlords sought to improve their positions
through raiding and labour export.
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conjunction with the German governor, Theodor Leutwein, sought to create
reserves of inalienable Herero land. A substantial proportion of the colony’s
settlers, soldiers and administrators were opposed to the creation of reserves
and agitated against the new legislation. In the climate of opposition to Herero
reserves and the belief in sertler rights to the land, war between the Herero
and Imperial Germany became a self-fulfilling prophecy.” During the war,
Herero attempts at reaching a negotiated settlement were studiously ignored,
as elements of the Imperial German army followed a policy of genocide.

Between 1905 and 1908 the majority of the Herero survivors were
incarcerated in concentration camps and allocated as forced labourers to
civilian, administrative and military enterprises alike. The majority of the camp
inhabitants were women. In the aftermath of the war, Imperial Germany sought
to transform the Herero and the survivors of the Nama-German war into a
single amorphous black working class.® The bulk of Herero society came to be
organized around Herero mission evangelists, who were effectively the only
Herero who were permitted to travel and read and write. A large number of
Herero orphans were taken, as servants, into the German army. Here they found
employment and social structure. By 1915 there were primarily two groups of
Herero in Namibia, Christians and soldiers.

In 1915 the German occupation of Namibia was replaced by South African
occupation. On account of the South African invasion, the young Herero who
had become German soldiers were left leaderless and without the social
structure that had given them status and identity. Left in limbo these young
men created a new social structure, based on that which they knew best, the
German army. These newly created Otruppe provided the young men with
identity, social support, contacts and standing.® The new South African
administration was characterized by conflicts between paternalistic liberal
interests and settler interests. Making use of the margins, created in the South
African administration by these settler and liberal conflicts, the Herero re-
acquired cattle herds and demanded the restitution of land rights. The
reacquisition of cattle, and the granting of reserves led to a growing
independence on the part of the Herero vis-a-vis the new colonial admin-
istration. Overwhelmed by the sheer bers of Herero demanding land rights,

* Shula Marks, in her Reluctant Rebellon: the 1906-8 Disturbances in Nasal (Oxford 1970), has
described how, in a similar series of misunderstandings and conscious deceit to those which led
to the outbreak of the Herero-German war, the war against Bambatha became a sell-fulfilling
prophecy.
*The work of Peter Delius, “The Nzundza Ndebele: Indenture and the making of ethnic identity,
1883-1914", in: Holding their Ground: Class, Localuy and Culture in 19th and 20ch Century South
Africa, edited by F. Bonner, I. Hofmeyr, D. James, T. Lodge (Johannesburg 1989), pp. 227-58,
on the Ndzundza Ndebele details how, following their defeat by the Transvaal Boers, the Ndebele
were able to retain and reestablish their identity as Ndzundza Ndebele contrary to the wishes of
their victors who wished to see them reduced to an amorphous mass of labour power. The manner
in which the Ndzundza Ndebele were able to overcome their subjugation mirrors that of the
Herero.
#The development of the Otruppe is a fascinating aspect of Namibian history and is sure to accupy
the work of future acad dealing with Namibia, Suffice is to say that in many regions of the
lonized world in the ieth century people have engaged in activities that appear to mimic
those of the colonizer, For interesting views on this phenomenon, see Terence Ranger, Dance and
Society in Eastern Africa, 1890-1970: The Beni Ngoma (Berkeley 1975), Paul Stoller, Embodying
Colonial Memories: Spirit Possession, Power, and the Hauka in West Africa (London 1995), Michael
Taussig, Mimesis and Alterity: A Particular History of the Senses (New York 1993) and Peter Worsley,
The Trumpet Shall Sound: A Study of ‘Cargo Cults'in Melanesia (London 1957).
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the administration overreacted and ensured the further radicalization of the
Herero vis-a-vis the administration. This radicalization and opposition to
colonial rule was reflected in the growth of independent churches, the
development of new political groupings, such as the UNIA, and the emergence
of a new Herero leadership. Though UNIA was initiated in Namibia py West
Indians and Africans, its organizational structures soon passed over into the
hands of Herero. The millenarian and militaristic messages purveyed by UNIA
in Namibia ensured that UNIA was a catalyst in bringing r_oglcr.her the wo
strands of Herero society existing at the time.'® The universalistic pm-_Afrlc_an
identity of UNIA was soon discarded for a narrower, specific Herero identity
which was first manifested, and therefore probably born, at the funeral of
Samuel Maharero. The funeral not only brought together the two strands,
Christians and soldiers, but also brought Herero in Namibia back into contact
with Herero living in exile following the war of 1904. Herero society was
refounded at the funeral of Samuel Maharero in 1923, when all the various
splintered historical strands of Herero society came together to create that
which had not existed beforehand, a single Herero identity. )

This book, it is hoped, will provide a historical framework and basis for
further research that is to be conducted on Herero society and history. It is,
unashamedly, a history of the male elite. In particular it revolves 8l‘Dl.l!I1d and
concentrates on the activities of one man, Samuel Maharero. As such it calls
for further research to be conducted on those who have been referred to in
passing in this work, the other Herero chiefs, chiefdoms, councillors,
evangelists, women and children. ) :

In conclusion thus, the first half of this book dealt with the ways in which
the political structures of Hereroland developed, in the _13§t quarter of the
nineteenth century, but could not cope with German imperialism. Indeed, even
before the outbreak of the Herero-German war, Herero society was falling
apart. The second half of this book dealt with Herero society in t.h.e a{termath
of the Herero-German war when, on the basis of German militarism and
missionary endeavour, Herero society reestablished itself. By 1923, and ghe
funeral of Samuel Maharero, Herero society had redeveloped structures wh}ch
could and were used to attempt to cope with the new colonial administration
which the South Africans were creating, and further the struggle of the Herero
towards redemption.

16 Helen Bradford, in her A Taste of Freedom: The ICU in Rural South Africa, 1924-1930, has
documented the impact of mass organizations on the rural communities in South ﬁ_‘l‘ricu.‘lj‘hgt
this impact was far greater than initially anticipated mirrors the case of the UNIA in Namibia
between 1920 and 1923,
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Botswana

Botswana National Archives (BNA), Gaborone

1) *HC’ Series — Papers of the High Commissioner, Cape Town, including
Ad istrator/Deputy Commissi Vryburg, 1884-99

2) ‘RC’ Series — Papers of Resident Commissioner, Mafckeng, ca. 1895-
1930 ,

3) ‘DC” Series — Papers of Resident Magistrate/District Commissioner
Offices to 1958 o

4) ‘AC’ Series - Papers of Assistant Commissioners North and South,
ca. 1890-1924

5) PP series — Misc. Private Papers

6) BNB - Misc. holdings of Archives library including books, manu-

scripts, microfilms and audio tapes

South Africa
Barlow Rand Archives, Johannesburg

These archives contain the files of H. Eckstein & Co. who had a controlling
share in the now defunct Anglo-French company, which recruited Samuel
Maharero and his followers and settled them on land in the northern Transvaal
following their flight from Namibia.

Box HE 208 F 12
HE Record Dept. 24 April 1903-4 February 1907

Box HE 221 F 47C :
HE Record Dept. Chamber of Mines Labour importation agency Lrd.
18 Apnil 1904

Box HE 290 F251W ;
HE Record Dept. WNLA & CMLIA Amalgamation 31 Aug. 1905-30
Dec. 1909

Cape Archives Depot (CAD), Cape Town

Government House (GH)
Vol. 23 General despatches .

/40 Raising among the Natives in German Territory of
Damaraland 1896

/82  Herero natives from German South West Africa crossing
into Cape Colony 1904

/120 Regarding extradition of Bondels Paul and Abraham Herero
1908

Antorney General (AG)
Vol. 1733 Jacko and Hans, Damara Boys. Brought from West coast
for indentureship to Farmers. Walfish Bay 190§—I907
Vol. 1847 Damara Men, Women and Children. Deportation of
certain. Gordonia 1908
Vol. 1931 Blouboeke en Wetbocke in Verband met Damaraland en
Walfisch Bay 1880-1906

Native Affairs (NA)
Vol. 166-9
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Letters received from Special Magistrate Northern Border, 1874
87
Vol. 170-271
Letters received from Civil C issi s and resid
Magistrates. 1873-1904
285-293
Letters received from Damaraland and Walvisbay. 1876-91
398-477
Letters received from private individuals, institutions and local
bodies. 1865-1907
1128-35
Papers of Labour agents, 1897-1903
Vol. 1136-42
Papers of W, Coates Palgrave. 1876-84

Public Works Department (PWD)
Vol. 2/70
Memorandum on the collection of Berg Damaras in the vicinity
of Walwich Bay, 21/1/81
Vol. 2/8/20

Aided Immigration. Introduction of Natives from Damaraland and
St Helena. 1891-3

Vol.

Vol.

Vol.

Zimbabwe
Zimbabwe National Archives (ZNA), Harare

In April 1993 I was given permission to do one day of research in these archives,
I spent most of the day trying to track down Herero who may possibly have
ended up in Zimbabwe as labourers following the Herero-German war,
particularly as the labour recruiter ‘Matabele’ Wilson was active amongst Herero

refugees in the aftermath of the war. In the event I only found one possible
tenuous source:

A 11 2/8/22, Wankie Mine Labour

Germany
Bundesarchiv Potsdam (BAP)

Reichskolonialamt, 10,01 (RKA)

Allgemeine Angelegenheiten in Deutsch-Stidwestafrika
Expeditionen und Reisen Goering, Gouverneuren, Offizieren, Missionaren und
Kaufleuten, in die verschiedene teilen der Kolonie. Abschluss von Schutz-
vertragen mit Stammeshauptlingen. Lageberichte und Vorschlige fiir die
weitere Entwicklung der Kolonie.

2078 B Band 1 Jan 1886-Juli 1886

2079 B Band 2 Juli 1886-Juli 1887

2080B Band 3 Juli 1887-Jan 1892

2081 Band 4 Jan 1892-Mai 1894
2082 B Band 5 Juni 1894-Marz 1896
2083 Band 6 Apr 1896-Sep 1902
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Das Herero-Land (D land) und N: jua land. Sept 1880-Feb
1881

2098-102

Aufstand der Hereros 3 Bander (1890s)

2103-5 =

Entsendung einer bewaffneten Expedition gegen die Hereros unter
Fithrung des Hauptmanns von Francois. 5 Bander; Marz 1889-Sept
1892

2106-10

Das Gebiet des Hererohauptlings von Omaruru (1885) Okt 1894-0Okt
1898

2150

Hinrichtung des Herero Kanjermi Aug 1911- Sept 1911

1492

Expeditionen der SWA Company 2 Bander; Sept 1892-Juli 1896
1480-1

Berichte des Mr. Matthew Rogers an die SWAC Nov 1892-Okt 1893
1482

2 Bander Kronland und Eingeborenenreservate in SWA Jan 1893-
Jan 1903; - Aug 1921

1218-19 . .
Auswanderung von Afrikanern aus Stidwestafrika, Aug 1901-Febr
1902

1225

Sklavenhandel 1n DSWA Sept 1889-Sept 1895

1959

3 Binder Robert Lewis (Minenrechte) 1886-1895

15746 ; !

4 Bander Rindvieh in DSWA Juli 1893-Mai 1920

8417-20 ) 5
Aufenthalt von Robert Koch und Stabsarzt Kohlstock in Sudafrika un
Sudwestafrika zur Bel fung der Vieh ‘hen 3. Bander. Okt 1896~
1908

6089-91

Vereinigre Evangelischen Missionsarchiv (VEMA), Wuppertal

C Feldakten

Clg Allgemeines

C/h Stationen und Farmen

C/k Missionarskonferenzen

C/s Pradides und 1 en 10 SWA, Inspel elsen

UNPUBLISHED THESES & PAPERS

Durham, Deborah, Greetings in Another Key: Playing with Language and Identity in
Botswana, Paper read at 1994 annual meeting of the African Studies Associauon,
Toronto. : .

Gewald, Jan-Bart, The Creation of Damaraland: The Creation of a new Erfml_cug,r?, paper
presented at conference on ‘Ethnicity and Natonalism in Southern Africa’, held in
Grahamstown, South Africa, April 1993, )

— Bakgalagadi ethnic formation i post independ Namibia, p d at the annual
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RUL ISS Africa semunar, The Hague, 8 June 1993,

= The Road of the Man called Love and the Sack of Sero: The export of Herero labour to
the South African Rand, 1890-1914, presented at the Annual meeting of the African
Studies Associanon, Boston, 4-7 December 1993,

— The Return of Herero Refugees to Namibia post 1914, presented at ““Trees never meet,
but people do™: Mobility and containment in Namibia, 1915-1945", Workshop,
Cambridge University, Cambridge, 10-11 December 1993,

~— Death by Camel: the Herero Succession Dispute of 1890-1894, presented at the PhD
seminar RUL, Leiden, 29 April 1994,

— The Curse of Kahimemua: the impact of rinderpest in Hereroland, presented at the
Namibian history conference, ‘Geschichte Schreiben: Konstruktion von Gesellschaft und
Identitar in Namibia’, H .5 May 1994,

— Seeking to return?, Herero exiles 19041923, presented at the Annual meeting of the
African Studies Associanon, Toronto, 3-6 November 1994,

— The life and times of Mbadamassi, a soldier for King and Kaiser, presented at the CNWS
Seminar ‘Ethnic Soldiering and its Impact’, held 1n Leiden on 13-14 January 1995,

— Unburdening myself of Herero history, presented at the African studies PhD seminar
RUL, Leiden, 8 March 1995,

Gibson, Gordon D., The Social Or
Umiversity of Chicago (Chicago 1952).

Hagolani, Elhanan, Das Kulturmodell der Bantu-sprechenden Rindernomaden Siid-
westafrikas, DPhil Thesis, Universitit zu Kéln (New York 1968).

Hayes, Patricia, A History of the Ovambo of Namibia, ca. 1880-1930, PhD, Cambridge
University, 1992,

Hendrickson, Anne Alfhild Bell, Historical Idioms of Idennity: Representation among the
CQuaherero in Southern Africa, PhD Thesis (New York 1992).

of the South n Bantu, DPhil Thesis,

— Women, Dolls and Herero Identity in Urban Namibia and B paper p d
at ASA conference Toronto 1994,
Henrichsen, Dag, Herrschaft und Identitir im kol len Z, I ibia. Das

Damaraland im 19. Jahrhundert, PhD, University of Hamburg, 1998,

Kandapacra, Kaendee, War, Flight, Asylum: A brief history of the Ovambanderu of
Ngamiland, Botswana, 1896-1961, unpublished BEd research essay submitted to
Department of History, University of Botswana, May 1992,

Kinahan, John, Pastoral Nomads of the Central Namib Desert, PhD, University of the
Witwatersrand, 1989,

Krnieger Hinck, Carla, Uber die Medizische Versorgung der ehemaligen Kolonie Deutsch
Sudwest Afrika, DMed, Uni Munchen, 1973,

Kriger, Gesine, 4 pass token in the archives. Traces of the history of every day life after the
German-Herero war, blished paper pr d at the Symposium, “Writing
History. Identty and society in Namubia', held at the Department of History,
University of Hanover, 5-7 May 1994.

“He has come. He is going. The sun.' Aspekie von Kriegsbewdiltigung, Identitat und
Rekonstruktion in der Herevogesellschaft, Vortrag Humboldt-Universitat  26/10/94 —
Colloquium Peripherie-Zentrum Universitat Hannover 14/11/94.

= "... 50 schicke uns jemanden mit einem Brief von Dir." Alltagsgeschichtliche Quellen zur
Nachkriegszeit des Deutsch-Hererokriegs 1904-1907, working paper No. 1: 1995,
presented in Basle, 27/9/1995, Basler Afrika Bibhographien.

— Kriegsh Itigung und Geschichisk Zur Realitat, Deutung und Verarbeitung
des deutschen Kolonialkriegs 1904-1907, PhD, University of Hanover, 1995,

Malan, |.S., Dubbele afkomsberekening by die Himba, 'n H sprekende volk in S
Afrika, unpublished DLitt et Phil dissertation, Rand Afrikaans University
(Johannesburg 1971).

Morrton, Barry, A Social and Economic History of a Southern African Nartive Reserve:
Ngamiland, 1890~ 1966, PhD, Indiana University, 1996,

Rooyen, . W.F. van, A sociological study of ideology among the Herero in central Namibia,

i
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MA, UNISA, Pretoria, 1984. _
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1975). . . .
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Steyn, H.P., Pastoralisme by die Himba van Suidwes-Afrika, PhD, University of
Stellenbosch, 1978. 1
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Werner, Wolfgang, An economic and social history of the Herero of Namibia, 1915-1946,
PhD, University of Cape Town, 1989.

NEWSPAPERS & PERIODICALS

7 Rheinischen Missionsgesellschaft, 1884-1923. S )
gf"‘""f d‘i; lonialblare: A blatt fiir die Sck biete des D hen Reichs, SEEE

i iatl- i des arty, Amis, 1903-14.
" in dfr i,"ff’"'_"{‘d_bm“u"éw"a::‘f’ qge!’l m‘( 1902 s 1o

The Namibian, 1986-1996,

The Negro World, 8 October 1921,

Onze Wereld, December l“)&!?.Jr i

Die Republikein, 28/8/95; 15/9/9°

The South Afsican Review of Books, Feb/March, June/July, Aug/Oct 1990.
Windhoek Observer, 18/8/1979.
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land 48, 53-4, 59, 64, 69, 102, 105-9, 112, 124,
129-30, 134-6, 138, 143—4, 190, 224, 235-
42, 274, 2B7-8 ree alw reserves
Lang (missionary) 128, 224
Langheld, Dr 116-19
Lau, Brigite 5-6
leadership 13n
League of Nations 246, 260
Leinhos (trader) 152
Lenssen (trader) 216
Leutwein, Paul 145
Leutwein, Theodore 57-61, 45, 72-93, 97, 99,
101-2, 105-8, 116, 1447, 191, 249, 288,
Herero-German War 156-60, 167-70, 183,
185, 216; nnderpest epdemic 117,119, 123~
124, 126-7, 133-5, 139, 143
Lewis, Robert 34, 63
Liccus 105
Licbenberg, Lt. 245
Lindequist, Friedrich von 72-4, 76, 82-4, 94,
1034, 129, 195, 204, 221
Lidentz 1 88-00, 199, 203, 216, 226, 265-9,271
lungsickness 20, 26, 236
Lutherans 159, 196-7, 214, 224-5, 228, 273
lynching 165
Mass, Dr 152-4
Maasa: people 22
Maharero, Alfred 282
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Maharero, Andreas 181-2

Maharero, Eduard 265

Maharero, Friedrich 207, 262-3, 268, 275, 277~
8,2

Maharero, Johannes (65 #)

Maharero, Samuel 26, 33, 48-50, 52-60, 65, 117,
204,231, 244, 262-3; death of 1-2, 7-9, 264,
267-8, 274-82, 275, 283-5, 289; Herero-
German War 147, 149-62, 167-9, 171-2,
176-7, 179-81, 184-5, 191; Okahandja suc-
cession dispute 29-30, 35-6, 41-6, 73, 81; as
paramount chief 1, 46, 61, 71-2, 75-7, 80-93,
99-10%9, 124-31, 133, 139, 287

Maharero Tjamu: {d. 1890) 1, 8, 21-2, 24-5,
25, 26,29, 31-6, 38-47, 49-52, 50-60, 62-3,
84-5, 87-8, 90, 153, 281, 284

Maharero, Traugott 237, 244-5, 265, 270, 278-
9, 282

Maharero, Wilhelm 25, 26, 45, 176, 182. 184, 207

Makalamabedi 180

Mambo 85, 176

Manasse Tiisisera 24-5, 33, 35-7, 30, 47, 62-4,
65, 67-81, 89-90, 92-7, 99-100, 106, 108,
124, 128, 136, 207, 265; rinderpest epidemic
117-19, 123, 134

manure 122

Marais, Eugene N, 179

Ma Gen. 240

Marks, Shula 134

marriage 203n, 228

Marritta, Jephta (Gerhard) 183

Martin, Dr Henno 283

Mathiba 214-15

Mbakuru, Katjiheive 183

Mbanderu people see Banderu people

Mbandjo, Moses 248

Meier (missionary) 195-8

Metirapu, Kahapa 183

Metirapu, Victor 183-4

Meyer (missionary) 152-5%

Michaelis, M. von 168

mining industry 21, 70, 91, 133, 153, 178, 180-
81, 190, 207, 213-16, 220, 233, 239, 271

missionaries 3-4, 31-2, 49n, 63-4, 66, 102, 135,
142-4, 178, 191, 214-17, 222-3, 225, 227-
8,232-3,262,271-2, 280, 282, 287-289; and
Bondelswarts 273-4; Herero-Ger-man War
159-60, 170, 183, 186, 188, 195-205, 209,
211; Okahandja 44-45, 154, 157-8, 270;
Omaruru 69, 76, 120, 124, 129-30; Otjim-
billsw_t 34-36, 121, 132-3, 131, 162-3; and
Ovatjimba chiefs 14-17, 21, 24; rinderpest
epidemnic 112, 116, 120-22, 124, 129-30, 132,

Mossamedes 97
Muhlenfels 174
Muhona Katiti 207-8
Mualler, Hpt.
Mauller, Miss 153-4

Mungurnda, John Aaron Simon 268-70
Mungunda, Silphanus 282

Mourray, James 64-6

Mutate, Thomas 176-7, 207
Mutjinde, Asser 177-8, 199, 223
Mababes 178, 199

Naftali 271

Naidas 91

ma—German War 186, 288

Nama language 23

Nama people 18-20, 26, 89, 218, 251, 268, 273
see also Bondelswarts
Mamaland 23
MNamagqualand 11, 49
Namib desert 11
Namibia 1,70, 179, 181, 183, 186, 206, 211-12,
215, 239, 243, 260-63, 267-8, 270, 272-4,
284-9; Police Zone 7
Namutomi 97
Nandaurua 43
Naosonobis 59, 72, 75
Narib 66
Natal 134
Nathienel 105
Native Churches Inquiry Commission 272
Ndaja 76
Ndebele people 228, 288n
Ndzundsa Ndebele people see Ndebele people
Negro World 267-8
Mehale 177-8
Nels, Chancellor 31-2
Neuheusis 247
Ngami, Lake 10n, 111, 130, 216
Ngamiland 211-15
Micolaus 185
Niet, Alex 149
Nigel 214
Nikanor 222
Niyai Njai 176
Nossob river 82-4, 126,138
Nyae Nyae 179-80, 215
Okahandja 18, 26-7, 31-2, 38-9, 41, 46-7, 50-
52, 219-20, 224, 242, 244, 246, 262, 283-4;
Herero-German War 143, 145-158, 160-64,
167, 184, 191, 203, 228, 235, 242; Owruppe
265-6, 270; Samue] Maharero 1, 8, 43-5, 49,
55-7, 59, 61, 73, B1-2, 85-6, 90, 92, 101,
105-7, 128, 264, 274-282; see also Okahandja
- Herero-German War above; succession
dispute 29-60, 73, 81-2, 90, 125 see also
Okahandja - Samuel Maharero above
Okahandja river 274, 281
Okatumba Reserve 121, 247, 252-5
Okavango delta 130
Okombahe 67-8, 77-80, 93-9, 249
Okuruo (holy fire) 41, 43
Olifantskloof 103,130
Olpp (missionary) 162, 164-6
Omaere (cultured milk) 120
Omakeke see Kalahari desert
Omandumba 96-7
Omambo 83,119
Omaruru 24-7,47,62-4, 68-77, 79-80,99, 1 14,
121-2, 134, 136, 146, 207, 221, 224, 226,
236, 246-8, 262, 2667, 283; missionaries 69,
76, 120, 124, 120-130
Ombakaha 182, 184
Ombuke (prophet) 22-3
Omburo 186, 195, 216, 222, 226
Ombkeer ser Osombu Onjaru
Omuhona see Ovahona
Omukuru (patri-clan head) 13
Omuramba Omutako 114, 209-10
Omurangere (religious practitioner) 22-3
Omusema river 162
Ongandjira 168-9
Qorlam people 14-16, 23
Qorlog, Kapiein see Vita Tom
Qosthuisen (Boer) 216

Index
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O'Reilly, Maj. T. 1.. 248-51

Oruaromunjo 176

Orumbo Reserve 247, 251-60, 263, 284

Oruzuo inheritance 29, 41-3, 58, 81, 87-8, 108,
120

Osombo Onguti 177

Osombo-Windimbe 172-4

Osombo Onjatu 176-7

Osona 50, 52, 57, 81, 86, 150-2, 155-6

Otavi 23, 91

Otjeru 217

Otjihaencna 82-84, BB, 90, 103, 186, 195, 211,
222,226,238

Orjtherero language 12-13, 23, 154, 169, 173,
198-9, 224, 279n, 280

Otjpkango 15, 23, 118

Oujikaru 177

QOuikoko 177

Orjikururume 148

Orjimbingwe 15, 20-21, 23, 27, 37-8, 40, 46-7,
74, 80, 112, 114, 116, 122-3, 135, 161-7,
185, 191, 220, 236; missionaries 34-6, 121,
132-3, 137, 162-3

Otjimbingwe British Volunteer Arnllery 20, 24-5

Otjinena 176

Otjiserandu (red fag) 266-7

Ovituwe 209-10

Otpwarongo 261, 266

Onohorongo Reserve 248-51, 284

Otjosazu 114, 116, 121, 186

Otjozondjupa 25, 46, B9-90, 116, 262

Orjozongombe 186

Orjezonjati 161

Otruppe 265-7, 270, 288

Ouandya 147-8, 151, 161, 168169, 176

Oukhas 74

Qutjo 91-2, 132, 217

Ovaherero people see Herero people

Ovahimba people see Himba people

Owvakona (chiefs) 15-16, 23, 122, 124-5

Ovambandery Khauas Khoi War 61, 103-9, 125,
128, 204, 212, 287

Cwvambanderu people see Banderu people

Ovambo people 217, 220, 234-6. 284

Ovamboland 27, 47, 92, 97, 113, 128, 130-31,
177-8, 181, 207, 216-17, 220, 231, 233-6,

84

Ovatjimba people 12, 14-18, 20-22, 207-8, 229;
chiels 14-17, 21, 24

Ovazemba people 12

Ovineua-Naua 172, 176-7, 179, 183, 185

Ovita vyongombangange (war of the theft of the
white-brown flecked cow) 21

Oviumbo 169-70

Ozanganda (sewlements) 13, B9

Palgrave, William Coates 31, 64, 66

Pampoen 66

Pardey (missionary) 232

passes 2434

pastoralism 12-13

patronage 101,123, 139, 211, 287

peasants 7 see also agriculture

Poewe, Karla 5

Pool, Gerhardus 3, 29, 157, 286

Porrugal 207-8

Prein, Philipp 218, 226

Preller, Gustav 179

prisoners of war 242-3 see alio camps

prophets 22-3, 49

Qangwa 180

racketcering 124

Rademacher, Sgt. 148-9

ralways 128-9, 132-3, 135-6, 145, 150, 1534,
160, 187, 190, 216, 220, 238, 278

Rand see Wirwatersrand

Ranger, Terence 7

Rautanen {missionary) 92

Redecker (trader) 163, 166

Reenen, Johann van 64

Rehoboth 50n, 156, 283

Reiss (German officer) 127, 129, 131

Rensburg, Hendrik Jacobus Uys Janse van 244-5

reserves 132, 135, 139, 142, 144-8, 212-13, 226,
236, 239, 246-60, 273, 281-2, 284, 288

Rhenish Misston see Missionaries

Rhodes, Cecil John 114-15, 130n

Riarua 25, 39, 42-5, 56-60. 85, 87, 89, 106

Riarun, Assa 26,53, 57, 104-5, 107, 146, 151-2,
154, 156, 169, 176, 278

Riarua, Diana 278

Richter {Provisional Governor} 150, 132

Ridger, Loton 214

rinderpest 8, 109-126, 128-31, 133-9, 141, 143
4,171, 191, 212, 287

Robertson, Duncan 53n

Rogers (mining engimneer) 70-1

Rohrbach, Paul 143, 141

Roman Catholics see Cathalics

Rudne (farmer) 223

Rust, Conrad 3, 148n, 157, 159, 219

Rydin, H. 67

Sack, Hpt. von 103-4

Sandfeld 208-9, 217

Saul 182

Saunders, Christopher 6

Schaar (missionary) 97

Schoonraad 66

Schreiner, Theo. L. 242, 246

Sehuckman, Governor 208

Schutzvertrag see treates

Secis 83, 106-7

Seeis river 138

segregation 249, 283

Seitz, Theodor 210, 226, 231

Sekgoma Lersholathebe 130, 179, 211- 15

Sepp 205

Sero 213-14

Serowe 276, 278

sertlers 48-9, 69, 83, 109, 132, 191,221, 224-6,
228, 233, 235, 237-41, 246, 260, 272, 274,
284, 288; Herero-German War 144-5, 147
50, 152, 157-8, 162-3, 168, 186, 210, 216~
19; rinderpest epidemic 138; and Samuel
Maharero 53, 55, 59, 91-2, 101, 106, 108

Sheppard, Samuel 180, 212-13, 270

Sheppard, Saul 212n, 270

Shillington, Kevin 138-9

Sinclmr, Dr 74-5

iver 112

89n

smallpox 26, 48,213

Smurs, Gen. Jan 271

socialism 266-7

Sonnenberg, Mrs 148

South Africa 2, 9, 180, 190, 206-7,213-15,231-
3, 235-7, 230-49, 251, 256, 260-2, 265-6,
269-74, 278, 282, 284-5, 288-9; Native
Lands Act (1913) 239
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South African Railways 278

SourhWest Africa 245-6, 249-50, 269,272,278

9, 282-3

South West Africa Company 69-72, 9091, 133-
4

South West African Protectorate see German
South West Africa
Spiecker, Dr 198
squatting 247-8, 251, 253
Stérmer {store manager) 153
Streitwolf, Lt. 128, 148, 177, 182, 216
Stuhlmann, Maj. 174-5
Swakop river 162
Swakopmund 164, 177, 187-90, 198, 200, 203,
210, 218, 223, 226, 266, 268
Swart (magistrate) 245
Swart (trader) 128
Swartboois 50n, 62-3, 97, 269
taboos 228-9
Tawana 130
taxation 64, 68-71, 134, 274
Tembo, B, 100n
Teufelsbach 150
Theurtheus 147
Thomas, Maj. 245
- imber 257
Tindall, John 14n
Tjaherani 24, 67, 76
Tiamuaha (d. 1861) 14, 16, 21, 25-6, 43, 84-5,
153, 274, 276, 281, 284
Tiamuaha, Johannes 104-5
Tierjo, Kand)i 43-5, 56, B4-90, 86, 106, 111-12,
119, 125-9, 131, 134, 139, 160, 176
Tietjo, Traugort 86, 127, 148, 169
Tpmba people see Ovatpimba people
Tiisisera, Hugo 177
Tjisiseta, Michael (652), 124, 129, 136, 161, 168~
9, 176-8, 182, 267
Tjorovi 281
trede 18-23, 26~7, 63, 68, 92,97, 111-13, 116
122-4, 144, 148
trade unions see Industrial and Commercial
Workers Union
Transvaal 213-14, 232, 240, 262
Transvaa! Crown Land Disposal Ordinances
(1903) and (1906) 247-8
treaties 30-2, 39,512, 55,63,72-3, 75, 79-101,
103-4, 108, 145-6, 147n, 151, 191 see alio
Versailles Treary
wrees 256-7
Trekboers see Boers
“Trotha, Lt. Gen. Lothar von 156, 168-74, 182-
3, 185
Truppenspicler 7, 2637, 271, 284
Tsaobis 34-8, TE
Tsau 177, 180, 212, 215
Tshaanika 178
Tsumeb 122, 224, 266
Tswana people 4,138-9, 215
Turkana people 22
Tyirimunye, Johannes 270
ryphoid 120-21
Ugab river 250
United Nations 270
Universal Negro Improvement Association 263,
267-72, 284-5, 289
Upingronia 63n, 69
Usakos 135, 268-9
Vakwandu people 12

Vedder, Heinrich 5-6, 188, 199-200, 208, 279 -
30

Venter, Captain P. 1. 255-60

Versailles Treaty (1919) 258, 260, 271

Viche {missionary) 105

Vita Tom 97n, 207, 233n

Voigts, Albert 126, 128

Volkmann, Lt. 94-7, 99, 135, 145

Waldau 219

Waillace (rrader) 170

Walvisbay 31, 65, 67, 177-8, 1581, 190

Walvishay Mining Company 21

Whnderevangelisten 2234

Wandres (mussionary) 149,156

Wankie 178

Warner (magistrate} 278-9, 280n

Watch Tower Church 271n

water 7, 174, 208, 254-6, 283

Waterberg 116-17, 146-9, 151, 153, 169-71,
175-8, 181, 186, 204-5, 209

WEApONS se¢ arms

Wecke and Voigts Company 48, 153, 155

Weiss, Carl 106

wells see water

Werner (missionary} 277n, 280

Werner, Wolfgang 6-7

Wer, Andries de 240

White Nossob river see Nossob river

Whitesun, John 267n

Wiese (trader) 128

Wik, Caprain Hermanus van 160-1

Withelm 11, Kaiser 33-4, 55, 168, 183-4, 282

Williams (magistrate) 2132

Wilson, ‘Matabele' 180

Windhoek 1, 14-15. 22, 27, 106, 122, 226, 234
7, 247, 251, 253-4, 259, 284; Clemens Kap-
uuo 269; Cornelius Goraseb 78-79; Deutsche
Kolonial tschaft 48; Fi
268; Herero-German War 145, 152, 194,
195-7, 220, 241-2; Manasse Tyisisera 94;
Otruppe 265-6; rinderpest epdemic 112-13;
Samuel Msharero 55-6, 262-3

Wirbooi, Hendrik 26, 31, 34-8, 38, 30-41 44, #4,
47, 63, 73-5, 80-1, B7, 89, 102, 130, 164,
170; and Samucl Maharero 29, 46, 49-56, 60,

161
Withooi, Kido 30
Witboois 156
Wirwatersrand 153, 178, 271
Witwatersrand Nanive Labour Agency 180,213
Woermann Shipping Company 187, 190, 205
women T, 189, 197, 204, 201-2, 205, 206, 288
wood sec imber
World War One 179, 206, 226, 229, 231-2, 240,
73

Worrall, A. 276

Xhosa people 271

Zambezi river 111-14

Zambiz 111

Zeraua, Barnabas 223

Zeraua, Gerhard 248

Zeraua, Zacharias 19, 20-22, 24, 33, 35-7, 48, 68,
75-7, 80,82, 125, 161-4, 166, 168-9, 176-7,
183-5, 191, 220, 223

Ziegler (trader) 126, 128

Zimbabwe 7,114, 136

Zululand 287n see alie Anglo-Zulu War

Zarn, Lt, 142, 145-56, 162, 168




